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       PEEFACB.

       Thb  present work is not intended as a history of Fort Phillip, much less of Victoria; being only the narrative of attempted Settlements, and, ultimately, of the permanent occupation of the territory.

       A collection in one volume of information widely scattered, appearing at various periods, was thought to be useful. The presentation of some interesting sketches of Port Phillip, taken by Mr. Surveyor Wedge in 1835, would be now acceptable. The opportunity was thus afforded of adding fresh contributions to early colonial history, since the writer's issue of  Discovery and SeUlement of PoH Phillip; WiUiam Bucfdey, the Wild White Man;  and  John Batman, the Founder of Victoria.

       Encouraged by a few colonial friends in England, whose names appear in a list of subscribers, the work has been produced by the author, who now confidently relies upon the aid of his fellow colonists in Australia for its circulation. From 1845, when his  Oeography for Australian TotUh  was published, he has earnestly desired, amidst many difficulties, to extend a knowledge of Australia.  His last book,  The First Tvjenty Tears

       '*>   of Australia,  has already received a kind welcome from the

       '^   English and Colonial Press.

       ^   Among those who have laboured to make known the early

       times of the colony some honoured names may be mentioned;

       as Arden, Westgarth, Lang, McCorabie, Rusden, Gumer, Labil-liere, and Shillinglaw.    The London State Record Office, and. the British Museum Library, have still stores of wealth awaiting research.    Faithful copies of such interesting documents should be in the public libraries of colonial capitals.

       The preservation of those details which appear in the following pages, while important to the student of history, and particularly so to the Australian youth, is not less useful to the student of human nature, and helpful to social science. The record may hereafter point a moral as well as adorn a tale.

       The story of the rise and progress of a British colony is valuable for showing the genius of our people. The adaptability of the English mind to new pursuits and scenes cannot be less wonderful than the persistent energy, the power of endurance, the organizing ability, the reverence for order, and the moral force, all so conspicuous in the history of British colonization. With all our lament for shortcomings, we are bound to acknowledge the blessings flowing from our occupation of a new land, or our influence upon an older one.

       The extension of our civilization has been truly unfortunate in its results with sparsely scattered and barbarous tribes, who have sullenly and sadly retired to the tomb of national and individual existence. But their displacement has tended to the development of long hidden resources, and the advancement of higher conceptions of moral duty; while pleasures are enjoyed, more elevated than those which solaced the tenants of caves and breakwinds.

       The retirement of the lower race ■ was inevitable upon the approach of the European with his terrible strength. John Batman's Treaty with the Port Phillip Natives would, however nobly inspired, have been a more speedy failure than even the one made by William Penn with the Indians. Still, the fate of the Jaga Jagas of the Eucalypti forests, if bringing no blush upon the white face of their supplantors, must force a  sigh

       from the breast of the tender and brave. The tale told by the author in bis  Last of the Tasmanians  might be almost repeated about the dark men of Port Phillip.

       The chief actors in the scenes here to be dascribed are gone, though it was the good fortune of the author, during forty years' acquaintance with Australia, to know several of them in their old age. To write cotemporary history is neither easy nor pleasant. The most ardent love of truth cannot fail to be coloured by the hues of party, and the most faithful of historians may be chided for susceptibilities. As Nature soon robes the harsh fissures of earthquakes with her gracious green, so may the asperities of the past be softened with kindly speech, yet without spreading over facts the pall of silence.

       All those associated with Victoria, or who have laboured in any way for the advancement of its interests, must feel proud of the colony in its material and educational progression. It is a distinguished privilege to help in laying the foundations of society upon those principles of intelligence, temperance, and piety, which form the basis of a good commonwealth. All the various Settlements throughout Australia are now far better fitted for the comfortable hojnes of Englishmen than at any former period. The Britain of the South is healthier, freer, and happier than the Britain of Europe.

       London,  November Uf,  1882.
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       POBT   PHILLIP   SETTLEMENT.

       The  success of the penal settlement at Port Jackson had encouraged the English Qovemment to attempt another location of the same nature, but in a position where it could have the neighbourly aid of the older colony.

       It was not a mere question of prison discipline with a man of the enlarged views of William Pitt. The removal of a crowd of idle criminals was one advantage, but not the only one. The fearful conflict in which Britain was engaged with France had seriously eipbarrassed trade with European states. The prospective closing of continental ports against our commerce, in the event of Napoleon Bonaparte's continued success, inclined Government the more toward the establishment of colonies, as nurseries for mercantile intercourse. Having at that time the absolute command of the seas, colonization could be conducted with more facility than by any other nation.

       Emigration was in suspense. Our American colonies had become our national foes, and no accession to their strength was likely to receive state encouragement. Canada was then rather objectionable to Englishmen, being but a French settlement held by British soldiery. The slave islands of the West Indies needed simply a few capitalists. India was a scene of constant alarm from war, and could no more court the roving husbandman than could the   throbbing   slope of an active   volcano.

       ^ '   B

       But,  Id  spite of our numerous campaigns, population had so increased that a swarming forth must soon arise. For what place, and under what circumstances, could emigrants depart ?

       New Holland, now called Australia, was only very partially ours by right of discovery. Captain Cook revealed the whole eastern side ; but the northern, western, and southern shores of that continent were first visited by the Dutch, though the French explored a part. The sea border of South Australia and Victoria was almost entirely made known by English navigators. Cook had taken formal possession of New South Wales, as between Cape Howe and Cape York, and various settlements had been made within this territory. But, for climatic as well as political reasons, the southern shore now engaged the attention of our prescient rulers. At Port Phillip there seemed a most favourable opportunity. To seize upon that domain, without reference to its inhabitants, gave the authorities no concern; but on what lines should the colony belaid?

       In olden times it was sufficient for the king to make a grant of an area equal to the size of a kingdom, and the favoured individual consulted his own interest in the conveyance of persons thither, at his own expense, to give a commercial value to the land so granted. But the experience of America showed that such settlements soon grew beyond the control of this British Government, and yet condemned the state to no inconsiderable outlay. To open a territory free to all comers would be to court disorder as well as expenditure. It was essential that discipline should be established, that the crown should maintain its rights, but that settlers should feel safe and hopeful in the venture thither.

       A penal settlement at Port Phillip appeared to meet the difficulty. Criminals were bound to be anywhere an obligation upon Government. Why should they not be utilised in this undertaking ? The gaol colony of New South Wales was an acknowledged fact. The English soil was purified, and vagabonds, by transportation, were changed to honest, thriving citizens. An expansion of the original idea^ though only following out the earnest suggestions of Governor Phillip, gave a fairer promise for Port Phillip. It was to be a penal colony; but free settlers were to be sent out at the same time, as an

       incentive to the industry of others, and for the relief of com-missaxiat expenses in the employment of prison labour. Free people would be drawn there by Government outlay and the protection of British law.

       And yet^ though an improvement upon the Botany Bay arrangements, there was a singular oversight in the scheme. The new expedition had a more serious disproportion of sexes than that in 1787. With no female prisoners, only seventeen drives of 307 convicts were allowed to sail, and with but five of the partn&B of marines* Social disorder must have followed so unnataial a condition. Had, then, the proposed colony been establidied, the early days of "Victoria would have been as unhappy as immoral, and the sad effects would have long remained to the dishonour of that country.

       But it was not so to be. The attempted settlement was not to succeed. The convict stain of primal existence was not to mar the development of Port Phillip.

       B 2

       CHAPTER  I.

       DISCOVERY.

       The  first discovery of Port Phillip need not occupy much space in the present work. It has been noticed in the author's previous publication,  Discovery and Settlement of Port Phillip^ and has been well described both by Mr. Westgarth and Mr. Labilliere, as well as briefly chronicled by Mr. Gumey. The story told by Mr. Shillinglaw has cleared up some previously existing diflSculties, especially in his recovery at Sydney, in 1877, of the notes of the exploration by Mr. Grimes in 1803. A rapid glance at the early voyages may be now suflScient.

       Captain Cook, on April 19th, 1770, discovered the first portion of the Victorian territory. Point Hicks lay a little westward of Cape Howe. It'may not be generally known that our discoverer s wife survived him fifty-five years, having died at Clapham in 1836, at the age of 94. She lost the last of her si?: children just half a century before. The day of the Victorian discovery was Thursday, and the record of the event was this:—" The southernmost point of land in sight, which bore from us W.  \  S., I judged to lie in latitude 38°, longitude 211°-7, and gave it the name of  Point Hicks,  because Mr. Hicks, the first lieutenant, was the first who discovered it." With respect to Cape Howe, Captain Cook wrote: " I cannot determine whether it joins Van Diemen's Land or not.'*

       It was nearly thirty years before it was so determined. Captain Hunter made a shrewd guess in 1793, firom observation of currents, saying: " There is reason thence to believe that there is in that space either a deep gulf or a strait which may separate Van Diemcm's Land from New Holland." The strait was discovered by Mr. Surgeon Bass.    He entered it in an open boat

       the last day of the year, 1797. He discovered Western Port on January 4th, 1798, and Comer Inlet on February 2nd. By landing near Ram's Head, he became the first European to visit the southern colony. Lieutenant Flinders and he afterwards went in the  Norfolk,  twenty-five tons, and sailed through the straits. Passing Cape Grim on December 9th, 1798, Flinders noticed the long swell of the ocean coming up from the southwest, and wrote thus in his log :—

       " Mr, Bass and myself hailed it with joy and mutual congratulation as announcing the completion of our long-wished-for discovery of a passage into the SouUhem Indian Ocean."

       Lieutenant Grant was the first to pass through Bass's Strait from Europe, on his way to Sydney. He sailed in H.M.S.  Lady Nelson,  sixty tons, called by the seamen, from its size, " His Majesty's Tinderbox." On December 3rd, 1800, he came opposite the present eastern boundary of Victoria, and afterwards named a number of places. Capes Northumberland and Bridgewater were called after dukes; Lawrence Rocks and Capes Albany, Otway, and Schanck, after captains. He named the expanse of water  Govemor King's Bay,  which stretched a hundred miles from Cape Otway to South Cape or Wilson's Promontory. Cape Nelson was after the name of the vessel, and Liptrap fi*om a London friend of the commander. Captain Grant tried in vain to land near the Rodondo.

       To Mr. Labilliere, the most recent historian of Victoria, is due the merit of hunting out the Log of the  Lady Nelson,  when under Lieutenant Murray; it was the first ship to enter the Bay of Port Phillip. On January 5th, 1802, Mr. Murray was driven from the Heads by a storm.    He said :—

       "I saw that the reef did nearly stretch across the whole way, but inside saw a fine sheet of smooth water of great extent. From the wind blowing hard on this shore, and fresh, I was obliged to haul off under a press of sail to clear the land."

       But Mr. Bowen, his mate, safely entered in the launch. Lieutenant Murray could not, get in till February 15th. " I have named this harbour," wrote he, "  Port King,  in honour of the Governor P. G. King." Arthur's Seat was named from its resemblance to the hill at Edinburgh. The beauty of the country reminded him of Greenwich Park.   He took possession,

       March 9th, " in the name of His Sacred Majesty George the Third of Great Britain and Ireland/' hoisting the flag of the old country. The natives were rather too pressing in their demands; being only " intent on getting what our people had, even to the last shirt/' The English side of the story is that spears were thrown, and shots returned; the Log remarking: " Thus did this treacherous and unprovoked attack meet with its just punishment/' Perhaps Buckley heard the aboriginal account of the first conflict of the two races in Port Phillip.

       M. Baudin, of the French discovery ships  Oiographe  and Naturaliste,  was the next visitor in that quarter. He arrived March 30th as Murray left March 12th. Ignoring what others had done, and what Flinders did in particular. Captain Baudin called a part of this southern coast " Napoleon Land," though the limit of his discovery was from Cape Northumberland to longitude 140° E.

       But it will appear that Baudin saw not the opening of Port Phillip, though the record of his voyage states that the indent outside was named " Talleyrand Bay," and implies a discovery of Port Phillip in this observation: " We intended to call it ' Port du Debut/ but having afterwards learnt that it had been examined more in detail by the English brig  Lady Nelsan,  and that it had been named * Port Phillip,' we shall with so much more pleasure preserve in that last name that of the founder of a colony in which we found such generous and powerful assistance/* Would that such kindness had been shown by the French to an English navigator of so much worth and service as Captain Flinders!

       Flinders, associated with Bass in the Straits Discovery, had under him the gentle and distinguished Sir John Franklin as a midshipman, on his voyage out to New Holland in 1801-2. On April 26th, 1802, he entered Port Phillip. At first he mistook it for Western Port. " This, however, was not Western Port/' said he, " as we found next morning, and I congratulated myself on having made a new and useful discovery; but here, again, I was in error. This place, as I afterwards learned at Port Jackson, had been discovered ten weeks before by Lieutenant John Murray, who had succeeded Captain Grant in the command of the  Lady Nelson.  He had given it the name of Port Phillip,, and to the rocky point on the east side of the
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       Port PhiUip Bo^.

       entrance   that   of   Point   Nepean."      King   named   it  Port PhiUip.

       It was Flinders who gave names to Indented Head and Station Peak. Though approving of the soil for agriculture, and the country for sheep, he had his doubts about the region after walking for twenty miles without finding water. He alludes, however, to the survey of the port by Mr. Grimes, saying, " No runs of fresh water were seen in my excursions; but Mr. Charles Grimes, Surveyor-General of New South Wales, afterwards found several, and in particular a small river (the Yarra) falling into the northern head of the port. Mr. Grimes was sent by Governor King, in 1803, to walk round and survey the harbour; and from his plan I have completed my chart of Port Phillip." On that chart we see the Yarra distinctly marked.

       Mr. Surveyor Grimes Round the Bay,  1803.

       The journal of this exploration round Port Phillip Bay was not

       kept by the surveyor, Mr. Grimes, but by Mr. James Fleming,

       whose special duty was to note the agricultural qualities of the

       country.    The journal appeared with two other early records at

       the expense of the Victorian Government in 1879, under the

       editorship of Mr. Shillinglaw, F.R.G.S., whose notes of places are appended.

       The  Cumberland  left Sydney with the party on November

       23rd, 1802, and cruised about the islands of Bass's Strait, in

       search of a place for a new colony, by orders of Governor King.

       The result of such examination of King's Island is thus noted :

       " The best place for a settlement is either in Elephant Bay, or

       opposite  New   Year's Island;   but  as   we saw little of the

       interior there are perhaps better places.    The shore is in every

       place difficult of access for vessels."     But we extract from

       the journal only that portion relating to  the visit of Port

       Phillip :—

       "  Thursday, 20th  (January, 1803).—In the morning off high land; the hills high and verdant. The trees inward appeared large. There appeared an opening like a small river to the eastward; at noon a valley with gentle rising ground, behind which the timber appeared large. At eight o'clock anchored in PoKT  Phillip  : hot winds most of the day.

       *'  Friday, 2\st, —Weighed anchor early in the morning, and came further into the bay; dropped anchor.^ The captain, Mr. Grimes, doctor, and myself went on shore, and walked across a neck of land to the sea, whilst the carpenter repaired the boat. The land is a light, black sand pasture, thin of timber, consisting of gum, oak, Banksia, and thorn. Saw the scaites of some lagoons, all dry except one salt one. The land is about a mile and a half over.    Came on board in the afternoon.

       "  Saturday, 22nd. —^All hands up at daylight. The captain went sounding; on his return Mr. Grimes, doctor and  sell,  two marines, and two assistants to the surveyor went on shore. As we went on met with two huts, apparently built by Europeans; a little further met with fresh water in a swamp ^ about fifty yards from the beach; further on a small run of water. The country level; timber as the preceding day. Saw three natives at a distance; they made ofif as we approached them.

       "Sunday,  23rd.—Early in the morning the same party as yesterday, with the addition of the captain, went on shore. We ascended a high hill ;* the land good until we got near the top, where it is stony. On the north and south sides of the hill there are from 2,000 to 3,000 acres of good land, a specimen of which is taken. Mr. Robbins and self went to .the top of a hill; ^ it appeared fine land at a distance, but only stones and short brush as we approached it; saw Western Port distinctly from the top of it; we supposed it to be about five miles from the beach. Returned through an extensive swamp.* On the side of the hill met with two dingles with some fresh water in deep holes. Mr. Grimes and the others took another way at the bottom of the first hill; we found them on board at our return. - The country all newly burnt. Caught plenty of fish ; a shark took a mariner's jacket out of the boat.

       "  Monday, 24tth, —At seven o'clock the same party as on the 22nd went to continue the survey. At three miles a swamp, several runs of water, only one good, and all blocked up at the beach. The rest of this day's journey hills, rocky land,* light, black sand, fine grass, and the trees low and scrubby. Several dingles on the sides of the hills; found a little water in two holes.

       "  Tuesdayt 2oth, —Having a sore foot stopped on board. Mr. Grimes and party went on shore at the usual time, and continued the survey till about two o'clock. From what the doctor informed me, the land as on the preceding day. Looked over seeds and specimens, &c.

       "  Wednesday, 2Qth, —The captain. Grimes,  doctor and self,

       *  Near Point King (Sorrento).   ' Wannaeue (Bones) swamp.

       •  Arthnr's Seat.   * Wannaeue si^'amp.

       * "Western slopes of Arthur's Scat Ranges.

       and three seamen set off for Western Port; at two miles a swamp ^ without trees, and fine grass; over a swell another of the same sort. Found no water till we came near the Port. Saw some ducks, which was a sign of water; made to the place; it was salt, but 1 went a little further up and found it fresh. I stopped there with one man, and the captain, Mr. Grimes, and another went to the Port. They got into a swamp, and did not reach the boat in two hours; they returned, and after dinner we returned back the course we came. Previous to our reaching the water, the doctor was so fatigued for want of water that he could not go on; he was left with a man, gun, and compass, to make the best of his way back to the vessel. He sent the man off to the vessel for water, with the gun and compass, and he moved from the place where we left him. On our arrival found the man, but not the doctor, and it being dark nothing could be done till morning.

       "  Thursdayf 21th. —When four men set off to the place where he was left they found his fire, but he was gone. After searching all the day, they arrived in the evening without him.

       " Fridayy  28<A.—In the morning two parties went different ways in search of the doctor; in an hour after they were gone saw the doctor walking on the beach, when a boat was sent to bring him on board. Inmiediately three muskatoons were fired to bring the parties back, but they did not hear them, and they returned in the afternoon. Thunder, high wind, some drops of rain, and excessively hot for two days past.

       '*  Saturday, 29th, —At eight o'clock Mr. Grimes, seK and four others went on shore to continue the survey from the 25th. There is a small river ^ where we began; a little further some fresh water; crossed several dingles, all dry. At about two o'clock came to fresh water; it appears to be a considerable stream ' in wet seasons. I went but a little way in the country being alone. The land is a light, black, sandy soil, timber . small and low, and shore rocky, iron-coloured stone,* but sand when broken.

       "  Sunday,  30^A.—^The same party as yesterday went on shore at eight o'clock. About a mile from the fresh water there is a deep gully; * I crossed it about half a mile from the beach; it appears to run a great way into the country. I ascended a hill * where I could see eight or ten miles, hills without trees, narrow valleys with scrubby brush. The soil black gravelly sand. At a mile and a half from the beach a run of fresh water to a lagoon. Came to a river,^ it was salt; traced it to the beach; crossed it up to the knees about a mile further,

       *  The Big Swamp.       • Balcombe's creek.        • The Tanti (Schnapper Point).

       *  Mount Martha.   ' Davey's Gully.   • Back of Frankston.

       ' Cannanook.

       went in about a quarter of a mile; found a fine fresh-water river, about thirty feet wide and deep enough for a boat. Mr. Grimes tried the bearings of it; traced it six or eight miles; * it runs in a parallel line with the sea. Fell in with a body of natives, fourteen men, besides women and children; they pointed to us to follow the ship. I gave them some biscuit; some of the men gave them some old hats and hankerchiefe; they followed us a considerable way, seemingly asking for more. There are some huts on the side of the river. The land ^ sandy, with shell bottom; wood small.    At five o'clock got on board.

       "  Monday, ^Ist —It looked like a wet morning; we did not go out early. At ten o'clock the captain, Grimes, self, and two mariners went on shore; crossed a neck of land about half a mile over; went along the beach a little way and ascended a hill; the country appearing very barren. Eetumed to the vessel about one o'clock.'

       "  Tuesday, Febritary 1st —The same party as before went on shore about seven o'clock to continue the survey from 30th. There is a slip of trees from four to six chains from the beach, Avithin which is poor sandy land with short brush, and no trees inwards for several miles. In the afternoon the country more woody and land something better. The day very hot, and found no water.    Saw two large emus.

       "  Wednesday, 2nd. —^At the usual time the same party as yesterday, with the addition of the doctor, went on shore ; for about a mile the land dry, a light sandy soil ; afterwards a large swamp,* with three lagoons in it all dry. The land appears to be covered with water in wet seasons. Came to a salt lagoon about a mile long and a quarter of a mile wide; had not entrance to the sea. Soon afterwards came to a large river ; ^ went up it about a mile, when we turned back and waited for the boat to take us on board. The ground is a swamp on one side and high on the other.® Saw many swans, pelicans, and ducks. Were obliged to go up to our middle to get to the boat, and got on board between five and six o'clock. Rain and thunder in the night.

       "  Thursday, Srd, —At six o'clock the captain, Mr. Grimes, self, and five seamen went in the boat up the Great River ; at between two and three miles it divided into two ; ^ we took the left-hand stream at half-paat eight o'clock. The land became high, where we landed and went on a hill. The soil a reddish loam, from ten to fifteen inches deep. Saw a large lagoon at a distance.   Went over the hill to a large swamp.®   Soil black,

       *  AboBt four  miles.   * The Long Beach.

       *  The Long Beach and Camun Carram Swamp.   * Carram Carmm

       *  The Yarra Yarra river.   " About Footscray. 7 The Saltwater aud Yarra rivers.   ^ Moonie Ponds.

       eighteen inches, with blue clay at bottom. No trees for many nuJes. Came to the boat and proceeded on; passed two dingles; no water; came to a third where we found some water, where we dined, and proceeded on. Opposite this the land is stony soil, stiff blue clay, and no trees—only some straggling oaks by the side of the river. We went up the river till we came to rocks; ^ could not get the boat over; crossed it at a place the natives had made for catching fish. It was still salt, though a great fall; went about two miles on the hills, which are level at top, and full of stones; the land very bad, and very few trees, aad appeared so to the mountains, which appeared clothed with timber. On our return back to the river a little higher up, we found it excellent fresh water, where it divided and appeared deep enough for a boat. Just as we got to the boat it began to thunder and rain. Stopped a a little time, and came back till we could procure wood to make a fire, and, it being sunset, stopped the night.

       "  Fridayy  4^A.—-Started at six, and came to the branch we passed before; at the entrance the land swampy; a few miles up found it excellent water, where we saw a little hill" and landed. The time dinner was getting ready, Messrs. Bobbins, Grimes, and self went on the hill, where we saw the lagoon * seen from the hill where we first landed. It is in a large swamp between the two rivers  {Saltwater and Yarra) ; fine grass, fit to mow; not a bush in it. The soil is black rich earth, about six to ten inches deep when it is very hard and stiff. It is better further back. About two miles further went on shore again; the land much better and timber larger. Soil black, ten to fifteen inches deep; bottom, sand or gravel. I went to the other side, where the soil was the same; went in about two miles; it began to rain. I returned to the boat, and after dinner we all got on board, and arrived on board the vessel at dusk.    Saw a canoe and two native huts.

       "  Saturday, 5th. —Early in the morning the captain went with some casks for water to the place we were at the preceding day; they returned in the evening. Mr. Grimes and the doctor were on shore, but returned in about an hour.

       "  Sunday 6th  —The captain, Mr. Grimes, and self went up the river opposite to the place that the survey was left off on 2nd.* The captain sounded the mouth of the river; the other party along the shore. I went up a creek * about a mile and a naif; it was salt, and ended in a swamp: a run from the plains came into it in wet weather; there is a few trees by the sea side;  behind,  a   level   plain   to   the   mountains.    Soil   six

       ' Solomon's Ford.   » Batman's Hill.

       ^ Batman's, or West Melbonrne, Swamp.   * Footscray.

       ' Stony Creek.

       inches deep of stiff, black earth, white clay at bottom, and many large stones. The country appears the same for fifteen or twenty miles.

       '* Monday, 7th, —Early in the morning the party that went up the river before with the doctor went up to the little hill ^ we had been at on the 4th, where we stopped to breakfast, proceeded on to a creek,^ where we dined. Saw some natives. The land in general is a fine black soil, ten to eighteen inches deep. Timber—gum, Banksia, oak, and mimosa of all sorts, but not large except the gum. The river appears to rise to the height of eight or ten feet at times by wreck on the trees. Went alternately into the land on both sides the river; it continued nearly of the same quality. The greatest part of the land is above the flood. Proceeded on till sunset; stopped the night.

       "  Ttcesday 8th. —Sowed some seeds by the natives' hut where we slept. Continued our course up the river; the land high ; rock by side of river; it is a freestone, the strata on edge. Came to a fall,* where we could not get the boat over. We went inland a little way. It is stony; about six inches black, stiff soil, white clay at bottom. Mr. Bobbins got up a tree; saw it to be gently rising hill, clothed with trees, for ten or fifteen miles. A little above the fall there is a small island, and the river divides in two. The timber in general is gum, oak, and Banksia; the two latter are small; the gum two to four feet diameter, and from ten to thirty feet high; on some of the low ground they are something larger. We were not more than half a mile firom the river. Returned back and crossed a a neck of land 330 paces over * while the boat went round. Came to our old station at the large lagoon. I went about two miles inland, and fell in with seven natives. I saw Messrs. Bobbins, Grimes, and McCallum at the lagoon. From the hill saw the vessel; returned to the river, and after dinner set out for the vessel, where we arrived about seven o'clock; the land at two miles inland is of a better quality than the specimen.

       "  Wednesday, %th, —Continued to survey from the mouth of the river  {at Williamstown).  The land for two or three miles is a gentle rise firom the beach, which is muddy, or by large stones ; the land stiff clay, stones appearing at top; a little further, nearer the beach, a swamp, light black sand, white shells at bottom. There is a slip of trees about half a mile firom the beach, then a clear, level plain to the mountains, which I suppose to be fifteen or twenty miles. Passed two inlets of stdt water.    Got on board at two.

       "  Thursday, 10th. —^At six o'clock the same party went on shore.
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       The slip of trees by the beach coDtinued about two miles, when the shore became high, about eight or ten feet above high water mark; we proceeded on for four or five miles, and tibe wind being contrary we observed the veissel' bring to/ and we walked back and got on board about three o'clock. Several nautilus shells picked up.

       **  Friday^ Wth. —At eight o'clock the captain, doctor, self, and carpenter, went on shore. We observed a hill at a distance, and made to it; we crossed the two runs seen ^ on the 9th, one ends in a swamp, the other salt water where we crossed it; the country very level, some plains, stony, and much water to lodge in it in wet weather. Went to the top of the hill; it is stony; could see about ten miles around us a level plain ^ with a few straggling bushes. The face of the ground is one-third grass, one (fitto stone, and one ditto earth, mostly newly burnt. Returned back nearly the same course, and found some brackish water in one of the runs we crossed before. Got on board about three o'clock.

       "  Saturdayy  12/A.—Anchor up at sunrise; proceeded up to the bay opposite to the place where the surveyors left off on the 10th,* the vessel being about the middle of the bay. We crossed over in the boat to the other shore. The party consisted of the captain, Mr. Grimes, the doctor, self, and seven seamen and marines, in all eleven, with four days' provisions; got on shore at five o'clock. I went on the top of a hill, where the laiid is good and fine pasture from ten to eighteen inches deep, fine black earth, with white, sandy clay or gravel bottom. The timber small and the same as before mentioned. Came up with the doctor, and we went about two miles in, the country appearing the same.

       "  Sunday, IZth. —Set out at six o'clock, the captain and three men in the boats, the rest on shore. The land and timber is of the same quality for several miles, and there are fine dingles, which are runs of water in wet seasons, but all dry. The shore became swampy, crossed the mud up to the knees; it continued low and muddy a considerable way. We stopped and dined opposite to a salt lagoon; started soon after, having but little water. The swamp continued some miles fiirther, when I saw a high point of land, which I crossed, and it being now sunset, stopped the night. We dug for water, but it was salt; we had not half a pint per man.

       '* Monday, \Wi. —Continued our course as soon as it was light. A large swamp two or three thousand acres, a brush of sidtwort. Crossed two places up to the middle. Came to a fine green hill, very fine land, eighteen inches deep of rich black soil.    The captain went on before in search of water, but

       ^ Eoroit and Skelton creeks.   ' Werribee Plains.   * Point Cook.

       found none. I crossed over the hill to the beach, and found an acid spring. Hailed the boat, and the surveyor came up about ten o'clock, when we breakfasted, and filled the cask and proceeded on. The land behind the hill high and woody. Came round to a river; ^ went up it about a mile in company with the doctor. At the end of the salt water found a hole made by natives; drank of it and returned back to the beach where the boat had ' brought up.* I went back to the hole, and dug it larger, and brought some of the water. The land is not of so good a quality after I crossed the river; timber small and crooked, mostly oak and Banksia.

       "  Tuesday, \bth, —In the morning two men went for some water, and set out about eight o'clock. I went over a plain and met with a river,* went up about a mile and a half; it continued salt and wide. Returned to the beach, where the party was waiting for the boat to take them over; it being low water the boat could not get up; crossed it up to the middle, and a little further, dined. Prqceeded on round a point,* the land stony, and no wood ; came to a swamp and another river.* I did not go up it as it was near night. Had much difficulty to find wood.

       *'  Wednesday, \Qth. —Breakfasted before daylight. The captain and crew went back to the native hole for water, whilst the others proceeded on by land. Swamps, with gentle rising stony ground; some scaites of lagoons and small runs, all dry. About two o'clock the boat came up with us; our provision was all out. We had got four geese; stopped and dressed them, and walked on till sunset; a bad fire this night Five pounds of bread per week. Passed three islands, one large and two small; ^ saw mangroves on the large island, only a few scattered trees on the plain.    Many swans, ducks, and luggs.

       "  Thursday 17th. —A bad fire and swampy beach this night. Had about one pound of flour; boiled it for our breakfast for all hands. Mr. Grimes would not go any further without provisions; the captain went off to the vessel for some, and inadvertently took what water we had left with him. Mr. Grimes called him back, got the water in a camp kettle, and proceeded on about a mile. Came to a river; ® went up it about two miles in company with the doctor, where we found excellent fresh water. There is no run above the fresh water, only some pools; it appeared to be a considerable run in wet seasons. Crossed over to the other side, and came opposite to Mr. Grimes and party, and they went round. The land was a little better by the river side, but swampy near the sea. Proceeded on to another river; it ended in a swamp about a mile up.   Soon
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       after the boat returned from the ship, when we sat down to dinner. Afterwards continued our march to another large river. ^ The boat being at hand, it took over Mr. Grimes and his party; he proceeded to the place where he left off on the 10th, and I went up the river a little way in the boat. It is the second in size we have met with. The captain did not think fit to go farther, and we returned and were soon joined by the surveyor, &c.    Grot on board about seven o'clock.

       *'Friday, IStK —^Anchor up at sunrise: came opposite the place we slept on the 12th instant. As we went out of the boat eleven natives met us; they were very civil. I gave one of them a biscuit; he looked at it. I took it again, ate of it, when he did the same; whatever we said they said it after us. There was one who appeared to be their chief. They handed us their spears to look at; one of them was barbed, and one with two prongs. They followed us as we went on, and Mr. Grimes seemed much frightened, and hailed the boat to follow us; when the boat came up, he wcQt on board. I made signs for them to come into the boat, but they would not venture. Two of them appeared to be marked with the smallpox. After dinner we went on shore with an additional guard; they all met us again. Gave them some fish, a tomahawk, and an old hat; they put our hands to their breasts, and looked into my haversack. The boat loitered behind us, and the sailors said that they took the lead line and hoe out of the boat, and some fish : got the line again, but not the hoe. The land is a light sand from the point of the hill and in some places swampy; the timber something larger, consisting of gum, oak, Banksia, and mimosa, some small pine, one half of it dead by the country being lately burnt.    Got on board at dusk.

       "  Saturday, 19th, —^Weighed anchor at daylight; came opposite to the place we left last night Dropped anchor and breakfasted.. Got on shore about nine o'clock. The beach muddy; the land a swamp; timber as before. Came opposite to an island  (Swan).  The vessel' brought to,' and we went on board about one o'clock. Soon after our arrival on shore two of the natives we had seen on the preceding day came to us. They looked much at my buttons; I cut two off and gave each of them one, and some biscuit. They went with us upwards of a mile and returned. After dinner Mr. Grimes went to take some bearings, and the captain to sound.

       "  Sunday, 2Qth, —^AU hands on board till after dinner. The captain went to sound, and arrived at dusk.

       "  Monday,  21s^.—Anchor up at daylight; dropped ditto about seven. The captain, Mr. Grimes, and a party of seamen and marines, went on shore ; we were now in sight of the entrance
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       of the port. Mr. Bobbins told me not to go on shore; it began to blow and rain, and the^ all came on board at two o'clock.

       "  Tuesday, 22nd. —^Weighed anchor at sunrise, and came to the opposite shore. Mr. Grimes and assistants went to finish the survey on the south-east point of the entrance; the captain to sound.    They returned on board about 4 P.M.

       "  Wednesday,  23rrf.—Weighed anchor about seven o'clock, and came opposite to the watering-place. The wooding and watering parties went on shore. I went to examine the run of water; it was dry, except a small pond near the beach. Traced the run about a quarter of a mile; it ends in a lagoon, which was dry.

       "  Thursday, 24ith, —^AU hands wooding, watering, and washing. I sowed a variety of seeds by the watering-place; the land is light and sandy. I went towards the bottom of Arthur's Seat, and met with lagoon with fresh water. The captain and Mr. Grimes came on shore in the evening, and all hands got on board at dusk.

       "  Friday, 2oth, —About nine o'clock the captain, Grimes, and doctor went to examine a shoal and take some bearings; they came on board about two, and in the afternoon some of the crew went on shore to finish their washing. About ten at night the man on watch observed the small boat gone; the whale-boat was immediately sent in search of her.

       "  Saturday, 26th. —^About four o'clock in the morning the party that went in search of the boat returned without her, when another party was sent at daylight. The captain saw the boat at a small distance from the vessel; weighed anchor and took her in tow, and made a signal for the whale-boat to come alongside. Dropped anchor, and after breakfast the captain and Mr. Grimes went on shore; they returned about one, and in the afternoon weighed anchor, and dropped down to the Heads and took in the whale-boat."

       The next morning they were all out of the bay. The party had made a tolerably exact observation of the country all round the port, from Point Nepean along the eastern side to the Yaira, and by the western shore of the bay southward to Point Lonsdale, though going a very short distance from the beach.   The conclusion of the report was as follows:—

       " The most eligible place for a settlement that I have seen is on the  Freshwater River  (Yarra).  In several places there are small tracts of good land, but they are without wood and water. I have every reason to think that there is not oflen so great a scarcity of water as at present from the appearance

       of the herbage. The country in general is excellent pasture and thin of timber, which is mostly low and crooked. In most places there is fine clay for bricks, and abundance of stone. I am of opinion that the timber is better both in quality and size further up the country, as I saw some that is called ash on the banks of the Freshwater River, and the hills appear to be clothed with wood. As to the quantity of good land at the different places, I shall be better able to describe when I am favoured with a sight of a chart, as I have not been permitted to see one since I came out. There is plenty of fish in  Port King  {Port Phillip).    The country in general is newly burnt."

       CHAPTER II.

       SETTLEMENT  OF   1803.

       How  came Port Phillip to be selected for colonization ?

       When Flinders reached Sydney he was warmly received by his old friend Governor Kling. Naturally, the story of Port Phillip and its beautiful country would be told by the explorer. Just then the mind of Captain King was-much exercised about the aggressive conduct of the French, whose discovery ships were rightly viewed as having a military and commercial commission. The arch foes of the British nation were evidently seeking an establishment near Port Jackson. The Governor jumped to the conclusion that Port Phillip w^uld be just the location to find favour in French eyes, and he took prompt measures to block

       the way.

       On May 21st, 1802, but few days after his talk with Flinders,

       his Excellency wrote to the Ministry about his fears of the French, and strongly urged a penal settlement at Port Phillip. The new country, said he, was more favourably situated than Sydney, with" a much more eligible climate for raising wheat than this is." In that day, especially, the superiority of a place was judged according to its capability for the growth of corn. Not content with a letter, he sent off Mr. Grimes, the Surveyor General, and Lieutenant Robbins, to make a correct observation of the coastline of the Bay.

       All  necessary information seemed to be acquired for the guidance of Government as to the site of settlement. Flinders had then no knowledge of such being about to be formed, although not unlikely to be; for he wrote, " Were a settlement to be made at Port Phillip, as doubtless there will be some time hereafter."    The British Ministry did not wait  for  the  report of

       the survey of the Bay, but resolved to despatch a party without delay.

       In the English spring of 1803 the expedition set oflf, arriving at its destination in the Australian spring. The command was given to Lieutenant-Colonel Collins of the Marines. That gentleman had been in New South Wales, occupymg a post of honour and diflSculty there, being Judge Advocate of the colony. To perform the duties of that office, some education was required ; though a military man was not out of place at the head of a military Court, under a military rule. His interesting  History of New South Wales,  and his intimate knowledge of colonial administration, were sufficient recommendations for his selection as leader.

       The  Calcutta,  man-of-war, and the  Ocean,  transport, carried the colonists and their stores. They sailed from Portsmouth Apiil 26th, 1803, and reached Port Phillip October 10th.

       The history of the Settlement is mainly derived from three sources; Tuckey's work, entitled  Voyage to establish a Colony at Port Phillip ;  the official papers of Lieutenant-Governor Collins, and the journal of the chaplain of the expedition, the Rev. Robert Bjiopwood.

       We may first take up the sailor s narrative.

       Mr. Tuckey was First-Lieutenant of H.M.S.  Calcutta^  selected to convey the party to Bass's Strait. He vindicates the policy of Government in the selection of men-of-war, rather than ordinary merchant vessels, for the conveyance of convicts; saying—

       " By employing king's ships on this service, a number of officers and seamen would be provided for, who might otherwise emigrate to foreign services, and be totally lost to their country ; and, again, it must naturally be supposed that the officers, having neither pecuniary nor commercial interest in the voyage, would conduct it upon principles very different from those of mercenary, and perhaps illiterate, traders; at the same time that the former would be enabled to keep the convicts in a better state of discipline, and also be more careful of their health, by that constant attention to cleanliness which characterises the British Navy."

       He then enters upon the reasons for the formation of the new colony at Port Phillip, '* discovered by Acting-Lieutenant

       c 2

       John Murray, in His Majesty's armed brig,  Lady Nelson,  and by him named Port King."

       "Since the discovery of Bass's Strait," writes he, "it had entered into the contemplation of Government to establish a settlement at its  western  entrance, as well from commercial as political motives. In the first respect, it would give the greatest encouragement to the speculations carried on for seals and sea-elephants, at the islands in the Strait, to have a secure port in their vicinity, where the produce might be collected until ready for exportation; in the next place, this measure would prevent any rival nations from establishing themselves on this coast, who might become troublesome neighbours to our colony at Port Jackson, which must no longer be considered as a contemptible part of the British Dominions; and to which the possession of Bass's Strait would give us a less tedious and circuitous access. Port Phillip, on the north shore of the Strait, which was reported to be an excellent harbour, seemed, from its geographical position, to possess all the advantages required in the proposed Settlement."

       Captain Daniel Woodriff, of the  CalciUta,  had had some previous experience of colonial life at Sydney. The  Ocean, transport, 600 tons, was chartered for the conveyance of some of the officials and military, as well as the settlers, with stores, &c. Various delays prevented departure till the 26th of April, 1803.

       There were, according to Tuckey, " 307 male convicts, with 17 of their wives, and 7 children." Another account gives 12 wives. Of the marines, says Tuckey, there were 4 officers, 3 Serjeants, 3 corporals, 2 drums, 39 rank and file, 5 women and 1 child. Of the free settlers, there wer^ 11 men and 1 woman. There were also the chaplain, three surgeons, commissary, surveyor, mineralogist, two overseers, and two superintendents of convicts. The  Calcutta  had nine officers, besides mates, midshipmen and crew.

       The establishment was to consist of the Lieutenant-Governor, Lieutenant-Colonel Collins, at 480/. a year; Assistant Chaplain, Rev. Robert Knopwood, at  lOs.  a day; Surgeon, William J'anson, at 10^.; Assistant Surgeons, Mathew Bowden and William Hopley at  7s. Qd.;  Deputy Commissary, Leonard Fosbrook, 7s.  6d.; Deputy Surveyor, George Prid Robert Harris,  7$. 6d. ; Mineralogist, Adalarius  W. H. Humphrey, 7s.  6d,;   Superin-
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       tendents of convicts, Thomas Clark and William Patterson, 50/. a year; overseers, John Ingle and William Parish, 26/.; The Marine officers were, First-Lieutenant, William Sladden; Second, J. M. Johnson; Third, Edward Lord. Captain Barcauld, appointed Judge Advocate, never sailed.

       The names of the free settlers, or those having the permission of Government to go in the  Ocean,  are these ;—two seamen. Hartley and Collins; two carpenters, Thomas Collingwood and Edward Newman; a mason, Ant. Fletcher; a cutler (I), John Skilhome, and a pocket-book manufacturer (!!), T. R. Preston. Few would be taken, as few would offer at the first. The trades of three others are not given; E. F. Hamilton, John J. Gravie, and Pownall, who may have been useful in their way. A female servant is also noted. But there must have been others, after the list had been made up, since we read of Blinkworth, dealer in clothing, with others. Hartley, down as a seaman, opened a store.

       Of the women accompanying their husbands, our romantic lieutenant has the following story :—

       " Among the convicts on board were some who, by prodigality and its attendant vices, had degraded themselves from a respectable rank in society, and were indebted to the lenity of their prosecutors alone for an escape from the last sentence of the law. Some of these men were accompanied by their wives (as the father of Mr. John Pascoe Fawkner),  who had married them in the sunshine of prosperity, when the world smiled deceitfully, and their path of life appeared strewed with unfading flowers; in the season of adversity they would not be separated, but reposed their heads on the same thorny pillow; and as they had shared with them the cup of joy, they refused not that of sorrow. Those alone who know the miserable and degraded situation of a transported felon, can appreciate the degree of connubial love that could induce these women to accompany their guilty husbands in their exile. The laws can only make distinction in crimes, while the criminals, whatever may have been their former situation in life, must suffer alike fur crimes of the same nature; it, therefore, entirely depended on us to ameliorate their condition, and grant such indulgences as the nature and degree of the crime, and the otherwise general character and conduct of the prisoner, seemed to deserve. To these helpless females all the attention that humanity dictated, and that the nature of our service would permit, were extended, but still it was impossible to separate their situations entirely

       from their guilty husbands; they were consequently far, very far, from being comfortable; and one of them, borne down by the first hardships of the voyage, which she felt with redoubled force, being fax advanced in her pregnancy, fell a victim to her miaplaced affection before our arrival at Teneriffe."

       A large part of Mr. Tuckey's little volume refers to the different places at which the vessels called on their way out; as Teneriffe, Cape Verde Islands, Brazil, and the Cape of Good Hope. Our object is gained by a consultation of that portion relating to the time at Port Phillip. This division of his work we shall now give in its entirety.

       "On Saturday, October 10th, we at last made King Island, in the entrance of Bass's Strait, which we had anxiously looked out for the two preceding days; the wind being from the N.E. obliged us to stand within three miles of the island, which through the haze we observed to be moderately high and level, with three sandy hills nearly in the centre. The increasing breeze and lowering sky, which portended a coming gale, pre-vented our examining the island more minutely. Fortunately we stood off in time to gain' a suflScient offing before the gale commenced, which during the night blew a perfect hurricane between the N.W. and S.W. This night of danger and anxiety was succeeded by a morning beautifully serene, which showed us the southern coast of New South Wales. From the total want of information respecting the appearance of the land on this coast, we were doubtful as to our situation, and approached the shore with cautious diffidence; at length the break in the land which forms the entrance of Port Philip was observed, but a surf, apparently breaking across it, created at first some mistrust of its identity, until the man at the mast-head observing a ship at anchor within, which was soon recognised for the  Ocean, removed all doubt, and without farther hesitation we pushed in for the entrance. A fair wind and tide soon carried us through ; and in a few minutes we were presented with a picture highly contrasted with the scene we had lately contemplated: an expanse of water bounded in many places only by the horizon, and unruffled as the bosom of unpolluted innocence, presented itself to the charmed eye, which roamed over it in silent admiration. The nearer shores, along which the ship glided at the distance of a mile, afforded the most exquisite scenery, and recalled the idea of ** Nature in the world's first spring." In short, every circumstance combined to impress our minds with the highest satisfaction for our safe arrival, and in creating those

       /

       emotions which diffused themselves in thanksgiving to that Almighty Guide who conducted us through the pathless ocean^ to the spot of our destination.

       " The week following our arrival at Port Philip was occupied in searching for an eligible spot to fix the settlement. As it was of the first consequence that this should be of easy access to shipping, the Chores near the mouth of the port were first examined. Here, to our great mortification, we observed a total want of firesh water, and found the soil so extremely light and sandy as to deny all hopes of successful oiltivation. As it was, however, determined to land the people, a small bay eight miles firom the harbour's mouth was pitched upon for that purpose, where, by sinking casks, water of a tolerable quality was procured, and here the camp was pitched; and on the 16th of October, the marines and convicts were landed, while the ships immediately began to discharge their cargoes.

       " On the first days of our landing, previous to the general debarkation. Captain Woodriff, Colonel CoUins, and the First-Lieutenant of the  Calcutta  had some interviews with the natives, who came to the boats entirely unarmed, and without the smallest symptom of apprehension; presents of blankets, biscuits, etc., were given to them, with which, except in one instance, they departed satisfied and inoflfensive. The wash streak of the boat striking one of their fancies, he seized it, and threw it behind the bushes; to show him the impropriety of this, the blankets which had before been given them were taken away, and they were made to understand that thej^ would not be restored until the board was brought back by him who conveyed it away: this, after some delay and much reluctance, was at last done.

       "Though the vicinity of the harbours mouth afforded no situation calculated for the establishment of the colony, it was naturaUy expected from the extent of the port (its extremes being sunk m the horizon) that convenient spots might be found; and the First-Lieutenant of the  Calcutta,  with two boats, was directed to ascertain this material point, by as careful a survey of the port as time would permit. From the- reports of this survey, made to Captain Woodriff, the following descriptive particulars are extracted:—

       " Port Philip lies in the bottom of a deep bight between Cape Albany, Otway, and Point Schank. Coming from the westwanl, the port may be known by a single bluff headland without trees, rising from low land, thickly wooded, about four leagues to the westward of the entrance, to which we gave the name of Whale-head from its resemblance to that fish. The prevalence of southerly winds renders Port Philip easily accessible, but in the same proportion the egress is difficult, for Point Schank bearing

       S.E. and Cape Otway S.W. it is obvious that with the wind at south a ship would not clear either, and the heavy swell that constantly tumbles on the coast between Port Philip and Western Port, will often render it impossible (particularly in light winds) to keep off the shore, which here presents a continued barrier of rocks, that denies thfe smaUest hope of escape to those dashed upon it.

       " The face of the country bordering on the port is beautifully picturesque, swelling into gentle elevations of the brightest verdure, and dotted with trees, as if planted by the hand of taste, while the ground is covered with a profusion of flowers of every colour; in short, the external appearance of the country flattered us into the almost delusive dreams of fruitfulness and plenty.

       " The soil (except in a few places where marl is found mixed with vegetable mould) is invariably sandy, and its blackness proceeds from the ashes of the burnt grass, which has everywhere been set fire to by the natives. The proportion of sand varies, and in some spots the soil may be sufficiently strong to produce vegetables and, perhaps, Indian corn; but it may safely be asserted, that (excepting a few acres at the head of the port) no spot within five miles of the water will produce wheat or any other grain that requires either much moisture or good soil. On some of the highest elevations an arid sea-sand is found, giving nourishment to no other vegetable than heath and fern. The bases of the hill consist of very coarse granite, which is here found in every stage of formation, from grains scarcely adhering, and crumbling into sand between the fingers, to the perfect stone which almost defies the chisel.

       '* The great scarcity of water is one of the greatest disadvantages the port labours under. In the narrow glens between the hills the marks of watercourses are visible, but at this time (October) they are mostly dried up; pools of fresh water are found scattered about the port, but they are merely drains from swamps, and from their stagnation are strongly impregnated with decayed vegetable substances.

       " On the eastern side of the port, twenty-eight miles from the entrance, a stream of fresh water empties itself into the port. This stream runs through an extensive swamp, and appears to be a branch from a large river, at the northern extremity of the port, which the shortness of time and badness of the weather prevented our examining. The bed of this stream is covered with foliaceous mica, which our people at first conceived to be gold dust, and thence expected they had discovered an Elsatedorado,

       " On the west side of the port is an extensive Ij^oon, the water of which is too shoal to admit even small boats but at full

       tides; and in several places salt lagoons are found, generally close by the beach, where ducks, teals, and swans, are found in abundance.

       " The timber, within five miles of the beach, is chiefly the she-oak, which is only fit for cabinet work; the trees are open, and the country is entirely firee fix)m underwood, except in the swamps, which are always covered with an impenetrable brush. The other kinds of timber trees are very thinly scattered within the above limits; they are the blue-gum, stringy-bark, honeysuckle, box, and a kind of pine; of these the three first grow to a large size, and, when soimd, would probably be useful in shipbuilding. From the lightness of the soil, as well as its want of depth, the trees shoot their roots horizontally, and having no hold on the ground, are blown down in great numbers by every strong wind.

       " Of potable vegetables, wild celery, wUd parsnip, scurvy-grass, and samphire were foimd in great abundance, and several other kinds were eaten by our people. The only fruits we found were the cone of the she-oak, which when green has a pleasantly acid taste, and a small berry, called by the colonists the Port Jackson cherry.

       " The kangaroo is the largest animal yet discovered in New Holland; it inhabits the neighbourhood of Port Philip in considerable numbers, weighing from 50 to 150 lb.; the native dog, the opossum, flying squirrel, and field rat make up the catalogue of animals we observed. Aquatic birds are found in abundance on the lagoons, and so are black swans, ducks, teal, black and pied shags, pelicans, gulls, red-bills (a beach bird), herons, curlews and sand-larks; the land birds are eagles, crows, ravens, quail, bronze-winged pigeons, and many beautiful varieties of the parrot tribe, particularly the large black cockatoo; the emu is also a native of this part of the country, its eggs having been found here. Three varieties of snakes were observed, all of which appeared to be venomous. The species of insects are almost innumerable: among them are upwards of one hundred and fifty diflferent kinds of beautiful moths; several kinds of beetles, the animated straw, &c. The swamps are inhabited by myriads of mosquitoes of an extraordinary size; but the common fly, which swarms almost beyond belief, possesses all the offensive powers of the mosquito, its sting creating an equal degree of pain and inflammation. Wasps are also common, but no bees were seen.

       •' Fish, it may safely be asserted, is so scarce that it could never be depended on as a source of effectual relief in the event of scarcity. Several varieties of the ray were almost the only ones caught, with sometimes a few mullet, and other small fish; in general, a day's work with the seine produced scarcely a good

       dish of fisK. The number of sharks which infest the harbour may occasion this scarcity of small fish. The rocks outside the harbour's mouth are firequented by seals and sea-elephants. The shell-fish are oysters, limpets, mussels, escalops, cockles, sea-ears; and very large cray-fish are found among the rocks.

       " Deeming minerals, as well as limestone, coal, and clays, of the greatest consequence to the colony, particular attention was paid to searching for them; the only appearance of minerals was in large masses of iron-stone, in some specimens of which, the shape, colour and weight, seemed to authorise the conclusion of its richness. Limestone was found in many places, but the search for coal was fruitless. Several kinds of clay fit for pottery, bricks, &c., were found in abundance, but always more or less mixed with sand; indeed, after displacing a thin covering of sand and ashes, the bottom, in most places, was found to be a soft, friable sandstone of a yellowish colour.

       " With respect to climate, we had not sufiicient time to judge of its effects on the human constitution; the vicissitudes of heat and cold are very great, the thermometer varying from 50"* to 96^ between sunrise and noon of the same day; and on the 19th and 21st of October it froze pretty smartly at the head of the port. The N.W. winds, which come on in violent squalls, have all the disagreeable effects of the sirocco of the Levant, but seldom last more than an hour, when the wind returns to the S.W. with thunder, lightning, and rain.

       " The N.W. side of the port, where a level plain extends to the northward as far as the horizon, appears to be by far the most populous; at this place, upwards of two hundred natives assembled round the surveying boats, and their obviously hostile intentions made the application of firearms absolutely necessary to repel them, by which one native was killed and two or three wounded. Previous to this time, several interviews had been held with separate parties, at different places, during which the most Mendly intercourse was maintained, and endeavoured to be strengthened on our part by presents of blankets, beads, &c. At these interviews they appeared to have a perfect knowledge of the use of firearms; and as they seemed terrified even at the sight of them, they were kept entirely out of view. The last interview, which terminated ^ so unexpectedly hostile, had at its commencement the same friendly appeaitmce. Three natives, unarmed, came to the boats, and received fish, bread, and blankets. Feeling no apprehension firom three naked and unarmed savages, the first lieutenant proceeded with one boat to continue the survey, while the other boat's crew remained on shore to dress dinner and procure water. The moment the first boat disappeared, the three natives took leave, and in less than an hour returned with forty more, headed by a chief who seemed

       to possess much authority. This party immediately divided, some taking off the attention of the people who had charge of the tent (in which was Mr. Harris the surveyor of the colony) while the rest surrounded the boats, the oars, masts, and sails of which were used in erecting the tent. Their intention to plunder was immediately visible, and all the exertions of the boats crew were insufficient to prevent their possessing themselves of a tomahawk, an ax, and a saw. In this situation, as it was impossible to get the boat away, everything belonging to her beihg on shore, it was thought advisable to temporise, and wait the return of the other boat, without having recourse to firearms, if it could possibly be avoided; and, for this purpose, bread, meat, and blankets were given them. These condescensioiiS, however, seemed only to increase their boldness, and their numbers having been augmented by the junction of two other parties, amounted to more than two hundred. At this critical time the other boat came in sight, and observing the crowd and tumult at the tent, pushed towards them with all possible despatch. Upon approaching the shoi'e, the unusual warlike appearance of the natives was immediately observed, and as they seemed to have entire possession of the tent, serious apprehensions were entertained for Mr. H!arris and two of the boat's crew, who it was noticed were not at the boat. At the moment that the grapnel was hove out of the lieutenant s boat, to prevent her taking tho ground, one of the natives seized the master s mate, who had charge of the other boat, and held him fast in his arms, a general cry of ' Fire, sir; for God's sake, fire !' was now address^ firom those on shore to the first lieutenant. Hoping the report only would sufficiently intim'date them, two muskets were fired over their heads; for a moment they seemed to pause, and a few retreated behind the trees, but immediately returned, clapping their hands, and shouting vehemently. Four muskets with buckshot, and the fowling-pieces of the gentlemen with small shot, were now fired among them, and firom a general howl, very different from their former shouts, many were supposed to be struck. This discharge created a general panic, and leaving their cloaks behind, they new in every direction among the trees. It was hoped the busmess would have terminated here, and orders were therefore given to strike the tent, and prepare to quit the territory of such disagreeable neighbours. While thus employed, a large party were seen again assembling behind a hill, at the foot of which was our tent: they advanced in a compact body to the brow of the hill, every individual armed with a spear, and some, who appeared to be the attendants of others, carrying bundles of them; when within a hundred yards of us they halted, and the chief, with one attendant, came down to the tent and spoke with great vehemence, holding a very large war spear

       in a position for throwing. The first lieutenant, wishing to restore peace if possible, laid down his gun, and advancing to the chief, presented him with several cloaks, necklaces, and spears, which had been left behind on their retreat; the chief took his own cloak and necklace, and gave the others to his attendant. His countensmce and gestures all this time betrayed more of anger than fear, and his spear appeared every moment upon the point of quitting his hand. When the cloaks were all given up, the body on the hill began to descend, shouting and flourishing their spears. Our people were immediately drawn up, and ordered to present their muskets loaded with ball, while a last attempt was made to convince the chief, that if his people continued to approach they would be immediately fired upon. These threats were either not properly understood, or were despised, and it was deemed absolutely necessary for our own safety, to prove the power of our firearms, before they came near enough to injure us with their spears; selecting one of the foremost, who appeared to be most violent, as a proper example, three muskets were fired at him, at fifty yards' distance, two of which took effect, and he fell dead on the spot, the chief turning round at 'the report saw him fall, and immediately fled among the trees; a general dispersion succeeded, and the dead body was left behind.

       " Among these savages, gradations of rank could be distinctly traced, founded most probably upon personal qualities and external appearance. In these respects the chief far excelled the rest; his figure was masculine and well-proportioned, and his air bold and commanding. When first he was seen approaching the boat, he was raised upon the shoulders of two men, and surrounded by the whole party, shouting and clapping their hands. Besides his cloak, which was only distinguished by its superior size, he wore a necklace of reeds, and several strings of human hair over his breast. His head was adorned with a coronet of the wing-feathers of the swan, very neatly arranged, and which had a pleasing effect. The faces of several were painted with red, white, and yellow clays, and others had a reed or bone run through the septum of the nose, perhaps increasing in length according to rank, for the chiefs was by far the longest, and must have measured at least two feet. Ornamental scars on the shoulders were general, and the face of one was deeply pitted as if from the small pox, though that disease is not known to exist in New Holland. A very great difference was observed in the comparative cleanliness of these savages; some of them were so abominably beastly, that it required the strongest stomach to look on them without nausea, while others were suflSciently cleanly to be viewed without disgust. The beards, which are remaxKably bushy, in the former were allowed

       to grow, while in the latter they were cut close, apparently by a sharp instrument, probably a shell.

       " The only covering they make use of to preserve their persons frofti the winter's cold is a square cloak of opossum skins, neatly sewed together, and thrown loosely over their shoulders; the fleshy side, which is worn inwards, is marked with parallel lines, forming squares, lozenges, etc., and sometimes with uncouth human figures in the attitudes of dancing.

       " Their arms are spears, used with a throwing stick, like those of Port Jackson; their shields are made of a haid wood and neatly carved; their war-spears are barbed with pieces of white spar, or shark's teeth, fastened on with red gum, and within a certain distance must be very dangerous offensive weapons. Their fish-gigs are pointed with the bone of the kangaroo,"^ and with them they strike the rays which lie in shoal water. We saw no fish-hooks nor other implements for fishing in deep water, nor any appearance of canoe, or other water conveyance. Their food consists chiefly of shell-fish, and their ingenuity in procuring more substantial aliment, seems confined to the construction of a rude trap, upon the projecting points of the harbour, where the water-fowl alighting at night are entangled and caught. The scarcity of food must at times reduce them to great extremities. If they ever quit the vicinity of the water, their sole subsistence must be on lizards, grubs and the few opossums they may be able to kill; for the kangaroo, both by its activity and wariness, I should suppose to be out of the reach of their weapons or their ingenuity. The skins of these animals having never been seen with the natives corroborates this opinion, and it is probable, that the bones with which their fish-gigs are pointed, are those of animals which have died a natural death. That they scruple not to eat lizards and grubs as well as a very large worm found in the gum-trees we had ocular demonstration; indeed, the latter they seem to consider a very great delicacy. Bread, beef, and fish, which they received jfrom us, they devoured with great eagerness, swallowing large pieces without chewing, as if afraid of its being taken from them, but in no instance could we get them to drink. Spirits they appeared to dislike from the smell alone, and sweet punch they would taste and spit out again with disapprobation. They chew the green leaves of various plants, several of which had a slight astringent taste, and an aromatic smell.

       " Their huts merely serve the purpose of temporary shelter firom the weather. They are constructed of branches of trees placed slanting and open on one side, which is always to leeward; if a fallen tree is near, it usually serves to support the hut, and sometimes when coarse grass is convenient, it is interwoven with the branches.    Their fires are made at the very entrance of the

       huts, and if the wind shifts must be immediately removed. We had no opportunity of observing their method of first kindling a fire, as the parties we saw had always a fire-brand with them, by which, and a Httle dry grass, they soon made a 'roaring blaze/ The only traces of society we could observe, was in a cluster of five huts, near which a well of brackish water was probably the only inducement to so close a neighbourhood. How they supply themselves with water in general we were at a loss to guess, for, upon the closest examination, none was found within several miles of the place where they had constructetl their huts. We had a sufficient proof of their burying their dead, by finding a human skeleton three feet under ground, while digging for water; its decayed state evinced its having been in the ground long before the arrival of any European at this port.

       " The only domestic utensil observed among them was a straw basket, made with tolerable neatness. Their cookery is confined to broiling, in which they are not very delicate; for the fish they sometimes received firom us were put on the fire, and devoured without the usual preparation of gutting, cleansing, &c. Blankets they received with much satisfaction; but though several to whom they were given paid us visits afterwards, their blankets were always left behind, and they presented themselves shivering with cold. This manceuvre might probably be intended to induce a repetition of the gift, unless we suppose them to have been given to their women, which would argue a degree of civilization from which they are immeasurably removed. Though in our first interviews they seemed to be stupidly devoid of curiosity, and viewed our persons and boat.s with the most perfect indifference, yet their latter conduct shows that many of our conveniences appeared valuable, and fear was at last found much more powerJPul in deterring them firom appropriating these things to themselves, than any idea of right or wrong. The natives of this part of New South Wales appear to differ very little firom those in the vicinity of Port Jackson; the same cast of features bespeaks the same origin; their arms, their ornaments, and their dances are much alike, and they seem to differ only in language, and in the ceremony of kuocking out a front tooth of every male, those of Fort Philip having their jaws perfect. One woman only was seen, who retired by desire of the men on our approach, and one boy paid us a visit, from whose conduct we could not infer the existence of a great degree of subordination, founded on difference of age; this youngster was more loquacious and troublesome than the men.

       " Nothing could  offer a more perfect picture  of reposing solitude, than the wilds of Port Philip on our first arrival.  Here

       Contemplation, with her musing sister Melancholy, might find an undisturbed retreat. Often at the calm hour of evening I have wandered through the woods,

       *  Where the rude ax with heaved stroke Was never heard the nymphs to dannt. Or fright them fix>m their hallow'd haunt.'

       The last hymn of the feathered choristers to the setting sun, and the soft murmurs of the breeze, faintly broke the deathlike silence that reigned around ; while the lightly trodden path of the solitary savage, or the dead ashes of his fire, alone pointed out the existence of human beings. In the course of a very few weeks the scene was greatly altered; lanes were cut in the woods for the passage of timber carriages; the huts of the woodmen were erected beneath the sheltering branches of the lofty trees; the ' busy hum' of their voices, and the sound of their axes, reverberating through the woods, denoted the exertions of social industry, and the labours of civilisation. At other times, sitting on the carriage of a gun, in front of the camp, I have contemplated with succeeding emotions of pity, laughter, and astonishment, the scene before me. When I viewed so many of my fellowmen, sunk, some of them from a rank in life equal or superior to my own, and by their crimes degraded to a level with the basest of mankind; when I saw them naked, wading to their shoulders in water to unlade the boats, while a burning sun struck its meridian rays upon their uncovered heads, or yoked to and sweating under a timber carriage, the wheels of which were sunk up to the axle in sand, I only considered their hapless lot, and the remembrance of their vices was for a moment absorbed in the greatness of their punishment; I exclaimed with enthusiasm—

       *  *Ti8 liberty alone that gives the flower Of fleeting life its lustre and perfume.

      

       And we are weeds without it.

       When, on the other hand, I viewed the lively appearance of the camp, the employments of the women, and the ridiculous dilemmas into which they were every moment thrown by the novelty of their situations, I smiled, and inwardly admiring the pliability of mind, which enables us to accommodate ourselves to the vicissitudes of fortune, confessed that the pride of independence, and the keen sensibility of prosperity, like marks imprinted on the sand, are soon efifaced by the current of adverse circumstances. What once seemed more valuable than life itself, even female virtue, grows weaker by degrees, and at last falls a sacrifice to present convenience; so true is the poet's exclamation, that 'want will perjure the ne'er touched vestal.'

       "And now again, when I considered the motives; when I contrasted the powers, the ingenuity, and the resources of civilized man, with the weakness, the ignorance, and the wants of the savage he came to dispossess, I acknowledged the immensity of human intelligence, and feel thankful for the small portion dispensed to myself. These thoughts naturally led to the contemplation of future possibilities. I beheld a second Rome, rising from a coalition of banditti. I beheld it giving laws to the world, and superlative in arms and in arts, looking down with proud superiority upon the barbarous nations of the northern hemisphere; thus running over the airy visions of empire, wealth and glory, I wandered amidst the delusions of imagination. The unfavourable account given of Port Philip, by the first-lieutenant of the  Calcutta,  immediately presented the necessity of removing the colony to a more eligible situation ; but from a total want of knowledge respecting any recent discoveries, which might have been made on the neighbouring coasts, it was deemed necessary to receive instructions on this head from the Governor-in-Chief at Port Jackson. The  Ocean Transport,  being now discharged, was to proceed on her voyage to China, and could not, therefore, be detained without a heavy expense to government. Thus the only means left of communicating with Port Jackson was by an open boat; a six-oared cutter was accordingly fitted for the purpose, in which Mr. Collins (who came out on a sealing speculation) undertook to convey the Lieutenant-Governor s despatches. After being nine days at sea, and encountering much bad weather, he was picked up by the  Ocean  (which sailed six days after him), within sixty miles of Port Jackson, and by her conveyed thither. Governor King, from a correct survey of Port Philip, made by Mr. Grimes, the Surveyor-General of the Colony, waa already convinced of its ineligibility for a settlement, and immediately chartered the Ocean  to remove the establishment either to Port Dalrymple, on the north side of Van Diemen's Land, or to the river Derwent, on the south coast of the same island, where a small party from Port Jackson was already established.

       " As the farther detention of the  Calcutta,  after the removal was finally concluded on, would greatly retard the principal object of her voyage, the conveying a cargo of ship timber to England, without any adequate advantage to the colony, she quitted Port Philip on the 18th of December, leaving the colonists preparing to reimbark on board the  Ocean.

       "While the  Calcutta  remained at Port Philip, besides the necessary duties of the ship, the crew were actively employed in collecting such specimens of ship-timber as the place afforded; and about 150 pieces of compass-timber, chiefly honeysuckle, were procured.

       " During the period of uncertainty, between the sailing of the boat and the return of advices from Port Jackson, the first-lieutenant of the  Calcutta,  with several other officers, and a party of convicts to carry provisions, proceeded by land to examine Western Port, and ascertain the correctness of the description given of it by the first discoverers, particularly with respect to coal, in which it was said to abound. From the camp we proceeded across the peninsula to where the ridge of Arthur's Seat descends to the sea. This peninsula is formed entirely of sand^ thrown up into round hillocks, and covered with coarse grass in tufts; the only trees here are the she-oak, which are small and open. After passing the ridge of Arthur's Seat we proceeded in a direction due east, nearly parallel to the seashore, of which we sometimes came in sight, until we reached a faint projecting into the sea, which we supposed to be Cape or oint Schank; in this space the land continues to rise, and forms in larger and steeper hills, separated by narrow glens, but the soil is still very sandy, and no water is to be found even by digging in the hollows several feet. After passing Cape Schank, the country immediately assumes a quite aiflferent appearance; the soil ch^ges to a stiff clay ; the she oak gives place to the blue.gum.  Jd  two strong rJns of water fau'into W.sea ixo-mediately under the Cape. Here we halted for the night, and following the example of the natives, erected a hut, and made a fire within a few feet of its entrance. This point we supposed to be twenty.five miles distant from the camp. At daylight we again commenced our march, guided by a pocket-compass, and keeping at the distance of between three and five miles from the sea, at noon reached Western Port, about two miles from its entrance. From Cape Schank, the country is varied by hills and valleys, the soil of the former being a stiff clay, with very lofty gum-trees, and, of the latter, a rich black mould several feet deep, except in a few spots where a black peaty earth was found. The grass in these valleys is extremely luxuriant; some of them are over-grown with under-wood, while others possess scarce a single shrub. In this tract are several small runs of water, emptying themselves into the sea by deep ravines.

       ** Our examination of Western Port was unavoidably confined to the space of a few miles on the western shore; this was principally owing to the man who carried the whole of our bread, having attended soon after quitting the camp, and to our being deceived in the extent of the port as well as the distance to it; which we found much greater than we had any idea of

       " We were provisioned only for four days, at short allowance; for, trusting to our guns for an addition to our fare, we employed

       D

       most of the paxty to cany water, being ignorant whether any was to be found in our route.

       " From the entrance of the port for about twelve miles along the western shore, there is but one place of commodious landing for boats; the beach being either a black plate rock, or a flat sand running out a quarter of a mile ; upon which a long and dangerous surf continually breaks. There are three good runs of water in this space, which, falling from the hills, form pools at their base, and are absorbed by the soft sand of the beacK We found these pools covered with teal of a beautiful plumage, and, what was to us of much more importance, of a delicious flavour.

       " As our track to Western Port had never diverged more than five miles from the sea, it was determined on returning, to endeavour to penetrate through the country in a N. W. direction, which we supposed would bring us to Port Philip, at about twenty miles' distance ifrom the camp. We accordingly set off" at daylight of the third day, from our night's station, which was about five miles from the entrance of Western Port, and had scarce walked a quarter of a mile when we came to an immense forest of lofty gum-trees. The country here becomes very mountainous: in the valleys, or rather chasms between the mountains, small runs of water trickle through an almost impenetrable jungle of prickly shrubs, bound together by creeping plants. After passing eight of these deep chasms in six miles, which was accomplished with infinite diflBculty in four hours, we found the country grow still more impenetrable, vast fields of scrub as prickly as furze arresting our progress every moment. Several of our people who carried the water, being unable to bear the fatigue any longer, we were obliged to give up our intention, and after a short rest, we shaped our course to the S. W. in order to approach the sea, where the country becomes open and less hilly. In this direction we found the country well-watered, the soil very rich, and in many places meadows of from fifty to an hundred acre?, covered with grass five feet high, and unencumbered with a single tree. At sunset we reached the sea at Cape Schank, and halting for the night, arrived at the camp in tJie afternoon of the next day.

       " Our search for coal, which we were given to understand abounded at Western Port, was fruitless; but our examination was too circumscribed and superficial to authorise any positive assertion respecting it.

       " The coast between the ridge of Arthur's Seat and Western Port is bound by rocks of black stone, which were found to bum to a strong lime. The projecting points of land are high, bluff, and perpendicular, presenting a barrier to the sea which breaks

       against them, even in the finest weather, with violence, denying shelter by anchorage, or safety by running on shore for the smallest boat.

       " Besides herds of kangaroos, four large wolves (?) were seen at Western Port. Very beautiful bronze-winged pigeons with black and white cockatoos, and innumerable parrots inhabit the woods.

       " Though this excursion added but little to the knowledge of the country, it is hoped it will not be entirely devoid of utility. In those spots which appeared best adapted to the purpose, seeds from Kio Janeiro and the Cape were sown, viz., oranges, limes, melons, pumpkins, Indian com, and several kinds of garden seeds.

       " But two huts were found in our track, and not a native was seen; indeed the kangaroo seems to reign undisturbed lord of the soil, a dominion which by the evacuation of Port Philip, he is Ukely to retain for ages.

       " Several convicts absconded from the camp soon after their landing, led away by the most delusive ideas of reaching Port Jackson, or getting on board some whaler, which they ignorantly believed occasionally touched on this coast; some of them were brought back by parties sent after them, and others returned voluntarily, when nearly famished with hunger. Two only of these unfortunate beings were never heard of after leaving the camp, one of these was George Lee, a character well known to several persons of respectability in England."

       The Governor's  Orders,  General  and  Garrison,  are mainly directed to questions of discipline, affecting both the convicts and the marines. The weekly ration given out to the civil and military, as well as the free settlers allowed to accompany the party, was the following : Beef (salt), 7 lbs.; pork (salt), 4 lbs.; biscuits, 7 lbs.; flour, 1 lb.; sugar, 6 oz. Women had two-thirds. The marines got half a pint of spirits a day. The rations of the prisoners are not there mentioned.

       The Sunday of October 23,1803, was to be properly observed; the  Order  of Sullivan Bay, 22nd October, being:—

       ** The settlers and convicts will assemble to-morrow morning in front of the marine encampment, at eleven o'clock, for the purpose of attending Divine Service, to return thanks for our prosperous voyage and safe arrival in this harbour. The convicts will attend as clean as their present situation will admit. The detachment will parade to-morrow morning at eleven o'clock, in front of their encampment, for the purpose of attending divine service."

       D 2

       The first shopkeeper is noticed in the  Order  of 29th October. " John Blinkworth, a settler, has permission to sell a few articles of wearing apparel which he brought from England/' Another name comes forward, 8th November: " Mr. Hartley having submitted a list of articles which he has for sale, with their prices, to the Lieutenant-Governor, he has given him license to sell them, and has caused the list to be made pubUc on the order board." Traffic in spirits, however, caused trouble even at this settlement, as the  Order  of December 1st will show:—

       " The Lieutenant-Governor, expecting the arrival of ships in this harbour, and being desirous of preventing as much as possible the clandestine introduction of spirits into the settlement, and the irregularities which must ensue if once such an evil is admitted, directs that there shall in future be no other landing-place than the one opposite the eastern angle of the battery in Sullivan Bay for boats belonging to ships or vessels of any description, except when on business of particular emergency it should be absolutely necessary for them to have communication with the settlement, and which could not be effected at the estabUshed landing; they may in such case be permitted to go round to the adjoining bay, where the sentinel will suffer them to. land."

       The convicts were well looked after in  Oeneral Orders,  The drum beat when working hours began, and at beat of taptoo at nine P.M. all were to be within quarters for bed. They were warned "not to go into the water without the utmost precaution,"—"this bay and the harbour in general being unfortunately full of voracious sharks and sting-rays." They were " distributed into gangs under superintendents and overseers, who are to be accountable for their Ubour." The time for toil was from sunrise to noon, except half an hour for breakfast, and then from one till sunset. They are warned against the practice of gambling, " a crime so big in itself with their certain ruin." They are graciously reminded, November 3rd of their privileges, the  Order  being :—

       " The commissary will, on Saturday next, serve to each male convict one wooden bowl, one platter, and one spoon. As they cannot but be sensible that Government has done everything that can make their situation comfortable, the Lieutenant-Governor trusts they will take the greatest care of what is issued to them from time to time for that purpose." Their wives had bowl, platter, and spoon on November 30th.

       They had to attend Sunday service at eleven; " the overseers will muster them and see that they are decently dressed." A change in labour hours was made November 10th. "A watch-bell being erected, it will ring at the following hours, viz.: at six o'clock in the morning, when the convicts will turn out for work; at eight, when they will leave ofif for half an hour; at twelve, when they will again leave off work j at one, when they will again return to work; again at four; and at seven, when they will leave ofif work." But two day^ after came this  (h^r: "  In consideration of the extreme heat of the weather, the Lieutenant-Governor appoints the following as the hours of labour until further orders : From five in the morning, at which time the bell will ring, until eight o'clock; from half-past eight until twelve; and from two until seven."

       Some irregularity following the employment of convicts after hours.  Order  27th November says: " The permission given to the sawyers to work in their own time for individuals is withdrawn." Certain married convicts, having allowed some disorders in the huts they were permitted to erect outside the encampment, were ordered, December 27th, to have them pulled down, and they themselves were classed to tents again. To expedite removal from Port Phillip this was the  Order  of December 31st; " The Lieutenant-Governor is under the necessity of directing that the business of loading the  Ocean  be not suspended until that is completed. The people will therefore work the remainder of this day and Sunday." But the command for December 8th was as follows:—

       '* The provisions being issued on Tuesdays and Saturdays, the people will work on those days during the following hours, viz.:—On the Tuesday from five in the morning till eleven, and from two until sunset. And on the Saturday from five in the morning until eleven, from which hour they will not be employed for the public again until Monday morning. The Lieut.-Qovemor, observing that not more than half the convicts attended the performance of Divine Service last Sunday, thinks it necessary to inform them that he expects the attendance of every one who is able to appear; and that if they neglect this necessary duty, he shall direct the commissary to put those who shall absent themselves upon two-thirds allowance provisions for one month."

       The military occupied more of the time and thoughts of the

       Lieut.-Govemor than added to his comfort, though the Marines of Port Phillip never gave such cause of uneasiness to the Governor as the New South Wales Corps occasioned in Sydney. The  Garrison Order  of October 18th, at Sullivan Bay, details the duties:—

       "The Lieut.-Colonel (Collins), on taking command of the detachriaent of Royal Marines landed at Port Phillip, entertains a hope that they will all feel a just sense of the honourable situation in which they are plac^. They have been selected by their sovereign to compose the garrison for the protection of this infant settlement. He trusts this will stimulate them to use their best exertions, and enable the Lieut.-Colonel to report to the Secretary of State that such a trust has not been unworthily placed in them. He hopes they all know that obedience to orders, sobriety, and cleanliness form the essential points in the character of a good soldier. While he observes that these are attended to, he shall feel a pride in having them under his command, and shall hold it his duty, by every means in his power, to render their situation comfortable. He is unwilling to mention the word punishment, but it is necessary they should know his firm determination to have the strictest obedience paid to such orders as he may think proper to give from time to time for their regulation, and trusts that when at a future period this shall be joined by other detachments of their brave comrades, he shall be able with pleasure to hold up this small band as an example worthy of their imitation."

       It was not long, however, before a serjeant committed himself. Then we read, Nov. 21st:—"The commanding oflBcer is concerned to be under the necessity of establishing the following drill for the non-commissioned officers.*' Worse appears the next day:—" The commanding oflScer is surprised to observe the unsteady appearance of the men at the evening parade. This can only proceed from their determination to evade the regulations which he adopted in the hope of preventing this unsoldierlike appearance that he complains of in them, and which, if persisted in, will compel him not to increase the quantity of water, but to reduce the quantity of spirits which is at present allowed them."

       Again, on Nov. 30th, we have this  Oan^ison Order: —" The commanding oflScer hopes that no one of the detachments under his command, but such an unsoldierlike character as Thomas Hodgeman, would be concerned in any dealings or transactions with the convicts. They must perceive the bad consequences that ever must and will attend such disgraceful conduct, and of which he trusts none of them will ever be guilty." The drink question comes up on December 27th :—

       " The commanding oflScer is concemeii to observe the shameful conduct of several of the soldiers of the detachment Drunkenness is a crime that he never will pass over, and to prevent as £ur as in him lies their disgracing themselves, and the royal and honourable corps to which they belong, by incurring the censure of courtA-martial, he directs that in ftiture their allowance of watered spirits shall not be taken to their tents, but drunk at the place where it is mixed, in the presence of the ofiBcer of the day. If this regulation shall be found insufiScient, he assures them that the tirst man who is found guilty of drunkenness by a court-martial shall never again receive the allowance of spirits."

       The health of the settlement was generally good. But the surgeon was required to send names of sick con\icts to the commissary, who would issue the following ration:—Beef, 3J^ lbs ; or pork, 2 lbs.; biscuit, 7 lbs.; flour, 1 lb. No spirits were to be drawn by the sick military. It was thoughtful kindness to allow the prisoners a pound of raisins each that they might enjoy a Christmas plum-pudding. We read of no scenes of famine at Port Phillip like those which prevailed so long in Sydney. The clothing was issued for six months* wear, and consisted of one jacket, one waistcoat, one pair duck trousers, one pair breeches, two check suits, one pair shoes, one hat. The shoe question gt^ve some trouble to the Governor, who continually urged care in the use of clothing.

       Orders as to personal cleanliness were frequently issued; though the diinking water, furnished by casks sunk in tho sands by the shore, was jealously guarded by sentinels. They who allowed their tents to get into a dirty state were liable to be left without shelter. It is interesting to read in the  Order of October 26th :—

       "The comfort and appearance of the military depending much on their cleanliness, the Right Honourable the Lords Commissioners of the Admiralty were pleased to admit a certain number of women to accompany their husbands on the present expedition, for the purpose of contributing to that end, by washing for the detachment. The commanding officer therefore directs and appoints the following women to be so employed, and in the following manner, namely:—The wife of William Bean, pte., to wash for fifteen persons; the wife of George Carley, pte., to wash for fifteen persons; the wife of James Spooner, to wash for fourteen persons; and as an ample supply

       of necessaries has been sent out with the detachment, he will not admit of any excuse for their appearing in a dirty unsoldierlike manner."

       It seems odd the Lieui-Govemor did not have his Commission publicly read, with due military honours, till November 16th.

       Robberies, in this community of thieves, were comparatively few. On December 26th public notice is given of the attack on the Commissary's tent, when "the sick having been at the same time meanly plundered of their provisions in their tents," the prisoners are stopped cray-fishing at night, and all persons are directed to keep a good look out for their provisions, " as no loss so occasioned can in future be made good from the Stores." A good feeling prompted Colonel Collins to restrain other robbing; as '* many of the people, not adverting to the consequences, are daily bringing birds' nests into the encampment, containing either eggs, or young unfledged birds. He thinks it necessary to prohibit a practice at once so cruel and destructive. Any person found offending against this Order will be punished."

       Governor Collins, in the  Garrison Orders,  has sevei-al references to the runaways or deserters among the convicts:—

       "  ISth October. —The sentinels have orders to stop all prisoners found out of their tents after nine o clock at night, and bring them to the quarter guard.

       "  \Oth November,  1803.—The Lieut-Governor is concerned to learn that six men have been so blind to their own welfare as to absent themselves from the settlement, and proceed in the desperate undertaking of travelling round to Port Jackson. If such is actually the motive of their absenting themselves, they must be inevitably lost in the attempt, and nothing more will be ever heard of them, for independent of the risk they run of being killed by the natives, it is impossible for them with any quantity of provisions they could carry, to endure the fatigue of penetrating a thousand miles through the woods of this country, for such would be the distance, which by roundine the heads of the different harbours that present themselves m their route, they would have to travel. Although caution to them is now useless, yet it may not prove so to those who remain. He, therefore, takes this opportunity of informing them, that while admitting the probability of their succeeding and reaching Port Jackson alive, they would instantly be apprehended, and sent

       back to this settlement by the (Governor,  here to meet the punishment justly due to their rashness and offence."

       "  2l8t November, —The Lieut.-Qovemor hopes that the punishment inflicted on Thursday last on the five delinc^uents who had absconded will have its weight with all those who witnessed it. K any should still intend to quit the settlement in the same manner, he would call to their observation the wretched appearance of Han^an and his two associates, who returned to their duty on Friday night, by whose account they will find thst when engaged in a perilous undertaking of that nature they cannot trust even one another, these people all declaring that while they were sent to procure water for the whole party, those who remained took that opportunity of absconding wiUi the provisions which they had left in their care, perfectly indifferent as to what might prove their fate. Such treachery must excite the honest indignation of every well-disposed mind, and the Lieut.-Qovemor thinks that alone should be sufficient to deter others from associating in so rash and hazardous an enterprise.

       "  dlst December.-—We cannot but pity the delusion which some of the prisoners labour under, in thinking that they can exist when deprived of the assistance of government. Their madness will be manifest to themselves when they shall feel, too late, that they have wrought their own ruin. After those who have absconded he shall make no further search, certain that they must soon return or perish by famine.

       *'  20th Janttary,  1804.—The Lieut.-Governor hopes the return of Daniel MacAllenon will have convinced the prisoners of the misery that must ever attend those who are maa enough to abscond nrom the settlement. To warn them from making an attempt of a similar nature they are informed that, although this man left his companions on the fifth day after their departure hence they all began to feel the effects of their imprudence, and more of them would have returned had they not dreaded the punishment which they were conscious they deserved. Their provisions were nearly expended, and they had no resources. They lived in constant dread of the natives, by whose hands it was more than probable they have by this time perished, or if this should not have happened, how is it possible that strong, hardy men, who were always able to consume more than the liberal allowance of provisions which is issued to them, can exist in a country which nowhere affords a supply to the traveller. The Lieut.-Govemor can by no means account for this strange desertion of the people; were they ill-treated, scantily fed, badly clothed, or wrought beyond their ability he should attribute it to these causes, but as the reverse is the case, he is at a loss to discover the motive.    He thinks it

       necessary to advise them not to harbour or supply with their provisions any people who may quit the settlement, as it is his fixed determination to punish them with greater severity than he would the infatuated wretches themselves. He is concerned that the several prisoners who are now absent must be left to perish, as, by MacAUenon's account, they are beyond the reach of every effort he might make to recall them to their duty."

       The depatches from Colonel Collins to his superior, the Governor of New South Wales, announcing his arrival, contain interesting particulars of the settlement.

       "  Head-Quarters, Camp at Sullivan's Bat,

       •*  Port Phillip,  November 6lh,  1803.   ^

       "  Sir, —I beg leave to acquaint your Excellency that having sailed from Spithead in His Majesty's ship  Calcutta,  on the 24th of April last, charged with the Establishing a Settlement in this Harbour, pursuant to a Recommendation from you to that effect, I arrived here on the 9th ult., having on my way hither touched at Teneriffe, Rio de Janeiro, and Simon's Bay, at which last place I purchased a small quantity of Stock and Seed grain for the intended colony.

       " The  Calcutta  is commanded by Captain Daniel Woodriff, who having been once before in New South Wales, was selected by Government as a fit person to be employed in the present expedition; and I feel much pleasure in having it in my power in this early stage of my communication with your Excellency to bear Testimony to the Propriety of their selection.

       "We were accompanied by the crew of a storeship richly freighted, such has been the liberality of Government, with an ample supply of every article that could be suggested as likely to be of advantage to an undertaking of the success of which Government has entertained the most sanguine hopes. From this ship being a dull sailer, we parted company, in some very bad weather, a short time before we made the island of Tristan da Cunha, but had the satisfaction of finding that she had anchored here, on the 7th of October, only two days before us, by which she had escaped a heavy gale of wind which we met with on the 8th when oflf King Island.

       " I have brought in with me 299 male convicts, 16 married women, a few settlers, and a small detachment, as per margin,^ from the Royal Marines, under my command; with a complete civil staff, of which the Judge Advocate alone is absent, but I have my Lord Hobart's assurance he shall be sent out by the first ship that sails after me.

       1 8 Subalterns, 3 sergeants, 3 corporals, 2 drummers, 39 privates.

       " From Mr. Mertho, who has been examining some part of the Bay, I received the first unfavourable impression of it, which I am truly concerned to observe a more minute survey thereof has only tended to strengthen.

       "  Anxious to discover a place possessing the advantages of fresh water, timber for building, soil for agricultural pursuits, whereon I could land my people, I determined to lose no time in examining the Bay. Captain Woodrifif and myself accordingly set off on the morning after our arrival, and landed at the watering place, tmder the High Land, on the Eastern side of the Bay. Here we found fresh water, and enough for my Purposes, but a soil of sand only, the access to both of which was barred by water so shoal that no loaded boat could approach within half a mile, and with the wind at West not at all. Upon ascending the Hill we found sand on its summit, and its sides thinly clad with miserable stunted Timber.

       " The two following days were spent in an equally unsuccessful Examination of the Western or Lagoon side of the Bay. Here we found the soil somewhat better, but entirely destitute of that great Essential, fresh water.

       " Having received the most positive orders to discharge the Store ship without any delay, I felt myself no longer at liberty to continue my personal Researches after a proper Place; and on Thursday, the 13th (the 4th day of my arrival) I went on shore with Captain Woodrifif, to a Bay on the East side, where very good fresh water had been obtained, by sinking casks near the margin of the Sea Shore. In the Bay adjoining to this, I found the land of about five acres, after which I instantly determined to land my People, Stores, and Provisions, and from which I have now the Honour of reporting my Proceedings to your Excellency.

       "That every further Information respecting this capacious Harbour should forthwith be obtained. Captain Woodrifif despatched his first ofiBcer, Lieutenant Tuckey, accompanied by Mr. Harris, the Deputy Surveyor of the Settlement, and a Mr. CoIUqs,  a settler (formerly a Master in the Navy) in the CalctUta's  Launch, and attended by a boat belonging to me, on a Survey of the Harbour. Upon this business they were absent nine days, and I have now the honour to inclose a Copy of the Report made to me, for your Information, by which I think it wiU appear, that having before me but a choice of diflfi-cnlties, I could not be anywhere better placed than I am, and where I shall wait until Honoured with your Excellency's Commands for my future Proceedings.

       "The soil from Arthur's Seat to Point Calcutta, at the entrance to the Harbour, is light and mixed considerably with Sand; even the few Patches of black vegetable mould which

       here and there have been met with abound therewith.   I have nevertheless opened two acres of ground for a garden, and am

       Jreparing five acres for Indian Com; of the success of the latter do not entertain much hope, but I find in it some employment for my People. They, I am happy to say, conduct themselves most perfectly to my satisfaction, wading the whole day long up to their middles in water with the utmost cheerfulness to discharge the Boats as they come in.

       " The Bread, Flour, and Salt Provisions for their support, I have stowed in large piles in the open air, while the Bale goods. Wine, Spirits, and other articles of value, are deposited under three large Elaboratory Tents, which I have guarded as well as my small miUtary force will allow. From the scantiness of this I have been constrained to request Captain Woodriflf to land the Non-Commissioned officers and 10 Privates, firom the Detachment of Royal Marines belonging to His Majesty's Ship under his Command to be lent for the duties of this Garrison during his stay here; but as the same necessity for this Assistance will exist after her departure, I must submit to your Excellency whether it would not be expedient to increase my force by a small Party from the troops under your Command at Port Jackson; as this must in a great measure depend upon what may be your determination respecting my future Proceedings, I shaJl add nothing further on the subject, but that were I to settle in the upper part of the Harbour, which is full of Natives, I should require four times the force I have now, to guard not only the convicts, but perhaps myself, from their attacks.

       "I cannot but suppose that all the disadvantages of Port Phillip are as well known to your Excellency as they are to myself at this moment. If they are, you will have anticipated this Report, but it may not have entered into your contemplation, that there are at this moment between three and four hundred People sitting down cheerfully with no other or more certain supply of water than what is filtered daily through the perforated sides of Six or Eight Casks, which are sunk in the Sand. The water certainly is good, at least my Sick List does not indicate that it is otherwise. How long the supply may last, or how far it is calculated to meet a continuation of the dry weather we have hitherto experienced. Time aJone can determine; at present the casks regularly fill as they are emptied. I shall sink a well as soon as the hurry of clearing the Store Ship is over; that Labour has gone on rapidly, and she was dischai'ged fi'om Government employ on the 4th instant. The  GalcfiUta*8  Boats have given considerable assistance in expediting this business, from the nature of which I fear they must have suflfered considerably, but Captain Woodriflf has most diligently furnished me with all the aid in his Power.

       " I inclose a return of the convicts, classed according to their leading trades and occupations, by which your Excellency will be able to form an idea of the aid I am likely to derive from them. Among them are certainly some who will be exceedingly useful to me, but I am concemea to state there are many who will be exceedingly useless. I shall, however, endeavour to get from them all the labour I possibly can, there being much to be done to get my Stores and them under a more durable covering than the Canvass we are at present under, before the winter season sets in, if it should appear expedient to your Excellency that I am to remain here until that Period. 1 am well aware that a Removal hence must be attended with much difficulty and loss, but upon every possible view of my situation, I do not see that any advantage could be thereby attained, nor by staying here I can at all answer the intentions of Government in sending hither a Colonial Establishment. The Bay itself, when viewed in* a commercial light, is wholly unfit for such Purpose, being situated in a deep and dangerous Bight between Cape Albany Otway and Point Schanck, to enter which must ever require a well-manned and well-formed ship, a leading wind, and a certain Time of Tide, for the Ebb runs out at the rapid Rate of from five to seven Knots an hour, as was experienced by the Store Ship. The  Calcutta  had fortunately a fair wind, and the Tide of Flood when she came in, and she experienced a very great indraught, which had brought her during the night much nearer than she expected. With a gale of wind upon the coast, and well in between the two above-mentioned Points, a ship would be in imminent risk and danger.

       " There is (if alive) among the Convicts under your Government a man of the name of John Macguire. He was formerly a Sergeant in the Portsmouth Division of Royal Marines, and conducted himself during the time of the Mutiny in the Fleet with so much resolution and loyalty, that I believe when he was tried on a capital charge, his Life was saved in consequence of this character being given him firom his officers. In this man I think I could place much dependence, and if he can be spared, should wish to have him with me as an overseer. If your Excellency has no better employment for him, I should feel myself obUged by your directing his being sent hither by the first conveyance.

       " If James Bloodworth is still in the Settlement, and his own master, I would enter into an engagment to employ him for a twelvemonth certain. If he is a Servant of the Crown, your Excellency can direct his attention. I need not point out how extremely useful he may be to me, so conversant as he is, not only in constructing, but in planning the several Buildings that I must very shortly have in nand.    I have not any one that I

       could place, with so much satisfaction to myself, in the direction of the carpenters, sawyers, bricklayers, &c., as this Person, and therefore hope he may be permitted to attend me. If a few thousand bncks could be sent at the same Time, I could find immediate use for them.

       " As there are many free People at present at Sydney, there may perhaps be some who may be desirous of visiting Port Phillip; but as such could only prove extremely troublesome to me at present, will you forgive my requesting that none may be suflfered at any time to come hither, but such as I may have occasion to point out.

       " Upon my arrival at Rio de Janiero, I found lying there the Britannia,  a South Sea Whaler, commanded by Mr. Quested, who formerly, I think, took out the  Speedy  to New South Wales. Finding that I was proceeding to this country, Mr. Quested offered to deliver Letters for your Excellency to the Commanding Officer of Norfolk Island to be forwarded thence to Port Jackson. I availed myself of the offer, and accordingly sent a Letter to be addressed to your Excellency on board the Britannia  on the morning of her departure for Kio, which was on the 5th of July last. I therein informed you of the probability of my reaching the Place of my destination in all the last month, and hoped if you received my Letter in time, that some vessel might be despatched to meet the  Calcutta  here or in the Straits. Nothing having come in since my arrival, now nearly a month, I conclude that Mr. Quested has been delayed upon his voyage, and have therefore, being extremely desirous that you should, as speedily as possible, be informed thereof, determined to prepare a very fine six-oared cutter, belonging to the Settlement, and send her forthwith to Port Jackson.

       *' This letter will (I hope) be delivered to your Excellency by a Mr. Collins who came to this Country on a fishing Speculation. He accompanied Captain Woodriff and myself in the examination which we made of the harbour, and was afterwards the associate with Captain Tuckey in the more accurate survey, which was made by that Officer of the whole of this extensive Bay. His zeal for the good of His Majesty s Service is equal with his abilities to promote it, and having offered his services to convey this Information to your Excellency, I am happy in the opportunity of introducing him to your Excellency's Notice, convinced that the service which he will have rendered, as well as his own merit, will give him some claim thereto.

       " I have had the boat prepared under his direction, and he seems confident of her successfully making this short Voyage. I cannot but own that I shall feel no small degree of anxiety until I can be informed of the event of it, which I trust your Excellency will gratify me with as speedily as it may be in

       your Power. The Despatches and Private Letters, which I am honoured with the charge of for your Excellency, I do not send by this conveyance, which I trust you will deem with me rather too precarious, but they shall be forwarded with many others for various Persons under your Government, by the first safe conveyance which may oflfer.

       " In the Preparations which have been necessarily made on this occasion, we have been materially assisted by Captain Woodrifl*, who has most readily furnished me with such articles as the PubUc Stores could not supply, and could be spared from the ship.

       " I have instructed Mr. Collins to follow such directions for his return to me with the Cutter and her Crew, as you may think fit to give him. He and the People are victualled for one Month. Should his stay be protracted beyond that Period, I presume you will direct the Commissary to supply him with whatever may be necessary.

       " The store ship being cleared, Captain Woodriff is sending on shore such articles of stores and provisions as were put on board the  CalmUta  for the use of this settlement. A few days will complete the delivery, when that officer would be left to proceed to Port Jackson, pursuant to his orders to that eflect, but I have officially requested him to remain here until I shall have heard from your Excellency, representing to him how absolutely necessary the appearance of a King's Ship is to me in my present situation; I hope you will do me the honour to coincide with me in this opinion, and approve of my application to Captain Woodriflf for this purpose.

       "I have the honour to be,  &c"

       His instructions from Lord Hobart, February 7th, 1803, gave him much freedom :—

       "Although Port Phillip has been pointed out as the place judged the most convenient and proper for fixing the first Settlement of your EstabUshment in Bass's Straits, nevertheless you are not positively restricted from giving the preference to any other part of the said southern coast of New South Wales, or any of the islands in Bass's Straits which, upon communication with the Governor of New South Wales, and with his concurrence and approbation, you may have well grounded reasons to consider as more advantageously situated for that purpose."

       The Chaplain, the Rev. R. Knopwood, has furnished, in his diary, other particulars of life in the settlement. Though MA. of an Ewglish University, and sufficiently learned in Latin, the

       good man's education in English had been neglected, for the period demanded no proficiency in the mother tongue as a test of learning. The defect in the art of spelling was supplemented by a curious carelessness of pen. Though not exposing all his weaknesses in the journal, he does not conceal his warm attachment to the pipe, nor indifference to the glass. Tradition gives him the credit of being  a  warm admirer of the gentler sex, though never venturing into the bonds of matrimony.

       The journal commenced April 24th, the time of sailing from Portsmouth. It notes his having "landed on the very place where Lord Nelson lost his arm," at Teneriffe. The English colours taken on that occasion were preserved in the Church. An oflScer of the  Calcutta  told the people it was right to take such care of them, as " Lord Nelson very likely would call for them again soon." On crossing the  Lirie^  " the day was conducted with much myrth/* At Rio the party of oflBcers enjoyed themselves, and the chaplain found that "the eclesiastics in general could converse in Latin" though "they pronounce it very differently to the English pronunciation.'* He tells us— "During our stay the wifes of the convicts were allowed to take clothes to wash with them on the island of Enchados."

       The ladies, as usual, attracted attention. "Their features were expressive; the eyes dark and lively; the hair was dark^ this they mostly wore with powder, strained to a high point before, and tied in several folds behind." But the charm of Rio was the Convent D. Ajuda, which " received as pensioners, or boarders, the young ladies having lost their parents, who were allowed to remain, conforming to the rules of the convent, until married, or otherwise provided for by their friends." It was this convent, writes the reverend gentleman, " I frequently visited, where I conversed with a very beautiful young lady named Antonia Januaria. Her polite attention I ehail not easily forget, having received great friendship from her, and should I ever return there again shall be happy to see her." On  Sunday he wrote:—" At 9 I went on shore, and see High Mass performed at the Monafitary D. Fransiscans, and I visited the convent D. Ajuda and see the  charming  girl Antoniaw In the eve a large party of oflScers and self went to the play house, and see the  Poor Soldier  performed; the Vice Roy was there attended by his aidecongs." That day, however, he visited " the Cannelite

       and many chappek," as well as " see the Negros dansing," The Sunday after this they left Rio, and the chaplain records his grief in one line by itself—

       " I visited D. Ajuda for the last time."

       They called in at Simon's Bay, South Africa, and " received 25 butts of water." On his hunting excursion, he notes:—" We see the print of a tigers paw very fresh, and of wolfes before us. I killed a brace of partriges." At sea again, from the Cope, he indulged in the following reflections :—

       *'  Thursday,  25 (August). On our departure from the Cape it was naturally for us to indulge at this moment a melancholy reflection which obtruded itself upon the minds of those, who, we settlers at P* Philip. The land behind us was the abode of a civilized people, that before us was the residence of savages. When, if ever, we might again enjoy the commerce of the world was doubtftil and uncertain. The refreshments and the pleasures of which we had so liberally partaken at the Cape and Simon's Bay were to be exchanged for coarse fare and hard labour at P* Philip, and we may truly say all communication with families and friends now cut oil*, we are leaving the world behind us to enter on a state unknown."

       The  CcUcutta  reached Port Phillip on Sunday, 9th of October. The chaplain notes : "At 15 past 10 we anchored with the best bower in 6 fathoms; found laying here the  Ocean  transport, which arrived on Friday the 7 of October." He always called Nepean peninsula the  island.  On the first day, he added, " Capt. Woodriflf and Lieut. Governor Collins went on shore on the south side of the island. At 6 they returned. Could not find any fresh water. They reported the soil to be very bad, and the trees small, unfit for use of H.M. Navy." Going on shore the next day, he observed that " the land was very bad, light soil."—"Along the shore we returned by no means satisfied with the country. The Captain and Governor went on shore and found no water that was good, but a small run next Arther*s Seat, the east side of the Bay." He had the honour of killing the first black swan.

       On the 14th the Master having reported good anchorage three or four miles further to the eastward, tents were pitched there. By putting down casks in the sand water was obtained through the percolation. " We walked," says he, " to the watering place. The water through the casks was good."    He ax^lds, " We see

       E

       the kangaroos and some parretts, but could not kill any." The vessel was moored a mile and a quarter off shore, " the camp bearing S.E.  ^  S., the entrance of the port west, and Seals Beach open, and Arthers Seat E ^ N." On Sunday 16th Mr. Tuckey and others started off "to survey the Bay from the camp northward, if possible to assertain a more eligable situation for forming a settlement." The prisoners were landed that day. His "marque" was ready on the 19th, but on the 21st he went on board to tea and sleep.

       We omit all reference to exploration, as the full text of Lieutenant Tuckey is given elsewhere. The people were put into gangs for work on October 24th. The day before, being Sunday, " the whole of the camp assembled, and the Governor, at the head of the Royal Marines, with oflScers, to hear divine service which was performed in the square of the Parade before all hands." There had been too much bustle to observe the day the two previous Sundays. Tuesday was described as " exceeding hot." The day after, the surgeon " came on shore to visit me, and Captain Woodriff sent me a bottle of port." A very dreadful tempest is chronicled the last day of October, followed on November 1st with "the thermometer 93 at 12 and down to 50 in the eve." Sunday, 6th, the day was too uncomfortable to " do duty." So the goodman walked with the Governor to see his new garden; and then " I dind with the Governor of Pt. Phillip, and a very pleasant day we had; all the officers on board were very merry." The convicts were, perhaps, merry at not being summoned to service that day.

       The first letters were sent off that Sunday by boat, in charge of Mr. Collins, the Coloners cousin, for Port Jackson, though the violence of the surf at the Heads prevented the party getting away till Thursday. The married men were now sent to build houses for themselves, and "the soldiers wifes were permitted to build in the same manner." The first runaways are mentioned November 9th, the day when the battery was commenced. The only record of Sunday, 13th, is his staying on board the  Ocean,  and Lieutenant Pateshall killing a kangaroo. He may have felt worn after the Saturday's dinner on board, and the Saturday's service, thus mentioned :—

       "At 11 all the officers, military and civil, attended, with the Governor and Captain Woodriff, to the parade, and from thence

       all the convicts at divine service.    The sermon preached was to return Almighty God thanks for our safe arrival here."

       A full description is given of the first kangaroo killed and eaten, "and very excellent it was." The chaplain read the commission of the Lieutenant-Governor on full parade on the 17th of November. On that day, too, the  Ocean,  Captain Merthew, as Mr. Knopwood calls him, went oflf to Port Jackson, arriving there a week after. The natives, to the number of 400, gave some trouble on the 19th, obliging the wood party to retreat. That day's diary says: "This morn I sewd cou-cumbers and onion seeds and melons." He notes the arrival of Mr. M'CoUough, after a walk of forty to fifty miles from the fresh-water river (the  Yarra).  He went, on the 28th, with the  Calcutta  to the Yarra.

       December notices are frequent as to stormy winds and high temperature. On the 9th, **Mr. Harris, surveyor, with three soldiers, armd, and their servants, set oif for Western Port." Saturday, " I set my white hen on twenty-one egg this morn." In another place we read of his brown hen having seven " chickings." The  Ocean  returned on the 12th with despatches from Sydney, bringing back the crew of Mr. Collinses boat. Then it was they heard that a settlement had been made on the Derwent, in Van Diemen*s Land. The accounts were evidently favourable, disposing those at Port Phillip to wish they were on the beautiful island. The  Calcutta  set oflf for Port Jackson on Sunday, the 18th, when " The Lieutenant-Governor is under the necessity of directing that the people who are employed in the preparations which are carrying on for removing the settlement do continue to work to-day, by which order divine service will not be performed."

       The weather was extremely cold on the following Thursday, when the people were "employed at the getty." The first baptism is recorded  *'Sunday^ Xmaa Day,  25.—^At 11, civil, military, setlers, and convicts, with the Governor, attended divine service; Xmas sermon. After service I publickly baptized Sarjent Thorn's child. The Governor, Lieutenant Johnson, Mrs. Powers, and Mrs. Whitehead  stood  for the child, the first bom in the colony (25th). The Gov. narad it Hobert." The name was William James Hobart Thome.    The first marriage took
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       place on November 28th, between Hannah Harvey, free woman, and Richard Qarratt, prisoner. Buckley is named among the deserters from the camp the last day of 1803. New Year's Day, although Sunday, was kept for work, loading the  Ocean toransport. " At 4, Mr. Janson and self dind with the Governor, and had ducks and green peas, with fresh beans." Sterile desert, as some styled it, Port Phillip grew capital vegetables, and, according to Mr. Hopley, it was famous for garden flowers.

       The police functions were so ill performed by the military that it was deemed necessary to form a Protective Association, under the authority of the Governor, January 1, 1804. But the diary declares, " This association is to take place on Monday, the 2nd of January, 1804." The officers were the Rev. Mr. Knopwood, and Messrs. Janson, Bowden, Humphrey, Harris, Fosbrook, and Hopley, of the civil department. The subordinates of the night watch were Mr. John Ingle, W. T. Stocker, A. Whitehead, J. Boothman, M. Power, J. Groves, and F. Shipman. Six other names follow, belonging to the military among prisoners, called " the 6 soldiers mutiners from Giberalter." As this was a most important movement, the chaplain quotes the official account:—

       " A plan of an association of the civil officers of the settlement having been submitted by them to the Lieut.-Governor, he is pleased to approve thereof, and to authorise them, which he hereby does, to carry the same into eflfect.

       "The most probable means of this association tendering a service to the settlement is principally by forming a night watch, to patrol from the beating of the taptoo to that of the reveillie,  during which time they will search such places as may be deemed necessary for the discovery of any felony, trespass, or misdemeanour; and for the apprehension and securing for examination any person or persons who may appear to them concerned therein, either by entrance into any hut or dwelling, or by such other means as circumstances may render expedient

       " Cognisance is to be taken during the day, as well as by night, of such convicts as may sell or barter their clothing or provisions, as well as of euch as gamble for either of the above articles or money; and, upon detection, instantly place them in confinement.

       '* Upon receiving any information of a robbery having been committed during the night, they will use the most effectual means to trace out the offender or offenders, so that they may be brought to justice.

       " One of the members of the association will, at the morning parade, report the occurrences of the night to the Lieut-Governor, to whom they may have access at all hours.

       " When challenged by a sentinel, the officer on duty will give ^   the countersign, which shall be sent to the Rev. Mr. Knopwood

       !   for that purpose at sunset.

       "The persons who are joined with them in this duty will, when challenged, answer ' Night Watch,' and, advancing to the sentinel, make themselves known as such. To prevent mistakes, their names will be left with the guard. As the military are to give every assistance they may require, so they will be cautious not to interfere with them in the discharge of their duty.

       "Two of the undermentioned gentlemen will meet each night, taking with them four of the persons named hereafter; and they will patrol at such hours as may be best calculated not to interfere with the military rounds or patrols.

       " A tent will be pitched for their accommodation in the rear of the guard tent; and the front of the tent is to be considered as their alarm post, where all the members of this association will assemble and wait for orders when the drum shall beat to arms.

       " The gentlemen will each be provided with a brace of pistols and suitable ammunition. The other persons will each be furnished with a short staff."

       It appears that a force of the association joined themselves to eleven of the military, in pursuit of a number of runaway convicts, on January 7th, 1804.

       The thermometer on the 18th stood at 102'' in the shade and 132** in the sun, *'by far," writes Mr. Knopwood, "the hotest day since we came to the camp." Two schooners, in addition to the exploring  Lady Nelson,  came in from Port Jackson. All the convicts were embarked on board the  Ocean  on the 25th of January, for Van Diemen's Land.    The chaplain followed the

       next day.

       The journal is continued during the voyage, and, for a time, while the chaplain was resident in Hobart Town.

       There is little to add of an unofficial kind about the colony. The Governor must have valued his friend John Sullivan, Esq., of the Colonial Office, after whom he called the settlement Sullivan Bay,  since he carried the same name across to the Derwent    The location was made near the present site  of

       Sorrento, some eight miles from the Heads on the eastern coast of the bay. The Sydney  Colonist,  August, 1836, thus described the place:—" As if to impress the black natives with a high idea of British discernment and perseverance, the Royal Standard was hoisted and the settlement formed on the  07ily  piece of sterile land within the Heads."

       Mrs. Bateman, a very old colonist, assured the author, many years ago, that she perfectly recollected the voyage out in 1803, though she made a mistake in thinking her vessel was in the bay a week before the arrival of the "Commodore," as she styled the Lieutenant-Governor. She had a lively recollection of the fine gardens over there.

       In Mr. Fawkner's Melbourne lectures, during 1866, treating of his past life, he stated that he was eleven years of age the day after landing in Port Phillip. On the way out, a Dutch man-of-war summoned the vessel leading the exiles to surrender. Captain Woodriff, of the  Calcutta,  simply replied, "Come and take us." Having fifty guns, the frigate could have made a good defence. However, the Dutchman thought better of the matter, and retired. On a subsequent occasion, Captain Woodriff was convoying a valuable fleet of merchant vessels for India, when he met four French war-ships, one a seventy-four. Giving orders for his charge to scatter and escape, he prepared for fight. The first frigate that came on he disabled, and he severely maltreated two others. First retreating before the  liner,  he was subsequently compelled to make a stand. After four hours' desperate fighting, and after succeeding in placing his convoy in safety, the British warrior yielded. London merchants were so well pleased with his conduct, that they presented him with a valuable sword and some thousands of pounds.

       Mr. Fawkner also related the circumstance of a runaway retumiDg to camp with the news of the Yarra Falls; near them, in 1835, an iron pot was found. He notes the sinking of casks in the sand to obtain water, and which were seen on the occupation thirty years after. "Our family," said he, "suffered terribly for cooked food." Cooking accommodation for 25 had to serve for 200. This was on the miserably long voyage of a month from Port Phillip to Hobart Town, where he lauded on February 16th, 1804. Of the iron pot, Arden says: " If it were not left there by Lieutenant Flinders, it must have

       been cast upon the spot by some of the runaways of the first expedition."

       In a list of the occupations of the convicts, we learn that not less than 137 were simple labourers. Of the rest, 3 were carpenters, 3 cabinet-makers, 1 shipwright, 9 sawyers, 2 wheelwrights, 1 chain-roller, 4 brickmakers, 6 bricklayers, 2 plasterers, 1 stonemason, 8 blacksmiths, 1 locksmith, 1 farrier, 1 miller, 5 bakers, 1 tinker, 1 tinman, 1 nailer, 2 miners, 1 dyer, 1 brass-founder, 2 pastrycooks, 8 butchers, 7 gardeners, 5 tailors, 8 weavers, 1 calico-printer, 1 carpet-weaver, 1 stocking-weaver. 1 currier, 12 shoemakers, 1 skinner, 1 gunmaker, 2 slaters, 1 button-maker, 2 coachmakers, 1 mathematical instrument maker, 1 lapidary, 1 refiner, 1 silversmith, 3 barbers, 1 copper-plate printer, 3 printers, 1 engraver, 1 gilder, 6 watermen, 5 fisher-men, 8 mariners, 2 caulkers, 1 ropemaker, 1 sailmaker, 1 maltster, 1 hemp-spinner, 1 brewer, 1 schoolmaster, 1 writer, and 11 clerks.

       Among the stores, the following may be mentioned, with the prices according to the bills furnished by the vendors, still to be seen in the Record Office :—

       400 jackets, blue kersey, at  9s, Sd. ; 400 duck trousers,  Ss. Sd,; 1,200 checked shirts,  Ss. 9d, ; 800 hose. Is.; 400 shoes, 4^.; 400 woollen caps, 6d,; 60 nightcaps for men,  7d.;  20 for women, 15d.;  4 spitting pots ; 42 pairs knives and forks, 4|d.; 4 saucepans, 2 quarts.  Is, 6d,;  45 yards Irish,  19d.;  27 flannel  ISd.; 540 yards calico,  I6d. ; 45 lbs. tea,  4ts. ; 225 lbs. sugar; 27, chocolate; 54, sago; 900, barley; 2|, ginger; 18, allspice; 9^ pepper; 27, mustard; 900, soap; 40 mess bowls; 4 tea kettles. There were to be 75 messes, 6 in each, or 450 people. Afterwards came on board 75 lbs. of tea and 938 of sugar for 30 women and 15 children. A list of medical stores is also given. The soap appears in fair supply, and was largely used by the women during the stay at Rio. But Captain Woodriff, allowed to land the washerwomen on a rock in the harbour, was indignant at being charged 4/. a day rental during the ten days of laundry work.

       The settiers that arrived at Port Phillip were but few, as none were allowed to proceed to the colonies without express and individual authority from the British ministry. The whole number of free settlers introduced into the New Holland Settlements up to 1803 came only to 320 souls.

       Governor King, in his despatch of January, 1803, in view of the Port Phillip colonization, wrote, " A mixture of the inhabitants would be very desirable. If fifty respectable families, the heads of which ought to be good practical farmers, were sent, with the idea of staying here all their lives, much improvement would be made in that pursuit. People without any property would find themselves very uncomfortable and ill provided for."

       Some of the applications to the Colonial Secretary are curious. One Brions asks to be sent to the New Settlement. He was on a farm till he was twenty, a town porter for eight years, and had been for the last four years keeping a public house. Another offers himself for *' Port Phillips in New South Wales.*' Mr. Harris, of the War OflSce, wishes to go out, though on a very moderate salary. He had been bred to the law, has some knowledge of agriculture, but more of natural history. Thomas Smith is anxious to " render his knowledge of agriculture useful to Government." Mr. Dance, of Oxford Street, wrote thus to Lord Hobart: " Your Lordship will perhaps recollect me—had the honour to serve you with fruit many years." Lady Suffolk recommended a man to Lord Hobart, as " he speaks the French tongue with fluency." A single man, " by trade a smith, and understanding the different implements of agri'^ulture in all its branches," makes his " declaration and intention of going," as he has heard " that an offer has been made by His Majesty of landing a number of Artists in his settlement" there. A Presbyterian, " well affected to the constitution of the country," asked to be sent out with other Presbyterians. One applicant deals heavily in capitals, writing: " My Lorde, Having An Inclination To Go With My Familey As Settellers To New South Walles, And Knowing it To Be In Your Lordship's power To Obtain for me A Passage," &c. Three sign the memorial to Lord Hobart for " permission to go to the Begs, as we wishes to be Come A usefiil members of that Inhabitations for Lieve."

       The pocket-book Port Phillip settler, recommended by Colonel Baker, wrote January 10th, 1803 :—

       ** My Lord, your Petitioner, J. R. Preston solicits your Lordship's Goodness to send me as a Settler to New South Wales, as I have been Informed theirs a ship going with settlers, and two as I know a going with it.    Your Petitioner is a single man, is

       a Pocket Book Maker by trade, but gitts a Living now as a fellowship Porter; having a Great desire to Go, flatters himself of Being a UsefuU member in that Country if it should meet your Lordship's approbation."

       A more elaborate appeal is made January 13th, 1803, by Lieutenant Sterling and Lieutenant Hand:—

       " The plan we would wish to lay before you for your approbation is, that as we wish to settle in the new colony  {Foi't Phillip), we should have an allowance, for each person our families and dependants may consist of, of a certain number of acres to clear and cultivate.

       " That such persons shall receive a sum of money such as in your opinion shall be sufficient to enable them to procure such necessaries as must be procured in England, or those places abroad that they may stop at in their passage out, consisting of grain, plants, seeds, husbandry and other tools, animals of different kinds to breed and stock the country with, erect their houses, &c., &c., and clothing till the colony shall be in a state forward enough to supply itself

       "That each person shall be allowed rations for the first two or three years, or such time as in your opinion it may take them to clear their grounds, cultivate and bring their stocks to that state that they may be enabled entirely to depend on them.

       "That each person shall be found a passage out, together with their families and efifects, and subsisted through the voyage.

       " As the probability of the future prosperity of a colony must in a great degree depend on the advantageous settling of it in its irJancy, I presume, sir, you will see the absolute necessity of those who first settle being made as comfortable as the first taking possession of an uninhabited country will admit of, and which must obviously require every assistance the mother country can render it, and without which support very few, and those only in desperate circumstances, would be induced to leave their native land for a very precarious living, merely for a time to shelter them from the laws of their own injured country. If any advantage to a new settlement can be derived from large families first going out, whose children become inured to the climate, and know no other country but the one they are brought up in, I think ours, which are young, and in an increasing state, will certainly be a recommendation to our ofiFer."

       How the British Government came to decline such an oflFer, accompanied by so many advantages, is not stated among the papers of the State Record Office.

       Mr. Humphrey, the mineralogist, came out with the party, though afterwards proceeding to Sydney, to unfold the rock treasures of the colony, though no report of a discovery appears. He was allowed, in outfit, chemical tests, neutral salts, five acids, ■A  portable furnace, and a few other instruments; also Babington*s New System of Mineralogy,  and phosphorus boxes of matches for use on a mineralogical journey. He, too, applied as a settler, though seeking a salary. In his letter of February 18th, 1803, he says :—

    

  
    
       "I am ready to accept the small allowance proposed by Government from the consideration of being allowed to send to London, free of all expenses, such specimens as I shall collect for my private use, after having fulfilled the instructions of the Governor in forming a duplicate collection for Government. On my arrival at New South Wales I shall hope to have a miner or servant found me firom among the people in the settlement, and two rations issued daily; at the end of eighteen months to be allowed the advantages of a settler."

       Strange to say Captain Woodriff, of the  CalctUfa,  is presented to us in the guise of a would-be settler. We hear nothing of an answer to his memorial. He was not able to return till 1805 ; but, while convoying some vessels, the  Calcutta was seized by the French. Though the Captain was soon exchanged, his chief officer, the romantic Port Phillip historian. Lieutenant Tuckey, was not relieved till 1815. Captain Wood-riif's letter to Lord Hobart is dated January 8th, 1803, from Calcutta,  Long Beach, River Medway:—

       " Having been honoured by the Right Honourable the Lords Commissioners of the Admiralty with the command of His Majesty's ship  Calcutta^  destined on a voyage to New South Wales, to convey to that colony convicted felons, and to procure and bring to this country a cargo of timber for building ships of war; having been in the colony in the years 1792 and 1793, and entertaining a favourable opinion of the settlement, I am induced, my lord, having a numerous family, to implore your Lordship for a grant of land in such proportion as your Lordship may think proper, as I propose taking three of my sons with me, and on a succeeding voyage such of my family (should your Lordship be pleased to afford me liberal grants) as may be sufficient to settle it. I further beg leave to state to your Lordship that having at the conclusion of the American War

       married a lady, the daughter of a staunch Loyalist, of Ninety-six District in South ('arolina, who, with his life lost all ms landed property to his family, I am the more induced to apply to your Lordship. She, by your wonted liberality, in a grant of land in the extensive colony of New South Wales, may at some future day make provision for six children, that may obliterate the sufferings, losses, and extreme distress of their ancestors, occasioned by their attachment to the Mother Country."

       How came the settlement at Sullivan's Bay to be abandoned ?

       As the report of the examination of the whole coast of Port Phillip Bay by Mr. Surveyor Grimes was made the pretence, among other reasons, for deserting the settlement of 1803-4, it is well to see what ground is afforded for considering the place so unsuitable for an agricultural colony.

       The swamps are certainly well mapped out:—Wannaeue Swamp, Big Swamp, Carrum Carrum Swamp, and Batman's Swamp. From 2,000 to 3,000 acres of good land were seen on Arthur's Seat. Light soil is most frequently named, though black is often quoted. There is " poor sandy land," " the land sandy "; *' it appears good land at a distance, but only stones and short brush as we approached it" ; " soil black, gravelly sand," " the land sandy," " the country appearing very barren," " light sandy soil" When near the Yarra Yarra we hear of the black soil, of a swamp, and then, " opposite to this the land is stony soil, stiff, blue clay." West of the site of Melbourne we have, " the land very bad, and very few trees." At last, between the Yarra and Saltwater river, we are told of the swamp having *' fine grass, fit to mow," and the soil " black, rich earth." Two miles beyond, " the land much better and timber larger," soil black, ten to fifteen inches deep." On the Gardiner's Creek, not very far from the Yarra, we read that " the land in general is a fine black soil, ten to eighteen inches deep." Studley Park is not much praised. The Werribee Plains are described as one-third grass, one stone, and the other earth. On the top of the hill " the land is good and fine pasture." The next day, " the land and timber is of the same quality for several miles," though not stating whether good or bad. Coming " to a fine green hill" they saw "very fine land." Beyond the Little River it was '* land stony and no wood." Near Cowie's Creek " the land is a light sand." Opposite Swan Island  *'  the beach muddy, the land a swamp."

       But more serious was the repeated mention of salt** water ; " the doctor was so fatigued for want of water that he could not go on "—" crossed several dingles, all dry **—" came to a river, it was salt"—" runs of water in wet seasons, but all dry "—" dug for water, but it was salt; we had not half a pint per man " —"captain went on before in search of water but found none."

       The report admits that "in several places there are  small tracts of good land," yet adds, "but they are without wood and water." The traveller allows " every reason to think that there is not often so great a scarcity of water as at present from the appearance of the herbage," and notes that " the country in general is newly burnt." He cannot determine " the quantity of good land at the different places," as he had not been " favoured with the sight of a chart." He saw " the most eligible place for a settlement," and that was toward the northern end of the Bay. But the whole story of the Port King, or Port Phillip, is not a cheery one. Men disposed to take a gloomy view of things might well be discouraged after reading that report. But as to tlie Yarra site, supposed to have been visited by Grimes and alluded to by Flinders, the editor of the  Audralia Felix Gazette  had this account:—

       " It does not appear, however, from his chart, a copy of which was given to Surveyor Hoddle in 1837, that he had ever reached or seen the Yarra Yarra or Saltwater River, for, on being questioned, he described the principal stream he met with as terminating in a mere chain of ponds. This could only have been the brook that falls into the sea a little to the westward of William's Town, and which is marked on the chart of Surveyor Hoddle as really only a succession of water holes."

       Of Lieutenant Tuckey's opinion nothing need be said after the perusal of his account of the voyage to Port Phillip. He was strongly prejudiced against the locality. Even the Deputy Surveyor of the Expedition, Mr. Harris, reported that the land only " carries a deceitful appearance of a rich country," and that though from the numerous bodies of natives seen up at the northern extremity of the bay, " it is likely that water is to be found there," yet " no appearance of it was seen during the survey."

       Yet Mr. Fawkner did not scruple to charge Colonel Collins

       with having been bribed with 500^. not to find matters agreeable

       at Port Phillip, so that he might go elsewhere.   Absurd as was

       this report, received and propagated by Mr. Fawkner, let us

       now turn to the  Orders  issued by the Lieutenant-Governor, as

       well as his official letters, to learn his reported opinion upon the

       subject.   The notice about removal occurs in the  Order  issued

       the last day of 1803.

       "Sullivan Bay,  Zlsi December^  1803.

       " Parole— Chatham ;  C. Sign— Sheemess, " The Lieutenant-Governor is under the necessity of directing that the business of loading the  Ocean  be not suspended until that is completed. The people will, therefore, work the remainder of this day and Sunday. It has never been his wish to make that day any other than a day of devotion and rest, but circumstances compel him to employ it in labour. In this the whole are concerned, since the sooner we are enabled to leave this unpromising and unproductive country^  the sooner shall we be able to reap the advantages and enjoy the comforts of a more fertile spot, and, as the winter season will soon not be far distant, there will not be too much time before us wherein to erect more comfortable dwellings for every one than the thin canvas coverings which we are now under, and which aie every day growing worse."

       So " unpromising and unproductive" a colony might well enough disincline the authorities from putting up more substantial and convenient abodes than tents. But he must have been in a terrible hurry for the Governor to issue out orders to work all Sunday, that the party might the earlier remove. He did not recognise the old adage, " prayer and provender hinder no man." Though he had complained of the neglect of public worship by the convicts on Sunday, gracious permission was given to stay away when the weather was not thought fair.

       The first  Order  about removal is dated " Sullivan Bay, 23rd January, 1804":—" The detachment of Royal Marines which have been ordered to hold themselves in readiness for embarkation will embark at the jetty to-morrow after guard mounting on board the  Ocean**  On January 2Gth, the Parole was Bnibarkaiion,  and Countersign  Ocean,  in delighted prospect of the change. The General Orders for the following day are directed from " Ship  Ocean^  Port Phillip " :—

       "The whole number of prisoners embarked in the  Ocean (the officers' servants excepted) will be distributed into three

       divisions, one of which will be upon deck at a time in the same manner as seamen are divided into watches, and for the same period of time. The several overseers who are with the people will see that the watches are regularly relieved, and the watch or division upon deck, during either day or night, must not upon any account go below until relieved. They will at all times give such assistance towards carrying on the duty of the ship as may be required of them by Captain Mertho or any of his oflScers. The division which is upon deck during the morning watch will wash and clean themselves upon the forecastle, and as these several regulations are calculated for their health and convenience, the Governor expects a due observance of them."

       In his letter to Governor King, November 5th, 1803, Colonel Collins wrote thus:—

       "I cannot but suppose that all the disadvantages of Port Phillip are as well known to your Excellency as they are to myself at this moment. If they are, you will have anticipated this Report, but it may not have entered into your contemplation, that there are at this moment between three and four hundred people, sitting down cheerfully, with no other or more certain supply of water than what is filtered daily through the perforated sides of six or eight casks which are sunk in the sand."

       On November 14th he wrote again to express his unfavourable opinion of both the western and eastern sides of the bays after a careful examination of both, which was " equally unsuccessful.*' He dwelt upon the difficulty of access, because of the reef at the Heads, and the shallowness of the water near the landing place. " Every day's experience," said he, " convinces me that it cannot, nor will ever, be resorted to by speculative men" ; adding, " when all the disadvantages attending this Bay are publicly known, it cannot be supposed that commercial people will be very desirous of visiting Port Phillip."

       Truly, if pioneers of the Batman, Henty, and Fawkner order had not been possessed of more energy, enterprise, and perseverance than displayed by the officials associated with the attempt of 1803, speculative men and commercial people would have been kept the longer from acquaintance with Port Phillip.

       Colonel Collins wrote to Governor King on December 16th, furnishing fresh information on the removal. After expressing his regret that the  CalciUta  was hurrying off so soon to  Port
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       Jackson, as he had calculated upon its assistance in his removal, he then writes :—

       " The embarkation of the whole cannot possibly take place at once, I shall therefore divide the military, civil, and convicts into two detachments, one of which with a proportion of stores and provisions can very well be sent away at a time.

       "As yet I have not made choice of the place whereto I shall proceed, as I am unacquainted with Port Dalrymple, and do not think it expedient to come to a decision on a point of that importance until I have had this harbour examined.

       " I have seriously considered the advantages and disadvantages of the two harbours stated in your despatch, and have attentively perused the inclosures contained therein. As your Excellency s opinion seems to point towards my fixing at Port Dalrymple, I shall (if its local advantages are found to be such as will warrant my proceeding thither) not hesitate in giving that Harbour the preference, although I must acknowledge that the circumstance of a settlement having been commenced in the Derwent is a strong inducement for my establishing myself there."

       After references to certain convicts, he turns to the free:

       " Having brought out with me eighteen persons as settlers and their families, under the sanction of Government, I inclose a return of their names and numbers. My intention of removing I have communicated to them, and leaving it by their own election whether to proceed to Port Jackson or accompany me, they all made choice of the latter, excepting one, Millar, a shipwright, who has accepted an engagment with Mr. Palmer, the commissary, and who Captain Woodriff has admitted for a passage in the  Calcutta.

       "  I should not have consented to his departure could I have found employment for him in the line of his profession, but for some time to come a boat will be the only vessel I shall have occasion to construct, and this is now thrown to a greater distance by the appropriation of the launch and cutter (belonging to His Majesty's late ship  Porpoise)  to my use, which your Excellency has directed."

       He told Lord Hobart, February 28,1804, "Governor King had anticipated my objections to Port Phillip, and coincided with me in the propriety of a removal," &c.

       The journal of the Colonial Chaplain, the Rev. Robert Knopwood, A.M., is usually too brief to afford much information
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       upon this question of removal.    But the very first entry after entering the port on Sunday, October 9th, is far from hopeful:

       " Captain WoodrifF and Lieut-Governor Collins went on shore on the south side.of the island (?) At six they returned. Could not find any fresh water. They reported the soil to be  very had, and the trees small, unfit for the use of H.M. Navy. The Bay is very lar^i^e, more so than any I ever see, but the enterance does not exceed a mile and a half, though from the camp S.W. to the N.E. of the Bay, it is not less than 60 miles to the fresh water lake." Monday gives no better news :—" Could not find any water but what was very brackish that we could not drink. The land was very bad light soil.'* After many miles ramble on this and the opposite shore, the conclusion was—" by no meaus satisfied with the country."

       Tuesday has this record:—" Capt. W. and the Gov. with Mr. Tuckey, went on the  ivcst  side of the Bay to procure water. Could not find any. The information that the Governor, &c. gave was by no means favourable, for want of soil, water, and trees." The carpenter could find no wood fit to secure the head and knees of the ship. His testimony is valuable to the fact that within a week, and on Sunday, an expedition was despatched "to survey the Bay from the camp northward, if possible to ascertain a more eligible situation for forming a settlement." An effort was made to learn something of the neighbourhood. The two boats reached the Yarra. The chaplain's entry, not more remarkable for orthography and carefulness than in other places, was as follows;—

       *^Friday  21, a.m. At 50 past 7 the launch and cutter returned from surveying the harbour, having last night arrived in the N.W. point of the bay, where they have discovered a Rtraigh (strait ?) an apparent passage towards the sea, which the Lieut. Mr. Tuckey, intended to have explored, but was driven to the southward during the night by a tide or current from the apparent straigh; and at daylight, finding himself near the ship, returned on board. At 11 Capt. WoodrifF and Lieut. Tuckey came to the camp, who produced to the Governor a chart, the survey about 90 miles round the bay from Arthers Seat (the highest hill on the east fjf the bay) ; and had landed in several places to observe the soil, trees, and to obtain water. The report was * the soil bad, trees very small, and but little water; nor could they get any fish.' "

       The climate did not suit the chaplain. On October 25th he >vrote: "The day was exceeding hot.    At 12 the theimometer

       stood at 92. Confined to my bed the major pt. of the day. At half-past six it was exceedingly cold; the sudden change from heat to cold is very great here, much more than in England." Mr. Tuckey is said to be surveying the harbour on the 31st. The 25th of November records, " Mr. M. CoUough arrivd in the camp from H.M. ship  CalctUta;  he walked it from the Fresh River (Yarra Yarra), where ship layd watering, not less than forty-five or fifty miles, a very great undertaking. He and a party sup*d with me." This looks like a renewed attempt at examination of the site of Melbourne. We are further told of the  Calcutta  taking in fifty-five tons of fresh water from that river.

       He continues to speak all through of the Nepean peninsula as an island. On December 12th the chaplain writes of the return of the  Ocean,  that had been sent to Sydney for orders, consequent upon the expression of dissatisfaction with the site at Port PhiUip :—

       " The ship brought Mr. Collins and the crew that went to Port Jackson and despatches to Lieutenant Q. Collins. By him we were informed that there was a settlement formed on Van Dandemen's Land by a part of the convicts, male and female, under the command of Lieutenant Bowen, River du Nord, the River Derwent, on the south shore of Van Diemen's Land, and that the  Ocean  and  Lady Nelson,  which sailed on the 28th of November, and the  Ocean  on the 29th of November, have come to P^ Phillip to remove us there, or where the Lieutenant-Governor should think proper.*'

       On the 14th we read of "the  Francis  schooner, from Port Jackson, sent round by order of Governor King, for to remove the settlement to Van Diemen s Land." This vessel went on to Port Dalrymple, Launceston, ten days after. The Governor's Sunday work is thus noticed by the chaplain:—

       '* Sunday, January 1, A.M.—The Lieutenant-Governor, being desirous of expeditiug the removing the stores as fast as possible for loading the  Ocean  transport for our embarking to Van Dieman's Land, is under the necessity of ordering the prisoners to work this day as on others."

       On the 25th the convicts embarked, and the next day the chaplain went on board for the Derwent.

       It was the general impression, and not merely the Governor's
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       whim, that Port Phillip was unsuitable. It seemed then to be necessary, especially in that war time, that the chief settlement of the colony should be near the Heads, so as to guard against surprise by an enemy. No place in this vicinity, on either side of the Bay, was found well provided with fresh water. As Flinders remarks of Governor Collins—"But he quitted Port Phillip for the south end of Van Diemen's Land, probably from not finding fresh water for a colony suflBciently near to the entrance." Paterson s  History of New South Wales,  published in 1811 at Newcastle, says of the attempt: "Here, to their mortification, they observed a total want of fresh water, and found its soil so extremely light and sandy as to deny all hopes of successful cultivation." The .Sydney  Qazette,  referring to Port Phillip, on February 17th, 1825, observed, " which was necessarily abandoned for want of water, as well as proper anchorage, by Colonel Collins in 1804." In Martin's  Colonial Library  we read that the Governor "altered his destination, after a short experience of the manifold and insurmountable difficulties attending the place." Mr. Westgarth, in his  Aiistralia Felix  of 1848, called the location a " hasty or injudicious choice," and declared it "was destitute of fresh water and without facilities for shipping." Jorgenson, mate at that time of the Lady Nelson,  wrote: " The arid, infertile nature of the soil, with a distressing scarcity of water, had made the abandonment of that station inevitable."

       With such consensus of opinion upon Port Phillip, the affirmation of Mr. Fawkner as to the bribe of 500/. seems disposed of. But we have not only the word of the two surveyors, the captain and lieutenant of the  Calcutta,  as well as of the chaplain; there is to be added the expressed declaration of Governor King.

       Long before the expedition arrived, the mind of Governor King had been undergoing a change as to the value of Port Phillip.    He wrote home. May 9th, 1803, these words:—

       " The officers of the  Buffalo,  surveyor, gardiner, &c., returned from their survey of King s Island and Port PhiUip with no very

       E>misine hopes of either being found an eligible place for a ge agncultural establishment. I have the honour to forward you a copy of their survey, which will explain what they have done.    It now remains to determine  how  far  it  would  be
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       advisable to make a settlement at Port Phillip, from its being situated at the western extremity of the straits, it may be advisable  some years hence,  and indeed absolutely necessary, how far it may be considered as an immediate object, I must submit to your Lordship's consideration."

       He wrote thus to Lord Hobart, March 1, 1804 :—

       " On the 24th November I learned that Lieutenant-Governor Collins arrived at Port Phillip the 9th of October last in the CaictUta,  By the  Ocean  and a boat I received letters from the Lieutenant-Governor, reporting the badness of the soil, and the want of fresh water, as decided objections against Port Phillip being eligible for an agricultural settlement, and requesting my directions for his further proceedings.

       "Not receiving your lordship's despatches by those conveyances, I could only act from the Lieutenant-Governor's account, and the Report and Survey I ordered to be taken from December, 1802, to March, 1803, which I sent your lordship by the.  Glatton,  being anxious to ascertain what might be expected from that place, as the information I first gave your lordship was that I received from its first discoverer (Mr. Murray), and Captain Flinders in February, 1802; but when the surveyor and the other oflBcers returned from examining it in March, 1803, I considered it necessary to apprise your lordship of that survey, all which is detailed in my inclosed correspondence with Lieutenant-Governor Collins.

       " No ship being here at my command, and the time it would take to remove the establishment, &c., by two colonial vessels, will, I hope, appear suflScient reasons for the steps I took previous to receiving your lordship's despatches, by directing Lieutenant-Governor Collins to remove his establishment, and taking up the  Ocean  for that purpose."

       He further intimates:—

       "Although I cannot but regret that Port Phillip has been deemed unfit for a principal establishment, yet as I conceived it necessary to leave a small establishment at that place, I have given the necessary directions for that purpose."

       Two days after, on November 26th, 1803, Governor King thus addressed his subordinate at Sullivan's Bay:—

       "It appears, as well by Mr. Grimes's and Mr. Eobbins's survey as by your Report, that Port Phillip is totally unfit, in every point of view, to remain at without subjecting the Crown to the certain expensive prospect of the soil not being equal to raise anything for the support of the Settlement, unless you
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       should have made any further observations to encourage your remaining there; perhaps the upper parts of the Bay, at the Head of the River, may not have escaped your notice, as that is the only part Mr. Grimes and those that were with him speak the most favourably of. From this circumstance I shall presume it will appear to you that removing from thence will be the most advisable for the Interest of His Majesty's service.

       "You will perceive by the Inclosure that my first view respecting forming a Settlement at Port Phillip proceeded from the reports of its first discoverer, Mr. Murray, and the subsequent accounts of Capt. Flinders (a copy of whose Chart I also send). You will observe that it was not my intention to fix this settlement, or any other, until I heard from England, and you will also observe the reasons that determined me on fixing a settlement at the Derwent on Van Diemen's Land : also, the Commandant's communications from thence, and my correspondence with him. The circumstances you will consider as a guide to yourjudgment in going to that settlement, or whether you consider rort Dalrymple more eligible; as you are provided with Capt. Flinders's chart and his pamphlet of observations, I can give you no other information respecting that place, except sending you his and Mr. Bass's manuscript journal, where you will ohserve everything respecting that place, or Risdon Cove, more in detail; having no other copy, I wUl thank you to restore it by the  Calcutta  or  Ocean,  I should now state what I consider the advantages and disadvantages of fixing your Government at the River Derwent or Port Dalrymple. The advantages of the river Derwent is the situation for ships to touch at on their way to China or this place. The favourable report of the soil by Bass and Flinders, and its being confirmed by Mr. Bowen in the short time he has been there, together with the facility of ships having access to it, is a great recommendation. Although not so advantageously situated as Port Dalrymple, yet its capability in affording future protection to the Sealers and those who go in quest of oil is an object of equal consideration, with the advantage of having a Settlement already commenced and stocked, altho' on a very small scale.

       " Your residence at Port Phillip will have convinced you of the prevalence of the south-west or westerly winds, the former of wnich being the more general makes the north side of Van Diemen's Land a weather shore for ships passing through the Straits either way. So far the entrance of Port Dalrymple is easy, and in a great degree safe of access, but it must not be forgot that sometimes gales do blow from the northward, although of short duration compared to the south and westerly winds, which may be called almost constant. Messrs. Bass and Flinders do not speak so decidedly of the soil as they do of that

       of the Derwent. The diflBculty of access into the Port is particularly stated by Captain Flinders, although that is an inconvenience that probably may be lessened when a more perfect knowledge of the Channel is obtained.

       " Having possessed you of all these circumstances, it remains with you to determine which of the two places you consider most eligible to remove to with your estabhslmient.

       In this letter to the Governor, while leaving him the liberty of action, he evidently inclines to the views of Colonel Collins, as they coincide with those of Messrs. Grimes and Robbins. Yet he hints about the likelihood of the head of the bay presenting more hopeful features. This was believed to refer to the Yarra Yarra locality.    Why then, was that declined ?

       Apart from the consideration that the position ought to be near the Heads, there really was not much to influence the authorities to choose the other. The land near the river was pronounced good, but it was poor a little way off. Another reason, and an important one, was presented in Mr. Surveyor Harris's report, and referred to by the Lieut.-Govemor in his despatch — it was the number of the natives. The collision between these and Lieut. Tuckey did not favour a settlement there. The people were very numerous, strong, and warlike. CoL Collins reporting to Lord Hobart, notices this, saying:—

       " Were I to settle in the upper part of the harbour, which is full of natives, I should require four times the strength I have now."

       Mr. Harris said, "The northern shore is more numerously inhabited than any other parts." It was enough to do to look after the convicts, with his small army; the Governor therefore feared to add to his anxieties and responsibilities by establishing himself near so strong a band of resolute savages. Some think the fear of a lonesome post, hundreds of miles from other Europeans, exposed to the attacks of warlike tribes over so extensive a range of country, prevailed in the mind of Colonel Collins as much as the fear of wanting fresh water, in prompting to a removal from the mainland.

       Preparations both at Sydney and Port Phillip were made for the removal. In Captain King's letter to Captain Mertho, November 25th, respecting the chartering of his vessel, the Ocean,  this plea is presented:—"An exigency of  the public

       service requiring that the civil and military establishments, "with the provisions and stores, landed at Port Phillip should be removed to Port Dalrymple or the River Derwent on Van Diemen's Land." An agreement was made for four months at eighteen shillings a ton per month. The Governor sent on the following letter for Colonel Collins to give to the Commandant Bowen, at Risdon, on the Derwent:—

       " This letter will be delivered by BQs Honor, David Collins, Esq., His Majesty's Lieutenant-Governor of a Settlement Intended to have been formed at Port Phillip, but from that place not being found fit for settlement, that gentleman has received my directions to make choice of Port Dalrymple or Hobart to fix it. Should he determine on Hobart, you will immediately resign the Command of the Settlement to him."

       Although Mr. Collins, the settler, had reported favourably of Port Dalrymple, to which he had been sent for an inspection, Lieut.-Governor Collins wrote to Sydney, January 27th, 1804: " I had made my election of the Derwent, previous both to the receipt of your Despatch and Mr. CoUins's Report." He was then only waiting for the right wind to carry him out of that disagreeable place. The Governor, as he had advised Lord Hobart, was unwilling for the port to be abandoned at once by the whole party, writing on the 30th of December to Colonel Collins:—

       " After having stated my reasons for a settlement not being made on King's Island, I think there is a necessity for a small Establishment being left at Port Phillip, in the most Eligible situation, as well for the purpose of advising any ships that may hereafter arrive, as for other advantages that will attend that measure. Perhaps a trusty Serjeant and superintendent might be suflScient at present until further instructions are received from Ei^land on this head.''

       That Governor King had not given up the idea of a colony at Port Phillip is evident from the instructions he gave to Colonel Paterson, June 1st, 1804, when he sent him to form a dep8t at Port Dahymple, now Launceston. This oflScer, however, in that infant age of colonial navigation, could not reach it. Another vessel left Sydney for it with fourteen soldiers on board; but, after beating about for a whole month, the ship returned to Port Jackson. Though Colonel Paterson had to wait till  the  Buffalo  was repaired to take his little

       party, he had a roving commission to look after likely spots for colonisation.

       "You are also to examine," wrote the Governor to him, " how far you consider Port Phillip or Western Port most eligible for forming a post at, not so much with a view to its being considered a present agricultural settlement, as a Post of Occupancy, although your Observations respecting the former advantage at Port Dalrymple, Port Phillip, and Western Port ought not to be totally disre^mled.

       "You will also observe the best situation for settlements, in which you will have a view to the commercial advantage, access of vessels, obtaining fresh water, and its defence. You will ako observe where Settlers can be advantageously placed, and finally make such general daily observations as may guide my judgment in the most proper places to establish settlements, committing all your observations to writing."

       In those primeval days, for want of good vessels and proper means of communication, matters often got in a tangle. Thus, the Governor sent down to Lieutenant Bowen, at Risdon, desiring him to be off in a little cutter to Port Phillip, in order to give needful information about the Derwent to Colonel Collins. On arrival within the Heads, Mr. Bowen found the Lieut.-Govemor had left with half the people; so he had to turn round and hasten back again. On his way across the Straits, the rudder fastening broke. When in great peril, he was rescued by an American whaler. With more speed than prudence, he hired the ship's tender, trustii^ wholly to the American captain's honour and justice in making a charge. Of course, Jonathan accepted the good fortune of spoiling the Britishers, and presented a very stiff bill at Sydney.

       Captain Delano, of the schooner  Pilgrim,  demanded for his display of nautical benevolence the sum of 400/. The Governor was indignant, but paid. In his explaDation to Lord Hobaxt, he said: " But as he (Bowen) had given a conclusive draft on me for service performed, I  did not consider I could, with that respect to the British Character, either curtail or refuse the payment of the Bill, notwithstanding the extortionate advantage that had been taken of Mr. Bowen's necessities, and his not entering into a written agreement." This Delano was not an agreeable man. He was the champion of American superiority over the poor Britisher, wherever there was a chance of dis-

       playing it. Though 'cute to take in the Sydney Government, it was most cruel of him to torture unfortunate English sealers in the Straits, simply from annoyance at their superior good fortune in catching the warm-coated amphibia. By depositions before a magistrate, information was given of the seizure of some of these islanders by order of Captain Delano, who subjected them to brutal and humiliating treatment, while prohibiting them, with fearful curses, from sealing when he was cruising in those  British  seas.

       The  Sydney Gazette  of the period had some allusions, in its very limited space, to the proceedings at Port Phillip, and the circumstances of the removal. The issue of November 24th, 1803, notifies the arrival of the  Ocean  from Sullivan's Bay; described as "an intended settlement under the command of His Honor Lieutenant-Governor David Collins." But it speaks of there being 209 male convicts, 15 women and children, and only 2 free settlers. It is correct in reporting eight deaths among the prisoners on the passage, but wrong in calling the chaplain  Hopiuood,  instead of  Knopwood.  Further particulars are then given as to the letters brought round from the new colony:—

       " The Lieutenant-Governor having communicated to His Excellency the same unfavourable circumstances respecting Port Phillip not being calculated for an extensive settlement, as was reported by the Surveyor-General, Mr. Grimes, who, with other assistance, surveyed it in January last, but whose report had not reached England before the  Calcutta  sailed; Lieutenant-Governor Collins has, therefore, suspended his proceedings until he receives instructions from His Excellency the Govemor-in-Chief, which he has requested by Mr. Collins, a passenger, under the sanction of Government, who very handsomely volunteered his services to bring the Lieutenant-Governor's letters in an open six-oar'd boat, which there is every reason to believe he would have accomplished with great credit to himself, altho' he encountered much bad weather and heavy gales in the Straits and on the coast, but being so fortunate as to fall in with the  Ocean  off Point Upright, Captain Merthe, who appears to have had no intention of touching here, very humanely took Mr. Collins and his people (six) on board, and brought them to this port."

       We are subsequently informed by that paper that the  Lady Nelson  is ordered to go with the  Ocean  back to Port Phillip,

       "to enable Lieutenant-Governor Collins to comply with His Excellency's Instructions;"—in other words, to remove the whole party.

       The issue of December 26th, 1803, speaks of the arrival of the  Calcutta,  D. Woodrifife, when it is stated: " As soon as the Francis  is repaired, we learn it is the intention of Lieutenant-Governor Collins to send her out upon survey to Port Dalrymple." It was then doubtful whether Hobart Town or Launceston was to receive the first Port Phillip settlers. But by the  Gazette  of January 15th, 1804, appeared the news that "On Sunday arrived His Majesty's colonial schooner  Francis,  Wm. Rushworth, master, having left Port Phillip the 25th of December with some officers sent by Lieutenant-Governor Collins to survey Port Dahymple." Becoming leaky, the  Lady Nelson,  W. Sim-monds, fortimately came in view, and went to execute the commission.  February 5th  has the notice: "Sailed yesterday for Port Phillip and the Derwent,  Integrity,  with settlers and wheat."

       The  Zady Nelson  returned January 20th fix»m Port Phillip. The  Gazette,  February 12th, says: "Lieut.-Govemor Collins embarked on board the  Ocean  on the 27th of last month, with as great a proportion of stores, provisions, and people as that ship could remove." It informs readers that Lieutenant Sladden of the Marines had been left in charge at Port Phillip.

       The  Ocean  left Port Phillip with Colonel Collins on Thursday, January 26th, 1804, though not escaping the horrors of the  Bip till the next day. After a rough passage of twenty dayB, the anchor was lowered in Risdon Cove. In the  log  of the ship we read: " It was observed by the officers of the ship and passengers that Wm. Frantzin, cabbin steward, was very much intoxicated, and that he had been in that state for four or five days. On examining the stores, found several bottles of wine had been taken out of a tierce stowed in the gun-room."

       Another record of the  log  is: "Sunday, 19th (February), Proceeded for Sullivan Cove, that being the name His Honor Lieut.-Govemor Collins was pleased to Give the place where he intended to form his settlement. At 4 anchored in 13 Fathom water about 2 miles from the shore." Risdon Cove was reached on the 15th inst.

       The  Ocean  left again March 22nd, reachii^ Port Phillip in twenty-four dajrs. On Sunday, April 20th, after killing " upwards of 200 rats about the fires and on the gun-deck," Lieutenant Sladden started off with the remainder of the expedition. The voyage was very tempestuous. On May 7th all were put on short allowance of water. After being tossed about for thirty-five days, in a passage traversed now in little over two, the unhappy people arrived in the Derwent, May 25th. But the Governor got no information about them till the  Ocean got back to Sydney, August 24th. Then he learned the ravages scurvy had made among the Port Phillip fugitives, causing the death of many. Among those suffering, but who recovered, were two of the returned runaways, Marmon and David Gibson. Governor King, in his letter to Colonel Collins September 30th, 1804, thus notes the last of the ill-fated Port Phillip settlement:—

       " I am concerned at the sickly state of the remainder of your Establishment when they arrived by the  Ocean,  but hope from your account of the abundance of kangaroos that any remains of the scurvy will soon be eradicated, and the strength restored of those who had been ailing."

       Colonel Collins closes his official connexion with Port Phillip, in his despatch to Lord Hobart, from Hobart Town, Februjtry 28th, 1804:—

       '* Hitherto I had not caused my commission as the Lieutenant* Governor to be read, reserving the publication of His Majesty's pleasure therein until I should be permanently established in whatever place might be adopted for the settlement, with the government of which I had been honoured. Determining to make a public example of these delinquents, I thought it would add to the solemnity which I wished should attend this act of justice, to cause the commission to be read, and gave orders necessary for the occasion.

       " According to these orders, all the civil and military, settlers and prisoners, were assembled on the following day, at eleven o clock, on the public parade, when His Majesty's commission, appointing me to be the Lieutenant-Governor of a settlement to be formed in Bass's Straits, was publicly read by the chaplain, the Rev. Mr. Knopwood, at the conclusion of which the detachment of marines fired three volleys. I then addressed the convicts in general, and, after pointing out the comforts which they enjoyed, and the ill use which they made of them, I called

       the five prisoners forward, whom I caused to be punished with 100 lashes each by the drummers of my detachment.

       "The apprehension of these people was followed in a few days by the voluntary return of three others, who had been longer absent, and whose appearance bore testimony to the hardships they had undergone. These I did not punish; they immediately required medical treatment, and I thought their own tale of their sufiFerings might operate more eflfectually to deter others from absconding than any corporal punishment which I might inflict; and with this view I published in the general orders the particulars of the information I had received from them.

       " While upon this subject I shall (though not in the regular detail of the transactions of the settlement) report to your lordship the subsequent desertions that took place among the people.

       " There was among the prisoners, who were received from the hulks at Portsmouth, one Ueorge Lee, a young man of education and abilities. He had been noticed in the  Calcutta  in consequence of these advantages, and on his landing I did not employ him at hard labour, but permitted him to construct a small hut, in which he resided. I was concerned to find that he abused the indulgence, and misapplied the leisure which I allowed him by endeavouring to create dissatisfaction among the prisoners, and throwing some very illiberal reflections upon the oflScers in general of the settlement.

       " I thought it absolutely necessary to have this man's conduct investigated, and for this purpose requested the Rev. Mr. Knop-wood to make the proper inquiry. The result of this was so unfavourable to Lee that I determined to disgrace him, and ordered him to be classed to a gang; but he prevented me by withdrawing from the settlement, taking with him another prisoner, and a musket which he obtained by uttering a falsehood from the people at my garden. This man was held in such estimation by the prisoners in general that they concluded he must be in possession of some resources unknown to them to enable him to live independent of the public stores; and I was informed that a large party intended to join him.

       " Several robberies having been committed in the night preceding Christmas Day, and one of a very daring nature in the commissary's tent, from whence a gun had been stolen, I promised to procuVe from the Govemor-m-Chief a conditio^ emancipation for any prisoner who should bring forward and prosecute to conviction any person or persons who had been guilty of these outrages. I also appointed a night-watch, consisting of five persons, which was afterwards improved into an armed and voluntary association of the civil oflBcers of the

       settlement, for the protection of the persons, property, and peace of the colony.

       " The reward that I ofiFered had the effect which I had rather hoped than expected. A convict (since dead) came to me in a few days, with information that the commissary's and other tents had been robbed by two convicts, one of whom had been for some time in the woods; the other went off the night he committed the robbery. He also told me that five others had for some time planned an escape, which was to be executed that night, and they were to join the two men who had robbed the commissary. I could immediately have apprehended these people, and prevented them making the attempt, but I judged It more advisable to detect them in the act, and for that purpose sent out some people armed in the course of the day, with orders to post themselves at a place, which, according to my informant, they must pass, and endeavour to secure them, but at all events to prevent their escape. I was, moreover, not certain that the information which I had received was correct, but the event proved that it was so.

       " At one o'clock in the morning the non-commissioned oflBcers, whom I had sent out, brought me word that two of the party under his direction had fallen in with the deserters, one of whom, not answering on being three times challenged, had been fired at and wounded, his companions making their escape, and leaving him on the beach about three miles from the camp. I immediately despatched one of the surgeons with dressings, a cart, and every assistance which was necessary to bring him. This was accordingly executed, and though the wounded man was immediately pronounced to be in extreme danger (a slug having lodged in the abdomen), yet, neither the pain which he suffered, nor the expectation of approaching dissolution, could induce him to utter a syllable that would lead to a discovery of his associates, or of others in the camp who might haCve assisted them in their escape.

       " This happened on the 27th December. Upon the 13th of the following month, one of these wretches surrendered himself at the camp, having accompanied the others, according to his calculation, upwards of 100 miles round the extensive harbour of Port Phillip. He brought in with him the commissary's fowling-piece, and stated that he had subsisted chiefly upon gum and shell-fish. His companions intended to proceed to the mountains, which are to the westward of Port Jackson, and having no reason, from the result of some researches which I caused to be made after them, to think that they were in my neighbourhood, I forbore harassing the military in any further fruitless pursuit of them.

       ** Having requested Captain Woodriff (who had nothing on

       board the  Calcutta  belonging to the settlement but the gunpowder and ordnance stores) to delay his departure, until I should have had a reply to my letter which I had sent by Mr. Collins, he acceded to my request, as well as to a requisition which I made, of a non-commissioned oflScer and ten privates being landed for the duty of the garrison, from the detachment of Royal Marines belonging to his ship. I have now the honour to inclose copies of the letter which I wrote to Captain WoodrifF, and his answer upon this occasion.

       '* While waiting for the return of the boat from Port Jackson, I employed some people in constructing a magazine of stone, cemented with lime, capable of containing the ammunition that was on board the  Calcutta,  in case any circumstance should occur that might oblige me to land it.

       " I have now to acquaint your lordship with the arrival of the Ocean  store ship, from Port Jackson, on the 12th of December. I learned that the master of this ship had fortunately met with Mr. Collins in the boat which I had sent to Sydney, on the eve of a heavy gale of wind, which he escaped by being taken into the ship, and, in her, finishing his voyage to Port Jackson.

       " Governor King had anticipated my objections to Port Phillip, and coinciding with me in the propriety of a removal, pointed out two places to my election—Port Dakymple, or a settlement which had been commenced under his direction in the Derwent Kiver, in Van Diemen's Land. To enable me to judge of either, he pointed out the advantages and disadvantages of both. He seemed to incline to the former of these places, if it should be ascertained, upon an examination of that harbour, that there was at its entrance a sufficient depth of water for large vessels, for which purpose he sent me down one of the colonial schooners; and in order to facilitate the removal of the establishment, he informed me that he had hired the  Ocean  for four months, in which service she was to co-operate with His Majesty's ship  Calcutta.  But I had the mortification to learn from Captain WoodrifiF, that he intended to proceed immediately to Port Jackson, as he did not think it advisable to risk the king's ship in exploring a new harbour. , " I cannot but own, that at the first communication of this intention, I felt myself very much hurt, for I reflected that I should have to remove in one ship the people, stores, and provisions, which had been sent out by Government in two, and consequently, should have to divide the small military force which was under my command, as it was not possible the  Ocean could take us all at one time. Captain Woodriffs reai5ons were of such weight with him that I did not oppose them, and immediately set about the arduous undertaking which was before me. I have the honour to inclose the copy of a letter which Captain

       Woodriff wrote me on this occasion, and of my reply. The Calcutta  left me on the 18th of December.

       "I forthwith despatched the schooner, haring given her some repairs which she much needed, to the examination of Port Dalrymple, sending in her Mr. Collins, who, from his knowledge as a master in the navy, was well qualified to judge of the fitness of the port; Mr. Humphrey, the mineralogist (who volunteered his services on the occasion), and Mr. Clark, the agricultural superintendent, with proper instructions and directions to touch at Kents Group, in their way through the Straits, to look for His Majesty's armed tender.  Lady Nelson,  which had been for some time missing.

       " During the absence of Mr. Collins I loaded the store-ship, putting on board somewhat more than half the provisions and nearly all the stores, to facilitate which I ran out a jetty, 380 feet from the beach, which proved of essential service.

       " On the 20th of January, one of the colonial vessels arrived, with a letter from Governor King, wherein he informed me that a schooner had come in from Port Dalrymple, in the entrance of which, the master stated to him to have found only three fathoms of water in a very intricate and narrow channel, and that he had been impeded in prociuing fresh water by large bodies of hostile natives. His Excellency therefore imagined that I would give up all idea of going thither, and proceed to establish myself on the Derwent.

       ** But previous to the receipt of this letter I had determined to proceed to that settlement upon the return of the gentleman I had sent thither. The motives which led me to this resolution being fully detailed in a letter to the Governor, I have taken the liberty of inclosing a copy of it to your lordship, as well as a copy of another letter to the same oflScer, which contains a minute account of my transactions from my departure from Port Phillip, to my finally establishing myself in this place, where I have every hope that the disappointments which have hitherto accompanied me will cease, and that the anxious wishes which hitherto have been procrastinated of carrying your lordship's intentions into execution, respecting the formation of a settlement in this part of New Holland, will at length be completely realized.

       " I should not presume to refer your lordship to copies of my letters to another person for my transactions under the authority of your instructions, did I not hope that the multiplicity of the business which is at present upon my hands, and the short time I can spare from attending them to write my letters, will plead my excuse. I am extremely solicitous this information of the place where I have fixed the settlement should go to Port Jackson in time to save the  CalcitUa,  which I

       entertain a hope may have not yet sailed for England. Should I, therefore, have omitted giving your lordship information on any point, which I may hereafter regret not having sent, it must be ascribed to the same cause, and will, I trust, meet with the same indulgence from your lordship.

       *' On the day following the arrival of the sloop with Governor King's last letter, I had the satisfaction of seeing the  Lady Nehon enter Port Phillip, having on board Mr. Collins and his companions, who, happily for them, had been directed by me to touch, as before-mentioned, at Kents Group, to look for this vesseL I say happily for them, for notwithstanding the repairs I had given the schooner (the  Francis),  she proved so very leaky, that she was wholly unfit for proceeding on the service upon which I had sent her. Mr. Collins, therefore, very prudently dismissed her to Port Jackson, and proceeded to the examination of Port Dalrymple in the  Zady Nelson,

       " I have the honour to remain, with every sentiment of the highest respect, my lord,

       " Tour lordship's most obedient, very humble servant,

       "David Collins."

       " It is pleasant to record, that, while so many oflScials took such gloomy views of Port Phillip, a lady had a kind word for the place. In a letter written to her sister by Mrs. Hopley, this bright and hopeful correspondent said :—

       " We arrived in October, 1803. My pen is not able to describe half the beauties of that delightful spot. We were four months there. Much to my mortification, as well as loss, we were obliged to abandon the settlement, through the whim and caprice of the Lieutenant-Governor. Additional expense to Government, and additional loss of individuals, were incurred by removing to Van Diemen's Land, which can never be made to answer. Port Phillip is my favourite, aad  has  my warmest wishes. During the time we were there, I never felt one ache or pain, and I parted with it with more regret than I did my native land."

       THE SETTLEMENT OF 1826.

       After  the retreat of Colonel Collins in 1804, the land had rest for twenty years. Excepting a call for wood and water by passing vessels, and occasional visits of sealers and whalers, Europeans left the Port Phillip blacks, and their white friend Buckley, in peace.

       The next interruption came not in the neighbourhood of Port Phillip, but of Western Port. As in the other case, exploration preceded settlement.

       CHAPTER in.

       HUME AND  HOVELL's  OVERLAND JOURNEY.

       This  time we have not to trace the steps of sailors, but of landsmen; and not to record the revelations of a coast-line, but an overland journey across the territory of Port Phillip. This was accomplished by Messrs. Hume and Hovell in 1824-5.

       No exploration exercised such an influence upon the  settlement of Port Phillip, as that undertaken by these two gentlemen from the Sydney side of the colony. It induced the Government to form a convict settlement in 1826 at Western Port, which, though ultimately abandoned, lasted longer than the one established just inside of Port Phillip Heads in 1803.

       But it was that exploration which was the immediate cause of the permanent settlement of the country in 1835. Sturt's discovery of the course of the Murray, while displacing the name of  Hume River  from the map of New South Wales, influenced no one to dwell in Port Phillip, though it became

      

       the primary cause of the settlement of Adelaide. On the other hand, Hume and Hovell first amiounced the character of the interior, especially the glorious Iramoo plains, and gave old colonists the first longing after such rich pastures. But it is the connection of Hume and Batman, fellow-townsmen, fellow-natives of New South Wales, friends as well as neighbours, that really brought about the colonization of Port Phillip. Hume, in a letter to the author, admitted the fact. Batman acknowledged the indebtedness. Even others, like Fawkner, opposed to Batman, traced their interests in Port Phillip to that exploration in 1824. Treating, therefore, of the settlement of the country, we are interested in everything connected with that celebrated trip.

       It may seem singular that so little resulted, after all, from a tour which revealed the existence of so much good land, or that so long a time was necessary to make known the discovery, or sufficiently to impress men with its importance. But that was a slow age compared with ours, for news travelled in a most leisurely manner, and few people went out of their way to hear it. Scotchmen, at any rate, were not so go-ahead then, for Glasgow had not begun to  flourish;  since the  Scotsman  newspaper for 1826 gave the following sketch of the colony for its then untravelled readers:—

       "New South Wales, from the latitude of 31° to 38**, is a country possessing, perhaps, as few natural advantages as any in the world, except regions of absolute desert, as the Sahara. The good soils lie in patches surrounded by sands or swamps; and in other cases enclosed among steep mountains, in situations where two-thirds of the value of the crop would be absorbed by the expense of conveying it to market. We do not believe that the land capable of cultivation occupies one-twentieth part of the surface, and of this, one half is probably useless from its local disadvantages. The country can never be densely populated, and without a dense population society cannot reach a high degree of civilization and refinement. The situation is evidently one of the worst that could be selected for laying the foundation of a great and populous Australian empire. If such an empire is ever to exist in New Holland, its principal seat must lie in some very different part of the continent."

       The writer had no knowledge that even then a noble district had  been   revealed by the  expedition  of  1824-5.    But the

       G

       English opinion of the wretchedness of that part of New Holland could not be worse than that entertained by the Surveyor-General of New South Wales, since we find Mr, Oxley objecting to the proposed trip of Hovell and Hume, on the ground that the region to the southward was "utterly useless for every purpose of civilized man."

       Yet the way had been prepared. Some who had ventured beyond the limits of occupation were satisfied that sheep and cattle might easily procure new and finer pastures. Hume himself, as we learn from his narrative and letters, had not been idle in the work of exploration, young as he was. Mr. Oxley had found large rivers like the Lachlan and Macquarie lose themselves in marshes, and was sure of nothing but wastes. Mr. Throsby, of Qlenfield, who penetrated, in 1821, to the south of Lake George, wrote thus of a river he saw running westwards:—

       " The general course I prove to be west and west-south-west, and from the appearance of the country, I am bound to say that the apparently contuiued chain of high mountains, extending from south to north, leaves no hope of a river of any magnitude being discovered running to the south-east coast of the country; and it appears to me that these mountains completely separate the space between them and the sea from the interior, in which direction, I fear, the rivers I have seen run, although each of them contains more than double the quantity of water in the Nepean at the Cowpastures. As the whole of the rivers take the course I have before mentioned, I have small hopes that they terminate in any way different from that in which Mr. Oxley has already ascertained the Lachlan and Macquarie to do."

       The earliest notice we can find of the intended journey of Messrs. Hume and Hovell is that in the  Sydney Oaeette, Sept. 16, 1824 :—

       " We are happy to announce that a most interesting journey of discovery into the interior, in a direction south-west from Lake George, is on the eve of departure. Much credit is due to the Government, we understand, in promoting, as well with its powerful countenance as actual assistance, this desirable object; while the individuals by whom it is to be performed are entitled to high consideration for the public spirit and enterprise which have prompted the attempt."

       The part played by the CJovernment was talk rather than work. The Governor had a grand scheme, which he wished Mr. Hume to carry out, but contented himself, at the last, with the gift of a couple of charts and a tent, with some few slops firom the public stores. He was anxious to have the exploration of the country between the southern settlements of New South Wales and the region near Western Port. He expressed great confidence in Mr. Hume, and consented that Mr. Hovell should be the partner in the expedition.

       Mr. Hamilton Hume was the son of Mr. Andrew Hamilton Hume, of the Commissariat Department, who was sent out in charge to Sydney in very early days, and whose father had been a clergyman in Ireland. Our travellers mother was the daughter of the Rev. J. Kennedy, whose vicarage was in Kent. Hamilton was bom at Paramatta, in New South Wales, June 18th, 1797. His companion, Mr. William Hilton Hovell, of Minto, near Goulbum, New South Wales, had been a captain of a merchantman, and arrived with his family in the colony in 1813. The two were, perhaps, equally self-reliant; neither was, nor could be, leader, and there was evidently from the first a want of sympathy between them. Such an alliance could not be pleasant, and the divergence of opinion corresponded with the opposiveness of temper. The uncongeniality which was apparent in 1824 became painfully conspicuous in after life, culminating in attacks through the press, especially in 1855 and 1873.

       The party started in October, 1824, dependent on their own resources. However much one, at least, was animated by a love of exploration, it is suflScient to say that both were stockholders, and quite alive to the value of good pastures, should they be fortunate enough to discover them. They crossed the Murray, which they called the  Sume,  not far from the present site of Albury. After naming the  Ovens  river, and the  Hovell or  Twisden,  now known as the  Omilbum,  they rounded Mount Disappointment, and came to the noble hill Wentworth, called after the Sydney statesman, though subsequently known as Mdcedon  by Major Mitchell. Piercing the dividing range near Kilmore, they reached the plains, crossed the  Amdell,  now the  Werribee,  and camped at what the natives named  Oeelong* Whether this was by Port Phillip or Western Port was another
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       bone of contention between the two travellers, which helped to maintain the controversial existence during their route homeward.

       The first intelligence of their return was given in the Sydney Australian  of January 27th, 1825 :—

       " We have just room to announce that Captain Hovell and Mr. H. Hume have returned from their excursion to the southward. It appears that they penetrated as far as Western Port, Bass's Straits, where they discovered a river of considerable magnitude. They represent the country from lat. 36° (the Huvie)  to Western Port to be remarkably rich, and much superior to the country of Argyleshire or Bathurst  {in Nmo South Wales proper),  being for the most part open forest country, until within seventy or eighty miles of Western Port, where it is open plain, sloping gently to the water side."

       This earliest information indicates the mistake of Western Port for Port Phillip, and points out, in all probability. Captain Hovell as the reporter. Just a fortnight after, another Sydney paper gave an extract from the record kept by one of the explorers, as it declared it to be.

       The  Sydney Gazette  for February 10th, 1825, had the following from the journal " that was kept by our Australian travellers (Messrs. Hovell and Hume) during their late adventures in the interior of this unknown and interesting country ":—

       " On the 3rd of October last, we took our departure from the district of Appin, accompanied by six servants, having a supply of provisions for sixteen weeks, and proceeded to Mr. Hume's station, at Lake George. On the 17th we continued our journey in a south-west direction, and the following day passed over a fine grazing country, which we named McDougal's Plains, and in the evening of the following day we arrived on the banks of the Morumbidgee, which we crossed on the 22nd, and continuing our route to the south-west over an open forest country until the 24th, when, finding it impracticable to ascend the mountains in front, we deemed it expedient to leave our carts on the banks of a branch of the Morumbidgee, with some heavy articles and salt provisions we could conveniently spare. It was not until the 29th that we discovered a passage over the mountains, which run mostly north and south; and on the 31st we descended this range and arrived at a small river running north, which was crossed on the 27th November, and continuing
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       our route we encamped for the evening about a mile distant from another river, of which we ascertained the preceding to be a branch, both running in a direction towards the Morumbidgee. On the 4th and 5th we pursued our progress over the mountains, and in the evening of the 6th we descended into a country of a different aspect, being very much broken, and the tops of the mountains in a southerly direction being covered with snow (the South Australian Alps), which induced us to follow a more westerly course : upon this course we continued until the 13th, passing through an open  country well watered by numerous creeks, when we resumed our route to the south-west, and proceeded until the 16th, when we reached the banks of a river situate in lat. 36° 15' south.     This  river,  which  we  named   * Hume's River,' takes its rise from the snowy mountains, and is about 100 yards in breadth, deep, the banks about 10 feet from above the level of the water, but apparently overflowed in times of flood; the stream running about three or four miles an hour in a west-north-west direction.    On the 20th we crossed the south bank   of  the   river   by  means   of  a boat  made   of  a   few sticks  and  a tarpaulin;   and on the 21st we continued  our journey   through  a country interspersed   with   swamps   and lagoons for about four miles, when we  came to a branch of the preceding river, which was crossed by similar means, and in the  evening  to  another  branch of the same river, which was forded without  difl&culty.     Our course was still  to the south-west—forest land abounding in excellent pasturage—until the evening of the 24th, when we arrived at the banks of a small but beautiful river, which  we  named   ' Ovens*  River,' about latitude 36° SCV, which was forded the following day, and pursuing our journey along the base of a range of mountains, which mountains we crossed on the 29th, and descended on the 30th in a fine forest country; and continuing our journey we arrived, on the 3rd of December, at a river in latitude 36° 50', which we named * Goulbum River/    Having crossed Qoulburn River, we continued our course to the south-west until the 8th, when we were obliged to alter to the north-west on account of a mountain, which, being covered with low brushwood and scrub, we found impassable.    On the 12th we resumed our journey to the south-west, with an open coimtry in front, and on the 13th came in sight of some plains, which had a very superior appearance to any we had passed; and on the following day we had the pleasure to find our opinions confirmed, as throughout this day's progress the land exceeded our most sanguine expectation. In the course of this afternoon we ascended a hill, from whence we had a very extensive view of as fine a country as we had ever seen in any part of the colony, extending from south-east to west.    We continued  our journey in  a south  and  west

       direction through the same description of country, abounding with small rivers and creeks (all running in a southerly direction), until the evening of the 16th, when we had the satisfaction to reach Western Port, and encamped on the southern point of the right bank of the base at the back of the large island in the Bay: from this point a large river, which empties itself into Western Port, is seen coming from between a range of mountains in an easterly direction. There were many other rivers which crossed the plain we had passed for the last two or three days, which discharged themselves into this; and we consider it, in point of magnitude, to be equal to any hitherto discovered in the colony ; but as our provisions were becoming expended, we had no time to explore it in the way we could otherwise have wished."

       The great importance of this record rests in its priority. By it the respective observations of Hume and Hovell made in subsequent years can be satisfactorily tested. Hovell was then the superior in position, if not in wealth and bushcraft, and was in all probability the writer of this notice in February, 1825. There is no mistake here in the announcement of Western Port as the terminus, as Hovell had assumed in opposition to Hume. Whether the latter was not very confident, or his word could not prevail against the opinion of his companion, a navigator, we have no means of determining. There was, at any rate, no protest from Hume inserted in the  Sydney Gazette  of the period. It seems strange that in his letter to the  Monitor,  November 26th, 1826—elsewhere reported—Mr. Hume makes no reference to the difference of view.

       The first edition of Mr. Hume's  Statement of Facts  appeared in 1855, with a Preface by the Rev. W. Ross, of Groulbum. The second, in 1873, had Mr. Hume's Preface, in which he says: ** My motives for publishing a second edition of  A Brief State-ment of Facts in Connection with my Overland Expedition from Lake George to Fort Phillip in  1824 are twofold. First, that as the previous edition was exhausted, I might be able to present any friend who should wish for one with a copy of my narrative. Secondly, that I might take another and final opportunity of assuring the public in the most emphatic way, as I do now, that the  Statement,  as originally published, was strictly what it purported to be—a 'statement of facts.'" The Preface to the third edition, 1874, is not signed, but affirms that " this edition

       is a literal reprint of the second one." Mr. Hovell's reply is called  Historicai Statements.

       It is a thankless office to attempt to criticise the statements of these two men, who did the public such good service. General tradition gives credit to Hume for protesting that the waters seen from Geelong were those of Port Phillip. Mr. Ijabilliere jsaid that the earliest notice " leaves no doubt that the locality was Port Phillip, though the explorers may, on arriving at it, have taken it for Western Port." Mr. Gumer, in liis Port Phillip pamphlet, observes: " When Mr. Hovell got to Western Port, he was convinced of the mistake he had made."

       Mr. Rusden, one of the shrewdest and most painstaking of our colonial historical critics, declares that "to Hume alone can be ascribed the leadership and its results; and it is proper to mention that, even while at Geelong, Hume and Hovell diflfered as to the spot which they had reached. Hume asserted that they were at Port Phillip; Hovell that they were at Western Port." Captain Sturt's narrative of discovery, written before the settlement of Port Phillip, gives Hume credit for the right opinion, saying : " After a most persevering and laborious journey, they reached the sea; but it is uncertain whether they made Port Phillip or Western Port Mr. Hume, whose practical experience will yield to that of no man, entertained a conviction that it was to the former they descended from the neighbouring ranges; but Mr. Hovell, I believe, supports a contrary opinion." The absence of the islands of Western Port might have assured them. Mr. Hume had sought every information before starting. His fellow-explorer in New South Wales, Mr. Surveyor Meehan, had been with Mr. Grimes in his survey of Port Phillip in 1803, and had doubtless fought his battles over again with Mr. Hume.

       That the explorer's conception of Western Port was not altogether received at the time, is apparent in the criticisms of the Sydney press. The  Australian,  in an article written in January, 1823, extols the country to the skies, particularly with so magnificent a river. So sanguine is the editor as to the future of Western Port and Port Dalrymple, now Launceston of Tasmania, that he quite expects to live long enough to see " weekly steam-packets" plying between the two places.    The  Sydney

       Gazette^  of opposite politics to the  AvMralian,  has quite another opinion, saying, February 17th, 1825 :—

       "That Messrs. Hovell and Hume may have passed some fertile plains we do not attempt to deny—and indeed, who can ? But that they encountered the river spoken of in such modest terms by our contemporary, as well as * the beautiful tract of country near Western Port,* must be doubted, whilst the united authorities of Captain Murray, Barallein, and Tuckey go to establish the contrary opinion, in which they are supported by the Surveyor-General, who most laboriously investigated Western Port so far back as 1805." The conclusion of the writer was that "all idea of ever fixing a settlement at Western Port must be abandoned for at least another century."

       The  Sydney Morning Herald  noticing, on April 28th, 1873, the recent decease of Mr. Hume and the controversy which had taken place, made the following remarks :—" The reader will see tliat these counter statements may materially affect the historical value of the account which has been published by some friends of the late fellow-traveller of Mr. Hovell." Other expressions following, bearing the impress of a leaning against Hume, a reply was sent to the paper by one of Mr. Hoveirs own assistants, Thomas Boyd, now 85 years of age, who said:—

       " I was present with Mr. Hume when he discovered that river, and when  he  named it the Hume. . . . Captain Hovell is not entitled to be considered even a tolerable bushman, and Mr. Hume led him and the rest of us to Port Phillip and back again. . . . Only for the bush tact of the ' lent * servant, as I was termed in  Historical Statemenis,  Captain Hovell would have perished; and had anything happened to Mr. Hume, the sole chance of saving the party rested with your obedient serv^mt, Thomas Boyd."

       Mr. James Fitzgerald, of Glenlee House, near Campbelton, another of the 1824 party, had these remarks in the paper, May 12th, 1873:—

       " I do most emphatically endorse all that the late Mr. Hamilton Hume had reported about his fellow-explorer. As regards Captain Hovell*s statement of the crossing the river Hume, it is at variance with the fact. Mr. Hume got the wattles, made the raft, put a tarpaulin round, and then, with

       Boyd, crossed the river. As to whom the credit is due for successfully carrying out the expedition, I most unhesitatingly say that Mr. Hume was the leader, and that during the journey he was always in advance of the party, we following his guidance."

       It is evident that the press of the day gave that credit to Mr. Hume, who was regarded as the explorer  par excellence. Thus, in the  Gazette  of September 8th, 1825, is the following local: —

       " We are informed that it is the intention of that enterprising young man, Mr. Hamilton Hume, to make another tour into the interior the ensuing spring, to trace one of the most considerable streams of the Hume river, which our  Avstralian traveller crossed in his late journey to Bass's Straits, as he doubts that these streams meet one common fate, as stated in the  Sydney Gazette  and the  Attsiralian  a few weeks back."

       On the contrary, he and others fancied the river would go to the westward, and perhaps find an outlet as far as Spencer's Gulf, in the neighbourhood of the locality afterwards occupied by Adelaide. Hume was the man to go, and expected to go. One who styled himself ** An English Emigrant," wrote to the Sydney Monitor,  November 3rd, 1826, upon this question, saying:—

       " I am sorry to learn that Mr. Hume has not yet set out on the above-mentioned expedition, as I am strongly of opinion from the persevering manner in which he acted on his late tour to Bass's Straits, he would, if at all practicable, have fully ascertained the termination of Hume Eiver, whether it is the Lachlan Morass or otherwise."

       This impelled the explorer to break silence. He replied to the popular expectation. The following letter appeared in the Monitor,  and was dated from Appin, November 26th, 1826:—

       "On perusing one of the numbers of the  Monitor  a few days ago, I noticed the comments of ' An English Emigrant' respecting Hume River, the Gulf of St. Vincent, and several other bays and harbours on this coast. I now beg leave, Mr. Editor, to say that in my opinion I have performed journeys enough. It is true some persons have profited by my excursions into the interior; but, in general terms, I cannot say I have. In the year 1814, accompanied  by my brother, I discovered

       that tract of country now called ' Argyle.' I was also there in the years 1815 and 1816; and, in the year 1817, I accompanied Mr. Throsby on his first tour to that part of the country. In the year 1818 I again accompanied Mr. Throsby and the late Mr. Meehan. Mr. Meehan and myself discovered that beautiful lake, now called * Lake Bathurst,' and ' Goulbum Downs.' Some time after I conducted Mr. Throsby and Mr. Wm. McArthur to the same part of the country. In 1819 I was with Mr. Meehan on a tour along the coast from the Five Islands to Jervis Bay, and from thence across to Bong Bong; and in 1821 I went in the Government cutter  Snapper^  in company with Mr. Berry and Mr. Johnstone, on a survey along the coast as far as Mount Dromedary. It was my intention to have set out on a tour last summer for the purpose of tracing either Goulbum or Hume River, being of opinion those rivers must certainly have an outlet on some part of the western coast; but the expenses of fitting out those expeditions are more than my circumstances will allow, and on that account I relinquished the idea.

       " I am still strongly of opinion that those streams, at some future period, will prove to be the source of some occidental rivers yet unknown; it was also the opinion of our late Governor, Sir Thomas Brisbane, that some of the streams crossed by Mr. Hovell and myself on our journey in 1824 to Bass's Straits, emptied themselves into the Gulf of St. Vincent or thereabouts; and the last time I had the honour of seeing Sir Thomas, he expressed a wish that some person would endeavour to ascertain what really became of the waters running westward beyond the Morumbidgee, and between that river and Bass*s Straits.

       *' Hume River is in lat. 36° 20', and is distant from the eastern coast (Barmouth creek) in a due east and west line 150 miles. There is probably four times the quantity of water running in the Hume than there is in the Morumbidgee or Lachlan rivers. Goulbum River is in lat. 37*" 15', and distant from Wilson's Promontory in a northern direction about 100 miles; its course is north-west; the distance from the Goulbum to Port Phillip does not exceed 80 or 90 miles. Persons going across by land from Bass's Straits would find those rivers much easier crossed by keeping on the eastern side of the Snowy or White Mountains, but the entry in this direction is much higher and more broken than it is on the western side.

       "Hamilton Hume."

       One of the stoutest advocates of Hume's priority in the exploration of 1824, and of the man generally, wrote to the Yass Courier  of June 11th, 1872, as " Australian " :-^

       " Since I wrote last I have been reading Wood's  Australia, and  there   I  found  an   answer  to  my  questions.    When it

       first came out I was too much interested in the unfortunate * Burke and Wills' expedition, and the subsequent explorations in search of them, to look much at the first volume, which seemed old to me. What I read from' Kingsley' was simply an extract, but Wood states that both Sturt and Mitchell heard sounds resembling the firing of a gun or cannon at a long distance, but they were in the desert; no mention is made of Hume hearing a similar sound near the coast. I learn from the same author that the River Goulbum was named the ' Hovell/ but had previously been named the Qoulbum by Mr. Hume (he was always ahead of his party); it was changed, I suppose, to gratify his associate. But, as I said before, I think its present and first name much the pleasanter sounding. Wood is in error when he states that there were 'two leaders in that expedition,' and he is unjust to Hume when he places his name after Hovell's. Hume was sent for by Governor Brisbane, who had been recommended to him as a ' marvellous bushman,' to undertake the command of a party to be landed at Wilson's Promontory, to work their way overland to the settled districts. Hume refused, because he would not take the risk of dying on an uninhabited coast, which would have been the case had they failed to penetrate through the interior.

       " After some trouble and delay, Hume was solicited to choose his own route, which was to endeavour to pass from the settled districts to the Western Port; then, if he found the country too difl&cult for him, he could fall back on hi^ outward tracks. The only expense the Government would bear was to find the men (very different to the liberal scale upon which things were done in Melbourne in 1860). When all things were arranged, Hovell asked to be allowed to join the party, and through Oxley's influence he was associated with it; the Surveyor-General, believing him to be ' a retired sea captain,' thought he would be useful in taking the latitudes and longitudes. We all know that this was not done; and of what further use was he to the- expedition ? He was found in men, but, equally with Mr. Hume, had to provision himself and find his own cattle; but in what consisted his leadership ? Truth compels Mr. Wood to show that the success of the expedition was due to Hume, but he is unjust to Hume when he accuses him, equally with Hovell, of losing his temper at their first contact with the mountains. Hume never lost his temper or became discouraged—Hovell got frightened and wished to turn back; Hume insisted on going forward, and searched for a pass, which he found. Unpleasantnesses like this were always occurring; at every diflSculty Hovell was for returning, at the rivers as well as in the mountains. Either at the ' Hume' or ' Mittai,' I forget which, Hovell at first refused to cross, and they agreed to separate.

       "Over the division of the commissariat they had a small ' set-to/ Having only one fryingpan in the party, each wished to keep it, and in the struggle for possession they pulled the handle off. Hovell crossed later, but unfortunately at that time there were no blacksmiths in those parts to repair damages. Well, it is not quite forty-eight years ago! The fact was, Hovell desired fame, but when he joined he had no idea what the hardship and privation would be. No doubt he Buffered, perhaps much more than any other of the party. Hume was fearless, and being accustomed to it, knew what it was, and the men were cheered by the hope of freedom which had been promised to them if successful. If he had never set himself up in opposition to Hume, and had not striven to appropriate to himself Hume's merits, all his faults would have been passed over in silence, for Hume was too good-natured a man to take any pleasure in exposing the weaknesses of his associate.

       " Hovell wished the Governor to believe his instructions had been carried out to the letter, and the Governor did not believe in Port Phillip after its abandonment in 1804.   So Hovell's word was taken, but, as I said  in a former letter,  it delayed the colonization of Port Phillip for ten years.     When Wood wrote, he knew that Hume had been proved right and Hovell wrong in Port Phillip  versus  Western Port, but he gives Hume no credit.    Again, he does not give the true cause why they were obliged to abandon their attempt to penetrate the scrub near Mount Disappointment; the real reason was that Hume fell and severely staked himself.    One of the men, in speaking of it afterwards, said:  'When our leader got hurt, we got discouraged and disheartened, and af*ked to give it up.'    Probably Wood also knew that'Mitchell wrote to Hume, after his return from * Australia Felix,' complimenting Hume on his charts of 1824 being 'surprisingly correct,'yet he is silent upon it.  These details might have been inconsequential had not Hovell nearly been the means of robbing Hume of his merits as a successful explorer, and Mr. Wood enters into details of less consequence in other explorations.    Hume was  by no  means ignorant of surveying; he used to be a good deal with Oxley, and, if I mistake not, was out with him in one of his expeditions.    I do not know if any mention is made of it in any of the histories— possibly not, on account of his being a volunteer unconnected with the Government, as was the case when he went to the Darling with Sturt.    Here again Mr. Wood is scarcely fair to Mr. Hume, contrasting it with the great prominence he gives to Hovell in 1824, where the one was a hindrance and proved to be wrong, and the other was, by Sturt's own acknowledgment, of the greatest assistance, in the very small share  of credit

       he gives to Hume for the  success and safe  return of that expedition.

       '* Hume was an experienced bushman of many years' standing; that trip was made four years after the one to Port Phillip, and it was Sturt's first attempt, therefore he was totally inexperienced. Hume knew how to manage the natives and to search for water, and he knew the habits of the birds, which are the best guides to water, especially the waterfowl that take their flight after nightfall; and Sturt naturally relied on his experience—one may say truthfully, and Sturt himself, were he alive, would not deny it—that he received his first lesson in exploration from Hamilton Hume. But neither of them depended on that trip for their fame; were it blotted out, they would still stand before the exploration world as brave and determined men who had sacrificed their health for the benefit of the cause 1 Some may sneer and say * they liked it, or they never would have done it.' It is easy to say that of anything to which we ourselves are not equal. Nevertheless, we honour our great politicians, our barristers, engineers, architects, &c., and who may say we do wrong, yet they each must have * liked it,* or they could never have become great. But both Hume and Sturt were eminently modest men—Hume to a fault—who never pushed their claims beyond their merits; and I say, all honour to the men who have faced and struggled to overcome difficulties in an unknown country, either for the benefit of their fellow-man or for the cause of science, and if they die in the stniggle, whatever their faults may have been, 'peace be to their ashes.' But never was there an exploration made on the Australian continent with such grand results in so short a time, or with so little expense to the country, as the expedition to Port Phillip in 1824, under the command of Mr. Hamilton Hume.

       " Hoping that I have not exhausted your patience with my rather lengthy letter, I am, dear sir, yours faithfully,

       "Australian."

       Mr. Hume, though married, left no descendants. He departed this life in April, 1873, aged seventy-six years.

       The two explorers received some compensation for their toil, though far less than they expected, or even deserved. A grant of 1,200 acres, in that day, meant little more than 1,200 half-crowns. Both had gone to great expense in positive outlay, to say nothing of loss of time. Hume sold a fine new English plough, to add to his fund for exploration. We learn something more of their circumstances from a memorial presented by Captain Hovell, dated February 1st, 1837, in which he comes forward, like Oliver Twist, for  more.

       In this document he sets forth his arrival in 1813 with his family. Grants of land were then given in proportion to capital. He obtained 700 acres from Governor Macquarie, and 500 from Sir Thomas Brisbane. The cost to himself of the expedition in 1824 was 600/. His 1,200 acre grant, as he said, "sold at the price of a dollar per acre, barely remunerated his actual disbursements." And yet he proudly declared " That although at the time your memorialist's discoveries were lightly esteemed, his reports being generally regarded as fabulous or exaggerated, subsequent experience has abundantly confirmed their accuracy and importance." He then mentions the gift of 1,280 acres on account of his five months' exploration about Western Port in 1826. His application for a double portion, made the year after, was refused. He now asks for a " free grant of land to such an extent as may be deemed a fair equivalent for the services he has rendered to the public by his aforesaid expeditions."

       The interesting part of this memorial may be said to be in the information Mr. Hovell gives the Governor about other grants for services, and which he hoped might incline his Excellency to generosity in this particular case. He instances a grant of 10,000 acres to Kent, for the extraction of tanning matter from wattle bark; to Macarthur, Jones, and Riley 10,000 to 15,000 each, for improvements in wool; to Davis and Son, 30,000; to Captain Sturt, 6,000. He then adds a bit of private history in connection with the grants:—" To ladies," says he, " on their being married within the colony, it was for several years the custom of Government tp make free grants of land, suited to their station in society, as marriage portions, a privilege, however, which was denied to the daughter of your memorialist upon her marriage with Mr. William Bradley* a respectable and wealthy native of the colony, on the ground of the application being made a few days too late."

       Elsewhere the reader will see a fac-simile letter from Mr. Hamilton Hume to the author, with a portrait of the veteran explorer.

       \
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       induce them to visit it again."    It was, however, believed in

       CHAPTER IV.

       THE   WESTERN   PORT  SETTLEMENT.

       This  land of misrepresentation, described in a colonial paper of May, 1826, as "a country the finest ever seen," turned out to be no such paradise. As mentioned in a previous work by the author, "Parts clothed with verdure were found beds of sand; districts flowing with milk and honey were discovered to be pestiferous swamps, or waterless wastes; rivers with mouths thirty miles wide, sites for farms; and an enviable expanse disappear on approach, like the delusive mirage." Mr. Hovell's delightful  Iramoo Plains  and his charming  Geelong  were not to be seen near his Western Port. Grand ideas had been indulged as to the southern country, and already Sydney and its neighbourhood were held up to scorn by the Sydney press. The  Monitor, June 23rd, 1826, exclaimed, " We should not be surprised if it eventually turn out that we have been settled on the worst spot on the island."

       More than twenty years before, a settlement had been contemplated by Governor King. In fact, he sent Lieutenant Bobbins to report upon the best site. But that gentleman returned with the tale that Western Port had no land for cultivation. He ventured, however, to recommend the river ( Varra)  at the head of Port Phillip as a far better situation. Mr. Surveyor-General Oxley, that same year of 1804, had no good opinion of Western Port. He said that M. Peron, of the French Exploring Expedition, 1802, had a fancy for the place, and talked of making there another Pondicherry; but, observed Mr. Oxley, " I rather suspect they found nothing so very inviting as to induce them to visit it again."    It was, however, believed in

       1825 that the French had been reconsidering the matter, and had serious thoughts of forming a station there.

       The English have been smart enough to be ahead of their neighbours on several occasions. They seized the gateway of the Red Sea a few hours too soon for the French expedition on that errand. They landed a party at Akaroa of New Zealand only just in time before the French frigate entered the harbour with settlers. And no sooner was there any apprehension of Frenchmen coming to Western Port, forming a settlement on I'lsle des Fran9ais, now French Island, than the Governor was all astir to be first in the field.

       His Excellency could not feel the security of his position otherwise than by possession. It was easy, in after years, to tell a few adventurers from Van Diemen*s Land, seeking a home at Port Phillip, that they had no right there, and that the country was under the jurisdiction of New South Wales; but it was not so simple a matter to order away a company of Frenchmen, had they dropped upon the location. It was about that same time that a similar fear of the French induced the Sydney administrators to send oflf in a great hurry a party to take hold of Western Australia, in an occupation of King George's Sound, His Excellency, however, was discreet enough to remind his chief, Earl Bathurst, that " it would be difficult to contend or to satisfy any nation desirous of making a settlement on the western coast, that we have an indisputable right to the sovereignty of the whole territory." So it was resolved to take the wind out of the French sails by the presentation of that substantial argument— Here we are !

       But who could be got to go in such a hurry ? Who was to beat up for emigration recruits ? Filibusters were scarcely English as an institution. In a convict colony, and in an age of simple despotism, such a matter could be easily arranged. Soldiers could be sent with a party of convicts, and an English frigate could caiTy them thither. Captain Wetherall, of H.M.S. Fly^  received orders to convey the whole under the charge of Captain Wright of the  Buffs.  On November 18th, 1826, the vessel sailed from Port Jackson, and took sixteen days to reach the destined port, now to be gained by steam in little more than as many hours.

       At first they occupied Fort Dumaresq, on the east   end of

       Phillip or Western Island. Afterwards they fixed themselves, on December 12th, at a place two miles east of Red Point, not far from the site of Corinella township, nine miles from the other spot.

       But they found their settlement had been before settled. Those restless or energetic Van Diemen's Land people who, less than ten years after, gave the Sydney authorities so much trouble at Port Phillip, were already comfortably squatted in Western Port. It was not so easy to ignore the Port Phillip Association of gentlemen, but the company on French Island and its neighbourhood were only sealers. Some of them had police antecedents which would compel them rather hastily to shift their quarters. The others might stay if they liked. They were not mere reamers, though hardy sealers; for they had made permanent homes, with gardens. We read of one paddock having a couple of acres in wheat.

       The sealers, however, would not have been regarded by the French, had they come, as British residents. Even a party of convicts, so planted down, might not have been thought orthodox settlers. The Governor, contemplating the formation of a settlement by such exiles, had a wholesome fear that he might be taking too much upon himself by the transfer of prisoners so far from his seat of government. Anyhow, he contrived to have an Act passed, August 16th, 1826, which authorised him to despatch such persons, who were specially confided to his watch and care, to Port Macquarie, Moreton Bay, Norfolk Island, or even to Western Port. Thus was that assumed diflSculty surmounted, and all was  en regie,  Victoria, the proudest of the Australian colonies, seemed in this way doomed to have a convict origin. If Western Port colony, formed in 1826, had been continued, it would have been the mother land of the Port Phillip district, and have tarnished the glory of the Golden Land in many eyes.

       But the seeds of decay were conspicuous at the birth. Captain Wetherall, with the impulsiveness of a British sailor, and the ignorance of a non-agriculturist, had at first pronounced a most favourable opinion. ** Nothing/' reported he, " can surpass the beauty of the situation, or fertility of soil, on which the settlement is formed; water is plentiful." He was not wrong in writing: *'0f the climate too much cannot be said

       H

       in favour." Yet on the water question arose the manifest difficulty. There was no good water, and wells had to be sunk. The sealers gave hopes of a stream hidden behind a range of hills, and water was obtained from a marsh. But it was considered a grand discovery when the coal-beds of the district were revealed, and pleasant dreams were dreamed by some who saw a future Leeds or Sheffield rise upon those dark strata. As was very natural under the circumstances, the new-comers were anxious to get rid of the memory of French expeditions, and so they changed  Isle des Frangais  into Darling Island, after the name of the Governor. It is rather odd that the original appellation should return in the modem  French Island,

       The early trials are noticed in a letter to the  Australian  of Janusury 10th, 1827, from which a few particulars may be extracted. The letter was written by one on board the  Dragon, and is dated December 27th, 1826 :—

       "Captain Wetherall conjectured that he could discern inhabitants  {on thai Phillip IdaTid),  and Europeans apparently, too; nor was his conjecture unfounded. As the ships glided along the land, some men, dressed in seal-skins, and accompanied by a number of dogs, appeared along the shores, and shortly after the cheering view of several conical, rudely constructed, but possibly not the less commodious huts, half hid amongst the prolific honeysuckle, mimosa, and gaudy  axxtcim pendulce,  which had sprung up there and flourished unassisted, and probably as little regarded. Those people, it afterwards appeared, were a party of sealers. They had come over from Port Dalrymple (V.D.L.), and mustered seven in number. One or two spoke of having continued on the island for several preceding years. Some black native women, whom they had managed to carry oflF from the mainland, lived with them. It was round a point of the mainland, distant about nine miles N. and E. from the S.E. extreme of the island last spoken of, and N. two, or nearly so, from Fort Dumaresq, on Phillip Island, where the land appeared to be of the most luxuriant description, and from whence the eye might wander undisturbed and delighted over some of the most wild and fantastical, rich and unstudied scenes of natural loveliness to be found in any country, that the  New SeUlement  was determined to be formed. The shore at half flood is accessible to boats, and a small stream of fresh water runs at no great distance. The soil around the settlement for some miles is rich and productive. The timber, which is, indeed, in every part of the circumjacent country as

       yet explored, not of the most majestic kind, appears diversely scattered about in clumps, and extends in this manner, it is imagined, with little variation towards Bass's River, which discbarges itself among the flats to the southward of the settlement, but continues salt for six miles up from its entrance on the eastern shore of Western Port. Roads have been already cut, and wells sunk in several directions."

       After a further description of Phillip Island, the writer continues:—

       **That Messrs. Hume and Hovell (the latter of which gentlemen has accompanied the expedition, and intends, it is understood, penetrating across a distant range of lofty hills, stretching beyond the land to the northwaid of Tlsle des Fran^ais—^Darling Island now, by the by—into the district of Argyleshire, which he or they have been pleased to call " the Australian Alps ") never were at this particular inlet of Bass's Straits is no longer considered problematical, or even questionable ; their idea of the situation of the port and circumjacent country corresponding more nearly with that of Port Phillip, to the westward, than to Western Port. However, their error, mistake, or misapplication of names, whatever it may be termed, has perhaps led mainly towards the formation of a settlement at this very important position in Bass's Straits; important, whether considered, as it may at present be, in the light of a convenient harbour oflfering shelter and refreshment for shipping, or in process of time as likely to exhibit an agricultural or pastoral country, extending its communication with the increasing populous districts to the southward and westward of Sydney; and yet Western Port, though easy of access, and affording tolerably secure anchorage between Phillip Isle to the southward and I'lsle des Franqais to the northward, and between parts of the latter and the mainland, labours under natural disadvantages, though disadvantages which time and labour judiciously disposed may overcome.     The extensive mvd

       ^   Jlats  (which in every part, more or less, wind across its coasts,

       from Cape Schanck on the W., passing N. and E. beyond the nortnem shore of I'lsle des Francjais, or Darling Island, imtil they pass the settlement on the east side; and crossing the entrance to Bass's River, which continues salt for six miles up, and are lost before arriving at the east passage which separates Phillip Island from the main, and is fit only to be attempted by small vessels with a leading wind)  form a great and natural impediment to communication from the harbour, and must infinitely retard the march of discovery and imjrrove-

       ^   vient towards the interior.     The difficulty hitherto experienced
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       in not being able to procure good fresh water in any considerable quantity forms another very material disadvantage of Western Port."

       We thus see that the first published letter from the expedition to establish a settlement lays down those objections which compelled the Government to withdraw the people.

       Captain Wright, the Commandant, held not the optimist views of Captain Wetherall, writing on January 6th, 1827, these words to the Governor: " The very small quantity of good land in the neighbourhood of the settlement that I have been able to discover, and the sterile, swampy, and impenetrable nature of the country surrounding Western Port, to a great extent, lead me to believe that it does not possess suflScient capabilities for colonisation on a large scale." As some might say, that it would do very well as a place to which convicts may be drafted, as a relief to Sydney quarter. Captain Wright adds: "The situation is not favourable for a penal settlement," It was judged unsuitable to bond and free.

       Mr. Hovell, through whom it was located, was anxious to make the best of Western Port, and in no hurry to confess his mistake about the identity of Qeelong. By further exploration he hoped to open up a good back country. At any rate, he had no sympathy with the movement to abandon the project. " I am not able to judge," wrote he, March 27th," what quantity of land fit for location Western Port contains, but I think unless the influx  oifree  settlers is much greater than it has been there is sufficient for some years to come, without calculating upon the inexhaustible tract of fine country lying north of this, and to which there is an easy communication from Snapper River."

       In his report to Governor DarUng, in April, 1827, he said :—

       "All the information which has been hitherto given relative to Western Port has been in a very extraordinary degree either scanty or eiToneous. It was supposed that it had no good anchorage any\vhere but at a great distance from the shore; it is now found that vessels of two hundred tons can approach the spot selected for the establishment within a quarter of a mile. It was confidently reported there were no rivers; we now find that, exclusive of Bass's River, there are five rivers." After further mention of his own efforts to open up the country, the reporter judiciouly remarks : " Nor can I conclude   d

       without expressing my regret, poor as the fruits of my endeavours   j

       may be, that similar excursions had not been made on the occasion of the settling of Port Phillip (in 1803), in which event I do not doubt that the establishment of that place would never have been abandoned."

       True enough; but why, with such a conviction, did he not press the Government to undertake that needfiil excursion? Why did he not, when so near the spot, and when his own error had led to a selection of the wrong place, oflfer to examine the country about Geelong or the Iramoo Plains ? Hume was far away at Parramatta, indisposed, after the treatment received, to undertake another expedition; and Hovell would have reaped all the glory, becoming, as he doubtless would have done, the Founder of Port Phillip.

       It was not so to be. The convict establishment was not to be removed from Western Port to Hobson's Bay, or the Geelong Harbour.

       A correspondent of the  Asiatic Journal,  for 1827, wrote:—" It seems to be generally supposed, and indeed admitted, that Mr. Hovell was never at Western Port, and that the place he visited, and the description of which he gave for that of Western Port, was Port Phillip, to the westward of the former. Mr. Hovell accompanied the present expedition, and purposes to penetrate across a distant range of lofty hills, stretching beyond the land to the northward of Tlsle des Fran9ais (now Darling Island). But the range required the bush power and perseverance of an abler man than he before opening its gates into the better land beyond.

       Captain Hovell had induced the Governor to plant the settlement. His own report was accepted by the Governor as sufficient reason to abandon the whole affair.

       General Darling, April 6th, 1827, informed Downing Street that he wished for such a location '' as a means of facilitating the communications between this colony (N.S.W.) and Van Diemen's Land." But he was obliged to write: "Western Port does not possess the necessary requisites for a settlement. I have not found any disposition on the part of the inhabitants to settle in that pai-t of the country." He avowed his conviction that the reports of the place were decidedly unfavourable.

       The despatch of Lord Goderich, July 19th, 1827, relieved him  of all further  responsibility;  so  that he   was able  to

       announce it, December 24th, 1827, as "authorising me to withdraw the troops and persons employed to establish a settlement at Western Port in the event of Mr. Hovell's report not proving more favourable than that which Captain Wetherall has made." He was satisfied that it *' can only be useful when the settlement of the colony is so far extended to the southward (which cannot be the case for a very considerable period of time), as to render it desirable to have a port for the introduction of supplies for the settlers in that neighbourhood, and the exportation of their produce, instead of being subjected to the necessity of forwarding them overland to Sydney."

       The officers were glad enough to get orders to leave so unattractive a locality, so far from the pleasures of Sydney. The prisoners were glad enough to get away from so dull a place, and taste once more the enjoyments of town life. The few free settlers drawn thither by business expectations were in an equal hurry to be oflf from so disappointing a scene. The sealers, without doubt, were glad enough to be rid of the restraint of authority, that they might drop down to their old ways, and have no interference with their wild orgies, their lubra stealing, and the other advantages of a free existence.

       The official communication, telling the public of the new settlement being abandoned, is dated January 23rd, 1828:—

       "His Majesty's Government considering it inexpedient to continue the settlement at Western Port under present circumstances, I have the honour to inform you that the  Isabella (by which vessel this letter will be conveyed to you) proceeds thither for the purpose of removing the whole establishment."

       The Commandant of Port Dalrymple (Launceston) had thus the intimation that the live stock at Western Port would be forwarded to his care in Van Diemen's Land, but that the troops and the convicts were to be returned to Sydney. It deserves to be remembered that the stock sent from Western Port in 1828 to Northern Tasmania were, in all probability, the progenitors of some that were despatched from Launceston over the Straits to Port Phillip seven years afterwards.

       The Sydney  Atcstralian  of March 7th, 1828, thus notices the end of this ill-fated settlement:—

       "The settlement formed toward the beginning of the past year  at  Western  Port   is now  altogether   abandoned.    The

       Government vessel, the  Isabella,  has brought away every person lately settled there on the Government establishment. For some time previously the dryness of the season had rendered water extremely scarce; the fresh water rivulet, in the direction of the Battery Point, near which the settlement was in a course of formation, as well as a few inconsiderable lagoons in other directions, aflfording but a very scanty and uncertain supply."

       Thus ended the second attempt to colonise Port Phillip. Verily, the stars in their courses fought against it.

       It is right to say, however, that the attempts had been made by oflScials, and not by ordinary emigranta They had been under the auspices of Government, but with convict material. Other ventures of a similar kind have met with a like fate, ELing George's Sound settlement was abandoned, and the convicts were withdrawn to Sydney after a few months' absence from it. Port Macquarie, upon which so many thousands of British money had been expended, realised nothing as a permanent settlement. Norfolk Island, which had cost even more, was abandoned also; being now merely a retreat for Pitcaim Islanders. Moreton Bay, as a penal settlement, may seem to be an exception. But as long as it was a Government post, it flourished not. In all probability, upon the withdrawal of the convict establishment the whole would have caved in, and the place been deserted, had not enterprising stockmen taken up the Darling Downs, requiring a port for wool export and supplies at Moreton Bay.

       There was then something to be read between the lines in that final sentence of the article in the  Australian: —"We suspect that England might succeed with advantage where this colony has failed." That meant that Victoria would have to be established as a colony by freemen, free emigrants, to be a success.

       Yet an opportunity had been aflforded the New South Wales Government for giving prominence to their settlement at Western Port, by the infusion of that free blood which had raised both Sydney and Hobart Town to wealth and influence. But the jealousy of officialdom arrested the wheels of progress. The very presence of independent gentlemen, commanding capital, was obnoxious, as they might naturally find some fault with the administration of affairs, and so cause trouble to the
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       authorities. Another probable objection might lie in the fact that the application for land came from Van Diemen*s Land-Already, there had arisen no more good feeling between the island and the other colony, than between the Jews and Samaritans of old. The island had been a dependency of New South Wales, and its Lieutenant-Governor took rank under the Sydney magnate, as did the Lieutenant-Governor of Norfolk Island. All orders came from Sydney. All questions were referred to Sydney. All trials of oflFences in the island were conducted in Sydney. All duties and taxes raised there were sent to Sydney; and, as some thought, pretty much spent there.

       So long as Van Diemen's Land was without free emigrants, this state of affairs remained ; but when these came, and they were almost all men of some means and education, complaint was made. The voice of discontent was heard. The local press, bound as it was in those days, would protest against the wrong. A demand was made for local administration, local management of cash, local freedom of the dominion of Sydney. After many meetings, petitions, entreaties, and indignation efforts, the English Parliament yielded, and the independence of the island, though not complete, was proclaimed in 1825. Any application to Sydney, therefore, from Van Diemen's Land, was expected to be looked at askance, and more particularly so if the favour were sought by one belonging to the party that had shorn Sydney of some part of its official glory.

       The application for a favour from Sydney authorities, now to be noticed, bore the name of G. T. Gellibrand, one of the radical reformers of the period, and who had been the leader of revolt against the paternal rule of the Governor in Sydney.

       It may be said that the application was early, and before the authorities knew what to do, or while hesitating as to their movements. But dated on the 11th of January, 1827, just as the expedition had got to Western Port, after all arrangements had been made for a settlement, and before threatened evils had taken shape, the assumed plea for refusal was scarcely to be accepted as real. With any sincerity in the action of Government, any positive wish to make a  h(mA fide  settlement there, one cannot help astonishment at any delay in the acceptance of an offer which, to reasonable minds, appeared so advantageous

       Wilson^ Promontory t'rom^ (Hermit Island'.
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       to the embryo colony, unless private views interfered with such acceptance.

       The following memorial was addressed to the Governor-General Darling, from Launceston, January 11th, 1827:—

       "Understanding that it is your Excellency's intention to establish a permanent settlement at Western Port, and to afford encouragement to respectable persons to settle there, we beg leave most respectfully to solicit at the hands of your Excellency a grant of land at that place, proportionable to the property which we intend to embark.

       " We are in possession of some flocks of sheep, highly improved, some of the Merino breed, and others of the pure South Down; of some pure Devon cattle imported from England, and also of a fine breed of horses.

       "We propose to ship from this place 1,500 to 2,000 sheep, 30 head of superior cows, oxen, horses, &c., &c., to the valu^ of £4,000 to £5,000, the whole to be under the personal direction of Mr. Batman (who is a native of New South Wales), who will constantly reside for the protection of the establishment.

       " Under these circumstances we are induced to hope your Excellency will be pleased to grant to us a tract of land proportionable to the sum of money we propose to expend, and also to afibrd us every encouragement in carrying the proposed object into effect.

       " (Signed) G. T.  Gellibrand. "  John Batman."

       The memorial was respectfully worded; and, in case one name should be somewhat objectionable, on political grounds, though not on moral or social ones, the other name, John Batman, was set forth as belonging to one who was a native of New South Wales, and therefore more acceptable to the Governor of that territory.

       The advantages offered to the new settlement were just those of which it stood specially in need, and could not but commend themselves to those who had care of the Western Port scheme. Yet this was the reply from Mr. McLeay, the Colonial Secretary at Sydney, and dated as late as March 22nd, 1827:—

       '*  Gentlemen, —In reply to your letter of 11th January last, soliciting a grant of land at Western Port, I am directed by the Governor to inform you that no determination having been come to with respect to the settlement of that place, it is not in His Excellency's power to comply with your request."

       This letter of Mr. Secretary McLeay to Messrs. Gellibrand and Batman, so lacking in candour, if notcivility, may be compared with the more frank and polite answer returned to an application from another Van Diemen*s Land party, Mr. T. Smith of Hobart Town, on July 11th, 1826 :—" I am directed by the Governor to inform you that there is no intention at present of making a settlement at Western Port, but whenever there is, His Excellency  unll be disposed to consider your application"

       As no further notice was taken of the application of Messrs. Gellibrand and Batman, and there was no renewal of the same, both parties seem to have understood the position. From what we know of the energy of the applicants, we may conclude that had this application been accepted, a way would have opened for the carrying out of their enterprise. The heights that had repelled Mr. Hovell would not have daunted a better bushman, and a way would have been found to the fair plains of Iramoo, or to those rich pastures afterwards revealed to the north-east of Western Port. The settlement would have been made a success, though its head-quarters might have to be shifted to a more suitable harbour.

       It is not a little curious that Messrs. Gellibrand and Batman applied for the land at Western Port, and not Port Phillip. Did they credit the story accepted by Government, believed in by the Press, and practically acted upon, that Hume and Hovell's Geelong  was at Western Port ? It would appear so. And yet the protection of British rule, ignored by the same persons afterwards in their occupation of Port Phillip, may have induced them to take this first legal and available opportunity of getting on to the other side of the Straits. It was but a year after the overland expedition. The judgment of Captain Hovell had been preferred to the opinion of Mr. Hume upon the Bay question. There had been no time to verify the statement by settlement. Up to that moment, also, Mr. Batman had not revisited his native home at Parramatta, and heard from his fellow-townsman's lips that version of the tale which subsequently influenced him, and Mr. Gellibrand as well, in the adoption of the Port Phillip site.

       Some have thought that the application was rejected because a grant of land had been demanded proportionable to the sum

       invested. But that rule had been long in exercise, both in Van Diemen's Land and New South Wales proper. Men showed their dollars, their stock, or their stuff, and, according to the Talue of these, received a grant of waste land. The English (Government continued to act upon the usage even after the date of this application from Launceston. An illustration of this is afforded in the story of the colonization of Swan £iver, in Western Australia, about the same period.

       A memorial, dated November 4th, 1S28, was forwarded to H.M.'s Secretary, Sir George Murray, and was signed by Mr. Thomas Peel, Sir Francis Vincent, Colonel Macquean, Mr. Schenley, and others. It was a prayer for a grant of land on the western coast of New Holland, then wholly imoccupied by civilized man.

       The proposition was that the Government allow them land at the rate of eighteen pence an acre, to be paid for in the shipment of emigrants, to each adult male of whom they would give 200 Acres. Proposing to forward 10,000 persons within four years, and estimating the cost of these at 30/. a head, they wanted such outlay to be made up in acres. They stated certain objects in view; as, the supply of beef and pork to the navy, of horses to the East India Company's forces, with the growth of cotton and tobacco.

       The Government reply is dated December 5th, 1828. The aj^lication was to be entertained, but not on the same lines. Land should be allowed at the proposed rate, if passages of emigrants were paid by the company, but at  151,  a head, that is, 200 acres. An additional forty acres would be granted for every three pounds invested in stock, &c. On the faith of the company carrying out the project, a block of land containing 250,000 acres was to be set apart for them, though reverting to the Crown in case of nonfulfilment of terms within twenty-one years. The Ministry agreed on their part that no convicts should be sent to the Swan River. But they insisted upon the appointment of Captain Stirling as the Civil Superintendent. As he had been the surveyor of the place, and the promoter of the company, he was to receive a conditional grant of 100,000 acres. Beyond the 350,000 acres, the public would be permitted to buy of the Government any land they might require.

       According to the map in the Colonial Office, Captain Stirling

       would select 90,000 acres near Cape Naturaliste, and 10,000 on Buache Island, south of the mouth of the Swan. The company were to have their location from the south side of the Swan, and east of the Canning river, to the sea opposite Buache Island. They took up the country between the Darling range and the sea, and from the Swan river to Cockbum Sound.

       The non-acceptance of the original terms left Mr. Peel alone to undertake the settlement, as announced in his letter of January 28th, 1829. On his landing 400 emigrants, he was to be placed in possession of the first instalment of the  grarU.

       The Swan River Settlement was to be opened to the general public, on land apart &om that granted to the projectors of the colony, and on similar terms. The regulations, as determined in January, 1829, were the following:—

       "His Majesty's Government do not intend to incur any expense in conveying settlers to the new colony on the Swan River, and will not feel bound to defray the expense of supplying them with provisions or other necessaries aJter their amval there, nor to assist their removal to England or elsewhere, should they be desirous of quitting the colony.

       "Such persons as may arrive in that settlement before the end of the year 1830, will receive, in the order of their arrival, grants of land, free of quit-rent, proportioned to the capital which they may be prepared to invest in the improvement of the land, and of which capital they may be able to produce satisfactory proofs to the lieutenant-Govemor, or other officer administering the colonial government, or to any two officers of the local government appointed by the Lieutenant-Governor for that purpose, at the rate of forty acres for every sum of three pounds which they may be prepared so to invest/'

       There is no occasion to pursue the narrative. It is sufficient to show that the principle of making grants was recognised by the English Government later than the date of the application from Messrs. Gellibrand and Batman.

       Some other persons applied for land at Western Port. Captain Roberts was willing, in 1827, to accept of a grant at either Western Port or Port Phillip. Mr. T. R. WiUiams, of Tenby, asked for a free grant of " all that tract of waste, uninhabited land, lying around Port Phillip and Western Port up to latitude 30*, and fi*om longitude 143° to 146°." This modest demand for all the territory up to  the Murray River received scant

       courtesy from Government. The author was informed by an old settler that Messrs. Qray, Fielding and Forbes had made arrangements as early as 1824 to take over sheep from Van Diemen's Land to Western Port, but the removal of one of the parties to England frustrated the design.

       In Haydon's  AvMralia Felix  we read : " The original settlement (1826) must have consisted of nearly fifty houses and huts, and the remains of a dam across the creek was still to be seen; but the quantity of seaweed above it showed that at this time it was quite useless in preventing the salt water from mingUng with the fresh." In 1847 one clescribed the brick foundations of dwellings, the verandah posts of the Commandants house, and the stump of the flagstaff.

       CHAPTER V.

       CAPTAIN STURT ON THE MUBRAY.

       While  the expedition of Messrs. Hume and Hovell led to the attempted settlement at Western Port in 1826, that of Captain Sturt undoubtedly originated the settlement of South Australia, and the location of those fair hills seen by the explorer to the westward of the Murray mouth. But the influence upon the colonization of Port Phillip cannot be overlooked. Major Mitchell, whose tale of Australia Felix brought so many thousands from Britain to Melbourne, followed in the track of Captain Sturt to the Murray.

       Starting from Sydney in the middle of December, 1829, Mr. Charles Sturt, Captain in the 39th Regiment, followed down the Murrumbidgee till, on the 14th of January, 1830, he saw it ran into a river which he named the Murray, and which he found afterwards to receive the waters of the Darlinor discovered by him two or three years before. But he was not the first to gaze upon the Murray, as this was but the continuation of the stream crossed by Hume and Hovell in 1824.

       The official account of the interesting voyage, down the Murray and up again, was furnished by the leader in the following letter to the Colonial Secretary of New South Wales:—

       "  Banks of the Mobumbidgee,  April  20^ 1830.

       "  Sir, —The departure of Mr. George M'Leay for Sydney, who is anxious to proceed homewards as speedily as possible, affords me an earlier opportunity than would otherwise have presented itself by which to make you acquainted with the circumstance of my return, under the Divine protection, to the located districts ; and I do myself the honour of annexing a brief account of my proceedings since the last communication, for the information of

       His Excellency the (Jovernor, until such time as I shall have it in my power to give in a more detailed report.

       "On the 7th of January, agreeably to the arrangements which had been made, I proceeded down the Morumbidgee in the whale-boat with a complement of six hands, independent of myself and Mr. M'Leay, holding the skiflf in tow. The river, for several days, kept a general W.S.W. course; it altered little in appearance, nor did any material change take place in the country upon its banks. The alluvial flats had occasionally an increased breadth on either side of it, but the line of reeds was no where so extensive as from previous appearances I had been led to expect. About twelve miles from the dep6t we passed a large creek junction from the N.E., which, from its locality and from the circumstance of my having been upon it in the direction of them, I cannot but conclude originates in the marshes of the Lachlan.

       " On the 11th the Morumbidgee became much encumbered with fallen timber, and its current was at times so rapid that I was under considerable apprehension for the safety of the boats. The skiflf had been upset on the 8th, and, although I could not anticipate such an accident to the large boat, I feared she would receive some more serious and irremediable injury. On the 14th these diflBculties increased upon us; the channel of the river became more contracted, and its current more impetuous. We had no sooner cleared one reach than fresh and apparently insurmountable dangers presented themselves to us in the next. I really feared that every precaution would have proved unavailing against such multiplied embarrassments, and that, ere night, we ahiould have possessed only the wrecks of the expedition. From this state of anxiety, however, we were unexpectedly relieved by our arrival, at 2 P.M., at the termination of the Morumbidgee, from which we were launched into a broad and noble river flowing from E. to W. at the rate of two and a half knots per hour, over a clear and sandy bed of a medium width of from three to four hundred feet.

       " During the first stages of our journey upon this new river, which evidently had its rise in the mountains of the S.E., we made rapid progress to the W.N.W., through an unbroken and uninteresting country of equal sameqess of feature and of vegetation. On the 23rd, as the boats were proceeding down it, several hundreds of natives made their appearance upon the right bank, having assembled with premeditated purposes of violence. I was the more surprised at this show of hostility because we had passed on general friendly terms not only with those on the Morumbidgee, but of the new river. Now, however, emboldened by numbers, they seemed determined on making the first attack, and soon worked themselves into a state

       of frenzy by loud and vehement shouting. As I observed that the water was shoaling fast I kept in the middle of the stream, and, under an impression that it would be impossible for me to avoid a conflict, prepared for an obstinate resistance. But, at the very moment when, having arrived opposite to a large sandbank on which they had collected, the foremost of the blacks had already advanced into the water, and I only awaited their nearer approach to fire upon them, their impetuosity was restrained by the most unlooked-for and unexpected interference. They held back of a sudden, and allowed us to pass unmolested. The boat, however, almost immediately grounded on a shoal that stretched across the river, over which she was with some difficulty hauled into deeper water, when we found ourselves opposite to a large junction from the eastward, little inferior to the river itself. Had I been aware of this circumstance I should have been more anxious with regard to any rupture with the natives; and I was now happy to find that most of them had laid aside their weapons and had crossed the junction, it appearing that they had previously been on a tongue of land formed by the two streams. I therefore landed among them to satisfy their curiosity and to distribute a few presents before I proceeded up it. We were obliged to use the four oars to stem the current against us, but, as soon as we had passed the mouth, got into deeper water and found easier pulling. The parallel in which we struck it, and the direction from which it came, combined to assure me that this could be no other than the Darling. To the distance of two miles it retained a breadth of one hundred yards, and a depth of twelve feet. Its banks were covered with verdure, and the trees overhanging them were of finer and larger growth than those on the new river by which we had approached it. Its waters had a shade of green, and were more turbid than those of its neighbours, but they were perfectly sweet to the taste.

       " Having satisfied myself on those points on which I was most anxious, we returned to the junction to examine it more closely.

       " The angle formed by the Darling with the new river is so acute that neither can be said to be tributary to the other ; but more important circumstances, upon which it is impossible for me to dwell at the present moment, mark them as distinct rivers, which have been formed by Nature for the same purposes in remote and opposite parts of the island. Not having as yet given a name to the latter, I now availed myself of the opportunity of complying with the wishes of His Excellency the Governor, and, at the same time, in accordance with my own feelings as a soldier, I distinguished it by that of the * Murray.'

      

       " It had been my object to ascertain the decline of the vast plain through which the Murray flows, that I might judge of the probable fall of the waters of the interior, but by the most attentive observation I could not satisfy myself upon the point. The course of the Darling now confirmed my previous impression that it was to the south, which direction it was evident the Murray also, in the subsequent stages of our journey down it, struggled to preserve; from which it was thrown by a range of minor elevations into a more westerly one. We were carried as far as ISO** 40' of longitude, without descending below 34° in point of latitude; in consequence of which I expected that the river would ultimately discharge itself either into St. Vincent's Gulf or that of Spencer, more especially as lofty ranges were visible in the direction of them from the summit of the hills behind our camp on the 2nd of February, which I laid down as the coast line bounding them.

       " A few days prior to the 2nd of February we passed under some clitfs of partial volcanic origin, and had, immediately afterwards, entered a limestone country of the most singular formation. The river, although we had passed occasional rapids of the most dangerous kind, had maintained a sandy character from our first acquaintance with it to the limestone division. It now forced itself through a glen of that rock of half a mile in width, frequently striking precipices of more than two hundred feet perpendicular elevation, in which coral and fossil remains were plentifully embedded. On the 3rd of February it made away to the eastward of south, in reaches of from two to four miles in length. It gradually lost its sandy bed and became deep, still, and turbid; the glen expanded into a valley, and the alluvial flats, which had hitherto been of inconsiderable size, became proportionally extensive. The Murray increased in breadth to more than four hundred yards, with a depth of twenty feet of water close into the shore, and in fact formed itself into a safe and navigable stream for any vessels of the minor class. On the 6th the cliffs partially ceased, and on the 7th they gave place to undulating and picturesque hills, beneath which thousands of acres of the richest flats extended, covered, however, with reeds, and apparently subject to overflow at any unusual rise of the river.

       " It is remarkable that the view from the hills was always confined. We were apparently running parallel to a continuation of the ranges we had seen on the 2nd, but they were seldom visible. The country generally seemed darkly wooded, and had occasional swells upon it, but it was one of no promise; the timber, chiefly box and pine, being of a poor growth, and its vegetation languid. On the 8th the hills upon the left wore a bleak appearance, and the few trees upon them were cut down

       I

       as by the prevailing winds. At noon we could not observe any land at the extremity of a reach we had just entered; some gentle hills still continued to form the left bank of the river, but the right was hid from us by high reeds. I consequently landed to survey the country from the nearest eminence, and found that we were just about to enter an extensive lake which stretched away to the S.W., the line of water meeting in the horizon in that direction. Some tolerably lofty ranges were visible to the westward at the distance of forty miles, beneath which that shore was lost in haze—^a hill, which I prejudged to be Mount Lofty, bearing by compass S. 141** W, More to the northward the coimtry was low, and unbacked by any elevations. A bold promontory, which projected into the lake at the distance of seven leagues, ejided the view to the south along the eastern shore; between which and the river the land also declined. The prospect altogether was extremelv gratifying, and the lake appeared to be a fitting reservoir K)r the whole stream which had led us to it.

       " In the evening we  passed the  entrance;  but a strong southerly wind heading us, we did not gain more than nine miles.    In the morning it shifted to the N.E., when we stood out for the promontory on a S.S.W. course.    At noon we were abreast of it,  when a line of sand hummocks was a-head, scarcely visible in consequence of the great refraction about them;  but an open sea behind us from the N.N.W. to the N.N.E. points of the compass.   A meridian altitude, observed here, placed us in 35° 25' 15" S. lat.     At 1, I changed our course a little to the westward, and at 4 P.M. entered an arm of the lake leading W.S.W.    On the point, at the entrance, some natives had assembled, but I could not communicate with them.    They were both painted and armed, and evidently intended to resist our landing.    Wishing, however, to gain some information from them, I proceeded a short distance below their haunt and landed for the night, in hopes that, seeing us peaceably disposed, they would have approached the tents; but as they kept aloof we continued our journey in the morning.    The water, which had risen ten inches during the night, had fallen again in the same proportion, and we were stopped by shoals shortly after starting.   In hopes that the return of tide would have enabled  us to float over them, we waited for it very patiently, but were ultimately obliged to drag the boat across a mud-flat of more than a quarter of a mile into deeper water; but, after a run of about twenty minutes, were again checked by sand-banks.    My endeavours to push beyond a certain point were unsuccessful, and I was at length under the necessity of landing upon the south shore for the night.    Some small hummocks were behind us, on the other side of which I had seen

       the ocean from our morning's position; and whilst the men were pitching the tents, walked over them in company with Mr. M'Leay, to the sea-shore, having struck the coast at Encounter Bay, Cape Jarvoise, bearing by compass S. 81** W., distant between three and four leagues, and Kangaroo Island, S.E. extremity S. 60** W., distant from nine to ten. Thirty-two days had elapsed since we left the dep6t, and I regretted, in this stage of our journey, that I could not with prudence remain an hour longer on the coast than was necessary for me to determine the exit of the lake.

       " From the angle of the channel on which we were, a bright sand-hill was visible at about nine miles distance to the E.S.E., which it struck me was the eastern side of the passage communicating with the ocean. Having failed in our attempts to 1)roceed further in the boat, and the appearance of the shoals at ow water having convinced me of the impracticability of it, I determined on an excursion along the sea-shore to the southward and eastward, in anxious hopes that it would be a short one; for as we had had a series of winds from the S.W., which had now changed to the opposite quarter, I feared we should have to pull across the lake on our way homewarda I left the camp, therefore, at an early hour, in company with Mr. M'Leay and Eraser, and at daybreak arrived opposite to the sand-bank I have mentioned. Between us and it the entrance into the back-water ran. The passage is at all periods of the tide rather more than a quarter of a mile in width, and is of sufficient depth for a boat to enter, especially on the off-side; but a line of dangerous breakers in the bay will always prevent an approach to it from the sea, except in the calmest weather, whilst the bay itself will always be a hazardous place for any vessels to enter under any circumstances.

       "Having, however, satisfactorily concluded our pursuit, we retraced our steps to the camp, and again took the following bearii^ as we left the beach, the strand trending E.S.E. | E.:—

       Kangaroo Island, S.E.  ansle     S.   60** W.

       Low rocky point of Cape Jarvoise         S.   SI** W,

       Bound hill in centre of range        8. 164'W.

       Camp, distant one mile     S. 171** W.

       Mount Lofty, distant forty miles     IT.    9"^ £.

       Before setting sail, a bottle was deposited, between four and five feet deep, in a mound of soft earth and shells, dose to the spot on which the tent had stood, which contained a paper of the names of the party, together with a simple detail of our arrival and departure. It appeared that the good fortune which had hitherto attended us was still to continue, for the wind which had been contrary, chopped round to the S.W., and ere sunset we were again in the mouth of the river, having run from fifty
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       to sixty miles under as much canvas as the boat would bear, and with a heavy swell during the greater part of the day,

       " The lake which has thus terminated our journey is from fifty to sixty miles in length, and from thirty to forty in width. With such an expanse of water, I am correct in stating its medium depth at four feet. There is a large bight in it to the S.E., and a beautiful and extensive bay to the N.W. At about seven miles from the mouth of the river its waters are brackish, and at twenty-one miles they are quite salt, whilst seals frequent the lower parts. Considering this lake to be of suflScient importance, and in anticipation that its shores will, during her reign, if not at an early period, be peopled by some portion of her subjects, I have called it, in well-meant loyalty, ' The Lake Alexandrina.'

       ** It is remarkable that the Murray has few tributaries below the Darling. It receives one, however, of considerable importance from the S.E, to which I have given the name of the * Lindesay,' as a mark of respect to my commanding officer, and in remembrance of the many acts of kindness I have received at his hands.

       "Having dwelt particularly on the nature of the country through which the expedition has passed in the pages of my journal, it may be unnecessary for me to enter into any description of it in this place, further than to observe that the limestone continued down to the very coast, and that although the country in the neighbourhood of the Lake Alexandrina must, from local circumstances, be rich in point of soil, the timber upon it is of stunted size, and that it appears to have suffered from, drought, though not to the same extent with the eastern coast It is evident, however, that ii^ vicinity to high lands does not altogether exempt it from such periodical visitations; still I have no doubt that my observations upon it will convince His Excellency the Governor that it is well worthy of a closer and more attentive examination than I had it in my power to make.

       " In a geographical point of view, I am happy to believe that the result of this expedition has been conclusive; and that, combined with the late one, it has thrown much light upon the nature of the interior of the vast island; that the decline of waters, as far as the parallel of 139** E., is to the south, and that the Darling is to the N.E., as the Mun*ay is to the S.E. angle of the coast, the main channel by which the waters of the central ranges are thrown or discharged into one great reservoir.

       " Our journey homewards was only remarkable for its labour. In conclusion, therefore, it only remains for me to add that we reached the dep&t on the 23rd of March. Our sugar failed us on the 18th of February, and our salt provisions, in consequence

       of the accident which happened to the skiff on the 8th of March; so that from the above period we were living on a reduced ration of flour; and as we took few fish, and were generally unsuccessful with our guns, the men had seldom more than their bread to eat. I regretted to observe that they were daily falling off, and that although unremitting in their exertions, they were well-nigh exhausted ere we reached the Morumbidgee.

       " We were from sunrise to five o'clock on the water, and from the day that we left the depot to that of our return we never rested upon our oars. We were thirty-nine days gaining the dep6t from the coast, against a strong current in both rivers, being seven more than it took us to go down. From the depot to this station we had seventeen days' hard pulling, makmg a total of eighty-eight, during which time we could not have travelled over less than 2,000 miles. I was under the necessity of stopping short on the 10th instant, and of detaching two men for the drays, which happily arrived on the 17th, on which day our stock of flour failed us. Had I not adopted this plan, the men would have become too weak to have pulled up to Ponde-badgery, and we should no doubt have suffered some privations.

       " This detail will, I am sure, speak more in favour of the men composing the party than anything I can say. I would most respectfufly recommend them all to His Excellency's notice; and I beg to assure him that, during the whole of this arduous journey, they were cheerful, zealous, and obedient. They had many harassing duties to perform, and their patience and temper were often put to severe trials by the natives, of whom we could not have seen fewer than 4,000 on the Murray alone.

       " I am to refer His Excellency the Governor to Mr. M'Leay for any more immediate information he may require, to whom I stand indebted on many points, and not less in the anxiety he evinced for the success of the undertaking than in the promptitude with which he assisted in the labours attendant on our return, and his uniform kindness to the men.

       " I have the honour to subscribe myself, Sir,

       " Your most obedient humble Servant, "  Charles Sturt,

       **  Captain of the Z9th Regiment, "The Hon. the Colonial Secretary."

       In his work, subsequently published in London, he has this story of the Murray discovery :—

       " On a sudden the river (Morumbidgee) took a general southern direction, but in its tortuous course swept round to every point of the compass with the greatest irregularity.    We

       were carried at a fearful rate dowa its gloomy and contracted banks, and, in such a moment of excitement, had little time to pay attention to the country through which we were passing. It was, however, observed that chalybeate springs were numerous close to the water's edge. At 3 P.M. Hopkinson called out that we were approaching a junction, and in less than a minute afterwards we were hurried into a broad and noble river.

       " It is impossible for me to describe the effect of so instantaneous a change of circumstances upon us. The boats were allowed to drift along at pleasure, and such was the force with which we shot out of the Morumbidgee that we were carried nearly to the bank opposite its embouchure, whilst we continued to gaze in silent astonishment on the capacious channel we had entered; and when we looked for that by which we had been led into it, we could hardly believe that the insignificant gap that presented itself to us was indeed the termination of the beautiful and noble stream whose course we had thus successfully followed.

       "To myself, personally, the discovery of this stream was a circumstance of a particularly gratifying nature, since it not only confirmed the justness of my opinion as to the ultimate fete of the Morumbidgee, and bore me out in the apparently rash and hasty step I had taken at the depdt, but assured me of ultimate success in the duty I had to perform. We had got on the high road, as it were, either to the south coast or to some important outlet, and the appearance of the river itself was such as to justify our most sanguine expectations. T could not doubt its being the great channel of the streams from the south-east angle of the island. Mr. Hume mentioned to me that he crossed three very considerable streams, when employed with Mr. Hovell in 1823 (1824), in penetrating towards Port Phillip, to which the names of the Groulbum, the Hume, and the Ovens, have been given; and as I was 300 miles from the track these gentlemen had pursued, I considered it more than probable that these rivers must already have formed a junction above me, more especially when I reflected that the convexity of the mountains to the south-east would necessarily direct the waters falling inwards from them to a common centre.

       " The opinion I have expressed, and which is founded on my personal experience, that the rivers crossed by Messrs. Hovell and Hume had already united above me, was strengthened by the capacity of the stream we had just discovered. It had a medium width of 350 feet, with a depth of from 12 to 20 : its reaches were from half to three quarters of a mile in length, and the views upon it were splendid."  ..."  I laid it down as the Murray River, in compliment to the distinguished officer, Sir George Murray, who then presided over the Colonial Department."

       For this notable work the gallant traveller received the grant of 5,000 acres, then only worth five shillings an acre.

       In an evening spent by the author in Captain Sturt's home, among vines and flowers, near Adelaide, in 1850, it was pleasant to hear the Murray tale from the lips of the worthy man, then almost blind from his terrible sufferings five years before in Central Australia. But that which especially moved the listener was the declaration of this Hero of Discovery, in the presence of his wife and children, while a smile rested upon his expressive and even beautiful countenance, that after his many years of exploration in the Australian wilds, exposed to so many dangers, not a native man, woman, or child, had ever suffered harm from him or any of those under his command. With judgment and courage as a man, he had the tenderness and sympathy of a woman, the honour and piety of a Christian.

       CHAPTER VI.

       PORTLAND BAY SETTLEMENT IN 1834.

       When  Mr. Wedge, the siirveyor, visited Portland Bay, in August, 1835, he found, as his sketches prove to us, a permanent location. There were sheep grazing in the pastures, when not a bleater appeared at Port Phillip; and several whale-fishing stations were seen there, when not an industry had been established at the other bay.

       This priority, by a year, has led many to call the enterprise of the Messrs. Henty at Portland Bay the premier settlement of the colony of Port Phillip. It must, however, be remembered that then Port Phillip had but one meaning—the country about the bay of that name. The boundaries of Port Phillip district were not determined for some time after Melbourne was settled; Portland and Port Fairy were then independent and outside locations of adventurers.

    

  
    
       But Portland Bay was not the first settlement of Port Phillip, nor were the Messrs. Henty the first occupants of that bay. Sealers had been established on different parts of the coast and islands long before, erecting permanent dwellings and cultivating the soil. South Australian men date not the rise of their colony from the whalers and sealers of Kangaroo Island. Neither did Port Phillipians regard Portland Bay settlers as the originators of their colony. The selection of a place for the carrying out of a private enterprise, as that at Portland Bay, exercised no influence in the colonisation of the country. Men knew of it, but went not to it. It attracted no attention, aroused no inquiry, provoked no followers.

       How different were the circumstances at Port Phillip! Batman
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       went to explore, and to report. He saw, and told the tale. He gave wings to his story of the good land by an official paper. As he shouted aloud the news in Fawkner*s Launceston Hotel, on his return, so did he everywhere extol this land of promise. His report was true, and found to be so. Instead, therefore, of one or two isolated spots being occupied, as at Portland Bay and Port Fairy, there came an immediate precipitation of people at Port Phillip, and of a number and character of population which compelled unwilling authorities to recognise the feu^t, and constitute a colony.

       The Messrs. Henty had undoubtedly the honour of being among the first permanent occupiers of land, which ultimately became included within the territory of Port Phillip, but neither they nor others settling in the western parts could be deemed the founders of the colony of Port Phillip. Buckley was an older settler than any, but his presence drew no companions of his race. The banks of the Yarra, like the banks of the Torrena, became the true radiating points for settlement.

       Yet, while not deeming the Messrs. Henty the fathers of Port Phillip, we willingly accord to them the full merit of their bold deeds. It was a brave thing to do, that of fixing a home on so lonesome a part of the coast, though it had been known and peopled before. Their organisation was not only more complete than that of others, but it was more avowedly carried on for a settlement, and not as a mere temporary hoisting of sheds for whaling purposes. Fishing was undoubtedly their main object; but they had an eye to cultivation, and a determination to utilise the pasture.

       More than this,—they gave a proof of their intentions by their correspondence with government. They wanted land on this coast, and applied for it. Though they excited official displeasure by occupying without waiting for official permission, they evidenced by that act their sincerity of profession. When, ultimately, notice was taken of them, it was long after their removal thither; and it is most probable that not much notice would have been taken at all had not the  rusk  to Port Phillip brought them within the sphere of official observation.

       Altogether, the circumstances attending this Portland Bay occupancy are most interesting, and the more so as they are seen in the light of subsequent affairs at Melbourne.

       When Mr. Fawkner in 1866 was claiming the right of being called the oldest inhabitant, from his coming to Port Phillip in 1803, and the oldest colonist, from his dwelling beside the Yarra in 1835, Mr. Edward Henty wrote thus to the  Hamilton Spectator,  December, 1866 :—

       " It is capable of positive proof, from existing printed records, that on the 19th of November, 1834,1 arrived in Portland Bay, and, as I have before stated, was living in my own house at that settlement long before Mr. Fawkner commenced to build his so-called first house in Melbourne."

       The Henty family were of respectable origin in Sussex. The father, in his Memorial, discourses of his private affairs. His seven sons were worthy of their energetic sire, leaving their mark in Western Australia, Van Diemen's Land, Portland, and Melbourne. The colonies were the better for their coming; for perhaps no family of emigrants did better service for themselves and society. They were Sauls in their day, head and shoulders over their compeers.

       Father and sons came out among the herd of deluded ones to the Swan Kiver. Government threw open the land there in the most reckless way, in liberal acreage for every pound of cash or goods displayed. There were soon more landowners than toilers, and a fearful collapse, unknown in any other colony, crushed the buoyant hopes of the settlers. Affairs must have come to a sad state when the Governor, January 10th, 1834, issued this Proclamation:—

       "Whereas, the amount of specie at present in the public chest is not sufficient for the immediate exigencies of the public service; and it has consequently become necessary to substitute a paper currency," &c.

       All who could escape left the ill-fated Swan, It has been our lot to faU in with a number of such unfortunates, especially in Van Diemen's Land, to which so many fled, as to a harbour of refuge in the storm. Among these came the Henty family^ establishing a new home in Launceston. But the dull, tame life there, or the associations of a penal settlement, indisposed them to remain. They loved the freedom of the wild bush, and had the noble ambition, worthy of Elizabethan days, of founding  an  independent home  a£Gur from   civilised haunts.

       On the voyage from the Swan, they cruised along the shore, landing here and there on the way, forestalling in such visits both the South Australian and the Victorian. In Port Lincoln and Kangaroo Island, by the mouth of the Murray and Qlenelg> and beside the waters of Portland Bay and Port Fairy, not less than on King's Island, would they have found rude settlers of the whaling and sealing order, dwelling without law, and with few proprieties. Several of these localities offered inducements for their own stay, though Portland Bay, even then a great resort for whalers, presented most attractions.

       But they knew that such wild inhabitants contemplated no permanent occupation, for they held no legal title to their land. The Messrs. Henty, who had removed from England to establish themselves for life in new homes across the seas, sought some fixed tenure in the country they should select, if only for the safety of the capital they invested. The earth hunger which had sent them abroad was still unsatisfied. They left the sterile wastes of Western Australia, believing they could have free grants in a more settled colony. Arrived at Launceston^ they discovered to their dismay that the door of free grants had just closed. They sought, therefore, the like privilege or an easy purchase on another shore, supposed to be claimed by England.

       The appeal to the British Qovemment is one of the most sensible and manly ever presented. The story of their misfortunes at the Swan is first told. Their observation of the southern shore of New Holland is then described. The desire of settlement somewhere on that uninhabited coast is expressed. They had not fixed upon the locality, but it was to be somewhere between where Adelaide and Melbourne now are. The Land Laws having stopped free grants, and ordained purchase at five shillings an acre, the Hentys ask permission to appropriate on such terms 2,500 acres. Under the special circumstances of a new land, they required, on five per cent, deposit, ten years' time on interest for the payment of the balance. They wanted no other favour. They would put the State to no expense for their protection.

       They had precedents for and against their plea. Private adventurers had been allowed by the Home Government even more favourable terms at Swan River. But the application of Messrs. Gellibrsmd and Batman for land at Western Port had

       been refiisei At Swan River, too, the State undertook supervision, and consented to contract responsibilities. The Messrs. Henty, on the contrary, thought to facilitate their operations by letting the Government feel free from any engagements with them. It was a novel application, and one that our Government, recognising the interests of any of its subjects, could not possibly consent to.

       It is true that even then negotiations had begun between the Colonial OflSce and a certain Association that designed a settlement in South Australia, and the British right to that region was thus acknowledged. But to grant privileges to a powerful organisation like that, acting under State authority and control, with a governor appointed by the Crown, was very diflferent from an allowance of purchase to individuals without that authority and control. The possibility must be faced of hundreds or thousands of similar applications for purchase, and where no jurisdiction did or could exist. To grant the right to buy land necessarily presupposes a judicial rule in the district so exposed for sale.

       The applicants must have foreseen the fate of the Memorial, as they waited for no answer to it, but took measures to  squat upon the land. Others had done the same before them, though not upon the scale they were prepared to do. They trusted to the chances of the future. They might be let alone for years, and have all that time free grass for their stock, paying no rent for their homesteads. They would gather their harvest by sea and land so long as they were undisturbed. If by any then unlooked-for circumstance the country in which they had located themselves should become a colony, they would be in possession of the best places, and be the better prepared to buy when lands were exposed for sale.

       They delayed no more. The father sent out from Launceston two of his sons, equipping them for a whaling establishment in the first place, and afterwards sending stock for wool-growing.

       But we turn now to the Memorial of Thomas Henty, once banker at West Farring, in Sussex, to Mr. Stanley, Secretary of State, which shows—

       " That your Memorialist, having a family of seven sons, the youngest of whom is nineteen years of age, was induced to part

       with his landed property in England and emigrate to Van Diemen s Land, on the expectation of obtaining land under the regulations which existed in 1830. On his arrival here, he found that the new system of selling lands had in a great measure deprived him of the means of providing for his sons in the manner he expected and was prepared to do.

       " Your Memorialist, having thus been shut out of land by the operation of the present regulations, has been compelled to hire land in the colony at an exorbitant rent, and is now not so well off as he was in England, simply &om the effect of the Land Regulations at present in force.

       . " Your Memorialist, having also suffered most severe and unexpected losses at Swan River, humbly submits that the proposition he now makes may receive the favourable consideration of His Majesty's Government, more especially as it is founded upon the principle of selling land which is now invariably adopted in the colonies.

       " Your Memorialist, with the aid of his sons, has made several excursions on the south coast of New Holland altogether apart from the settled part of the country. During these periodical visits they have found out islands, rivers, headlands, and made various other geographical discoveries which have not been laid down in any chart or map hitherto published; he has also ascertained that many parts of the south coast are faced with land to a considerable extent well calculated for sheep, a great portion of which your Memorialist conceives can be made available by industrious settlers. With this opinion, both himself and his sons are desirous of settling on some portion of this country; and without asking or requiring any protection from the Government, or causing it to incur any expense whatever, propose that himself and each of his sons be permitted to purchase from Government two thousand five hundred acres of land (2,500), at five shillings an acre, such land to be selected by themselves between the parallels of 135 and 145 degrees east longitude, under such restrictions as may be thought necessary. That, being the first to settle in the country, greater expenses and greater difficulties will have to be encountered which will deprive them of a certain portion of their capital, and this capital they will require to enable them to bring the land into profitable cultivation.     On these grounds they ask, on the

       Eayment of a deposit of five per cent., they be permitted to ave a credit of ten years to pay the remainder of the purchase-money, to be secured by mortgage on the land, bearing interest at five per cent.

       '^  " Your Memorialist respectfully begs further to state that in forming settlements in these colonies the settler and aborigines have generally come into hostile collision, and mutual acts of

       aggression have been the consequence. In this respect your Memorialist feels himself perfectly safe, four of his sons having had considerable experience in the management and treatment of the natives at Swan River and King George's Sound, at which latter place they are better managed and under better control than in most others.

       " A son of your Memorialist was living within three miles of the settlement at King George's Sound between one and five years, in the midst of whole tribes of aborigines totally unprotected, and such was the good feeling kept up between them that no instance of misconduct occurred among them; they were taught to labour for and earn the food with which they were occasionally supplied.

       "The experience thus gained he hopes will be considered sufficient guarantee that the same system can be pursued in other places, and thus, by proper management, the views of His Majesty's Government in establishing a firiendly intercourse and mutual good feeling with the aborigines on the south coast may be facilitated.

       ** Your Memorialist begs further to state that he has an order for land in the colony of Western Australia to the extent of 80,000 acres, and which, should the proposition now submitted be acceded to, he will at once abanaon; which will show that the object of your Memorialist is not to become a land-jobber, but a real and  bond-fde  settler.

       " Your Memorialist's eldest son is on the point of proceeding to England, and will have the honour to lay before His Majesty's Government such information as he may possess respecting the South Coast of New Holland.

       " Your Memorialist, as in duty bound, will ever pray, etc.

       "(Signed)        Thomas Hentt.

       " G. J.  Henty."

       This is dated February 17th, 1834, seven years after Batman, with Mr. Gellibrand, had applied to settle at Western Port* Mr. Henty has associated his eldest son, G. J. Henty, in this Memorial. But his sons Edward and Francis, with other brothers following, set off for Portland Bay from Launceston in October, arriving at the bay on November 19th, seven months before Batman's visit to Port Phillip.

       Before they went, extensive fishing establishments had been formed there, as at other points along the south coast of New Holland, and at various ports in New Zealand.    The  Launceston

       Advertiser  for July 31, has a reference to the locality afterwards adopted by the Messrs. Henty, saying: —

       *'The parties stationed at Portland Bay have this season (1834) been very successful. Mr. Griffiths' schooner,  Elizahethy arrived from the station on Monday last with a few tuns of oil, and brings us the news of a great success of the fishery. Mr. Sinclair's party have killed thirty-six fish, and Messrs. Hewitt and Co.'s., twenty-five fish."

       Subsequently the name of Henty appears in the colonial record.   Thus, we read in the  Advertiser  of May 5, 1836 :—

       "The bay whaling at Portland Bay and Port Faiiy has commenced with every prospect of a successful season. The whaling parties from this port at those stations, we understand, are those of Messrs. Hewitt and Co., Henty's, and John Griffiths, who employ in the trade this year upwards of 100 expert hands."

       Who was the first settler at Portland Bay it is not easy to determine. It was well frequented even before its supposed discovery in 1802. Whaler's Point and Single Comer were well recognised in early days. But the first settler known to history was Mr. William Button, who, after going to Portland Bay occasionally as a whaler, permanently established his quarters there, erecting a house in July, 1829, and forming a garden. But, without doubt, all other establishments were insignificant compared with that one of the Hentys, eclipsing, if not supplanting, the rest, as exhibited in the records of Major Mitchell, and the sketches by Mr. Wedge.

       Arden's history acknowledges the progress made. We read that" 700 tuns of oil had been exported from Portland during the season preceding his (Mitcheirs) visit, and the shipping employed for this purpose was freighted with return cargoes of sheep from Launceston." But Kaby and Penny had a whaling station at Port Fairy before Henty was at Portland.

       It is not a little singular that Mr. Robinson, the so-called Pacificator of the Tasmanians, wanted to remove his establishment of natives on Flinder's Island to Portland Bay. He desired better hunting-ground for his sable friends, and he believed that their removal to the south shore of New Holland, and especially to the  No MarCs Land  of Portland Bay, would be of great

       use to the aborigines there. His own blacks had been partially civiUsed and Christianised, and might lead the New Hollanders from savagedom. Governor Arthur, in a despatch to Mr. Spring Rice in January, 1835, warmly recommended the proposal.

       Mr. Edward Henty, in a letter to the  Melbourne Herald, November, 1866, gives the following statement:—

       •' In a letter to the  Herald  of the 19th ult., I observe that the Hon. J. P. Fawkner, in alluding to the early settlement of Victoria, assumes to himself the position of a pioneer, or first settler, and states that in October, 1835, he was busy erecting on the present site of Melbourne a house for himself, which he aflBrms ' was the only house to be found in Melbourne or in Port Phillip, since called Australia Felix, or later still, Victoria.' There is no doubt in my mind that the memory of the hon. gentleman begins to fail; but, had he kept a journal, and referred to it, he must have known that in a newspaper published in Launceston, Tasmania, in October, 1834, a full description was given of my departure from Launceston, bound for Portland Bay in the schooner  ThistUy  Liddle, master, with live stock, labouring men, farm implements, vines, fruit trees, seeds, &c., and every requisite for carrying on agricultural and pastoral pursuits. I arrived in Portland Bay on the 19th of November, 1834, and immediately commenced to cultivate the land, and built a house, Richmond Cottage, which is well known, and is still standing. Therefore, when the Hon. John was busy building for himself a house in Melbourne, I and my brother Francis had been comfortably domiciled in our own house for nearly twelve months; and, having finished shearing, were then preparing to reap our first harvest on the present site of the town of Portland."

       Major Mitchell, in his Overland Journey in 1835-36, came to Portland Bay. His remarks upon the establishments there may be here suitably introduced. Mr. Henty once told the author that the approach of the exploring party gave some anxiety to the settlers, from the supposition that they might be coming with bushranging intent.    The Major's narrative runs thus :—

       "  Avxj.  29.—The groaning trees had afforded us shelter without lettmg fall even a single branch upon our heads, but the morning was squally and unfavourable for the objects of the excursion, and we had still to ride some way before I could commence operations. Proceeding along the skirts of the woody ridge on the left in order to avoid swamps, we at length saw through the trees the blue waters of the sea, and heard

       the roar of the waves.   My intended way towards the deepest part of the bay and the hills beyond it, did not lead directly to the shore, and I continued to pursue a course through the woods, having the shore on our left.     We thus met a deep and  rapid  little  river,  exactly resembling the Fitzroy,  and coming also from the westward.    Tracing this a short distance upwards we came to a place set with a sort of trellis-work of bushes by the natives, for the purpose, no doubt, of catchiug fish.     Here we found the stream fordable, though deep, a brownish granular limestone  appearing in   the  l^nk.     We crossed, and then continuing through a thick wood, we came out at length on the shore of Portland Bay, at about four miles beyond the little river.     Straight before us lay * Lawrence's Island,' or   rather islands, there  being  two  small  islets of rock in that situation; and, some way to the eastward, I perceived a much larger island, which I concluded was  one of * Lady Julia Percy's Isles.'    At a quarter of a mile back from the beach, broad broom-topped  casuarinco  were the only trees we could see; these grew on long ridges parallel to the beach, resembling those long breakers which, aided by winds, had probably thrown   such   ridges   up.     They were   abundantly covered with excellent grass, and^ as it wanted about an hour of noon, I halted that the cattle might feed while I took some ailgles and endeavoured to obtain the sun*s altitude during the intervals between heavy squalls, some of which were accompanied by hail and thunder.     On reaching the sea-shore at this beach I turned to observe the face of * Tommy-Came-Last,' one of my followers, who, being a native from the interior, had never before seen the sea.   I could not discover in the face of this young savage, even on his first view of the ocean, any ex^H'ession of surprise; on the contrary, the placid and comprehensive glance he cast over it seemed fully to embrace the grand expanse then, for the first time, opened to him.    I was much more astonished when he soon after came to tell me of the fresh tracks of cattle that he had found on the shore, and the shoe-marks of a white man.    He also brought me portions of tobacco-pipes, and a glass bottle without a neck.     That whaUng-vessels occasionaUy touched there I was   aware, as was, indeed, obvious from the carcases and bones of whales on the beach, but how cattle could have been brought there I did not understand.   Proceeding round the bay with the intention of examining the head of an mlet, and contmuing along shore as far as Cape ^ridgewater, I was struck with the resemblance to houses that some supposed grey rocks under the grassy cliffs presented ; and while I directed my glass towards them, my servant Brown said he saw a brig at anchor, a fact of which I was soon convinced, and also that the grey rocks were in reality wooden

       K

       houses. The most northern part of the shore of this bay was comparatively low, but the western consisted of bold clifl& rising to the height of 180 feet. We ascended these cliffs near the wooden houses, which proved to be some deserted sheds of the whalers. One shot was heard as we drew near them, and another on our ascending the rocks. I then became somewhat apprehensive that the parties might either be, or suppose us to be, bushrangers, and to prevent, if possible, some such awkward mistake, I ordered a man to fire a gun, and the bugle to be sounded; but, on reaching the higher ground, we discovered not only a beaten path, but the track of two carts, and while we were following the latter, a man came towards us from the face of the cliffs. He informed me, in answer to my questions, that the vessel at anchor was the  Elizabeth of LauTvcestoriy  and that just round the point there was a considerable farming establishment belonging to Messrs. Henty, who were then at the house. It then occurred to me that I might there procure a small additional supply of provisions, especially of flour, as my men were on very reduced rations. I therefore approached the house and was kindly received and entertained by the Messrs. Henty, who, as I learnt, had been established there during upwards of two years. It was very obvious, indeed, from the magnitude and extent of the buildings, and the substantial fencing erected, that both time and labour had been expended in their construction. A good garden, stocked with abundance of vegetables, already smiled on Portland Bay; the soil was very rich on the overhaiiging clifls, and the potatoes and turnips produced there surpassed, in magnitude and quality, any I had ever seen elsewhere. I learnt that the bay was much resorted to by vessels engaged in the whale fishery, and that upwards of 700 tons of oil bad been shipped that season. I was likewise informed that only a few days before my arrival five vessels lay at anchor together in that bay, and that a communication was regularly kept up with Van Diemen's Land by means of vessels from Launceston. Messrs. Henty were importing sheep and cattle as fast as vessels could be found to bring them over, and the numerous whalers touching at, or fishing on the coast, were found to be good customers for farm produce and whatever else could be spared from the establishment. Portland Bay is well sheltered from all winds except the east-south-east, and the anchorage is so good that a vessel is said to have rode out a gale even from this quarter. The part of the western shore where the land is highest, shelters a small bay, which might be made a tolerable harbour by means of two piers, or quays, erected on reefs of a kind of rock, apparently very favourable for the purpose, namely, amygdaloidal trap in grounded boulders.   The present anchorage in four fathoms is on the outside

       Mrnent^sJioiuic. rarwxna/Jic^. a. vco./niio.

       ToikceplSO. JierUy'sWhaiii^ £stT J'orUanciBa^.   /^

       of these reefs, and the water in this little bay is in general smooth enough for the landing of boats. A fine stream £sklls into the bay there, and the situation seems altogether a most eligible one for the site of a town. The rock is trap, consisting principally of felspar, and the soil is excellent, as was amply testified % the luxuriant vegetation in Mr. Henty's garden.

       "  Aug,  30.—I proceeded with the theodolite to a height near Cape Nelson, and from it I intersected that cape and also Cape Bridgewater, Cape Sir William Grant, the islands to the eastward, &c.    I here recognised also the high hill which appeared within these  capes when first seen from the westward.     It formed the most elevated part of the Rifle Bange at its termination on the coast, and I was informed by Mr. Henty that there was a fine lake at its base.    I named the hill Mount Kincaird, after my old and esteemed friend of Peninsular recollections.    Returning to the party at Portland Bay, where I had left my sextant, I then obtained a good observation on the sun's meridian altitude.    I was accommodated with a small supply of flour by Messrs. Henty, who, having been themselves on short allowance, were awaiting the arrival of a vessel then due two weeks.    They also supplied us with as many vegetables as the men could carry away on their horses.   Just as I was about to leave the place ' a whale' was announced, and instantly three boats, well manned, were  seen cutting through the water, a harpooner standing up at the stem of each with oar in hand, and assisting the ro-^ers by a forward movement at each stroke. It was not the least interesting scene in these, my Australian travels, thus to witness from a verandah, on a beautiful afternoon at Portland Bay, the humours of the whale fishery, and all those wondrous perils of harpooners and whale boats, of which I had delighted to read as scenes of * the stormy north.' The object of the present pursuit was ' a hunchback,' and being likely to occupy the boats for some time, I proceeded homewards.   I understood it frequently happened that several parties of fishermen, left by different whaling vessels, would engage in the pursuit of the same whale, and in the struggle for possession the whale would occasionally escape from them all aud run ashore, in which case it is of little value to whalers, as the removal, &c., would be too tedious, and they, in such cases, carry away part of the head matter only.   The natives never approach these whalers, nor had they ever shown themselves to the white people of Portland Bay; but as they have taken to eat the cast-away whales, it is their custom to send up a column of smoke when a whale appears in the bay, and the fishers understand the signal   This affords an instance of the sagacity of the natives, for they must have reflected that by thus giving timely notice a greater number will become competitors for the
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       whale, and that consequently there will be a better -chance of the whale running ashore, in which case a share must fall finally to them. The fishers whom I saw were fine able fellows, and with their large ships and courageous struggles with the whales, they must seem terrible men of the sea to the natives. The neat trim of their boats, set up on stanchions on the beach, looked well, with oars in perfect readiness to dash at a moment's notice into the ' angry surge.' Upon the whole, what with the perils they undergo and their incessant labour in boiling the oil, these men do not earn too cheaply the profits derived from that kind of speculation. I saw on the shore the wreck of a fine boat which had been cut in two by a single stroke of the tail of a whale. The men were about to cast their net into the sea to procure a supply of fish for us, when the whale suddenly engaged all hands.

       " We returned along the shore of the bay, intersecting, at its estuary, the mouth of the little river last crossed, and which, at the request of Mr. Henty, I have named the Surry. This river enters Portland Bay in latitude 38^ 15' 43" S.; longitude (by my survey), 141° 58' E. We encamped on the rich grassy land just beyond, and I occupied, for the night, a snug old hut of the natives."

       As  Mr. Surveyor Wedge visited the establishment a year before the major's call, his sketches, here given, illustrate the condition of this, the earliest of the permanent locations in Port Phillip District.

       The subsequent history of the Henty movement involves interesting particulars.

       When Mr. Henty sent his Memorial, he did so under cover to the Lieut.-Qovemor, Colonel Arthur, who gave a guarded recommendation. He knew that "Mr, Henty and his family are highly respectable," and that they deserve what they ask, " so far as it can be consistently given." He would say more for the application did it not involve, " in some of its details, an invasion of the general principles under which lands are sold." His Excellency played the same double part, as it Was then thought, which he did in the case of Batman's Association the year after.

       But he was not unmindful of his official self. He is aware of the great advantage of extending the growth of wool in New Holland, so a9 to make England independent of Saxony and Spain. He sees the prospect of an extension of hiB own authority, in gaining a tributary state for Van Diemen's Land,

      

       obderving, as to this Portland Bay, already an outpost, "Its proximity to Launccston, and the easy communication across the Straits, unquestionably point it out ^ a station of importance to this colony (V. D. L.), where the available territory has already been almost entirely appropriated." He is quite willing to go over and report upon the place ; since, says he, " nothing could individually afiford me greater gratification than being instrumental in aiding in the occupation of that part of the coast by means which might tend to secure the protection and promote the civilisation of the aborigines."

       Yet Mr. Henty was not allowed land at Portland Bay, and Governor Arthur failed to gain an accession of territory.

       Correspondence, however, continued; Mr. Henty took up the pen, February 11th, 1833. He reminds the Colonial Secretary that he and his fetmily had explored a good deal in the Straits, and especially at Portland Bay," which they traversed in various directions for forty miles." Therefore, "he now submits that it would be an act of justice to authorise him to settle upon land which he considers to be calculated for the object he originally had in view in embarking his property at Swan Kiver, viz., the production of the finest kinds of wool. The spot he seeks permission to locate himself, family, and labourers upon is in a part of Australia wholly unexplored, except by himself, at the least 500 miles distant from any other settle, ment, and not within the boundaries of the South Australian Parliamentary grant."

       Earl Aberdeen, having information of the departure and location of the person who sought " permission to locate," expressed his displeasure, on March 19th, 1835, that Mr. Henty should have gone over, " aware, as he must have been, when he made arrangements for proceeding to his intended destination, that he could hav^ no security that his residence there would be permitted to continue." After this scolding, it was a little comfort to read these lines:—

       " I cannot hold out to Mr. Henty the pledge which he requires, viz., that in the event of the district in the neighbourhood of Portland Bay ever becoming a permanent colony, they will protect Mr. Henty in his rights of settlement; that is, they will not disturb, but will confirm his possessions against any new comer." Then it is added, " Although I am not prepared to say that Mr. Henty's

       pretensions to any land, actually brought into cultivation by nim, and surrounded by a proper fence, would not be favourably looked upon by His Majesty s Government at a future period, should the increase of the population, or other circumstances, extend the settlement of the territory to the quarter where Mr. Henty may have established himself"

       It was upon this implied promise that the Messrs. Henty claimed compensation upon the organisation of Port Phillip colony. The seven sons, variously scattered in the colonies, maintained the struggle. But of these Edward was the most prominent, as he was the most interested with Stephen in Portland Bay trading and pastoral pursuits. He it was who took up the wonderful Wannon country, revealed by Major Mitchell, and described by him to the Messrs. Henty. He fought well and long for his rights, though his prospects seemed small after the decision relative to the Port Phillip Association. Lord Russell, appealed to, declined to favour the Portland Bay squatters, as the Governor, Sir George Gipps, the supposed antagonist of squatters, gave an adverse report in April, 1840.

       '* The Messrs. Henty," said he, " like the first settlers at Port Phillip, claim to have rendered good service to the Government, and to the colony of New South Wales, by opening up a district of country which might otherwise have remained unoccupied for a number of years; but so far from considering this any advantage, I look upon it as directly the reverse, not only because the dispersion of population is increased by it, but because, also, we are forced prematurely to incur considerable expense in the formation of a new establishment."

       When a land sale was decreed for Portland, it was felt that some adjustment must be made. Mr. Henty*s modest claim for 22,000 acres, mainly on account of his large grant at Swan River, which he was willing to surrender, could not be entertained. After much debate, and not until 1846, a compromise was effected. An allowance of £348 was made for improvements at the port; ten acres of town land, at £100 an acre, eighty-five acres suburban at £2, and sixty others at £2, made altogether a compensation equal to £1,638.

       Poor as this amount was adjudged to be, it was far in excess, proportionately, of that granted a few years before to Batman's

       Hatty's Whaling Estab*'PorOand'Bay.

      
        [image: picture6]
      

       ■^p tss   PortFairy hearing N £

       ^mm

       Portland Bay Settlement in  1834.   135

       Port Phillip Association. The want of generosity, in both cases, was a wretched economy. Pioneers, such as the Batmans and Hentys, whose enterprise had brought in vast wealth to the Government, might have been spared the worry and humiliation of years of importunate begging, and the colony saved the disgrace of neglecting its founders and friends.

       CHAPTER VII.

       MAJOR  Mitchell's discoveries in Australia felix.

       The  discoveries of this able officer, the Surveyor-General of New South Wales, afterwards known as Sir Thomas Livingstone Mitchell, have been so extensively published that there is little necessity to say here much about them. It can never be forgotten, however, that while the exploration of Hume and Howell, in 1824, was the direct cause of the settlement of Port Phillip by Batman's Association, the journey of Mitchell over Western Victoria was the occasion of the emigration of people from Great Britain to the region he immortalised as  Australia Felix.

       To him Australia owes a debt of gratitude. In 1881 he followed the Peel to the Darling. In 1835 he explored the Bogan and other western districts. In 1836 he revealed the wonderful pastures west of Mount Macedon. In 1845—46 he had the good fortune to light upon the rich lands of the Balonne, Maranoa, Warrego, Barcoo, &c. In October, 1854, though only sixty-three, he left us for a nobler sphere of action. It has been truly said that ** as a parent, a citizen, a gentleman, and scholar, he has embalmed his memory alike in the archives of philosophy, the annals of colonial history, the hearts of friends, and the sanctity of home."

       He had been sent to trace down the Darling river in 1835, and lost his companion, Mr. Cunningham, the naturalist, who was murdered by the Bogan blacks. That journey proved, comparatively, a failure. Lord Glenelg urged another trial by the Surveyor-General. It was the end of March, 1836, that the expedition left Sydney; and, after tracking the Lachlan to the Morumbidgee, Mitchell came over the Murray river in June.

       Upon the summit of Mount Hope he gazed upon " a land so inviting, and yet without inhabitants/' The Yarrayne or Loddon, the Avoca, the Wimmera, the Glenelg and other streams, were seen. The Dividing Range was crossed and re-crossed. The Grampians were scaled. The Pyrenees opened its gates to the traveller. From the summit of Mount Macedon (Hume's  WerUuMyrth)  he looked forward to the Bay of Port Phillip, and backward to Mount Alexander. In the middle of October he regained the Murray on his return route to Sydney.

       This triumphant march of four or five months was the most productive in grand results of any tour in Australia. The title engraven upon the brass plate to be worn by Piper, the native guide, truly described the major himself, viz. ** The Conqueror of the Interior." The colonists of the south applauded his enterprise and good fortune. The Sydney Council voted him the present of a thousand pounda The honours of knighthood were bestowed by a grateful sovereign. But the chief glory of his exploration was seen in the many happy homes he was the means of planting in the beautiful Australia Felix, though he makes no allusion to the settlers then established at Port Phillip.

       Major, Mitchell's report of his journey to the Colonial Secretary is addressed from his camp on the Morumbidgee, October 24th, 1836. The part of this report which relates to Port Phillip commences from the crossing of the Murray:—

       '* We reached the junction of a river which I took to be that of the Twisden (or Goulbum) of Mr. Hume, in latitude 35*^ 19' 43" S., longitude 143^ 41' 15" E. A clear grassy hill— which I named Swan Hill—marks this junction, which takes place close under it. The banks of this river were so soft and steep, and wood was so scarce there, that the cattle could not be watered without danger, nor could firewood be procured, on one frosty night in particular, when this river unexpectedly brought us to a stop, when we had nearly reached the larger one beyond, whose whole course was distinguished by lines of lofty trees, as on most other rivers. These, so distinctly diflferent, flowed for many miles very near each other, each river preserving the same character throughout.

       " In this vicinity we came upon a very singular formation, consisting of numerous lakes of salt or brackish water, and which were enclosed by semicircular ridges on their eastern

       shores. The largest of these lakes was named Boga, and was six miles in circumference. The river floods having reached this by a small channel, the water in it was sweet, and it was peopled by a very savage tribe, who refused to give us any information, throwing their spears at Piper, who shot one of them.

       " Beyond Boga lake we crossed some very fine plains, but the main channel of the river we were endeavouring to explore was no longer accessible^ nor even visible, from the numerous branches and still reaches which intersected the alluvial margin, which appeared to be very broad.

       " Following the general course of the river, we next entered on a tract remarkable for extensive forests of box, with occasional intervals of open grassy plain. It was watered by chains of ponds in deep channels, whose meandering course through a perfectly level country seemed to pursue no particular direction. From what I afterwards observed on higher plains, I conclude that these waters are derived from the floods of the river, and that these, spreading into branches of minor depth, thus water the level country.

       " Turning more towards the river, we passed alternately over grassv plains, and through belts of lofty gum-trees—the beds of broad lagoons. Nearer the river deep reaches of still water cut off all access to it, so that we could only trace its general course, the highest point at which we found it accessible before turning south being in latitude 35° 55' 35" S., longitude 144** 35' 38" E.

       " The extreme western point of a range then appearing in the southern horizon, I proceeded towards it, anxious to know more of the country back from the river. The view obtained from that summit induced me to direct our course southward, with the intention of returning across by heads of the Murray, further to the eastward, where I hoped the hills might afford me the means of extending the survey across the adjacent country. I perceived from the height a distant line of lofty trees, which seemed to mark the course of another river; beyond were the summits of very distant hills, verdant plains, variegated with clumps and lines of trees extending westward to the horizon, the whole seeming good pasture land.

       ** At about thirty miles from the hill, and on the 144** of longitude, we reached a deep but narrow stream, flowing between high and grassy banks to the westward, at the rate of one mile and a half per hour. Its mean depth was nine feet. In one night, however, it rose fourteen feet higher, carrying away a rough bridge we had just completed. The aboriginal name of the river is the Yarrayne (Loddon); the plains beyond it were fi ve miles in breadth, and of the best description.    Forests of

       black-butted ^am and casuarinse then extended back to the mountains and forest hills; in these forests, instead of novelty, we found the Blue Mountain parrot and other birds, common near Sydney; many of the plants also which grow in Cumberland (N.S.W.).

       " Barrabungale, a lofty mountain of granite, was the chief point of that range, but, on ascending it, the weather was unfavourable for my observations. A group of open forest hills were connected with Barrabungale; they inclosed valleys richly covered with grass, and well watered. We passed over many fine tracts sheltered by open forest hills, and crossed various fine streams, all flowing westward. At length, on the 11th July, I discerned the summits of a noble mountain range of broken and picturesque outline, and by subsequent survey I found that this was the predominant feature of that vast territory lying between the river Murray and the southern coast, giving birth to numerous streams of convenient width and constant current, by which the surrounding country is watered abundantly. These Grampians of the south are situated between 36° 52' and 37** 38' of south latitude, and between 142"* 25'and 142** 47' of east lon^tude, the latter being the longitude of Mount William, the highest and most eastern summit, and on which I passed a night, vainly hoping that the clouds would rise above it.

       "Situated thus centrically, this lofty mass, so essential to water the lower country, presents no impediment, like the coast ranges of the Settled District, to the formation of roads and the progress of colonisation.

       " The principal river, flowing under the north side of these mountains, is the Wimmera, which has no steep banks, and appears to be a very constant stream. I explored its course to the 142'' of longitude, when it turned to the north-west, leaving me in a country covered with circular lakes, in all of which the water was salt or brackish. These had semicircular ridges on the eastern side as in those of Boga, on the Murray, and the land about them was in general very good and grassy, its mean elevation above the sea being about 580 feet.

       " From the continual rainy weather the earth was in a very soft state, and this at length became a most serious impediment to the progress of the expedition, the party being unable, even with the greatest exertion, to proceed through the mud above three miles a day. But for this I might have returned two months ago.

       " When we gained the head of a small ravine falling towards the principal river, rising in the Grampians, we found firmer ground, and our progress was much better, although still occasionally impeded by the soft and boggy stjate of the earth.

       " The river, which I named the Qlenelg, flows first westward and then southward, entering the sea at the deepest part of the bay between Cape Northumberland and Cape Bridgewater. I explored the last fifty miles of its course in the bogs, having left Mr. Stapylton with the depot, for I had great reason to hope that it led to some important estuary. The average width was 100 yards, the mean depth four fathoms. In this hope I was, however, disappointed, for the river terminated in a shallow basin within the sand hummocks of the coast—^tho outlet being between two low rocky heads, but choked up with the sands of the beach.

       " In the higher part of the Qlenelg, the rock over which it flows is granite; but after it passes through a ridge of primitive sandstone, covered with forests of Ironbark, and which form there a sort of coast range, the banks consist wholly of a secondary limestone. The soft state of the earth had rendered our progress by land almost hopeless when I launched the boats on the Qlenelg; but on quitting that river with the party, I succeeded in re-crossing the Ironbark range with the drays, by following up a tributary flowing to the Qlenelg from the eastward. The diflSculty of this movement was much increased by numerous swampy creeks and swamps which we had to cross. The eastern part of that range is highest, and on the higher parts where the basis of the soil is trap-rock, the enormous growth and thickness of the trees presented a new impediment to the progress of our drays, the fallen timber covering so much of the surface. The trees, consisting of Stringybark and Blue Qum, were many of them six feet, and some as much as eight feet, in diameter.

       " Beyond this range, which terminates in Cape Bridgewater, I expected to have found some considerable rivers entering the sea at Portland Bay ; I found only the Surry, the Fitzroy, and the Shaw entering the bay at diflerent points east of the anchorage.

       " On approaching this bay, situated on what I considered an unexplored coast, the unwonted sight of houses, and a vessel at anchor drew my attention. I soon ascertained that Messrs. Henty, from Swan River, had formed a whaling and farming establishment there. Those gentlemen accommodated me with a small supply of flour, although the supply for their own establishment was nearly exhausted.

       *• Portland Bay appears to be a good anchorage in all winds, save those from the S.S.E. It is much better sheltered from the prevailing winds by the lofty promontory of Capes Bridge-water and Nelson, than any part of Port Phillip is (which harbour I reconnoitred from Macedon on the 1st instant), and the position of two reefs seem favourable for the formation of a smaU harbour.

       HeadUanci S. of Fistvery ,  ForUand/Bc^.

       To fk^ji.MO.   I'ishery at-Tortland/ J

       ''I still entertained hopes of finding a good port on that coast, and should have thoroughly examined it for an object so desirable to the valuable and extensive territory I had explored, but the almost impassable state of the ground, and our very limited stock of provisions, confined me to the direct line homeward from Portland Bay, by which I travelled completely round the Grampians, crossed all the rivers, and determined the position of the principal heights. I wished much to have examined Cadong, which, according to the natives, is a large piece of water on the coast, westward of Cape Otway, this receiving, as they said, several smaU rivera, which I saw flowing southward, over the plains from the Australian Pyrenees, a group of very fine forest hills of considerable height, eastward of the Grampians. From one of these I observed the eastern shore of a piece of water in the direction indicated by the natives.

       "The country on that coast generally is low, and almost swampy; but the soil is rich, and the climate being suflSciently moist, and water abundant, it appears better adapted for agriculture on an extensive scale than any other part of New South Wales. ^ The soil consists of decomposed trap or limestone, these being the rocks immediately below it. The whole of the coast country eastward of Cape Nelson is of volcanic formation, as many interesting geological phenomena attest; amongst others, an extinct volcano (which I named Mount Napier) is not the least remarkable, having an open crater, and being surrounded with ashes and scoria to the distance of two miles around its base. From the fresh appearance of the lava at the summit I thought it might have been in activity within the memory of man, but I could not find any allusion to fire in the aboriginal name (Murrowan).

       " We encountered much soft ground near Mount Napier, and by the time the party attained the southern extremity of the Grampians, most of the cattle were exhausted, and one poor animal died in the shafts. Some weeks of repose were absolutely necessary, and this our stock of provisions did not admit of; on the contrary, I could only hope that they would last to the end of the journey, by allowing the men a very reduced ration.

       "Having some spare cattle, I decided on proceeding in advance with a light party and a month^s provisions, leaving the rest to refresh for two weeks, with a party under Mr. Stapylton, whom I provided with two months provisions, that he mi^ht at the end of two weeks follow my track at leisure througn  Australia Felix.  I hoped thus, by proceeding faster, to survey and reconnoitre the country with more freedom, and also to reach the colony in time to send back a supply of provisions to meet Mr. Stapylton on the banks of the Hume.

       " My route homeward, from the vicinity of the Australian Pyrenees, passed through a country of the most varied and fascinating description. At intervals of fifty or sixty miles we crossed ranges of granite, through all of which I found passes for carts across the lowest parts, by reconnoitring the ranges as far as possible in advance. The districts between the different ranges consisted of excellent land, thickly covered with the  Danthonia  grass, and well watered."

       He might truly describe the country as "a region more extensive than Great Britain, equally rich in point of soil, and which now lies ready for the plough in many parts, as if specially prepared by the Creator for the industrious hands of Englishmen."

       CHAPTER VIII.

       LIFE  OP JOHN  BATMAN.

       John Batman,  unlike John Fawkner, was Australian born, A native of Paramatta, New South Wales, he was a genuine Cornstalk, Oumsucker,  or  CurreTicy lad.  In visits to Paramatta, the author got partially acquainted with the history of the Batman race.

       Mr. Batman, senior, established himself at Rosehill, now Paramatta. He was of Yorkshire origin. Though so conducting himself as to gain the good-will of his neighbours, he appears to have had that physical courage, promptitude of action, and personal strength, so conspicuous afterwards in his son John. As an evidence of this^we quote the following story from the SydiMy Gazette,  of December 16th, 1815:— •

       "As three carts were going towards Paramatta yesterday evening, three ruffians leaped from the Bush, nearly abreast of Mr. Wentworth's grounds, towards Blanket Bridge, and passing the two hindmost, attacked the one in front, in which was a woman and child, and driven by the owner, Mr. Batman, of Paramatta, who determined on resistance, and drawing a sabre from the vehicle, bravely defended himself. One or two of the assailants were wounded, as was also the case unfortunately with himself, the woman and child not escaping considerable hurt in the affray, which was put an end to by the assailants retiring of their own accord, praising the courage they could not overcome. The other carts had by this time passed by, without interference; but were now in turn overtaken, when one of the drivers, whom we believe to be the owner, was robbed of cash to the amount of 15/."

       It is worthy of remark that the Rev. S. Marsden, chaplain of the colony, and resident of Paramatta, came up soon after, and

       joined Batman in the chase after the robbers, succeeding in the capture of all three. When confined in gaol they attempted self-destruction, by opening the veins of their arms and instep. Surgical aid came in time, and the men recovered enough to be carried to the scaffold.

       Batman and his wife were constant attendants upon the ministry of Mr. Marsden every Sunday morning. In the evening, when the church was closed, they went to the Wesleyan Methodist service, then conducted by Mr. Leigh, under the sanction of the chaplain. Their four children, John, Henry, William, and Maria, were brought up in strictly religious principles, of the evangelical order, family worship being always observed. The  New South Wales Magazine  of February, 1834, has the following obituary notice:—

       ^  29th. —At Paramatta, Mr. William Batman, aged 69 years. He resided in the colony 37 years, was highly respected, and his loss will be long felt by a numerous circle of friends and acquaintances."

       John's mother was a superior woman in intelligence and goodness. She was much beloved by her favourite son, who afforded her the means of a comfortable maintenance till his own death, which took place three months before hers. We were taken to the cottage in which she passed away. Henry was associated with his brother in the settlement of Port Phillip, becoming chief constable of Melbourue. The other son and his family appear to have removed to Kissing Point, nearer Sydney.

       The daughter, Maria, married our Paramatta informant, Mr. White. At the time of our visit, in 1867, the worthy man was sixty-eight years old, having been bom in England. His widowed mother became acquainted with a returned sergeant of marines from New South Wales, and married him. Soon after, she and her little boy went out with him again, in the  Glatton,  1802.

       The cottage in which we heard the story of the Batman race was in one of the most charming of gardens, full of such magnificent old fruit trees, as only Paramatta can show in Australia.   Asking Mr. White how long he had lived there, he

       gave this reply: " Here I was apprenticed; here I married John's sister; here she died; and here I shall die." Among the rovers of Australia—^a region so provocative of a roving life—this tenant of one dwelling for over half a century cannot be numbered. We know not if he dwells there stiU.

       He lost his wife September 10th, 1835. She had been ailing since the birth of her first child, called John after her brother. Seeing our interest in his tale, and appreciating our efforts to do justice to that brother, Mr. White presented us with a book which had belonged to her. It bore the date of 1832, being Life, of Ood in the Soul of Man,  by the Rev. H. Scougal, M.A. When married, he was twenty-one and Maria was nineteen. All their sons had died but one, and a daughter was then living at WoUongong. He had received one visit from his brother-in-law, when he came for farming implements and other things from Sydney, for the use of the Port Phillip Association. Batman's daughter, Lucy Lomax, had also, he said, been to see the old home of Paramatta.

       Mrs. Oakes, senior, of Paramatta, gave the author some information about the Batmans, who attended the Wesleyan chapel with her so many years. She was then the oldest living Australian, having been bom early in 1789. When we were in Paramatta last year, we found her bedridden, though sound in health. She had just lost her noble-hearted son, killed on the steam tramway in the streets of Sydney.

       Another old lady, Mrs. Webb, had a lively recollection of Mr. Batman, senior, as she had received a flogging for neglecting to take a letter to him. She knew John well, and spoke of him as a sharp, lively fellow, with a handsome face, and a very flattering tongue for ladies fair, with whom he was a wonderful &vourite. As some have said that a love affair drove John from home to Van Diemen's Land, we may give Mrs. Webb's story of the change. He had been apprenticed to a person in Castlereagh Street, who was not of very sober habits. The house next door had been robbed; but, while part of the goods had been taken out of a well, some had been found on his employer's premises. John, it appears, gave some information about the articles. This made his position rather uncomfortable, and led to his leaving the town.    However, we observed

       L

       the following notices in the  Sydney Oazette,  November 17th, 1821 :—

       " Mr. John Batman, leaving the colony by an early opportunity, requests claims to be presented.

       " Mr. Henry Batman, leaving the colony by an early opportunity, requests claims to be presented."

       In those days, no one could leave the colony without such public notification of his intention. John had been a rover before that, having rambled in the Bush of Discovery with his young friend and fellow-townsman, Hamilton Hume. On arrival in Van Diemen's Land, although favoured with a grant of land, in accordance with the rule of the day, it was not long before he was recognised as a bold and skilful bushman in a country far more rocky, scrubby, and diflScult than that he had left. Tall and stout, with dark curly hair, a fine set of features, a jovial manner, and quite a gentleman in bearing and behaviour, he became one of the most popular persons in society, making friends with all classes.

       But it was slow work tending a few sheep in the wilderness, or driving oxen in the plough. The chase aflforded some stimulus to this man of action, though kangaroo-hunting gave insu£Scient pulsing to his blood. As an explorer of dark ravines and rocky precipices, he was fitting himself for more useful work, and found it in pursuit of lawless bushrangers, men of violence and robbery. Among the most noted deeds of the period was his capture of the notorious Brady, the Duval and Turpin of Van Diemen's Land. To no other man than the intrepid and yet popular Batman would that wounded lion of the forest have surrendered, as he said. The air of romance has been thrown over some exploits of our hero in that terrible time of colonial disquietude. The praises of the Governor and the plaudits of the settlers were accompanied by substantial proofs of o£Scial approval and public gratitude.

       About this period occurred a remarkable incident, particulars of which were learned by the author about forty years ago in the immediate neighbourhood of the romantic adventure, and which is thus told from traditional lore by Richard Howitt, in his work on  Australia Felix: —

       <t

       What  an   eventful    life    was    that   of   Batman!    His

       adventures in the woody wilds of Tasmania, previously to his settling in Port Phillip, when pursuing the aborigines and the bushrangers, would fill an ample volume; and, if agreeably written, would make an admirable winter fireside story. He, indeed, rendered such valuable service in these vocations to the Government, that Governor Arthur promised him some boon; not, perhaps,• whatever he might ask, as the Arabian (Jenies would have done, but anything in accordance with the quality of his public services; and he did ask something that made the Govenor pause and demur. He did not request any honourable or lucrative public office, nor that ample breadths of fair lands might be accorded him, but what one so firee, gallant, and fearless should have done: he sued for pardon for a fair and youthful dame—an outcast and outlaw—whom he had met with in the fastnesses of the mountains, and secluded in the soUtary woods—too interesting a bushranger to be readily delivered by him up to the public authorities. It is said that she attended him, as Kaled did Lara, in male habiliments, and that she was secreted at times at his country location under-

       round. What kind of bower he made for this fair Rosamond know not, nor by what clue he found her. He loved her well, perhaps wisely, and such grace found, after some delays, his intercessions, that she was pardoned, and became his wife. Prosperity brightened before them and their afifections. They were amongst the earliest settlers in the new and then not far explored region of Australia Felix; and the hill where they resided near Melbourne—and a beautiful hill it is, graced sweetly with Shiac trees—is still called by his name. I have been told by a person who attended the small, low-roofed wooden church, in the early days of Port Phillip, that to see the Batman family—not a small one—^and the parents, and childi-en of various heights and ages, all marching in order, all graceful figures, with open, healthfully blooming countenances— was a most beautifiil sight. A spectacle that was no doubt additionally interesting from what there was romantic in their history."

       John Batman was settled at Kingston, not far from the present Tasmanian Gold Fields of Fingal district. It was near the musical ripplings of Avoca, the meeting of waters. Silurian rocks were there fantastically tilted by the irruption of granite floods, while subsequent invasions of lava gave material for that richness of soil which makes the country a garden of fertility, while the landscape is a paradise of delight. Ben Lomond throws up its granite head 5,000 feet, adding the elements of strength and grandeur to the Claude-like sweetness and tender-

       L 2

       ness of this Yale of Avoca. After the author had ascended the majestic pile, he slept that night in a mountain hut, where, surrounded by kangaroo hunters, shepherds, and stray bush-men, he heard bushranging yams, and tales of John Batman the bold.

       Kingston Estate, some seven or eight thousand acres in extent, was situated on the Ben Lomond rivulet, about seven miles from the charming residence of Batman's friend, Simeon Lord, Esq., of Avoca. It was during a fortnight's sojourn at that home of hospitality, about 1843, that the author first heard some incidents of Batman's career, and was taken to look at Kingston. At this moment a letter lies before us, written about the sale of that farm, addressed by Mr. Batman to another much esteemed neighbour. Major Gray of Rochford. From Avoca did we make our own ascent of Ben Lomond. The story of an ascent nine years before by the Batman family, as told by Mr. Sams, Sheriff of Launceston, is worth repeating here:—

       "At the latter encl of the year 1834, the late Mr. John Batman, who was then the owner of a very fine estate in the colony, "Kingston," near Ben Lomond, a mountain 5,019 feet high, invited a party of friends to his house, I being one of the number. We then found tbat preparations had been made for an excursion to ascend Ben Lomond, and on the summit of that majestic mountain to pass the last night of the year 1843, and welcome the srm's rising on the new year. Three or four days were to be occupied in the excursion, preparations for our comfort and enjoyment having been previously made by our kind host, aided by a party of New South Wales natives, ten or twelve of whom had been brought from Sydney by Mr. Batman, and were domiciliated on his estate. On the second day the party gained the top of the mountain, with the exception of Mr. Batman, who had stayed behind, at a resting place two-thirds of the way up, with three or four of his natives, his youngest child, and its nurse (all his children, eight in number, were of the party), intending to follow us up, after having rested a while. When the sun was fast sinking, and we were anxiously expecting Mr. Batman, two sable messengers arrived, bearing a note from their master to Mrs. Batman, the purport of which was to inform her that he had been seized with illness, and required her to go to him. Whereupon, Mrs. Batman immediately left the party, I accompanying her, guided by the two natives, who each carried a fire stick, the night being very dark.   After a long and perilous descent, we reached the resting

       place, and there, happily, found Batman comparatively well, he having been attacked with cramp in the stomach, which had so seriously alarmed him, as to induce the summons for his wife. A fire having been lighted at a short distance from the camping ground, where Mrs. Batman, with the child and its nurse, passed the night. Batman and I sat by the fire, whiling the time away in conversation on our several prospects in the colony."

       Batman's life in Van Diemen's Land, though professedly that of a fjEurmer, was marked by two important incidents—^his chase after bushrangers in the interests of order, and his pursuit of the native blacks in the interests of peace. He sought to bring tranquillity to settlers, by the capture of terrorising marauders, and to secure safety to the hunted aborigines, by gathering them from the forests into a haven of rest. One story, connected with the taking of Brady, the Prince of Bushrangers, may be taken from the author's account of Tasmanian bushrangers, published very nearly thirty years ago:—

       " But the hour of Brady was come. Constantly harassed by assailing and pursuing parties, separated from his dashing band of roving horsemen, and disabled Dy a shot in his ankle, he was no longer the proud and chivalrous Prince of Bushrangers, but the anxious, suffering fugitive. Amongst those who sought the destruction of these troublers of the settlers' homes was John Batman, the celebrated capturer of Tasmanian aborigines, and afterwards the renownea founder of Port Phillip colony. Governor Arthur had great confidence in his prudence and judgment, as well as in his energy and courage. Getting intelligence of the robber's movements, Mr. Batman left his Ben Lomond fEirm and explored the ffullies of the Western Tier. That wild and romantic country nad long furnished a retreat to bushrangers. Rising abruptly from the plain, the greenstone Dry's Bluff towers 4,000 feet, and is the first of a series of elevations in one of the roughest districts in the island for a hundred miles.

       " It was amidst such scenes that Batman sought poor Brady. One day he spied a man limping along through the bush with the aid of a cut sapling. He was evidently in great pain, and bore a dejected, careworn aspect. His restless, suspicious eye suddenly lighted upon his pursuer. In a moment all anguish was forgotten, as, in a loud and decided tone, the word ' Stand  V was uttered. The faltering step was firm, and the old lion spirit was roused. The gun was at his shoiilder, and his finger on the trigger. Before he would fire, however, he called out 'Are you a soldier officer?'   Mr. Batman's frock-coat and

       foraging-cap gave him a military appearance^ and Brady had an inextinguishable hatred to the red-coated enemy of bushrangers. ' I'm no soldier, Brady/ was the reply. * I'm John Batman; surrender, for there is no chance for you/ The bushranger thought for a while, and then said, 'You are right, Batman; my time is come. I yield to you, because you are a brave man.'"

       Yet the true romance of Batman's life was in connection with the unfortunate Tasmanian natives. For years he was more or less engaged in the celebrated Black War of Van Diemen's Land. Though a hunter after the forest men, he thirsted not for their blood, but sought their deliverance from bloodthirsty foes. Space will not permit discussion upon this part of his career, further than to introduce an ancient chronicle written by his own hand more than fifty years ago.

       Having given the Port Phillip journal of John Batman in one chapter of this book, another journal, relative to his great work in 1830, can be appropriately placed in the record of his life. This journal, never before published, has, like the Port Phillip one, been preserved by the favourite daughter of the founder, Elizabeth, the wife of Mr. Weire, of Geelong.

       In size, seven inches by three and a half, it looks a simple memorandum-book. On the cover are the words "John Batman, Kingston." He was then living on his farm at Klingston, under the shadow of the Tasmanian Ben Lomond. The diary begins March 3rd, 1830, and closes September 28th. As the book contained but thirty-six leaves, he appended, by a rude attachment, other fourteen leaves. Some memoranda of a later date, relative to other matters, appear in odd comers and spaces. The handwriting is firm, but hurried. The cali-graphy is not bad, but the orthography is peculiar and often abbreviated, while capitals rarely begin the day's record.

       The journal exhibits the character of the man in a favourable light. Commissioned by Government, he sought the capture of the unhappy Tasmanian natives, then in open war with soldiers, constables, and settlers. A handful of naked savages, enraged at their cruel treatment, and despairing of redress, they kept the whole island in constant alarm. So great was the terror, that thousands of persons were at one time in arms against them, while they, with only wooden spears, counted less

       than as many Bundreds. Efforts were made, in the interests of justice and mercy, to persuade the wanderers to yield, so as to be protected by the Governor. Gilbert Robertson, G. A. Robinson, and John Batman were the men sent out in humane pursuit.

       Batman had before this gained the goodwill of the tribe living near him, and so obtained native aid in his object; supplemented, later on, by the auxiliary of Sydney blacks. The journal was kept in one of his himting tours, and was as follows:—

       "1830,  March Srd, Wednesday. —Started this morning and crossed the hills to the South Esk, and stopped for the night. 1 received information the natives crossed the S. Esk.

       "  Thursday, Uh. —Crossed the South Esk and beating through the Tiers on the east side. Stopped for the night on a small creek of water. Walked about 20 miles, &c. A little rain the morning.

       "jPWday,  hth, —This morning, when getting breakfast, was disturbed by the barkiog of dogs. Ten of us immediately went towards the place, at about a mile from our hut. We at last see four dogs. I then advised the party to surround the hill, which was done. We again see the dogs. They kept barking at us and running away; at last made into a thick scrub. I now thought that they were dogs that had lost the natives a few days back. We came back again to the hut, and the two men in charge heard two or three dogs more round the hut during our absence. I expect the natives are in this quarter. Crossed the Tiers (hills) towards Ross and Campbell Town; made a splitter's hut at about 2 P.M. A single woman and inan live here. It now began to rain very hard. We commenced a hut for the night. Rained all the evening. These people could give us no information respecting the natives. Walked about 12 miles to-day.

       "Saturday,  6  March, —Started this morning about 8 AJf. Rained heavy the whole of last night; got very wet. Looks likely for rain. Cleared up about 10 A.M. Scouring the hills in the front of Campbell Town, and made to Stain's hut. I went to Campbell Town to get information; walked about 16 miles.

       "  Sunday,  7  March,  1830.—Men at Stain's hut all day. Got 56 lbs. of mutton for them.

       "  Monday, 8th March, —Started this morning at 7 A.M., beating the hill at the back of Ross, and towMxls Oyster Bay. Crossing the hiUs all day towards Oyster Bay. Passed several large swamps.   See a good number of cattle and several native

       huts, but not made lately. Stopped for the night near a large swamp on a small run of water. Walked about 15 miles; good ground to walk over.

       *'  Trusdatfy  9  March. —Started this morning at 6 A.M., keeping still in a S.E. direction towards the sea-coast. Followed along the marked trees for a few miles, then turned round a hill. Here we found a kangaroo hid in a hollow tree; appeared to have been there 5 or 6 days. The day seems as if it would rain, and after meeting with a large hut of the natives, we made again for the night to our old hut. At about 9 PJC. we heard a dog barking, and seemed to be at a fire or hut. Three men went down at the distance of two miles. Five dogs came at them first, and then two more, in the whole seven. The dogs seemed determined to bite them. After a short time, they turned round and walked off. The men searched the bush all round, but could see no fires or anything else. Returned here about half-past ten. At this time the moon was going into eclipse, and continued so until the whole waa eclipsed, not a bit of her to be seen, and total darkness followed.    Shot 5 dogs.

       *' March, Wednesday \Qth. —Rained this morning until 9 AJC, when I started with 3 of the party, leaving 3 in charge of the knapsacks. I beat the hills and bush round for ten miles. Rained several times at intervals. See and kill a young dog, but see none of the other dogs we heard last night. See where the natives had killed and roasted a kangaroo not many days ago. Returned to the hut for the night. Walked about 15 miles round.

       ** March, Th^trsday, Wth, —Started this morning, beating through the hills in a direction for the bogs, and the head of Campoell Town creek. Made the open end of the bog; kept beating down then to Kearney's old stock hut, which we made about 1 P.M. Got dinner, and then sent two men together in different directions to see if anything could be seen. They returned at 4 P.M.; could see nothing. Walked to-day about 18 miles. The morning looked likely for rain. Passed over no good ground.

       *^ Friday, \2{h March. —Started this morning, scouring the Tiers to make the St. Paul's Plain and Black Men's comer. Crossed the St. Paul's; and learning here that the Natives had been seen crossing the South Esk near Mr. Grey's (?), I crossed that river.   Walked about 25 miles from the Bogs.

       *'Saturday, l^th March. —Started this morning round the E. end of Ben Lomond; see nothing of the Natives. Walked about 15 miles over rough hill, &a

       ^* Sunday,  14^A.—Scouring the hills on the E. side of Ben Lomond, and walked about 16 miles. No signs whatever of the Blacks.

       **  Monday,  15  March, —Started this morning at 6 P.M., scouring the hills up the S. Esk.    Walked about 15 miles, &c.

       "Tuesday, 16th, —Started this morning, beating the hills round the —— of Ben Lomond, &c.    Walked about 12 miles.

       "17th, Wednesday, —Started this morning at 6 A.M., and scouring the hills in the front of Ben Lomond, and made home.    No sign of the Natives.

       " 1830,  Thursday, ISth March, —At home getting the men's shoes repaired, and new shoes, &c.

       "Friday, IQth. —The same as yesterday.

       "  Saturday, 20th, —The same as yesterday.

       "  Sunday, 2l8t, —The men resting, &c.

       "  Monday, 22nd March. —Men all ready to start to the North Esk, and just on the point of starting, when Mr. Murphy (?) came gaUoping up, stating that three Natives had run his shepherd within three miles of this place. Immediately altered my plan, and made three parties, 5 in each party, and went myself in the direction the men had been run. I found the tracks, and followed them up for several miles. Could not see anything of them.   Walked about ten miles.

       "  March, Tuesday,  23rd.—Still beating the hills in all directions, the three parties, but see no sign of them. This evening the whole of the parties met, and received fresh orders where to proceed in the morning, &c.

       "  Wednesday,  24^A.—Beating the Tiers in front of Ben Lomond, and a party beating near the South Esk.

       "  Thursday, 2oth March, —Two parties beating the Tiers round Ben Lomond, expecting they might be in that quarter. I went into Launceston, expecting to see the Governor.

       "  Friday, 26th, —The two parties still scouring the hiQ in all directions. The Governor did not arrive in Launceston. No black women that I took was sent to Launceston, to be turned moreover into the Bush. I see Mr. Lyttleton on the subject, and requested him to detain them until the Governor arrived.

       "  Saturday,  27  March, —This morning see Major Abbott, the Commandant, respecting the women, and expressed my wish to have the women kept until the Governor came over. He promised to do so, after my promising to be in Launceston on Tuesday next. The two parties arrived here this evening, and see nothing of the Natives.

       "Sunday, 2Sth. —I came home last nieht, and the men resting, &c. My two Sydney Blacks did not return from Launceston.

       "  Monday, 29th Ma/rch, —Started a party of 7 men oflf this morning to cross the S. Esk, and to beat towards the bogs where the Natives had been seen. I intend to proceed again into Launceston to meet the Governor on Tuesday, according to my

       promise to Major Abbott, the Commandant, to see him respecting the Black women, &c., &c., &c.

       '*  Tuesday,  30^A  March, —I left this morning for Launceston to see the Governor. Arrived in Launceston about sunset. Met Pigeon  (Sydney Black)  and took him back.

       "  Wedriesday, Zist, —Waiting in Town the whole of this day for the Governor.

       ''Thursday, \8t April, —Still in Town, waiting to see the Governor, who arrived late this evening in Launceston.

       "  Friday, 2nd April. —^The Governor sent for me this morning at 8 o'clock. Went to Government House. He then desired me to come up again at 10 o'clock, which I did, and then explained to him my reason for detaining the Black women in Launceston. He approved in a great measure of my plan respecting them, and also see Pigeon, who he promised to give him a great deal if he could succeed in bringing in a tribe on friendly terms. The Governor met me again at the Penitentiary, to see the women at 12 o'clock. Pigeon was with me, who explained the intention of the Government towards them, and told them he would also go with them in the Bush. Notlung was decided respecting them to-day.

       "  Saturday, Srd April, —^Waited on His Excellency this morning, who then told me that the Black women should go out this morning to my farm, and then with Pigeon and Tommy to go in the Bush with them. The women left Town about 2 o'clock for my farm. I started about an hour after them, and see them safe on the road.    I got home about sunset.

       "  Sunday, isth, —At home all day. The party I sent away returned last night without seeing any traces of the Natives.

       '* Monday,  5  April. —The Black women arrived here about 12 o'clock.    Made them tea, gave them bread, &c.

       "  Tuesday,  6  April —The women here all day. This evening the young child belonging to one of the women that suckled at the breast died. I put it in a box, and buried it at the top of the garden. She seemed much affected at the loss of the child, and cried much.

       "  Ajyril, Wednesday 7th. —^This morning I found the woman that lost her child over the grave, and crying much. This morning they were all getting ready for to start into the Bush. Pigeon and Tommy also left this about 12 o'clock, loaded with tea, sugar, bread, potatoes, blankets, and tobacco, and also four dogs which I gave them. They went in a direction for Ben Lomond, &c. I walked with them a mile or more, shaking hands with them. They appeared much affected at leaving me, and promised faithfully to return in a few days. Pigeon and Tommy took with them a few spears, and that's all.

       "  Thursday, 8th. —Started off this morning in different direc-

       tions to inform the settlers of the movment of Pigeon and Tommy, and not to take any notice of the smoke they might see.

       "  Fridayy 9th April.  — From information that I received respecting the Natives robbing some tents at Mill's Plains, I sent four men off in that direction. They, it appears, had robbed Mr. Nelson, and also went into a house where a woman was, took one blanket, and did not hurt her. This shows they do not commit murders when they might.

       ** Saturday, 10th.  — At home all day. Two of the men returned from the North Esk to give notice to the settlers in that quarter.

       "April, Sunday, 11th. —The men returned from the Break-o'-Day, gave them notice.

       *'Monday, 12th April. —^At home all day with part of the party.

       "  Tuesday, ISth, —The Party out in two parties, scouring the Settled Districts. I at home waiting for Pigeon and Tommy. John Taylor left the party this morning for good, having got his discharge.

       "  Wednesday, lUh.  — The Party out in two directions: us before.

       "  Thursday, 15th April. —The Party out as usual, scouring the Settled Districts. Pigeon and Tommy came home this evening, and at first made a false report, but afterwards told me the truth, and that they came to meet the Black women the next day. Danvers came home to-day from Mr. Anstey with a letter.

       "  Friday, 16th April. —Pigeon and Tommy started again this morning with suppUes. I went with them near Ben Lomond, and got the brass plates (?) the women had : carried them flour, &c., by some of the party.

       "  Saturday, 17th. —The party at home, and myself all day.

       "  Sunday, ISth April. —At home all day.

       ** Monday,  19^A.—Sent some of the party to scour the Bush, and made into Lauceston for slops : took two of them with me.

       "  Tuesday, 2Qth. —Got the slops from the store this morning, 13 suits, and instead of trousers got cloth. Rode home the same evening.

       *'  Wednesday, 21st. —^At home myself. The cart arrived with the slops, &c.    The rest of the party out.

       "  Thursday,  22  April. —At home, expecting to hear from Pigeon and Tommy.

       *^ Friday,  23  April. —The party out scouring the Settled Districts. Myself at home. Some of the party started with flour, tea, sugar, for Tommy and Pigeon.

       "  Saturday,  24.—Still at home, and no news of the Natives.

       "  Sunday,  25  AprU. —^The party still out. No news of Tommy or Pigeon.

       "  Monday, 2Qth, —The same as before.

       *'  Tuesday,  27  April, —The party return from taking flour, tea, sugar, and tobaicco to a place appointed, to be left for Pigeon and Tommy in case they should come that way.

       "  Wednesday,  28.—At home, and also the party. Thomas Bulgen commenced on rations.

       *'  Thursday, 29th. —The party started again this morning, four of them to scour round the Bush, and see if the flour had been taken by Tommy and Pigeon this day.

       "  Friday,  30  April, —This day arrived a new man of the name of Abyssinia Tom from Mr. Anstey's, to place himself under my orders, and in the place of Taylor.

       '* Saturday, 1st May, —Rode over to see and advise with Danvers, who met me at Major Gray's for that purpose, and he is to come to my house on Monday or Tuesday to see if anything is heard of my two men, in order that he may proceed to the eastward.

       "  Sunday, 2nd May, —^At home : received a letter from Mr. Simpson's clerk, stating that the Natives had made their appearance at Mr. Diprose's farm in the forest. I had intended to have sent a party towards the N.E.; but on receiving this information I shall start them in the morning to Mr. Diprose's farm.

       "  Monday, Srd May, —Started 5 of the party early this morning to the Forest across the Hobarton Boad, and to Diprose's, to scour that part of the coimtry for a few days. This evening Danvers and his party arrived, and one of my party returned from the Bush who had been to see if Pigeon and Tommy had took tea and flour.

       "  Tuesday,  4  May, —Danvers still here. Sent a man with a letter to Mr. Anstey, to learn from him what was best to be done with Danvers and bis men.

       "  Wednesday,  5.—Sent men to the North Esk and Break o' Day Plains to leani if they could if Pigeon and Tommy had been that way.   Danvers and his party still here.

       Thursday, &th. —Danvers and his party still here waiting, expecting Mr. Anstey's answer to my letter.

       "  Friday,  7  May, —The two men belonging to Danvers without any answer home (?). They had better act. Returned this afternoon. Immediately sent Danvers off with my horse to see Mr. Simpson, who had just come up from Mr. Ajistey's. The party returned from Diprose's farm without seeing anything of the natives, and suppose it only a fedse alarm.

       "  May, Saturday  8.—At last Tommy and Pigeon made their appearance, and stated that they had been round the E. coast

       from George's Bay to George Town, and could see nothing of the Natives or the women that left this. They called at George Town, and also found my chart there I left on the coast. Shortly Danvers returned, and said Mr. Simpson thought he had better stay a few more days until Pigeon and Tommy returued, before he went out with his party. The men also returned from Break o' Day Plains and N.E. So now I shall start on Monday with Danvers and the whole of my party in pursuit of the Natives round Ben Lomond, by way the boy Mongo wants to.

       "  Sunday, Qth May, —Men getting ready to leave to-morrow morning for the Bush.

       "  Mondayy lOth May. —Started this morning a 9 a.m. with Danvers and his party. Made round towards the Stacks of Ben Lomond, the way the boy wished to go. Stopped the whole of the party for the nighty and made a long hut, expecting it would rain.

       "  Tuesday, l\th. —Started this morning at 7 a.m., keeping round the Stacks of Ben Lomond to the place where we first fell in with the Natives, the-direction the black boy wished to go. About one p.m. the boy wished to bear more down towards the S.E. I then altered my course, and told Danvers he had better follow the boy where he wished to go. I then kept more round the mountain, and came to the place we fell in with the Natives, and commenced making a hut for the night. We had been here about an hour, when Danvers came with his party. The boy brought him round to show him some old huts, and then made direct to the place we were at. This convinced me the boy was in the tribe the day we fell in with them. Walked to-day about twelve miles. Got the flour, &c., we left for Pigeon in case they brought the women roimd that way.   Fine day.

       "  Wednesday, 12th. —Started this morning at 7 a.m., keeping a direction round towards the N. end of Ben Lomond, giving the boy his own road. Beat round to a branch of the South Esk, on the back of the mountain, and all stopped for the night on a small branch of the river. Walked about 12 miles. The boy seems to be ill to-day.   Fine day.

       *•  Thursday, VMh May. —Started this morning at 7 a.m., keeping a direction down the South Esk towards Break o' Day Plains, and giving the boy his own direction. Came to the bend of the river that runs round to Mr. Talbot Here the boy followed the main branch, and I with my party followed a small branch running to the North, See no more of Danvers and his party. Stopped for the night on the small creek. Walked about 18 miles.    Very ill from a cold, and getting worse.

       "  Friday,  14  May. —Started this mominff at 7 a.m. Crossed the creek and made on the top of some hills. Here I found myself much worse, and also some of the men had only four

       days* provisions. I have given up my own rations, and also four more of the men, to make up 10 or 11 days for seven of the party. I determined to go home. The party proceeded in a direction for Piper's river. I followed the S. Esk up, and stopped for the night on the back of Ben Lomond. Walked about 15 miles.    No trace of the Natives whatever.

       "  Saturdayt  15  May, —Started this morning at 7 a.m. with the four men. One of them being very ill, Black Bill, and crossed Ben Lomond, and got here about sunset The party of seven men beating the hills towards St. Patrick's Head.

       "  Sunday l&tk, —At home, resting. The party made the sea coast near St. P. H., and met Danvers on the coast with his party.    The Black boy very ilL

       "  Monday, 17th. —At the sea coast the party. Rode to Campbell Town to see and receive instructions from Mr. Simpson, who I am now ordered to make my communications straight. Got there, and found Mr. S. not at home. I wrote a short note and rode back. Got to Mr. M. after dark, and stopped for the night. Heard here that .the Natives had murdered a man belonging to Mr. Nowland. I started before daylight, and got home. Sent out the party, four, and the soldiers, to scour the hills, and rode in another direction to see if I could see anything. Came down on Mr. Nowland's hut, and found the whole of it to be false.    The man was a cripple, or I should have taken him

       before a magistrate.    Went down to Mr. D   and heard the

       whole of the report, and how it occurred. The party scouring the hills all day. The party beating up and down the coast, &c., near St. P. Head.

       "  Wednesday,  19.—At home unwell. The party still out scouring the hills with the soldiers. The party left the coast, and beating through the Tiers near St. P. H.

       "  May, Thursday,  20.—The party returned to-day, and see no trace of the Natives. Myself getting something better. The party still beating through the Tiers towards the S. Esk.

       *'  Friday,  21  May. —Jonathan Ford arrived with a letter from Mr. Simpson stating that he may resign being in my party, and leaves accordingly to-day. The party made down to the South Esk and stopped for the night.

       '*  May, Satv/rday, 22nd. —^At home all day with the men I got. The other seven men arrived this evening without the least trace of the Natives. It now appears that they have no certain place of stopping any time, as the Black boy could find no trace of them, nor yet see them.

       "  Sunday, 23rd. —Men getting ready to start. Part  of  them to Diprose's Forest, the otners to Town to-morrow.

       "  Monday, 24ith May. —Started this morning for Town to get supplies for the party.    The party started to Diprose's Forest.

       When I got to Launceston, went and see the Black women, and learn from them how one of them had been shot, and one dead, and those very illtreated by the men at Piper river.

       "  Tuesdayy 25th. —Still in Launceston.    Got my supplies from

       the stores, and sent them out by my cart—tea, sugar, tobacco, 4c.

       "  Wednesday, 26th, —Was obliged to remain in a day longer

       than I intended to settle an affair with Mr. Bobinson and Mr.

       Wedge about land.

       "  Thursday, 27th. —Got my business settled this morning, and rode home. Got home some time after dark. The cart arrived also with the supplies all safe.

       "  Friday,  28.—The party returned this evening from Diprose's Forest witiiout seeing the least trace of the Natives, and think the whole of the reports to be false. I intend to ride to Campbell Town to-morrow to see Mr. Simpson, and advise with him how to act.

       '* May, Saturday, 29th. —Did not ride over to Mr. Simpson to-day, but intend to do so to-morrow.

       "  SuTiday,  30  May. —Bode over to Mr. Simpson, aud advised with him. He gave me instructions how to act, and to proceed into Launceston to-morrow to get the Black women, and proceed to Piper river to discover, if possible, the body of the woman murdered.

       ** Monday,  31  May. —Sent seven men to scour the front of Ben Lomond, and near the Nile. Rode into Launceston. Got in this evening. Went and see Mr. Lyttleton, who agreed with the plans of Mr. Simpson and myself, and said he would give me warrants to apprenend the men at Piper's river.

       "  Tuesday,  1  June,  1830.—Call on Major Abbott this morning, and asked him to allow the women to go with me, and also to read Mr. Simpson's instructions to me. This he refrised to do. I again called on Mr. Lyttleton, who wrote me a letter, and requested me to answer it, to state the reason why I had not been to Piper's river.    This I did.

       "  June, Wednesday  2.—Started this morning in company with Dr. Brown, who slept at my house this night. "  Thursday, Srd Jun£. —^At home all day. "  Friday, 4i Jxt/m. —At home all day.    The party not return from the Bush.

       '^ Jwae^ Saturday, 5th. —The party still out, and am much vexed at Major Abbott's conduct in not allowing the women to proceed mth me.

       "  Sunday, Qth, —Expect to hear to-day from Mr. Simpson, and addressed another letter to him, stating that I will ride over to him to-morrow, but received no letter from him.

       "  Monday,  7  June. —Rode over to Mr. Simpson this morning, who was very much surprised at what I stated to him respecting

       Major Abbott not aUowing the women to go with me. He wrote off immediately to tJbe Colonial Secretary, and expect on answer .... a special messenger. Bode home this evening. The men returned without any success.

       "  Tuesday, %th. —Sent off four men to St. Patrick's Head for the boy Mungo, who is there very ill, and to use every means to bring him home.

       "  June^ Wednesday, 9th, —At home all day. The men returned and stated the boy had passed down. The men, six, scouring round Ben Lomond.

       "  Thursday, 10th June. —Sent two men this morning to Mr. Simpson to see if he had detained the boy.

       "  Friday, llth. —The men returned this morning from Campbell Town, bringing a message from Mr. Simpson that he would send for the boy. The party returned from Ben Lomond without success.

       *' Saturday, 12th Jun€, —At home. All of the party getting shoes to mend.

       ^* Sunday, l^th, —Received a letter from Mr. Simpson late this night, enclosing one from the Governor, and to get the women from Major Abbott.

       "  Monday, l^th. —Sent the party this morning to proceed into Launceston to get the Black women to proceed to Piper's Biver, Bode into Launceston mysel£

       "  Tuesday, Ibth June. —Got the women, and started them and the party across the river towards George Town.

       "  Wednesday, 16th. —Started this morning at daybreak, and made down to Mount Direction, and stopped for the night. The B. women could not walk well.

       "  Thursday, llth. —Started this morning, and heading towards George Town. The women walked very slow. Made below the 14 mile bridge, and stopped on the roadside for the night. Walked about 12 miles. Day fine. Caught a Kangaroo for the women.

       "  Friday, ISth June. —Started this morning, at sunrise, down to George Town road. Pass the 14 mile bridge, and then turned off to the East to make the coast. Made it about 12 noon, and passed Currie river, and stopped on the coast for the night. The Black boy rode all day on the horse. Killed two Kangaroos for them. Could not find any grass for the horse to eat. Expect to make Piper's river in the morning. Walked to day 16 miles.    Fine day.

       '* Saturday, 19th June. —Started this morning, at sunrise, beating down the coast, and made Piper's river at 10 A.M. The women tried to wade it, but could not do it. We then made down to the mouth of the river, waited some time for the tide running out, and then crossed it.   The women took me to

       the old hut, and pointed to the place where the Black, as they thought, was buried. But this was where the white man was buried, which had been killed by the Natives some time back. The men here had shown it them, and said * Black fellow;' which

       1 suppose they thought was a Native buried that had been killed by them, which they had told me of in Launceston. We then followed up Piper's river, on the east side, for four or five miles, until we.made Gee's hut. Here we found four men, who gave me an account of taking the women, which appears to me to be quite correct, and used them well. I found one blanket and two dogs, the same that I gave them when leaving my farm. The other woman ran away, and  coo-ed  to them after night. The boy rode here. We made it at 3 PJI. Walked about 16 miles. The women told me they heard the other woman halloo, on the other side of the creek, and nothing more of her after.

       "  Sunday, 2Qth Jmie. —Got firom those men 60 pounds of flour and one sheep for the {)arty, and started dgain this morning about 11 A-M., beating through the Bush in a S.W. direction for Launceston. The women told me they could make it in two days. We got to the open part of Piper's river, and stopped for the night on the banks. It began to rain this evening, and expect it to be a rainy night. Walked about 8 miles, over an open forest country.

       "  Monday,  21«^  Jwae. —Started this morning at sunrise. It rained very hard all last night. We re-crpssed Piper's river. The horse got fast in a tree, and I made sure he would never get out alive. After the whole of the party being in the water for two hours, we got him out. We then went on, and crossed three small creeks, still keeping a S.W. direction. We fell in with several old huts where the Blacks had been some months back. We again stopped for the night in a forest. The land we passed over was open forest, and some good on Piper's river.

       *'  Ttcesday, 227id June, —Started this morning before sunrise, and made out about 10 A.M. within six miles of Launceston. See several more huts the women brought us to. I rode and reported my being down at Piper's river to Mr. Lyttleton, and told him the particulars. Got on with the women to the east of Launceston, and stopped for the night. Walked about 12 miles.

       "23  June, Wednesday. —Started this moniing, and beating through the hills to the east of Launceston. Bained all day. Walked about 10 miles.

       "24  June, Thursday. —Started this morning, and beating through the hills in a direction for the Nile.    Crossed it about

       2 P.M. and stopped for the night about two miles over it Walked about 12 miles.

       M

       •' 25  June, Friday. —Started this morning and made Kingston about 3 P.M. The women much tired. Made them some tea, and gave them bread and mutton, &c.

       "  Saturday,  26^A  June. —The women in the yard. Kept no watch over them last night. Supplied them with provisions. The men getting their shoes repaired, to start about Tuesday next, to remain stationary for a month to the east of Ben Lomond.

       '* Stcnday,  27  June. —The women as yesterday, and men getting ready to start into the Bush.

       "  Monday, 2Sth June. —^The women and party as yesterday.

       "  Tuesday,  29th  June. —Started this morning with the women and all the party, heavily loaded. Made the front or east end of Ben Lomond.

       "  June, Wednesday SOlh, —^Made round to the  Stacks  of the mountain, and stopped on a spot where the women said would be most likely the Blacks would come or pass, that it was a usual beat for them. Here we commenced making huts to live in for a month, and as  a,  depdt for provisions.

       "  Thursday, 1st July. —The party still engaged in forming their huts.    Qot them finished.

       "  Friday^ 2nd July. —The women left this morning to scour round the mountain, and where they think proper to go, in order to try to fall in with their own Tribe, and to bring them to me. My two Sydney Blacks, Black Bill, and a white man of the name of James Qumm, accompanied them, all without firearms. I gave them three dogs.

       *'Saturday, 3rd July. —Two of the men came back this morning, and said the women wished to proceed a good distance round and about the mountain, and they came back for a further supply of provisions.   Went off again to join the women.

       *'Smiday, 4i July. —^The men still at the huts, looking out, &c.

       "  Monday,  5  Jtdy. —No news of the women. The men on the look out round the forest.

       "  Tuesday, 6th July. —No signs of the women, and the men still looking round one every day. See to  ...  . some native dogs, but could not get near enough to shoot them.

       "  Wednesday,  7  July. —No signs of the women that went off. The men looking out as before.

       "  Sth July, Thursday. —No signs of the women or men. The party at the dep6t out as usual.

       "  Friday,  9  July. —^No account of the women, &c. The men as usual.

       ''Satu/rday,  10  July, —No signs of the women. The men at the depdt as usual.

       '* Sunday, 11th July. —No signs of the women. The men at the hut as usual.

       "  Monday, \Wi July, —No news of the women, and the men at the hut out in different directions as before.

       "  Tuesday^ IZth July. —The women not heard of, and the men employed as before.

       "  Wednesday, \4^th July. —No news of the women. The men employed as usual.

       **  Thursday,  15  July. —I heard to-day that the women had made Pigeon's Plains, and could not walk further on account of the snow, which fell three or four feet in places.

       '* Friday, \6th July. —The women and men remained on Pigeon Plains on account of the snow. The men still at the hut and going out as usual.

       "  Saturday,  17  Jviy. —The women made here this evening, and intend to proceed to the huts to-morrow with supplies.

       ''Sunday, \Sth July. —The women left this again this morning for the east end of Ben Lomond, where the men is stationed —the remainder of the party there. The snow still up there three and four feet deep.

       ''Monday,  19^A.—The women and men still at the hut, and could not go forth on account of the snow.

       "  Tuesday,  20^A.—The women and men the same as yesterday.

       "  Wednesday,  21  July.—^The  women and men could not go out on account of the snow.

       "  Thursday,  22.—The men and women as usual. The snow somewhat melted away.

       "  Friday,  23.—The women left this morning with Gumm, Pigeon, Johnny Crook, and Black Bill, to scour the country towards the sea coast.    The party on the look out in the hut.

       "  Saturday, 2^th. —The men at the hut as yesterday.

       "  Sunday, 25th July. —The men at the hut looking out. No news of the women.

       "Monday,  26^A  July.^The  men as usual at the hut, and the women away.

       "  Tuesday, 27th July.—'The  women no news of them. The men at the huts on the look out.

       "  Wednesday,  28.—No tidings of the women. The men as usual.

       "  Thursday,  29^A.—No news of the women. The men as usual.

       "  Friday,  30.—No news of the women. The men employed at the hut as usual.

       "Saturday, Slst July. —No word of the women. The men looking out at the huts.

       "Sunday, 1st August. —No news of the women. Suppose they are gone towards George's River and St. Patrick's Head on account of being away so long. The men at the hut looking out, but not the least sign of the Natives.
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       "  Monday, 2nd Augvst —No news of the women. The men at the station as usual. , I went to Launceston to-day.

       "  Tuesday, 3rd. —No news of the women. The men at the station as usual.    I came from Launceston to-day.

       "  Wednesday,  4^A.—Heard to-day that the women was coming down from Break o' Day Plains without seeing any signs of the Natives. Had been round towards George's River and St. Patrick's Head.    The party at the station as usual.

       "  Thursday,  6  August, —The women came here to-day with the men that had been out with them, and stopped in the yard. The party at the station as usual The women expressed a wish to go away by themselves.

       "  Friday, 6th August. —The women here all day, and still expressing a wish to go by themselves. I, with the advice of Major Gray, thought it best to let them go, and intend to start them to-morrow with a supply of flour, meat, tea, sugar, tobacco up to the 20th August.

       "  Saturday, 7th Augvst. —^The women left this morning for the east end of Ben Lomond, the station where the men is, with three men carrying suppUes for them. They wished the men to be removed from this place, which I promised to do. They made every promise to bring the Tribes in they belong to.

       "  Sunday, Sth Augiost. —^The women left this morning from the station, loaded with as much as they could carry, and by themselves, to endeavour to find their Tribe to bring in. Hid (?) a supply of flour in a place for them when they came this way again. I also removed the party from the station this day before they left, nearer the front of Ben Lomond. I have every hope of the women bringing in their Tribe. I gave them three dogs, knives, pipes, &c., &c., to carry with them.

       "  Monday, 9th Augvst. —The party made new huts, and act as before, that is only one man seen, &c.

       **  Tuesday, \Qth. —The party stationed as before in their new huts.

       "  Wednesday, Wth. —^The party as before. No sign whatever of anything moving.

       "  Thursday, 12th August. —The party as before. No signs of any Natives, and no signs of the women.

       "  Friday, \Wi. —The party as before on the look out. No signs of the women.

       *'  Saturday, \Uh. —The party still as before, stationary.

       *^ Sunday, Ihth Av^mt. —The party as before, and no news of the women.   "*

       "  Monday, IQth.  — The men as before. No signs of Natives.

       **  Tuesday, I7th Av^ust, —The men as before on the look out in different quarters.

       ^'Wednesday, l%th August, —The party as before. No signs of any Natives.

       "  Thursday^ l^th. —The men came infer me to take a description of them before I proceed to Hobart.

       • "  Friday, 20th August. —The men preparing to go out again until I return from Hobart Town, intending to see the Governor.

       "  Saturday,  21s^.—The men getting shoes mended to proceed again in the Bush. I leave for Hobaxt Town, and rode to Ross Bridge this evening in company with Mr. Pitcairn.

       '*  Sunday  22.—Left Ross this evening and rode to Mr. Anstey. Stopped there some time, and dined at Jericho. Left there about 2 P.M., and in descending Spring Hill a man met us in the road, who stated that the Natives waa at Mr. Hooper's House. Mr. P. and I rode down immediately. When we got in sight see the house surrounded by Natives. I galloped down, and the whole of them fled. The first thing we see was the dead body of Mr. Hooper, and a great number of goods lying outside the house. We galloped ofiF to the Lovely Banks' Inn, and sent men after them, and rode on to the Crown Inn, Bagdad.

       "  Monday,  23rrf  August, —This morning rode into Hobarton, and wrote a letter to the Governor, giving him an account of the murder.

       **  Tuesday, 24ith August, —This morning waited on His Excellency, and had a long conversation respecting the expedition against the aborigines. He was well satisfied with my conduct, and promised me that I should receive an order for my land.

       ** August, Wednesday,  25.—Writing a long letter to the Governor respecting the men acting under me in pursuit of the Natives, and also respecting the steps I would recommend to be taken.

       "  Thursday,  26^A  August, —Left Hobarton, and rode in company with the Rev. John Hutchinson to Butch  ...  at the foot of Constitution Hill.    Stopped for the night.

       "  Friday, 27th August. —Rode to Campbell Town, and stopped for the night.    See Mr. Simpson.

       ** Saiwrday^ 2%th August, —Left early in the morning, and rode to Major Gray's, and from there home.

       "  Sunday,  29  August, —^Mr. Hutchinson preached here to-day to a number of men.

       "  Monday,  30  Augud, —My men had returned from the Bush on Saturday night, and remained at home.

       *'  Tuesday, %\st, —At home the party, &c.

       "  Wednesday, Ist September, —The party at home.

       *'Thursday 2nd September, —Received information that the Natives had robbed several huts. Sent the party off in two directions to endeavour to fall in with them.

       "  Friday Srd September, —The men all out.
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       Saturday, ^th, —The men all out.

       Sunday 6th. —The men all out.

       Monday, 6th September, —The men still out.

       "  Tuesday, 7th September, —The party still out.

       "  Wednesday,  8  September, —The men still out.

       *'  Thursday, 9th. —The party as before.

       *' Friday, IQth. —The men still out as before.

       '* September, Saturday, 11th, —The men returned this day after scouring the Tiers in Blackman's Common and Bogs, and round east end of Ben Lomond, &c., without seeing any trace cf them.

       "Septemier, Sunday,  12.—^At home all day.

       "Monday,  13.—Received a letter from the Colonial Secretary to lose no time in seeing the Police Magistrate of my district to suggest arrangements how the body of people called upon by the Government Order was to act in our district. Immediately rode to Major Gray, and from thence to Campbell Town to see Mr. Simpson on the subject.

       "  September, Tuesday, 14sth, —^Rode to Major Gray, and stopped for the night.

       "  September, Wednesday 15th, —Rode home. All the party in, mending and repairing their clothes.

       "  Thursday,  16  September. —Sent a cart into Launceston this morning, and rode in also to get two months' supply from the 24th inst.

       *'  Friday,  17  Sqfteniber.-^Qot  the supply from the stores and sent them out.

       "  Saturday,  18  September. —Left Launceston, and rode home.

       "Sunday, 19th September. —The cart arrived with supplies from Launceston.

       "  Monday 20th, —The whole of the i)arty getting knapsacks, clothes, boots, &c., made, to be ready to move out on the 7th of October, the day appointed by Government for the general movement against the Natives.

       "  Ticesday,  21  September. —The party employed as yesterday.

       *'Wednesday, 22nd. —The men as before.

       "  Thursday, 2Srd. —The men as before.

       " 24,  Friday, —The men as before.

       "  September, Saturday  25.—This morning at sunrise a servant of Major Gray's came over on horseback, with a message from Major Gray, stating that three of his men was murdered and a fourth left for dead. Immediately divided the party, and sent them off in four directions most likely to fall in with them. I went with one party myself towards the place the men was murdered. Also learned from two constables that the Natives had murdered four men at Oyster Bay. Beating the Tiers all day without any sign of the Natives.

       #
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       "  SefptembeTy Swnday^ 2^th. —Beating through the Tiers again, but could see nothing of them.

       '* Septerriber, Monday 27th. —Beating about but could see nothing of them, and some of the men was barefooted, and thought the best plan to return, and still prepare against the 7th October.

       "  Tuesday,  28  September,  1830.—This morning I sent the men to Campbell Town, to get slop clothing, &c., from the Police Magistrate.

       ''September, Wednesday 29th,  1830.—The men returned from Campbell Town with slops, and brought with them the boy Mungo, which was sent from Oatlands to join my party.

       •'  Thursday,  30  September, —The men getting all things ready for the 7th."

       The journal indicates one feature of the character of this bold Bushman —  humanity.  In spite of the violent and general hatred to the whole race then cherished by the settlers, he ever extended a kind hand to those natives who sufiFered, without having offended, while pitying others driven to cruel deeds under the impulse of revenge for abominable treatment. His gentleness and even tenderness towards children and women of the tribes brought him their confidence as well as regard.

       The latter part of the journal refers to the  Line  or levy  en masse  of the inhabitants, soldiers and constables of the island, in pursuit of the aborigines. The gathering was ordered for October 7th, 1830. The result of this movement, at an expense of 30,000Z., was the capture of a boy. But, ultimately, by the work of such conciliators as Bobinson and Batman, all the dark people were brought in, and taken to Flinders' Island in the Straits.

       When Batman first decided upon the work, he wrote thus to the (Jovemment:—

       " I have formed the determination, provided it meets with His Excellency's approbation under certain conditions, of devoting some time, and all the exertion of which I am capable, toward bringing in alive some of that much injured and most unfortunate race of beings."

       The  Laun^eston Advertiser  of that year, on August 24th, observed ;— "  Mr. John Batman is very well fitted for that office from his knowledge of the Bush, from his early habits, and

       from his great capability of enduring fatigue and privation." The latter were sure to be borne by those who went out after the blacks in so densely wooded and rocky a country. He was the first to make use of female native spies, to induce the tribes to come away to a fine hunting ground, where there would be no bad whites to ill-treat them. He was successful in the capture of a tribe. He had never to fight but once, and then he was set upon suddenly in a scrub by a large party of wild natives. James Qumm, his companion in 1830, became his assistant in the expedition of 1835 to Port Phillip. • He was accustomed to deal with aborigines. The Governor, Colonel Arthur, spoke thus of him in a despatch home:—

       " Mr. Batman treats the savages with the utmost kindness, distributing to them clothing and food. They were placed under no restraint, but all the indulgence that had been pledged was manifested toward them. Mr. Batman who has taken the most lively interest in conciliating these wretched people, and has been one of the few who supposed that they mi^t be influenced by kindness, was, with his family, most assiduous in cultivating the best understanding."

       Mr. Melville, who knew him then well, declared that he '* proceeded not with the sword, but with the olive branch." The Rev. John West, historian of Tasmania, said:— *'  To Mr. Batman belongs the praise of mingling humanity with severity, of perceiving human affections he was commissioned to resist. He certainly began in the midst of conflict and bloodshed to try the softer influejice of conciliation and charity, being one of the few who entertained a strong confidence in the power of kindness."

       For his services in the  Black War,  he received the grant of 2,000 acres of land, and each of his Sydney Blacks had 100 acres. As elsewhere named, several of these Sydney natives, being personally attached to Batman, continued to live with him, and accompanied him in his expedition to Port Phillip. Only a year before he left Kingston on that trip, several returned to him, after a brief visit to Sydney. The  LauTiceston Advertiser of March 20th, 1834, said :—

       "The Sydney Natives who were employed here during our Black War, under Mr. Batman, and returned some time

       ago to New South Wales, have come back to the colony in the  Active.  We believe they return to employ themselves under Mr. Batman again, as farm labourers. They are active fellows, and, we understand, much more industrious than the generality of the natives."

       His private career waai that of a farmer and grazier. If not always prudent in expenditure, he was neither thriftless nor careless. Somewhat too generous in obliging his friends, he was not unmindful of the claims of home. He accumulated property, he was diligent in business, but he clearly failed in keeping accounts. He had spent too many years roving to be of settled habits. His want of method, his dislike to pen work, his deficiency of commercial education, his foolish confidence in others, and, later on, his lengthened illness, operated in the derangement of his affairs, and a sad loss to his family. His appointed executors, Captain Lonsdale and Mr. James Simpson, appear to have been alarmed at the confusion of. bookkeeping, and so refused to act. Lawyers took their place; and, while litigation was favourable to gentlemen of the robe, it dissipated a magnificent property, and left the children heirs to a real care and a phantom fortune.

       Few fSeimilies have been finer in physical development, but few more unfortunate and neglected, than the family of John Batman. The only one to receive and transmit his name perished as a child beneath the waters of the Yarra. The daughters are scattered or deceased. We were acquainted with three of these. Maria, Mrs. Fennell, lived for years near the Punt, over the Yarra to Studley Park. One who married Mr. Bunco, the Botanist, and at one time the fellow traveller of Dr. Leichhardt, has also passed away. Another, gentle and beloved, was the partner of the much respected Town Clerk of Geelong, Mr. William Weire, and left him two sons. Neighbours, who knew the girls as children, spoke enthusiastically of their beauty and vivacity. The Kingston home was a truly happy one, and was so esteemed by Governor and by convict servant. His Yarra dwelling was the resort of officials and settlers, who there foimd ungrudging hospitality.

       The progress of settlement, and the prospective sale of land upon the banks of the Yarra, naturally disturbed the minds of those who had built upon the ground so unceremoniously occu-

       pied. The particular lot submitted to auction might be bought over their heads. Among those likely to suffer from this cause was Mr. Batman himself. Seeking to arrest the calamity, or modify its force, he sent the following memorial to Lord Glenelg. He dated it from Melbourne, Port Phillip, 21st March, 1837:—

       " That your memorialist is a native of this colony, and has resided in Van Diemen's Land fifteen years, and begs to refer your Lordship to the late Lieut-Governor Colonel Arthur, for the services he rendered to that Government at different periods.

       " That your memorialist was an extensive farmer and grazier in that colony, and from his frequent excursions through the island, when employed by the Government to suppress the outrages of the aborigines upon the settlers, and also at other times on private business, enabled him to form a perfect knowledge of its capabilities for grazing. Some of the most extensive graziers agreed with him in opinion that it would be highly desirable that some outlet should be obtained for the surplus stock, and therefore calculated that the southern parts of New South Wales afforded the greatest facilities for that purpose.

       "That your memorialist in May, 1855, chartered a small vessel, and proceeded to this place, and, after exploring it for some time, found the country to be well adapted for all purposes, but more particularly for sheep. That yoiu: Lordship's memorialist, during his perambulation into the interior, opened a friendly intercourse with the aborigines, which feeling exists to the present period. On your memorialist's retiurn to Van Diemen s Land, he left three white servants, who accompanied him in his expedition, to keep up the friendly feeling then existing between him and the natives, with suppUes and sundry clothing to distribute among any other tribe who might come down, and whom he had not met with.

       " From the favourable report he gave of the country he passed over, and the treaty he entered into with the natives, he induced a number of gentlemen to form themselves into a company, with a view of sending sheep to Port Phillip. Nearly thirty thousand were exported the first year, besides horses, cattle, &c.; and your Lordship's memorialist is convinced that fully 40,000 sheep, besides other stock, will be imported this season. Feeling the necessity of keeping up the good understanding, so happily commenced, and already established, the vessel was sent back with further supplies with your memorialist's brother, wife, and four children, to take charge of the establishment, and use all means in his power to protect and conciliate the

       aborigines, which he fully carried into efiect up to your memorialist's arrival with his family, consisting of his wife, seven daughters, son, and thirty servants.

       " It then became necessary for your memorialist to incur considerable expense in erecting suitable dwellings, stores, garden, &c., for their reception; he likewise further begs leave to state he has imported stock and other property to the amount of 10,000i. sterling, and consequently trusts your Lordship will take the above circumstances into your most favourable consideration, and grant him the land he has improved upon, extending to about twenty acres, not being in the township now laid out."

       This request could not be granted. But Mr. Batman secured the quiet holding of his ground on Batman's Hill, though immediately contiguous to the town lots of Melbourne. Lord Glenelg was so gracious as to send a message to him, through the Governor, expressive of his regret that the request could not be complied with. But on March 30th, 1838, he made a renewed attempt. There seemed a hope that the said twenty acres might yet be granted, especially as Lord Glenelg had expressed, through James Stephen, Esq., an opinion that any garden of an acre, formed by the Association, should not be the subject of general competition.

       "I have already expended,'* wrote Batman, "upwards of 1,600Z. in improvements on the land, and if the instructions issued to the authorities in New South Wales for the sale of land, are carried into effect, I need not inform your Lordship how ruinous the result would be to my large family." He pleads on account of such improvements having been made prior to the arrival of the representations of government.

       Lord Glenelg, August 25th, 1838, informed Governor Gipps that he was " of opinion that in the purchase of the land on which his house was built, with any adjacent land actually cultivated by him as a garden, or improved by any material outlay previously to the arrival at Port Phillip of the general instructions on the subject of the disposal of crown land in the settlement, Mr. Batman should be allowed the fair value of such improvements."

       Mr. Batman made a final appeal to Sydney, March 12th, 1839. Captain Lonsdale, the Resident, reported on the claim, May 6th.   The magistrate, in forwarding his report, begs to add

       that " after a protracted illness Mr. Batman died last night." But on April 28th, 1837, Governor Bourke gives this report upon the appeal:—

       " I find it impossible to accede to, consistently with the view which has been taken by myself and the Executive Council of the claims of the Port Phillip Settlers. For the present, Mr. Batman has been informed that, although no title can be conferred upon him, and he is to abstain from erecting any additional buildings, or inclosures, he is at liberty to continue the occupation of the house and garden until further notice."

       Lord Qlenelg approved of the decision of His Excellency The widow's memorial met with no better fate. Children and grandchildren have alike been disregarded by the Gov^emment.

       The lingering illness of Mr. Batman kept him many months indoors. On May 6th, 1839, his powerful frame yielded to disease. His death was a shock to that infant community. His friends were many, and his foes were few. Among those who mourned thereby the loss of a true friend, was Buckley, the silent man, who gave way to loud utterances of grief. Mrs. Batman survived him a few years. In a few years more his name was seldom heard. His house was carried oiF. The Sheoaks, that gave weird music from his land, were destroyed. And Batman's Hill itself, on which they grew, has been levelled by official expediency or commercial requirements. Not a street of Melbourne has been called after him, and his descendants are only toiling strangers in the land. Not till 1882 was a monument erected, by public subscription, over his remains in the old burial ground of Melbourne. But all having loyalty to the brave and sympathy for the fallen, will cry, at least, Alas I poor Batman.
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       CHAPTER  IX.

       batman's journal and ekport.

       This  celebrated document may now be laid before the reader, as it was presented to the public in the Melbourne  Yeoman, August 30th, 1862. The original has been long preserved by Mr. Batman's son-in-law, Mr. William Weire, the aged and esteemed Town Clerk of Geelong. Through Mr. C. J. Ham, Mayor of Melbourne, it has been presented to the Melbourne Public Library.   The book is an ordinary memorandum book.

       The diary runs as follows:—

       *'  Sunday, May  10, 1835.—^Arrived on board the  Rebecca  at half-past twelve, with Mr. Sams, who remained about twenty minutes, and returned about four miles down the river Tamar. I gave the men who brought me down one dollar. The  Janet now on ground. Got down this tide as far as Roserears. Went on shore for half an hour. Got under way at eleven o'clock, and during this tide came to Middle Island. The natives worked exceeding well during the day and night, and in a great measure owing to their exertions we got so far down.

       ** Monday, May 11, 1SS5, —Left Middle Island this morning at nine A. M., with a light wind, and got into a small bay near Georgetown for the purpose of getting wood. The captain and I walked over the neck of land into Georgetown. The wind was at this time (about twelve o'clock) very fair, and we expected to be away in a few hours, but at two o'clock the wind came direct from the westward, blowing exceedingly hard, accompanied with rain and hailstones. The vessel came round the point, and with difficulty got into the cove. The  Opossum sloop, which had gone towards the heads, came back flying, and anchored alongside our vesseL In beating into the bay all our men got well wet through. Just taking up my quarters at Wilson's Inn for the night. Lent Captain Harwood three dollars.

       "  Tuesday J May  12,1835.—The wind very high, with rain during the night, and this morning about nine A.M., it had every appearance of fine weather, and wind fair. Eleven o'clock the wind came fresh again from the westward, with heavy rain. I saw the port officer (Dr. Smith), who said that we could not get out; that the moon would be at her full to-morrow, and most likely we should have a change of weather. The weather now appears very fickle. Paid for oflfal for dogs, 5s.  Sd.,  to butcher. Four o'clock.—The wind blowing strong from due west; about eight o'clock the clouds cleared off, and the night became very fine. The moon at its full, and every appearance of a fine day in the morning, and fair wind expected. A bullock slaughtered to-day in this town. The natives went out and caught three kangaroos for the dogs. W—d, the p—t, quite druuK at this inn to-day.

       "  Wednesday, May  13,1835.—During the night it began again to blow and rain heavily, and this morning very foggy, with rain, and blowing very strong again from the west; quite impossible to get out to do any good up to this moment, ten o'clock. Every person in Georgetown smiling at beefsteaks for breakfast this morning; before this not an ounce of fresh meat could be got for three or four days back. The whole of this day the wind blowing extremely hard from the west, and not the least chance of its doing otherwise for some days, such is the opinion of Bums, an old master of Government vessels; also Ward (who, by the by, was here drinking again to-day, although I am aware that pilots are wanting in Launceston), and also Dr. Smith, who all agree that we are likely to have a week of the same kind of weather, and that we shall not be able to move for some time. The blacks caught one kangaroo to-day. Nine p. M.—The wind as before. I have some thoughts of sending a boat to Launceston to-morrow. The Sydney natives behave well up to the present time, also the three white men.

       "  Thursday, May  14, 1835.—Blew hard from the west, all night the same, squalls this morning, with rain. Could not get a boat this morning to forward to launceston. About ten o'clock a vessel appeared in sight. Dr. Smith, port officer, was kind enough to take Captain Harwood and myself on board. We found the brig to be the  Hind,  from Sydney. Upon consideration, and also no likelihood of the wind changing, I thought it most advisable to send Captain Harwood with this vessel to Launceston for biscuit, meat, &c. He got a passage, and proceeded forthwith. On my return to the vessel another ship appeared in sight. The port officer went off on board, and I have not heard as yet what she is; that is, what her name is. She is a barque; supposed to be the  Belinda,  from Sydney, which had sailed two weeks before the  Hind.    I sent the natives

       out to hunt. I do not like the idea of going myself again to Launceston, after taking a farewell of all my friends for some time. Four o'clock P. M.—The wind still blowing strong firom due west. The  Edward  and  Opossum  are also wind-bound lying here. A vessel, of about eighteen tons, belonging to Captain Friend, lying alongside of ours, with only one man on board. She is loaded with bark from Cape Portland; the master, who

       is Captain Friend's  , and paid by Government, is gone to

       Launceston to receive orders. This vessel might with the greatest ease be taken away by prisoners. I have taken up my quarters at the Waterloo Tavern, which is a very excellent inn; more so than any in Launceston. The barque that came in was the  Belinda^  from Sydney, with whaleboats for Reily and Penny. The wind up to ten o'clock was still from the west.

       ''Friday, May  15, 1835.—Fine morning; the first we have had since we have been here. The wind still from the west. A small schooner came in this morning; supposed to be the William and Anne,  from Port Sorrel, with lime for Captain Scotter. I went to day over to Captain Hassall's farm in a whale-boat lent me by Dr. Smith. I found that Hassall was not at home, but got the potatoes I went for—3581bs. Got my dinner there with young Earans, and returned with the tide. The wind still blowing from due west. The  Edward,  schooner, for Circular Head, is also wind-bound, and lying off Middle Island. We expect to go out together. The captain has not returned from Launceston, but we expect him to-night. Ten o'clock.—The night fine, the wind as before.

       "  Saturday, May  16, 1835.—This morning very hazy, what little air there is is from south-east; this, if it freshens up, is a fair wind for us. I went on board the cutter, and had not been there long before the  Shamrock  appeared in sight, towed bv two whaleboats. Captain Friend, Mr. Scott, the surveyor, and also Mr. Youland. Captain Friend sent me a letter on board from Mr. Cottrell, who informs me that the detention of the clearance for the  Bebecca  was that the port fees for her last and present trip had not been paid. Captain Harwood arrived shortly after Captain Friend, and brought me another letter from Mr. Cottrell,

       who informed me that he had forwarded my letters to Mrs. B  .

       At half-past five o'clock, to my astonishment, Mrs. Batman arrived with our groom in the gig. She had received my letters, and thought I might remain here some days yet, and therefore thought she might as well come down. The wind still in the same quarter—due west.

       "  Sunday, May  17, 1835.—The wind rather favourable ; this morning the vessel made down to the heads, with the schooner

       Edward.     I drove down in my gig with Mrs. B  .   Went on

       board.    At this time, the wind blowing hard from due west

       again, we returned and visited the lighthouse, and then drove into town. The wind blew so hard that the vessels (three) were obliged to run into Kelso's Bay for the night. This evening Messrs. Collicott and Wright arrived and dined with us at the Waterloo Inn.    The wind much the same during the night.

       "  Monday, May  18, 1835.—This morning received a note from the captain. The wind was fair. We got breakfast, and asked Dr. Smith to take us on board in his boat. He readily consented. Mrs. Batman had the horse put to the gig to see me fairly off the heads at sea j she drove up to the lighthouse, and there remained until we were nearly out of sight, and no hope of our going in again. The  Edtoard  schooner kept just before us all the evening. We spoke her once. I saw directly after the gig leave. I expected Mrs. B   would remain until morning in case we should again put back. The wind up to twelve o'clock this night was westerly, and making but little way. Hope my dear  wiie  may return home safe.

       *'  Tuesday, May  19,1835.—This morning the captain said the wind was foul, and that we had better go into Port Sorrel, and that it was likely to blow hard. I agreed to this, having been very ill the whole of yesterday and during the night: so he ran into Port Sorrel this morning about nine o'clock. We anchored close to the heads, ready to take advantage of the first fair wind. I can now see the schooner a long way out to sea. We caught some fish for breakfast, and I then went on shore for some time, and returned again to the vessel. We then moved her closer under the island. I went again on shore to endeavour to get some kangaroo, but the country was so scrubby that the dogs could not run. The wind blew very hard this evening, or rather afternoon, from due west; we were, therefore, obligea to run higher up the port to the proper anchorage place, near a small island, where two limebumers live. We got to it a little after sunset, and anchored for the night. I went on shore and saw the two men. We got some fine fish they had taken that afternoon. We came on board again. One of these men mentioned to me some good land opposite the hut across the bay they lived in. The wind during the fore part of the night still blowing from due west.

       "  Wednesday, May  20, 1835.—This morning the wind, a little fair, blowing from the south-west. Nine o'clock.—It still freshens. We are about to make another trial of getting out again. The old man came on board this morning. I gave him a looking-glass, as promised last night. The wind still favourable, and we got out of Port Sorrel and went along the coast. Passed Captain Thomas's farm that was, and also the Mersey River, keeping our course towards what is called Round Head. We were about twenty miles from Port Sorrel. About twelve o'clock at night the wind came from due west, blowing a gale.

       "  Thursday, May  21. 1835.—During this morning, or since twelve o'clock last night, it continues to blow a gale from due west, and the sea running mountains high, the  Bebecca  jumping about like a kangaroo. This continued until daylight in the morning, when the captain found we were drifting very fast towards Georgetown, the sea running high, and blowing a gale from due west. He (the captain) thought it best to run in again to Port Sorrel, which we did and got to anchorage again about two P. M. This was most annoying, to lose so much time and to be beating and knocking about so much at sea, and gaining no ground whatever. I went on shore and had some talk with the limebumers again. A calm during the evening, that is, up to eleven o'clock.

       '*  Friday, May  22, 1835.—This morning a small draught of air again from the southward, but the clouds above drifting from the westward as before. Eleven o'clock.—Quite a calm. I went on shore, and walked over some good land; it would do well for a grant of large size; good water. Remained here all this day. The wind came inland from the west; we could not move an inch. Went up the river with the limebumers, and caught a few fish with their net.

       ** Saturday, May  23, 1835.—The wind during last night blew a gale from the west, and continued to do so until daybreak this morning ; the captain was obliged to let go another anchor. The wind up to this (eleven o'clock) still blowing from the west. No such thing as moving. When we are to get from this God only knows. Still blowing from the west. Up to ten o'clock  p.m.  no sign of a fair wind. Went on shore and delivered our letters to the limebumers to forward to Launceston the first opportunity. Got from those men four mawl-rings, three axes, one hoe, one cross-cut saw, four files, two throws, one shingle, and one paling ditto, one sawset, one gimlet, one auger, five wedges, one hand-. saw, one spade. These tools I got, intending to leave Gumm and the other man at Port Philip, if everything answers and turns out to my expectations. Came on board ship at nine o'clock, and went to bed. The wind the same as ever. The letters were inclosed to Cottrell for Mrs. B   and Mrs. Harwood.

       *'  Sunday, May  24, 1835—This morning we had a little air from the southward, and expected a fair wind. We got under way and went down towards the heads, which we made about twelve o'clock. It became quite a calm, and we expected a change of wind. About two P.M. the wind came again, and, as usual, from due west. We are now running back to our old anchoring ground, near the limebumers. When shall we get away from this ? I am almost mad, but must wait with patience. I do not know what to do or how to act. During the whole of this evening the wind from the same quarter—west.

       n

       ** Monday, May  25, 1835.—This morning the wind blew a gale from the old quarter—^west. The sea running in the heads mountains high. We were obliged to run further up the river, the wind blew so hard. We got close under the point opposite the limebumers' hut. The captain and I went on shore and walked round the island to kill time. We got from Hine, the limeburner, two augers, one 1^ in. the other J in. The wind now (two o'clock  p.m.)  blowing hard from west; not the least likelihood of a change. This day week we left Georgetown, and I, my dear wife. I would rather have been at Georgetown all this time than in this miserable place. I thought Georgetown bad enough, but certainly not half so bad as this. When shall we have wind ? Oh dear! The wind blowing hard up to nine o'clock from the same quarter. Sent for one of the lime-burners and gave him three dollars to take our letters and put them in the post-oflSce, Georgetown.    I have written four large

       and long letters to Mrs. B  , and Captain Harwood two to

       his wife. The man is to start early in the morning. The natives remained on shore for the last five nights; they prefer it.

       "  Tuesday, May  26,1835.—This morning, about three o'clock, it commenced raining hard. About half-past eight A.M. the man came on board and took all the letters and started for Georgetown. I am glad they are gone. Now (ten o'clock  a.m.)  we are just going another time down to the heads. What little air there is is fair, but the clouds are drifting from the west. Although the wind, which is trifling, comes down the river, I suppose it will be as usual when we get to the heads—a westerly wind, and run back to our old anchorage again—^but trust that the wind may be fair at last. Ten o clock P.M.—Am glad to find what I wished for this morning come true, as up to this time the wind is fair, and we are going on well towards Circular Head, and every prospect of a fair wind over to Port Philip. I am thankful for this.

       "  Wednesday, May  27, 1835.—The wind remained good and fair up to about two o'clock this morning, when it came from the north-west and half north. We could not keep our course, therefore made the West Hunter, having run eighty miles since we left Port Sorrel. This was not doing so bad, and, in short, more than I expected when we left. We anchored about twelve to-day. I went on shore, and got into a large cave, which I measured ; it was 180 ft. from the farther enil to the entrance, about 40 ft. wide, and in the centre about 40 ft. high. I never met with so large a cave before. We caught a good many fish. Saw the  Edward  schooner at some distance coming down here to take shells to Circular Head for lime. Now (six o'clock), the wind fair again; the captain is just getting the vessel under

       way again for Port Philip. I hope we may have a good run during the night.

       "  Thursday, May  28, 1835.—We had an excellent run during the whole of last night, and during some part of it passed King's Island. About one P. M. saw New Holland, to our great joy, and during the evening making near it: about dusk were within eighteen miles of it. The captain intends to lay off during the night and go into Port Philip the first thing in the morning. Caught two barracoutas—a long fish, and good eating. Lost several hooks by their biting them off at the lines. I lost my chjdn hooks by their biting above the chain.

       "  Fridayy May  29, 1835.—This morning as soon as daylight appeared saw the heads of Port Philip about eight miles off. With a fair wind we got between the heads about nine o'clock A.M., the tide running and nearly low water. A very heavy surf running at the entrance. The wind was light, and with some difficulty we got in ; width about one mile and a quarter, the depth five and a half to seven fathoms of water. We got well into the port about ten o'clock, where the water is very smooth, and one of the finest basins of water I ever saw, and most extensive. I would not recommend any one to come in until the tide was running in, when the surf is smooth at the mouth. As we were sailing up the port heard a dog on the shore howling. Cannot think what brought it there. Just called upon deck to see about 100 geese flying near the vessel; they seemed very large, and flew up the port before us. We anchored in a small bay about twelve miles up the port, and went on shore. Before we got into the boat we saw a dog on the sand. We put off and came up to the dog, which proved to be a native dog of New Holland, which had surely left the natives within a day or so, as he came quite close to my natives, and did not appear at all afraid, but would not allow them to take hold of him. Our dogs, after some time, took after him, and ran him into the water, where we shot him. He was a large dog, and much the same as I have seen in New South Wales. We fell in with the tracks of the natives, which were only a day or two old; also huts on the bay where they had been eating mussels. It cannot be more than two days back. We then went into the bush about four miles, and passed over some beautiful land, and all good sheep country; rather sandy, but the sand black and rich, covered with kangaroo grass about ten inches high, and as green as a field of wheat. We then went in another direction for about four or five miles over very good sheep land, gentle rises, with wattle and oak, with stunted gum. None, or very little, of this timber would split. We made the bay again, and crossed before we came to it a beautiful plain, about 800 to 400 acres of as rich land as I ever saw, with scarce a tree upon it; the grass
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       above our ankles. We saw several forest kangaroos, but our dogs being on ship-board were stiflF, and could not catch any. Saw several native huts, and the marks on one tree where the natives had been yesterday. We then came down the bay, which consists of excellent land—rich black sand the worst of it; the other black soil, but all covered alike thickly with grass of the best description. We saw some bare hills about six miles ofif, which appear grassy to the top. I propose visiting them to-morrow. I may expect a good view of the country from them to the north-west. The blacks are sleeping on shore to-night. We walked about twelve miles. The captain quite knocked up.    The wind blew hard up to twelve o'clock.

       ** Saturday, May  30, 1835.—The wind continued to blow the whole of the night. The vessel rolled about much, having no shelter whatever. At daylight this morning we hailed the natives, and told them to go round a point of land and meet the vessel. We could not land a boat to bring them ofif. We beat round the point about fifteen miles. We then came to anchor. Saw the natives coming along the bay. I went on shore to look at the land, which appeared beautiful, with scarcely any timber on. On my landing I found the hills of a most superior description—beyond my most sanguine expectations. The land excellent, and very rich—a light black soil, covered with kangaroo grass two feet high, and as thick as it could stand. Good hay could be made, and in any quantity. The trees not more than six to the acre, and those small sheoak and wattle. I never saw anything equal to the land in my life. I walked over a considerable extent, and all of the same description. This land forms an isthmus, which is about twenty miles long by ten miles across it—upwards of 100,000 acres of good land or more. I could see five or six miles in every direction. Most of the high hills were covered with grass to the summit, and not a tree, although the land was as good as land could be. The whole appeared like land laid out in farms for some hundred years back, and every tree transplanted. I was never so astonished in my life. When on some of these hills I could see on the opposite side (where I intend to visit to-morrow) large and extensive plains. The bay we came up to-day varied from six fathoms to two and a-half fathoms across the bay. We anchored in three fathoms water, and, to my joy and delight, we saw at some distance the natives' fire. I intend to go off to them early in the morning, and get, if possible, on a friendly footing with them, in order to purchase land, &c., from them. From what I have seen, I am quite delighted with Port Philip. We walked about twenty miles.

       "  Sunday, May  31,1835.—The vessel lav very snug last night in the three-fathom water, in a very good Day, which I gave the

       name of Gellibrand's Harbour.   At daylight this morning we landed, to endeavour to meet the natives.    We had not proceeded more than a mile and a-half when we saw the smoke at seven large huts.    My natives stripped oflf and went up to them quite naked.    When they got to the huts, found that they had left this morning.    Then, with the natives, went round, and found by their tracks the direction they went in.     We followed on the track for ten miles or nearly, when Stomert, one of my natives, saw a black at the distance of a mile.    We were at this time spread along.    He made a sign to us, and all made in the same direction.    He came up to the person (an old woman), quite a cripple.    She had no toes on one foot.    We then saw the remainder of the tribe about a mile further on.     We made towards them, and got up to them about one o'clock  p.m.     They seem quite pleased with my natives, who could partially understand them.    They satig and danced for them.    I found them to be  only women and  children; twenty of the former, and twenty-four of the latter.    The women were all of a small size, and every wc«nan had a child at her back except one, who was quite a young woman, and very good looking.    We understood that the men went up the river.    They had four native dogs, and every woman had a load of 60 lb. or 70 lb. on her back, of one thing or another.   Each had two or three baskets, net-bags, native tomahawks, bones, &c.    I foimd in one of the net-bags a part of a tire of a cart-wheel, which had two nail-holes in it. They had ground it down to a sharp edge, and put it in a stick to cut with as a tomahawk.   They had also several pieces of iron-hoop, ground sharp to cut with;  several wooden buckets to carry water in.    They had some water with them, which was very bad.    They came back with us to where I had some blankets,   looking-glasses,   beads,   handkerchiefs,   sugar,   and apples.     I gave  them  eight pairs of blankets, thirty handkerchiefs, one   tomahawk,  eighteen   necklaces of  beads,  six pounds of  sugar,  twelve  looking-glasses,  and  a quantity  of apples, which they seemed well pleased with.    They then went off again.     I promised to see them again to-morrow.    The young woman, whom I have spoken of before, gave me a very handsome basket of her own make.    Other women gave me two others; also some spears.   I got a native bucket, which I brought on board with me.    I walked out to-day over fifteen miles of nothing but plain and very good grass, well adapted for sheep.    The plains are most extensive.    I should think what I have seen to be twenty miles square.   I came under a sugar-loaf hill, rather high, but grass to the top.     This I named Mount Collicott, after the Postmaster-General in Van Diemen's Land.    I never saw or could suppose there could be such extensive plains as I saw to-day.    Five thousand sheep would be

       almost lost upon them. But the only thing I see at present is the want of water, but am sure it could be obtained by digging in almost any place. The children were good-looking, and of a healthy appearance; they were dreadfully afl&ighted by the discharge of a gun, and all of them dropped down immediately. I think they never heard the report or -saw a gun before. We saw a great number of wild turkeys to-day, but could not shoot one.    We could not have walked less than thirty miles to-day.

       "  Monday, June  1, 1835.—^We left the vessel this morning at daybreak, and went round a bay to look at and examine some plains and clear hills at a distance, which looked very well. We crossed the neck of land and came to a small river or creek, which we were obliged to follow up, as we could not cross, and I also expected to find at the head of it some fresh water. We followed this stream about ten miles. We saw great numbers of ducks and teal. The creek was about fifty to sixty yards wide, in some places less. We saw several places on going up, which the natives had made with stones across the creek, to take fish; I suppose in summer time. The walls were built of stones about four feet high, and well done and well planned out. Two or three of these places following each other down the stream with gates to them, which they appear to stop with a bundle of rushes. We saw those in about ten or twelve different places up this stream. On this stream we also met with the bones of an animal or beast of some kind which I had never met with before, and cannot accurately describe. I counted twenty-four joints in the backbone, which are at least three inches each, therefore the animal must have been upwards of six feet in length. It must have been killed some time, and part of the bones were burnt. There may have been a greater number of bones in the back than I have seen. I have brought on board part of the head, thigh-bones, and some joints of the back for the learned gentlemen to study over on my return to Van Diemen's Land. We found this skeleton near one of the native fishing-placea We proceeded up the stream and shot five ducks, until it became a chain of ponds. I then found the water only a little brackish, and the further we went up the better the water got, until we came to a large pond, where I shot two teal. We here found the water very good, the pond deep, and about 150 yards in diameter. I was pleased to find so good water in the middle of such extensive plains. We got dinner here, and then proceeded to the top of a range of clear hills, not very high, expecting to get a view on the other side. We walked about five miles across a plain, scarcely a tree upon it, the largest not more than eight inches in diameter, and some places not one bush or tree on 500 acres of land. The whole of the land is of a dark red light soil, with kangaroo grass.    We

    

  
    
       got on the before-mentioned range and endeavoured to see the extent of country to south-south-west, but as far as the eye could see we saw nothing but grassy plains, of good soil, with plenty of grass, well adapted either for sheep or agricultural purposes. Looking north-north-east we could see also as far as the eye could carry; and, in short, in every direction. I am sure from the top of these hills we could see thirty miles in every direction of plain land; this at least, if not a considerable quantity more. The only thing that will be felt on these plains will be the want of timber. There is none that is fit for sawing or splitting. Brush-yards or fencing may be made for sheep or cattle. A gig or carriage may be driven in any direction for twenty miles without the possibility of upsetting. Those extensive plains I have named Arthur's Plains, in honour of Governor Arthur, of Van Diemen's Land. There are also two mounts adjoining the Mount Collicott, which I have named Mount Cottrell and Mount Connelly, after Mr. Cottrell, of Van Diemen's Land, and also Mr. Connelly, of the same place. Another mound, which is about fifteen miles distant from these mounts, and where appears most beautiful plains under it, and nearly to the top clear of timber, bears north-west from Mount Collicott,—this I have named Mount Solomon, after Mr. J. Solomon, of Launceston. I intend to proceed to-morrow up through the country for several days, and meet the vessel at the river or head of the bay, if the weather will permit. This day it rained nearly the whole of the time we were out, with a hailstorm, and the wind blowing hard from the west—very cold. We saw the smoke of the natives under Mount Collicott.

       "  Tuesday, June  2, 1835.—This morning the natives came on board to pack up for a start, but owing to the rain, which was heavy, and the fog, we could not see any distance before us, and it would be very uncomfortable travelling: therefore, in order that we should lose no time, I proposed to go with the vessel to the river, and from thence take my departure into the bush. We made the river about three  p.m.  The whole of the coast or beach was clear of timber, and constant plain, covered with grass; this, I should think, was at least thirty miles. Near the heads of the river on the point is nothing but sheoak. We endeavoured to get up the river, but found the water not more than one fathom. However, the channel will be looked for to-morrow, and I have hopes we shall be able to find a good channel up for some distance. I went on shore this evening, and found the land good, covered with kangaroo grass, and thinly timbered with sheoak, as I have before stated. We saw great numbers of pelicans and swans, some scores also of ducks and teal. The coast, or bay, in every direction I have been, seems to possess a good number of quail; more than I ever saw

       in any place before. They appear to be of two kinds—one a dark, the other a light bird; the former twice as large as the latter. I shall to-morrow take my departure up the river, if the weather permits.

       "  Wednesday, June  3,1835.—After getting everything ready this morning left the vessel about 9 o'clock. I went up the river about five miles, sounding as we went, and found from seven feet to nine feet water in the channel. I landed and joined the party. They had walked about seven miles over a grassy country, thinly timbered with sheoak, and scarce another tree. A few miles further I came to the banks of the river, which appeared deeper than where I had landed from the boat. On both sides the land open, and covered with excellent kangaroo grass. In passing up the banks passed over several rich flats, about a mile wide, and two or three long, not a ti*ee, and covered with kangaroo grass above my knees. Hundred of tong of hay could here be made of the above grass. The land of the best description, equal to any in the world. It does not appear to be ever overflowed. I followed up this river in all about twenty-six miles, and found on both sides, as far as the eye can see, open plains, with a few sheoak trees. We did not fall in with any fresh water the whole of this day, and just at sunset when about to stop for the night on the banks of the river, I saw a damp place. I ordered one of the men (Gumm) to make a hole with a stick, which he did about two feet deep, and in less than one hour we had a plentiful supply of good soft water, and by 10 o'clock this evening the hole was running over the top; the water beautiful and clear. This I am certain could be done in most places, and would at once do away with the apparent deficiency of water. Over the country I have as yet travelled, we saw several forest kangaroos and one native dog. The river varies from 100 yards to 60 yards up it, and at this place it is not more than 40 yards. I think it will get smaller as we go up.    I have named this place Gumm's Well.

       "  Thursday, June  4, 1835.—Started this morning up the river at 8 A.M. After following up the river for four or five miles, I went oflf to get a vie w of Mounts Collicott, Cottrell, and Connelly, as well as Mount Solomon. From this I saw at a great distance two other mounts, which I named Mount Wedge and Mount Sams. Those are in a range with Mount Solomon. Shortly after taking the distance and bearing of these mounts, three emus started across a beautiful flat, or rather high plain. I followed the dogs for a mile or more, and saw the run for two or three miles further. When on these plains, and where I now stand writing this, I think I could safely swear that I can see every way over plains twenty miles distance, with scarcely any timber, and covered with kangaroo grass eight and ten inches high.

       This, I think, is the average. Most beautiful sheep pasturage I ever saw in my life. I am sure I can see 50,000 acres of land in one direction, and not fifty trees; in short, the only trees in the great extent I have mentioned are sheoak: none more than twelve inches in diameter. The onlv thing that will be felt in a short time, or a few jrears, will be the want of firewood. Followed on, still continmng on the plain for about eight mUes, when we made the river again, which, I am happy to say, contained excellent water. We all had a hearty drink, and crossed over the river on some of the richest ground I ever saw in my life. Marshmallows with leaves as broad as cabbage-leaves and as high as my head. We then crossed the river again at a native ford, and on a tree where they had got some bark, a wattle, was scratched some figures representing blacks in the act of fighting. I copied the same as near as I could. We went up a small rise of excellent soil, with grass above my knees. We then kept up the river for a few miles, and stopped for the night in a comer alongside the river. I gave it the name of Gumm's Comer. After I got a little tea and something to eat, I, with four of my natives, took a circuit of about thirteen miles up the river, which was coming from a north direction. I found the whole of the land very good, with excellent warm hills and valleys, with grass three feet high where it had not been burnt late in the autumn, which is the case in most parts. The young grass is now ten and twelve inches high, and beautiful feed for any kind of stock. We heard a dog howl this evening about 8 o'clock. The weather during the time we have been here very good and warm. Walked about thirty miles to-day.

       *'  Fridayf June  5,1835.—Left the river this morning for west-north-west direction. The river came from a north one. I intend to cross some large plains and get into tiers on the other side. Grossed the plains, which were very extensive on all sides as far as I could see. We saw a large flock of emus today, but too far for the dogs to come up with them. Saw some wild geese. Grossed three streams of fresh water, and both sides of each of the banks were steep, but covered with grass to the edge of the water. In some paiis of the creeks the water did not run, but large and deep ponds remained in the bed. The three creeks I crossed I am inclined to think are the same, running in different directions, and empties itself into the river. However, this country is well watered. So far, the- timber is the only thing I now see that is deficient. We passed a small forest, about two miles in length, of sheoak; about eight or ten to the acre, and from twelve inches downwards in size. Good shelter and excellent grass. The last creek I have named Eliza's Greek, after Mrs. B   .   The whole land I have passed

       up to this time (twelve o'clock) is, as usual, very good, and plains seen twenty and thirty miles distant. Ascended the top of a beautiful hill, bare of timber at the top, with a few sheoak on the sides. We here have, from where I am sitting, a view all round; I think I may say forty miles, or more, each way of beautiful plains of the best description of grass. From east to west I think there is more than eighty miles certain, and from this to the river or bay is fifty miles, all plains, and thirty miles due north, all plains, with here and there a few gentle rising hills and valleys of the best description. We have just seen the smoke of the natives in an easterly direction, and going to take that course. We kept in the direction of the smoke about sixteen miles, over fine plains, and crossed a fresh-water creek just at the junction of another running from north-north-east. We then crossed plains again, and came into a small forest about two miles through, some gum and box, that would either do for splitting or sawing, with sheoak. This forest was thickly covered with excellent grass. We caught one of the largest kangaroos I ever saw; more than nine feet long. We then came upon beautiful open plains, with a few wattle and oak, gentle rising hills of very nch black soil, with grass up to our middle, and as thick as it could stand. It was very bad walking through it. This land I think was richer than any high land I have seen before. We came on to a small valley, and, to our joy, found a teatree scrub, at the upper end of a small creek running south-east. Here we found good water at sunset, and remained for the night.

       "  Satvrday Juiie  6,1835.—The wind blew hard all night, with some rain. We started this morning at eight  a.m.  to find the natives. We travelled over as good country as I have yet met with, and, if possible, richer land, thinly timbered. The grass was mostly three and four feet high, and as thick as it could lie on the ground. The land quite black. We walked about eight miles when we fell in with the tracks of the natives, and shortly after came up with a family—one chief, his wife, and three children. I gave him a pair of blankets, handkerchiefs, beads, and three knives. He then went on with us, and crossed a fresh-water creek. The land on each side excellent. He took us on, saying he would take us to the tribe, and mentioned the names of chiefs. We walked about eight miles, when, to our great surprise, we heard several voices calling after us. On looking back we saw eight men all armed with spears, &c. When we stopped they threw aside their weapons and came very friendly up to us. After shaking hands, and my giving them tomahawks, knives, &c., they took us with them about a mile back, where we found huts, women, and children. After some time, and full explanation, I found eight chiefs amongst

       them, who possessed the whole of the country near Port Phillip. Three brothers, all of the same name, are the principal chiefs, and two of them men of six feet high, and very good looking; the other not so tall, but stouter. The other five chiefs were fine men. After a ftill explanation of what my object was, I purchased two large tracts of land from them—about 600,000 acres, more or less—and delivered over to them blankets, knives, looking-glasses, tomahawks, beads, scissors, flour, &c., as payment for the land, and also agreed to give them a tribute, or rent, yearly. The parchment the eight chiefs signed this afternoon, delivering to me some of the soil of each of them, as giving me full possession of the tracts of land. This took place alongside of a beautiful stream of water, and from whence my land commences, and where a tree is marked four ways to know the comer boundary. The country about here exceeds anything I ever saw, both for grass and richness of soil. The timber Ught, and consists of sheoak and small gum, with a few wattle. My natives gave the chiefs and their tribe a grand corroboree to-night. They seemed quite delighted with it. Each of the principal chiefs has two wives and several children each. In all, the tribe consists of forty-five—men, women, and children.

       **  Sunday, June  7, 1835.—Detained this morning some time drawing up triplicates of the deeds of the land I purchased, and delivering over to them more property on the banks of the river, which I have named Batman's Creek, after my good self. Just before leaving, the two principal chiefs came and brought their two cloaks, or royal mantles, and laid them at my feet, wishing me to accept the same. On my consenting to take them, they placed them round my neck, and even my shoulders, and seemed quite pleased to see me walk about with them on. I asked them to accompany me to the vessel. They very properly pointed to the number of young children, and then at their feet, meaning that they could not walk, but said they would come down in a few days. I had no trouble to find out their sacred marks. One of my natives (Bungett) went to a tree, out of sight of the women, and made the Sydney natives' mark; after this was done I took, with two or three of my natives, the principal chief, and showed him the mark on the tree; this he knew immediately, and pointed to the knocking out of the teeth. This mark is always made when the ceremony of knocking out the tooth in the front is done. However, after this I desired, through my natives, for him to make his mark, which, after looking about for some time, and hesitating some few minutes, he took the tomahawk and cut out in the bark of the tree his mark—which is attached to the deed, and is the signature of their country and tribe.   About ten A.M. I took

       my departure from these interesting people. I think the principal chief stands six feet four inches high, and his brother six feet two inches, and as fine looking men as ever I saw. I crossed Batman's Creek, and walked through a thinly-timbered forest of box, gum, sheoak, and wattle, but thickly covered with excellent grass. Most of the land was as rich as I ever saw in my life. Grass three and four feet high, and many places, where a fire had been, thistles five feet high. Impossible for grass to stand thicker on the ground. We walked over this land about twelve miles down my side line, in a south-west direction, when we came to another creek of good water in a most beautiful valley, which I named Lucy's Greek and Maria's Valley, extending several miles, and fine land, and altogether a most enchanting spot. After leaving this we crossed some plains of good land, and then came into a forest, thinly timbered with gum, wattle, and sheoak. The land, for the first time, was rather sandy, with a little gravel, but the grass about ten inches high and like a field of wheat, so very good and green. I have not felt the slightest frost, or anything like it. We then made the river I had gone up a few day's before, intending to come on the opposite side of the river and hail the vessel. I crossed on the banks of the river a large marsh, about one mile and a half wide by three or four miles long, of the richest description of soil—not a tree. When we got on the marsh the quails began to fly, and I think at one time I can safely say I saw 1,000 quails flying at one time—quite a cloud. I never saw anything like it before. I shot two large ones as I was walking along. At the upper end of this marsh is a large Is^oon. I should think, from the distance I saw, that it was upwards of a mile across, and full of swans, ducks, geese, &c. After crossing this marsh, we passed through a tea-tree scrub, very high and thick. We expected on getting through this to make the vessel in an hour or two, but to our great surprise, when we got through the scrub we found ourselves on a much larger river than the one we went up and had just come down. It was now near sunset, and it would take two days to head the river again, so, after some time, I made up my mind that two of the Sydney natives should swim across the smallest river, and go to tne vessel and bring up the boat. Bullet and Bungett swam, and had to go about seven miles, which they did, and were back again with the boat in three hours. I was glad to see them, as we had got on the point at the junction of the rivers, where the tide had now risen up to our ankles. The party was first, with the dogs, taken to the opposite bank, and then the boat with old Bull, who had cut his foot, took me in quick time to the vessel, where my travelling I hope (on foot) will cease for some time, having done everything I could possibly wish.   I shall now leave Gumm,

       Dodd, Thompson, Bullet, Bungett, and old Bull on my land at Indented Head, with three months' supply of meat, flour, tea, sugar, &c. They (the chiefs) made me a present of three native tomahawks, some spears, womraeras, boomerangs, &c.

       '* Monday, June  8, 1835.—The wind foul this morning for Indented Head. We tried, but could not get out of the river. The boat went up the large river I have spoken of, which comes from the east, and, I am glad to state, about six miles up found the river all good water and very deep. This will be the place for a village.    The natives on shore.

       "  Tuesday, Junt  9,1835.—We are now under way, with a light wind, for Indented Head, whence I hope to send all the things

       with the men.    About  p.m.  made Indented  Head, and

       commenced landing the goods immediately, as the port was very rough and the wind increasing. We landed all in four boatsfuU —everything. I pointed out the spot where Gumm is to commence a garden, hut, or house, &c. The whole of my natives at last wanted to stop; however, I let Pigeon and Joe the Marine stop with the other three natives already mentioned, making in all eight persons. They have got now three months' supply or more, with a large quantity of potatoes to put in the ground, and all kind of other garden seeds^ as well as pips and stones of fruit. I left apples and oranges with them, also the six dogs, and gave Gumm written authority to put off any person or persons that may trespass on the land I have purchased from the natives. They got everything landed in an hour, and we shook hands with them, and off we came to the heads, which we got clear of, by eight o'clock, with a fair wind.

       "  Wednesday, June  10, 1835.—Made a good run last night. (Jot about eighty miles. The wind still fair. About twelve o'clock last night saw Van Diemen's Land.

       "  Thursday, June  11, 1835.—Got into Georgetown Heads at six o'clock this morning, with a fair wind up the river. We expect to be at Launceston with this tide."

       Batman's journal has provoked considerable discussion. Errors of dates and description have been detected. It is generally forgotten that the founder was but a rough bushman, provided with the limited education of this period, and with his school learning at Parramatta sadly damaged by his wild and adventurous life. This journal betrays in its orthography, caligraphy, and composition the hand of an energetic and a busy man, but not a scholarly one. The times in which he liv^ were not the exact ones of these modem railway days. Men were not particular to an hour, nor precise about the day.

       Almanacs were rare sights in the bush of Van Diemen's Land, and many a letter, as well as journal, needed a revision as to dates. Batman's Diary, as perceived, begins with his leaving Launceston on May 10th. In a letter which was evidently prepared by his more careful friend, Mr. Wedge, the day is called May 12th. Other mistakes of this kind were doubtless committed, but were quite unintentional, and by no means invaHdate the truth of the narrative detailed. There are now no means of knowing whether he posted every evening, or did the whole according to memory, when on shipboard returning.

       The  Rebecca  was about thirty tons. Batman*s companion9 were, besides Captain Harwood and the mate, Mr. Eobson, three white men, James Gumm, William Dodd, and Alexander Thompson, with seven Sydney blacks. The natives were Pigeon, Joe King, Old Bull, Bungett, Marine, and another. They had been employed with Robinson and Batman in the search for Tasmanian aborigines during the terrible Black War of Van Diemen's Land, and were more or less civilized.

       The party had much diflSculty to get out'of the Tamar into Bass's Strait, one of the most dangerous of seas, and exposed to sudden and severe gales, with a wild, rugged coast, and tempest-tossed granitic isles. The prevalent western wind is drawn from the Southern Ocean into a sort of gullet. The weather story of the journal is no uncommon one in that autumn month of May. The picture given of a drunken pilot is only according to the manners of the age. It was then a providence for the inhabitants of the township when a bullock was killed, and the incident recorded by Batman marks the remote period of colonial history.

       Batman's family relations are rather pleasantly introduced. Though forty miles from George Town and the Heads, the wife got driven down to see her lord, who was then detained by bad weather, and she determined to see the last of him in a farewell from the lighthouse. Such attention forced from him the observation in his journal of May 18th: " Hope my dear wife may return home safe."

       When starting, the weather seemed little better, and the vessel put back into port Sorell, to the comfort of our hero, who had been " very ill the whole of yesterday and during the night."   That was not the steamboat era of Australia.    It was

       no improvement when they got outside again, and the vessel was "jumping about like a kangaroo." There was no help for it but a return to Port Sorell, though eleven days since the start from Launceston. No wonder he wrote: " When shall we get away from this ? I am almost mad, but must wait with patience." The one consolation he had was intercourse with his wife, since the diary has it: "I have written four large and long letters to Mrs. B."

       Starting again, he had to anchor soon, and spent some time inspecting a cave 180 feet long, 40 broad, and in one part 40 high. It was on the 28th that the first view was gained of the Australian shore, tliough the party had to lie oflf for the night. The well-known  Bip  shook the little craft as it entered Port Phillip Heads, but the voyagers were delighted enough with the spacious bay.

       Batman received his first welcome, or, perhaps, warning off, from a dingo, or native dog, at the landing, a dozen miles inside the port. What happened was a sad forecast of that which should befall the aboriginal friends of the native dogs. " Our dogs," writes Batman, " after some time, took after him, and ran him into the water, where  we shot him"  As the European dog appeared the instinctive hunter and destroyer of the wilder quadruped, so has the advent of the White seemed ever the herald of woe and death to the Black. Though the track of the forest tribes was seen, the people themselves were not discovered. In the first walk of twelve miles, the captain was knocked up with fatigue. What kind of a country it was is well described in the journal: " Covered with kangaroo grass about ten inches high, and as green as a field of wheat; very good sheep land; as rich land as I ever saw, with scarce a tree upon it; excellent land, covered alike thickly with grass of the best description; hills of a most superior description, beyond my most sanguine expectations; kangaroo grass two feet high, and as thick as it could stand ; most of the high hills were covered with grass to the summit; the whole appeared like land laid out in farms for some hundred years back." He might well exclaim : " I was never so astonished in my life " ; and add: " From what I have seen, I am quite delighted with Port PhilHp."

       Indented Head was the scene of much glowing description.

       There he fell in with some natives, to his great satisfaction. " I intend/* said he, ** to go off to them early in the morning, and get, if possible, on a friendly footing with them, in order to purchase land, &c., from them." While some have doubted if they had any land to sell, others might reasonably wonder what articles of merchandize could be comprehended in the term df-c of the adventurer. But these dark ones of the forest proved to be only a score of women, with two dozen children. The elder boys were, doubtless, out with the men hunting; yet, that so many little ones were there is not a little remarkable, seeing that so very few were known a few years after our countrymen went thither. *'Every woman had a child at her back except one," was Batman's observation. Since then, especially of recent years, scarcely a child was to be seen; and even when an occasional half-caste appeared, an infant of the true blood was almost unknown. It was less than twenty years after this memorable visit that the following article was to be read in the Qeelong Advertiser: —

       " This once numerous tribe of natives, who claimed dominion over the hunting-grounds at Indented Head, is gradually decaying. Another of the mothers of the race, " Old Mary," as she was called, after a short illness, expired last night. Her withered appearance, stunted form, and positively hideous features, joined to a disposition the reverse of placid, rendered her no great favourite among the white population, and even the members of her own tribe did not appear to entertain great affection for her. She died unattended save by a pack of yelping dogs, her  prot6g6s,  in a mia-mia near the water-hole, where she was discovered this morning by her son Peter and others. They ap^ared in no way disconcerted at the event, and upon being interrogated, simply replied: ' Oh, she is very old. She my mudder. She been plenty sick; cold come take her breath away.' A grave was dug for her remains near the spot where she expired. Before committing her to it, they doubled her body up so as to bring her knees and neck close together, and bound them in that state with cord. They then pitched her, with less ceremony than we should the carcass of a dead dog, into the hole prepared for her reception, and consigned her pannikins, billy and rug to the same spot. They then filled up the hole, and, after lighting a fire at the head of the grave, left the spot. They seem to labour under the impression that after a short time * she jump up white lubra,* and

       they very considerately left her the necessary apparatus to make her tea on her return to the upper world."

       The acquired civilization of the Indented Head natives had not improved them. Disorganization of tribal and family feelings had clearly set in. ** Old Mary " had doubtless been among the women receiving Batman, the mother, perchance, of the good-looking young woman who gave him a very handsome basket of her own make. But the Bellerine correspondent adds a story of the tribe that marks the consequence of white settlement:—

       "There is now among them a very interesting half-black child, about four years of age, belonging to a young lubra. The reputed father is said by the black fellows to be a rich ' gentle* man' a long way off. It is much to be lamented this poor little fellow should be left to endure the hardships of the nomadic life led by the natives, and still more to be deplored that he should be left to the moral contamination apparently inseparable from the race." He adds: " Could not the  gentleman, the reputed father, or some one on his behalf, claim the child, and rescue it from the destruction which at present appears to await it ?"

       On the Sunday, May 31st, Batman walked 80 miles, returning to the ship. The next day he followed up a stream for ten miles over a dark red light soil, and, from a range, looked round for thirty miles over the Arthur's Plains. He named mounts after his friends Collicott, Cotterell, Connelly, and Solomon ; the last was probably Mount Blackwood. The Tuesday was wet, but the Wednesday saw the party going for twenty-six miles up a river, over rich flats without timber. Two other peaks of the Yow Yang range were named, June 4th, after Messrs. Wedge and Sam. He then exclaims: "Most beautiful sheep pasture I ever saw in my life!" That day covered another thirty miles.

       He now passed on in a west-north-west direction over several creeks, though still remarking a deficiency of timber. One of these streams he called  Eliza,  after his wife. Ascending a hill, he thought he looked "forty miles or more each way of beautiful plains of the best description of grass." There observing smoke of a native fire, he set off for the camp light.

       o

       Plains were now varied by "gentle rising hills of very rich black soil, with grass up to our middle, and as thick as it could stand/' Richer land, if possible, was passed next day in the search after the blacks. It was on the 6th of June that Batman came up to a family, who were soon joined by eight armed men.

       It seems so strange that our countryman should have travelled for a week without meeting the aborigines, though, probably enough, well observed by them. The native women and children were seen on the Exe or Werribee. But the first men he encountered were not far from the site of Melbourne. As he gave the 27th of May for his interview with the lubras in the account he rendered to Governor Arthur, though the 31st in his journal, we may presume the date June 6th, for the masculine assemblage, should have been some days earlier in the month. According to the chart prepared by Mr. Wedge, Batman was at Geelong on the 6th of June. It was this wrong dating when he made up his journal that has caused such confusion, and made his narrative absurdly incorrect. Thus, Mr. Fawkner made merry with it after this fashion: " His precious deed asserts that he did travel in these two days one hundred and sixty miles, and then he was nearly forty miles from the vessel; yet, if his account is to be believed, he went over another forty miles, making two hundred miles through the wilds of the colony, on foot."

       But, according to Mr. Wedge, " he landed, and traversed the country hastily in the vicinity of Station Peak, where he fell in with some natives. He afterwards explored up the banks of the Saltwater river; from thence to the westward to the head of the Moona Ponds, proceeding north and north-east from thence till he fell in with the Jigga Jigga tribe of natives, and then returned to the marsh or swamp near the present site of Melbourne, and joined his vessel, which had waited for him at or near to William's Town."

       His interview with these blacks formed the most important part of his mission, as it was with them he made his celebrated treaty. He speaks of eight chiefs among them, not aware, as it would seem, that no chiefs rule the Australian tribes. The three brothers variously called Jigga Jigga, Jaga Jaga, or Jika Jika, were strapping fellows, and very good-looking.   The whole

       tribe, men, women, and children, were forty-five in number. The most commanding in appearance he concluded were chiefs, though neither hereditary nor elected ones.

       The site of this agreement—a distant imitation of William Penn's treaty with the Indians—is thus described by Batman : " This took place alongside of a beautiful stream of water, and from tlience my land commences, and where a tree is marked four ways to know' the comer boundary. The country about here exceeds anything I ever saw, both for grass and richness of soil; the timber light, and consists of sheoak and small gum, with a few wattle." It was, in fact, on the Merrri Creek, at no great distance from the grounds of the Melbourne University. Mr. Rusden remarks that it was near where the " Old Colonists' Association of Victoria" have a site on which to build their Founders' Homes.

       There Batman held a conference with the men of Port Phillip, by means of the Sydney natives with him. How this was done, when the languages of the two companies were so diflferent, has occasioned no little ridicule. Still many are led to decide with the learned Mr. Gumer : " Whether from a similarity of language, or freemasonry, Batman could not discover, but his Sydney natives and these aborigines seemed to understand each other." Batman certainly believed they did so understand, although he was interested in coming to such a conclusion. He notes their gift of soil as an evidence of the transfer of ownership. But he took no pains to discover if this simple tribe, or portion of one, had really rights over so large a district as that he claimed, or whether the hunting-grounds of neighbours, and probably tribal foes, were included within the area.

       It is possible to suppose that the Sydney blacks, if only by clever dumb motions, made the conditions of sale known to the forest men, though the latter could not divine the meaning of the parchment aflBrmation of the agreement. Yet Batman and others saw no difficulty in accepting the theory of a signature. As may be seen in another place, the names of the contracting parties were duly written down by the Europ&£tns, but the apology for the  cross  was a mysterious wriggling, snake-like line, "which was taken for the  totem  or token of the tribe. Consul Finn   of Jerusalem gives some odd marks, or  ansam,  in use

       o 2

       among the Arab tribes over Jordan, observing, "They are characters adopted by Arabs to distinguish one tribe from another, and commonly used by branding the camels "; and again : " I have seen them scratched upon walls in many places frequently by Bedaween." For all that, Arabs are not like Australian blacks, unacquainted with letters. The ingenuity of the contrivance adopted by the Sydney blacks to ascertain the token of the Port Phillipians is thus described in the journal:—

       *' I had no trouble to find out their sacred marks. One of my natives (Bungett) went to a tree, out of sight of the women, and made the Sydney natives* mark. After this was done, I took, with two or three of my natives, the principal chief, and showed him the mark on the tree. This he knew immediately, and pointed to the knocking out of the teeth. This mark is always made when the ceremony of knocking out the tooth in the front is done. However, after this I desired, through my natives, for him to make his mark, which, after looking about some time, and hesitating some few minutes, he took the tomahawk and cut out in the bark of the tree his mark, which is attached to the deed, and is the signature of their country and tribe."

       From this it would appear that Batman copied the biero* glyphics cut on the tree, and placed that mark on the deed at the end of each of the supposed signatures of the chiefs.

       This little aflfair concluded, Batman proceeded on his way from the Merri Creek. Going some distance further, he gave names, after his two daughters, to Lucy's Creek and Maria's Valley. He now came to a marsh, which we recognize as what was afterwards called Batman's Swamp of Melbourne, " of the richest description of soil—not a tree." He reached it from one river, but found another on the other side; saying, " To our great surprise, when we got through the scrub (tea-tree) we found ourselves on a much larger river than the one we went up and had just come down." He had left the Saltwater Eiver, and had come upon the banks of the Yarra Yarra, still partially lined in that part with a tea-tree scrub. Proceeding to meet the Sydney natives sent on for the boat, he waited for their approach at the very junction of these two streams. ** I was glad to see them " (Bullet and Bungett), says the journal, " as we had got on the point at the junction of the rivers, where the tide had now risen up to our ankles."
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       Allowing for the foot that Batman must have known not only Flinders' chart, but the sketch of the Yarra Yarra mouth as given by Mr. Surveyor Grimes in 1803, yet no one will dispute the honour of John Batman having then been on the site of Melbourne beside that river. It was on the Monday, June 8th, or two days after the Conference, that the boat went up six miles to what we now know as the Falls of the Yarra, and there found " the river all good water and very deep."

       But his next observation is the all-important one:  "This WILL BE THE PLACE FOR A VILLAGE." That expression shows the mind of Batman, when on his first visit to Port Phillip. Mr. Busden, in his  Discovery, Survey, and Settlement of Port Phillip,  writes as follows:—

       " By these words and this map the question of the founding of Melbourne by any private person may fairly be tested. The words were written on June 25th, 1835, and both the words and map are mentioned in an English Parliamentary Paper, having been transmitted to England by Governor Arthur. Mr. Fawkner, it must be remembered, did not arrive in Port Phillip till October, 1835. The map includes, as Batman's territory, seven miles of the Yarra Yarra above the junction of the Saltwater River * it colours, for  Settlement  purposes, both sides of the Yarra Yarra in a block rectangular on its eastern boundary; Batman's lagoon and the lands inclosed in the angle between the rivers it reserves as a public common; the north bank of the Yarra Yarra it marks as part of Batman's territory, about as far as the heart of Richmond; while the whole of the modem Emerald Hill and Sandridge are marked in common with the site of Melbourne as ' reserved for a Township and other public purposes.' Such being the fects, it may be said, how could Fawkner or any one on his behalf claim the title of Founder of Melbourne ? "

       Batman returned by ship to Indented Head. In his journal he says: " I shall now leave Gumm, Dodd, Thompson, Bullet, Bungett, and Old Bull on my land of Indented Head, with three months' supply of meat, flour, tea, sugar, &c." The entry two days later shows Batman's intention to commence a settlement on Indented Head :—

       "I pointed out the spot where Gumm is to commence a garden, hut, or house, &c. The whole of my natives (Sydney) wanted to stop; however, I let Pigeon and Joe the Marine stop,

       with the other three natives abeady mentioned (Bullet, Bungett, and Old Bull), making in all eight persons. They have got now three months' supply or more, with a large quantity of potatoes to put in the ground, and all kinds of other garden seeds, as well as pips and stones of fruit."

       He seems to have had his suspicions even then that some would quickly be on his track if he were successful. Unable to drive off new comers, he could at least adopt the modem civilized method of warning them as traspassers. We, therefore, read in the last day's journal ashore, Tuesday, June 9 th:— " I left apples and oranges with them (his men) also the six dogs, and gave Qumm written authority to put off any person or persons that may trespass on the land I have purchased from the natives." A territory of half a million of acres, with a sea frontage of scores of miles, might rather puzzle the bailiff powers of Gumm to preserve; but, by having his camp near the entrance to the Bay, he was in a position to deliver a message to any intrusive ship.

       The difficulties in the way of Batman's approach to the new El Dorado  were trying to the adventurer; but the winds and waves were more agreeable to the victorious explorer. In two days he got into George Town, expecting to be in Launceston with the tide.

       Thus ended this memorable visit. Batman did what any one else might have done, but did not do. It was the old story of Columbus and the egg. Once shown the way, it was easy for others to follow. As Columbus, so unjustly treated by his contemporaries, has been honoured by succeeding generations, so Batman, slighted and neglected in life, will be hailed in after years as the founder of a great nation, the revealer of a new world of enterprise and progress.

       Mr. Batman's conductor to Port Phillip, Captain Robson, has given his Log (with remarks) of his first trip to Melbourne from Launceston, on board the  Rebecca,  with Batman's party:—

       " June 15th, cleared the Heads, wind N.W.; out twenty miles to westward; bore up for Port Sorell. 16th,put to sea, but obliged to bear up. 17th, put to sea, wind S.W., steady breeze, but heavy sea from N.W. 18th, winds variable. 19th, wind from the northward ; made to the westward. 20th, brought up under West Hunter Island; landed the Sydney natives, nine of

       them altogether, at 3 P.M. ; at 7 P.M., brought them; wind chopped round to the S.W.; run out between the Islands. 21st, off Flat-top Point. 22nd, run into or entered Port Phillip; run as far as Prudential Head; it fell calm; brought up; saw a native dog on shore; out boat and landed; the dog made for the boat, but as soon as he saw our dogs he set off, ours after him, five in number. Dick White's greyhound hauling him; first he tore the roof of his head right off, and took the water; we shot them both, as the hound could not live; weighed anchor at 5 P.M.; started up Geelong; at 9 P.M., saw native fires; got as close to them as we could. 23rd, landed at 2 A.M.; up to our ankles in mud; got up the fires two hours before daylight, but the natives were gone; sent the black bloodhounds after them; found them about three miles off; brought them back; there were forty-two women and children, but not a man among them. Batman made them handsome presents, and they informed him that the men had gone to war a long long way, pointing in the direction. Batman then started to cross the BarabooU Hills, but was driven back by a most severe hail-storm ; made a second attempt and saw the Barwon, but getting late, he returned on board, intending to go the following day, but, when on board, he altered his mind, and he said he thought it would be better to try and see the natives altogether, and as they were at war they would decide the grand point. Then says he, we will lose no time. Got under way, and started for the Yarrow, on the 24th. Brought up as near the bar as possible —the forty-two natives had brackish water carrying in their buckets. On the 25th, landed on the upper side of Salt Water Creek, Mr. J. Batman, Gumm (not Gun, as Fawkner calls him), Ned Thompson, two men belonging to the vessel, and nine Sydney natives, fifteen in all, armed to the teeth, and loaded with as much as they could carry. Off they went, us watching them as far as we could see them. On the 28th, we heard signal guns at 9 P.M., answered and sent boats on shore; party returned, but could not find the natives. On the 29th, got under way, and stood into the Bay to see if we could see any native fires: we did, and took the bearings; then ran back, and brought up as before. On the 30th, we started at daylight firom the upper side of Salt Water Creek, with a fresh stock and all in good cheer. On the second day, we saw an old man and woman, three natives ; down swag and gave chase, caught them and brought them back to Batman, who made them handsome presents; in two hours and a half, we saw the natives, 400 or 500 strong. As the latter saw our party, they one and all began to set up such an infernal yell, and rushed towards the party; however, the old man and old woman set up a different yell, which pacified them, and they all run back, stuck their spears

       in heaps, and then made friends with the party; the party stopped two nights with them; each diflferent party keeping strict watch all night. July 4th, party returned on board, after making friends with the natives, and parting with nearly all they had, left them good friends. July 5th, Batman and party went up the Yarra, and myself. We filled three casks of water, and on going down cut a boat-hook staff. Here one of the natives cut a good sized tree nearly down, and said, jokingly, ' Dat was Robson's tree,* which made Batman smile. Returned on board, and started for Indented Head, or QueenscliflFe, which is now. Commenced landing the stores. Got up to the tent, landed several tons of potatoes, and flour, pork, beef, &c., &c., and plenty of ammunition, with a written instruction what to do. Batman wrote this instruction while we were landing—^to build a sod hut, thirty feet long, ten broad, and to roof it with soda, leaving loop-holes in different places—they then would be safe. In the mean time, to allow the natives each lib. of meat per day, but not to allow them to make any huts nearer than 300 yards away of them, and to keep them at a respectable distance. July 6th, All being landed, we left the party a new whale-boat, complete. We got under way, past Point Nepean at 4 P.M., bound for Launceston, after leaving at Indented Head, Ted Gumm, Thompson, and seven natives. July 8th, Entered Tamar Heads, and arrived at the wharf on the 9th, at 9 A.M.

       "Robert Robson,

       "On boabd of the 'Rebecca.'   Master,**

       It was soon after his return to his home under Ben Lomond, of Tasmania, that Batman forwarded a report of his Port Phillip trip to Governor Arthur. The composition by no means bears the impress of the unscholarly Bushman, but gives evidence of the joint labours of Mr. Gellibrand, the lawyer, and Mr. Wedge, the surveyor. The inconsistency of dates between the Report and the Journal will strike the reader. The document was as follows:—

       " HoBART  Town,  June  26<A, 1886.

       "  Sir, —I have the honour of reporting to your Excellency, for the information of His Majesty's Government, the result of an Expedition undertaken by myself at the expense of and in conjunction with several gentlemen, inhabitants of Van Diemen's Land, to Port Philip, on the south-western point of New Holland, for the purpose of forming an extensive pastoral establishment, and combining therewith the civilization of the native tribes who are living in that part of the country.

       " Before I enter into the details, I deem it' necessary to state, for the information of His Majesty's Government, that I am a native of New South Wales, and that, for the last six years, I have been most actively emp!oyed in endeavouring to civilize the aboriginal natives of Van Diemen's Land; and, in order to enable the local Government of this colony to carry that important object into full effect, I procured from New South Wales eleven original natives of New Holland, who were, under my guidance, mainly instrumental in carrying into effect the humane object of this Government towards the aborigines of this island.

       " I also deem it necessary to state, that I have been for many years impressed with the opinion, that a most advantageous settlement might be formed at Western Port, or Port Philip; and that, in 1827, Mr. J. T. Gellibrand and myself addressed a joint letter to the Colonial Government of New South Wales, soliciting permission to occupy land at Port Philip, with an undertaking to export to that place stock to the value of 5,000/, and which was to be placed for a certain number of years under my personal direction and superintendence.

       " This application was not granted by the Sydney Government, because the land was beyond the limits of that territory, and the occupation of Western Port had been altogether abandoned.

       " It occurred to myself, and some of the gentlemen who are associated with me, that, inasmuch as the Sydney natives who were living with me had become weU acquainted with the English language and manners, and had acquired habits of industry in agricultural pursuits, they might, therefore, be considered partially civilized, and as the available lands in this colony were occupied by flocks of sheep and fully stocked, it would be a favourable opportunity of opening a direct friendly intercourse with the tribes in the neighbourhood of Port Philip, and by obtaining from them a grant of a portion of that territory upon equitable principles, not only might the resources of this colony be considerably extended, but the object of civilization be established, and which, in process of time, would lead to the civilization of a large portion of the aborigines of that extensive country.

       **  In pursuance of arrangements based upon these principles I proceeded on the 12th day of May, 1835, in a vessel from

       Launceston, accompanied by seven Sydney natives, and proceeded to Port Philip, on the south-western extremity of New Holland, where I landed on the 26th day of May.

       " On the evening of our arrival at Port Philip, we saw the native fires at a distance of about five miles. I then made my arrangements for the purpose of opening an intercourse with the natives by means of those under my charge. I equipped them in their native dresses, and early in the morning we landed. I desired the natives to proceed unarmed, and they preceded me a few hundred yards. When we had advanced within half-a-mile, we saw the native huts and smoke. My natives then proceeded quietly up to the huts, expecting that we should find the tribe asleep ; but when they had got to the huts, it appeared that the natives had fled a few hours previously, leaving behind them some of their buckets and other articles.

       " I concluded from this that the natives had discovered the vessel, and had quitted their huts through fear, and as I thought it probable they might in consequence quit the coast for a season, I determined immediately to put my natives upon the track, and if possible overtake them, and at once obtain   i

       their confidence.

       " My natives followed the track, which appeared to have been very circuitous, and after we had proceeded about ten miles, we at length saw a tribe, consisting of twenty women and twenty-four children.

       "My natives then made to them some of their friendly signals, which it appeared were understood, and in the course of a few minutes my natives joined the tribe, and after remaining with them as I judged sufficient length of time to conciliate them and explain my friendly disposition, I advanced alone and joined them, and was introduced to them by my natives, two of whom spoke nearly the same language, and so as to be perfectly intelligible to them.

       " The two interpreters explained to them, by my directions, that I had come in a vessel from the other shores to settle amongst them, and to be upon friendly terms*; that I was, although a white, a countryman of theirs, and would protect them; and I wished them to return with me to their huts where I had left some presents for them.

       " After some conversation^ the whole party, women and children, returned with me and my natives towards the huts until they came within sight of the shore ; they then stopt and hesitated in proceeding, and, as I understood from the interpreters, were afraid I should take them by force and ill-use them, as some of their tribe had been already.

       " After the strongest assurances on my part of my sincerity and friendly disposition, and that no harm should be done to them, they then proceeded to the huts, where I gave them a pair of blankets each, tomahawks, knives, scissors, looking-glasses, and I affixed round the neck  of each woman and child a necklace.

       "As soon as I had distributed the presents, they were informed by the interpreters that they might depart and join their friends, and I left them and proceeded on board the vessel. They appeared, by my conduct towards them, highly gratified and excited, and showed by their manners that the fullest confidence existed.

       " On the next and five following days I employed myself in surveying the country, and although I saw several native fires, I abstained from intruding upon them, leaving the interview I had had with the women to have its full effect upon the tribes before I visited them again.

       " On the seventh day I proceeded towards the place where I had seen the fires, and where I had reason to believe the tribes were, and I sent my natives forward with the same instructions as upon" the first occasion. We remained up the country all night, and proceeded early the next morning under the expectation of reaching the tribes. After we had proceeded about seven miles, we fell in with a native man, his wife, and three children, who received my natives with apparent cordiality, and informed them that the women to whom I had given the presents, although belonging to another tribe, had communicated to them the reception they had met with from me.

       " I learned from this native where the chiefs of the tribes were stationed, and also their names, and this man most readily offered at once to act as our guide, and take us at once to the spot. We then proceeded with the man, his wife and children, towards the huts of the chiefs; but it appeared that the guide took us past the spot where the chiefs were, and some of the children having observed a white man, gave the alarm, and

       almost immediately we found the tribe in our rear advancing towards us with spears and in a menacing position. My natives, with the man, woman, and children, then called out to the tribe, and they immediately dropt their spears and other implements in the grass, and the two sable parties advanced towards each other, and I shortly followed them.

       " Some conversation then took place between my natives and the tribe. The object of my visit and intentions were then explained to them, and the chiefs then pressed me to proceed with them to see their wives and children, which is one of the strongest demonstrations of peace and confidence. Upon my assenting to this request, the chiefs then inquired of my interpreters whether I would allow them to take up their implements of war, which I immediately assented to, and the principal chief then gave me his best spear to carry, and I in return gave him my gun.

       " We then proceeded towards the huts, and when a short distance from thence the chief called out to the women not to be alarmed, and I was then introduced to the whole tribe, consisting of upwards of twenty men, containing altogether fifty-five men, women and childi-en.

       " I joined this tribe about twelve o'clock, and staid with them until about twelve o'clock the next day, during which time I fully explained to them that the object of my visit was to purchase from them a tract of their country ; that I intended to settle amongst them with my wife and seven daughters; and that I intended to bring to the country sheep and cattle. I also explained my wish to protect them in every way, to employ them the same as my own natives, and also to clothe and feed them; and I also proposed to pay them an annual tribute in necessaries as a compensation for the enjoyment of the land.

       " The chiefe appeared most fully to comprehend my proposals, and much delighted with the prospect of having me to live amongst them. I then explained to them the boundaries of the land which I wished to purchase, and which are defined by hills, to which they have aflixed native names; and the limits of the land purchased by me are defined in the chart which I have the honour of transmitting, taken from personal survey.

       " On the next day the chiefs proceeded with me to the boundaries, and they marked with their own native marks the

       trees which were at the comers of the boundaries, and they also gave me their own private mark, which is kept sacred by them, even so much so that the women are not allowed to see it.

       "  After the boundaries had been thus marked and described, I filled up as accurately as I could define it, the land agreed to be purchased by me from the chiefs; and the deed when thus filled up was most careftdly read over and explained to them by the two interpreters, so that they most fully comprehended its purport and effect. I then filled up two other parts of the deed so as to make it in triplicate, and the three principal chiefs and five of the subordinate chiefs then executed each of the deeds, each part being separately read over, and they each delivered to me a piece of the soil for the purpose of putting me in possession thereof, and understanding that it was a form by which they delivered to me the tract of land.

       " I have the honour of inclosing herewith a copy of each of the deeds executed by the natives to me, which I confidently trust will most clearly manifest that I have proceeded upon an equitable principle; that my object has not been possession and expulsion, or, what is worse, extermination, but possession and civilization;—and the reservation of the annual tribute to those who are the real owners of the soil will afford evidence of the sincerity of my professions in wishing to protect and civilize these tribes of benighted but intelligent people: And I confidently trust that the British Government will duly appreciate the treaty which I have made with these tribes, and will not in any manner molest the arrangements which I have made, but that I shall receive the support and encouragement of not only the local Government, but that of the British Government, in carrying the objects into effect.

       "I quitted Port Philip on the 14th day of June, having parted with the tribes in the most friendly and conciliatory manner, leaving five of my natives and three white men to commence a garden near the harbour, and to erect a house for my temporary occupation on my return with my wife and family.

       " I arrived at Launceston after a passage of thirty-six hours, which will at once show the geographical advantages of this territory to Van Diemen's Land, and in a few years I have no hesitation in affirming, from the nature of the soil, that the

       exports of wool and meat to Van Diemen's Land will form a considerable feature in its commercial relations.

       "I traversed the country in opposite directions about fifty miles, and having had much experience in lands and grazing in New South Wales, and in this colony, I have no hesitation in asserting that the general character of the country is decidedly superior to any which I have ever seen. It is interspersed with fine rivers and creeks, and the downs were extended on every side as far as the eye could reach, thickly covered with grass of the finest description, and containing an almost indescribable extent of fine land fit for any purposes.

       " I have now finally to report, that the following are the gentlemen who are associated with me in the colonization at Port Philip, many of whom will reside with their establishments at Port Philip, and all of whom are prepared and intend immediately to export stock, which will be under my general guidance and immediate superintendence: C. Swanston, Thos. Bannister, James Simpson, J. T. Gellibrand, J. and W. Robertson, Henry Arthur, H. Wedge, J. Sinclair, J. T. Collicott, A. Cotterell, W. G. Sams, M. Connolly, George Mercer.

       *' The quantity of stock exported this year will be at the least 20,000 breeding ewes; and one of the leading stipulations will be, that none but married men of good character with their families will be sent, either as overseers or servants, so that by no possibility any personal injury shall be offered to the natives or their families; and it is also intended, for the purpose of preserving due order and morals, that a minister or catechist shall be attached to the establishment at the expense of the Association.

       " The chiefs, to manifest their friendly feeling towards me. insisted upon my receiving firom them two native cloaks and several baskets made by the women, and also some of their implements of defence, which I beg to transmit The women generally are clothed with cloaks of a description somewhat similar, and they certainly appear to me to be of a superior race to any natives which I have ever seen.

       " I have the honour to be,

       " Sir, " Your Excellency's obedient humj>le Servant, (Signed)   "John Batman."

       In this report Batman describes his origin and the work of pacification, or native-catching, in which he had been engaged in Van Diemen's Land, with the assistance of some semi-civilised blacks from New South Wales. He then refers to an application Mr. Gellibrand and he had made eight years before for the occupation of land at Western Port. A desire to carry out the original idea, and at another spot, led those two to form an association, and take advantage of Batman's party of Australians to purchase land from the aborigines of Port PhilUp.

       The report supplies certain particulars of the visit which are not mentioned in the journal. It is amusing to read that the explorer equipped his Sydney men in their native dresses, which would mean their native  undress.  The first attempt to find a tribe was a failure, as the wild fellows retreated unobserved, though not unobserving. It was some slight exaggeration to say that two of the Sydney men "spoke nearly the same language, and so as to be perfectly intelligible," to the women on Indented Head, unless these had known Port Phillip women who had been stolen, as was the custom, by sealers from that coast, and carried off to isles in Bass's Straits as their slaves. Under such circumstances the two Sydney blacks may have picked up in the Straits enough of the other tongue to serve for interpretation. They could hardly otherwise have attempted to persuade their leader that those women were afraid he "would take them by force and illuse them, as some of their tribe had been already." Mr. Bobinson, the pacificator of the Tasmanians, met a number of Port Phillip women in bondage to the cruel sealers in the Straits. When he subsequently came over as Protector of Aborigines in Port Phillip, he brought some of these very captives back to their own land.

       It is well here to remark that the ridicule cast upon Batman's narrative about the treaty, on the ground of the impossibility of any intercourse of speech between the Sydney and Port Phillip people, is not altogether well judged. Although the two vocabularies had great differences, the construction of language was similar. But there had been, as we now find, a neutral ground in the Bass's Straits islands, where there was not only a picking up of new words, but a sort of  lingua franca  was absolutely established, and predominated for years in the Pro-

       tectorate of Flinders Island. Though the Merri Creek Jagga Jaggaa of Port Phillip were further ofif the sealers than those on Indented Head, yet it is known that our roving countrymen of the Straits did carry their incursions right into the Bay; and / probably some women had been stolen by them from the neighbourhood of the Yarra Yarra. Though the English of the Sydney natives was but  Pigeon English,  we may give them .credit for better knowledge of a kindred tongue. They had no difficulty in making themselves known among the very diversely-speaking Tasmanian tribes, and were themselves of distinctly different tongues in parts of New South Wales. Without doubt, a number of words were in common use on the continent of New Holland, and there appears to have been more intercourse among the tribes of old than when the whites settled there. Besides, the marvellous power of signs—signs admitted to be accepted over a very great area, would be very effective with so shrewd a set of fellows as those who had been with Batman several years.

       That tribes from a distance could communicate with each other, and were able to give prompt intelligence, is well illustrated by the fact mentioned in the report, that the women first met by Batman had informed the people so far off as the head of Port Phillip Bay of what the white men had done. It was not a little owing to their good account of the strangers that the Jagga Jagga so-called chiefs were friendly.

       In his official story, as in his journal. Batman repeats the phrase  dkiefs^  though such authorities, in the orthodox sense, have no existence with Australian blacks. The interchange of weapons between the explorer and one of these stalwart natives was not only a mark of mutual confidence, but the recognition of an almost universal custom. Tribes were not populous in those days, since that one with which the treaty was made consisted of but fifty-five men, women, and children, though the journal says forty-five. But, without doubt, this was but a subdivision of a larger group around the site of Melbourne.

       To these blacks did Batman explain his project of being their friend, and of settling among them with wife and seven daughters. It might have been easier to comprehend a treaty than for them to realise a family of seven daughters by one wife.   His proposition to clothe  and feed them  must  have

       by no means accurately written. The l»undary-mai the weak point in the harness, and its story was hardlj win the confidence of the British Government in the
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       struck the hunters, root-diggers, and skin-wearers as quite a needless one. The wooUy-kangaroo keeping was, perhaps, as intelligible after the explanation as the payment of tribute, in spite of the report that "the chiefs appeared most fully to comprehend my proposals."

       But there is considerable obscurity about the marking of the boundaries. No mention of this is recorded in the journal, except the cutting of the bark to indicate a private or sacred sign; but, as that was not to be seen by a woman, we may suppose the mark was removed. On the contrary, the elaborate report to Colonel Arthur, the Grovernor, distinctly affirms that the chiefs proceeded with Batman to the boundaries, and that they " marked with their own native marks the trees which were at the comers of the boundaries." As this was done in part of one day, it is certain that the area first assumed was a very small one, and pretty considerably less than that appropriated, viz., 600,000 acres. It was " after the boundaries had been thus marked and described," tliat the formal business of reciting and explaining the treaty took place, together with the signature to three distinct legal instruments. We are thus led to conclude that a very loose sort of bargain was made with the blacks, the boundaries being pointed out by the aid of prominent hills, or that the country actually traversed by Batman's chie& and purchased from them, comprehended at most a few thousand acres betweeip Williamstown and Melbourne. The tribesmen could never have proceeded with our countrymen within the space of less than one day to the boundaries of a six hundred thousand acre region.

       That something was done in the way of acknowledging an area of land in some sort of exchange for certain goods and trinkets may be accepted. The so-called  Treaty  wa& no more a myth than the visit to Port Phillip itself, however it was understood or misunderstood. Not only did Batman always adhere to his declaration of purchase, but he induced others to believe the story. The present writer \yas assured by Mr. Wedge, and by one of the three white men with Batman, that a formal arrangement was made. But that the Report account must be accepted literally is another thing. It is true, in a sense, but is by no means accurately written. The boundary-marking was the weak point in the harness, and its story was hardly likely to win the confidence of the British Government in the treaty, or

       p

       dispose those very suspicious authorities in Sydney to refrain, as was wished, from molesting  the   arrangements  Batman had

       made.

       Had the explorer confined his observations to his having " traversed the country in opposite directions about fifty miles," and contented himself with the general statement of an amicable agreement, without the nice description of  heating the hounds, the Report would have shown more evidence, and the objects of the Association would have stood a fairer chance of attainment.

       The Report further points out the moral side of the Colonial movement. Batman is represented as saying: " I have proceeded upon an equitable principle; that my object has not been possession and expulsion, or, what is worse, extermination, but possession and civilization; and the reservation of the annual tribute to those who are the real owners of the soil will afford evidence of the sincerity of my professions in wishing to protect and civilize these tribes of benighted but intelligent people." This was recorded with a view to gain the sympathy of the British Ministry, and, thereby, their sanction of the Association.

       About the sincerity of this declaration there can be little question. The Black War of Van Diemen's Land had brought forward most painftiUy the whole subject of aboriginal claims. A similar discussion in England preceded the establishment of the  Private  Colony of South Australia. Right-thinking men were shocked at the ordinary effects of British colonization upon the unhappy dark races. The benevolent leaders of the Port Phillip Association were honestly intending to act fairly and kindly to the sons and daughters of the forest; and they had some right to expect an appreciation of their motives from a civilized and Christian Government.

       The oflScial reply to Mr. Batman's Report to Governor Arthur came from his secretary, John Montagu, Esq., and is dated from Hobart Town, July 3rd, 1835 :—

       " I am directed to inform you that the Lieutenant-Governor, having perused with much interest the account contained in your Report of the 25th ultimo, of your expedition to Port Phillip, is highly gratified with the very favourable opinion you have been enabled to form of the fertility of the adjacent territory, thus confirming the various statements which have been made respecting it, since the first occupation of that

       country, in 1803, by Governor Collins, and more especially by Messrs. Hovell and Hume and Captain Wright, whose reports have long since been in the possession of His Majesty's Government.

       *' Though divided only by a few hours' sail from the most fertile portion of Van Diemen's Land, Port Phillip is not within the jurisdiction of this Government. His Excellency, therefore, would only observe that the recognition of the rights supposed to have been acquired by the Treaty into which you have entered with the natives would appear to be a departure from the principle upon which a Parliamentary sanction without reference to the aborigines has been given to the settlement of Southern Australia, as part of the possessions of the Crown.

       "The Lieutenant-Governor will have great pleasure,however, in forwarding your Report to His Majesty's Government, and in representing the enterprise manifested by yourself, the respectability of the parties interested in the undertaking, and the humane consideration which His Excellency is informed it is their intention to extend towards the aboriginals of Iramoo (copied  Irannrod),  and which justice and humanity alike require as a preliminary in the occupation of every new country; but, at the same time, the Lieutenant-Governor would remark, for the reasons he has assigned, that he considers that it would not be prudent in the gentlemen associated with you to incur expense in any reliance on a confirmation from the Crown of your title to the land under the agreement into which you have entered; an opinion which His Excellency cannot avoid expressing, although he is very sensible that the colonization of the country you have examined would, on account of its proximity, be highly conducive to the prosperity of Van Diemen s Land.

       " I am also to observe that, in reference to the application of Mr. Henty to be allowed, under certain conditions, to locate a grant of land on the southern coast of New Holland, His Majesty's Government declined to accede to his proposal, conceiving that to have done so would have been to deviate from the principles involved in the Act of the Settlement of Southern Australia."

       In this letter we have the prudent language of a statesman, careful to guard his position, while saying something agreeable. He gave judicious advice to the adventurers, and abstained from any word of official encouragement.

       The Treaty, executed in triplicate, is on two separate parchments. One is styled " Grant of the Territory called Dutigalla,  with livery of Seisin endorsed, dated 6th June, 1836." The other is " Grant of the Territory called  Geelong, with livery of Seisin endorsed, dated 6th June, 1835."
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       The first describes the tract of country ceded forty miles in length, or 500,000 acres, and the consideration in blankets, food, &c., together with the annual tribute in goods. The other, a conveyance from the same parties, by the way, relates to the Qeelong country, or Indented Head, containing about 100,000 acres; for this the consideration and tribute are less than for Dutigalla.

       The Deed for Dutigalla is as follows :—

       " 3^noto all  ^tVBann  that We,   Three Brothers, Jagajaga, Jagajaga, Jagajaga, being the Principal Chiefs, and also Cooloo-lock,  Bungarie, Yanyan, Moowhip, and Mommarmalar also, being the Chiefs of a certain Native Tribe, called Dutigallar, situate at  and near  Port  Phillip,   called by us,  the  above mentioned Chiefs Irumao, being possessed of the Tract of Land hereinafter mentioned, for and in consideration of Twenty pairs of Blankets, Thirty Tomahawks, One Hundred Knives, Fifty pair Scissors, Thirty Looking Glasses, Two Hundred Handkerchiefs, and One Hundred Pounds Flour, and Six Shirts, delivered to us by John Batman, residing in Van Diemen's Land, Esquire, but at present sojourning with us and our Tribe, Do for ourselves, Our Heirs and Successors, ^ib^, Grant, EnfeoflF,and Confirm unto the said  John Batman,  his Heirs and Assigns, ^U that Tract of Country situate and being at Port Phillip, running from the branch of the River at the top of the Port, about 7 miles from the mouth of the River, Forty miles North East, and from thence West Forty miles across Iramoo Downs or Plains, and from thence South South West, across Mount Vilanmarnar-tar to Geelong Harbour, at the head of the same, and containing about Five Hundred Thousand more or less Acres, as the same hath been, before the execution of these presents, delineated and marked out by us, according to the custom of our Tribe, by certain marks made upon the Trees growing along the boundaries

       of the said tract of land, ^0 JpoI& the said tract of Land with all advantages belonging thereto, unto, and To the Use of the said  John Batman^  his Heirs and Assigns for ever, to the intent that the said  John Balinan,  his Heirs and Assigns, may occupy and possess the said tract of Land, and place thereon

       Sheep and Cattle. Wul&tn^ and delivering to us, and our Heirs and Successors the yearly Rent or Tribute of One Hundred pairs of Blankets, One Hundred Knives, One Hundred

       Tomahawks, Fifty Suits of Clothing,    Looking Glasses,

       Fifty pairs Scissors, and Five Tons Flour. JltWlitntSS whereof We, Jagajaga, Jagajaga, Jagajaga, the before mentioned principal Chiefs, and Cooloolock, Bungarie, Yanyan, Moowhip, Mommarmalar, being the Chiefs of the said Tribe, have here-

       unto affixed our Seals to those presents, and have signed the same.  Dated  according to the Christian Era, this Sixth day of June, One Thousand Eight Hundred and Thirty five.

       "  Jagajaga                    his ///   Mark   L. S.

       **  Jagajaqa   his f/f* Mark   L. S.

       **  Jagajaga                  his  JfJ*  Mark   L. S.

       " CooLOOLOCK   his  Jll'  Mark   L. S.

       " BuNGARiE                  his fff* Mark   L. S.

       "  Yanyan   his Iff  Mark   L. S.

       '* MoowHiP                   his  III'  Mark   L. S.

       *'  Mommarmalar   his  fff'  Mark   L. S.

       **  John Batman,

       " Signed, Sealed and Delivered in the presence of us, the same having been fully and properly interpreted and explained to the said Chiefs.   "  James Gumm.

       "Alexander Thompson.

       "WiLLM.  Todd.

       " Be it Remembered, that on the day and year within written, possession and delivery of the tract of Land within mentioned was made by the within named Jagajaga, Jagajaga, Jagajaga, principal Chiefs, and Cooloolock, Bungarie, Yanyan, Moowhip, and Mommarmalar, also Chiefs of the Tribe of Natives called Dutigallar, to the within named John Batman, by the said Chiefs, taking up part of the Soil of the said Tract of Land, and delivering the same to the said John Batman, in the name of the whole.

       The other for Qeelong runs thus :—

       o

       "l^noiW  all  |Ptr80nB  that We,  three Brothers, Jagajaga, Jagajaga, Jagajaga, being the Principal Chiefs, and also Cooloolock, Bungarie, Yanyan, Moowhip, Mommarmalar, being the

       Chiefs of a certain Native Tribe called ^trtigallar, situate at and near Port Phillip, called by us, the above mentioned Chiefs, Iramoo, and Geelong; being possessed pf the Tract of Land hereinafter mentioned, for, and in consideration of Twenty Pair of Blankets, thirty Knives, twelve Tomahawks, ten Looking Glasses, twelve Pair Scissors, fifty Handkerchiefe, twelve Red Shirts, four Flannel Jackets, four Suits Clothes, and fifty pounds Flour, delivered to us by  John Batman^  residing in Van Diemen's Land,  Esquire, but at present sojourning with  us

       and our Tribe, Do for ourselves, our Heirs and Successors, (5ibt> Grant, Enfeoff, and Confirm unto the said  John Batman^  his Heirs and Assigns, ^11 Ibat Tract of Country, situate and being

       in the Bay of Port Phillip, known by the name of Indented Head, but called by us Geelong, extending across from Geelong Harbour about due South, for ten miles, more or less, to the head of Port Phillip, taking in the whole Neck or Tract of Land, and containing about One Hundred Thousand Acres, as the same hath been before the execution of these presents delineated and marked out by us according to the custom of our Tribe, by certain marks made upon the Trees growing along the boundaries of the said tract of Land, ^0 |^0lb the said tract of Land with all the advantages belonging thereto, unto, and To the Use of the said  John Batman,  his Heirs and Assigns for ever, to the intent that the said  John Batman,  his Heirs and Assigns may occupy and possess the said tract of Land, and place thereon

       Sheep and Cattle, M^klbing and delivering to us, and our Heirs

       or Successors, the Yearly Rent or Tribute of Fifty pair of Blankets, Fifty Knives, Fifty Tomahawks, Fifty pair Scissors, Fifty Looking Glasses, Twenty Suits of Slops or Clothing, and

       Two tons Flour,  ^n  MlltUSS whereof. We, Jagajaga, Jagaja<Ta, Jagajaga, the three Principal Chiefs, and also Cooloo-lock, Bungarie, Yanyan, Moowhip, Mommarmalar, the Chiefs of the said Tribe, have hereunto aflSxed our Seals to these presents, and have signed the same.  Dated  according to the Christian Aera, this Sixth day of June, One Thousand Eight Hundred and Thirty five.

       "  Jagajaga   his   Jff*  Mark   (L. S.)

       "Jagajaga   his  Jfj'  Mark   (L. S.)

       "  Jagajaga   his fff Mark   (L. S.)

       "  Cooloolock   his Iff* Mark   (L. S.)

       *<  Bungarie   his  jff'  Mark   (L. S.)

       "  Yanyan   his  }}}'  Mark   (L. S.)

       "  Moowhip   his  Jff'  Mark   (L. S.)

       "  Mommarmalar         his f/f- Mark   (L. S.)

       '*JoHN  Batman.

       " Signed, Sealed and Delivered in the presence of us, the same having been fully and properly interpreted and explained to the said Chiefs.

       " In presence of

       "James Gumm.

       "  Alexander Thompson.

       " WiLLM.  Todd.

       " Be it Remembered, that on the day and year within written, possession and delivery of the Tract of Land within mentioned was made by the within named Jagajaga, Jagajaga, Jagajaga, Cooloolock, Bungarie, Yanyan, Moowhip, Mommarmalar, Chiefs of the Tribe of Natives called Dutigallar Geelong, to the within named John Batman, by the said Chiefs, taking up part of the soil of the said Tract of Land, and delivering the same to the said John Batman in the name of the whole.'

       Of this Deed the Hobart Town  Tasmanian  wrote :—" It was, we understand, a transcript of the form adopted by the great Penn in his treaty with the aboriginal possessors of the now noble nation of Pennsylvania." The editor thus remarks of it: —" It is as lawful, and as regular, and as well established by right, from the rightful possessors, as the best conveyance with which the best lawyers in Lincoln's Inn could confuse and confound the understanding of the reader, by the utmost possible multiplication of words and skins of parchment."

       Mr. Penn*s letter to the Indians, sent from England, 18th August, 1681, has these words:—"The King of the country where I Uve hath given me a great province therein (America), but I desire to enjoy it with your love and consent, that we may always live together as neighbours and friends.  ...  I shall shortly come to you myself; in the meantime I have sent my commissioners to treat with you about land and a firm league of peace; let me desire you to be kind to them and the people, and receive these presents and tokens which I have sent you as a testimony of my good will to you."

       Quite a number of instances could be given as precedents for the action of Batman, especially during the seventeenth and eighteenth centuries, with American Indians. Colonists and others did not scruple to purchase tracts of land in New Zealand from the natives. The only diflSculty in the latter case was that the Maories neglected to keep a legal register of such

       formalities, and so, quite inadvertently, sold the same plot several times over to as many parties. Again, as successive tribes were displaced by conquering neighbours, the dispossessed regarded themselves as rightful owners, and were always ready to convey, for a consideration.

       The comparison of John Batman with William Penn was made by the Launceston paper, the  Cornwall Chronicle,  the day after the return; saying, in the issue of June 13th:—

       " The Tasmanian Penn, Mr. Batman, arrived yesterday from Port Phillip, and reached his own home from thence within little more than forty-eight hours."

       The account then given of the Treaty is as follows :—

       " A fine athletic fellow—the chief of the tribe—after being made acquainted with Mr. Batman's wish to purchase land, and his means to pay for it,  proceeded with him and his party, accompanied by his tribe, to measure it oflF. At each comer boundary the chief marked a tree, and tabooed it, and at the same time explained to the tribe the nature of the ti*eaty, and the positive necessity on their part to observe it inviolable. Mr. Batman was provided with the deeds in triplicate, the nature of which he explained to the chief as the fashion upon such an occasion in white man's country, who readily signed them, and received one to preserve. The payment of the land in part consisted of 100 blankets, tomahawks, knives, flour, &c.; and it was mutually agreed that a certain quantity of clothing and aims were to be paid each year, the amount of them about £200 sterling."

       After this grave and circumstantial recital of proceedings in this paper of June 13th, one is hardly prepared to meet, in the same day's issue, the following letter to the Editor, and signed " Wrangleawee " :—

       " I am happy to inform you that the schooner has arrived safe from Port Phillip, on the opposite side of the Straits. Mr. Batman has left Mr. Pigeon, commander of the Sydney Blacks (who acted under Black Robinson in catching the blacks here), in possession of the territory, amounting to two millions of acres, which he purchased from one of the natives. The site of a township has been marked oflf, to be called ' Batmania,' at the head of Port Phillip, well supplied with a running stream of fresh water."

       In Lloyd's amusing  Thirty-three Years in Tasmania and Victoria,  is   the  supposed   story   of Wooloomooloo  and   the

       other Sydney Blacks coming upon a band of fifty Port Phillip warriors.   We read that^—

       "Notwithstanding his spirited gesture and vehement jabbering, which he concluded by thrusting a stick into the ground and formally tabooing it, the aboriginal warriors still maintained their warlike attitude. Unfortunately, the language of the sable mediator differed so materially from that of the Port Phillipians that but little progress could be effected by such incomprehensible parlance. At this ominous stage of the proceedings, however, the old native who had accompanied the party, stepped forward, and in a few magical sentences happily produced a more amicable feeling. Wooloomooloo earnestly endeavoured to explain the desire of his  mater fader —as he called the white chief—to purchase large tracts of land. To render his advocacy the more comprehensible, he repeatedly drove sticks into the soil, dug up small pieces of earth, and gave them to his master, bidding Jagajaga to repeat the same forms, which the  intdligerU chief did, accompanying each act with roars of laughter and yah-yahs,

       " So rapturous a feeling did the magnificent entry impart to the white chief, that he was ever exclaiming, ' O heavenly, heavenly sight! What man could wish for brighter scenes than these for his future pilgrimage on earth ! Ah, me! Benbow, let's have a sip of Oognac Vieux, and we'll drink confusion to our adversaries.'

       "'Ay, ay, sir,' responded the parched sailor, producing the bottle.   ' Give the blacks a nobbier, sir ?'

       "' 'Sdeath 1 No, man, no. 'Twould be a heinous sin to taint their unadulterated palates with baleful firewater, &c. We'll have a little.'

       " Meanwhile, K^rdinia, third betrothed lubra of Jagajaja, with graceful modesty stole up to the council-fire by the side of her savage lord, and, in so doing, elicited an exclamation from the admiring sailor, Benbow. ' HuUoa, shipmate I run up the colours I Here's Miss Wennus de Mediky come into port. Split my topsails, Jim, if I don't conwest her jetty shoulders with the Order of the Blanket.' . . . The document was ordered to be read aloud, and explained : to the terms of which the chiefs signified their entire consent by sundry senseless broad grins, pulling down the corner of one eye in a playful mood !"

       The  Tasmanian  of July 8th, 1836, asked—

       " Can the British Government thus appropriate to itself the immense continent of New Holland, and sell it as its own at its mere pleasure ? Quite as well might it demand payment of the settlers at the large English town at the Bay of Islands, or at

       Hokianga and its vicinity, in New Zealand. ' Oh ! but' would say the Missionaries of all denominations, Mr. Oakes and others, possessors of fine estates at the above places, ' you cannot touch us; we possess titles to our properties; we have purchased them from the chiefs, the lawful proprietors of the soil.' Here, again, are the Phillipians quite as well armed. They produce a fine grant deed, ornamented with as many seals as Magna Charta, and in justice quite as legal too."

       The  Treaty  gave no small amusement to a number of persons; but the criticism of the Hobart Town  Courier  has a witty reference to the celebrated Tasmanian native chief, Woureddy, the friend of Mr. Robinson, so successful in closing peaceably the " Black War of Van Diemen's Land." The article is worth copying:—

       "The return of Mr. Batman from his expedition to Port Phillip, with the favourable result of his interview with the aborigines there, has, we learn, induced above a dozen of our most wealthy and influential capitalists, both here and at Laun-ceston, to join him in the enterprise. As far as placing sheep on that fine pastoral country, and bringing it for the first time into a productive state, and of which this colony will mainly reap the benefit, we cannot but applaud the measure. The spirited individuals who embaik in it will not only explore and bring into use the resources of a hitherto almost unknown country, but the compact which Mr. Batman has so wisely made with the original owners of the soil must, to a great extent, if fairly observed by the whites, have the most happy effect in maintaining an amicable intercourse between the graziers and their black associates. Happy had it been for Van Diemen's Land if the same step had been taken with the aborigines of it on its first settlement by the English. But how far this arrangement will guarantee the ultimate possession of the soil to Mr. Batman and his partners is a question on which we do not wish, for the present, to offer an opinion. At all events, if the Crown, upon forming any establishment there, should assert its right, and insist on a return for ensuring the quiet possession of the country under the enjoyment of British law, rights, and privileges, it will, of necessity, at the same time, recognise its right and bounden duty to protect and preserve the aborigines of the same territory, and will not fail to do what has never yet been done, open the coflfers of the Home Treasury, in the blessed work of teaching, civilising, and supporting them. A nod, however, is as good as a wmk to a blind horse, and we are happy to say, that we yesterday took advantage of the hint (seeing those large sums of money, which our kmd contemporaries are

       every week giving us, are never yet forthcoming), and did ourselves the pleasure to wait upon the aboriginal chief, Woureddy (whose majestic bust, by Mr. Law, now ornaments our reading-room), when the following conversation and arrangement took place between us :—

       "' Good morning, Mr. Woureddy. I hope I have the honour to see your Majesty in good health ?'

       " The powerful chief gave his reply with an assenting smile.

       " * You are King, I believe, of all the western part of this island, and hold possession from your noble ancestors of those fertile tracts of 600,000 acres, more or less, lately visited by Mr. G. A. Robinson and Mr. Surveyor Sharland ?'

       " A significant nod.

       "' Now that you are going to Flinders Island and Port Phillip with Mr. Robinson, and the rest of your friends and relations, you will have no objection to sell me your full right and title to that portion of your dominions ?'

       " A significant nod.

       "'I do not expect you to name your price, as you are not yet quite perfect in the English language, but I will name it for you. Here is a basket of Brown's river potatoes, a roll of tobacco, six pipes, a blanket, a dozen loaves of bread, and a dead kangaroo— are you content ?'

       (" I thought I could not lose much at this price, though the land, I believe, is not very rich, and rather out of the way— neither did I wish to impose upon the King—I mean King Woureddy—by offering him anything less.)

       " His Majesty, like Jupiter on Olympus, again nodded, and the whole of the western country, tiers, plains, rivers, gum-trees and all, fell into my possession; and I hereby give Mr. Road Knight, Sir John Owen, Mr. Edward Lord, wild cattle and all, due notice to decamp, as all trespassers from this time forth will be proceeded against, according to law.

       " I then produced the Conveyance, duly drawn up in triplicate, on which Woureddy, with proper regal pomp and dignity, shaking a portion of the grease and red ochre out of his pendant locks, impressed it first with the palm of his hand, and afterwards with his foot. I then hastily gathered up the parchment, which I took thus ratified under his sable Majesty's naked hand and foot, to be registered in Mr. Beamont's office.'

       CHAPTER  X.

       THE   WILD   WHITE   MAN.

       One  of the most remarkable events, comiected mth Batman's occupation of Port Phillip, occurred during the leader's absence. This was the finding of William Buckley, the Wild White Man.

       Some of Batman's servants had been left behind upon Indented Head, not far from the entrance of Port Phillip. There were whites and blacks among the party. They were put in possession of the soil just purchased from a tribe of natives. To employ their time, they had to break up and cultivate a piece of ground, so becoming the first gardeners of the colony in 1835. Accustomed to intercourse with the sable hunters, they were not surprised at a visit from a party of them. But it was early in July that a singular-looking person accompanied some of these dark friends. Taller than the rest, unbent yet with years, having a long, shaggy beard, and loosely robed in a roughly-sewn rug, his skin evidently appeared lighter in colour than with the others, and there was something in his countenance that betrayed a sign of European blood.

       The new settlers, with no knowledge of shipwrecked seamen on the coast, and no belief in the possibility of a white preferring the customs of savagedom, might well marvel at the apparition. Alone on the new land, strangers and intruders, they may have felt some uneasiness as well. Our countrymen went up to him, and asked, quite naturally enough, " Who are you ?" But the man was silent. The question repeated, he made an effort to reply. He did not use the native tongue for so long a time his own, being clearly of opinion that he was confronted by
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       men of another race, to whom he himself at some distant time belonged. He never told, he could not tell, the strange conflict of thoughts that then took place. Never a man of words, and ever one of few ideas, he might well be puzzled aad confused at such a situation. He did not, he could not, tell his name. But he suddenly hit upon a method of getting identified. He pointed to his arm.

       There they saw the imprinted letters  W.  and J?. They were marks common enough among sailors, and not uncommon then with soldiers. The first letter might stand for  William.  For the second several names were mentioned. The dull man's dull brain became excited. The old familiar tongue of his faitherland came like the pleasant church chimes from a native village to the returned wanderer. Suddenly his own name came back again. He plunged forth "  W —William; 5— Buckley." And after this, the word "bread" dropped from his lips, as a piece of white man's food was put in his hands.

       Gradually, as the intercourse went on, the tale was told. He was a runaway from the i)arty that attempted a settlement of Port Phillip in 1803. He left his own people, among whom he was in bondage, and he wandered forth into the ¥dlds. Three others ran off with him. One was shot by the sentry. The two were soon tired of his company, and proposed to return to the station. Buckley declared for freedom, though in the solitude of an unknown country. For thirty-two years he had sojourned with the savage inhabitants.

       And what a tale might he have told I What a prize he would have been to the  Bamum  of the period! How many daring exploits he could have narrated! What an unlifting of the veil from savage life ! The first and only white man known to those New Hollanders of the south, and known for more than a whole generation, who could tell about them a more interesting story ?

       There was another side of the question. He, an Englishman of Christian training, thrown thus among untutored barbarians, how much good could he have done among them 1 An artizan, he could teach them house building. A gardener, he could instruct them to raise artificial food. A moderate scholar, they would hear from him wondrous tales of what had been wrought in civilisation, and be led into paths of progress.    Born in a

       land of Church and Book, what an opportunity for him to raise these naked wanderers to know their God!

       But he was there before our countrymen, clad in skins of beasts, unkempt and unwashed, with food such as wild hunters only have, dwelUng in caves or simple breakwinds. He was as his sable friends were. They were as their fathers had been before them for long centuries. He had not lifted them to his higher standard, but he had sunk to their lower one.

       They who first saw him tried to extract a life of that man's past, but failed. Others, with more intelligence, sought the same object, but failed. Years of residence among Englishmen again were of no avail. They who wanted facts of that strange man's history could not get them. Drunk or sober, pleased or angry, no tale could be obtained from him, for he had none to tell. The present writer lived for eight years as his neighbour, and could learn nothing of him, or from him. -He would walk down the street with his eyes fixed upon some imaginary spot at the other end, looking to neither side, talking to no one.

       A romantic narrative has, it is true, been written by Mr. Morgan, long on the Tasmanian press, purporting to be a sort of autobiography of Buckley. It need hardly be said that the narrative was a romance; though some writers, as Mr. Labilliere, have been induced to give extracts from it as if it were a true story, and not a tale  fcninded  on facts.

       He would not refer to his Port Phillip life. He seldom mentioned anjrthing of even his civilised existence. As Mr. Westgarth remarks, he was "always extremely reserved and incommunicable in his manner." The following facts may, however, be accepted as the leading features of his history.

       William Buckley was born at Macclesfield, in Cheshire, about the year 1780. In early life he was a bricklayer. He then entered the Cheshire militia; but, admired for his magnificent dimensions of bone and muscle, he was removed to the Fourth Kegiment, known as the  Kin^s Own.  There he misconducted himself somehow, and was sentenced to transportation. By one account he was convicted of mutiny at Gibraltar. He embarked in the  Calcutta,  for Port Phillip, in 1803. A very old colonist, William Kemp, assured the writer that he then knew the tall convict; "but," said he, "he was always thought a stupid fellow on board ship."

       Governor Collins remained but three months with his party on the shore of Port Phillip Bay, and then removed to Hobart Town, where he established the colony of Van Diemen's Land, now Tasmania. It was just before his departure that Buckley ran away. His absence is noted in the journal of one of the oflBcers of the camp. The runaways are mentioned in the despatch of Colonel Collins, addressed to Lord Hobart, November 14,1803 :—

       '' A desertion rather alarming has taken place among them, no less than twelve having left the settlement within the last week. I had received information that these men were to be followed by five others; who I caused to be seized a short time before the hour at which they proposed quitting the settlement. The cause of this desertion I can no otherwise account for than by the operation of the restless disposition of man, which is ever prone to change, for the convicts are well fed and clothed, and not overwrought."

       Another allusion to the wanderers occurs in the despatch of February 28, 1804 :—

       "The people I had sent after the deserters mentioned in the latter part of my letter No. 1, returned on the 16th November with five of them, whom they reported to have met with at the distance of sixty miles from the encampment." Each of these got a hundred lashes. The letter proceeds:— " The apprehension of these people was followed in a few days by the voluntary return of three others, who had been longer absent, and whose appearance bore testimony to the hardships they had undergone. These I did not punish; they required medical treatment, and I thought their own tale of their suflfer-ings might operate more eflfectually to deter others from al^conding than any corporal punishment which I might inflict."

       In that communication is the story of the robbery of the conmiissary tent. In the pursuit of the thieves, one was shot severely in the abdomen; but, when caught, would tell nothing of his mates.

       «This happened," said Colonel Collins, *' on the 27th December. Upon the 13th of the following month one of the wretches surrendered himself at the camp, having accompanied the others, according to his calculation, upwards of a hundred miles round the extensive harbour of Port Phillip.   He brought

       in with him the Commissary's fowlingpiece, and stated that he had subsisted chiefly upon gum and shellfish. His companions intended to proceed to the mountains, which are to the westward of Port Jackson; and having no reason, from the result of some researches which I caused to be made after them, to think that they were in my neighbourhood, I forbore harassing the military in any fruitless pursuit of them."

       The Governor, after his arrival in Van Diemen's Land, wrote thus to Lord Hobart concerning the runaways :—" I left seven in the woods at Port Phillip, who must inevitably perish if they do not find means to return before Lieutenant Sladden leaves that harbour.** Buckley, at least, never returned to the Old Settlement near Point Nepean; and, as observed by Mr. Henry Field Gumer, in his short but interesting  Chronicle of Port Phillip, "  he was unable to account for the men who had left the camp with him."

       Governor Collins, in a letter to his Sydney superior, December 16, 1803, tells him that he found it necessary to give a hundred lashes to each of the four recovered runaways, and yet admitted that this severity had but little deterrent effect, since two more were off the day following.   He then observes :—

       " One of these is a man of caste (in point of abilities and education), superior to the most, but who, from the badness of his heart, lately has accused one of the Superintendents and an Overseer (a Free man) of some infamous conduct which he could not support by any one evidence. Imagining that I should withdraw the countenance which I had shown him, he quitted the settlement a few days since, taking with him one Gibson, a Scotch lad, with whom he was very intimate at the Hulks. I can hardly suppose he would attempt to cross to Port Jackson, as I think he has more sense, but as he knows nothing of any intended removal  {to the DerweTit),  I fear if he does not return before it takes place, that the death of himself and his companions must be the inevitable result of his imprudence. In addition to these, I have still two convicts unaccounted for. As they were the first who absented themselves, I take it for granted they have perished."

       The  Scotch lad  returned to the settlement. By that.return he lived to build up a handsome fortune, and an excellent reputation; while Buckley, who preferred the wilds and the blacks, passed an uneventful and a useless life.    The one left

       behind him a family as distinguished for private virtues as for public service; the other had no child to perpetuate his name.

       Some other references of Governor Collins to these runaways are described in the chapter on the Settlement of 1803. But those in the chaplain's journal are deeply interesting. The Rev. Robert Elnopwood notes on  Wednesday,  November 2nd:—

       "At 11 a complaint came before me, as a magistrate, that Robert Cannady, servant to Mr. Humphreys, had promised Buckly, the Governor's servant, a waistcoat for a pair of shoes which he had taken and worn, and would not return the waistcoat; but after hearing on both sides, I had the waistcoat given to Buckley.  Saturday,  12 A.M.—A party of 6 men went out armed in search of 5 convicts that had escaped into the woods; 8 convicts in all absent.  Wednesday,  16.—Five of the convicts that had escaped were brought to the camp.  Thursday, 17.—His Excellency was obliged to punish the 5 deserters that were brought to the camp to deter others from escaping. Saturday,  19.—Three of the deserters returned to the camp. Monday,  26.—The drum beat to arms by reason of some of the convicts had made their escape.  Tuesday,  27.—At 9, 6 convicts endeavoured to make their escape; they were beset by a lookout party, and one man shot, very badly wounded.  Wednesday, 28.—Corporal Sutton returned with the information of 1 man, by name Charles Shore, was shot and much hurt; and cart and men were sent to bring him to the camp. Mr. Bowden went for the man and one taken prisoner.  Friday,  30.—One of the soldiers of the signal tent was shot at by the deserters from the camp, convicts.  Saturday,  31.—Great fires made at a distance from the camp; supposed set on fire by the party that escaped from the camp—deserters from the camp, convicts— MacAllennan, George Pye, Pritchard, M. Warner,  Wm. Buckley  ; Charles Shaw  (correctly spelt this time),  wounded and brought to the camp; Page, taken same time when Shaw was shot; G. Lee, and Wm. Gibson (not David Gibson, as elsewhere given). Saturday,  7  {December),  —9 soldiers, armed with the same rounds of cartridge, sarjant-major (MacCauley), 1 drummer, and the gentlemen of the association and subordinates — in the whole, military 11, association 18 — went in search of some convicts that had escaped from the camp." The chaplain was of the party, saying, "We found many places where they had been, and some of their things. It was computed that the distance we walked could not be less than 50 miles; some said

       more."

       Of his life with the natives no definite knowledge was ever obtained.   The writer has spoken with several persons who saw
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       the man in 1835, and with one of those who found him, but could never learn anything reliable. He may have wandered alone a while. He was evidently drawn by some ties, of affection or self-interest, to a fragment of a tribe dwelling on Indented Head. Tradition still marks the scene of his sojourn in the Buckley's Cave, near Queenscliffe. He dwelt with the dark men, and may have taken a wife. The writer has heard tales of his partners and children, but placed no confidence in them. It was said that a tall woman was seen, of a yellowish colour, who might have been his daughter ; but he .never confessed to wife or child.

       One version of Buckley's early life with the blacks of Port Phillip is thus afforded by Mr. S. A. Thomson:—

       " Buckley told me that after being here some length of time he was tired of life, and one day sitting down under a she oak-tree, longed for death. While thus sitting, he fell off into a doze, and was awoke by the noise made by some native  gins, who, during his sleep, had gathered around him, and were evincing their curiosity to one another. When they saw him awake, they immediately scuttled off into the Bush; and, by and by, while he was still lying there, a number of their male relatives, to whom they had imparted the sight they had seen, came round him, and asked him by signs where he came from. He, to make as favourable an impression on them as possible, rose up from the ground, and, pointing up to the sky, signified in the best pantomime that he could, that he had come down expressly from thence to visit them. They then made signs for him to follow them, and he did so, but in ignorance of their intention towards him, although somewhat, in fact, expecting to be roasted, the more especially when he was led up to a large fire they had made. TTiey merely, however, danced round the fire, singing their native songs, and then gave him a roasted 'possum to eat, which he told me was, without exception, the sweetest thing he ever ate in his life. With that same tribe he remained, becoming connected to them by marrying the daughter of a chief, and living more or less contentedly with them after this fashion, but having no descendants by his native bride."

       It does seem strange that, while visits continued to be made to that part of the coast, especially by sealers of Bass's Strait, he never made himself known to any whites, and was never observed by his countrymen who called in for wood and water. Collisions occasionally took place; for sealers and whalers were

       not particular in their conduct to the wild blacks, even carrying off their women to vessels, and using them as slaves on their island homes.

       The  Sydney Gazette  of October 4th, 1815, has a singular account of a conflict with some of Buckley's darkskins, and close to his reputed quarters. The schooner  Geordy  left Hobart Town for Sydney September 1st, and was, says the reporter, " driven by adverse winds as far as Port Phillip." The rest of the story we give in the language of the  Gazette: —

       "She wanted wood and water, and it was determined to procure a supply at the first place that appeared favourable for that purpose. She, accordingly, came to anchor off Green Cape, and landed her boat's crew, four in number, at a small cape a little to the southward of the former. Here an immense crowd of natives made their appearance, and invited them on shore— one, who appeared their chief, at first requesting, but soon after

       demanding, that Mr. M   should leave his gun (which was

       the only one they had) in the boat. Becoming very importunate for presents firom the strangers, the latter gave them their handkerchiefs firom off their necks. But this was not suflBcient; they soon assumed a more turbulent, and, at length, a desperate

       manner;  and  as all but Mr, M   were  unarmed,  at  one

       moment all were seized upon, and had no other expectation than that of being immediately overpowered and  destroyed.

       The chief seemed to have reserved the attack upon Mr. M  

       personally for himself; he accordingly seized upon his musket with one hand, while with the other he held him by the arm ; they both stood on a rock which was of considerable depth on one of its sides, which circumstance tended not a little to the

       rescue of the assailed party; for Mr. M   , still keeping a firm

       hold on the musket, threw himself off the rock, which freed him firom his adversary's grasp. Collecting himself as soon as he found himself on his legs, he had the mortification to see that all his companions were captives. At such a crisis only one alternative remained—a determination to oppose force to force; he fired; the chief, who had made him his particular object, fell, and in a paroxysm of dread which pervaded the assailants, but which in fact was only momentary, all his companions escaped, and made toward their boat. As soon as the whites had separated themselves from the blacks, the missile war commenced. The whirling spear whistled about their ears in all directions firom 300 or 400 savages, and only a solitary musket was their only impediment to a closer manner of attack, firom which it would have been impossible for any to have escaped. The retreat towards the boat was nevertheless so well managed
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       that only one received a spear wound, which was in the arm. One of the spears split a plank of the boat, and after a necessity

       of answering the attack with severe discharges, Mr. M    got

       into the vehicle, and was soon out of the reach of further danger, leaving behind his water casks and axes, the latter of which might have possibly stimulated the natives to the desperate aggression. This instance adds to the numerous previous accounts of the same natives, and some of which have been truly tragical in their catastrophe, that should serve as a caution to our crews against trusting themselves among the natives of these coasts without being sufficiently prepared against attack."

       Without much doubt Buckley knew of this circumstance, and may have witnessed the assault. What were the views of the silent man concerning such outrages ? Some sympathies might still turn toward his countrymen; but others would be cherished for those who had befriended him, and who had suflFered many wrongs already from supposed civilised and Christian visitors. We know what were his views in after life, when troubles began between whites and blacks at Port Phillip ; and when, helpless to prevent mischief, he exiled himself from his home of thirty years, and went to live and die in Hobart Town.

       Why, it may be asked, did he not embrace the chances then, and at other times oflFering, to escape from the natives ? The wild and reckless men usually haunting those coasts in the Straits were not the sort of companions Buckley could admire. Better for him the solitude of the forest, and the society of those simple tribesmen who had been ever kind and just to him. In fact, it is not clear what circumstances led to his first interview with Batman's party, or whether he even then contemplated leaving his bush retreat. It was said that, hearing the blacks intended to murder the white strangers, he came to warn them of their danger. Still, as no warning was given, no measures of defence were taken, and no change of scene occurred, there is little probability of that tale being correct. Some have rather thought that tired at last of his wild existence, he voluntarily sought the men. He must have heard from the aborigines the wonderful story of Batman's treaty, and naturally felt drawn toward men who wished well to the dark tribes, and came to them as friends and fair dealers.    With any desire

       to go back to his own race, Batman's party would naturally be preferred.

       Yet, when he did approach them, he had nothing to say. When he stayed with them, there was but one source of anxiety to the silent and timid man. Though he seemed oblivious to all that occurred in thirty-two years, he remembered that he had been a runaway convict. In coming among his countrymen again he had a wholesome dread of the consequences of his revelation. Might they not punish him ? To the first friend he found, Mr. Wedge, he spoke of his fears. The kind surveyor at once resolved to relieve his mind by procuring for him a pardon from the Government of Van Diemen's Land.

       He was in no hurry to declare himself. It is scarcely likely that the man ever was in a hurry. It is more probable that he stole away from the camp, in 1803, than that he ran away. A good feeling had prevailed on that fair and fertile plain of Indented Head between the two races, and Buckley must have known it, as his own dark friends mixed with Batman's party. And yet day after day he delayed putting in an appearance himself. The hesitancy was a part of his character. He was essentially a timid and suspicious man. His long life with the blacks did not develop more enterprise and decision, while the twenty years he afterwards spent in Hobart Town failed to make a change in this placid silent man.

       Though the writer knew Buckley six years only after he was found in Port Phillip, though he heard the story of his discovery from several early settlers, yet the accounts were so conflicting that he prefers giving the earliest written records of the affair. One of these was the announcement in the  Colonial Times  of Hobart Town, made not many days after the event:—

       "A most extraordinary discovery," says the reporter, "has taken place at Port Phillip. Some of Mr. Batman's men were, one fine morning, much frightened at the approach of a white man, of immense size, covered with an enormous opossum skin rug, and his hair and beard spread out as large as a bushel ^ measure. He advanced with a number of spears in one hand, and a waddy in the other. The first impression of Mr Batman's men was, that this giant would put one of them under each arm, and walk away with them. The man showing signs of speech, their fears subsided, and they spoke to him.    At first

       he could not understand one word that was said, and it took a few days before he could make them understand who he was, and what he had been. His height was given as 6 ft. 5J in. He was 3 ft. 9 in. round his chest, and 18 in. round the cfdf of his leg. By all accounts," adds the reporter, "he is a model for a Hercules. He is more active than any of the blacks, and can throw a spear to an astounding distance. He refused to leave the natives."

       The  Mdboume Illustrated News  of 1869 had a representation of the man, after the description thus given, and here copied.

       A curious narrative is found in the rudely written autobiography of one who had, as he told the writer, " helped Wellington to conquer the world." Not able to conquer himself, poor fellow, he had been led against his will to Van Diemen's Land. In 1835 he went to Port Phillip in charge of some sheep, and there saw Buckley just after his discovery. From the autobiography of the old man, the writer was graciously permitted to make some extracts. The story about the Wild White Man is given as it there appeared, spelling and punctuation excepted:—

       " Mr. Batman's men looked at him, and thought he resembled a white man. One of them went up to him to examine him, found two letters on his arm, and saying, * W for William, and B for Burgess,' but never hit on William Buckley. He never spoke ; but, at last, hearing the English tongue pronounced so often, he burst out and said, 'W for William, and B for Buckley.' Then they knew that he was an Englishman. Then Mr. Batman had him taken from thence and clothed him, and had him shaved and cleaned. He could scarce walk in shoes for a while. He was asked what had become of the other two. He never would tell, but said they went away, and supposed they got killed. He was asked how he had lived with the other blacks so many years, but would scarce say anything. If any one would ask him any questions concerning nimself and the blacks, you must have question and answer both one time. He did say that he was ten years that he did not know one day from another that they would not kill him. Some were for killing him, and some not for killing him, but he said the oldest black saved him."

       Buckley is thus referred to by Mr. Batman, in a letter he wrote to Major Gray, of beautiful Avoca, in Tasmania. The Major, an old explorer, and the author of some interesting travels in Africa, was  a  friend  and   neighbour  to our Port Phillip

       founder. The interesting communication was sent to the author in 1867 by Mr. Basil Gray, of Pascoevale, who is mentioned, by the way, in this very letter. After some business matters, particularly the sale of his Kingston property for 2,000Z., Mr. Batman proceeds to give some news:—

       " I have received a long letter from  Port Phillip.  A white man has joined my men, who has been with the natives 32 years. This is a most extraordinary circumstance. He ran away from Colonel Collins in 1803, and was a prisoner for life. Wedge sent up his petition to the Governor for a pardon. I took it to him, and he gave the pardon at once. I have sent it down to him by a vessel.    His name is William Buckley."

       Mr. Fawkner, who saw him in October, 1835, gave this version in a letter to a paper in 1836:—

       " He stood six foot five inches in his stockings, was not very bulky, nor overburdened with  nous.  He fell to the level of the blacks. He did not by any means elevate or raise them, or instruct them in any manner. When Buckley first joined the whites at Indented Head he had totally forgotten his mother tongue; and the first word he spoke of it was in reply to a desire of one J. Gumm, whether he would not have some bread to eat. He struggled some time, and then pronounced the word ' bread.'"

       According to the account given by Mr. George Evans to the author, in 1863, Buckley was first seen by one of Batman's men who was given to rambling by himself. Returning to the hut one day, he exclaimed, " I have seen a white man." He mentions the fact of Buckley being seen sitting in a kangaroo rug, and not an opossum skin rug. This had been made by himself, and was afterwards presented to Mrs. Batman, whose daughter, according to the statement given to the author by this lady, made a pair of slippers for the giant. Evans knew of Buckley's telling Mr. Gellibrand that he lived well on sea-birds' eggs; that, when a girl was given him for a wife, he had sent her back, and was never more troubled with a mate; that once, when a boat called in for wood, he ran into the water crying out, '* I am a white man I" to the terror of the sailors, who pulled hastily off to the ship.

       But by fiur the most interesting account is given by Mr. Surveyor Wedge, who saw him at the men's hut on Indented

       Head in the same month of July he first presented himself. The narrative was so extraordinary that it was sent to England by Governor Arthur, and printed there in 1836. Having been favoured by Mr. Wedge with his own copy of that remarkable statement, we give the reader his unvarnished tale:—

       " William Buckley is a native of Marton, near Macklesfield in Cheshire, and is now about 65 years old. He entered into the supplementary Militia of that county at an early age, to the 3ra battalion of which he was attached, and in about 2 years afterwards volunteered into the 4th Regiment of the Line. He accompanied the army commanded by the Duke of York to Holland, and soon after his return firom that expedition was convicted of receiving stolen goods and sentenced to transportation for life. He arrived at Port Phillip in 1803 witn the detachment of prisoners destined to form an establishment at that place, and whilst there was employed at his trade of stone mason in assisting to erect a building for the reception of Government stores.

       " A short time previous to the abandonment of the settlement by Col. Collins he absconded with 2 other men, named Marmon ^ and Pye. Whilst in the bush the party experienced great diflS-culty in procuring food, and suflfered great privations; their chief subsistence being cockles and mussels which they picked up on the beach of Port Phillip. One of the men left his companions before they got to the river at the northern extremity of the Port. The natives having set fire to the grass afforded them the opportunity of obtaining fire, which they were afterwards careful to keep with them. His other comrade continued with him till they had wandered nearly round the Port, and then left him somewhere on Indented Head, with the intention of returning to the Establishment, and surrendering himself to the authorities; but whether he or the one who had previously left him succeeded in their object, he could not tell, as he never saw or heard of them afterwsurds. He thinks it probable they feU in with the natives and were killed by them. Continuing along the beach by himself he completed the circuit of the Port, and afterwards proceeded a considerable distance along the coast towards and beyond Cape Otway. At this period repenting of the step he had taken, and being tired of his precarious life, and in constant dread of falling in with the natives, he determined on returning to the Establishment. Soon after he had returned to the neighbourhood of Indented Head he fell in with the family of natives with which he continued to live till he joined the party left by Mr. Batman.

       ^ From what he has since told me I believe he was mistaken in this name.
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       " His memory fails him as to dates, and he does not appear to have any correct idea as to distances, but he supposes his falling in with the natives to have occurred about 12 months after he left the Settlement. He was received with kindness  hj  the natives, who supplied him with food. The name of the chief or head of the family was Nullaboin, to whom he attached himself, and he continued with him, and accompanied him in his wanderings, till he joined the party left by Mr. Batman on the 12th of July, 1835. From the time he was abandoned by his comrades up to this period, a lapse of 33 years, he had never seen a white man. For the first 5 years of his sojourn with the natives his mind and time were fully occupied in guarding against the treachery of the other natives whom they occasionally mixed with, and in procuring food ; and indeed this may have been said to be the case ever afterwards, although from his having acquired a perfect knowledge of their language, and become acquainted with their habits, the danger to be apprehended from them latterly was not so great, and not more so than was the case with the natives with regard to each other, for he was entirely identified as one of themselves. He, as is every other white person, is known by the name of Ammijaie.

       " The natives gave him a wife, but, discovering that she had a preference to another man, he relinquished her, but it cost her and her paramour dearly. They were punished with death for violating the custom which prevails, for when once a female is promised as a wife, which generally happens, as soon as bom, the promise is considered binding. The individual receiving the promise recompenses the parents with presents such as kangaroo and opossum rugs, shields, clubs, and the like. Buckley has no family, legitimate or illegitimate.^

       " During the whole course of his residence and amidst all his wanderings there were no interesting events, save the fact of his having passed 33 years of his life amongst savages, and of his having retrograded from the habits of civilised life, and lapsed into those of the natives, for, in fact, he was one amongst them, and, except in cannibaUsm, he adopted their mode of life in everything.

       "Indeed, isolated as he was, and without the necessaries of life to which he had been accustomed, or the means of procuring them, it was scarcely possible for him to do otherwise. Although to some it may appear strange that he should not have introduced some improvements in their mode of life, yet to those who have had some experience by a residence in uncivilised countries, the diflBculty of doing so will be fully understood. In fact, as I have before said, his whole attention must have been directed to self-preservation, both in procuring food, and in

       ^ He has since pointed out to me a woman that he says is his daughter.

       giarding against treachery. For an individual situated as was uckley, to conciliate the natives he must conform to their customs. If they hunt, he must hunt with them, and he must participate in all their pastimes. If their condition is to be ameliorated, it must be accomplished by numbers and by the force of example. Becoming acquainted with the comforts of civilisation may be likely to  lead  them to be desirous of partaking thereof.

       " Although Buckley was always anxious ^to return amongst his countrymen, he had for many years lost all hope of having an opportunity of doing so. The circumstance which led to his discovering that the party left by Mr. Batman was in his neigh-hood, was that two of the natives having stolen an axe, and being told by some of the natives that they would be punished for the theft, they went away, and falling in with Buckley told him that white men were in the neighbourhood, and also the cause of their coming away from them, and intimated that they would induce other natives to join tbem for the purpose of returning to spear the white men. Buckley dissuaded them from maJking the attempt, stating that there were a great many white men where they came from, and that if any of the white men were killed, numbers would come and kill every black man they could find. Thus intimidated, they abandoned their intention. Buckley then went in search of Mr. Batman's party, and in 2 days joined tbem. They were living in a sod hut which they had built, and several native families were encamped around them.

       " On Buckley's coming to the place he was observed by one of the men, and it was with no little surprise, if not with a mixture of fear, that he and the other men contemplated the approach of a man so gigantic in appearance, and whose general aspect, erect as he was, and enveloped in his kangaroo-skin rug, with his long beard and a head of hair of 33 years' growth, and bearing his spears, shield, and dirks, was well calculated to instil fear into any one. But on this, as well as on many other occasions during their intercourse with the natives, they showed great tact and presence of mind by not evincing fear, if they felt any. They were impressed with the belief that Buckley was the head chief, and were doubtful whether he was peaceably inclined or not.

       "^ " Buckley went direct to the native encampments and sat himself down amongst them, apparently taking but little notice of the white men; they, however, went to him, and soon recognised the features of an European; and, on questioning him, with some difficulty learnt who he was. He could not then express himself in English, and on being asked questions he only repeated them as do all the natives—at least all that I

       have fallen in  with ; and  it  was about ten days before  he could  so collect himself as to express himself with any degree of fluency in his own language. And it not unfrequently happened that he put and answered questions in the language of the natives.

       " Buckley in height is 6 feet 6 inches without shoes, is well proportioned, with an erect military gait. He subsisted in common with the natives on roots of various sorts, fish, kangaroo, and any other animals that chance brought in his way. Altho' his life was a wandering one, yet be resided principally on the sea coast, and in the neighbourhood of Indented Head, and never migrated far, except, I think, on one occasion only, when he went about 150 miles, as he supposes, to the westward of PortPhiUip.

       " On one occasion Buckley accompanied me on an excursion for a week, during which we fell in with the family he had lived with. If I had any doubts as to the fact of his never having seen a white man during his residence with the natives (and I confess, knowing that the sealers were in the habit of sometimes visiting this part of the coast, I was not without them at first), they were now entirely removed. Nidlaboin and his family had never seen a white man, with the exception of Buckley, till he saw me. He received and examined me with great curiosity, opening my waistcoat and shirt to see whether the whole of my body was white.

       " They were very attached to Buckley, and both NuUaboin and his vrife cried bitterly when he left them. Buckley resides at present at the Settlement formed by the gentlemen who have associated to form a new Colony, through the means of the friendly intercourse established by Mr. Batman with the aborigines ; and he has expressed his intention of remaining for the purpose of beiug the medium of communication with the natives.

       " On receiving his conditional pardon, which his Excellency Lieut.-Govemor Arthur so humanely and promptly granted him on being made acquainted with his case, as a reward for his meritorious conduct in preventing the natives from attacking the white men, his feelings were powerfully excited, so much so that it wa^ some time before he had the power of utterance. Never ' shall I forget the joy that beamed in his countenance when I communicated that he was a free man and again received within the pale of civilised society. In desiring me to convey his grateful acknowledgments to the Lieut.-Govemor for his kindness, and to the gentleman who had interested himself in his behalf, he was powerfully agitated; and if ever man was sincere in giving vent to his feelings, Buckley was so in expressing his thanks on this occasion.

       " These are all the circumstances I could collect respecting
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       Buckley during my short stay, but it is probable that as he becomes better acquainted with his native tongue, he will be able to recollect many things, and express himself more fully on the events which have occurred."

       It was Mr. Wedge who drew up the petition for the Absconder to obtain pardon from the Governor of Van Diemen's Land, From the manuscript copy in that worthy Surveyor's handwriting the following is extracted :—

       " The Humble Petition of William Buckley to His Excellency Colonel George Arthur, Lieutenant-Governor of Van Diemen's Land, humbly sheweth—

       " That your Petitioner was a private in the Cheshire Suple-mentary Militia about two years, when he volunteered into the 4th Regt. of foot, or King's Own, of which regiment he was attached to the third battalion, and continued therein between two and three years, during which time he accompanied that regiment in the expedition to Holland.

       " That your Petitioner was afterwards convicted of receiving stolen property, and was transported for life.

       " That your Petitioner arrived at Port Phillip, New Holland, about thirty years ago, and on the breaking up of the establishment your Petitioner with two others (the name of one of whom was William Marmon) absconded, and subsisted on the sea coast for about twelve months, when he fell in with a family of natives, with whom he has continued up to the present time. That your Petitioner has at various times suflfered great privations from the want of food.

       " That your Petitioner, previously to his joining the natives, returned to Port Phillip with the intention of surrendering himself to the authorities, but was prevented from doing so by the departure of the establishment.

       " That your Petitioner has never seen a white man since that period, until he came to the establishment formed by Mr.

       Batman,  Mr.   Wedge,   and  other  gentlemen,   on   the    

       July, 1835.

       "That your Petitioner two days previously to joining the establishment learnt from the natives that white men were in the neighbourhood, and that they with others intended to spear them for the sake of the plunder which they would get.

       "That your Petitioner remonstrated with them and dissuaded them from their intentions—that your Petitioner has ever since exerted himself, and has succeeded in convincing them of the friendly disposition of the white men towards the natives.

       " That your Petitioner will continue to do all in bis power to render permanent the good understanding that has been established, for which services your Petitioner humbly prays for the indulgence of a free pardon. And your Petitioner will ever pray.*'

       The description of the man is also taken from Mr. Wedge's manuscript, and is signed by his initials:—

       • "  Description of William Buckley. —Height without shoes, six feet five inches and seven-eighths; age, fifty-three; trade, bricklayer ; complexion, brown; head, round; hair, dark brown; whiskers, dark brown; visage, round and marked with smallpox ; forehead, low; eyebrows, bushy; eyes, hazel; nose, pointed

       and turned up; mouth,   ; chin,   .   Native place, Marton,

       near Macklesfield, Cheshire.  Remarlcs:  Well-proportioned, with an erect military gait; mermaid on upper part of right arm; sun, half-moon, seven stars, monkey; W. B. on lower part of right arm.

       "Jno. H. W."

       At the same time he despatched a letter to Captain Montagu, then Colonial Secretary of Van Diemen's Land, recommending the appeal he had proposed for Buckley. The rough draft of this letter is in the writer's possession, and the following may be seen as its contents:—

       "  Sir, —^In reference to the petition of William Buckley for a free pardon, which I have the honour to transmit herewith, I beg to bear testimony to the essential service he has rendered in becoming the means of communication with the natives, and I have no hesitation in saying that through him there is every probability of making permanent the friendly intercourse that was commenced by Mr. Batman in his recent excursion, already detailed by that gentleman to the Government, with the aborigines ; and from the fact of his having saved the lives of the eight men who were left here by Mr. Batman, together with the circumstance of his having made a voluntary offer of becoming in future the medium of communication with the aborigines. I beg most earnestly to recommend his petition to the favourable consideration of his Excellency the Lieutenant-Governor; and in doing so I feel that I scarcely need advert to the danger that would ensue to the lives of those who may in future reside here, by his being driven to despair by the refusal of his petition, which would probably induce him to join the natives again; and in which event there is no calculating on the mischief that might ensue by the hostile feelings that he would have it in his power to instil into the breasts of the natives.

       I doubt not, as an act of humanity towards those who may come to sojourn in this Settlement, the above circumstance will have weight in the consideration his Excellency will bestow on the prayer of the petition. If I might be allowed, I would respectfully suggest that it should at once be conceded to him, and his free pardon sent by the next vessel that will be despatched to this place. Buckley is a most interesting character; from his long residence amongst the natives he has acquired a great influence over them, as well as all their habits and language ; in fact he had nearly forgot his native tongue, and it was some days before he could express himself in it. The two men who absconded with him left him before he joined the natives, and he has never heard of them since; he supposes they were killed by them. Buckley is gigantic in size, measuring in height six feet five inches and seven-eighths without shoes, and of good proportions, and I have no doubt but he is indebted for his life to his ferocious appearance. From the circumstance of his having been obliged to direct the whole of his attention to self-preservation and to procuring food for subsistence, his memory has almost altogether failed him as to time and events which occurred previous to his leaving England. He forgets the name of the vessel he came in, as well as that of the captain and the commandant of the Settlement From his information, the natives are in the lowest grade of ignorance, having no idea of a Supreme Being, and altho' I have had but a short intercourse with them I am inclined to give credence to his statement, and I have acquired sufficient confidence in them to trust myself amongst them in excursions into the interior; 1 went about 12 miles with them yesterday.    I have, &c.,

       "  Jno. H. W.  .

       "  To  Captain Montagu,  CoL  Secretary, July  9, /35."

       The petition was written in July, and the reply of Mr. Montagu was dated August 25th, 1835. It was a cautiously worded document, worthy of that astute secretary. True it was that Buckley had been under the authority of Governor Collins, but had escaped while that officer held his temporary jurisdiction in Port Phillip. Although the Settlement had been transferred to the Derwent, it was not clear whether the Hobart Town Government had the right to grant a pardon. Still, a recommendation of it should be sent home, and mainly on the ground that the influence of Buckley might be well employed to prevent collision between the two races. Knowing, too, that the Sydney authorities might be disposed to indulge some suspicions relative to the Port Phillip Association, whose lead-

       ing members had pleaded for the pardon, an official disclaimer was put into the letter.    The whole text ran thus:—

       "Van Diemen's Land,

       "Colonial Secretary's Office.

       "  Sir, —Having submitted to the Lieut.-Governor your letter of the 9th of July last, enclosing a petition from William Buckley, a runaway convict recently discovered at Port Phillip, after having been for some years domesticated with the natives of that part of the coast of New Holland, and his Excellency having considered the subject of your representation of this man's conduct, and the services he has rendered in promoting a friendly disposition between the aborigines with whom he has been so long time associated and the whites who have recently visited the coast of New Holland, I am directed to acquaint you that the Lieutenant-Governor is doubtful how far he is authorised to grant a free pardon to William Buckley, as he is not within the jurisdiction of this Government; but his Excellency has, notwithstanding, acquiesced in the preparation of the usual instrument, in the hope that, from considerations of policy, the indulgence will be acceded to by his Majesty's Government.

       " I am further desired to inform you that the Lieutenant-Governor's compliance with your request in this instance is founded upon a desire to prevent bloodshed, and with a view to remove any inducement on Buckley's part to make common cause with the natives in the commission of any outrages upon the white immigrants, which might lay the foundation of a war of extermination ; and his Excellency also entertains the sanguine expectation that, if this man's energies and influence be well directed, the aborigines may be so thoroughly conciliated as to insure a lasting amity between them and the present or any ftiture immigrants to that part of the coast of New Holland.

       " I am ftirther to signify the desire of his Excellency that it may be distinctly understood that the reasons stated in this letter form the only grounds for the present concession, which must not be construed into the admission of any claim made by the gentleman associated with Mr. Batman to the territory at Port Phillip, or any part thereof.

       "(Signed)   John Montagu."

       The acknowledgment of this official reply was made by Mr. Wedge from his Tasmanian home, Leighland. The rough draft was sent to the author by that gentleman.

       "  Leiqhland,  15  October,  1885.

       "Sir, —I had the honour of receiving your letter, accompanied with  the   ft^e pardon for Wm. Buckley, which  was

       forwarded to me at Port Phillip. In acknowledging the receipt of them, I beg to express the obligations I am under for the humane and prompt attention paid by the Lieutenant-Governor to my representation of Buckley's case; and I was especially directed by him to convey his thanks to his Excellency for his free pardon, and also his assurance that he will do all in his power to perpetuate the friendly understanding with the natives that was so fortunately established through the treaty effected by Mr. Batman in June last; and it is with much satisfaction that I can state, from the observations I had an opportunity of making whilst residing amongst them, that there is every chance of a continuance of the good understanding, provided a proper system be observed in our future intercourse.

       " I have the honour to be,

       "Sir, " Your obedient servant,

       "Jno. H. Wedge."

       The readiness with which the pardon was granted is thus explained in a letter from Governor Arthur to Lord Glenelg:—

       " From dear bought experience I know that such a man at the head of a tribe of savages may prove a most destructive foe, and his good ofiBces cannot be too soon propitiated by an apparent act of grace."

       It was not, then, from any merciful consideration to one who had endured thirty years' isolation and misery that the favour was granted, but from an impulse of policy. Years before, in Van Diemen's Land, the aborigines had been led to deeds of ferocity against the settlers, especially when headed by the unscrupulous Mosquito. But Buckley had neither the scheming head nor passionate energy of Mosquito, while the blacks of Port Phillip lacked the unity of purpose and resolution of revenge displayed by the darker sons of Tasmania. Yet some feared the quiet Buckley; since the  Cornwall Chronicle  could say, July 23rd, 1836 :—

       " This much-talked-of Buckley has probably by this time, in accordance with his expressed intentions, taken to the Bush, where he possesses absolute control (!) over the natives, and will, of course, teach them to avenge his wrongs. He has threatened the lives of several of the principals of the establishment and, savage like, will be as good as his word."

       As some little misconception arose between Buckley's two friends — Batman and Wedge — as to their respective good

       offices,   the latter,  in a letter to the   former,   dated October 14th, 1835, thus referred to the circumstance :—

       " I could not shut my eyes or be deaf to the remark you made respecting Buckley's obtaining his pardon through  your injl%b€nce  with the Lieut-Governor. A very few minutes after yoiu: brother had perused your letter, he remarked to Buckley that it was very fortunate that you happened to be in Hobart Town at the time the memorial arrived there, that you had waited on the Governor and obtained his free pardon, &c., giving him to understand that it was through your influence alone that Col. Arthur conceded to the prayer of the petitioner; and as your words the other afternoon were almost the echo of his (your brother's), I cannot do otherwise than suppose that what he stated was from your instructions.

       " If the pardon was through your influence, every credit is due to you for it, and no one would feel under greater obligation to you than myself. If, on the other hand, you assume that which I coilsider emanated entirely from the correct and humane view which the Lieutenant-Governor took of the representation that was made by me, I do not think it fair toward others of the proprietors who may reside at Dutigalla, for it certainly looks as though you intended to get the whole credit to yourself, and by which to obtain an undue influence over the mind of Buckley, and through him over the minds of the natives."

       Much was undoubtedly expected from Buckley. Almost any other man, in his condition, might have been very useful in those times. He could have conciliated his dark friends, have removed their suspicions, and soon made them of active service to the white man. But his diffidence and idleness equalled his inertness and cowardice. He had never sought to be the Napoleon of Port Phillip, and ever shrank from the notice of stranger blacks. He had little influence, and never cared to use what he had. To be the mediator between two such opposite races, with such opposite views of life, would have been difficidt enough for a professional diplomatist, and was far beyond his powers. Big as he was, he feared to chide the weakest and meanest of whites in any wrong-doing to the natives, while he was helpless to prevent retaliations from them for such injuries done.    He was a failure.

       Mr. Batman was kind to him, and kept him near his own hut on Batman's Hill, Melbourne, where the ex-bricklayer reared the   first   brick   chimney  in   that   locality.     In a  letter  of

       R

       February,  1836, Mr. Wedge gave the following report concerning the man:—

       "He resides at present at the settlement formed by the gentlemen who have associated to form a new colony, through the means of the friendly interest which has been here established. He expresses his intention of remaining at present, for the purpose of being the means of communication with the natives. On his receiving the conditional pardon which his Excellency the (Jovemor most humanely and promptly for-warded to him on Ms case being made-known, and hearing of the meritorious assistance he had afforded the settlers, he was most deeply affected; and nothing could exceed the joy he evinced at once more feeling himself a free man, received again within the pale of civilised society.'*

       But nothing could be done with him. Old Nathaniel Gosljm remarked that the best thing to be done was for Mr. Batman to put up " a place for him at the end of a small store, that he might keep the blacks from robbing him." Mr. Fawkner, who never loved the man, ridiculed the idea of his being of any use, even to the Association that petted him; not to the extent of showing where good pasture could be found. " Alas!" said he, "the lump of matter was too mindless to yield any. very useful information." Captain Stokes observed: " His intellect, if he ever possessed much, had almost entirely deserted him, and nothing of any value could be procured from him respecting the history and manners of the tribe with whom he had so long dwelt."

       Besides Messrs. Wedge and Batman, the gentle solicitor, Mr. Gellibrand, ever the friend of the dark race, was the only man to whom Buckley in any way revealed himself. Mr. Gellibrand certainly indulged considerable expectations concerning him. Through him the Association not only clothed and fed him, but gave him a horse and apportioned him a salary. The man was made a sort of constable, and was supposed at once the shield of the black and the guide of the white. Mr. Gellibrand has left on record, in his Port Phillip Journal, his views respecting the runaway:—

       *'Feb. —I have this mornincr had a lonor conversation with Buckley, and explained to him very fully the desire of the Association in every respect to meet his views, and to make

       him superintendent over the native tribes, for the purpose of protecting them from aggressions; and also, acting as an interpreter, in imparting to them not only the habits of civilisation, but also of communicating religious knowledge. It appears from his statement that the tribes are most peaceably disposed; that they frilly understand the nature of the grants issued by them, and that they are looking forward to the time when the blankets, tomahawks, and flour will be distributed.

       " Buckley appears to be of a nervous and irritable disposition, and that a little thing would annoy him very much; but this may arise from the peculiar situation in which he has been placed for so many years. I am quite satisfied that he can be only acted upon by kindness and conciliation, and that by these means he will be an instrument, in the hands of Providence, in working a great moral change upon the aborigines, He is not at all desirous of occupying land and having sheep, but is highly pleased with the idea of being appointed Superintendent of the natives, with a fi3^ed stipend; so that, to use his own expression, "he may know what he has to depend upon, and be enabled to make a few presents to his native friends.^'

       He once accompanied this excellent gentleman on a tour to the west of Geelong, and introduced him to the native family with whom he bad stayed. It is recorded that he rode as much as twenty-five miles a day in company with Mr. Grellibrand. Ahready outrages had begun. This is not the place to refer to those conflicts. But on this tour the legal representative of the Association was brought face to face with this native diflBculty. There is the following entry in his journal:—

       *' Feb, \bth. —Upon my arrival at the Settlement I found about one hundred and fifty natives, and I learnt with much concern that an aggression had been committed upon one of the women." It was the old story of brutal assault by a shepherd. He writes on; " The natives—men, women, and children-^assembled around me. I explaii^ed to them, through Buckley, our determination in every instance to punish the white man, and to protect the natives to the utmost of our power."

    

  
    
       But the evil did not cease. On our side we heard of the outrages of the blacks, but the atory of the aborigines was unheard. ' Murders followed on both sides. Poor Buckley was between two fires, for both parties complained of his inability to prevent the rupture.    The European settlers of
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       the ruder sort loudly asserted the complicity of Buckley in some of the attacks; or, at any rate, his satisfaction at the wrongs endured by his countrymen. Mr. Fawkner wrote to a paper there respecting Buckley: " He soon displayed a spirit of antagonism to the whites, and, in fact, stated one day, when hard pressed, that he should rejoice if the whites could be driven away, he did not care how, so that the aborigines could have the country to themselves again." Old Goslyn's journal has this reference to him: " He said it was the white people's fault. This latter part I heard Mr. Gellibrand say myself—they thought he might go back to them; then, what mischief he would do!"

       Poor harmless fellow! There was no fear of his heading a revolt. The  Launceaton Examiner  remarked : " The report that Buckley, the Anglo-aboriginal of Port Phillip, had taken to the Bush, and had been concerned with the natives in the late murders, is without foundation. Buckley has all along continued to reside with Mr. Batman." It was a very uncomfortable time for him. Mr. Hoddle, the surveyor who laid out Melbourne, remarks: " In a conversation I had with him when acting as constable, he appeared much discontented with his situation, and regretted that white men had disturbed the happy and independent life he had led with his sable friends." Mr. McKillop was of opinion that Buckley was not only a very timid man, but was well aware of the treacherous character of the blacks and the violent rudeness of the shepherds.

       A petition was presented by Buckley to Governor Bourke in November, 1837, praying for " a grant of land, or such other assistance as to your Excellency may seem fitting, in order that your petitioner may not in his old age be reduced to distress." He would have no objection to a pension of lOOZ. a year. He is thus made to set forth his public services:—

       "That your Petitioner respectfully sheweth, that, on the arrival of the party who first commenced sending stock and settling on the said Territory of Port Phillip, your Petitioner was instrumental in explaining the nature and object of their being there, and by this means inducing an amicable understanding between them.

       "That your Petitioner, from his age, and his having been separated from civilised life during thirty-two years, is unable

       to gain his livelihood as others are; and fiirther, he has, by joining his countrymen, so far displeased (his adopted countrymen during thirty-two years) the natives of Port Phillip, that he could not with that safety, comfort and satisfaction (which he heretofore enjoyed) again join them. He, therefore, most earnestly and respectfiiUy entreats the, humane consideration of your Excellency to his very peculiar case."

       Sir Richard ventured to recommend the case, in relation to the pension. But the reply of the British Minister was unfavourable.    In his letter of June 4th, 1838, he declared :—

       " Buckley has already obtained presents, and a salary of 75/. a year for services which he has rendered; but, especially when taken in connection with his former history, they do not appear to him sufficient to warrant any further remuneration from the public."

       It was in the Governors instructions to Captain Lonsdale, when sending that officer to take charge of the Port Phillip Settlement, that the following command appears:—

       " You will continue to employ, as the medium of communication with them (the natives), the European named Buckley, who has so long resided amongst them, allowing him the same salary (50/.) as he now receives from Mr. Batman and his Association."

       • But, as he was the best abused man of the period, and had nothing to say for himself, it was better for all parties that he should leave Port Phillip. So he was sent to Hobart Town, under the care of Government, and put into some quiet and simple situation. He was gate-keeper at the Female Factory till 1852, when he was allowed a pension of  521.  About 1839 or 1840 he married a widow, whom we have often seen walking with her silent mate, barely able to reach his arm; and who, doubtless, found something to love in the man who seemed to shrink so from his fellows. He died February 2, 1856, at the age of seventy-six.

       The present work contains two sketches of Buckley, taken by Mr. Wedge in 1835, and a fanciful view of the man when first met with, as given by the  MeUxmme Illustrated News.

       The only parallel story to that of Buckley which Australia can present is connected with James MorriU. He had been wrecked near Cape  Cleveland (off Queensland), in 1846, and

       was the only survivor of the crew at the end of three years. About 1862 he heard of the gradual approach of the whites, and the quarrels and murders following the contiguity of two hostile races. He might have left his dark companions before he did, but had evidently the same reluctance to withdraw that Buckley experienced. At last he made himself known at a hut, though, as he said, words choked in his throat.

       But, like Buckley, he had no tale to tell. It was hoped by some that he might do good service in promoting peace in those outlying districts. But, Kke Buckley, he could neither save his old friends from injury, nor his new friends from attack. Both parties now mistrusted him. The silence of the Bush had frdlen upon him, as upon the wild white man of Port Phillip. The  Bockhampton Bulletin  related the efiforts of the magistrate to sound the man by questions " intended to draw forth a connected narrative of Morrill's experiences. But the latter, with that reticence customary to those who have long, and we may add hopelessly, endured suflFering, contented himself with monosyllabic replies, and augmented rather than satisfied the thirst of his audience for information."

       Fishii^ iiL Cove-. GlamieJs Islandb.

       CHAPTER  XI.

       THE    surveyor's    NOTE-BOOK   AND   REPORT.

       Mr. Wedge's  Field Book, kindly sent to the author, nearly twenty years ago, by the pioneer surveyor of Port Phillip, is about seven inches long, three broad, and an inch thick. The memoranda, in most cases of pencil, were here and there copied over in ink. It furnished the material for the preparation of his report upon the land, hereafter to be seen.

       At one end is a vocabulary of native words, arranged alphabetically, a page being allotted to each letter. A B C D pages are torn out. It is not unlikely that some words are incorrectly reported, for question or answer may have been misunderstood. Some of these, however, will have their interest now:—

       Eartli.

       Emu.

       Fire.

       Fight.

       Fish.

       Fine weather.

       Firing a gun.

       t* Feather.

       Fmit-tree.

       Girl.

       Little giiL

       Go to  your own

       home.

       Grass.

       Get np.

       Get some wood.

       Honse. Here. HiU.

       I will go with yon. I   do  not  understand yon. Kangaroo.

       Dairk, Ourwee, Wa ing, Pe^aring, Tarlum, Corecart, Fetobolong, Bolinniniaii, Coram Tungadu, Baargoric, Boron.

       I GanguUa^

       ' Purra, Worrungait. Deragaie,

       SOanguUa ne wain-na, Karung. Ted,

       Bemgull, Vanie i doan,

       I Bungilinnia,

      

       Covm,

       Knife.

       Lu^e.

       Man.

       Me.

       Moon.

       Moimtain parrot.

       Mnssel.

       Mushroom.

       Nankeen bird.

       No.

       Netbag.

       Oyster.

       OT)ossam.

       Owl.

       PeHcan.

       Pick it np.

       Root-eaten.

       Rug.

       Ram.

       River.

       Sing to.

       Spear.

       Shield.

       Throwing stick.

       Kangaroo spear.

       Snn.

       CaXbacawnbynura.

       Wode.

       Aravjille.

       Banertm,

       Oeam,

       Cdllvngur,

       BamawarrdbiL

       Naarenauek,

       Caltoerk.

       Borae,

       Corare,

       BamdbU,

       Wollwrd,

       Cwrdoke.

       Bv/rdung%U.

       MogaU kai.

       Mumung.

       DcUlang.

       Munda,

       Yalloak,

       TeanlineaaH,

       Carp,

       Oeramb.

       Marriwan.

       Daire,

       Mirree.

       Port Phillip Settlement.

       Will you give me )  Gungallianic    tra-some bread ?        (      nanmg.

       Water.   Obait,

       Will you go with I j.^^^ .^ ^ me f   )

       White parrot.   Kingio,

       What ?   Vinyar.

       Wm^yon give me |,o„,^i^,f,.

       WewiUgoback.    \^C^^     '^""-

       White man.

       Yesterday.

       Yes.

       You.

       You and me.

       \     kait, Amajaic. Talio. Ha ha, Munbung. Oin gin bail.

       Elsewhere a few others are mentioned; as Teareap, an iron-bark tree; Bawain, white gum tree: and a large number of places, as Darribaconacork, Corramworanurranuk, &c.

       There are two inventories given in the memorandum book. One, referring to supplies, is dated 15th August, 1835:—

       24 Bags Flour. 18   do.   Oatmeal. 9   do.  Rice.

       1  Cask OatmeaL

       2  do.  Beef. 8   do.  Pork.

       4r B|^ of Sugar.

       1    Chest   Tea.

       1    Bale    Blankets.

       1     do.      Slops. 12    lbs.     Gunpowder. 44     bags    Potatoes.

       The other gives the following list of articles at the encampment:—

       1 Cask of Oil.

       1  Box — J«- Gum.

       2  Iron Pots. Tin Kettle. Do. Pot. Grindstone.

       10 Bars Iron.

       AnviL 1 Cask Pork.

       1 Bag Salt.

       2  Spades. 4 Hoes.

       Bedstead.

       Cask Vinegar.

       Box Soap.

       Table.

       Bg. Sugar. 2 Bags—Sundries. 4 Tin Pots. 1 Bucket. 8 Tubs.

       Bedding.

       Sieve.

       Hammer.

       The Note-book was also used by the surveyor to draw up the rough draft of letters. Thus, there is the following, evidently intended for Messrs. Jackson and Co., who preceded Mr. Fawkner in settling on the banks of the Yarra:—

       " I beg leave to inform you that the situation on which you have formed your encampment is within the limits of the tract of land obtained by Mr. Batman on behalf of other gentlemen and myself, by a treaty with the natives. I trust, therefore, upon receiving this information you will see the propriety of selecting a situation that will not interfere with the boundaries

       described in the deed of conveyance. The description of our land is as follows ; It commences on the banks of a river (Yarra), eight miles eastward of the junction which it fonns with another river coming from the west of north  (Saltvxiter).  The S.E. boundary being a line bearing north north-east, about forty miles from thence, taking a westerly direction to a high conical hill, and from thence a south south-west direction to the coast.

       " I am, gentlemen,

       ** Your obedient servant,

       "  Jno. H. W."

       There is, also, this interesting sketch, in pencil, of the reason why he gave up the situation of Assistant Surveyor-General in Van Diemen's Land:—

       " In relinquishing the situation which I held under Government, and proceeding to Port Phillip, I felt that the enterprise into which I was anxious to embark was of such a nature as to render the following the impulse of my feelings a most imprudent step, without ascertaining its propriety by personal observation ; especially as it would not only involve the emoluments of my oflBce, but a large extent of capital to be employed in it. With these feelings I proceeded to Port Phillip, intending to direct ray attention to the nature of the country, the facility afforded by navigation of transporting the future produce of the country to foreign markets, and, particularly, to the habits and characters of the natives of the country, with a view to satisfy my own mind, and that of my friends, as to the security of residing amongst them; as well, also, to enable me to form some judgment as to the probability or chance of leading the aborigines by degrees to embrace the advantages of religion, together with the other benefits to be derived from civilisation.

       " I arrived at my destination on the 7th August, 1835, landing at the encampment of three men left by Mr. Batman, near Indented Head, on the Peninsula west of the passage into Port Phillip;—that gentleman having a few weeks previously examined a portion of the country, during which he succeeded in establishing a friendly communication with the natives. This circumstance induced him to leave the three men alluded to above, with five Sydney natives, in order to keep up the friendly communication that had been established. At the encampment I found seven families of the natives, amounting altogether to forty-six in number, and a person of the name of Buckley, who had been residing with them for about thirty years, and who had absconded from the detachment of prisoners that had been sent by the Government to this place, just previously to its being relinquished.    Through the information of this man, and from a

       few days* observation, I became quite satisfied, provided proper steps were taken, that the friendly intercourse which had happily been eflfected by Mr. Batman (and for which every praise is due to him) might be made permanent.

       " Like those of every other country in a state of nature, these people, commonly called 'savages'—(but I much doubt, judging from the atrocious acts of barbarity that have marked the career of Europeans amongst them, whether the white man is not more deserving of that epithet than the man of colour, and I fear the stain is as indelibly fixed on the English, if not more so, than that of any other country)—were anxious to be possessed of everything which they took a fancy to—tomahawks, knives, blankets^ and more especially bread, were what they never ceased to importune you for, and if they could get it unper-ceived, they did not hesitate to take it. And it is quite incredible the quantity of bread, potatoes, and fresh meat they would devour at one meal. Possessing these propensities, I was forcibly struck with the necessity of using great forbearance towards them when detected in their trifling peculation, and the caution that was necessary to be observed towards them.

       But the most difficult matter was the inducing the servants of the establishment to take the same view respecting, and to act on the same principle towards, them. In fact, I then thought, and am still of the same opinion, that it will be almost impossible to effect this desirable end. However,  Nil desperandum,  much may, and I hope will, be done by the force of example; and I think ever) thing depends on a proper person being employed to superintend them."

       The survey of the country in 1835 was conducted in the usual way. The Field Book is not perfect; so that a few extracts may be sufficient to indicate the character of work. Page 7, relating to the south-west comer of Port Phillip, is as follows:—

       aoif«-*«.,««~»,   Saltwater Marsh

       Saltwater marsh.   ^^ ^^  ^^^^ ^^^

       S50 £1

       S35 £1

       M^ Yillamanata North

       Extensive Marsh

       Skirted by fine Grassy Rises

       s

       p^   Excellent Marsh

       $   4 M : to Saltwater

       J^   channel supposed by

       -S   information firom natives

       g   to connect the sea with

       S   Port PhiUp West 4. M : Fri: 16 Aug*

       Water hole S 2 W aj   to water hole

       back again to S 83 £ li

       N 10 W   to Port PhiUp to

       Natives.    Smoke on the beach of Port Philip 2 men one boy

       In a sketch of the junction of the Leigh and the Barwon occur the following notices—

       ^1  is

         Cm o  >a^  S

       b

       0   Extensiye Plains

       2   lightly timbered

       J

       S   Beautiful meadows

       ^J 3   Eztensive

       ^   in all directions

       S. 85 W

       Extremity of Corayio Bay  (Otelong) commencmg at the West Wed. 20 Aug* 1886

       Again—

      

       Lightly wooded

       Grassy crmntry

       2 m. Lake Modewarie

       Soil improves      g ^ is 'a 8.46 W4   J   ^1

      

       _   Soil wet and not

       S   so good

       Q

       M* Moriac Fine rich undulating hiUs Qual7 of Soil much improved East 8 M. S. 22 W 6

       Again—

       00

       JYouwan N 25 E Ballarine H^- S 63 £ Barrabol S 20 W

       oa   She Oak

       2 of Iramoo   N 7 W

       YoQwang   N 20 £

       Sat. 80 Aug*

       '^

       3   Fresh Water Hole

       o3 0 «o § § so

       N 15 W 4 Carayio (Geelong) Fri. 29 Aug*    Corayio From Corayio M* Annekai Gouwang N 20 W M   Bunyinyoke   N 45 W

       M» Youwang   N 12 E

       _

       Arthur's Seat S 17 £   3

       Yowwham     S 66 W   ^

       I

       I

       EzteDsive Plains Soil and Grass improres S70 £9 Mon. 1 Sep* 1885

       In the record we observe these Survey notes : —

       " The foregoing are the bearings and distances by estimation of a journey of examination of the  Balarine Peninsula,  commenced on Wednesday, 13 August, 1835 :—

       "  Wed.  13.—Started about 10 A.M., accompanied by Alexander Thompson, two Sydney natives (Steward and BulbaJong), and two of the Port Philip natives, Joan Joan and Diabering. For the first four or five miles it is a low, flat country, soil light and sandy, thinly wooded with the Oak, Wattle, and Gum-trees, and everywhere good grass prevails. The Ballarine hills then commenced. The soil here improves, and becomes a rich loam. Small light-wood trees are here intermixed with the trees before mentioned, and the land is everywhere covered with fine grass.

       "  Thur.  14.—The same description of fine, rich hills and valleys continued for some distance, till, from the informiation I gathered from the natives that there was no water in the direction I was travelling, I deemed it right to go in the direction they pointed out, which took us about four miles across a low flat land, of not so good a quaUty, the soil being more of a clay, to a deep water hole on the margin of an extensive saltwater marsh ; excellent quality of soil. We here had an extensive view of the country to the west, south-west, and northwest, which had the appearance of being a very fine country. We here observed the smoke of some natives, which we learned was that of the brothers of the lad Joan Joan that was with me. We determined to get an interview, and for that purpose proceeded in the direction of the smoke—N. 55 W. about 5 m.— which brought us again to Port Philip. The natives perceived our approach before we saw them, and hailed us. They came to meet us, leaving their spears, &c., behind them. There were only three of them, two men and one boy—Camacoopamoic, Culgorine, and Woronudgine. They had been at the encampment before, and evinced great satisfaction at meeting with us, when they perceived we were friendly towards them, of which they at first had some doubts, as on their departure they had received and taken away with them an axe stolen by one of the native lads. Whether from fear or joy I cannot tell, but we observed the tears run down the face of one of them when we first came to them, but he soon became lively, and they took us to their fire, and invited us to sit down with them. We made sigas to them that we wanted to stop the night where there was water."

       For the continuation of the Diary we are referred to pages four and five, which, are, unfortunately, absent. But another journal, of greater interest, appears in pencil, and is called— J(mmey to Examine the Cov/iitry West of Indented Head, com-menced Ticesday,  18  Augt.,  1835.

       There is a slight difficulty about date, as might also be seen in the Batman memoranda. At a remote age time was not so well observed as in this railway period, and Sunday in the Bush was occasionally kept wrongly from dead reckoning. A carelessness about dates is very obvious to the exploring colonial historian. The present journey is said to begin on Tuesday, 18th inst., while the other one, in the Ballarine Peninsula, commenced on Wednesday, 13th. The one is made wrong by the Survey notes, as Friday is there called 15th August.

       The seven weeks passed by Mr. Wedge are duly noted in this

       historical Burveyors-book. The account can be compared by the reader with that given subsequently by the traveller, and published in the present volume, as well as with that appearing in the  Proceedings of the Geographical Society.  The Diary in the Note-book was evidently jotted down at the time. One alteration only is observed. Discovering an error of a day in the reckoning, the dates were afterwards reduced a day by the pencil, for Tuesday 18th August, was at first written 19th. Excepting an occasional and slight change of orthography, Mr. Wedge's story is literally copied in the subjoined narrative :—

       *'  Tu,  18.—Proceeded in whale-boat to western extremity of Port Philip; arrived about simset. Extensive open plains to the north-west. Country slightly wooded to west of small bay (Corayio or  Oeelong).

       "  Wed,  19 —After travelling over a fine grassy country, lightly timbered,^ gradually rising for about two miles and a half, bearing S. 85 W., we came to the river Barwoume, a steep declivity taking us down to the river. This bank, or hill, if it may be so called, is, I imagine, about 200 ft. hi^h, and from the point of which I was almost lost in astonishment at the vast extent of fine grassy plains to the west and north-west that opened upon me, extending much further, as Buckley informed me, than the eye could reach (especially in a westerly direction), and I think I do not overrate the distance in saying that I could see forty miles ahead of me. In a south-westerly direction are the Barrabull Hills, along the foot of which the Ri: Worragong flows from the westward. Upon the whole, a finer and more extensive view cannot well be conceived, especially to the eye of a sheep farmer. The plains extend equally in a north direction, altho' they were hid from my view by a slight eminence. On descending the bank I came to the junction of two rivers, the one from the west,* and the other from the north-east. (The former, and the principal one, I named the Worragong, being the native name.) Along the north-east bank of the latter,* as far as I could see (about two miles), is a fine rich meadow, from a quarter to half a mile in width, between the two rivers. The banks are steep, and from 50 to 60 feet in height, the country spreading ioto extensive undulating plains. The river below the junction I have also called by the native name Barwoume, which, excepting in times of flood, is salt. About a quarter of a mile above the confluence are two water-falls. The first and smaller of the two I have called the Buckley Falls; the second Banyu Willock, the native name. At this place I crossed to the south bank, and continued in the same direction along the

       * The oak, gum, wattle, and honeysnckle.   ' The Yaloke.

       course of the river over the foot of the BarrabuU Hills, for about 5 or 6 miles. These hills afford fine pasturage for sheep, and on some of them I found limestone. The land is not of so rich a quality as the Bearkmazon (Ballarine) hills. It is remarkable that though food everywhere abounds, there are no kangaroo about these hills and plains. We saw the tracks of emu, and we saw a large flight of ducks, different from any I have before met with.    Wet night.

       "  Thur.  20.—Crossed the BarrabuU Hills, bearing S 22 W and S 45 W, to Lake Modewarrie. The hills for the first three miles are of the same description—^grass rather light, and thinly wooded with she-oak. The soil from thence to the declivity which leads down to the Lake is a rich brown loam, with excellent grass. The soil from the declivity is not so good—rather wet at this time of the year, and the grass sour. The country around the lake is lightly timbered, grassy, with very gentle rises, and flats well adapted for sheep feeding. The extent of the Lake I estimate at about 1,000 acres. In crossing the hills I saw five emus. I fired at and wounded one of them, but it escaped. There were numerous ducks on the lake, and a few swans.

       "  Friday  21.—For a mile I passed over some low lands to a small lagoon on our right, and then passed over some low rises to a watercourse, called by the natives Byourac. This was more thickly timbered, the gum-trees prevailing. Good grass continued up to this place, the soil being more tenacious. After crossing the watercourse the hills increasing in altitude ; the soil and grass not so good. About a mile from the Byourac I came to a small patch of land (about 200 acres) of very poor sandy soil, wet, producing only that coarse, tufted, wire grass, the only piece of really bad land I have passed over in my travels. At about six miles a lagoon was on our left hand about a quarter of a mile, called by the natives Gallem. From 6 to 9 miles I passed through an open forest of Gum-trees and a few Stringybark intermixed, and then into a forest composed almost entirely of Stringybark trees. At about ten miles we crossed another watercourse, running about S 80 E. The country now became hilly, the timber rather larger, but still grassy for about four miles, when we found the Ironbark-tree Forest ^vhich we were in search of. It is not in any great quantity, nor are trees very large, but these will be sufficient for the purposes of the Company. Wet morning.

       "  Sat.  22.—I left Buckley and the natives at our encampment, and proceed with Alexr. Todd to ascertain the direction and extent of the Ironbark-tree Forest. We found that it extends to the south-west, and that there will be ample for the Establishments intended to be formed.    I left the forest, and

       travelled about 4 miles S 25 W, over some hills, the soil being for the most part of a stiff yellow clay, the trees upon which were entirely stunted Stringybark, which brought me to the brink of a perpendicular cUff descending to the sea beach. There were several points of hills along this part of the beach, running back, and forming the tops of the hills along which I had travelled. Immediately abutting on the beach the hills and valleys are destitute of timber, but from a quarter to half a mile back the stunted Stringybark forests commence and appear to prevail for some distance. There is little or no brushwood in any of the forests that I have yet met with ; and grass more or less everywhere prevails, excepting on the tops of the bare hills alluded to above, but not of such a quality as to make the land desirable for the grazing of sheep or cattle at present, whatever it may be when the more fertile plains be occupied. On returning I passed over the same description of country. On the dry chalk hills in the vicinity of Ironbark-tree Forest I observed large holes, or burrows, about two feet in diameter, and which, upon inquiry, I learnt from Buckley were inhabited by a large species of Wombat, the native name for which is Ouxingore. Buckley states it to weigh between one and two hundred pounds. It is eaten by the natives, by whom it is highly prized.

       "  Sun:  23.—I proceeded upwards along the valley about half a mile and then descended, bearing about N. 70 E., one and a half to the sea, the land gradually improving about half a mile from the coast. The land is free from timber. I now directed my course towards the crossing place in the Barwum, and in about a mile crossed a saltwater creek, and in about three miles further another creek, which was parallel with the beach nearly two miles, and is the outlet of the water of Biourac rivulet. Up to this place there is some fine open grassy plains along the coast from a quarter to three quarters of a mile in width—light soil, inland grassy rises thinly timbered. Between the Biourac and the Barwum to the crossing place of the latter is some fine marshes, and land Ughtly elevated, better adapted for cattle than any I have before seen. After crossing the Barwurn, which took us a little above the knees, I fell in with two families of natives, who were very friendly. One of them (NuUaboin, with whom Buckley had lived) had never seen a white man before. He had heard of a gun, and the effects of it, and was anxious to see me let it off. On my preparing to do so, he evinced great fear, and requested I would go further off. Buckley told him I would not hurt him or any one. He then sat down, and was greatly gratified at my hitting a small piece of paper set up as a mark. The two families bivouacked about fifty yards from each other, and I pitched my tent between them. The whole party of natives (eleven) remained sitting round my fire till

       about 10 o'clock, when I intimated I wished to go to bed, and they instantly retired to their own quarters. They kept up a conversation a great part of the night amongst themselves and with Buckley. They were anxious to know where I had been, and were curious to know why I was walking about the country. ^*Mon:  24;—After breakfast I took leave of the natives. Nullaboin and his wife were sorry at Buckley's leaving them, and shed tears on our starting. We took a straight direction for, and got home about 3 o'clock, about 18 miles."

       The journal now leaves Indented Head, and takes us to the site of the future Melbourne, from the Qeelong side.

       '*  Thur:  27  Aug^ —Embarked in whale boat for the two rivers at the north extremity of Port Phillip.

       " Boat leaky, and the mast thort gave way—put back in consequence. Started to prosecute the journey on foot. Proceeded about 12 miles to Noandeit. Wet and windy afternoon—very cold and windy night.

       "Fri:  28.—To Caragio  {Geelong)  about 15 miles to dinner, from whence to Keerwir N. 15 W. about 4 miles, over some fine grassy flats of a Ught sandy loam, thinly timbered with Sheoak, Gum, and a few Mimosa; the former prevail. Keerwir is the native name for a fresh-water hole at the head of a salt-water creek. Above this water hole ther« is a channel for a watercourse, but from its appearance I should imagine the water but seldom nms excepting after very heavy rains. The country all around appears to be admirably adapted for sheep.

       "  i^at:  29.—We passed over extensive open plains, a slight rise about a mile on our right, for the first six miles, which turn to the left and run to the foot of Anikai Yowwham ; at the foot of which rise I went for about four miles, intending to ascend one of the eminences which form the cluster of hUls (Anikai Yowwham); but learning from the two native youths that were with me that there was no water in that direction, I altered my course, and passed over a ridge of hills which run from M*. Yowwham. Open plains continue nearly to the ridge. They are quite destitute of timber, and covered with grass, but not of that luxuriance that I should have expected from the soil. The hills are thinly timbered, some of the Gum trees fit for the Pit, but not in any quantity. I observed two or three Peppermint trees, the first I have seen in the country. The soil on these hills is light and sandy, well covered with grass, and more luxuriant than on the plains. After descending the hills, I came to an open plain of a mile or more in length, skirted on either side by a light-timbered country. To the north-west open plains extend to a great distance, bounded on the west by

       s

       hills from the Anikai Towwham, from which latter place they take a westerly direction, bounding the plains north of the river WorragODg, and from which I should imagine the Yaloke takes its rise. After passing over the small pkan, I continued about two miles over some stony rises, and halted for the night at some ponds of water, in a watercourse. Showers during the day.

       "Sun:  30  Aug^ —Passed over extensive open grassy plains (the grass not luxuriant) for about 10 miles to a dry watercourse, in an easterly direction, and in about 3 more miles came to a rapid river, about 8 yards wide, with a rocky bottom. I travelled down the river about a mile to find a crossing place, and observed some reaches in the river of deep still water, and from 12 to 15 yards in width. The river passes through the plains in a deep and narrow channel, and I did not observe any appearance of width of valley in its course. The floods rise to the height of 20 feet or more, as was indicated by the drift wood on its banks. This river I have named the  Feel (Werribee).

       ''Sepr.  1835.

       " Mon:  31.—Continued over the same description of country, open plains expanding in all directions, the soil and grass in better quantity. About the middle of the day s march I came upon a channel which receives the waters draining from the surrounding plains during heavy rains. It has a muddy bottom, and reeds choke up its whole course. It continued in my course for about two miles, and then turned suddenly to the southward. The water which stands in places is very brackish.

       " About two miles before I came to the head of Port Phillip, I crossed a large piece of ground which has the appearance of being covered with water in wet weather, and then skirted a Sheoak forest which fringes the Bay, and afterwards passed through it to a Native's well on the Bay. The soil in the narrow belt of the Sheoak is of a light sandy description with good grass. On the low land, and in passing through the Sheoak trees, I observed the footmarks of white men—supposed to be those who came and returned in Capt^. Harwood's sloop. Five emu."

       As the reader conjectures, Mr. Wedge was correct in his surmising. The expedition of the so-called Fawkner party, without Fawkner, had entered the Tarra up to the Falls. The September record begins:—

       "  Sep^-"  Tu:  1  Sep^-—Proceeded along the plains skirting a Sheoak forest on my right.    Soon after starting crossed a salt-water creek, which connects with the lowland mentioned yesterday.

       The same description of country continues to the river ^  {Yarra Yarra),  which we made in about ten miles. It is from 25 to 30 yards wide. Soil darker colour and of stiflFer nature, and of better description. The grass better, especially in the Sheoak forest. Water salt in the river. Continued across the Plains, the river winding on my right from one to two miles, and again came upon the river, which I now found to be fresh and excellent water. The stream was now about suflBcient for the purposes of a com mill, but I iiaagine scarcely runs in summer (I). The immediate banks are steep and nearly perpendicular, and from 20 to 30 feet in height, when they a^ain have a steep rise from 100 to 150 feet, and then spread out mto extensive plains. The river has a gravelly bottom. I now crossed it, and pitched for the night, intending to cross over to the head of the Salt water in the river which flows from the eastward, and forms a junction with this river  (The junction of the Yarra Yarra and the SaUwater river below Melbourne).

       '* Wed:  2.—Followed down the east banks of the river to a rich marsh, which has a salt-water lagoon in it. The marsh (Batman's Swamp)  is situated between the two rivers, which forms a junction, their united waters being discharged into the northern extremity of Port Phillip. Continued the same direction, S. 60 E. skirting the northern extremity of the Marsh to the head of the salt-water in the river flowing from the eastward  (Yarra).  The rising ground to the northward of the marsh  (site of Melbourne)  is a fine, rich, grassy country, intersected by valleys. Gum trees, Sheoak, and Wattles prevail. The river (yarra) is navigable up to this point for vessels of fifty tons, and for boats thirty miles upwards or more. The fresh water river has a fine copious stream, and is from forty to fifty yards in width. The stream is about equal to that of the South Esk in Van Diemen's Land.

       " On my arrival at this place  (site of Melbourne)  I found an encampment formed by the persons connected with Mr. Fawkner (Messrs. Lancey, Jackson, Marr, and Evans). Their vessel of 55 tons was lying within three yards of the shore, in five fathoms water. I communicated verbally to these gentlemen that they were within the limits of the land purchased by Mr. Batman from the natives; in reply to which they stated their determination to hold possession. They told me that their vessel would sail for Launceston the first fair wind, and offered to convey anything for me, or to give me a passage. I availed myself of the opportunity of writing to Mrs. Darke, Mr. Simpson, and Mr. Batman.

       "  Thur:  3  Sq)^-—I waited on Mr. Lancey and the other gentlemen, and, in a conversation with that gentleman, pointed

       ^ Navigable for boats as far as the salt water flows.

       S  2

       out the impropriety of any interference with our land, and the unpleasant consequences that would result by their persisting in doing so. I took breakfast with them, and afterwards spoke to the rest of the gentlemen to the same effect. Before leaving I informed them by writing  (see copy of letter in Notebook)  that they were within the limits of our land, and gave them a description of the boundaries. I now started, receiving from them a small supply of flour, and proceeded N. 10 W. about three miles. The ground which I here passed over was of excellent quality, and fine grass. The Gum and other trees attain a large size, but few of the former are of any utility for building purposes.

       "  My object being to intersect the tract of land in a transverse direction, so as to view that portion of it which was not seen by Mr. Batman, I altered my direction to a north-west course, and crossed the valley leading from the salt-water lagoon, and ascended the opposite rising ground, a fine and extensive valley spreading on my right The rising ground continued in my course till I crossed the valley leading from the extreme eastern bend of the river which I had left in the morning of yesterday, which again brought me to the open plains. The wooded country, ranging to the northward, and which, judging from that portion which I saw, and from Mr. Batman's report of the northern parts of it, cannot well be surpassed in Its fitness for agricultuml purposes. I now passed over extensive open plains of better quality than those to the westward, and crossed a watercourse in which there was water, but not a running stream. At night I came to the river alluded to above, the plains continuing of the same description, and, if anything, improving in quality.    Wet evening.

       "  Fri :  4.—Before starting, one of the natives, Diaberung, expressed a wish to leave us, to which I assented, giving him a note to Mr. H. Batman.  (Then at Indented Hewd,)  But the other boy not sho\N'ing any inclination to go, and being told he must go by himself, he altered his mind and continued with us.

       " We crossed the river on starting, and continued the same course as yesterday, the river winding on our right, and the general course being from N. 15 E. After crossing the plains for about eight miles, I came upon the river. At this point I crossed some three steep and deep hollows with water channels in them, but they did not intersect the plains for any distance. I terminated my day's journey on the banks of a small stream of water at the foot of the range of hills which I had now reached. The water ceases to run almost as soon as it is free from the hills. About two miles before I reached the foot of the range of hills, there was a considerable bare hill close ou my right.    From the foot of the hills I took a west direction for
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       about two miles, which brought me to the stream of water mentioned above.

       "  Sat:  5.—Travelled over some excellent plains for about four miles, the range of grassy hills^on our right, which brought us to a ridge of hills projectmg into the plains. In these hills I observed a few Ironbark trees, and a small quantity of useful Gums for the pit. After crossing this ridge, I crossed another fine valley of no great extent, which again brought me to the hills. As they appeared to thicken and become more wooded and steep in the direction I was going, I altered my direction and pursued a south direction, for the purpose of getting on the plains, passing between the hills and a flat forest. I again bore more to the westward, through the same forest, to a deep watercourse, which at times is subject to heavy floods, but at this time we only found water at places. After ascending the hills for about a mile, I came to an open plain, and directing my course south-west for about two miles, I came to a belt of forest trees, and in about another mile to the river Peel ( Werribee), which I found to be flooded with a strong body of water running up to its banks. I almost despaired of finding a crossing place, although the river was not very wide, not more than firom ten to twelve yards; but, firom the power of the stream, every tree had been swept away from time to time as they had fallen across the channeL It would have been folly to have attempted to swim across with the knapsacks, guns, &c. I, therefore, proceeded up stream in search of a tree that we might fall across the river to serve as a bridge. After travelling about a mile we were fortunate in finding a tree, the roots of which had been undermined, which caused it to lean so as the trunk rose about the middle of the stream. It was here that I found one of the natives (the eldest Diaberung) of great use. Although he and the other boy had examined it, and said it was impracticable, I suggested that a log might be laid across from the banks to the tree. And he immediately took the hint, and set to in real earnest to eflTect a passage across, he having before intimated that it would be necessary not to delay crossing, for that the river would continue to rise for some days, and render it impossible to cross. Assisted by myself and my man, Alex'- Thompson, and the other native boy, he made a safe bridge to the tree, ha^ considerably improved on my suggestion. Having effected this, the next thing was to get from the tree to the opposite bank; and this he soon effected by cutting notches in the tree to serve for a footing, by which to ascend to a horizontal branch about ten feet high, from which we descended by placing dead arms of trees against it, on the opposite bank, about knee deep in water.  (See Illustratimis.)  It was quite dark before we accomplished a passage. During this day's march I shot a wild dog.

       **  Sun:  6  Sep^-—Ascending the steep hill immediately from the banks of the river, I passed over a small tract of land for about 1^ miles, which was a light sandy description, the Honeysuckle tree prevailing. I then passed through a forest for about six miles to the open plains. There is not much grass in the forest. The open plains continued for seven or eight miles (up to this place my course was S.W.) which brought me to some waterholes in a watercourse. From hence I went in a direction S. 10 E. seven miles to another water-hole, the first mile of which was an open plain, the remainder an open grassy forest, some of it but indifferent. A little before stopping I crossed my track of the 30th August. Provisions out—living on roots.

       "Mon:  7.—I passed over the same plains described 30th August, keeping a little more to the eastward. Halted early to enable the party to get roots, and to take the chance of shooting some birds.    Station Curwee.

       **  Tu:  8.—Arrived at encampment.   A long day's march."

       After a rest on Indented Heads, arranging for Batman's brother to go forward to the more favourable site on the Yarra, where he met the Fawkner party, before the arrival of Fawkner himself, Mr. Wedge continues his explorations, thus noted in the journal:—

       "  Wed:  9.—

       "Thurs:  10.—

       ** Fri:  11.—Vessel  Maryann  arrived, bringing Buckley's pardon.

       ''Sat:  12.—

       ''Sun:  13.—Embarked on board the  Maryann  and sailed to Yarrow.  {This is the first time in which the river Yarra Yarra is mentioned having been n^med hy Mr, Wedge,)

       " Mon:  14.—^Arrived at Yarrow.

       " Tu: 15.—

       "Wed:  16.—H. Batman arrived.

       "  Thur:  17.—

       " Fri: 18.—

       "Sat:  19.—Embarked on board the  Maryann.

       "Sun:  20.—Sailed, and when oflf Indented Head put back from contrary winds.

       "Mon:  21.—

       "  Tu:  22.—Sailed, and anchored oflf Balarine hills,

       "Wed:  23.—To encampment at Indented Head.

       "  Thur:  24.—At Indented Head.

       "  Fri:  25.—Sailed for Portland Bay. When oflf Cape Otway at night, about 12 o'clock, a contrary and strong wind.

       "  Sat:  26.—Laying to in a gale of wind. "  Sun:  27.—Put back to Port Phillip. "  Man:  28.

       Contrary winds.

       "  Mon:  28.   ) ''Tu: 29.     y—i *'Wed:SO.   )

       "  Thur:  1.—Sailed again for Portland Bay. "/W; 2.—Becalmed.     Contrary wind in afternoon.     Put back and anchored in a small bay at Flat topped hilL

       '*Sat:  3.—Sailed at night—12 o'clock. At 2 a.m. becalmed. 10 a. m. beating against head wind.

       ''Sun:  4.—12 at night—fair wind from the eastward. "  Mon:  5.—Oflf the Lady Julia Percy I. at 6 a.m. at the entrance of Portland Bay.

       Arrived 3 p.m.    The Lawrence Is* S. 37 E.

       Lady JuUa Percy Is* S. 78 E. "  Tu:  6.—At Portland Bay.

       "Wed:  7.—Got under way at 12 a.m. for Port Fairy. Sailed for Port Fairy  i  past 2 p.m. Large river about 30 m. east of Port Fairy."

       A sketch of the bay there completes the journal.

       Mr. Wedge's sketches, found in this volume, were chiefly taken while on the tour mentioned in his journal, as extracted from the Note-book of 1835.

       The first half-a-dozen were taken a few days before he started for his overland journey. They illustrate the country about Indented Head, being views taken when on that peninsula. Port Phillip expanded before him on August 13th, while on the same day he sketched Station Peak, or Villarmanata, and some of his own companions. The Ballarine Bttlls appear on the 14th. The encampment on Indented Head, near Port Phillip Heads, consisting of dwellings of the whites, and ruder fixtures of the blacks, is dated 17th.

       After starting for the longer journey, the first drawing (No. 7), on the 20th of August, describes the rolling Barrabull Hills, near Geelong. He gave then a rude figure in the foreground, intended to depict Buckley. No. 8 bears no notice. But No. 9 is of considerable interest, being associated, as Buckley Falls, with the celebrated  Wild White Man.  The Falls are again shown in 10, in the sketch of Banga Willock. The next day, 21st August, gave him the Worrigong River and Barrabull

       Hills. The 12th view is of the same river with the Plains near. The 23rd August gives the Heads of Port Phillip (No. 13).

       A change comes in 14, the sketch from nature being an episode from native life—^the digging for roots by Lubras, who are, in this winter time, duly robed in skins, with the bag at their backs. In 15 the artist appears looking eastward on September 1. On the same day, in 16, the view is northward; but, in 17, bearing east, with the Yowwham Hills on the left. The Ballarine Hills and part of the Bay bearing south come in 18. This is followed, in 19, with the Magonait watercourse, plains, and hills N. 30 E., of same date; the party are seated, beholding the fine landscape.

       Sketches 20 and 21 illustrate that part of the diary describing the crossing of the river Peel or Werribee. The same river scene is in 22, But 23^ and 24 are without explanation. A leap to September 17 brings us to 25, the first encampment at the river Berrem. This is not very clear as to date, since on that day Mr. Wedge was on the Indented Head. In 26 some obscurity appears. On the back is written "Barrern, rapids of, 18 Sep., 1835." But underneath the sketch of wooded hill and plain we have these important words—" Near where St. James's Cathedral now stands." This is in Mr. Wedge's handwriting, though at a much later date. It is not very easy, however, to identify the locality as a part of the Western Hill of Melbourne.

       No. 27 is a sunset view near Portland Bay, the entrance to which we have in 28. But 29, 30, 31, 32, 33, are particularly interesting, from showing the condition of the only settlement then existing in the territory of Port Phillip, the establishment of Messrsv Henty having been formed there a year before Mr. Wedge's visit. The house, the whaling establishment, the headland near, the fishing vessels at anchor, and the oil depot, have all points of great interest at the present time. Port Fairy, now Belfast, had in 34, 35, and 36, only natural features to be portrayed.

       Before this voyage to Portland Bay was taken, and of so early a date as August 4th, Mr. Wedge made sketches of Wilson's Promontory, from Glennie's Island (No. 37), the Cove of Glennie's I. (38), and Fishing at the Cove (39). A curious memorial of Batman's First Huts at Indented Heads (No. 40)

       marks the first buildings erected neax Port Phillip, by order of John Batman, and reared by the men he left there in June, 1835. Mr. Wedge's hut, which was erected in 1836, is pictured in 41. Two sketches of natives are preserved. One (42) shows the propriety of attitude in a native woman. The other, 43, is a life-like, though rude, delineation of a native arrayed in a rug. It is called Norung Boruck; and attached are these words, suggestive of some story—" The bread is all done."

       Lastly, and perhaps the most valuable, there are two portraits of Buckley, 44 and 45. These are the earliest sketches of that hero of Port Phillip, and were taken just after he revealed himself to the whites on Indented Head. The features are not expressive of high intelligence. The nose in 45 did not quite satisfy the artist, judging from the attempt to amend it in another place.

       The Royal Geographical Society of London, being favoured by a communication from Mr. Surveyor Wedge, published an interesting account of the country explored by that gentleman. As the reports from abroad are not always given verbatim, that course being often as unnecessary as inconvenient, the text in Mr. Wedge's handwriting will be quite satisfactory to our readers. This was sent to the author by the worthy surveyor. It is written on coarse, large-sized foolscap—the paper of the period—and is dated August, 1836.

       The country described is that on the Geelong and Werribee side of the Bay, as well as that in the neighbourhood of Melbourne, and to the north of the settlement. Excepting the reference to Buckley, elsewhere found in the present volume, this is Mr, Wedge's complete story of his rambles in Port Phillip :—

       " In traversing the interior of the country, my attention was directed to that part of it from the northern extremity of the port, round to the westward, including Indented Head, and embracing about forty miles inland. In describing the country, I will take the several parts in the order which I examined them. The peninsula of Indented Head first attracted my attention; its extent is about one hundred thousand acres. It is bounded on the west by the Barwum, a river pointed out to me by Buckley, which empties itself into Bass s Straits, a few miles to the westward of Indented Head, and in its course passes within about three miles of the western extremity of rort Phillip.    The eastern part of this peninsula for about four

       or five miles from the maxgin of the port is a lowland flat surface, the soil being light and sandy, and well covered with grass, thinly wooded with the honeysuckle, the oak. Mimosa, and Eucalyptus. The land there swells inte low hills, and alternates with beautiful hill and dale. On these hills the soil is of finer quality than on the plains, the grass more luxuriant. These hills gradually trend to the westward in gentle undulations, and terminate at the Barwurn, in some places in steep banks, varying in height from thirty to sixty feet. It is a great misfortune to the peninsula that the river Barwurn is subject to the tides, and is consequently salt up to where it is joined by another river, about three miles from the western extremity of the port, otherwise it would be one of the finest situations for sheep-farming I have ever met with. On the peninsula there are many small water-holes, which aflford the natives a supply of water, but it is brackish and of bad quality, although I experienced no ill effects from the use of it.

       "At the junction of the rivers above alluded to, the one coming from the north-west is called Yaloak ^ by the natives. The other coming from the westward I have named the Byron, into which about ten or twelve miles up another stream falls, which I have named the Leigh; these rivers pass through very extensive open plains, much further than the eye can reach, and from Buckley's information, at least one hundred and fifty miles to the westward. About fifteen miles in a south-west direction from the junction of the Byron with the Yaloak is a lake, called by the natives Modewarrie, the intermediate country being grassy hills, called by the natives BarrabuU, of moderate elevation, thinly covered with the ' she oak'  (casuarina)  trees, and around the lake an undulating grassy coimtry thinly timbered to the westward. On approaching the coast to the southward, the country gradually becomes more thickly timbered, and the quality of the soil not so good. The coast from hence trends nearly southwest to Cape Otway, the country being hilly and thickly wooded, and from its appearance I should not deem it fit for agricultural pursuits, although it not unfrequently happens that very erroneous ideas are formed by judging of the nature of a country by distant observation. Near the northern extremity of the port, and about three or four miles from it, two rivers form a junction, the one coming from the north, and the other from the eastward, and their united waters are discharged into the port together. Both these rivers are navigable for vessels of about ^ sixty tons, for five or six miles above the junction. There is a bar at the mouth  of   these  rivers which  precludes larger vessels fro^^

       * Yaloak is the native word for river.   , .

       ' My estimate of the size of the vessels that can pass over the bar has proved to bo much under rated.
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       entering, but up to the bar vessels of the largest burden can approach and find secure anchorage.

       " The country between these rivers, extending to the north, forty or fifty miles, and to the east, about thirty miles, to a tier of mountains, which range firom the back of Western Port, in a northerly direction, is undulating and intersected with valleys, and is moderately wooded, especially to the east and north-east; to the north are open plains. The soil is sandy loam, and is generally of good quality, and in some of the valleys very rich^ The surface is everywhere thickly covered with grass, intermixed with the rib-grass and other herbs. I think very highly of this part of the country, and consider it to be well adapted for agricultural pursuits.

       " It will be desirable to form townships at the head of the salt-water on each of these rivers. The river coming from the eastward is called by the natives Yarra-yarra. The country between the river coming firom the northward, and the western extremity of the port, and firom twenty-five to forty miles inland, the country is open, and partakes more of the nature of Downs. The whole is thickly covered with a light growth of grass, the soil being in general stiff and shallow. About midway there is a river (Weiribie Yaloak) falling into the port, which comes from the north-west. I do not know whether it is navigable ^ any distance inland, as I crossed it in the first instance about twelve or fourteen miles above its entrance into the port, and in the second a considerable deal higher up. At the foot of the range of hills which bound the plains on the north-west, about Station Point, called by the nativesVilla-manata or Youwham, the country is wooded, with this exception, and^here and there along the shore of the port, and along the course of the river just mentioned, the plama are quite open, as much so as the heaths of Cam* bridgeshire, and I have no doubt they will become valuable sheep stations for breeding flocks, although it is probable they are sheeted by the droughts in the dry summers; but there is no country without its disadvantages, and I do not think it will be worse, nor indeed so bad in that respect as New South Wales, as it is more exposed to the south and westerly winds, from which direction the rains come, and, as far as my observations went, very heavy dews are prevalent. The country to the north and nortn-west of these plains is broken and hilly,' and I am inclined to think, from its appearance, it is extensively adapted for pastoral purposes.   There is a great deficiency of timber fit

       ^ For small boats only for about three miles—there is a bar at its entrance into the port.

       ' In a subsequent journey I penetrated through these hills, and came to an extensive open coun^. It is but partially adapted for sheep, being a stiff tenacious clay, and consequently very wet in the vnnter season. Cattle stations, however, may be formed.

       for building and fencing purposes, the want of which will be seriously felt in this part of the country whenever it becomes thickly inhabited. On the whole, I think favourably of the country for the general purposes of colonization.

       " During all my wandenngs in Van Diemen's Land I never fell in with an emu in its wild state; this pleasure was reserved till my recent visit to Port Phillip. I saw them on "several occasions, altogether about twenty in number. I had not before a conception of the stateUness and grandeur of these birds. There are not many kangaroo in that portion of the country which I examined, but those I did fall in with are the largest I have ever seen; they are very swift of foot. There are large birds of the crane kind, and the wild goose, quails, black swans, wild ducks, and teal in abundance, and are all, with the exception of the quails, very wild and difficult to get at. There are wild native dogs, which appear to me to be a kind of small wolf, and I fear great watchfulness will be necessary to protect the sheep from tneir depredations. There is also an animal which, from Buckley's description, I imagine to be a species of wombat. The holes which it inhabits are large enough for a moderate sized boy to creep in at their entrance, and I should suppose from his description that it weighs from one hundred and fifty to two hundred pounds. The natives are very fond of this animal, and take great trouble to dig them out of their holes, to accomplish which they make one of their little boys go in with their feet first, driving the animal forward, till it can get no further, he then knocks at the roof of the burrow, which guides those on the outside in digging down to the animal, which labour they accomplish with pointed sticks. They are superstitious in believing, that should the boy open his eyes whilst he is under ground, be will not come out again alive."

       "The Natives of Port Phillip.

       " On landing at Port Phillip, on the 7th of August, 1835, at the encampment of the party—three white men and some Sydney natives, left for the purpose of maintaining the friendly intercourse which had been established with the aborigines of that part of New Holland—I found seven families of the natives residing in their huts around the encampment. The greater part of them were absent at the time on a hunting excursion; but a boy came down with the white men to welcome us on our arrival. An old man (Pewitt) and his two wives were at the huts, together with some young girls who had been promised in marriage to the Sydney natives left by Mr. Batman. I soon learnt that the most friendly understanding existed with the natives; indeed, I scarcely needed this information, for it was evident from the light-hearted playfulness of the boy,  the

       <;heerfulness of the old man, and the vivacious loquacity of the females, who came and shook hands with me on my arrival. They were evidently anxious to inform me by signs that the families who inhabited the several huts were out hunting, and that they would come home in the evening.

       " On the return of the various families, with the game which they had obtained during the day, the members severally welcomed me by a shake of the hand. The only married female of our party  (Mis.  H. Batman), and her four little daughters, with whom the natives were much delighted, particularly attracted their attention. Although they brought home with them plenty of provisions, consisting of various edible roots, kangaroo, bats, and calkiet (the young ants, in a fly state, taken from decayed hoDow trees), they soon began to importune us for bread and other things, not excepting the cutlery. From this I inferred at once that, to satisfy their newly-acquired appetite for our food and other things which we brought with us, such as knives, tomahawks, and blankets, was a sure way of conciliating them. In this conclusion at which I thus arrived I was fully confirmed by Buckley, who on every occasion evinced the greatest desire to be of use whenever he had it in his power to do so, and who gave me a general outline of the characters of the different natives as they arrived, one of whom (Murradonna-nuke),^ he pointed out as being more to be dreaded, on account of his treachery, than any of the other chiefs.

       " As one of the main objects I had in view, besides examining the country, was to make myself acquainted with the habits and dispositions of the natives, I devoted the first few days after my arrival to studying their characters. For this purpose I went out hunting with them daily, and spent the greater part of my time amongst them. I soon satisfied myself that by a little tact and management, there was no danger to be apprehended from them; although I learnt from Buckley, that in the treatment of each other they were treacherous. To command their respect, I found it was necessary to make them fully understand that it was in our power, not only to minister to their wants and comforts, but amply to avenge any outrage. In impressing them with this idea, Buckley was of great use to me, by making known to them the ample means we had of furnishing them with food, blankets, &c., and explaining the object which we had in view in settling amongst them, and our desire to be on friendly terms with them, which was mainly compassed by evincing a confidence devoid of fear in our deportment towards them, and by abstaining from any act which might lead them to doubt the sincerity of our intentions.

       * I deemed it policy to pay court to this man; he fonned a great attachment for me.

       **  I learnt from Buckley that they  were  cannibals. His statement on this head vras confirmed by the two youths who attached themselves to me during my stay in New Holland,  and who accompanied me on several excursions I made into the interior; but they do not seem to indulge in this horrible propensity, except when the tribes are at war with each other, when the bodies of those who are killed are roasted, and their bones are infeillibly picked by the teeth of their enemy. Of this custom they make no secret, and on being questioned, speak of it as a matter of course, and describe the mode of preparing their victim for the repast. Disgusting as is this practice, the process of which is too revolting to commit to paper, a still more horrible one, if possible, prevails, that of destroying their infant at its birth. The cause by which they appear to be influenced, is the custom they have of nursing their children till they are three or four years old. To get rid, therefore, of the trouble and inconvenience of finding sustenance for two, should the second be bom before the eldest is weaned, they destroy the youngest immediately after it is born. Although this explana-tion was given me by Buckley—and I have no doubt this is in most instances the cause — yet some women perpetrate the murder of their infants from mere wantonness, and, as it would seem to us, a total absence of that maternal feeling which is found even in the brute creation. One woman in particular (the wife I think of Mullamboid) was pointed out to me, who had destroyed ten out of eleven of her children, one of whom she killed a few days previous to my arrival at the port. Notwithstanding the increase of the tribes is thus kept down, polygamy is common amongst them; few of the men have less than two wives, and some of them four or five.

       "The women, as is the case with most savages, are quite subservient to the men, and are kept in excellent discipline; chastisement promptly follows the least offence, and a fire-stick is not unfrequently the instrument of correction. The wealth of the men may be said to consist in the number of their wives—for their chief employment is in procuring food for their lords. On one occasion I was witness to a scene that afforded me some amusement, although it was no fun to the poor women concerned. My attention was attracted by the outcry of the women who were receiving chastisement firom their husband (Murradonanuke), who was punishing them by throwing fire-sticks at them in the most furious manner. On inquiring, I learnt that the cause of offence arose from the poor creatures not having brought home that evening a quantity of provisions sufiicient to satisfy his insatiable appetite.

       " In the regulations which prevail respecting their wives, they have one which seems to have some connection with, or similar

       to, the Mosaic law. On the death of the husband, his wives become the property of the eldest of his brothers, or his next a-kin. The men are jealous of their wives, and should any intrigue  be discovered, it would prol)ably lead to the death of one  or both of the offending parties. Although, if the husband receives what he considers to be an adequate compensation, he is accommodating to his friends. I do not believe infidelity is frequent amongst the women, unless sanctioned by the husband. During the whole time I was among them, I never observed any advances or levity of conduct on their part, although it is not at all improbable that they are restrained by fear of consequences should they be detected.

       " In bestowing daughters for wives, they are frequently promised as soon as they are born, and on these occasions the parents receive presents of food, opossum, and kangaroo rugs, clubs, spears, &c., from the person to whom she is betrothed ; and this arrangement is considered to be binding, although it sometimes happens that these promises are broken by the parents, especially when the man, who has received the promise, belongs to another and distant tribe. When this occurs it creates a feeling of enmity, and it is not unfrequently taken up by the whole tribe, who make common cause with the aggrieved

       {)arty. If they once determine on being revenged, they never ose sight of their object till they have satisfied themselves by a feneral conflict with the tribe to whom the offending party elongs; or it sometimes happens that the poor girl and her husband are singled out, and in the dead of the night the spear gives both a passport to the land whose inhabitants live without hunting.

       '* The men are prohibited from looking at the mother of the girls promised them in marriage. This singular custom is observed with the strictest caution. On passing the huts of the mother-in-law, or any place where they suppose her to be, they carefully turn their heads away, and evince great concern if by any chance they should see her; although I am not aware of any penalty being attached to the offence, save that of displeasing the parents. On meeting with Nullaboin and his family I took notice that a young girl, just married, carefully avoided looking at a particular man, for what reason I cannot divine, unless it was that the old man had been promised her first daughter.

       ** From inquiries which I made on the subject, I am induced to believe that a feeling of enmity does not permanently exist among the tribes—as it is terminated by a general battle-royal, something after the style of an Irish fair. A short time previous to my departure, a few men, with their wives from an adjoining tribe, came to that amongst whom I was living, with an invita-

       tion to join them in a conflict which they meditated with an adjoining tribe. They sent two or three young men to a tribe to the westward, inviting them also to join them on the occasion. I leanit that this hostile feeling had been created by a man having lost one of his eyes in a scuffle with a man belonging to the Western Port tribe. This incident happened about eight months previously, and although the party whp now sought to avenge himself was the aggressor, having wounded his antagonist with a spear, he nevertheless determined on having satis&ction, and had succeeded in inducing his own tribe, and that with which I was living, and probably would influence the other also, to whom an embassy of young men had been despatched to the westward, to espouse the cause of his odd eye. They also gave an invitation to the seven Sydney natives to join them with their guns. This of course 1 dia-couraged, and I was not without hopes that they might be induced, through the influence of Buckley, to forego their intention of taking their revenge—although, from what he said, I concluded there was not much chance of such a result Buckley said that the time of their meeting was very uncertain, that it might happen in a week or two, or it might be put off some months; but that the collision was almost certain to take place sooner or later. In these conflicts it does not often happen that many lives are lost — seldom more than one or two. Frequently all return from the place alive, and no other mischief done than an eye less, a head broken, or an impression made upon their coatless backs by a club or spear, so expert are they in avoiding the missiles of their opponents. All feeling of hostility ceases with the battle, and cordiality again prevails till it is interrupted by the impulse of their feelings, which are extremely sensitive; in fact they are nearly as pugnacious as though tneir birth-place had been the Green Island.

       " Like all others uncivilized, and in a state of nature, they are astonishingly dexterous in the use of their weapons employed by them in the defence of their persons, and in procuring food—and in tracking each other, as well as kangaroo and other animals, they are very expert. The most trifling disarrangement of the grass, a broken twig, or the slightest thing which indicates the direction of the object of pursuit, is at once perceived by them, and they follow the track with ease at a brisk pace. On several occasions I witnessed their adroitness in this respect. In fact, their perceptions in seeing, hearing, and smelling are surprisingly acute; and in the pursuit of their game they evince the patient perseverance so peculiar to man living in a state of nature.

       ** Their food consists principally of kangaroo and other animals —fish, and roots of various sorts, black swans, ducks, and many

       other birds—in fact, there is scarcely any animal or bird which comes amiss to them, and many reptiles, amongst others a species of snake, comes within their bill of fare. In their appetites they are quite ravenous, and the quantity they devour at one meal would astonish even a London aloerman, although they are not quite so fastidious in the quality of their viands.

       " I could not learn that they have any religious observances ; and, indeed, ifrom the information I gathered from Buckley, I am led to believe they have no idea whatever of a Supreme Being; although it is somewhat difficult to reconcile the fact of their believing in a future state, for they certainly entertain the idea that after death they again exist, being transformed into white men. This is obviously a new idea since they have become acquainted with us, and is an evidence that the friendly intercourse we have established with them will, by degrees, operate upon their minds, and gradually work an amelioration of their condition. Of this being ultimately effected, I entertain very sanguine expectations; and I think I am warraated in doing so by the result of the experiments I made to induce them to habits of industry whilst residing amongst them. The men, on several occasions, rendered assistance in carrying sods for the erection of our huts, and many of the women were almost constantly employed in making baskets during the last week or ten days previous to my departure. In repayment for thase and other services, bread was given them on the coBapletion of their tasks, with which they were well satisfied ; and 1 have but little doubt,  if proper arrangements were made,  and attention paid, that great progress might be made in a short time towards establishing more civilized habits.

       " Their whole time may be said to be devoted to procuring food during the day. All their thoughts seem to te directed towards ministering to their appetites. The women are the drudges of their husbands, and are seldom idle during the day, being for the most part employed, either in getting the various edible roots, with which the country abounds, or in making baskets and nets, and any other occupation directed by their husbands. Their habitations are of the most rude and simple construction, the materials of which they are made being the branches of trees, laid with tolerable compactness, and pitched at an angle of about forty-five degrees. In shape they form a segment of a circle, and their size is in proportion to the number of inmates of which the family is composed."

       Mr. Wedge had the honour of naming the river flowing by Melbourne. Mr. Gurner, however, doubts the correctness of the appellation  Yarra Yarra !  saying, " Probably Mr. Wedge may

       T

       have mistaken these words for  Yanna Yanna !  which means— It TUTis, it goes,  or  it flows"

       The  Map  prepared by Mr. Wedge in 1835, is a very curious illustration of the Port Phillip story, and has but few names in addition to those appearing in Mr. Batman's map.

       The coast outline is fairly correct. The interior is but rudely indicated, and will not bear comparison with a modem map of the colony. The mountains are but approximately delineated. The  Low Hills  are those from which the Werribee, Saltwater, and Plenty rivers descend, and have certainly no mean elevation, some points mounting higher than any peaks in Old England. Some hills to the northward, towering sentinels posted in front of the Qipps-Land ranges, are put down as " probably Mount Disappointment of Messrs. Hume and Hovell." The  Mount Dromedary  stands about the site of our Mount Macedon. Arthur's Seat  and  Station Peak,  or Vilumanata, are copied from Flinders's chart.  Ballarina Hills  are those of Bellerine; and we have changed the spelling of  Barrahull Hills.  But the pretty granitic pile passed on the way from Melbourne to Qeelong, now known as the Yow Yangs, was then written  Yowham Hills  and Ayuiki'i/oO'Wam,

       The names of the western streams have suffered a change; as  Marahdl  to  Moordbool, Burwan  to  Barwon,  and  Wearily  to Werribee,  though that appellation is now transferred to the more south-western river. The Yarra Yarra was then known only a dozen miles above Melbourne, but its course, as learned from the natives, is fairly laid down. Corayio, by the Bay of Qeelong, has become the town of Qeelong, as Gtellibrand's Point, changed from a projection lower down, has developed into Williamstown. The open western plains appear to have been known for fifty miles from Qeelong. The  Thick forest of Iron-hark  shows the entrance to the dense woodlands of Cape Otway district.

       But the especial interest of the Map lies in the allotments appropriated by the members of the Association. These gentlemen have their several selections therein given.

       The whole territory assumed to have been purchased from the tribes of Dutigalla or Port Phillip is bounded on the north by the Plenty ranges, on the east by a line running north-east from the Yarra Settlement, on the south by Port Phillip Bay,

       and on the west by a line running north-east, from the Barwon, by Qeelong, across the Werribee plains to the Saltwater river sources. The northern boundary would be nearly forty miles ; the eastern, about as much; and the western, nearly sixty miles. There are individual  Buns  now, both in New South Wales and Queensland, whose extent would be much greater than  the  area which satisfied the Van Diemen's Land proprietary, with the whole country unoccupied before them.

       As was quite proper, the lion's share was taken by the enterprising leader, Mr. Batman. It comprised in No. 9, all the region north and west of the Yarra, to the Saltwater river westward, and some fifteen miles northward of Melbourne. Had possession been obtained and retained, the Batman fftmily would have been now drawing a princely revenue indeed. The second in command, Mr. Wedge, was content, in 13, with what is south of Williamstown, and included part of the broad Werribee plains.

       Captain Swanston chose a fine block of volcanic country, rich in grass. No. 1, at the foot of the northern hills. His firiend. Major Mercer, had the adjoining lot, 2. The two remaining northern sections, 3 and 4, were reserved. Mr. Sams, Sheriff of Launceston, had his, 5, to the south of the Hobart Town banker, having Mr. Solomon, 6, for an eastern neighbour, and, further east, 7, Captain Bannister. Oddly enough, the portion of Governor Arthur's nephew is put across the Yarra^ No. 8, but outside the assumed eastern boundary. Mr. Cotterell, in 10, took up a pretty iregion, west of the Saltwater, with Mr. Collicott at 11, as a southern neighbour, and Mr. Batman as an eastern one. Mr. Qellibrand, though the legal guide to the Association, only appears as owner of 12, around Mr. CotterelL One of the fairest spots of the colony. No. 14, near Station Peak, was appropriated by Mr. Simpson; 15, north of Geelong, by Mr Connelly; 16, south and west of Gteelong, by Mr. Robertson afterwards of Colac; and 17, Indented Head, by Mr. Sinclair.

       Though the Association could not be permitted to grasp this magnificent country, the members thereof generally took up portions of Fort Phillip as squatting  Runs,  and most of them in the very localities thus marked as selected originally by themselves.

       A map, published  by Arrowsmith, in 1837, gives a river flowing southward to Hobson's Bay as  Ardnell Biver,  now the
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       Saltwater, joining the Yarra, near Melbourne. A small  unnamed  creek, coming from the east, is the Yarra Yarra. Across the Exe and Ardnell are written these words—" Extensive and beautiful Downs called Iramoo by the nativea" The tract across from the Murray, by Hume and Hovell, is indicated by the names of  Hume, Ovens,  and  Gouthuim rivers, Main range, and  Mount Disappointment,  Very little appears near the coast from Portland Bay to Cape Otway, except  Peaked Hill,

       On a map ordered to be printed, July 14th, 1837, Hume and IJovell's tract is marked, and nothing else but  Exe Stream, Ardnell Stream, Bland!s Plains,  between those rivers,  Indented Head, Point Nepean, Arthur*s Seat,  and  Cape Shanks.  In another map, ordered to be printed for national surveys in 1837, we have the  Ardnell,  and  Exe, Mount Vilaumarnartar,  and the  Black MountaiTis,  behind the Gipps Land Beach.

       The survey by Tyers and Townsend, dated February, 1840. was between Melbourne and the Werribee, then W.N.W. to Buninyong, W. to Lake Boloke and Sturgeon, W.S.W. to the head of Stokes river, S. to Portland, and W. to the mouth of the Glenelg. After this, E. from Portland, along the coast to near Warmambool. They went, also, by Geelong, N. of Corangamite to Mount Elephant, and onward to Shadwell, Mount Rouse, Napier, &c. A map of Port Phillip was published by Clint of Sydney, as early as August, 1836.

       Captain Vetch, in 1837, proposed that all the country from longitude 141° to the sea, and from latitude 30° to the sea southward, should be called  Guelphia;  but that what we recognise now as part of South Australia—from longitude 141° to 130^°, and from latitude 24° to the sea—should be  Flinders Land.  Dr. Lang afterwards wrote in favour of the southern province of New South Wales, then Port Phillip, being named  PhillipsUmd,

       The Charter of the South Australian Association led Governor Bourke to tell Lord Glenelg, September 15, 1836, that though he found by the Act legalizing the private colony that they " had authority to occupy a large portion of the territory placed by His Majesty under the Government of New South Wales," he had heard nothing of the circumstances from Downing Street. He told his Lordship that the "part of Port Phillip, called Oeelong,  which will probably be used as the harbour, is not above a hundred miles distant from the 14&id degree of east
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       longitude, which forms the eastern boundaxy of that Company's grant." He who had held so stoutly for his territorial rights, when contending with the Port Phillip Association, now saw his domain cut into by another private but incorporated organization, when sanctioned by the Home Government.

       Mr. Wedge bears so honourable a position in the early history of Port Phillip, and is so trustworthy an authority, that his exploration ideas, as given by him to the author in 1866, will now be acceptable to the reader:—

       " My recollection," writes he, " of the project of Batman and myself crossing the Australian Continent is fresh in my mind. We became acquainted with each other in the latter part of 1824, or beginning of 1825, On the occasion of my marking ofif his grants of land on the Ben Lomond Eivulet.

       "The subject of an exploring expedition into the interior of New Holland was then mooted, and its practicability discussed; and we seldom, if ever, met afterwards without adverting to the subject. But it was not till some little time before we accompanied Sir George Arthur to George's Bay on the east coast, in 1831, that we determined on the plan of effecting our object. Our idea was to take three or four white men (Batman's servants, on whom he said he could depend) and some Sydney natives, and go by sea to the Gulph of Carpentaria, and to travel overland from there to Sydney. Our motive for adopting this course was, that the Sydney natives would not be so likely to leave us, as if we commenced our journey from Sydney, the more especially as we should be in a portion of the country occupied by tribes with which they were unacquainted, and amongst whom they would be afraid to risk themselves without the protection of white men. The reason why we proposed taking them was that, in the event of our provisions falling, we might avail ourselves of their forest habits and skill in procuring food.

       " We mentioned our scheme to Sir George Arthur one evening in my tent, which was pitched at Falmouth. Sir Gteorge entered warmly into the plan, and said he would submit the proposal to the Secretary of State, and recommend that our services should be accepted. Lieutenant Darling was of the party who had previously expressed a wish to join us; he then volunteered to go with us. We naturally etxpected to hear the result of Sir George's communication in due course ; but, after waiting about a year, either Batman or myself, I forget which, spoke to him on the subject, and to our surprise, and no little disappointment, we learnt that he had never written on the subject.   Why or wherefore I never could understand.

       «

       '* It may not be out of place to mention that I afterwards, whilst I was in Eagland, had serious thoughts of embarking in an exploring expedition on my return to the colony. But my scheme for carrying it out was different firom the former one. My intention was to depend chiefly for food on a good-sized herd of goats, which I beUeved would browse and live on shrubs where other animals would starve. My plan was not to tie myself to time, and never to leave water till, by examining the country round about, I found a supply elsewhere. I still believe this, with a sufficient party to protect from hostile natives, would be the safest mode to adopt in penetrating the unknown wilds of Australia."

       In a previous letter to the author, addressed from Leighland, near Perth (V. D. L.), February 23rd, 1856, he refers to the circumstance of his planning an expedition, with John Batman, about 1825. "So in earnest," said he, "were we on the subject, that Mr. Batman, jointly with Mr. Oellibrand, to whom he had communicated his views, addressed a letter to the Colonial Government of New South Wales, asking permission to occupy land at Port Phillip, on condition of their sending to that place stock to the value of 5,000/.** Then comes the story of Batman's visit:—

       " Mr. Batman and myself then fell back upon our original scheme, and determined to carry it out as a private enterprise. Soon after this Mr. Batman communicated the project to the late Mr. Oellibrand, Captain Swanston* and others, who took the matter up warmly, and joined in an Association for carrying it out. The plan Mr. Batman and myself had arranged, founded on information we had obtained from parties who bad been there, was to land at Portland Bay, and to examine the interior from thence; but we were induced to abandon this idea from fresh information obtained by Mr. Batman, in reference to the country around Port Phillip, about the beginning of May.

       " He landed and traversed the country hastily, in the vicinity of Station Peak, where he fell in with some natives. He afterwards explored up the banks of the Saltwater river, from thence to the eastward to the head of the Moona Ponds ; proceeding north and north-east from thence, till he fell in with the Jigga Jigga tribe of natives, and then returned to the marsh or swamp, near the present site of Melbourne, and joined his vessel, which had waited for him at or near to Williams Town.

       " Mr. Batman's report of the country was such as to confirm the Association in their determination to send over stock, and take possession of the  country; but, before doing so, it was

       deeoiied desirable that a more extended examination of the country should be made, and I undertook to accomplish it. To enable me to do so, I appUed for a short leave of absence : upon which being denied, I resigned my appointment, and embarked and sailed from George Town, about the 18th July, 1835. I landed on Indented Head, and joined the party Mr. Batman had left there to form an establishment, and to keep up a communication with the natives. I may here mention that William Buckley, who had resided thirty-two years with the natives, had joined the party a few days prior to my arrival, and we were indebted to him for the friendly feeling that was maintained with them.

       "The last journey I made was for the express purpose of ascertaining where the principal rivers discharged themselves into Port Phillip, with the view to determine the most eligible site for a permanent establishment It was with no little surprise on arriving at the place where Melbourne now stands, that I observed m the basin, just below where the Prince of Wales' Bridge spans the Yarra Yarra with its noble arch, a vessel quietly and securely moored. The sight was so unexpected, that at the moment I fancied that I had come upon an unknown settlement  ]  and it was with no little interest and anxiety that I advanced to introduce myself to the party in charge of the craft. It turned out to be a vessel (I believe the  Enterprise) belonging to Mr. Fawkner, which he had sent thither in charge of Mr. Lancey, to form an establishment, on the strength of Mr. Batman's favourable report of the country.

       " She had crept into the Port, and proceeded up the Yarra Yarra, unobserved either by the party left at Indented Head by Mr. Batman, or by the tribe of natives who were also encamped with them. The  JSrUerprise  (if that was her name) was certainly the first vessel that had ever worked her way up to where the Queen's Wharf has since been built. It was on this occasion I gave the river the name of ' Yarra Yarra,' from the following circumstance:—On arriving in sight of the river, the two natives who were with me, pointing to the river, called out, ' Yarra Yarra I' which, at the time, I imagined to be its name; but I afterwards learnt that the words were what they used to designate a waterfall, as they afterwards gave the same designation to a small fall in the river Weiribie, as we crossed it on our way back to Indented Head.

       " On my return to my head-quarters, I immediately broke up the establishment, and removed it to the north bank of the Yarra Yarra, and encamped, if not at the very place, not far from where St. James's Cathedral now stands."

       CHAPTER XII.

       LIFE   OF   MR.    FAWKNER   BEFORE   1835.

       As John Pascoe Fawkner divides with John Batman the honour of founding Melbourne, and as he continued for so many years a leading figure in the history of that city, some account of his career before arrival at Port Phillip in 1835, may enable the reader to understand the man and his mission. Not confining himself to the narratives given by contemporaries of Mr. Fawkner, the historian has obtained some interesting facts from the press of Van Diemen's Land to elucidate the subject.

       First, as to his name; he was only known as  John Fawhner up to the time, at least, of his appearance in Port Phillip. In an advertisement placed in the Launceston paper three months before he came to the Melbourne side, and in the advertisement of the sailing of the  Enterprise,  August, 1835, he simply signs himself, as in all other cases for years before,  John FawkneTy Jun.  The difference in the spelling of his name, as evident in those early chronicles, is not a little curious. In the first notice of the man, in the Hobart Town  Gazette  of May 21st^ 1814, the name is  Falkner;  but, though once or twice  Faulkner, Faikener, or  FcUlkner,  it is usually  Fawkner.  In all newspaper records he is always  J. Fawkner, Junr.,  or  John Fawkner, Junr.,  or simply  John Fawkner,  His father is in every instance styled John Fatvkner, Senr.

       He was accustomed to speak of himself as the " original settler of Port Phillip." This was in allusion to the fact that he landed there in October, 1803, when an attempt was made to form a convict colony within the Heads of the Port Phillip Bay, but which was removed in three months to the river Derwent. He was then a boy of about ten years of age.

       v^

       Mr. Fawkner, Senr., known to the author some forty years ago, was exiled to the Southern Hemisphere, in 1803, on account of the purchase of a box of jewellery on terms that were then regarded as too favourable to himself. Established in Hobart Town, he succeeded in securing a competency, and lived, at the time of the author's knowledge of him, in a pretty cottage on the north side of Macquarie Street. His appearance, in Hessian boots and] old-style breeches, made him conspicuous when abroad. He ultimately settled down a steady, respectable man, and passed his latter days in peace.

       He was one of the few favoured ones permitted to take out his wife and family with him; a fact which speaks well for the estimation in which he or his wife was held by the London officials.

       Mrs. Fawkner, Senr., had many trials to bear with both husband and son. Her own character was above all reproach. An old Hobart Town resident, Mrs. Bateman, informed the author that Mrs. Fawkner was a very active and agreeable woman, with a fine figure and some refinement of manner. She was impelled by duty, as she believed, to accompany her husband under such unfortunate circumstances. Her daughter Betsy married Mr. Lucas of Bruni, previously a Norfolk Island settler, by whom she had a numerous and a respectable family.

       The son, the hero of our story, bom in London, August 20th, 1792, betrayed in youth the restless energy and impetuous ardour which distinguished him as a man. The early days of no colony are favourable to youth, who have to endure the hardships which their pioneer parents are called on to experience, and who seldom are favoured with those scholastic and religious advantages which exercise so favourable an influence upon character. A convict settlement in the early days was especially unfavourable to the morals of young persons. As a lad, therefore, John Fawkner could not obtain satisfactory associates, and he suffered sadly from the early withdrawal of maternal counsels. He had but just arrived at manhood when public attention was directed to him in the Hobart Town official  Gazette.  That paper, dated May 21st, 1814, had this proclamation:—

       *' The following prisoners have made their escape in a boat: Antonio Martineo, Fortescode Santo, Patrick McCabe, Vissanso

       Boucherie, Antonio Janio, Montrose JohnjBon, William Green, John Falkner, junior, Freeman, having aided and assisted the said persons in making their escape, and also accompsoiied them."

       Though no great crime, it was" more than an indiscretion, and subjected the young man to a severe chastisement; but it was sheer vindictive cruelty to make part of the flogging to take plsu^e before his father's door. Fifteen years after, when owner of the Launceston newspaper, he had the following paragraph: —" Arrived on Friday evening, at the Launceston Gaol, James Gordon, Esq., our new Police Magistrate. We decline making any observations at present upon his appointment We hope the  early tortuHng days  are gone by never to return." The author has heard Mr. Fawkner say that it was an ardent love of liberty, and personal attachment to one of these Portuguese prisoners, that led him into that foolish act

       But he rightly enough denied the charge, sometimes preferred, of convictism. Though that transaction of 1814 was not the only questionable one which brought him under magisterial censure, as the colonial  Gazette  certifies, yet it may well be wondered that so restless a spirit, in an age of both corruption and severity, escaped so well. It must be remembered that he was just the man to make enemies, as much by his combative-ness as by his disregard of appearances, and that the worst interpretations have been uniformly put upon some portions of his career by those who incurred his ill will, or suffered from the virulence of his attack.  Old Hands  have many a spicy story, which the author has heard in the olden times, reflecting upon the man; but such tales were less matters of fact than creations of wit, when they did not bear the evidence of inventive malice or of slanderous hate. He certainly laid himself open to many a rude charge by his eagerness to tilt against all comers. The active and avowed friend of the emancipist class in Van Diemen's Land, dealing heavy and repeated blows upon officialdom and the reputed respectable class in the island, he could not fail to draw upon himself the shaft of ridicule and the glance of scorn.

       The incident of 1814 occurred when Mr. Fawkner was working as a sawyer in the Bush, as he himself mentioned his

       pursuit of that trade when he was about eighteen. As some one had chosen to reflect upon that portion of his career in a very unjust and cruel manner, an article appeared in the Melbourne  Age  which gave the facts from his own report:—

       "In the year 1814 he was induced, in the enthusiasm of youth, indiscreetly to furnish funds and assist a party of seven persons to build and provide a cutter, lugger-rigged, in which they were to escape from their bondage in the island. The vessel was built, provisioned, and ready for sea, when two of the number discovered the plot to the authorities. These two persons sUpped the cable from the bay m which it had been built, and ran the cutter up to Hobart Town, betraying all concerned ; and Mr. Fawkner was included among the persons arrested by the Crown. This portion of Mr. Fawkner's life, as a matter of course, has been the subject of much misrepresentation. It has been tortured into the gravest charges against him. The result of this act of indiscretion was that he left for Sydney, and did not return till March, 1817." (Persons convicted of crimes in Van Diemen's Land, in that early time, were always sent to Sydney, the head-quarters, for trial.)

       Turning to the story of his younger days, a  Gazette  advertisement of August 1st, 1818, shows that he was then a farmer, some half-dozen miles to the north of Hobart Town. The author has seen the ruined chimneys of the rude tenement then occupied. The notice, signed by  John Fawkner, Senior^  was this :—

       "Caution'to the Public.—All persons are hereby warned against trespassing, either by grazing stock, cutting down timber, or in any other way whatsoever, upon those farms situated between the district of Qlenorchy and Mr. Austen's farm, and known by the names of Fawkner, Junr., Qaingel's, Green's, and Fawkner, Sen., Farms; as all stock found hereafter upon the said farms will be impounded, and the owners prosecuted for the trespass."

       The restless man soon tired of the plough; for a  Gazette allusion to him, January 16th, 1819, records some shortcoming of a "John Fawkner, Junr., a baker in Macquarie Street." It is not clear whether the business had been his father's, since we read in March, 1820, of one Manning who '' takes Mr. Fawkner's original bakery house, opposite the King's Store, Macquarie  Street."     Misfortune  had driven him from

       the Derwent farm. Probably this arose from another conviction recorded in July, 1819, when "John Fawkner, Jun., a/ree  man, was bound to his good behaviour for twelve months.'* His farm was advertised, Dec. 4th, 1819, thus:—

       " That most valuable farm, the property of John Fawkner, jun., conveniently situated near the new road leading to New Norfolk from Hobart Town, and adjoining the farm of Mr. J. Fawkner, Sen., in the district of Qlenorchy. It consists of 93 acres of land, 5 of which are cleared and have been in cultivation." Prompt payment is required, as the sale is " By virtue of a Bill of Sale held by Oapt. John Howard."

       The  Gazette  of Feb. 26th, 1820, refers to " Mr. John Fawkner intending shortly to remove his sheep from the district of Glenorchy," and must mean the father, not the son.

       The scene now shifts to the other side of the island, to Launceston, or, as it was more commonly known, Port Dal-rymple. The advertisement of Feb. 17th, 1821, cannot possibly refer to any other than the hero of Port Phillip, though the jun.  does not appear, since the father belonged to the Hobart Town side. Here we find the industrious and ever restless man going in for literature, though then only as salesman. The book of the day, then recently published, was undoubtedly the Life of Howe, the Bv^iranger,  This work, together with sundry useful legal forms, entered into the line of the ex-baker, ex-sawyer, ex-farmer.    The advertisement was as follows :—

       " To be always had of Mr. John Fawkner's, at Launceston, Port Dalrymple, the following printed forms:—Powers of Attorney, Bills of Sale, Indentures of Apprenticeship, Bonds, &c. Also the Rules and Orders of the Lieutenant Governor s CoTirt, and the Narrative of Michael Howe, the late notorious Bush Ranger."

       This was his introduction to the bookselling trade, and led him ultimately to that love of books, by which he not only so greatly improved his own mind, and fitted himself for the senatorial chair, but was led to form one of the best private libraries in Victoria, and was induced to make valuable presents of books to libraries for the working classes.

       In 1821, the baker's shop in the possession of Mr. J. Fawkner was then in Elizabeth Street, Hobart Town, by Melville Street. Another notice that year alludes to a house to be let or sold

       next door to Mr. Fawkner's. "Apply to Mr. Fawkner, the proprietor." On September 21st, 1821, the father's farm at Qlenorchy was for sale. But the year after he had an inclination to go home, his term having expired, and thus advertised :—

       " The undersigned intending shortly to proceed to England, requests all persons having claims against him will present the same, &c.'

       It is noted, as the worthy subject of a newspaper paragraph in 1823, that the father gave one Bible, one Testament, and six other books to Mr. Nokes, for his Sunday school in Hobart Town. His son, therefore, may be said to have inherited an interest in books. But the  Gazette  of January 21st, 1825, bears the sad intelligence of the departure of one who had sacrificed an English home for the love she bore to an unfortunate husband. The record is brief:—" Died, on Saturday last, after a lingering illness, Mrs. Fawkner, a resident for many years in this island, having arrived with the first fleet in 1803."

       Meanwhile, the son had once more changed his trade, going back to the ancestral business, but on the northern side of the island. The advertisement of November, 1823, declares:—" J. Fawkner, jun., begs leave to inform the public that he has commenced the bakery business at the Verandah House, Laun-ceston." A change from that, or an addition to it, appears from the notice of June 17th, 1825, which announces " John Fawkner, of Launceston, has for sale a quantity of the very best cedar, in boards and planks, on the most reasonable terms." Mr. Fawkner used to tell his hearers that he had been a sawyer in his younger days. The early records throw no light upon that part of his career, which may have been when he was a mere lad, though indicating his connection with a timber yard.

       It was in 1829 that he got himself into trouble in the same way as he had done fifteen years before. The impulsive kindness of his nature led him to befriend some poor fellow whom he had doubtless thought too severely tareated. The  Lawnceston Advertiser  for February 23rd tells the tale:—" John Fawkner, for harbouring a runaway prisoner, to be fined four dollars." He was always the prisoner's friend, and was ever ready to imperil his own position in succouring those he thought victims of oppression.   In the United States, before the great rebellion,

       lie would have been one of the foremost engaged io the fc^cible rescue of negro slaves, and their concealinent from pursuing masters. The act, however benevolent, was neither prudent nor legal in Van Diemen's Land.

       It was about this year that Mr. Fawkner began to figure as a gtcasi  lawyer, in that aboriginal period when barristers were unknown, and when any man possessed of the  gift,  with suflS-cient self-confidence, waa permitted to plead for another in the lower court, or, as it was then called, the  Little Go.  Such individuals were truly  Btcsh lawyers,  and were not unfrequently able, by their astuteness and pertinacity, to confound the magistrate with his weak legal knowledge. It was in consequence of Mr. Fawkner espousing the cause of a certain class, and the courage with which he bearded the very lion of oflScialdom, that he became a power with that class, and, consequently, a terror or loathing in the sight of others. Though the politics then may be styled purely domestic in character, and had no reference to mere State affairs, the two parties in the field were as distinctly marked as Liberals and Conservatives as at present; but with this simple difference, that one party was always in power, as the other was in humble opposition. Mr^ Fawkner's political education began, therefore, in theLaunceston  Little  &o, and his clients became his followers.

       Garry Owen has this sketch of the man in his later years, but with some reference to an earlier, saying:—"With an education of a very restricted kind, he was a voracious reader, devouring, but not digesting. He was glib of tongue, choleric in disposition; and it is, therefore, not much wonder to hear of his having practised as an advocate in the old public Court of Launceston, especially at a time when practitioners were scarce, and readiness and bounce answered just as well as law.''

       He at once became a public character. He was shrewd enough to perceive that a publican extends his trade by a public career, and that one who can talk is in no want of listeners if he speak at his own bar. Though never a drinking man himself, he recognised the enlarged sphere presented then, not less than now, by the occupation of a public-house. The  Cornwall Hotel took the place of the bakery and timber-yard, and gave facilities for his practice in the court, as his wife conducted business in his absence.    He was, however, driven for a while from that

       post through the opposition of the magistrate, whom he had known of old; or, as he put it himself, " compelled to remove from the  Cornwall Hotel  through the influence of Messrs. Gordon and Co." But he regained his stand, and was the landlord of the  Cornwall  at the time of Batman's expedition to Port Phillip.    He appears to have opened it in 1826.

       But he desired an increase of power, a means not only to defend himself and his clients, but to carry the war into the enemy's camp. A rival newspaper would afford the fitting opportunity. The  Launceston Advertiser  in his hands became a thorn in the side of his social opponents.

       As the conductor of a paper, while conductor of a public-house, he increased his chances as conductor of suits in court. The plans were well laid, and well worked, excepting where they suffered from the importunity and violence of the conductor. But his foes lost no opportunity of attack in the columns of the Conservative sheet, the organ of the free and oflficial party. The  Cornwall Press,  afterwards known as the  Cornwall Chronicle, was the rival of the  Ta^smanian Advertiser,  subsequently the Lauruieston Advertiser,  in Mr. Fawkner's hands.

       The first appearance of the northern luminary was mild enough aa it shone forth on Monday, February 9th, 1829. The introduction was as follows:—

       ^*  Labouring under numerous disadvantages, we feel exceeding diflSdence in introducing to the public this (our first) number of the  Launceston Advertiser;  but when we consider that time alone can surmount the difficulties, and that these difficulties will be allowed for,jand considered, by a generous and discerning public, we confess we feel our confidence encouraged.

       " Harmony is the motto of the  Launceston Advertiser,  whose pages shall never be prostrated by scurrility, calunmy, sycophancy, or disaffection; nor shall they be made the vehicle of slander, malice, and party feeling."

       Alas I for poor human nature, these virtuous resolutions were soon broken, and the reign of peace came to an untimely end. Did one want a little excitement or diversion, that might be found in the mutual recriminations of the rival papers of that ancient town of Launceston. It must have been pleasant for any one to read of himself in the  ComvHill Press  of May, 1829, such gentle expressions as "Addlepated upstart—a garrulous

       maligner—five feet two inches and a quarter—whip-deserving impudence—as a moral pestilence must be checked," &c.

       But the  Advertiser  was equal to the occasion. The language was unmistakably after the style of the man. It waa slightly personal in reply, as the other was personal in attack. " Do you remember," said Fawkner, " the pleader in the Lieutenant-Governor s Court who advertised to be sold at the Albion Hotel lollipops, buirs-eyes, barley-sugar, and kisses ? By the bye, the five feet two and a quarter man says he would thank you to call and pay the wine bill you run up some three months ago; so, we beUeve, would other landlords." Again: " About talent and the  Little Go.  Oh, no; it was not personal to point out a man as 5 feet 2J inches high, and that he does not well to ride. No—oh, no; nothing that a religious man does can be amiss."

       One consequence of this paper warfare was that he lost his licence.    To this he replied in his paper:—

       " The proprietor has been only once fined during the three years he had a licence, while several of those who are now licensed have been very repeatedly fined. It is only owing to independence of spirit.   We know who has been working the

       puppet wires; the  who lives at the   has been offended,

       and it was spoken of by one of that a month back, that

       Fawkner should lose his licence." He himself said that it was because he refused to swear to a pair of trousers thought to have been stolen. His newspaper said " compelled to remove from the Cornwall Hotel through the influence of Messrs. Gordon and Co."

       The advertisement of his business in the  Advertiser  was as follows:—

       "Fawkner's Hotel, Cameron Street. —The proprietor returns his sincere thanks to his friends and the public for the support he has received (since unforeseen circumstances have occasioned him to re-open), and pledges himself to furnish to all those who may favour him with their custom the very best accommodation both of bed and board, and at the lowest possible cates," &c.

       But another advertisement is more likely to be from his own pen:—

       '* Fawkner's Circulating Library Books teach us to * see ourselves as others see us.' Lists, History, Opie's and Mrs. Rad-cliffe's novels; Smollett's  Dance of Death, Blossom of Anecdote,  &c."

       This is a new departure, as satis^eu^tory as unexpected. To realise Mr. Fawkner's love of books, we must pass in review his own peculiar and chequered career, as sawyer, baker, &c., and remember the dark times  ol  the colony in his day, when few cared to read, and few indeed were the books to be read. His was eminently a mind as progressive as it was ardent. Unsatisfied with his own position, unsatisfied with circumstances around him, he was not content with expressions of regret or annoyance, but strove in himself, as well as in society around, to correct and improve. Even in his recently assumed profession, as a pleader in the  Little Qo,  he resolved to fit himself the better to conduct his cases, and applied himself to the study of history and political economy. little^ then^ did he expect that such rude culture was the first step to his occupying the important post of Senator in the Parliament of Victoria.

       But one advertisement, on May 18th, 1829, is too remarkable to be omitted :-^

       "John Fawkner, jun., begs to inform his Friends and the Public that any person having French books which they do not understand, that he will translate any difficult passage for them, on Thursdays each week, he having a good knowledge of that language."

       To recover possession of his public-house he had to eat humble pie; and on June 7th, 1830, publicly read in court an apology for some reflections upon the magisterial conduct of Mr. Gtordon. Among other remarks are these words: " I have never ceased to admire the patient and impartial manner in which your Honour," &c. It was while he was a sawyer down the Tamar, on the northern side of the island, that he first engaged as a rum^seller; and he continued to keep the Cornwall Hotel  of Launceston till his arrival in Port Phillip, when he opened the first spirit-house of that new settlement. Although his attacks on the magisterial bench made him fresh enemies among the officials, and repeated attempts were made to implicate him as a  fence,  with his house as a receiving one for certain goods, he managed successfully to maintain his ground.

       His connection with the  Launceston Advertiser  ceased about 1832,   when it was disposed of  to the much-respected Mr.

       u

       Dowling, son of the popular minister of Launeeston. Under the new management a different system was pnnued, and the paper rose accordingly in public eBtimation» excepting with the eocpirie  class. Boss's  Vcm DiemevCs Land Almcmac  for 1832 had this announcement : " The  Zcmneeston Advertiser  has changed hands from Mr. Fawkner to Mr. DowliDg, and from the respectable manner in which it is conducted is daily increasing in favour/' In 1832 Mr. Fawkner started one of the earliest coaches which ran between Perth and Launeeston. He ceased to be a pleader in the  LUtle Oo,  or court of suits under 10/., as soon as genuine jdeaders arrived in the colony > when irr^ular gentlemen were excluded as advocates.

       The active brain of the landlord of the  Camwall  was much exercised in politics, and he took an active part in all movements to secure trial by juiy, freedom of the press, and representative government. As it was from Launeeston that Mr. Henty and his sons arranged to form a whaling establishment at Portland Bay, Mr. Fawkner was led to take an interest in exploration and settlement. He says that in that year, 1834, he had himself contemplated a trip to the opposite shore, longing to see the place where he sojourned for a few months when a boy, and which he, in common with many in that expedition, believed to be a better country than Qovemor Collins supposed, and superior to the island to which he had removed the camp.

       In poUtics he took what we in this day would call the "Badical** side. Some attributed to him revolutionary ideas. But the oppression of one class in his day, the contumely and even cruelty with which tiiey were sometimes treated, together with the exclusion of even free settlers from any share in the government, then monopolised by a few officials, would be quite enough to produce dissatis£eu;tion in men of more placid temper than Mr. Fawkner. He derided the scheme carried out by Governor Arthur to inclose the warlike Tasmanian Blacks in a net by a cordon of troops and constables, predicting its certain failure. He bitterly inveighed against the harsh Press laws, and the one-sided administration of justice. Thorn in the way as he was, his usefulness cannot be disputed. Bough modes of action seem necessaiy in rough times, while gentleness and refinement are' not to be expected in a Thor-Uke hammerer at gross public abuses.

       Though slight in figure, and in stature styled " 5 feet 2J/' with a countenance more indicative of shrewdness than power, there was in the man a native energy that made him rise superior to all assaults, endure all sneers, quail at no difficulty, and that thrust him ever foremost in the strife, happy in the war of words and the clash of tongues.

       The year before his removal to Port Phillip he was one of the busiest men in the island. He did something with trading and coasting craft, ran a daily coach firom Launceston to Norfolk Plains, opened a horticultural establishment, and was carrier, farmer, hotel-keeper, general commission agent, public auctioneer, bookseller, and chief local politician. But the following advertisement, appearing in the Launceston paper of October 2nd, 1834, reveals him in another character. Although the composition was not all his own, some individualities appear that could only come firom his suggestions:—

       "Artium Pecciano.

       " This Theatre of Arts, which has been for some time in preparation, will shortly be opened to the Public At the Cornwall Assembly Room.

       " This delightful, entertaining, and strictly moral amusement will be well calculated to delight ALL from  Childhood to Decrepit Age,  and is very particulariy recommended to the notice of those families whose  religious  tenets forbid their participation in the  Amusements  of the  Stage.

       ** The scenery will consist of choice selections from  La BdU ItcUie,  and other celebrated places.

       *'  The mechanical arrangements will put in motion vessels, troops, processions, &c., which movements will be accompanied by choice and appropriate music.

       " Artiste and leader of the band— "Mr. Geo. Peck.

       "  This will open a new Era in the bright page of the History of Tasmania.

       "John Fawkner, Jun."

       In  that same year, 1834, and in the month of February, appeared the following notice in the paper, showing that his new occupations as auctioneer and showman had not closed his book store:—

       "  Fawkner's Circulating Library.— -J. F. takes an early opportunity to inform his friends and the public that, in addition
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       to the large stock of novels formerly advertised, a choice selection of novels and standard works nave been added to his library/'

       The year 1835 saw the busy man busier than ever. But the sphere was too narrow for his impetuous spirit. He had outgrown the place and its surroundings. He had, beyond any man of his day, burst through barriers of a most formidable social nature. He had outlived a peculiar past. By removal to Launceston he had partially emancipated himself, and entered upon a more useful as well as extended course of action. He had read, as well as talked; thought, as well as worked. Ho felt himself hide-bound in Van Diemen's Land society; he could never take such a position as his ambition prompted, and as his consciousness of power indicated. It was the necessity of removal from old haunts and old associations that operated privately in his scheme of colonising Port Phillip, Western Port, or any other port, so that he got away from the ports of Van Diemens Land. On July 30th, he advertised that he would pay no accounts except " through Mrs. Fawkner of the Cornwall Hotel." On the third of September appeared this notice:  "  To be let, with immediate possession, garden and orchard, the property of Mr. J. Fawkner, situate in Brisbane Street."

       The details of his adventures to Port Phillip and in it are to be seen elsewhere. We have followed him from his youth till his arrival within the Heads in 1835, when he was forty-three years of age. It is not our purpose to follow him further, except to record his ascending movement in society, in spite of every obstacle, till he had reached the goal of his noble ambition, and become a legislator of the colony in which he originally landed under such different circumstances. He aimed at being the Tribune of the People. He entered the portals of the Legislature as an extreme Radical. When seated in the Upper Council, he preferred to exhibit himself as the Conservative. It is more agreeable to trace him as a friend of literature, as the collector of a splendid library, and as the distributor of thousands of volumes to local libraries.

       He married long before he came to Port Phillip, and his widow, respected for her domestic virtues, still survives him. No

       child ever blessed the union. Mr. Fawkner slept in peace, September 4th, 1869, and his remains were followed to the grave by a multitude of his fellow colonists. The following description of him in declining life is from the author's  John JScUman, the FouTider of Victoria  :—

       "He is small of stature, and extremely attenuated inform. Bowed with years, oppressed with a cough, with a few white hairs drooping from beneath his skull-cap, he has that aspect of feebleness and age which commands at once the reverential respect of the spectator, and the patient attention of the listener to his weak and struggling speech. It is only when some remembrance of ancient wrongs comes up, or the narrative runs into the personal of his former rivals, that his dull eye quickens into something of its olden flash of fire, and his voice rises as if to emulate the vehemence which marked his early oratory. The infirmities of a frame in its seventy-fifth year soon reduce his enthusiasm, and lower his tone to whispering weakness. The distressing cough which follows increases the sympathy of his auditors, and ears are brought forward with more watchful care to catch the notes, so precious do they seem.''

       The portrait herewith presented, by favour of Mr. Westgarth, is an admirable likeness, and is worthily executed. His signature has the never-forgotten intimation that he was both a Justice of the Peace and a Member of the Legislative Council in Victoria.

       CHAPTER Xni.

       FAWENER   ON   THE   TARRA   TARRA.

       While  some are of opinion that, until Batman had succeeded in his expedition, the others had no thought of the enterprise, Mr. Fawkner claims credit for the indulgence of the idea a good time before. It is true that the statement was made thirty-odd years after, and may be a little out in its dates. The man who could so confidently exclaim, "The city of Melbourne I founded,'' might be excused writing, in relation to the delay in the arrival of his vessel from Sydney,  '*  and thus the settlement of Port Phillip was retarded some weeks." In the  Digger's Advocate,  1858, he thus wrote :—

       "Early in the year 1835, the writer of these pages had arranged in his own mind a plan of colonization for Port Phillip, and to enable him to make good his scheme, five residents of Launceston were taken into his confidence. What strange events are brought about by small means, and from what a mixed society of honourable men was this project carried into operation. The colonizers were six in number: one ex-editor of the  Laimceston Advertiser,  J. P. F., one architect and builder, two cabinet-makers and builders, one plasterer, and one captain in the merchant service ; the most of them possessing at least a fair average share of common sense, and no little activity. Each of them brought with them some capital, in cash or stock, and a vast amount of the very best of capital, that without which no new colony can get on well, viz., hands used to work, and minds resolved to labour. J. P. Fawkner, in order to insure the necessary means of transit to and from Port PhilUp and Launceston, bought of Mr. John Anderson Brown the schooner  Enterprise, of about fifty-five tons burden; but Mr. B. s agent had employed that vessel, which had been sent to fetch coals from Newcastle, in the regular coal trade between Sydney and the coal-mines of

       Newcastle, and thus the settlement of Port Phillip was retarded some weeks.

       " On the 13th of July, 1835, the schooner  Enterprise  returned from Sydney, and on the 18th was duly delivered to J. P. Fawk-ner. On the 21st she was despatched from Launceston with the pioneers to form a new colony in New South Wales.

       "No time had been lost in procuring provisions, a good whale-boat and its fittings, and all sudbi thmgs as J. P. Fawkner thought might be usefrd or required in a place which few vessels visited. He particularly furnished common coarse food and clothing, togedier with blankets and tomahawks, knives and handkeichiefe, suitable for the aborigines, which were afterwards found very useful Hcurses and ploughs, grain to sow, garden seeds and plants, and a very laffge and varied assortment of fruit-trees, 2,500 in number, were shif^ped on board, and a stock of provisions to last some months, part of the materials for a house, and most of the comforts required in civilized life.

       "On the 27th, tiie  Enterprise  put to sea from George Town, the port of clearance, having on board Messrs. Wm. Jackson, Qeo. Evans, Robert Hay Moor, Captain John Lancey, and John Pascoe Fawkner. Mr. G. Evans took over one servant, and J. P. Fawkner put on board James Gilbert, blacksmith, and his wife Mary, Charles Wise, ploughman, and Thomas Morgan, general servant.

       " The voyagers passed out with a fair wind, but a foul one soon set in, and for three nights and two days contrary weather kept the vessel almost within sight of George Town Heads. J. P. Fawkner became very ill from sea-sickness and other causes, and ordered the captain to return to George Town. He then resolved to let the expedition go on, he giving them full written instructions to guide and direct their plan of operations ; and landing one of his horses at George Town, J. P. F. proceeded overland to Launceston, and the  Enterprise  passed over to Western Port, followed by a sloop, in which Mr. John Aitken embarked without a navigator, merely keeping up with the Enterprise,  which, from her slowness, was no ereat difficulty. Mr. John Aitken had been lying perdue, in order to slip over with our party ¥dthout our knowledge. This Western Port was to be carefully examined by a series of triangular msurches each day, the Bay forming the base, and ten nules or more was the distance they were to march inland, returning from four to five miles further west, or nearer the West Head, until the whole Bay was examined. They entered Western Port on Saturday, the 8th day of August, and left it and passed into Port PhiUip on Saturday, the 15th day of August. One out of many bits of fun was often talked over in the Western Port exploration.   The weather was very cold, and much rain had

       fallen, many swamps had to be erossed, and on one occasion the party had got very wet ashore, and when they pushed oflF the boat, so thick a fog came on that the sailors missed their true course and got on a sand flat. Imagine six men, no food, no bedding, hungry from a hard day's travel, and obliged to sit all night in a cold fog and wet clothes. One of the party, a cockney, bitterly lamented in a most droll manner the sorrow he felt for having suflfered his brother to drag him from London; and putting up his hands in an imploring manner, earnestly prayed that he might once more reach Whitechapel, and nothing on earth should ever tempt him to leave that glorious spot again. Yet this man has, in defiance of bad management, made a fortune—and that a large one—^by squatting piirsuits.

       " After carefully examining the lands around Western Port, and giving them up as not likely to form a good site for any very dense population, the  Enterprise  pushed out of Western Port on Saturday, the 15th day of August, about 8 o'clock A.M. On pEissing the Duck-ponds, near Shortland Bluff, a whale-boat, manned with some Sydney aborigines and one white man, came off, and asked * the news—^where from—^and whereto,' and told our people that Mr. John Batman, KING of Port Phillip, had bought all the lands, and desired ALL  trespassers to keep ALOOF} The blacks were civil enough, and supplied our people with plenty of good choice fish. The  Enterprise  was conducted by Captain Hunter, as master of the vessel, along the southern <;hannel, and the men landed each day to examine the country, from five to ten miles inland, the vessel only moving a short distance until they returned on board, and pushing a few miles further by night in order to examine new lands the next day. No eUgible spot was found on the east side of Port Phillip Bay. The directions were not to finally settle down, except upon a river, or copious supply of fresh water. On Thursday, the 20th, the  Enterprise  came to anchor in Hobson's Bay, just clear of the bar upon the channel to the Yarra Yarra; and the new colonists, Messrs. B. H. Moor, Qeorge Evans, W. Jackson, and Captain Lancey, putting some provender into the five-oared whale-boat brought for the occasion, on Friday, the 21st of August, pushed off with two of the workmen to explore the inlet. In fact, they all, except Captain Hunter^ master of the Enterprise,  doubted as to that being the debouchment of any stream. But he found it on his chart, and advised their trying to find what he was sure they would—^a fresh-water river* With three cheersrfrom the crew for success to the adventurers, they pushed off, and after once or twice touching on the mud flats, they found plenty of deep water, and pushed on joyftiUy and thoughtlessly, passed the junction of the Yarra Yarra without much notice, and went up the direct course, named by

       thorn the Salt Water River, because they could not get up it far enough to find the stream fresh, owing to the vast number of &llen trees lying in the water, which so obstructed the naviga* tion, that after much labour they landed, and could not then discover the fresh water, the place that they landed at not allowing them to see the course of the stream. They returned to the vessel exhausted and fretful, having been most of the day without water to drink, they having on all former occasions found plenty of that element on shore. Mind, this was in August, the wet season.

       ^' The next  dsLj  they took water as well as food, and pushed up the Yarra x arra, having noticed the opening thereto on their return from the Salt Water stream; and, after about an hour and quarter's pull, they reached with great joy the basin at Melbourne, and were delighted, in fact, half wild with exultation, at the beauty of the country. The velvet-like grass carpet, decked with flowers of most lively hues, most liberally spread over the land, the fresh water, the fine lowlands, and lovely knolls around the lagoons on the flat or swamps, the flocks, almost innumerable, of teal, ducks, geese, and swans, and minor fowls, filled them with joy. They all with one voice agreed that they had arrived at the site of the new Settlement, and resolved to have the vessel brought up if possible, the goods, stores, &c., landed, and the commencement of a town forthwith made. They took a stand upon what was subsequently called Batman's Hill, and passed some hours there, and thereabout, enjoying the novel and extraordinary view before them. They were so pleased with the country, that they made it night before they returned to the vessel, which was lying opposite to William's Town (that now is), near the bar entrance to the Yarra Yarra River. Captain Hunter having been diligently employed these two days with his crew sounding the way up, it took some time to provide poles and fix them on the various shoals in the stream, now marked by large buoys and strong beacons (but then markless); and all this accomplished, the vessel was, with much trouble, got up to the so-called junction, and the next day a fair wind drove the lucky  Enterprise  up into the basin at Melbourne; the captain reporting three fathoms all the way up, and in one part of the basin seven and a half fathoms of water, viz., from the junction up and into the basin.

       " No time was lost, although it was Sunday, in getting the vessel close to the bank, at the very spot now occupied by the old shed of the Customs department, and some timber had to be cut from the overhanging trees to allow the vessel to lie alongside the bank; from a plank the people landed, and the horses, having been nearly six weeks aboard, were hoisted out and landed, very much to their satisfaction; the fine young green

       grass and flowering herbage appearing to gratify tlieir palates, and their gambols evincing their delight at being released from «hipboard, with its unsteady evils and close confinement. There  the  master and crew of the  Enterprise  joined the adventurers in their undisguised joy at the success that after several week^ arduous exertion seemed likely to reward, ay, well reward, their joint labours. It may not be out of place here to remark that Captain Hunter all through looked upon the attempt to form a new settlement as a wild-goose chase. The fine fertile fields, the open flowery and grassy knolls and downs, and the indescribable charms wiuch the country, at first sight, around Melbourne displayed, riveted almost every visitor's attention, until man's hand had despoiled nature of her pristine features. The poet has said,  '  Beauty unadorned is loveliest' And this then could truly be said of tibe country around (what is now caUed) Melbourne.

       " Kangaroo dogs had been provided by J. P. Fawkner, and the first day of landing a fine boomer was started not many yards from the vessel, driven into the river, just above the site of the Prince's Bridge, killed and taken to the vessel The river, above the Falls, was most odoriferous with the scent ot the wattle blossom, which added also to the beauty of the scenery. Monday, the 31st of August—^nothing done. The next day, Tuesday, September 1st, 1835, the goods were put ashore, and a hut soon made to cover them, and a sleeping nut for the adventurers that were to remain. On Wednesday, late in the evening, Mr. John Hilder Wedge, a V. D. Land Surveyor, came to Melbourne, brought by the blacks in a whale-boat Mr. Batman had left at Indented Head. Strange to say, that, although he only came thirty miles and must have known that he would have to return, he trusted to our people's hospitality to feed him there and find him food for his return voys^, although he made the trip in order to warn off our party. He was also guilty of something very like double-dealing; he got into conversation with Captain Lancey, who had charge from J. P. Fawkner of the direction of all matters on land concerning the adventure, pumping (as it is called) him of all the occurrences of the trip, and stating that he was only out overlooking the country, that he was not interested, &c., &c. Although he was one of the greedy seventeen, he kept up this tone all the afternoon and the next day, until he had got a supply of food wherewith to return to the Indented Hecul, and then he changed his tone, told Captain Lancey and the other colonists that he had come expressly to warn them off, as the whole of the lands of Port Phillip had been bought and paid for by him and his co-associates (and a pretty medley lot they were), and .finished by handing over to Captain Lancey a written order for

       him and all his party to leave their (the Company's) landed estate. Captain Lancey handed the paper back to J. H. W., telling him he might want such a piece for some necessary occasion, which would be the full worth of such a notice, not forgetting to tell him of the change in his story of the morning from the one at night, taunting him with his two-faced dealing.

       "The land having been selected close to Mr. Langland's foundry for the garden, and also to put in a few acres of wheat, .on Tuesday the first plough was put into the earth, and on the 8th of September five acres of wheat were sown, partly on and around Mr. Langland's foundry, and a garden commenced between that and the hill known as Batman's Hill, upon which hill our people first pitched their tent on the 30th of August, 1835, and which was not removed until J. P. Fawkner came over in October, 1835, when he fixed to dwell nearer the Fall, and put up his house exactly at the reckr of the Custom House.

       ''The ploughing was performed by horse labour, and the plouehman was Geoige Wiae, one of the sons of Mr. Richard Wise, of Norfolk Plains, who was engaged to J. P. Fawkner for one year's service, as general farm-servant, at  251.  a year.

       " It had been agreed that each person of the six associates should have a plot of land, on which to build and make a garden, and grow com on, and that if it was found that the Government would not allow the whites to buy and hold land under title obtained from the aborigines, it was thought no reasonable British Oovemment would refuse to the first  bond fide  settlers a plot of land on which they might grow food for themselves and dependents. This expectation, as the reader will find, was one very wide of the mark, when Sir Richard Bourke took possession of our discovery, made at the risk of life, and at a cost of money few people are aware of.

       " The small lots agreed upon were measured oflF, simply ten acres for each of the six. Contrast this with the squatting fraternity, pushed over under the auspices of Lieutenant-Governor Arthur, in which his nephew, if not himself, had one share, and many of his officers  sAso  shared amongst them the fine fertile fields of Australia Felix. The writer cannot but own that he loves that name or title far more than the common hackneyed one of * Victoria.' The lands having been roughly measured ofiP, lots were drawn, and on the lands which fell to J. P. Fawkner's share the ground was ploughed and sown with wheat, and a garden dug, phmts put in, seeds sown, and the fruit trees planted in the soil. Tuesday, the 1st of September, the loading of the vessel was safely placed on shore, and whilst some were labouring on this work, others were preparing a hut, and on Wednesday, the 2nd of September, all hanos were employed getting and carrying grass, and storing a store hut.   September

       3rd, the  Enterprise,  in passing out of the basin, got too close to the south bank and took the ground, but soon got clear. Next day, 4th, dropt down to a point below the junction and took in baUast Friday, the 6th September, at 2 A.M., the  Enterprise  left the Yarra Yarra, and J. P. Fawkner*s servants, and also Mr. George Evans, and his man Evan Evans, remained there. Messrs. W. Jackson and Robert Henry Moor returned to Launceston per the  Enterprise,  and on Sunday, the 7th September, at 4  p.m., the pilot came on board and safely conducted the vessel to anchorage at George Town, River Tamar."

       Another version, in 1868, ran thus:—

       "During March and April I searched out and found five persons in Launceston willing to venture across with me  as their guide.  Their names and occupations were as follows:—First, John Lancey, pilot (dead), had commanded one of the whaling vessels; second, Robert Hay Marr (left the colony), carpenter and builder; third, Samuel Jackson, architect and builder (be is a squatter of large means and is with his brother); fourth, William Jackson, also a carpenter; and fifth, Greorge Evans, plasterer, now residing in Melbourne.

       " As soon as these men had agreed to join me, I desired ray broker, Mr. John Charles Underwood, of Launceston, to purchase for me a vessel, not to exceed a fixed sum, wherewith to transport over the Straits our goods, persons, and stock, and all thiugs required for us  to form a new colony.  The broker did contract for a schooner, of fifty-five tons, with a Mr. John Anderson Brown, of Launceston. The vessel was then at Sydney, employed carrying coals from Newcastle to Sydney, and Mr. J. A. brown directed the vessel to be sent immediately to Launceston. But his Sydnev agent had, before the order arrived, entered into a contract to aeliver a certain quantity of coal at Sydney, and thus the vessel was delayed of delivery until July 18th, 1835. Thus our voyage was delayed, and in the latter end of April it ' was rumoured that Messrs. Joseph Tice Gellibrand, Ex-Attorney General of Van Diemen's Land, and thirteen others, had agreed to settle upon a large portion of land in the neighbourhood of Fort PhiUip, and on the Bay side, on a plea that before this it had been adopted in New Zealand by Messrs. Wentworth and others, namely, to buy the land nominally from the sable aborigines, and to get them to sign a deed of grant in a language they were perfectly ignorant of, and for a paltry consideration." He added, ''I took with me Thomas Morgan, shoemaker; Charles Wise, ploughman; James Gilbert, horseshoer and general blacksmith, and his wife, as servant of all work."

       In another account he wrot« for the  Age,  August 31st, he said, " As there are many colonists unaware of the first settlement at Melbourne, I beg of you to publish the following account:—Having resolved to attempt to form a settlement at Port Phillip when I was residing at Launceston in 1835," &c. "In March, 1835,1 purchased the  Enterprise  schooner to convey me and five friends who consented to venture over the Straits to found a new colony."

       The Fawkner's party, so-called, was more for the inspection of the new country than for a permanent settlement, as Batman and his friends intended. While the one man assumed the credit of the whole undertaking, his companions were not prepared to grant his claims. He speaks too much in their name, as the representative person, and implies their inferiority to himself. Venturing, in his rather too common forgetfulness of facts, after the lapse of so many years, and from his habit of not forgetting himself, to give this impression, he was a little rudely taken to task by the daughter of one of his partners in the expedition. The letter is addressed to the Melbourne Serald: —

       " In reference to a paragraph which appeared in your issue of yesterday, purporting to be from a correspondent about the ' oldest inhabitant,' it is stated that my father, Mr. George Evans (who from long illness is unable to reply), was the  employee  of Mr. Fawkner. I beg, on the part of my father, to contradict the statement. My father came here on his own resources. He paid his own passage, and that of his servant. Even Even* He was in every way better able to employ Mr. Fawkner than Mr. Fawkner him. Although chance had thrown Mr. Fawkner at the Heads some sixty years ago, nearly contemporary with that

       Esriod was my father fighting the battles of his country, under ord Nelson, at Copenhagen. I only wish, Mr. Editor, that some patriotic member of the Assembly would move for a Select Committee to inquire into the early settlement of Victoria. It would then be seen what part each took in colonizing Port Phillip. Apart from the individual interest, it would be a great matter to future Victorians that such an inquiry should take place, as they would have a datum to go by in arriving at the first settlement of the colony. I have the honour to be. Sir, your most obedient servant,

       "Mary Ann Evans.

       "Royal Oak Hotel, Queen Stbeet, 25th September,  1868."

       Mr. Fawkner contradicts himself about the Fawkner Association. The ordinary story of settlement he told was after this style:—

       "The second attempt was made by six individuals, not Government oflScers, carried out at their own cost, they not drawing one shilling from the public treasury. I am one of that six, and the success of our efforts can be seen by every colonist present this day."

       Here there is a complete ignoring of Batman's party, who had settled in the country some time before he set his foot on the banks of the Yarra. But, after giving credit to the whole party, he finds occasion still further to exalt himself at the expense of the rest, quite forgetting what he had said about the Company organization, and speaking both unkindly and unjustly of the rest.    In the  Argus  of 1868, we read:—

       •* I sought out some friends to  come with me  in 1835, and five persons agreed to help to found the new colony. Their names were Robert Hay Marr, William Jackson, Samuel Jackson, Captain John Lancey, and George Evans.  They ail deserted ms. Some went away, and the others took to sheep farming, and I alone remained to found the famous city of Melbourne.'

       This implies a subordination on the part of the others, and the repudiation of their agreement to stay with him. Elsewhere he states,'' We had agreed to plot out sixty acres amongst the six adventurers," One of the party, however, Mr. Samuel Jackson, upon seeing the account, wrote from England, December 2nd, 1868, to object to certain statements. He declares that the so-called party broke up  before  Mr. Fawkner went to Port Phillip.   After they, said he—

       "Had satisfied themselves as to the capabilities of the country, the whole of the Fawkner party returned in the Enterprise  to Launceston. There this party was  Iroken up,  and it was purely on the favourable account the party gave of the country on their return from Port Phillip which induced Fawkner some time afterwards to go over; but that was not until the party had been mutually dissolved, so that each one was left to choose his friture line of action in reference to revisiting the discovered land."

       The assertion of Mr. Fawkner that his party of six had settled the country is thus shown by one of the party to arise

       from a lapse of memory. The Launceston company of six agreed to explore; but^ by dissolving their company, they ceased to co-operate in the settlement, each man taking what part he pleased in such a work. Had they been a Company, how could the members of it be said to desert Mr. Fawkner ? B!ad the five been his servants, entreated to abide with him, their desertion might appropriately enough have called forth his displeasure. As it happened, they were neither his co-operators nor his  employes,  Mr. Jackson, who occupied a not unimportant social position, was unwilling to submit to this assertion, and thus replied :—

       " If what I have stated be facts, it is rather too much for the first pioneers of this party to rest quietly under the accusation of deserters, more especially when the charge comes from the only man of the party who at the very outset (on account of the roughish sea) left the rest to do the best they mieht, and face those dangers he evidently was afraid o£ Now I challenge J. P. Fawkner on oath to declare that he was with the party, viz., W. Jackson, G. Evans, R. H. Marr, and Lancey, at the time they first entered the Heads of Port Phillip Bay, landed on its shores, and made their way to the site of the present Melbourne. Therefore, with all his braggadocio, he can never justly claim a share in the dangers and hs^ships the first pioneers encountered, and to whom the credit of first landing is alone due ; and as to desertion of party, I think the right saddle is on the right horse when he bears it."

       It is not true, as some have reported, that Mr. Fawkner and his friends had not thought about the matter till after Batman letumed firom his trip in May. They had come to an agi*ee-ment before. It was no secret about the association of Batman and others. The writer had the impression from several old Taananian colonists that the contemplated expedition was the^ subject of common talk a long time even before matters were matured for Batman's venture. Batman himself had never ceased, from the time Mr. QeUibrand and he applied for the right of settling on that coast in 1827, to speak of the scheme, and plot for its accomplishment. The completion of the Association's arrangements would certainly set others on the qui vive.  Some, like Mr. Fawkner, paraded their intentions to go over; others, like Mr. Aiken and many more, kept their own counsel, and departed with less ostentation.   An advertisement

       in the  Lawnceston Advertiser,  May 21st, not long afber Batman left for Port Phillip, settles the question of an early resolution on the part of Fawkner*s friends:— -

       " The  Enterprise,  daily expected from Sydney, will be immediately laid on for New Holland, to convey an exploring party of gentlemen to the ' New Coimtry.'"

       This party consisted of six persons, though one was declared to have originated the plan, and arranged for the vessel. " The five adventurers," says Mr. Fawkner in a letter to the  Leader, *'  agreed to give me seven pounds each, to pay for a whale-boat bought of the captain of the  Sally Anne  schooner, and to find them in provisions for the voyage. The boat, oars and sail, cost 23/» Thus I only got 12/. to find food for those adventurers. The four shareholders, and George Evans's man, had victuals from 18th July to 6th September, for seven weeks."

       The notice of departure in the  Launceston Advertiser  states that the  Enterprise,  Hunter, Master, would sail July 2l8t The passengers mentioned were: J. Fawkner, jun., J^ H. Lancey, Geo. Evans, W. Jackson^ R. H. Marr, Chas. Wise, E; Evans, Wm. Gilbert, Jas. Gilbert, Mary Gilbert, Thomas Morgan, Chas. EobertSm It is added, " A quantity of stores and agricultural implements."

       This has points of piuch interest. Though those who went over a week after the announced time were not precisely those named, they were mainly so. It is clear that some, at least, of the number intended permanent settlement, as stories and agricultural implements are mentioned as a portion of the intended cargo. Mr. Fawkner claims the merit of being the owner of the farming tools, and asserts that he sent over two servants to prepare land for seeds. The first trip of the vessel was not, therefore, a mere trial one, but a  hondjide  venture, with a view to occupation of country somewhere on the south coast of New Holland,

       But the leading spirit was not one of the voyagers across the stormy strait, Fawkner quailed before the perils of the deep; these were no trifles, even in the case of Batman, so long buffeted and beaten back by the breezes oflf the north shores of Van Diemen's Land,    Much merriment has been made over

       that sea-sickness, \s'hich compelled our hero to take the un-Jonah part of fleeing from the ship. He gives the following account of the start, claiming, as usual, the whole merit of the proceedings:—

       " I found myself too unwell to venture to sea again, so I landed one of my horses, and, after writing full instructions for the guidance of the members of the Association, reading over and explaining them, I put the land party and instructions under the charge of Captain John Lancey, one of the six associates, directing them  to visit Western Port first,  laying down rules for their guidance on each day's exploration, and insisting that a permanent stream of good water was a  sine quA non,  that no safe settlement could be supplied otherwise."

       One of the most extraordinary circumstances in connection with Mr. Fawkner s boasted settlement of Port Phillip is that he had no clear notions about anything of the kind. He was just then friendly with Batman, recognised his claim as first in the field, believed in the Association, had no intention to dispute their rights of purchase, and was not prepared to invade their territories. It is certain that, by his own acknowledgment in words, by his asserted directions, and by his acts, his mind was directed first and foremost to Western Port. Afterwards the party, failing there, might have a look at the neighbourhood of the old settlement of 1803, particularly the part near Arthur's Seat, of whose promising features he had spoken to the authot nearly thirty years ago.

       Several times he has told the public that he directed his party to go ta Western Port. It is declared that he contemplated doing there what Batman had done in Port Phillip— make an arrangement with the natives. Much as he afterwards thought proper to ridicule Batman's Treaty, he was prepared, on his own showing, to do the same. In fact, in one letter he confessed to his purchase of lands from the natives. If, then, Mr. Fawkner sent his vessel to Western Port, and induced his companions to go- there, while he remained behind in Launceston, he would have been entitled to the credit of founding Western Port, had the enterprise succeeded there. But Messrs. Jackson, Evans, and Co. forsaking that place, and instituting inquiries elsewhere, would show that Mr. Fawkner had made a miscalculation.    Yet there was one other place he

       X

       wished to be examined—the eastern shore of Port PhiUip Bay, near Arthur s Seat.

       " The  Enterprise  was conducted by Captain Hunter, as master t>f the vessel, along the southern cbannel, and the men landed each day to examine the country from five to ten miles inland, the vessel only mooring a short distance until they returned on board, and pushing a few miles further by night, in order to examine new lands the next day.  No eligible spot was faiivd on the east side of Port Phillip Bay!*

       Now, this was the course followed by Mr. Grimes in 1803. But the triangulation of Western Port, after the well-known surveys of Captain Wetherall, Captain Hovell, and Mr. Oxley, was quite unnecessary. It was evidently an afterthought of the narrator, as those of the party were ignorant of any such instructions from him. Mr. Arden, of the  Australia Felix Gazette,  has another version, which he gave a very few years after the voyage, saying:— ^

    

  
    
       *' They first directed their course to Western Port; but as the natives there were not suflSciently obliging to meet the strangers, and sell them their right of property to the adjacent lands, and as the country and port were not so inviting as was expected, the  Enterprise  bore up for Port Phillip."

       Whatever credit, therefore, is due to the first location on the Yarra Yarra, nothing of it could be placed to Mr. Fawkner's account, as he gave directions only for Western Port and the east shore of Port Phillip, and as he was perfectly innocent of the movements of his friends after their departure from Launceston. The whole credit must be given to Messrs. Lancey, Marr, S. and W. Jackson, with G. Evans. They declined Western Port and Arthur's Seat, and they, on their own private responsibility, selected a place of which they had heard so good an account from Captain Robson as well aa Batman. It may be that they were less timid than Mr. Fawkner, more regardless of the terrors of Batman's Association, or determined to look to their own individual interests while ignoring their supposed patron.

       His reminiscences were given in lectures, 1862 and 1866, in CoUingwood, a suburb of Melbourne, where he resided. The author had the pleasure of hearing the interesting narrative, and the retailing of some pleasant stories of the past, although

       they were rather broad caricatures of persons. He went over the old story of his own great share in deeds. It was not quite correct of him to say, *' I came to try to prevent this being a squatting station/' nor that he placed his companions under the orders of Captain Lancey, as his representative. It was sad to hear him exclaim, after telling some damaging tales of the family, '* Where are the Batmans now ? All vanished from the face of the earth ! "

       It was more pleasant to hear him speak of going ashore at the old place where he landed in 1803; of the tribe of three hundred " brought to tomahawk us all" ; of the blacks coming on, with tomahawks under their  coats^  and spears in their toes; of his bringing two horses, two cows, and two calves; of his building his own chimneys; of his fencing in ten acres, &c. But he did not say then that he, like Batman, had bought land of a native chief in Melbourne, nor would he write, as he did to the  Sydney Colonist,  May 2, 1836, about " the spot selected by me, and purchased by me from the aborigines."

       Mr. Fawkner, on July 18th, 1856, in a criticism of the author's work on Port Phillip, wrote thus of Mr. Batman to the  Melbourne Herald: —

       " What did he do, or attempt to do ? He attempted to found a large squattocratic establishment. If Fawkner and others would have allowed Batman to rule, the colony would not have been settled, only squatter-seized. Fawkner invited all British subjects, and assisted many to settle. Batman only wanted land for himself, and Governor Arthur, and for the medley fourteen. Then Mr. Batman leaves on Indented Head the company's two or three men, and orders them to warn off all persons from  hia lands,  including the whole western side of Port Phillip Bay. One of his partners followed the  Enterprise  up to Melbourne, from Indented Head, and ordered off Captain Lancey and Fawkner's party, claiming this land as private property. Does this look like fostering or founding a new colony ?"

       At that time Mr. Fawkner was a Liberal, and espoused the anti-squatter side. He took another position afterwards. But he forgot that he had been a squatter himself. And had he succeeded at Western Port, it is probable his directions would have been given to warn off all intruders. It is not a little curious that all  of the  so-called   anti-squatter   Yarra party

       indulged in squatting practices, Mr. George E?ans assured the author that his sole intention, going on board the  Enterprise^ was to engage in sheep breeding. In Mr. Westgarth'a  AustrcUia Felix  Messrs. Fawkner, Evans, S. Jackson, and W. Jackson appear as squatters. Mr. Rusden writes:—" I once saw Fawkner s application for a licence  {squatiitig licence).  It was an amusing instance of the proverb,' The buyer saith it is nought I' He denounced the  Run  as scrubby and worthless. He may have been right in so doing, but he scarcely showed sympathy enough afterwards towards fellow suflerers.*' Arden's history, noting the warning oflF of the  EnterpHse  party by Mr. Wedge, adds: " The Messrs. Jackson, therefore, moved beyond the limits to which he laid claim, and sat down upon a tract of fine pastoral land, situated upon the Salt Water river, about twenty miles above its junction with the waters of the Yarra Yarra, and they still continue to occupy their original location.'

       In his letter to the  Leader,  Mr. Fawkner alludes to some subjects of his career, as:—

       " I sat down to form a new town ; went over to Tasmania to invite settlers; took the Blacks there to impress them with a knowledge of our numbers and power; and presented these men to the thjen Governor Sir George Arthur, and to Sir Alfred Stephen, now Chief Justice of Sydney. Batman ordered me oflF, and threatened to send his Sydney Blacks to drive me off. I replied ' Come and try your hand at it, and see how you will fere.' I thus opened the way for settlement I did more; I bought in 1837 five town lots—four at the first sale, and one at the second sale ; built upon them alL Bought largely of Crown lands; established a large garden and orchard, and found fruit trees to supply the wants of many hundreds of the colonists. I have done something for the colony within the last thirty years."

       When in his seventy-fourth year, he proudly recounted in the Herald  his deeds of the past, taking part in the opening of the Melbourne Exhibition of 1866.

       "After hearing the address of the committee read by Sir Francis Murphy," said he, "and the nervous, eloquent reply of His Excellency the Governor, my thoughts wandered back some thirty-one years, and I was struck with wonder if it could be all true that the last thirty-one years had done all that I then saw.    Exactly thirty-one years ago I was employed

       building for myself the first house erected in Melbourne. Some huts were erected in September by my man, and by the Grand Squatting Company's servants, under charge of Mr. Henry Batman, but these were only sod or turf huts. The whole population of Melbourne, or, in fact, of Port Phillip, then, October 1835, was only three of our party of six, who had agreed to settle at Port Phillip, viz., J. P. Fawkner, Captain John Lancey second, Mr. George Evans third, one man of Evans', and three men servants of mine, with the master and crew of my vessel, in all ten males; with Mrs. Fawkner and Mrs. Lancey, and Mary Gilbert, my blacksmith's wife, making in all thirteen males and three females; with Henry Batman, who had his wife, there were four European servants, and six Sydney Blacks, making a total of eighteen European males and four females; and some five children of Henry Batman's and J. Lancey, and six aboriginals, in all thirty-three souls. This one day repays me for many a hard battle I have had to fight to help forward the land of my adoption."

       Mr. George Evans, one of his party, assured us, in several interviews that we had with him, that he came over in Mr. Fawkner's vessel, though not under his orders. He was sitting at his glass in Fawkner's Launceston Hotel, when in came Batman, upon his return from Port Phillip. Throwing up his arms in the impulsiveness of his nature, John exclaimed, " I am the greatest landowner in the world." The whole story of the trip was then given to the landlord and his guests. Evans turned round and said, " Well, Fawkner, what do you say about going t« Port Phillip ?"

       Evans denies the story of the partnership, but admits that the blacksmith, who took a wife across, as well as Mr. Lancey, were engaged to act for Fawkner. The Messrs. Jackson and himself were not bound. The last words of the sick and returning Fawkner were, " Go on, my lads, do the best you can, but look out for fresh water." On the vessel reaching Western Port, the soil and grass were too bad to invite a stay. The party landed first in the whale-boat at the rocky point, now Williams Town, though going further up the Yarra in a search for fresh water. George and his man Evan Evans set about building the first house in the place. Marr, who had a public-house in Launceston, returned to look after his business, eventually proceeding to Europe. In the  Chili,  Evans brought sheep firom George Town,   and   began  squatting   like   Mr. Samuel

       JacksoD and his brother, though he found Mr. John Aitkin had got a flock here before him. While away on the trip, Fawkner's men had ploughed up and sown some land at the foot of Batman's HilL According to George, Fawkner accepted twenty pounds from Batman's Association, and retired from the northern to the southern side of the Tarra.

       This was admitting the Batman right to the land on the site of Melbourne. The author was told by Fawkner himself that he had a crop on the flat below Emerald Hill, on the south bank« It was there, too, he bought from the chief of that part a right to the soil, the same as Batman had for the land across the stream. "Batmania township," though a joke of the Chronicle,  on June 13th, 1835, was even then regarded as Batman's village, though four months before Fawkner's arrival. The Rev. J. T. Wood, the learned Australian historian and philosopher, rightly said that after Batman's work "the  next settlement was by Mr. Fawkner." Not a single writer, save Mr. Fawkner himself, fuls to do justice to John Batman as founder of Port Phillip settlement in 1835.

       Mr. Fawkner's tale of his Melbourne past may receive a slightly different version from the pen of old Captain Bobson, who took Batman over to Port Phillip, and who saw much subsequent service in that quarter. In his letter to the Launceston paper,  Cornwall Chronicle,  he deals with Mr. Fawkner's lectures in 1866; and, jealous for the honour of his old friend Batman, he is rather hard in his criticism of the rival.

       " The reason/' said he, " why Batman did not form the settlement on the Yarra was, that he thought it more prudent to leave the party at Indented Head until he should get more force from Launceston. He said he should most likely send a larger vessel over, and call and pick them up; although he said he nad made friends with most of the natives, they might get impatient for what be had promised them, and take advantage of those he was leaving behind. He said, " There is nothing like acting with caution ; it is not as if I was staying with them myself, and I think this the safest place, as I think you might be back before the natives could get this far from their battleground, which is 150 miles or more from this place."

       " Now then for Johnny Fawkner and his clipper schooner Enterprise,  which he states sailed on the 27th June, and on the 28th of August she was moored to the growing trees opposite ivhat he called ' Pleasant Hill.'    How did it lose its name from

       such a personage as J. P. F., and assume the nanae of Batman's Hill f That must be rather degrading. So, according to Mr. Fawkner's lecture, the  Enterprise  was two months in finding her way to Pleasant Hill, and after entering Port Phillip Heads, they struck her on one of the banks below Indented Head; then she bumped and thumped for two days, and had it not been for the kind assistance of Mr. John Batman's party, who manned the whale-boat and went to their assistance, she would in all probability have been wrecked where she lay. However, Batman's party were the means of getting her oflf. They then showed the party in the clipper the direction. I went; told them what had occurred—that Batman had made friends with the natives, and also told them about the Yarra, that we had watered there, &c. With this information they considered they were safe; so on they went; after their path was smoothed by Batman they had nothing to fear; but if they had, what chance would Johnny have ? There was one Captain Lancey with his boat-hook to keep the natives off; Johnny with an old pistol without a trigger; the architect with his bevel; the plasterer with his trowel; and the carpenter with his adze. Such was the equipments of the daring (?) adventurers,—^as miserable a turnout as ever I saw; in fact, there were few who did not pity them, instead of setting the natives to kill them. There was Johnny mixing up clay, Lancey chopping up grass, not for horses, but to mix with the mortar. He talks about the sailors putting up a ' shanting'—it was a ' shanty,' what they call wattle and dab, that is, some poles stuck in the growing wattles, woven and dabbed with clay; afterwards they appeared to be a regular broken-down lot.

       "' Veiy well,' Johnny says,' we are all right; peace is made with the natives; that is the greatest point gained; we are safe.'

       " Well, Johnny goes on with his wattle and dab till the day of sale of the first land in Melbourne; with Johnny's wattle and dab amongst the rest. ' Oh I * says Johnny, ' if I lose this I am ruined.' So Johnny being one of the king's Johnny breed, he gets himself mounted, whether on a heap of wattle and dab or not I cannot say; however, he mounted higher than the rest, and lo ! what a pitiful look he gave around, particularly at the auctioneer. ' Now, gentlemen of happy homes, none of you will oppose me; if you do I am ruined.* No one did. The look he gave would have touched the most hardened to pity The upset price was 10/.; Johnny got it for a little more.    A

       food day's work, for it was afterwards worth 30,000/. Then ohnny goes on to say that he read some very interesting things firom Captain Hunter's diary. I don't think he read Captain Hunter's receipt for his wages in them, poor fellow; he let them

       run to the amount of upwards of 60/., and he told me he could not help it, and he could not get them. Now, if that was in the diary, I think he would skip that; however, Johnny has kept his reminiscences a long time. I suppose he thinks because Batman is dead, that all the rest of his party are also for ever silent, and he blows off his vain steam. But Johnny, you knew well, when you were giving your lecture, that Batman's party bad been up the Yarra, for you could not help seeing a tree chopped nearly down, on the left-hand side, a long way above Pleasant Hill, as you call it, or Batman's Wharf, for we came up as far as the Falls. When going down again, we put in to cut a boat-hook staff, when one of the natives jokingly chopped a tree down near the water, and said that was Robson's tree.  A  good-sized one, too; it was not easy to go past it in the dark without seeing it. It was in the same year, so I do not think that a top could grow on it to cause a mistake. Lauk! I fancy you now mixing up your dab hut, Johnny; you may thank that brave man, John ^Batman, for all that you have got, in making peace with the natives in the way he did, with the assistance of Providence, without any blood being spilt. For surely a patched-up lot like yours would soon have been vanquished, had he been a poor helpless thing like yourself; but no, he was a brave, athletic, daring, resolute man—feared no-thing, neither wind nor weather; and Johnny, if you were the founder of Melbourne, as you liked to be styled, why did not Governor Bourke pay you a visit when at Melbourne, and make you a present of four cases of wine, as he did John Batman ? Ah ! well you might think it very cruel of him, but he did, for I tasted it, and it was exceUent. But Johnny, instead of running down John Batman, you ought to raise a monument to him, and him alone you ought to thank. His perseverance was beyond everything I ever saw. It might well be said he was the real founder of Melbourne, and I don't suppose there is a street named after him. No, it is you, and the likes of you, that wish the honours he earned at the risk of his life may be buried with him in the grave.

       "Farewell, J. P. F., M. L. C, &c., &c.

       " P.S.  To the Editor of the '  Cornwall Chronicle* —Trusting you ^^ give justice where justice is due, and not let that mischief-making animal, Fawkner, take the praise of what he does not

       merit,   ,,,.        ^.

       I am. Sir,

       " Your most obedient servant,

       "  To the Editor qf the * Cornwall Chronicle, '"        *' ROBERT ROBSON."

       Mr. Fawkner ran foul of Mr. Lockhart Morton, who had furnished the  Yeoman  with some interesting stories of the past,

       and who espoused the cause of Mr. Batman. In a letter to the Age  the critic was severely criticised by Mr. Fawkner, who imported some personalities that were foreign to the occasion. After showing that the Yarra and Geelong were known long before 1835, he adds:—

       " It was partly in consequence of my reading carefully Capt. Sturt's account of his journey from and to Sydney in 1829 and 1830, and from the observations which I found on his map— amongst others, * Low, unbroken country of the south *—that I came over here."

       His detection of weaknesses in Batman's story leads him to object to Mr. Morton's apology for the explorer, that he meant comers  and not  boundaries  where marks were made, when these marks are stated by Batman to have been made "upon the trees growing along the boundaries of the said tract of land." He justifies one statement thus:—

       " And this account I know to be correct, for I took care to send with Mr. J. Batman one man that I could trust, who reported the whole transactions of the trip over, and its occurrences up to the return to Launceston. Although Batman and his party would not let me pass over with them, a person was put in their way, employed by me, and I got a full report of all that occurred; and to insure correctness, I obtained each man of Batman's after-account of what took place."

       Upon the strength of this information he then proceeds :—

       "Very generous of these would-be  Lords-squcUteTS,  They pretend to buy about a million acres of land for a few baubles, and then pretend, forsooth, to mark out a township, not on the land that they might fairly so plot out, if they had really bought it; but they add the right to take this over and above the quantity set forth in the so-called deeds. I again afiBrm, that the firm or company that sent Batman over only gave him one deed, a copy of which I obtained before he left Launceston. That deed he did get signed by the  Jaga Jagas,  at the Merri Creek, just outside the Fitzroy municipality. It was not interpreted to them, or explained, for these reasons—not one of the Sydney blacks knew the language of the men of this colony, and not one of the Sydney blacks could read, except Bullett/'

       The  Yeoman  of August 16th, 1862, remarked :—

       " We are not to be deceived or led away by any feelings of respect for him, or to be terrified by his abuse; neither can we

       be convinced by his rambling statements and assertions, because, like the lawyer who advocated a bad cause, he becomes angry and impertinent. If, as Mr. Fawkner states, Mr. Qibson in 1804 discovered and described the Yarra, then he. and not Mr. F., is entitled to the honour of having done so. Mr. Fawkner, throughout his long, rambling letter, tries to raise confusion and contradiction between Batman's dates and those printed in Mr. Bonwick's book; but any confusion in dates cannot affect the fact of Mr. Batman having been the first person who came here and began the permanent settlement of the colony of Victoria.

       "His party having sailed from Launceston did not enter Port Phillip till the 15th of August, 1835. Its leader, like Jonah, had intended to cross over, but the raging of a troubled sea made him also soon reach dry land again. If any credit in warfare is due at all, it is not to the soldier who, esconcing himself behind a stone wall, shouts at the top of his voice 'Go along, my brave boys!' So it is the individuals of Mr. Fawkners party, rather than himself, who are entitled to the credit of having come here on the 15th of August, 1835."

       A similar opinion led  Garry Owen  to write " that Batman was the first prospecter of Melbourne and Geelong, and that not Fawkner, but Fawkner's party—five men, a woman, and the woman's cat—^were the  bondjide  founders of the great metropolis."

       One of this party, while resident in London, read Mr. Fawkner's letter to the  Argvs,  October 29th, 1868, in which, while noticing the author's supposed detraction of Batman's rival, he enters into the usual account of his own individual prowess. Mr. Jackson, who, with George Evans, had dropped down upon the Yarra unknown to Mr. Fawkner, read the oft-told tale, and replied to it. His story is so interesting, and the man's character was so respected, that we give his letter entire. He, like Batman, Henty, Fawkner, and the rest, having passed away from earthly scenes, will be long remembered among the gallant pioneers of Port Phillip. After quoting Mr. Fawkner's story, Mr. Jackson thus addressed the editor of the  Argtts: —

       " Now, sir, in justice to myself and those who have passed away from earthly scenes, I feel called on to make a few remarks on the above statement, and I trust I shall do so apart from any desire in the least to detract from any just claim of merit the writer of the said paragraph may be entitled to for whatever help he may have rendered in the founding of the now called City of Melbourne.

       "It was early in the year 1835 that rumours came to Launceston (Tafimania) that a fine unoccupied country, fit for pastoral purposes, was to be found across the intervening strait, and on this rumour the Fawkner party was formed. The names of those forming the party were J. P. Fawkner, J. Lancey, R. H. Marr, Q. Evans, and Samuel and William Jackson. The schooner  Enterprise  left the wharf at Launceston (Tasmania) with the object of finding the said land. Apart from the crew, the party on board were J. P. Fawkner, W. Jackson, G. Evans, R. H. Marr, and the commander, Lancey. After the vessel had left Georgetown and the Heads some short distance, she fell in with a roughish sea, and this appears to have sickened Fawkner, for he caused the vessel to be put back to George Town, where he was landed. The vessel then proceeded on her voyage, Fawkner coming up to Launceston, where, much to ray surprise, I met him. The vessel made and entered the Heads at Port Phillip in safety, and worked her way up the bay, and landed William Jackson and some others of the party on the beach, not very far from what is now called the Red Bluff, near Brighton, the vessel continuing her course up the bay. This party made their way through the bush, and crossed the Yarra river some distance above the Falls. During this trip they fell in with the natives, and ultimately camped on the site of the now city of Melbourne, and there awaited the arrival of the commander, Lancey, who brought the vessel up the Yarra to the basin at their camping-place. While there they had a visit from some of the Batman party, a company which sailed for Port Phillip before the Fawkner party, but who landed at Indented Head; and it was on account of some of this party seeing the schooner  Enterprise  in the bay that induced them to make their way in the direction the vessel had gone, and which ultimately led to the two parties meeting on the site now called Melbourne, where each party claimed the right of possession. After the Fawkner party had satisfied themselves as to the capabilities of the country, the whole of the Fawkner party returned in the  Enterprise  to Launceston. There this party was broken up, and it was purely on the favourable account the party gave of the country on their return from Port Phillip which mduced Fawkner some time afterwards to go over; but that was not until the party had been mutually dissolved, so that each one was left to choose his future line of action in reference to revisiting the discovered land.

       " If what I have stated be facts, it is rather too much for the first pioneers of this party to rest quietly under the accusation of deserters, more especially when the charge comes from the only man of the party who at the very outset (on account of the roughish sea) left the rest to do the best they might, and face those dangers he evidently was afiraid of.

       " Now I challenge J. P. Fawkner on oath to declare that he was with the party, viz^ W. Jackson, G. Evans, R H. Marr, and Lancey, at the time they first entered the Heads of Port Phillip Bay, landed on its shores, and made their way to the site of the present Melbourne. Therefore, with all lus braggadocio, be can never justly claim a share in the dangers and hardships the first pioneers encoimtered, and to whom the credit of first landing is alone due; and as to desertion of party, I think the saddle is on the right horse when be bears it.

       " I trust, sir, to your known sense of justice to give insertion to this letter.

       " I am, Sir, your obedient servant,

       "Samuel Jackson.

       **  Yabea House, Baker Street, Enfield, Middlesex, Dee. 2,  1868."

       Mr. Edward Henty, one of the founders of Portland, took occasion to rebuke Mr. Fawkner's assumptions, and his ignoring of Portland doings in 1834. This letter to the  Herald  is elsewhere reported. A characteristic reply soon appeared, signed John P. Fawkner, M.L.C. and J J.

       ** To Mr. Squatter E. Henty and brother Francis, per favour of the  Daily Herald.

       "  You impugn my account of being the pioneer of Port Phillip, and complain that my memory begins to fail, because a statement made in October, 1834, in a Launceston paper, was ignored by me in 1866. Firstly, I stated in my reminiscences given in St. (}eorge*s Church, East Collingwood, in 1862, that the Hentys had a whaling and a squatting station in 1834; and the lecture was published in June, 1862, in the  Age  newspaper. The paragraph of Messrs. E, and F. Henty, relating to the settlement at Portland Bay, I never saw, consequently could not forget it. I knew that the Hentys had taken stock to Portland Bay, in Australia, but little was made known of what they were doing on shore; in fact, the men employed whaling at Portland Bay complained that the Hentys would not allow any of them to see what they were about; and I also had good proof of the exclusive habits of these mighty squatters, for they hired the schooner,  Sally Anne,  early in 1835, to take stores from Launceston to their station at Portland Bay, and they peremptorily refused to allow the master of the  Sally Anne  to earn some 30/. by landing me and party at Port Phillip Bay, distant as it was from their station at Portland. They wanted only squatters, not settlers. Possibly E. and F. Henty did build a pretentious house and christen it ' Richmond;' but this was kept so secret that it was some years before the news Reached me at the settlement I formed at Melbourne.    If Mr. E. Henty

       read my account that he quotes from and impugns, he might have seen that I claim to have settled in Port Phillip, but not at Portland Bay, in 1803, certainly prior to the arrival of this Mr. E. Henty. 1 assisted to build a cottage and to cultivate land in Port Phillip in the years 1803 and 1804, and perhaps Mr. E. Henty will allow that was prior to his seizing the hundreds of thousands of acres he pounced upon in the Portland Bay district, and also prior to the erection of his cottage so grandiloquently styled  iiichmond,"

       It was at the time of this correspondence that the letter, herein preserved as a memorial, was addressed to the author by the founder of Portland :—

       ''MuNTHAM,  12th Dee.,  1866.

       "  Dear Sir, —Your note reached me here only on Monday last, I am not therefore enabled to forward to you  in time  the information you require to complete your work on the early settlement of the colony of Port Phillip, but shall be happy to do so as soon as possible after ray arrival at Portland; but I may mention that it will take more time to do this than you think, as I can give *  what no other person can do'  the origin of the settlement of the colony. I am fully aware of Fawkner's treatment to Batman, and I am of opinion that the more he, J. P. Fawkner, moves in the matter, the worse will his position be. The latter portion of my letter in last week's  Daily Herald should point out to him the necessity of keeping quiet.

       " Yours truly,

       "Edw° Henty.

       *'jA»fES BoNWiCK,  Esq.,  F.R.G.S.,  St, Kilda"

       As Mr. Fawkner, in his public lectures, not less than in his letters  Uy  the press, made use of Mr. Wedge's name in the same free and easy way he did the names of others, scattering firebrands as he went along, the veteran surveyor of Port Phillip, and attached friend of John Batman, ¥rrote to the author from Leighland, Tasmania, 16th November, 1866, with certain notes of the past. He took our questions, and put thus his own answers " in juxtaposition ":—

       F. laughs to scom B.'s   I have no doubt that B. went through the cere-

       marking trees, &c.   mony of marking tree&

       F. denies B. eyer saw   B., on his return, crossed the swarop below the

       the Yarra, as one of them     present site of Melbourne, and made the Yarra near told F. eyerything.   its junction with the Saltwater river, where there

       was either the vessel's boat waiting for him, or he caused one of the Sydney natives to swim the river and go to the vessel for the boat, which was lying near Williams Town.    I forget which.

       Port Phillip Settlement.

       F. says that his party was on^anized on public grounds, to keep so fine a place from grasping squatters.

       If so, very patriotic! but it is more than I give him credit for.

       F. says, after Treaty,

       nwas produced, and roclaimed King John the*First of Port Phillip.

       I never heard of the proclamation. I doubt if B. had any grog beyond a small quantity in a pocket pistol, even if that. I know that I never had any in the journeys I made.

       F. admits plotting out sixty acres among the six of his party. Evans says "No."

       I don't see how he could have done this, inasmuch as he was  not with  his party. He was left sea-sick at George Town. Mr. Lancey said they intended to occupy some land on the south bank of the Yarra, a little above the Falb.

       "But Mr. T. H. W., under a pretence of being glad to see some countrymen, obtained their con-fidence by pretending that he had nothing to do with B. and his copartners."

       There is some truth mixed with misrepresentation in what he says of myself—the latter verv much predominating. I had neither boat nor boat^s crew with me, having travelled by land from Indented Head round by Geelong, passing to the west of Station Peak, crossing the WerrilSc a little to the southward of Mount Cotterell, the Saltwater River about half a mile above the flow of the tide, and then straight to the present site of Melbourne ; so that it is obvious that I had no boat's crew. In fact, my party consisted of only one white man, two Sydney natives, and twa of the Port Phillip aborigines. I never  pretended  that I " had nothing to do with B. and his party " in my interview with Mr. Lancey. As to ** worming out the plan of the proceedings of the party," I was not then, nor am I now, aware that there was anything to "worm out." I took it for granted that their plan was to take possession of land as squatters. I received nothing but civility from Mr. Lancey. He received in good part the written paper I gave him, explaining that Batman had secured the land on the north side of the Yarra from the natives, and requested him not to interfere with it; but whether I (ud it in the shape of a notice I cannot recollect, but probably it might be so. I believe it was on this occasion that Mr. I^ancey told me that they were going to take possession of land on the south side of the Yarra. Mr. F. does great injustice to Mr. Lancey in imputing to him the use of coarse and disgusting language, which I believe he was quite incapable of. So far from it that, on my leaving, he kindly furnished me with provisions enough to last me till I returned to the depdt at Indented Head. There was certainly no bad feeling evinced by Mr. Lancey by the use of such language as imputed to him by Mr. F. In fact, it is purely the invention of his own refined mind.

       F. said he got up his party of Evans and Co. in April. Evans told me he himself asked F. to join, after hearing B.'s account after his return.

       I am under the firm belief that neither F. nor any other person thought of going to Port Phillip till B.'s return ; and I beheve Evans to be right in what he told you.

       F. says he  gave his   I don't know what took place with F. and his party

       party written instruc- at George Town, tions how to proceed when he himself was sea-sick, left at George Town. Evans says he only   waved   his   hands   ^

       and said,   "Go on, my lads."

       F. says   he sent  his   Mr.  Lancey told me  that  he  had   touched at

       pirty    to    settle    Port     Western Port. Phillip,   and   elsewhere admits he sent them to try first Western Port.

       F. says he had a copy   I believe this to be very improbable, as B. had

       of the Deed from one none but his own farm servants with him ; and it is who was a spy on Bat- very unlikely that he would allow any document of man.   the kind out of his own hands long enough to be

       copied without his observing it. But, if true, in what character does he exhibit himself in avowing that he stooped to the employment of a spy t

       By the courtesy of Mr. Wedge, the author is able to give an account of a transaction that throws some light upon the antagonism existing of old between Batmanites and Fawkner-ites, or that between the two parties of associated gentlemen and unassociated outsiders at Port Phillip. The correspondence concerns persons who have passed away from earth. While somewhat surprised to find that any Associationist, however persuaded of the justice of his claims, could contemplate the forcible expulsion of those who were no partners in the treaty with the natives, we must bear in mind that Batman^s friends had borne the whole risk and charge of revealing the new country, and could not fail to be annoyed when they saw others profiting by their labours, and actually appropriating land believed by the Association to be their own. That one of the gentlest of men should have, for a single moment, listened to the proposal for force, may well excite our regret.

       The first news of the affair was conveyed in a letter .from Mr. James Simpson, J.P., to Mr. Wedge, and is dated 17th September, 1835.    The extract is as follows:—

       ** Now, as to general measures, I observe an evident determination  on the part of   and    to have everything

       their own way.   We have heard of Thompson's and Fawkner's

       parties, and we had a meeting on the subject.     and  

       were for hostile measures, at once setting on the blacks to eat them out, or drive them out even.    I at once held up my voice

       against such imprudence, and was supported to the echo by Bannister, CJoUicott, and the Robertsons. We, in the course of the day, saw young Thompson, who assured us that there was no ^nth in the report of Fawkner s people having squatted. We then considered everything at rest.

       "Just then comes your letter to me, confirmii^ the fact of an encroachment, and your sentiments so fully in accordance with the majority. I have forwarded your letter to Swanston, exjM^ssing my conviction of the absolute necessity for immediate steps to be taken to obtain the sentiments of the proprietors ; but I have heard of nothing being done yet. Only think, in the fetce of the letters and declarations made to the Home Government, for any sensible man (let alone professors of brotherly love for blackfellow) to attempt such a  line of

       conduct as that proposed by  1!  Your pr^ction would, as a

       matter of course, have been fully realized, and bloodshed and murder ushered in the dawn."

       Honest Wedge was aroused. He was on the spot, and was perfectly acquainted with all the irregular parties who had taken up their quarters on the Association's preserve. He knew the intentions of Mr. Fawkner and his little company, though the leader himself had not arrived. It had been given out that the intruders were only going to trade, and not to depasture stock. But it was pretty well understood that they did intend to take advantage of the free grass. Some, as Mr. Fawkner himself, thought to secure themselves by going through the form of purchasing lands from the Yarra Yarra tribe. These sable ones were not too proud, accepting presents from anybody, and nodding consent to any bargain. Mr. Fawkner came over himself early in October, and it was subsequent to that, on October 13th, that Mr. Wedge protested against the contemplated act of violence.

       His protest is addressed to the Association from Leighlands :—

       "Gentlemen, —Having learnt from Mr. Batman, since my return from New Holland, that he is on the point of proceeding to Port Phillip, with the intention of canying into effect the

       recommendation of     and   ,   namely  to remove   Mr.

       Fawkner and those connected with him, through the instrumentality of the natives, notwithstanding such a line of proceeding will be contrary to the general voice of the gentlemen who were present at the meeting where  made the proposition, I, therefore, take the earliest opportunity of communicating my dissent from taking such steps.

       " To follow it will lead to the most disastrous results, not only militating against the probability of the success of the enterprise, which, at the present moment, assumes so promising an aspect, but it will assuredly lead to bloodshed and murder, which, if once commenced, there is no foreseeing its termination. It will at once open the eyes of the natives, arid teach them the power they possess; and, knowing that power, they will not fail to use it against us, in common with others, whenever the impulse of their feeling may prompt them to do so. Suspicion will be infused into the minds of the natives as to ibhe friendly intentions of the whites in general towards them, which will counteract the happy results that have been th^ consequence up to the present moment of the friendly intercourse which was fortunately effected by Mr. Batman in June last.

       "For the foregoing reasons I solemnly protest against the measures about to be carried into eflfect.

       "It will aflford a just pretext for the interference of the (Jovernment, who will, very properly under such circumstances, refuse to confirm our title to the land ceded to us by the native chiefs; the fact being an evidence of the evil consequences that will be likely to result from the influence we shall possess over the minds of the natives.*'

       This interesting letter, so marked by sound prudence and good feeling, could not fail to produce its efiect. But the protest was no idle one. On the same day, October 13th, Mr, Wedge wrote to Mr. Batman himself as follows:—

       "  Dear Batman, —I have remained in town in the hope of seeing you this morning. I have just learnt that there is no probability of your being here till the afternoon; and as it is inconvenient for me to wait longer in town, I think it is just and fair towards you to state candidly this course.

       ** The line of proceeding that you have chalked out in reference to the occupation by Messrs. Fawkner and Co. is so contrary to my ideas on the subject, that I shall protest against it, a copy of which I inclose. However, to obviate the consequences likely to result from the diflferences of opinion, and the dictatorial attitude assumed by some of the parties, which I never could submit to, I will ofier my share for sale to the proprietors generally, or to any of them individually who may choose to purchase it. The price I will take for it is one thousand pounds. I will also take upon myself to offer Mr. Simpson's share for the same price, provided he has not already sold it, or made arrangements to do so.

       " The enterprise is a good one, and I am unwilling to abandon

       Y

       it. I therefore make another proposition if the former one be rejected: that a mode of division of the land should be fixed on, which I propose to be thus. You to have your choice ; and if No. 1 be chosen, to commence at the north-east extremity, fixing the line of boundary where the quantity of the shares of those who may concur with you in opinion may take it to. If No. 2 be your choice, to commence at the southern extremity, and going in a similar way in a contrary direction, whichever lot you m ly leave for those who think with me, to be conveyed to us; and a deed of separation of partnership be prepared. Each party will then be able to pursue their own plans, (Sec.

       " You have my authority to make this communication to all or any of the parties concerned. I write in haste. With comp** to Mrs. Batman, and others of your family,

       " I remain, &c.*'

       Matters must have gone to a considerable length for one so deeply interested in the movement to be ready to withdraw from it. Mr. Wedge's decision was worthy of him. To retire from an undertaking which then appeared leading on to fortune was a lesser evil than complicity with an act as impolitic as it was unmanly. He assumed the part of Abraham with Lot, and was ready to go to the south if the others preferred the north.

       Whether Mr. Wedge's protest and letter accomplished the object, or the angry feelings of the two impulsive gentlemen cooled down with timely consideration, it is satisfactory to kno^v that the project of expulsion was abandoned, and so the Association was preserved intact. Tlie very next day, October 14tli, the stout surveyor, who never lost temper with Batman himself, wrote thus to his friend and Tasmanian neighbour:—

       "  Dear Batman, —My mind is considerably relieved by your assurance that you do not intend to use force to remove Fawkner and Co."

       He then goes on to say. *' I assure you you are mistaken in supposing that I have heard any strange tales since I have returned. If I had heard anything I should not have regarded any reports; at all events, I should have made you acquainted with what had been said. I ground my protest on what you yourself told me, together with what I learnt on my arrival home, by a letter in Hobart Town, in which I learnt that such a proposition to remove the squatters had been made."

       It was in this same letter that he seeks to settle another little misunderstanding about the Wild White Man, for whose

       freedom  Wedge  had  drawn   up   a   petition.     He   therefore remarks:—

       " I could not shut my eyes or be deaf to the remark you made respecting Buckley obtaining his pardon through your influence with the Lieutenant-Governor. If the pardon was through your influence every credit is due to you for it, and no one could feel under greater obligation to you than myself. If, on the other hand, you assume that which I consider emanated entirely from the correct and humane view which the Lieutenant-Governor took of the representation that was made by me, I do not think it fair towards others of the proprietors who may reside at Duti-galla, for it certainly looks as though you intended to get the whole credit to yourself, and by which to obtain an undue influence over the mind of Buckley, and through him over the minds of the natives.

       "You stated your intention of issuing the provisions to the natives monthly instead of daily, as hitherto. It is contrary to the line of policy I think ought to be followed; for, unless they get regularly fed they will lose confidence in us, and instead of the good feeling being perpetual they will take offence and no longer be friendly towards us. In order that we should work together in concert it is necessary that we shotild fully know each other s views and intentions ; for this reason I have been so explicit."

       The good sense and cordial feeling of the worthy surveyor are hereby well exhibited. Something decisive w^as done, and mainly in consequence of his action. The Association held a meeting, and gave directions to Batman, their manager, as to the course to be pursued. This document was signed by Messrs. Gellibrand, Swanston, Wedge, Sams, Cottrell, and Connelly. Among these were the two gentlemen who at first, in their displeasure against the intruders, were for summary proceedings. The document is headed

       "Memorandum for Mr. Batman.

       " It will be expedient to show Mr. Fawkner the chart, and also the description in the grant from the natives to him, in order to satisfy him that the land occupied by his people belongs to the Association.

       " To ofier him every assistance through the natives in procuring other land for him, and also in removing his goods, &c., and also in the erection of other buildings, and in cultivating even to a larger extent than done by them; to protect their present crops, gardens, &c.

       Y 2

       ** If the parties set us at defiance it will then be expedient to fence them off, so that they may not further trespass; and, by annoying them in that manner, compel them to leave; but on no occasion to offer actual violence unless in self-defence.

       " It is presumed that when Mr. Batman arrives with such a powerful force the parties will retire. They are as much interested in conciliating the natives as we are, and it will be desirable to have a mutual understanding for them to pay a proportion of tribute, and also to enter into an agreement for mutual protection."

       The parties known then as " Fawkner and Co." had wedged themselves in too securely to be shifted, and were not to be inconvenienced by any fencing-in while the Yarra ran in front of them. Not even the arrival of Mr. Batman " with such a powerful force" was likelv to alarm them, as the numbers of the irregular immigrants were so rapidly accumulating, that the intruders were more likely to eat out the Association than be eaten out by them. A Washington Irving, who told us so good a story about the conflict of parties in the infant days of New York, might have left us a pleasant sketch of the pre-Melboume times, and the rights of possession alongside the Yarra Yarra.

       But it is quite time to close the record of disputes, and to return to a few facts concerning Mr. Fawkner s connection with the Settlement.

       The following advertisements and shipping notices refer to the venture :—

       " The  Enterprise,  daily expected from Sydney, will be immediately laid on for New Holland, to convey an exploring party of gentlemen to the 'New country.' Mr. Batman, with a number of attendants, including the Sydney natives that have some time resided here, left George Town this week, in a small vessel commanded by Mr. T. B. Harwood, for the purpose of exploring part of the same country.    (May 21,1836.) "

       " (Sep. 9, 1835) For Port Phillip. The fast-sailing schooner Enterprise  will sail for the above Port in about ten days from this date. Persons of moderate capital wishing to migrate to a fertile, open country, possessing a most enviable climate and immense plains, will find this a most desirable opportunity; full particulars will be open to those who may engage to settle there on application to John Fawkner, junr."
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       '* Departures. On Friday (Sep. 25) the schooner  Enterprise, Hunter, for Port Phillip, with a general cargo. Passengers— Mr. and Mrs. Fawkner, Mrs. Lancey and two children, Mr. Watkins, John Wilkins, Thomas Morgan."

       The voyage was not so rough a one as that experienced by Batman, who left at the stormy end of autumn. Gaining the port, the  Enterprise  was placed as the general trader of the Settlement, and was the foremost of all the colonial crafts in the introduction of sheep to the new country. Mr. Fawkner, interested in the welfare of his ship  Enterprise,  the primitive carrier, put some stakes in the Yarra as guidance for that and other vessels. The public spirit of the man, facetiously styled the King of Pascoeville, is thus alluded to in the  Cornwall Chronicle  of Launceston, March 5th, 1836 :—

       " The King of Pascoeville has issued a proclamation containing directions for sailing into  his  harbour of (he has omitted to mention its name) which we extract from the  True Colonist,  for the information of whom it may concern. We cannot vouch for the correctness of the directions—but parties interested may presume upon their being so, as the august gentleman has condescended to place the beacons according to his own directions, and has been public spirited enough to pay the expense attending it out of his private purse, and has not  drained  the public treasury, as some kings would have done. It may be presumed that his own labour has been exercised upon the occasion, and, as a matter of course, the correctness of his document may be relied upon.

       " As soon as you enter the harbour, steer for Arthur s Seat, keeping the heads a little open (rather incomprehensible); this is the eastern channel. Keep close to the shore near Arthur's Seat, for that is the deepest water; an immense shoal extends from the middle passage to within about three miles of Arthur's Seat. After passing this place, you are clear of the shoal, and may sail up to the head of the Bay. Keep in four fathoms, under the west shore—west being the prevailing wind here— and to find the river, the beacons placed by my directions, and at my expense, will direct any person; keep on the west side of them. The Eastern River is the one the Settlement is formed on, but the Western (Yarra Yarra) (Saltwater River) runs furthest up.'*

       Six months after arrival he wrote to the  Sydney Colonist  an account of the Settlement, but more at length in a private letter. Mr. Fawkner's long and interesting letter, about the early times.

       was inserted in the  Sydney Colonist,  September 22,1836.. It occurs in the communication from Mr. Henry Hawson, of Newfoundland, to the Attorney-General of that American colony, detailing an account of his visit to the Cape and to Australia. While at King George's Sound, he heard the wonderful stoty about Port Phillip. The captain of the  Caledonia  had then come into the Sound with news of that " earthly Paradise." He was tlie bearer of a letter to his brother, Mr. Symers, of the Sound, from Ml*. Fawkner. This letter is then given by the correspondent, Mr. Hawson:—

       *

       "Pascoe Vale, Fawkner's River, Port Philijp, **New South Wales,  May%  1886.

       "  My dear Sir, —If I understood you right, you wish me to inform you on the following points, viz., How long it is since the Port was colonized ? The date of the present attempt to settle here ? Why this spot on which we are settled was chosen ? And my opinion as to the climate, the land, and its capabilities ?

       " In October, 1803,1 entered this harbour, under the orders of Colonel Collins, who did not even attempt to examine the country, but landed at Point Nepean, and early the next year, 1804, removed the whole of the people (with the exception of a few runaway prisoners) over to Hobart Town, Van Diemen's Land, at that time uncultivated.

       " Early in 1835, myself and others contemplated and attempted a survey of this Port and Western Port; among others, Mr. John Batman and some gentlemen of Van Diemen's Land. Mr. Batman came direct to Port Phillip, and bought a piece of land, extending, as per Flinders's chart, from the western head along the coast about twenty miles westward, from whence he stnick an imaginary line nearly east, which line was again joined by a line commencing from the northern side of a small river, which runs nearly due east, and is laid down in the same chart, at the head of Port Phillip Bay. His purchase follows the river upon the right bank, from about nine miles from the Bay head, and then runs forty miles north-east, and ends where the eastern line from the western coast intersects it This land was parted amongst fourteen or fifteen persons originally, and was divided into seventeen shares of about 100,000 acres each (?). It takes in the whole of the western side of this immense Bay, a sea line of, I think, about 120 miles in length. I caused Western Port and the whole of the eastern side of this Bay to be strictly surveyed, by examining the land about twenty miles inland all along this tract, and the good land found was only in very small quantities. Upon the return of my vessel and people, I immediately came

       over to this delightful land to settle, and so well pleased am I with it, that please God here I shall end my days. It is somewhat singular that I should arrive on the anniversary of the first attempt to settle here, that is, on the 10th October, 1835 ; landed the first horses and cattle, ploughed the first land, and planted the first com, potatoes, &c., all which thrive well. Indian corn will not be a very sure crop, but all seeds and plants that are congenial to Britain will flourish here in great luxuriance ; this is the reason I fixed to settle here. The places named by me (!) had been surveyed and examined at my sole expense, and no eligible spot found until  we  reached this place. I refer to Flinders's chart. The river which runs easterly lying at the northern end of the Bay, at about six miles from the said Bay, by following the river, but by crossing the neck of land, at or about three miles east of the river s mouth, the walk is about two miles to the site above referred to, and called the  Township, The river becomes fresh at this point, and is most excellent water, with a fall, at low tide, of 2| to 3 feet. The land for miles round the town is of most excellent quality, and the grass very good, the land very thickly covered with it. A great part of the land in the vicinity of the Township is very rich alluvial soil; and from the eastern river to the western, and as far back to the north and north-east as has yet been surveyed, it is far superior to any in Van Diemen's Land. I believe from forty to fifty miles is the utmost that has been travelled in this direction. The river has a bar on which there is not more than nine feet of water at high tide; but the bar once passed, we find from three to seven fathoms up to the Township; and the river has this peculiarity, that it is as deep at the very bank as in the middle of the stream, for three miles downwards, and is from 80 to 100 yards wide, with a basin at the Township capable of containing 109 small vessels, such as would come safely over the bar. My vessel, drawing eight feet three inches of water, has come up, and she lay close to the bank, and landed my goods from a single plank laid over the gangway, and took in the firewood for the vessel's use from the trees overhanging.

       " Mr. Wedge, who was out also, on discovery for Messrs. Batman and Co., fell in with  my  people soon after they had settled here, and became so enraptured with the place, that he instantly returned to Indented Head, and removed the so-called Company's establishment, where they had settled, and commenced operations up to the spot selected by  me,  and  purchased by me

       FROM THE ABORIGINES.

       " My people left Launceston in my schooner  Enteiyrise  in July, 1835—Mr. Batman s party in June. In September this Settlement may be said to have commenced ; since which time many persons have travelled over most portions of this highly

       favoured land, in various directions, chiefly from west to northeast, and they all agree that the land is unrivalled for sheep and cattle. A great part of it is plains, some of vast extent, and with but few trees; other parts are lightly timbered, and bear a strong resemblance to a gentleman's park kept for ornament. Several fine lakes have been discovered, and the natives tell of many more. Some fine rivers have also been* found to the westward, and in Captain Sturt's chart are laid down numerous rivers to the north and north-east, between this port and the river Morumbidgee, which, according to this authority, lies 180 miles due north, and runs from east to west 100 miles, and the land lying in the direction of this Settlement is described to be quite free from mountains. A river has been found to the westward which disembogues itself into the sea, west of Port Phillip Heads, about 20 miles, and is said by one William Buckley (who was a runaway convict left here by Governor Collins in 1803, and never seen by white men until August 1835) to run nearly parallel to the east through beautiful plains for upwards of 200 miles, and has its rise about 15 miles from the sea, near Portland Bay, where the Messrs. Henty and  others  have settled. Now, the extent of country that has been visited is almost wholly fitted for grazing, and that most admirably so—fine plains, beautiful rises, and the land free from underwood, except in small patches near the rivers, and contains a great many native wells, ponds, and lagoons, all which the natives are willing to show. Some forests of timber have been found which will be available for building purposes, but they are at a distance from the Township, and I fear can be brought by land carriage only.

       " The natives are a quiet, and, I should say, a cowardly race— treacherous in their own quarrels, they invariably kill their enemies b^ surprise, and at night They perform little offices for the whites, such as showing the country, huntinff, and fishing, and bringing in wood and water for provisions or clothes.

       " The Company, and  also myself,  have given a large quantity of blankets, clothes, tomahawks, knives, and provisions to them since we landed, and there have been about 340 to 360 assembled here at one time.

       " The weather during the past summer has been very moist. Rain has fallen at intervals not exceeding fourteen days. From the immense basin, the Bay of Port Phillip, and its shallowness, we derive constant and copious dews, which it is ascertained have extended 200 miles westward, and as far north as we have penetrated. The grass, all through the summer, has retained its delightful greenness and goodness, and every vegetable, and also grain, that I have tried and seen tried by others, has prospered well, viz., Indian com (middling), pumpkins, melons,

       cucumbers, water melons, potatoes, peas, beans, carrots, onions, and neai'ly all the culinary vegetables—and also wheat; and these sown on the ground immediately after it was first broken up, after its uninterrupted repose for past ages. The heat on some days has been great; the thermometer being frequently from 90** to 94° in the shade, but every hot day has been succeeded by several cooler days, and the glass has never, from the month of September last to this date (2nd May), fallen in the house below 38°, though we have had in this time six or seven frosty mornings.

       " Fish are plentiful here, and of several sorts, both in fresh and salt water. The snapi)er is the most abundant, weighing from two to twenty-five pounds. Wild fowl and kangaroo abound, and, I must add, the native dog is rather too plentiful.

       "About 15,000 sheep have been landed here, 30 horses, 100 head of cattle; pigs, rabbits, and other domestic stock rather largely. This is a correct statement for your information, but written in great haste.

       " Dear Sir, yours,

       "John Pascoe Fawkner."

       Mr. Hawson, after reciting this letter, has the following remarks, dated August 1836, written from Launceston, being on a visit there :—

       "With regard to Port Phillip, the testimony which I have obt^ned here respecting it, confirms the most favourable opinion I had conceived of  it;  indeed, the fact that the settlers who have gone there were among the most wealthy in Van Diemen's Land, and have already transported thither 30,000 sheep and great numbers of horned cattle, &c., must convince the most sceptical. No information has, however, been obtained as to the intentions of Government respecting this * Garden of Eden'; and, although Governor Bourke has issued a proclamation declaring the territory to be within the limits of his Government, he has not felt himself authorised to appoint peace officers, or to send a military force there: the consequence has been, that some of the stockkeepers in the country have committed offences against the blacks, who have retaliated by killing four of the settlers—a prelude, I fear, to constant war between the parties, until the blacks shall be exterminated, or driven far into the interior, a most horrible alternative; but there appears no other, except the abandonment of the country, and leaving the natives in their present savage and ignorant state, unless a Government be speedily appointed, and effective measures taken to punish the whites.

       who were the first aggressors, in order to convince the natives that the outrages were committed by unauthorised individuals, and that they must look with confidence to protection from Government.

       " It appears that the man Buckley, mentioned in Mr. Fawk-ner 8 letter, had held out to him by the settlers that a free pardon would be granted to him, and other liberal rewards, if he would use his influence with the natives to preserve a good uuderstan ling between them and the whites. This he agreed to; but the supreme authority refused to sanction the compact; and he has consequently stirred them up to avenge the wrongs which he supposes himself to have sustained. He is now their leader, and possesses uncontrolled authority over the tribe. It is said that he has several wives of the native women, and a great number of children by them; the natural consequence, therefore, of his considering himself to be still a convict and an outlaw, will be the most determined opposition to the British settlers; and no doubt many lives will be lost, until the Government adopt measures to satisfy him.

       " I fear that these occurrences will prevent my settling in this delightful country—not that I would wish to avoid my share of expense and personal risk, if the quarrel was just; but, can it be reconciled to the principles of the Christian religion, of common sense, or of any system of morals—that foreigners can take possession of the land of others, be the first aggressors ? but, because they have power to do so, follow up the first ofifence by murdering and externunating the natives, the proprietors of the soil ? I fear that I should feel like an accessory to murder, and a receiver of stolen goods, knowing them to be stolen."

       With this pleasing reference to the early days of Port Phillip we must close the important chapter of Mr. Fawkner's Yarra Yarra home.
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       CHAPTER   XIV.

       OFFICIAL   CORRESPONDENCE.

       The  quiet occupation of pastures around Port Phillip Bay by a score of Van Diemen*s Land people would not appear a very important affair to some. Quite a number of men—sealers> whalers, and others—had for years sojourned on islands and the coast, even cultivating the soil, without attracting Government attention Kangaroo Island, Encounter Bay, Portland Bay, King's Island, Western Port, &c., had their little settlements in peace. But no sooner had Batman cried out " Eureka I " than the thunder of a Sydney Proclamation became the commencement of a storm of despatches.

       The first in the field was Colonel Arthur, Lieutenant-Governor of Van Diemen's Land. His Hobart Town letter to the Right Hon. T. Spring Rice, colonial minister, was dated July 4th, 1835 :—

       " I have the honour to inclose for your information the copy of a letter which I have received from Mr. John Batman, a settler in this country, who has recently visited the opposite coast of New Holland, examined a portion of the country in the vicinity of Port Phillip, and, on behalf of an Association, of which it appears he is the agent, purchased 600,000 acres of land from one of the native tribes.

       " The settlement of this district would unquestionably be highly advantageous to Van Diemen's Land. Its extensive plains and rich pastures are capable of supporting large herds of cattle and sheep, and, as the distance between the two coasts might be traversed by a steam-boat in about twenty-four hours, it might very rapidly be covered with flocks and herds from this colony.   Indeed, I have no doubt that the foundation would

       soon be laid for a very beneficial intercourse between the two countries.

       " It would afford me, therefore, great pleasure, were the facilities which might be afforded by this Government rendered available in the settlement of this very valuable territory, which might, I submit, with a view to economy, be placed temporarily under the jurisdiction of the supreme Court of Van Diemen s Land.

       " As regards the request of the Association, that their feoffment in the land in question by the aborigines shall be confirmed by the Crown, I am constrained, notwithstanding the great responsibility of the gentlemen interested in the arrangement, to observe that it does not appear to me that it can be advocated on any valid grounds.

       ** The land was taken possession of by Colonel Collins, for the Crown, previous to the settlement of Van Diemen's Land, and, subsequently, by Captain  Wright, in 1826, when a military

       S>st was, for a period, established there. Messrs. Hovell and ume, moreover, of whose journey I have at present an imperfect account before me, explored the country in 1824 and 1825.

       " It appears, also, from a comparison of the descriptions given by Messrs. Hovell and Hume and Mr. Batman, that they had met with several tribes in the same district, who distinguish it by different names—a circumstance which would render the original ownership doubtful, even were it true in contemplation of law, that a migratory savage tribe, consisting of, perhaps, thirty or forty individuals, roaming over an almost unlimited extent of country, could acquire such a property in the soil as to be able to convey it so effectfully as to confer upon the purchaser any right of possession which would be recognised" in our courts of law.

       " In order, however, that the subject may be fully before His Majesty's Government, I have thought it proper to transmit a copy of the Deed of Transfer which was executed by the native chiefs,

       " Mr. Batman is an enterprising settler. He has acted with prudence as well as humanity in making it his first effort to conciliate the native tribe with whom he negotiated, and I trust that the good feeling which he appears to have established will be perpetuated. Were a liberal grant of land given him in the country he has explored, I think the gift would be well bestowed ; but, as regards the confirmation of his treaty with the natives, I have plainly told him I could not hold out the slightest prospect of its being favourably considered, and the Colonial Secretary has addressed to him the letter, of which the accompanying is a copy, wherein you will perceive that I have

       refrained from encouraging the hope that the scheme of the Association would be successful, so far, at least, as the investiture of the land is in question.

       "As the Company will probably proceed at once to take possession, and as other individuals may follow their example for the purpose of occupying the adjoining land on the sea-coast, I cannot, 1 most respectfully submit, be made acquainted at too early a period with the views which His Majesty's Government entertain upon this very important subject,"

       Colonel Arthur was rather in a hurry to send oflf the news without waiting to know the mind of his superiors at Sydney. The latter resented the neglect, ignored the proceedings of his subordinate, though crediting him with sinister designs, and issued forth his Proclamation. Communication between Sydney and Hobart Town in that day was slow and at long intervals. Although Colonel Arthur informed his chief of the matter, it was after he had written to London; so that August was well advanced before regular tidings reached Port Jackson. Hence the date of the " warning off" was only August 26th.

       "  Proclamation.

       " Whereas it hath been represented to me that divers of His Majesty's subjects have taken possession of lands of the Crown, within the limits of this colony, under the pretence of a treaty, bargain, or contract, for the purchase thereof, with the aboriginal natives; Now, therefore, I, the Governor, in virtue and in exercise of the power and authority in me vested, do hereby proclaim and notify Ho all His Majesty's subjects and others whom it may concern, that every such treaty, bargain, and contract with the aboriginal natives, as aforesaid, for the possession, title, or claim to any lands lying and being within the limits of the Government of the colony of New South Wales, as the same are laid down and defined by His Majesty's Commission, that is to say, from the Northern Cape, or extremity of the coast, called Cape York, in the latitude of 10 degrees 37 minutes south, to the southern extremity of the said territory of New South Wales, or Wilson s Promontory, in the latitude of 39 degrees j min. south, and embracing all the country inland to the westward, as far as the 129th degree of east longitude, reckoning from the meridian of Greenwich, including all the islands adjacent to the Pacific Ocean, within the latitude aforesaid, and including also Norfolk Island, is void, as against the rights of the Crown ; and that all persons who shall be found in possession of any such lands as aforesaid,

       without the licence or authority of His Majesty's Government for such purpose first had and obtained, will be considered as trespassers, and liable to be dealt with in like manner as other intruders upon the vacant lands of the Crown within the said colony.

       " Given under my hand and seal at Government House, Sydney, this 26th day of August, 1835.

       " (Signed)         Richard Bourke. " (By His Excellency's command)

       *'(Signed)         Alexander McLeay.

       " God save the King."

       Yet even then Sir Richard did not write oflF at once to London, for the  Mail  was neither expeditious nor certain, keeping correspondents months before being able to reply to a letter. Meanwhile, and before any knowledge of the terrible Proclamation could reach the Derwent, Colonel Arthur wrote again. He addressed Lord Glenelg on August 28th. While stating that he had informed Governor Bourke of the event, he .idmitt^d that no official acknowledgment had come from Sydney. There appears something like running with the hare and holding with the hounds in the following laudation of the Associationists, and denunciation of their acts:—

       " I do them the justice to say that they are a very respectable, and, in respect of pecuniary matters, responsible body; but, at the same time, I cannot avoid expressing the hope that this fine tract of country may not be ceded to them to be converted into a sheep walk and cattle-run by absentee proprietor?."

       Then follows the polite intimation that he is ready to incur the trouble and responsibility of looking after the servants of the absentees:—

       •* I have not seen any copy of Sir Richard Bourke's commission, and therefore do not know whether Port Phillip is included within His Excellency's jurisdiction; if it be, all that is proper, will be, I am persuaded, speedily done for asserting the rights of the Crown; but if the country be not within the boundaries of the Government of New South Wales, then I recommend that a military officer be sent/rom  hence,  as Commandant, with a small detachment, and that a surveyor, a medical officer, and a missionary be employed under him, with a few convicts of long approved good character, as mechanics and labourers, to form the  fc>ettlement, to  establish  a  friendly intercourse  with the

       natives, and to duly control any ' Squatters'; that an accurate knowledge of the country may be gained, and all the necessary preliminaries adjusted for its occupation, under such regulations as His Majesty's Government may deem most desirable; by this means, at a very trifling expense, which may be defrayed from  our  land revenue, the country may be occupied without those sad reverses which checked emigration to Swan River."

       This very cautious and clever despatch from the astute Arthur was very different from that sent by his superior, one who had seen much service on the battle-field. Sir Richard was an admirable politician, but candid in speech and deed. His mind was then exercised about, intruders upon Crown Lands both at Twofold Bay and Port Phillip, and this subject was presented to the Secretary for the Colonies, Lord Glenelg.

       **  Government Housk, Sydney, 10^  October,  1836.

       "  My Lord, —Being informed by the Lieutenant-Governor of Van Diemen's Land, that several British subjects connected with that colony, have taken possession of a tract of land on the south-western (?) coast of New Holland, in virtue of a treaty with a tribe of aboriginal natives, it becomes my duty to report to your Lordship this intrusion upon part of the territory described in the Commission which I have the honour to hold from His Majesty. The particulars are contained in the correspondence which has passed between Mr. Batman, a settler of Van Diemen's Land, and the Government of that Island. Copies of that correspondence received by me from Lieutenant-Governor Arthur accompany this despatch. From Mr. Batman's letter, your Lordship will perceive, that this gentleman, and his associates, rest their claim to a recognition by His Majesty's Government of their treaty with the natives, rather on the merits of their undertaking, than upon any title to the land which that treaty is presumed to convey. It also appears, that Colonel Arthur, without holding out any prospect of such recognition, has undertaken to submit their case to His Majesty's Government, and entertains a favourable opinion of the parties. To him, therefore, as the officer under whose immediate charge these parties reside, I would leave the representation of every particular regarding their personal character, views, and resources; but I have considered it incumbent on me immediately to protest against any consequences, derogatory to the rights of the British Crown, that might bo imagined to flow from the alleged treaty. I have accordingly issued, with the advice of the Executive Council of this Colony, a Proclamation, of which

       I transmit a copy. It is not my present intention, and I shfdl probably not see cause, to take any other step in the matter, until I have the honour to receive your Lordship's commands upon the subject. In the meantime, there is little doubt that Mr. Batman and his party will continue to convey cattle to Port Phillip, and to invest capital in building and other improvements at that place. Having thus briefly laid before your Lordship the present state and probable progress of this unauthorised expedition, I may perhaps be permitted to offer some observations upon the policy of allowing the occupation of land so distant from the seat of Government, and other located parts of the colony. To Mr. Batman's proceeding, there appears weighty objections, not only in the irregular mode he has had recourse to for obtaining land, but on account of the absence of any provision for the control and government of the inhabitants of the intended settlement It is hopeless to expect that any precautions he can adopt, in the choice of shepherds and labourers, will preclude occasional disorders among a population wholly released from legal restraint. In such emergencies there will be no accessible authority, military or civil. The undertaking must, sooner or later, prove a tot^ failure, unless supported by the interference and protection of Government. If this support be afforded, it is but reasonable that the Settlement should contribute to the revenue of the Government which upholds  it;  and that its lands should be acquired under the general regulations of the colony, or under such others as His Majesty's Government may think fit to propose.

       "I have before had occasion to submit to the Secretary of State the opinion I entertain of the propriety of extending, in a southern direction, the limits within which land may be acquired from the Crown in New South Wales. On this subject I beg leave to refer your Lordship to my despatch of the 4th July, 1834, No. 59, in which I communicated a proposal of, Mr. James Atkinson, for the settlement of Twofold Bay, by means of emigration from the North of Ireland. Though I objected to Mr. Atkinson's plan, in many particulars, I expressed myself in favour of the limits of location as far as Twofold Bay, provided the lands were to be disposed of under the existing regulations.

       " In this opinion I was not honoured with the concurrence of your Lordship's predecessor. The Earl of Aberdeen has stated, in a despatch of the 25th of December last, that * His Majesty's Government are not prepared to authorise a measure, the consequences of which would be to spread over a still further extent of territory a population which it was the object of the late land regulations to concentrat-e.'

       " After this intimation, it is only on account of the question being forced upon me, by the transaction I have related, that I am induced to revert to the subject. In recurring to it, I am bound to state, that further reflection and the advantages of personal observation aflforded by a recent excursion to Twofold Bay and the neighbouring country, have more than ever impressed me with the correctness of the opinions expressed in my despatch of July, 1834. On the excursion alluded to I found the greater part of the vast tract of fertile land lying between the country of St. Vincent and Twofold Bay depastured by flocks and herds attended by shepherds and stockmen; the pastures, already contributing largely to the wealth of the colony, and exceeding in importance many of the districts where land is disposable by sale or on lease. An export of live stock from Twofold Bay to Van Diemen's Land had commenced, and is likely to increase, and a considerable supply of grain and other agricultural produce would, in all probability, be furnished from that district for the Sydney market, in the event of land there being thrown open to purchase. Admitting, as every reasonable person must, that a certain degree of concentration is necessary for the advancement of wealth and civilisation; and that it enables government to become at once efficient and economical, I cannot avoid perceiving the peculiarities which in this colony render it impolitic, and even impossible, to restrain dispersion within limits which would be expedient elsewhere. The wool of New South Wales forms at present, and is likely long to continue, its chief wealth. It is only by a free range over the wide expanse of native herbage which the colony affords that the production of this staple article can be upheld at its present rate of increase in quantity, or standard of value in quality. The proprietors of thousands of acres already find it necessary, equally with the poorer settlers, to send large flocks beyond the present boundary of location, to preserve them in health throughout the year. The colonists must otherwise restrain the increase or endeavour to raise artificial food for their stock.

       " Whilst nature presents all around an unlimited supply of the most wholesome nutiiment, either course would seem a perverse rejection of the bounty of Providence; and the latter would certainly require more labour than can be obtained in the colony, or immigration profitably supply. Independently of these powerful reasons for allowing dispersion, it is not to be disguised that the Government is unable to prevent it. No adequate measures could be resorted to for the general and permanent removal of intruders from waste lands, without incurring, probably, a greater expense than would be sufficient to extend a large share of the control and protection of Government over the country they desire to occupy.

       **I do not, however, mean to admit the claim of every wanderer in the search of pasture to the protection of a civil or military force. The question I would beg leave to submit is simply this: how may this Government turn to the best advantage of the colony a state of things it cannot wholly interdict ? It may, I would suggest, be found practicable, by means of the sale of land, in situations peculiarly advantageous, however distant from other locations, to procure the means of diminishing the evils of dispersion; and, by establishing townships and ports, and facilitating the intercourse between the remote and more settled districts of this vast territory, to provide, though but imperfectly, centres of civilisation and government, and thus gradually to extend the power of order and social union to the most distant part of the wilderness.

       " Such are the considerations which rendered me unwilling to oppose the settlement of Twofold Bay. The same considerations induce me to believe that it will be more desirable to impose reasonable conditions on Mr. Batman and his associates than to insist upon their abandoning their undertaking. It would be proposed that a township be marked out, both at Twofold Bay and in some eligible spot on the coast to which Mr. Batman's party has proceeded. The town allotments and a portion of the adjoining territory might then be declared open to location, according to the existing regulations; and I have no doubt that in both places considerable purchases would at once be made. The proceeds might be at nrst excepted from the rule which assigns this branch of revenue as a fund for encouraging emigration, and applied in the beginning towards defraying the expenses attendant upon the new settlement. The outlay would chiefly be required for the survey and allotment of the land, the appointment of the police magistrates, with a constabulary force and an officer of customs. I would also earnestly recommend that a provision be made for schools, in which the children of persons of different religious tenets may be instructed without distinction, on the plan now adopted in Ireland. The means of education being secured, I should feel disposed to leave it to the voluntary contributions of the inhabitants to provide for churches and clergj. To aid all alike, where the creeds are various, seems impossible, and a partial distribution of the public funds appears nearly allied to injustice. In the event of a township being established at Twofold Bay it would be desirable to form a road from thence to Maneroo rlains, a part of which would pass over a rocky range of mountains. The remoteness of this work would render it a very desirable employment to the convicts of the second class, sent here to labour for a certain portion on the public works, before assignment to settlers.

       I beg leave to observe here, that it is in consideration of the

       capital expended by Mr. Batman and his associates that I am inclined to recommend so early an occupation of Port Phillip. The measure would otherwise have appeared to me as premature, and I should have preferred witnessing the success of the nearer establishment at Twofold Bay before suggesting the more distant settlement. It is with reference to Van Diemen's Land chiefly that the occupation of Port Phillip may be regarded as advantageous. I consider Twofold Bay to be ripe for settlement, as sufficient advantages are already derived from the lands behind it to admit of their purchase (by the occupiers and others) being rendered the means of the gradual introiduc-tion of the various institutions of society. To refrain from their introduction through the fear of encouraging dispersion is, I am persuaded, a fallacious policy. The dispersion will go on notwithstanding the discouragement, but accompanied by much evil that might be prevented by the guidance and control of authority opportunely introduced.

       " In conclusion I beg leave to remark that the unauthorised occupation of land beyond the limits assigned by my predecessor for the location of settlers has been so long permitted, or, more

       f)roperly speaking, connived at, and has extended over such arge tracts of country, as to render it necessary that Government should not delay taking some measures for asserting the right of the Crown over these lands. I propose, therefore, to let them to their present occupiers, being of good character, upon yearly leases at a nominal rent, intimating to the lessees that they are not thereby to consider themselves entitled to any greater protection from the Government than they have hitherto enjoyed.

       " I have, &c.,

       **  Richard Bourke.

       " The Right ffonourdble  Lord Glbnelo,  etc,, etc,, etc,"

       In this despatch he contended for the rights of the Crown,

       then defied by Batman and Co., though conscious those parties

       meant to continue their illegal course.    He fears trouble from

       this irregular   proceeding, if only on police grounds.      His

       difficulty lay in attempting to follow out the prescribed Home

       policy of checking dispersion of settlers, with his convjction that

       only failure must result from such interference.    Stock would

       increase, and  free grass  was plentiful enough.    The  case  is

       put frankly and wisely before   the  Minister.     Interested  in

       the  people  he governed, sensible of  the   almost   boundless

       resources of Australia, he seems to plead for greater freedom of

       action, and the prudence, if not necessity, of acknowledging

       Settlements thus illegally formed.

       z 2

       Meanwhile a communication arrived at Government House, Hobart Town, representing, in the cause of law and order, the urgent need of oflScial recognition of the new territory, and calling forth more despatches.

       This letter, addressed to Colonel Arthur, is in the name of John Batman, and is dated from Launceston, 25th October :—

       "  Sir, —I had the honour, in the month of July last, of transmitting you a report of my proceedings at Port Phillip for the purpose of eflfectiog an amicable settlement with the natives of that part of New Holland, and of the treaty concluded by me for the occupation of a certain tract of country under a certain annual tribute, and to be used for pastoral purposes, and in that report I communicated to your Excellency the names of the gentlemen who are associated with me in forming the Settlement

       " At that time it was considered by the members of the Association that the territory in question was beyond the jurisdiction of His Excellency the CSrovemor of New South Wales, and the report was therefore addressed to your Excellency for the purpose of being transmitted to the British Government, under the expectation of the Crown confirming the land thus ceded upon such terms as might appear equitable and just; and for that purpose full instructions were transmitted by a gentleman of the Association to responsible agents in London to represent. their interests with the British Government, and to fulfil such conditions as they might agree with the Crown for a full confirmation or grant of the territory in question; but, as it now appears by the Govemor-in-Chiefs Proclamation that His Excellency exercises jurisdiction over the territory in question as part of New South Wales, I have the honour to solicit that you will be pleased to fiilly inform His Excellency General Bourke of the proposed plans of the Association, theu" capacity to carry them into execution, and the principles under which they wish to establish a colony at Port Phillip.

       "I have the honour to inform your Excellency that the Association does not possess any community of interest, but the stock will be the separate property of each party shipping, and be placed upon separate establishments; and that so soon as the pleasure of the British Government is known, with respect to the terms upon which the territory may be granted, that a division of the lands will then be formally made, and from that period each party will have a separate and distinct permanent establishment, furnishing a proportion of Quit Rent or Tribute payable for the same, and also of other expenses which will be necessarily imposed for carrying the objects of civilisation into effect.

       " The parties have engaged two ships for the transmission of stores and supplies, and in the course of six months they will have property there to the value of twenty-five thousand pounds, at least; and there can be little doubt that in a very short space of time a colony of great importance, not only to the mother country, but to both the colonies, will be established.

       "The Association has already felt some inconvenience by individuals who have recently quitted the port of Launceston, and, in defiance of our occupation of the land from the natives, have fixed themselves" on part of the territory, and serious apprehensions are entertained that they will materially check, if not destroy, the principles of colonisation, unless controlled by a competent authority; and I am therefore requested most respectfully to suggest the propriety of proper authority being given to some individual, for the purpose of enabling the members of the Association to carry on unimpeded the principles of colonisation, until the pleasure of the British Government may be communicated and maturer plans adopted. And I am authorised to add, that the members of the Association will most cheerfully defiray such portion of the expense attendant upon this measure as the local governments may consider fair and reasonable.

       • " I propose immediately to proceed with my family to Port Phillip, to take, with Mr. Wedge, the direction of the affairs of the Association, and the arrangements with the native tribes; and as the vessels will be engaged for the next six months in conveying stock from this port to Port Phillip, the Association will be happy to carry into effect any arrangements for buildings for such persons as the Government may think fit to send.

       " I have the honour of reporting the progress made by the Association since July last with the native tribes. From that period up to the commencement of this month, when Mr. Wedge left Port Phillip, the intercourse has been kept up upon the most friendly terms, and from eighty to a hundred natives have been clothed and supplied with daily rations at the expense of the Association. The natives have been partially occupied in habits of industry, and I have not the least hesitation in aflBrm-ing that if no unforeseen obstacles occur, a gradual system of civilisation will obtain.

       " In the report, the Association communicated their intention of engaging a surgeon and catechist; this pledge has been realised, and Doctor Thomson proceeds with me to execute those duties.

       (Signed)   "John Batman."

       Mr. Montagu, as Secretary of Van Diemen's Land, sent on Mr. Batman^s letter to Governor Bourke, at the same time.

       November 14th, 1835, forwarding the views of Lieut.-Qovemor Art.hur.

       When this arrived in Sydney an Executive Council was held, December 17th, and the following Minute appeared :—

       " His Excellency the Governor, in reference to the proceedings on the 22nd of August last, laid before the Council a letter from the Colonial Secretary of Van Diemen's Land, transmitting, by desire of Lieut.-Govemor Arthur, a .copy of a letter from Mr. John Batman, one of the members of the community recently formed for the purpose of taking possession of land at Port Phillip, and remarking for the consideration of His Excellency the Governor, that it would appear to be evident that the Association in question is already suffering from the want of some superintending authority competent to protect as well as to control the parties who may settle in the adjacent territory. Lieut-Governor Arthur is further induced to draw the attention of the Government of New South Wales to the situation of these emigrants, because the vicinity of the territory of Dutigalla to Van Diemen's Land, and the easy navigation between the opposite coasts, will, it may be feared, hold out strong inducement to the convicts to endeavour to escape thither, m the hope, if no government be constituted, of leading a lawless life, or of receiving high wages in a situation where labour will unquestionably for a long period bear a very high value.

       "It is further stated that Lieut.-Govemor Arthur would have great pleasure in co-operating with the Government for the purpose of conferring upon the settlers at Dutigalla some of the more indispensable advantages which can only be enjoyed when there is a power to carry laws into force, and to protect the lives and properties of the individuals constituting the conmunity.

       " His Excellency the Governor also laid upon the table some extracts from his despatch of the 10th of October, 1835, to the Right Hon. Lord Viscount Glenelg, reporting the unauthorised intrusion of Mr. Batman and those associated with him upon the Crown lands at Port Phillip, and the measures which this Government have deemed it necessary to take upon the occasion for securing the rights of the Crown.

       "The Council mUy concurred in the opinions expressed by His Excellency the Governor in his above-mentioned despatch, and therefore recomn^nded that no measures be taken for affording the protection requested by Mr. Batman, and recommended by Lieut-Governor Arthur, until His Majesty's commands be received as to the ultimate disposal of the Settlement.

       "Deas Thomson,

       " Colonial Secretary."

       The two Governors were thus at issue. Had General Bourke known then that Colonel Arthur was intriguing with the Ministry to get Port Phillip under his own hand, his warmblooded nature would have been even more excited. The ultimate discovery of that doubtful dealing was unfortunate for Batman and his Association, as the Governor of New South Wales became the personal opponent of those who were the proUg48  of Colonel Arthur. Not even the removal of the latter, soon after, molified the evident displeasure borne by the Govemor-in-Chief against the reputed friends of Government House in Hobart Town. The day after the Council meeting. Sir Richard had to write home upon Judge Burton's report on crime in the colony, and took occasion to refer again to such squatters as Batman, saying:—

       " Another cause to which Mr. Burton attributes the prevalence of crime in this colony is the occupation of Crown lands by unauthorised and improper persons. To state this complaint in general terms is far easier than to grapple with the difficulties which beset the subject, and to suggest an appropriate remedy. The persons to whom Mr. Burton evidently alludes, familiarly called  squatterSy  are the objects of great animosity on the part of the wealthier settlers. As regards, however, the unauthonsed occupation of waste lands, it must be confessed that these squaiters  are only following in the steps of all the most influential and unexceptionable colonists, whose cattle and sheep stations are everywhere to be found side by side with those of the obnoxious squatter, and held by no better title. This being the case, it is evident that no partial regulation can with propriety be introduced, and I find it 'extremely difficult to devise any plan that will satisfactorily meet the circumstances of both the classes I have mentioned. . . .

       " The most desirable plan appears to be to let or license the land at a small rent. My chief difficulty is a fear I cannot but entertain lest even those wealthier settlers, who are most loud in their complaints of the  squattery  should prefer their present unauthorised title to a lawful one, acquired at even the smallest expense. If the more respectable class should come forward voluntarily, it might be comparatively easy through them to compel the rest, or to take measures for ejecting the defaulters. But it cannot be disguised that to attempt enforcing any system against the general will, would be no less a hopeless thaii an ungracious task."

       Three days further on, December 21st, another despatch was

       written, inclosing Colonel Arthur's letter and Batman's memo-riaL   Then he gives his views upon the situation:—

       "Considering, however, that Mr. Batman's occupation is wholly unauthorised, and having reference to the instruction received from the Earl of Aberdeen (in his Lordship's despatch of the 23rd December, 1834) to discountenance every undertaking having a tendency to disperse the population of the colony, I do not feel myself at liberty to extend to these adventurers even that degree of assistance which Colonel Arthur appears inclined to concede, without the direct permission of His Majesty's Government"

       Mr. Wedge's interesting narrative of his visit to Port Phillip gave another occasion for a despatch from Colonel Arthur, January 28th, 1836, in which he said:—

       *' As Dutigalla is so near Van Diemen's Land, and especially the northern part of the island, it was my wish to have taken an active interest in its settlement. I have since, however, perceived, from the perusal of a Proclamation by Sir Richard Bourke, defining the limits of his government, that it forms an integral portion of the colony of New South Wales, and of course, I have, in consequence, determined not to interfere with His Excellency's jurisdiction, retaining, as I nevertheless continue to do, the strongest desire that some form of government should be established there."

       He thus bowed to the inexorable logic of facts, and answered his own first letter to the Home Ministry. The postscript of the despatch says:—" I beg to inclose also a plan of the country which Mr. Wedge has presented to me; it will afibrd the Secretary of State some idea of the fine tract of sheep-land upon which Messrs. Batman have squatted."

       In a subsequent address to his Legislative Council, he wrote :

       " An important incident to which, on account of the influence it may exert over the future condition of the colony, I cannot but draw your attention, is the discovery of so large an extent of pasture land on the coast of New Holland. How far the future opening of that territory to the enterprise of immigrants, when His Majesty's Government shall be pleased to sanction it, may affect the landed interests in this colony, it is at present impossible to determine."

       It was while all parties were awaiting the decision of London, that the following letter was written by the Governors secretary in Sydney, in reply to an application from a Launceston settler:—

       " In reply to your memorial of the 24th ultimo, soliciting land at Port Phillip, I am directed by His Excellency, Sir Richard Bourke, to inform you that the late unauthorised possession of land at that place, by Mr. Batman and others, has been reported to His Majesty's QoverDment, and His Majesty's commands requested; and that, under these circumstances, it is impossible to give you permission to occupy any part of the land in question upon any terms whatever."

       His Majesty's pleasure was at length made known. The first to send the news, Colonel Arthur got the earliest reply; which was dated from Downing Street, 23rd January, 1836 :—

       "  Sir, —I have received your despatch (No. 53) of the 4th July last, on the subject of a negotiation which had been entered into by Mr. Batman, on behalf of an association of persons resident in Van Diemen's Land, for the acquisition from one of the native tribes of a large portion of land, consisting of 600,000 acres, in the vicinity of Port Phillip, for the purpose of forming an agricultural establishment. Without entering at present into the question of the right possessed bv the chiefs, who were the contracting parties, to the territory of which they agreed to dispose, or of the justice and fairness of the terms of the arrangement, I shall simply advert to the practical question at issue, namely, the expediency of confirming the grant to the Association. All schemes for making settlements by private individuals or companies in the unlocated districts of Australia have of late years been discouraged by His Majesty's Government, as leading to fresh establishments, involving the mother country in an indefinite expense, and exposing both the natives and the new settlers to many dangers and calamities. And there is so much of prudence and of justice, and, I think I may add, of humanity, in this policy, that I do not feel disposed to depart from it in the present instance.

       " The conduct of Mr. Batman towards the natives has been such as to make me regret that I find it my duty not to advise His Majesty to sanction the proceedings of that gentleman and his associates.

       "Your proposal of forming, under the auspices of your Government, a settlement in the vicinity of Port Phillip, and of placing it under the jurisdiction of the Supreme Court of Van

       Diemen's Land, requires and Rhall receive every consideration. At present, I shall only observe, that it seems to me open to some very serious objections.

       " I am, &c.,

       (Signed)   "  Glenelo.

       **  LlBTTTKNAKT-OOYXRNOR  AbTHTTB,  etC,, dC,"

       A paper in the Record OflBce, dated l7th December, 1835, though without signature (probably the work of Mr. Hay, Under Secretary), evidently formed the basis of the despatch sent to the colony, and adverse to the Batman claims. The paper is simply headed " 415, V. Diemen's Land ":—

       *' This project of Mr. Bateman, although it may in the end be advantageous to the Australian colonies, cannot be approved without manifest danger of introducing a most inconvenient precedent.

       *' All schemes of this kind have been of late years discountenanced, as leading continually to the establishment of fresh settlements and fresh expenditure—and if every one were allowed to follow his own inclination, by selecting a fit place of residence on the coast of New Holland, all hope of restricting the limits of our settlements in that quarter must be at once abandoned.

       '* Colonel Arthur seems to be aware of the objection which would be made at home to the confirmation of Mr. Bateman in the land which he has purchased. This transaction cannot, of course, be recognised by the Home Government, if for no other reason, I apprehend, since it would militate against the engagements entered into with the South Australian Company.

       "The Secretary of State may perhaps desire to Know the particulars of the abortive  attempt to make  a Government

       Settlement at Western Port in the year   .    The report then

       made of the qualities of the soil was very different, if I mistake not, from that Mr. Bateman."

       The writer had, perhaps, obscure notions of the geography of New Holland, or he would not have been puzzled about the reports concerning Western Port, and those relating to Port Phillip.

       To further the consideration of Batman's claims, the Colonial Office furnished a  precis  of information about Western Port, and the applications made for its settlement.

       After the statement that Earl Bathurst advised the course.

       March 1st, 1826, &om an apprehension he would settle there, we learn that Mr. Huskisson directed the removal on February 4th, 1827. Better tidings of the place coming, the Secretary of State recalled his instructions, though too late to stay the parties there. Allusion is then made to Colonel Vemer's application for purchase of land at Twofold Bay. This was negatived; and, as the paper remarks, " Lord Aberdeen, in his despatch to Sir R Bourke (25th December, 1834), expressed a decided objection to the extension of the colony beyond its present limits, on the ground that such a measure would tend directly to counteract and defeat one principal object which the Qovemment had in view in the late change in the land regidations, viz., the concentration of the colonists," &c. Again—

       " Sir R. Bourke was further directed to discourage generally any projects of the like kind, as * many schemes of that nature, ostensibly for the purpose of encouraging emigration, but in reality for the benefit of the projectors,' had been encouraged by H. M.'8 Government without realising those prospects of public good which could alone justify the extraordinary privileges granted to private individuals.

       "  In addition to the reasons stated in Mr. Hay's minute as militating against the encouragement of Mr. Bateman's project may be urged the strong objection, that a settlement of the nature of that proposed would be almost certain soon to become an asylum for runaway convicts, over whom the settlers could have no power or control.

       " Mr. Bateman seems to be the person whose name appears in conjunction with that of Mr. Robinson in Colonel Arthur's former despatch on the subject of the aborigines; and it may, perhaps, be worthy of consideration whether his services might not be very valuable in dealing with the natives in South Australia, if he could be prevailed upon to go to that settlement. As it is understood that Mr. Parker, the future judge of Southern Australia, contemplates proceeding thither  vid  Van Diemen's Land, he might, perhaps, be usefuUy employed in entering into some negotiation with Mr. Bateman."

       General Bourke had to wait nearly three months more before the answer to his own important despatch arrived. The rough draft is preserved in London, having many corrections. Thus "speculators desiring to effect settlements" is changed into " private adventurers " ;  and *' religious, moral, literary estab-
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       lishments" to "religious and  scholastic."    The  whole  roacls

       thus:—

       "Downing Street,  April  18, 1836.

       "  Sir, —I have received your despatch, dated the 10th October last. No. 99, reporting the proceedings of Mr. Batman and others at Port Phillip and Twofold Bay, and suggesting measures which ought to be adopted to meet this new exigency in the afifairs of your Government.

       " I approve of the course which you have hitherto pursued on this subject, and especially of your Proclamation maintaining the right of the Crown to the soil on which these new settlements have been effected. Although many circumstances have continued to render me anxious that the aborigines should be placed under a zealous and effective protection, and that their rights should be studiously defended, I yet believe that we should consult very ill for the real welfare of that helpless and unfortunate race, by recognising in them any right to alienate to private adventurers the land of the colony. It is indeed enough to observe, that such a concession would subvert the foundation on which all proprietary rights in New South Wales at present rest, and defeat a large part of the most important regulations of the Local Government.

       *' It is altogether superfluous to enter on the present occasion into any discussion or formal statement of the principles which form the basis of the rule upon which land is disposed of in the Australian colonies. The views of the Earl of Bipon have been adopted and enforced by every one of his successors. The object 01 Lord Bipon's rules was to counteract the tendency of settlers in a new country to disperse themselves as detached families over its surface, and to promote the co-operation of the inhabitants in all works of public utility, and in the employment of labour and capital. But to suppose Lord Eipon could have contemplated the concentration of the people as the ultimate end he aimed at, or that he regarded it in any other light than as the means through which other great social purposes were to be attained, would indeed be entirely to misapprehend his policy. He deprecated dispersion in so far as it might interfere with the advancement of the colony in wealth, and other social advantages, and with the maintenance of those religious and scholastic establishments to which he was so justly attached, but he would no less have deprecated concentration at the expense of any one of those objects. If, however, my information be correct, the eastern shores of New Holland, at least, on the southern half of that great region so far as they have hitherto been explored, whether coastwise or inland, present a physical impediment to the close concentration of the inhabitants, with which it would be only futile to contend by

       human laws. The age of manufacturing industry is of course remote. Even tillage can scarcely be pursued advantageously to any great extent, while the whole surface of the country exhibits a range of sheep-walks, which, though not naturally fertile, are yet, when occupied in large masses, of almost unrivalled value for the production of the finest description of wool. New South Wales is not only marked by nature for a pastoral country, but for a country of which the pasturage must, from the quality of the soil, inevitably separate the shepherds and herdsmen, and all their associates in labour, very widely from the general seat of Government and from each other. The principle of counteracting dispersion, when reduced to practice, must unavoidably be narrowed within the limits which these physical peculiarities of the colony dictate and require.

       " But that principle must also bend to a necessity of a different kind. It is wholly vain to expect that any positive laws, especially those of a very young and thinly-peopled country, will be energetic enough to repress the spirit of adventure and speculation in which the unauthorised settlements at Port Phillip and Twofold Bay have originated. The motives which are urging mankind, especially in these days of general peace and increasing population, to break through the restraints which would forbid their settling themselves and their families in such situations, are too strong to be encountered with effect by ordinary means. To engage in such a struggle would be wholly irrational. All that remains for the Government, in such circumstances, is to assume the guidance and direction of enterprises, which, though it cannot prevent or retard, it may yet conduct to happy results.

       " It may yet admit of serious doubt whether the settlers at Port Phillip and Twofold Bay have not in reality given birth to undertakings, which dehberate reflection would have recommended rather than discouraged. Each of these places will probably, at a time more or less distant, form the nucleus of a new and flourishing settlement, interchanging with the districts at present occupied in the vicinity of Sydney many articles of internal commerce, and contributing to expedite the general occupation, by the people of this kingdom or their descendants, of those vast territories in which our national wealth and industry have already in the last half century converted an unproductive waste into two great and flourishing provinces.

       *' In producing and multiplying such results as these, it has, I believe, always occurred, and is perhaps inevitable, that the sanguine ardour of private speculation should quicken and anticipate the more cautious movements of Government.

       " I have entered on these general remarks, not as supposing they could convey to you any new information or suggestions.

       but from my solicitude to show that, in yielding to the unforeseen exigency which has arisen, His Majesty's Government aie not forgetful of colonisation which Lord Bipon so earnestly inculcated. In truth, I know not how, under the new circumstances of the case, eSect could be given to those principles unless the Local Government should, as vou propose, place itself at the head of the undertaking in which the unauthorised settlers have engaged.

       ** The settlement at Port Phillip will probably be reinforced by a large number of emigrants and a considerable introduction of capital from Scotland. I inclose for your information copies of the correspondence in which I have already been engaged with some gentlemen on the subject. You will perceive that I had, to a considerable extent, anticipated your own views.

       *' Respecting the arrangements to be made for settling a form of government at Port Phillip and Twofold Bay, I advance no further than to express my general concurrence in your views, and to sanction your acting on them in the manner you propose. I feel that writing at this distance on a subject so novel and peculiar, I should rather encumber than assist you by attempting to enter with more minuteness into the details of your plan.

       ** I have, &c.,

       '*  Glenelg."

       His lordship's acknowledgment of the Governor's second letter was a simple reference to his reply to the first

       The way was now cleared for action. The course was plain before Sir Richard. The trespassers were to remain. But they were not to remain mere  squatters.  On the contrary, there was to be no longer any roaming at large over free grass, as in the Patriarchal days. The pastures were to be legally opened, though only to those provided with a  Pass  as well as a silver key.

       **  Colonial Secretaby's Office, 9^  Sept.,  1886.

       "His Majesty's Government having authorised the location of settlers on the vacant Crown lands adjacent to the shores of Port Phillip, under the same regulations as are now in force for the colonisation of Crown lands in other parts of New South Wales, and several persons having already passed over there from Van Diemen's Land, His Excellency the Governor has been pleased to appoint Capt. Lonsdale, of the 4th King's Own Regiment, to be Police Magistrate for that Settlement, of which all persons concerned are hereby required to take notice.

       " Arrangements are in progress for eflfecting the survey and measurement of such parts of the land near Port Phillip as it may be expedient to aispose of in the first instance, but until the same shall have been completed, of which due notice will be given, no applications for purchase can be entertained. In the meantime, it is distinctly to be understood by those persons who may be desirous of resorting to Port Phillip from other parts of New South Wales or from Van Diemen's Land, that no advantage will be obtained by the occupation of any land at that place previously to the conveyance of a legal instrument from the Government of New South Wales, as without such Title the land (unless required for public purposes) will be subject to be put up for competition at a public sale, and sold to the best bidder.

       " By His Excellency's command

       "Alex. McLeay."

       This related to town and farm lands. The use of the grass was upon a system propounded in the Land Act of 1836. It was by virtue of the forcible seizure of Port Phillip territory by Batman that the public lands of Australia were first really unlocked for flockmasters. Pastoral tenants since that time owe, therefore, a great debt of gratitude to John Batman.

       An Act ** to Kestrain the unauthorised occupation of Crown Lands " was passed July 29th, 1836, and began thus:—

       "Whereas the unauthorised occupation of the unalienated Crown lands of New South Wales is derogatory to the rights of His Majesty and His successors, and conducive to many illegal and dishonest practices; and whereas the laws now in force are insufficient for the speedy and efifectual removal of intrudei*s upon such lands—Be it therefore enacted by His Excellency the Governor of New South Wales, with the advice of the Legislative Council thereof, that from and after the first day of January next, any person who shall be found occupying any Crown lands lying waste in New South Wales within the limits allotted for location by the Government Order of the 14th of October, 1829, either by residing or by erecting any tent, hut, or building thereon, or by clearing or allocating any part thereof, shall on conviction thereof forfeit and pay the following penalties, that is to say, for the first offence any sum not exceeding £10, at the discretion of the justice or justices before whom the complaint shall be heard; for the second offence, £20; and for the third and any subsequent offence £50, to be recovered in a summary way.

       " And be it declared and enacted, that from and after the said first day of January next ensuing, it shall not be lawful for

       any person to occupy any Crown lands in New South Wales beyond  the limits allotted as aforesaid, without having first obtained a license for such purpose in conformity with the Grovemment regulations in such case made and provided, and that any person who shall be found occupying as aforesaid any Crown land in New South Wales beyond the limits allotted as aforesaid, and shall not hold a valid license from the Government of New South Wales for depasturing cattle and other animals beyond the limits as aforesaid, every such person on conviction thereof shall forfeit and pay the penalties hereinbefore imposed in the case of persons unlawfully occupying waste lands of the Crown within the said limits of location."

       Then came this Public Order:—

       " His Excellency the Governor, with the advice of the Executive Council, directs it to be notified that from and after the first day of January next, any person who shall be found occupying any Crown lands  within  the limits of location fixed by the Government Order of the 14th October, 1829, either by residing or by erecting any tent, hut, or building thereon, or by clearing, inclosing, or cultivating any part thereof, without holding a lease under the regulations of the 1st August, 1831; And any person who shall be found occupying any Crown lands  heyond  the said limits of location without holding a license for depasturing cattle and other animals under these regulations, will be liable, under the complaint of any Commissioner of Crown Lands, to the penalties imposed by the S8^d Act; that is to say, for the first offence any sum not exceeding ten pounds, at the discretion of the justice before whom the complaint is heard; for the second oflfence, twenty pounds; and for the third or any subsequent oflfence, fifty pounds."

       The application of the New Act to Port Phillip is thus described:—

       " Licenses to depasture the vacant Crown lands beyond the limits of location will be granted on application to the Colonial Secretary, which is to be accompanied by a certificate of character from the nearest justice of the peace or Commissioner of Crown Lands in the terms therein set forth. Persons desirous of depasturing in different parts of the colony will be required to take out a separate license for such district; every such license will be chargeable with a fee of ten pounds, to be paid to the Colonial Treasurer previously to its issue."

       The licenses were to be for one year only, renewable by the Colonial Secretary if no objection be raised by the Commissioners.    But  it was declared:  "Any  improvement eflfected

       upon Crown land depastured under the authority of a license will be at the risk of the party holding the same, as such land, whenever it may be deemed expedient to extend the boundaries of the location, will be liable to be put up to competition at public auction, in the same manner as other unalienated Crown lands." It is further added: " It is to be distinctly understood that the issue of licenses to depastured lands beyond the limits of location, gives to the holders no claim to any greater protection by the civil or military force of the colony than is now enjoyed by persons residing in those parts."

       The last official document that need be given relative to the settlement of Port Phillip, besides those mentioned in connection with the story of the Port Phillip Association, is the following:—

       "  Downing Street,  Blst May,  1887.

       "G. "Sir, —I have received your despatch No. 101 of the 15th of September last, reporting the measures which you had taken for opening the country in the neighbourhood of Port Phillip for colonisation, and for providing for the good order and government of that settlement, and I have to convey to you my general approval of those measures.

       "Having conferred with the Lords Commissioners of the Treasury with regard to the establishment of officers whom you have sent down to Port Phillip, I see no reason to disapprove of the allowances which you have attached to those appointments. I should, however,  ynsh  that the system of granting rations to the civil officers should be discontinued as soon as the settlement shall have been sufficiently established.

       "I must also impress on you the importance of adhering rigidly to the principle of the existing regulations as to the disposal of land, and of fixing such a minimum price for its sale as in the possible absence of the same degree of competition which exists elsewhere will aflford a security against improvident appropriation of Crown land at an inadequate price. As this settlement, although within your Government, is at a considerable distance from Sydney, I think it essential that separate accounts should be kept of the sale of the Crown lands in the district of Port Phillip, and that the proceeds of such sales should be applied to the improvement of this new settlement, and especially in the introduction of free emigrants, which would supply the demand for labour  without the use of convicts.  I am therefore anxious that you should take measures as soon as possible for directing immigration to this settlement, as well as to other parts of the colony, and that

       A A

       you should abstain to the utmost practicable extent from the assignment of convicts to the settlers in the Port Phillip district. The objections to the system which at present prevails in New South Wales with respect to the assignment of convicts would exist in a still greater degree in a new settlemejit, where there cannot be the same means of conferring order and imposing restraint which are available in an older settlement^ while there must be greater facilities of escape, aided by the circumstance to which you have referred of the vicinity of a part of Port Phillip district to the eastern boundary of South Australia. Nor, at a moment when H. M.'s Government are preparing to put an end to the system of assignment in New South Wales, should I consent without the greatest reluctance to its extension, even to a limited degree, to any new settlement

       " It is also of importance that the recent arrangements with regard to the means of religious instruction should be extended as soon as possible to the settlement of Port Phillip.

       "With regard to the colony of Southern Australia, the publicity which from the peculiar circumstances under which it had originated has attended the various stages of its formation, and particularly the fact of its having been constituted under the authority of an Act of Parliament, appeared to render any formal announcement to you on that subject unnecessary. It is, however, important that in regulating the upset price of land at Port Phillip you should not exclude from your consideration the price below which land cannot be acquired within the colony of South Australia.

       " I have, Ac."

       The expenditure referred to was for Captain Lonsdale, the chief officer of the settlement, in addition to a salary of 180/, to Dr. Thomson as surgeon and catechist, and an allowance to interpreter.
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       CHAPTER XV.

       THE  PORT  PHILLIP  ASSOCIATION,

       The  establishment of the settlements about Melbourne and Geelong was undoubtedly the work of this Association, though originally effected by John Batman, who acted distinctly as their private agent when he came to Port Phillip in 1835. It will be of interest to many to trace the progress and end of .this colonising party. The writer, who arrived in Hobart Town, the seat of the Association, only six years after Batman's first visit, knew some of the members, and heard much of the gossip about the enterprise, cannot help affirming that in his early colonial days the gentlemen forming that Association were regarded ad men of character as well as position, of benevolence as well as enterprise.

       One of the Association, Mr. Sams, of Launceston, sent to the author, by a friend, an account of the birth of the Company. There had been an ascent of Ben Lomond, near Mr. Batman's house. On that occasion the promoter of this pleasant excursion was taken suddenly ill on the side of the mount. The attack passed off, and the two friends passed the night together at the camp fire.

       " It was then," said Mr. Sams, " that I first heard Port Phillip spoken of as a desirable place for settlement; Batman telling me that when he was in Sydney, he had heard from a schoolfellow, Hamilton Hume, who with Captain Hovell had explored the neighbourhood of Port Phillip, that the country there was of the finest description, and that this information had dwelt in his mind, and made him ever anxious to verify the truth or otherwise of the report. It then occurred to me to suggest the formation of a Company, in order that the expense, incidental to the exploration, should be light when borne by a number. This idea was at once agreed upon."

       A A 2

       Another of the AssociatioD, Mr. Robertson, told the author that Batman spoke early of the matter to him, and that he agreed to go shares in the charge. He was subsequently hurt, as he said, to find that others, as Mr. Gellibrand, had been let into the secret    Subsequently, the Association was formed.

       Their names were these :—J. T. Gellibrand, C. Swanston, T. Bannister, J. Simpson, J, and W. Robertson, H. Arthur, J. H. Wedge, J. Sinclair, J. T. Collicott, A. Cotterell, W. G. Sams, M. Conolly, and G. Mercer, besides John Batman. These fifteen signed a document addressed to Lord Glenelg on the 27th of June, before any legal agreement had been made between them.

       The leading spirits were Batman and GelUbrand. They had applied for permission to settle at Western Port nearly ten years before, without receiving encouragement. Mr. GeUibrand was an energetic lawyer of Hobart Town, with a reputation as honourable as it was grateful Honest in his profession, and Christian in his deportment, he was one of those who had a chivalrous attachment to the coloured race, recognising the rights of aborigines to the soil, and indignant at the way those rights were disregarded by British settlers and officials. Having witnessed the horrors of the  Bla/Jc War  in Van Diemen's Land, he determined, in the face of God and man, to make the interest of the natives at Port Phillip his special care in any negotiations for a settlement over there. He it was who drew up the treaty, so much derided by those whose sense of the ridiculous is, perhaps, stronger than their sense of justice, and who think that Providence is, and should be, on the side of the heaviest battalions.

       The story of this good man's end, elsewhere referred to, can be but just glanced at here. He had gone over to inspect the new country, of which he was a Founder. After a tour with Buckley among the natives, he set out with Mr. Hesse on a further exploration. They crossed the plain on which rise the volcanic cones still called after these gentlemen, and disappeared in the forest fastnesses of Cape Otway. Several stories are extant respecting the existence of one of them years after. The withholding of the payment of Mr. Gellibrand's life-assurance was owing to the oft raised expectations of his recovery. His disappearance was the great romance of early Port Phillip times.

       Captain Swanston, the Hobart Town banker, a man of great

       mental energy, and the leading commercial spirit in this speculation, departed this life under a mystery. Mr. Wedge, Government Surveyor, lived to a green old ago in Tasmania. Mr. Arthur was nephew of Governor Arthur of Van Diemen's Land. Mr. Sams was sheriflf of Launceston. Almost all the others embarked in Port Phillip pastoral pursuits, and realised large fortunes, though after the turn of the tide in 1845. Some made Port Phillip their home at once. Others, like the Messrs. Kobertson of Colac, continued for years their Hobart Town and Launceston avocations, long after the author's arrival in the island in 1841.

       These men, who were the means of adding a valuable jewel to the Crown of England, realised only pecuniary loss by their venture as shareholders in the Association, however much some of them-may have gained as individuals by the colonisation of Port Phillip.

       Going as they did, to a  No-man's-landy  or one believed to be such, they may have reckoned upon the enjoyment of the spoils by so peaceful a descent.    Knowing that concessions of land had been made in the case of other companies, they indulged the idea that they might be equally successful.    They did not, however, properly estimate the weakness of their position in being only a self-appointed organisation, and not a legal incorporation.    They assumed too much in fancying that only the British Government, and not a colonial authority, could possibly have claims to the territory they had occupied.    Thus it was that, though they came and saw, they did not conquer.    It was their privilege, by expenditure of time, care, and cash, to reveal a glorious region, to lead the way, by self-sacrifice, for others to possess good things, though failing to   secure for themselves those special advantages too confidently expected.    They acted as the Columbus of the period, in showing others the way to f )rtune : and, like Columbus, found themselves left out in the cold, laughed at for the chivalry of their enterprise, and the simplicity of their reliance upon either the justice or gratitude of Government. Yet they were not altogether so  simple as they appeared. They took the first and needful  step of gaining a foothold, deeming it easy to obtain confirmation by a proper Deed of Incorporation.     Had   they   applied   for   the   legal   right   of association before venturing upon the speculation, others, in all

       probability, would have taken advantage of the publicity of their application, and have gone over into the Promised Land-They were not a set of needy adventurers, nor were they without some covert official recognition. Most of the members were appreciated friends and neighbours of the Governor of Van Diemen's Land. Batman's letter after his return from Port Phillip was addressed to His Honour. The Association officially held correspondence with Government House. And the Governor did what he could discreetly to aid the projectors.

       The rock upon which they were wrecked was the ignoring of the rights, real or imaginary, of the ruler in New South Wales. There was considerable elasticity as to the terms designating the limits of that territory. Captain Cook's New South Wales was the coast he discovered—the whole eastern side of New Holland, from Cape Howe to Cape York. The convict settlement on the shore of Port Jackson was called New South Wales. Did the authority of His Excellency extend from Cape Howe to Cape York ? Were they the southern and noilhem limits of his domain ? And if so, how far back from the seaboard did such domain reach ? That both latitude and longitude were not so limited was shown when corporations, like the Swan River Association and that of South Australia, were suffered to locate themselves without reference to the Sydney magnate.

       It must be admitted that the principle bad been established, as to a portion of what became known as Port Phillip, through the occupation of Western Port, in 1826, by a party sent from Port Jackson, and afterwards withdrawn from it to head-quarters. It had even been recognised by Messrs. Gellibrand and Batman themselves, when they unavailingly applied to the Governor of New South Wales for liberty to locate themselves and flocks on that southern shore. Why did the Association, therefore, ignore the Sydney ruler ? Was it from a sullen remembrance of the want of favour to their two leaders in 1826, from a sincere belief, that Sydney could lay no claim upon territory so far to the westward as well as southward, or from a conception that an arrangement could be effected by which the land in question could be placed under the jurisdiction of their sympathiser— the Lieutenant-Governor of Van Diemen's Land ?

       There is no doubt now that Colonel Arthur desired the extension of his authority by the appropriation of a region so

       neax Van Diemen's iLand, and so easily reached from it. At that time Sydney was generally many days* passage away, and the nearest settlement belonging to the actual colony of New South Wales was hundreds of miles from Port Phillip waters. There may have been an understanding between the Association and the Hobart Town representative of royalty, favourable to the commercial aims of one party and the ambitious aspirations of the other. Since the separation of Van Diemen's Land from the jurisdiction of New South Wales, which was not accomplished without the expenditure of considerable personal feeling, there had been no particular friendship between these two old colonies, and scant courtesy between the Governments. It could not escape the eye of Sydney that Hobart Town had an eye upon Port Phillip. That a settlement so recently a subordinate should presume upon so bold an encroachment, could not but rise the ire of the original inhabitants of the  Rocks  at Sydney. To frustrate the political aspirations of Lieutenant-Governor Arthur, by nullifying the project of the Association, became a natural course.

       Here it was all their diflBculties began and ended. The New South Wales Governor and Council opposed the very settlement of the region, and ordered oflF all intruders from Van Diemen's Land in the same terms they then applied to rude squatters who, disregarding and defying law, persisted in running cattle upon waste land, and stealing to enlarge their herd. It is true that the Port Phillip settlers were gentlemen, exercising due control over their shepherds and stockriders while respecting the persons of the native inhabitants. But they were none the less sqTKitters,  and the Association, with a Governor secretly at their back, were treated like the vagrants of the bush in New South Wales.

       After once opposing the Van Diemen's Land proprietary, the Sydney Government continued to affirm a right over the new territory, and resisted every form of acknowledgment of the Association. The latter were not to be tolerated, their good offices were not to be recognised, their services to the opening up of so wonderful a source of revenue to New South Wales were not to be heeded. No sooner did the Association attempt, by remonstrances in London, to attract attention to their claims, than the Government of New South Wales loudly and ener-

       geticaJly protested against anything being done as recompense or compensation for the founders of Port Phillip. Even when the English Secretary of State evidently felt that the Association had done a good and great work, and had ventured to show that something could and should be done for them in return, the Sydney rulers persisted in their opposive course, and actually, as it was affirmed, misread or perverted the message from the English Government to do despite to the unfortunate Van Diemen's Land gentlemen.

       Was it astonishing, then, that some looked upon the whole movement as intercolonial jealousy, and as a blow struck by Sydney against Hobart Town ? Was it astonishing to find that the seeds of ill-will were then sown in Melbourne towards Sydney, producing disloyalty to the verge of rebellion, and eventuating in the total separation from New South Wales of the fine province of Port Phillip, which became the colony of Victoria ?

       Having thus glanced at the relations borne by the Port Phillip Association, let us examine the documentary history of this honourable but unfortunate colonial organisation.

       Immediately upon the return of John Batman in June, 1835, Mr. GelHbrand drew out, in the form of a letter to Governor Arthur, an interesting account of the expedition. That was a very natural course, and yet, as it proved, an injudicious one. The Sydney authority, as Governor-General, presumedly having more responsibility on the mainland than his Lieutenant on a neighbouring island, should have had, perhaps, the earliest official information. Anxious to prevent a possible failure, some urged that the Association should, by deputation, wait upon His Excellency. The only result was the^ Proclamation of Sir Richard Bourke.

       The first letter from the so-called Association was as follows:

       «*  Hobart Town,  27^  June,  1835.

       "  My Lord, —^We have the honour of inclosing copy of a Report made by Mr. Batman to His Excellency Governor Arthur, detailing the result of an expedition conducted at our joint expense to Port Phillip, on the south-western extremity of New Holland, for the purpose of efi^ecting a conciliatory intercourse with the native tribes in that part of the country, and afterwards of purchasing from the chiefs, upon equitable principles, a portion of that territory for pastoral and agricultural purposes.

       " We are fully persuaded that the perusal of that Report will dearly demonstrate that an intercourse has been established by our means, which promises the most happy and philanthropic results, and that the portion of the country granted to Mr. Batman, as our representative, has been obtained upon terms more equitable and just to the aboriginal possessors of the soil than any which the history of the British plantations can produce.

       "We have not contented ourselves with merely purchasing the land in the first instance, but we have reserved to the chiefs an annual tribute, payable for ever, of the vahie of at least  200L By means of this annual tribute, the friendly intercourse with the natives must of necessity be kept up, and will lead to gradual civilisation.

       " This tract of country is some hundred miles beyond the jurisdiction of New South Wales, but within the imaginary line leading from the Australian Bight to the Gulf of Carpentaria, and which defines the limits of Australia. We might therefore have contented ourselves with this treaty with the aboriginal tribes, and quietly have taken possession of the land without any official notice, either to the British or ColonialGovernments; but, in the first instance, we were desirous of communicating the happy results which had attended the intercourse with the natives, and, in the next place, of at once apprising His Majesty's Government of the nature of the grants which have been obtained, and the terms under which the land has been granted; because we feel confident that, having obtained firom the chiefs of the tribe, who are in fact the owners of the soil, a title based upon equitable principles, the Crown will, under your Lordship s advice, relinquish any legal or constructive right to the land in question, especially as the very destruction of our title would be taking away fi-om the natives the tribute which is thus secured to them for ever.

       " We therefore with confidence appeal to your Lordship to advise the Crown to grant to us such rights as the Crown may be advised that it possesses to the tracts of land in question, upon such equitable principles as your Lordship may conceive the justice of the case requires.

       " We have the honour to be, My Lord, Your Lordship's most obedient humble servants,

       (Signed)     C.  Swanston,   Jno. Thos. Collicott,

       J. T.  Gellibrand,   Jno. H. Wedge,

       W. G.  Sams,   Jno. Sinclair,

       J. & W.  Robertson,   Anthy. Cotterell,

       James Simpson,   Henry Arthur,

       Thomas Bannister,   Michael Connolly,

       John Batman,   George Mercer."

       Such a letter must have excited some interest in Downing Street, though it may have provoked a smile. To receive a claim from a self-nominated Association for rights of possession of territory in New Holland, solely on account of a treaty with naked savages, who had ever been systematically ignored by the British Government in any settlement, was quite enough to excite the risible faculties of English ofiBcials. What possible consideration could be shown for those gentlemen, colonists as they were, who were simple enough to regard helpless and uncivilised aborigines as " owners of the soil" ?. The difficulties afterwards encountered by the As^jociation in their correspondence with the authorities arose, in no small degree, from the impression that the claimants had a bee in their bonnet when they entered upon a treaty with the Australian blacks.

       The Treaty alluded to was made between certain natives of Port Phillip on the one part, and John Batman on the other.

       As the expenses of the expedition were paid by the members of the Association, who were to share in common with John Batman in all the profits of the transaction, it was but natural that the gentlemen should look to their own interests, with no suspicion of the honour and integrity of their agent. In the same month, therefore, as Batman returned, unfurling his banner of peaceful conquest in the shape of a transfer of thousands of acres, the following Deed was drawn up and duly executed. It was held that, if any mischance happened to Batman, the Association might suffer. By making over the property he had there secured to three members of the Association as trustees for the rest, all difficulty would be avoided. The instrument was as follows:—

       "THIS INDENTURE, made the thirtieth day of June one thousand eight hundred and thirty-five,  between John Batman,  of Benlomond, in Van Diemen's Land, Esquire, of the first part, and  Charles Swanston, Joseph Tice Gellibrand, and  James Simpson,  all of Hobart Town, Esquires, of the other part:  Whereas  the said John Batman is seized, or otherwise well entitled, by two certain deeds of feoffment, bearing date on or about the sixth day of June instant, and made by Jagajaga, Jagajaga, Jagajaga, the Principal Chiefs, and also Cooloolock, Bungarie, Yanyan, Moowhip, and Mommarmalar, Chiefs of the native Tribe called Dutigallar, situate at Port Philip, on the

       south-west cocu^t of New Holland, of two several tracts of land situate at Port Philip, and hereafter more particularly mentioned, are called Geelong, and containing about one hundred thousand acres of land, and the other called Dutigallar, and containing about five hundred thousand acres of land.  And WHEREAS the said John Batman is so seized, for and on behalf of himself and the said Charles Swanston, Joseph Tice Gellibrand, James Simpson, and also of Thomas Bannister, John Kobertson and William Robertson, John Thomas Collicott, of Hobart Town, Esquires; and also of Henry Arthur, John Hilder Wedge, John Sinclair, Arthur Cotterell, William George Saras, and Michael Connolly, of Launceston, Esquires ; and also of George Mercer, of the city of Edinburgh, Esquire, in certain shares and proportions:  And whereas,  by a certain Indenture, bearing date the twenty-ninth day of June instant, and made between the said John Batman of the one part, and the several other persons before mentioned, certain stipulations and agreements were made and entered into for the occupation of the said several tracts of land, and for the agistment of sheep and cattle thereon, and for the establishment of a settlement at Port Philip, and also for procuring a confirmation or grant from the Crown of the said tracts of land, and for the future division of the said land into separate shares and proportions, and for the conveyance of the said tracts of lands in such shares, to the several persons hereafter to be entitled thereto:  And whereas,  in order to provide against any contingency or impediment that may arise by the illness or death of the said John Batman before such conveyances can be properly made, it hath been proposed and agreed by the said John Batman, to convey and assure the said two tracts of land to the said Charles Swanston, Joseph Tice Gellibrand, and James Simpson, and their heirs and assignees, upon the trusts and for the ends, intents, and purposes hereafter mentioned: Now  this Indenture witnesseth,  that, for the purposes aforesaid, and in consideration of five shillings of lawful money of Great Britain by the said Charles Swanston, Joseph Tice Gellibrand, and James Simpson, to the said John Batman in hand well and truly paid, at or before the execution of these presents, the receipt whereof is hereby acknowledged. He,  the said John Batman, doth grant, bargain, sell, release, and assure, unto the said Charles Swanston, Joseph Tice Gellibrand, and James Simpson, and their heirs, ALL the tract and indented Head of Land situate, lying, and being at the bay of Port Philip, in New Holland, called or known by the native name of Geelong, extending from Geelong Harbour about due south, ten miles to the heads of Port Philip, taking in the whole tract of land, and containing about one hundred thousand acres of land, be the same more or less:  And also all  that other

       tract of land, situate and being at Port Philip, running ^from the branch of the river at the top of the Port, about seven miles from the mouth of the river, forty miles north-east, and from thence west forty miles across Iramoo Downs or Plains, and from thence south-west across   Mount Yalarmamartar to Geelong Harbour, at the head of the same,   containing   five hundred thousand acres, more or less, together with all timber growing thereon, ways, rights, members, and appurtenances to the said several tracts of land belonging or appertaining; all which said tracts of land are now in the possession of the said Charles Swanston, Joseph Tice Gellibrand, and James Simpson, by virtue of a bargain and sale for a year made to him thereof by indenture, bearing date the day next before the day of the date of these presents, and by force of the statute made for transferring uses into possession, TO  hold  the said tracts of land, with their,  and 'every of their   rights,   members,   and appurtenances,   (but  subject   to   the payment of the annual tribute therein respectively reserved and made payable to the Chiefs of the said tribe for ever,) unto, and to the use and behoof of the said Charles Swanston, Joseph Tice Gellibrand, and James Simpson, their heirs and assigns for ever, upon the trusts, nevertheless,  and  to and for   the  ends,  intents,  and purposes, and subject to the several rights, shares, equities, and interest expressed and declared of and   concerning   the   said tracts of land, in and by the said in part recited indenture of the said twency-ninth day of June, and for no other trust, intent, and purpose whatever:  And  the said Charles Swanston, Joseph Tice Gellibrand, and James Simpson, do, and each of them doth, hereby covenant to, and with the said John Batman, his heirs, and assigns, that they, the said Charles Swanston, Joseph Tice Gellibrand, and James Simpson, and the survivors and survivor of them, and the heirs of such survivor, shall and will make, do, and execute from time to time, such conveyances and assurances as shall   fully and   effectually carry into full effect the trusts and conditions mentioned and contained in the said recited Indenture.— In Witness, &c.

       Signed, Scaled, and Delivered        (Signed)  John Batman. by  Charles Swanston, &c.   C. Swanston.

       J. T.  Gellibrand.

       Jas. Simpson."

       One of the most interesting documents of 1835 is the Agreement entered into by the Association members on June 29th; though two days  after  the parties, to catch a mail, had written to England as if they had then a proper organisation.

       The preamble sets forth the treaty of June 6th made with

       the natives of Port Phillip by John Batman, and the two grants of land thereby secured in the districts of Geelong and Dutigalla. Then came the division of the  expected  spoil Batman was to have two-seventeenth shares, others one-seventeenth, but two undivided shares were left to the disposal of Major Mercer. Messrs. Batman and Wedge were appointed superintendents over the operations there. Each land grant was to be divided into seventeen shares. No one was to be employed in Port Phillip without a good character; while, to keep the men right, no liquor was to be landed but for private use or medicine. A committee of three should have general charge, and another committee of three should attend to shipment of stock, &c. All these arrangements were entered into under the pleasing and confident expectation that no serious difficulties would prevent the carrying out of the treaty, but that the Home Government would endorse the action of the Association, and make every member thereof rich and happy.

       This Deed is described as that " defining the objects of the Parties who propose to establish a Settlement on the Territories of Geelong and Dutigalla," and was thus expressed:—

       " THIS INDENTURE, made the twenty-ninth day of June, in the year of our Lord one thousand eight hundred and thirty-five,  between John Batman,  of Benlomond, in Van Diemen's Land, Esquire, of the one part;  Charles Swanston, of Hobart Town, in Van Diemen's Land, aforesaid. Esquire; Thomas Bannister,  of the same place. Esquire;  James Simpson, of the same place. Esquire;  Joseph Tice Gellibrand,  of the same place. Esquire;  John  and  William Robertson,  of the same place, Merchants;  Henry Arthur,  of Launceston, Esquire;  John Hilder Wedge,  of the same place. Surveyor; John Sinclair,  of the same place, Esquire;  John Thomas Collicott,  of Hobart Town, aforesaid, Esquire;  Anthony Cotterell,  of Launceston, aforesaid. Gentleman;  William George Sams,  of the same place. Esquire;  Michael Connolly, of Launceston, Merchant; and  George Mercer,  of the city of Edinburgh, Esquire, of the other part.— Whereas  the said John Batman did, on or about the twelfth day of May, one thousand eight hundred and thirty-five, proceed from Launceston to Port Philip, on the south-western coast of New Holland, at the joint expense and on the account of himself and the several other persons parties hereto, for the purpose of effecting an amicable intercourse with the Aboriginal Tribes who were living at or near Port Philip, and who were the possessors of that tract

    

  
    
       of country, and also for the purpose of obtaining, after effecting such intercourse, a grant from the said Tribes of a portion of their tract of country, for the purpose of enabling the several persons, parties hereto, to export sheep and cattle thereon, and to carry on pastoral and agricultural pursuits in connection with the civilisation of the said Tribes:  And whereas  the said John Batman hath succeeded in establishing a friendly intercourse with the Chiefs of the Tribes at Port Philip, and the Chiefs of the said Tribes have, by two certain Deeds, bearing date the sixth day of June, one thousand eight hundred and thirty-five, granted, enfeoffed, and confirmed unto the said John Batman, his heirs, and assignees, the two tracts of land hereinafter mentioned :  And whereas  the said two grants, with the endorserbents thereon of livery and seisin, are to the purport and effect following (that is to say) :  In the original, the two grants are set out verbatim:  And whereas  the said John Batman stands seized and possessed of the said two several tracts of land, so far as he lawfully can, under the said two grants, IN TRUST, nevertheless,  for the use and behoof of himself and the several other persons parties hereto, according to the several undivided shares and interests hereinafter mentioned, (that is to say,) the said John Batman two undivided seventeenths; the said Charles Swanston, one undivided seventeenth; the said Thomas Bannister, one undivided seventeenth ; the said James Simpson, one undivided seventeenth; the said Joseph Tice Gellibrand, one undivided seventeenth ; the said John and William Robertson, one undivided seventeenth; the said Henry Arthur, one undivided seventeenth; the said John Hilder Wedge, one undivided seventeenth; the said James Sinclair, one undivided seventeenth; the said John Thomas CoUicott, one undivided seventeenth ; the said Anthony Cotterell, one undivided seventeenth; the said William George Sams, one undivided seventeenth; the said Michael Connolly, one undivided seventeenth; the said George Mercer, one undivided seventeenth; and as to the other two undivided seventeenths, IN  trust,  for such person or persons, and in such share or shares as the said George Mercer shall by any deed or instrument in writing, direct, limit, or appoint: And whereas  a certain Report of the proceedings of the said John Batman, bearing date the twenty-fifth day of June instant, hath been transmitted with the concurrence of the said several other persons, parties hereto, to His Excellency Colonel George Arthur, Lieutenant-Governor of Van Diemen s Land, and the said John Batman, Charles Swanston, Thomas Bannister, James Simpson, Joseph Tice Gellibrand, John and William Robertson, Henry Arthur, John Hilder Wedge, John Sinclair, John Thomas Collicott, Anthony Cotterell, William George Sams, and Michael Connolly, have transmitted full power and authority to the said

       George Mercer to negotiate with the British Government for a confirmation on the part of the Crown of its rights to the said land, or a grant from the Crown of the land, as may be considered most advisable, and upon such terms as the said George Mercer may be able to obtain:  And whereas  the said George Mercer will have to expend a considerable sum of money in procuring from the Crown such confirmation or grant, and the said several parties last mentioned have agreed with the said George Mercer to repay him all such sum or sums of money as he may advance in proportion to the aforesaid undivided interests in the said land:  And whereas  it is expedient that possession should be forthwith taken of the said tracts of land, and that stock should be with all convenient speed placed thereon, and that the same should be placed for the next twelve months under the general superintendence of the said J. Batman, John Hilder Wedge, and such person or persons parties hereto, of the second part, as may think fit to proceed there during that period; and it is also expedient that certain rules and regulations should be drawn up and defined for the management of such stock and the affairs of the said Association, until a complete survey of the land and division takes place, as hereinafter is described: Now  this Indenture witnesseth,  and it is hereby declared and agreed by and between the said several persons parties hereto, and each of them doth hereby bind himself, his heirs, executors, and administrators, to the others and other of them, to the full, complete, and perfect fulfilment and performance of the several conditions, covenants, and agreements hereinafter mentioned,  (i,e,)  that each of the said parties shall and will, at his own expense, well and truly deliver at Port Philip, to the said J. Batman, or to a competent authority there, on his behalf, within six months from the date hereof, five hundred good and improved breeding ewes, and five hundred more within twelve months from the date hereof; that all overseers, servants, and others requisite for carrying on the said establishment at Port Philip shall be hired by the said J. Batman or the said J. H. Wedge; and that each party on whose account such servants may be hired shall pay such wages as the said J. Batman or J. H. Wedge shall agree for, and for which they may give an order to the servants so employed upon the party hereto for whose benefit he may be employed; that the said J. Batman and J. H. Wedge, or one of them, shall have the superintendence of the several flocks and herds which may be so delivered for and on account of the several persons who may have so shipped and delivered the stock, rendering to such persons a just and faithful account of the same, and of the increase thereof.

       **  That  accounts shall be kept by the said J. Batman and J. H.
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       Wedge of all supplies furnished to the servants of each party having stock, and of other expenses connected therewith, which shall he duly paid hy such persons, party hereto, on whose account such outlay shall have been incurred.

       "  That  the tracts of land shall be with all convenient speed properly surveyed and charted, and that the grant of Geelong shall be divided into seventeen shares, and the other grant, Dutigalla, into seventeen shares.

       "  That  all expenses to be incurred by the. said J. Batman during the said term, which shall be for the benefit of the general concern, shall be repaid according to the proportions aforesaid.

       '*  That  during the period aforesaid no liquor of any description shall be landed on the settlement for sale or distribution amongst the servants, excepting only wine for family use or medicinal purposes.

       "That  the management and arrangement with the natives of every description, and also the distribution of tribute, shall be vested solely in the said J. Batman.

       "  That  all the servants shall be of good character, and if possible be married men, and proceed with their wives and families, in order to prevent the possibility of any injury being inflicted upon the natives.

       "That  the actual expense of surveying the lands, and all expenses of procuring the grant or^ confirmation by the Crown, eitner by way of purchase or quit-rent, shall be borne and paid rateably, and in the proportions aforesaid.

       "  That  as soon as the grant or confirmation shall be obtained from the Crown, or other act made known equivalent thereto, or intimation given that the Crown will not interfere, then that the said J. Batman, his heirs, or assignees, or such other persons,

       Karty hereto, or any person in trust for them, or him, as may ave any legal interest or title under the Crown, shall and will make, execute, and convey all his or their right, title, or interest, of, in, and to the said two several tracts of land, and all other lands which may be comprised in any new grant unto and amongst the several other persons, parties, in the proportions aforesaid, to the use of them, their heirs, and assignees in foe-simple, and subject only to the conditions and reservations which may be in such grants contained.

       "  That  in order to determine the portion or share of each party in the land, it is hereby declared and agreed, that the said J. Batman, in consideration of his personal services and exertions, shall be entitled to make the first selection of one share, not only of the land at Geelong Point, but on the other tract of land called Dutigalla, and that the remaining sixteen shares to each tract shall be determined by lot.
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       "  That  no proprietor shall sell or dispose of his estate and interest in the land or any part thereof, for the space of five years to any person or persons, except a co-proprietor, on pain of thereby forfeiting all his right, title, and interest, to his share in the said lands and every part thereof, and the same shaU then become a forfeited share to be divided amongst the other proprietors ; and that for the purpose of protecting the native tribes, and also of enforcing due order and morals, a medical attendant and a catechist shall be provided at the expense of the estate, and shall form an item of general expense, to be charged in the said J. Batman's general accounts.

       "  That  a Committee, consisting of the said Charles Swanston, J. T. Qellibrand, and James Simpson, shall have power to make further arrangements to carry the objects of these presents into execution, and also to correspond, from- time to time, with the agent in England respecting the grants and other matters.

       "That  a Committee, consisting of the said M. Connolly, John Sinclair, and H. Arthur, shall have power to superintend and arrange, contract for, and direct the shipment of stock, and the periods and method of completing the same, and also to purchase supplies for the use of the establishment when required, it being clearly understood and agreed that each party is to pay all the expense of shipping and delivering the stock at Port Philip.

       "That,  although the stock shall be under the general arrangement and control of the said J. Batman and J. H. Wedge during the period of twelve months, it is nevertheless distinctly agreed and understood, that nothing herein contained shall extend or be construed to extend as creating a partnership or community of interest, but each person shall have a separate interest in his own flock, and the increase and returns thereof, the said J. Batman and J. H. Wedge being paid by each party intrusting them with their stock, a commission beyond all expenses of actual outlay of ten pounds per cent, upon the net gains and profits, after deducting losses and deaths, and all expenses, as a compensation for his or their trouble in the superintendence, and which commission shall be paid within one month afler the expiration of the said term.

       "  That  in case of any dispute between all or any of the said parties arising out of these presents or connected therewith, the same shall be submitted to the arbitration of three persons, one to be named by each party, and the other by the arbitrator, and the decision by any two of them shall be final and binding, so  as to avoid all litigation, and cement the parties in the bond of union.

       *'  That  at the expiration of the said term of twelve months, and before any conveyance of the shares shall be made, the
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       several persons, parties hereto, shall and will subscribe and agree to a code of rules and regulations for the better government of the said settlement, based upon the principles hereinbefore mentioned and declared, together with such others as the state of the then settlement shall m the judgment of the major part of the proprietors render requisite for the extension of the two principal objects, civilisation of the tribes, and pastoral pursuits.— In Witness, &c."

       An Association formed upon such righteous views in relation to the natives would be careful in their selection of servants at Port Phillip. Knowing well that the enormities and sufferings attending the Black War in Van Diemen's Land were mainly owing to the improper conduct of convict servants in the Bush, and conscious that similar evils might arise in the new settlement unless due precautions were taken, the gentlemen were very particular as to their choice of helps. To this end they bound their  employes  not only to serve for a fixed term, but engaged them to treat the aborigines in a conciliatory spirit.

       The foUowiDg is the Indenture form used in 1835. The contract appears in the name of Mr. Batman, as the local representative of the Association, and the managing partner:—

       « THIS INDENTURE, made the   day of

       one thousand eight hundred and BETWEEN  John Batman,  of Benlomond, in Van Diemen's Land, Esquire, of the one part; and

       of the other part.— Whereas  the said  John Batman  is possessed of a considerable tract of land situate at Port Philip, on the south-western coast of New Holland, and the said  John Batman  intends forthwith to ship, and also to take under his management at Port Philip, an extensive flock of sheep, and also a herd of cattle for pastoral and other purposes: And whereas  the said   ^   hath

       applied to the said  John Batman  to hire and engage him as a farming servant, to proceed to Port Philip under the management and direction of the said  John Batman,  for the space of twelve months, under and subject to the conditions and stipulations hereinafter mentioned, and to which proposal the said John Batman  hath consented and agreed, Now  this Indenture WITNESSETH, and the said  John Batman  and

       do hereby severally covenant, declare, and agree to and with the other of them, his executors and administrators, in manner following;   (that is to say)   that the said

       shall and will well, faithfully,

       honestly, and justly serve him, the said  John Batman,  as his servant, for the period of twelve months, to commence on the

       day of   next ensuing:

       "  That  the said   shall on the said

       day of   be ready at George

       Town, to receive and take charge of any sheep, cattle, or other stock which the said  John Batman  may have to place under his care, and that he shall, to the utmost of his power, assist in the shipment of the same, and also in the feeding and management on board ship, and until delivered at Port Philip.

       "  That  upon such delivery at Port Philip, the said

       shall thereupon proceed to such part of the land occupied by the said  John Batman  as the said  John Batman  shall direct and appoint, and that he shall also well and faithfuUv take charge of or assist in the charge of such flocks or heras aa the said  John Batman  shall direct, and do such other acts of business as the said  John Batman  may reasonably require.

       "  That  the said   nor his wife, nor any

       of his children, shall at any time offer any violence or injury to any of the aborigines of the said land, or any of them, except only in actual defence of his or their lives or properties; but that the said   shall use his utmost

       endeavours to conciliate the natives.

       "  That  in case the said   or his wife,

       or children, or any of them, shall offer any improper or unnecessary violence to the said natives, or if the said

       shall refuse or neglect to perform or obey the lawful commands of the said  John Batman,  or any overseer placed over the said   it shall

       be lawful for the said  John Batman,  by the first opportunity, to remove the said   and his family,

       from the settlement at Port Philip, and to tranship him and them to George Town ; and that the said  John Batman  shall be authorized to give in evidence these presents as a sufficient authority for such removal

       "  That  the said  John Batman  shall and will find and provide the said   with the following rations

       during his performance of the aforesaid conditions; (that is to say,)

       '*  That,  upon the due performance by the said

       of the aforesaid conditions and stipulations, and every of them, for the full period of twelve months, to be computed as aforesaid, the said  John Batman  shall and will pay to the said   the sum of

       of lawful money
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       of Great Britain, for his services, such sum to be paid by an order drawn by the said  John Batman  upon, and to be paid by   of

       Esquire; but it is expressly declared and agreed that the said

       shall not be entitled to any wages unless the whole period of twelve months is well and faithfully performed according to the aforesaid conditions and eveiy of them.

       "  That  the said  John Batman  shall be at liberty to deduct from such wages all supplies furnished to the said

       over and above the rations hereinbefore mentioned.— In Witness

       Signed, sealed, and delivered."

       Though the communication of the operations of the Association was first made to the Governor of Van Diemen's Land, it was deemed prudent, at the earliest date, to inform the British Ministry; the letter, therefore, to the Secretary of the Colonies was entrusted to the care of the ruler at Hobart Town.

       The cautious Colonial Secretary in Van Diemen's Land, Mr. John Montagu, while stating His Excellency's readiness to forward the report of the proceedings to London, was resolved not to commit himself. A representation would be made of the respectability of the members of the Association, and of the worthy motives actuating them toward the natives of L:amoo, or Port Phillip, but no encouragement was given of their hopes. As with Mr. Henty and others, so with them, no grant was to be expected. The Treaty, however benevolent and just, could not be binding, when the British Government never considered so-called native rights. At the same time, the gentlemen may have read something more hopeful between the lines of this epistle :—

       "  Colonial Secretary's ^Ofpice, Srd JiUy,  1885.

       "  Sib, —I am directed to inform you, that the Lieutenant-Governor having perused with much interest the account contained in your Report of the 25th ultimo, of your expedition to Port PhilUp, is highly gratified with the very favourable opinion you have been enabled to form of the fertility of the adjacent territory; thus confirming the various statements which have been made respecting it since the first occupation of the country

       in 1803 by Governor Collins, and more especially by Messrs. Hovell and Hume and Captain Wright, whose reports have long since been in the possession of His Majesty's Government.

       " Though divided only by a few hours' sail from the most fertile portion of Van Diemen's Land, Port Phillip is not within the jurisdiction of this Government. His Excellency would therefore only observe, that the recognition of the rights supposed to have been acquired by the treaty into which you have entered with the natives, would appear to be a departure from the principle upon which a Parliamentary sanction, \vithout reference to the aborigines, has been given to the settlement of Southern Australia, as part of the possession of the Crown.

       " The LieutenantrGovemor will have great pleasure, however, in forwarding your Report to His Majesty's Government, and in representing the enterprise manifested by yourself,—the respectability of the parties interested in the undertaking, and the humane consideration which. His Excellency is informed, it is their intention to extend towards the aboriginal inhabitants of Iramoo, but which justice and humanity require as a preliminary in the occupation of every new country; but at the same time the Lieutenant-Governor would remark, for the reason he has assigned, that he considers it would not be prudent in the gentlemen associated with you to incur expense in any reliance upon a confirmation from the Crown of your title to the land, under the arrangement into which you have entered; an opinion which His Excellency cannot avoid expressing, although he is very sensible, that the colonisation of the new country you have examined would, on account of its proximity, be highly conducive to the prosperity of Van Diemen's Land.

       " I am also to observe, that in reference to the application of Mr. Henty to be allowed, under certain conditions, to locate a grant of land on the southern coast of New Holland, His Majesty's Government declined to accede to his proposals— conceiving that to have done so, would be to deviate from the principle involved in the Act for the Settlement of Southera Australia.—I remain,

       «Sm,

       " Your most obedient servant, (Signed)   "John Montagu.

       "John Batman, Esq., &c., &c"

       Governor Arthur has been severely criticised for the part ha took in the Settlement of Port Phillip. He was accused by some parties of ambitiously seizing the control of the New Colony, and by others he was condemned for not at once sending his representative to the banks of the Yarra.    While

       on the one side he was charged with total indi£ference as to the safety of those of his subjects who went over the Straits, and even positive antagonism to the Batman enterprise, he was charged on the other, especially by Mr. Fawkner, with complicity in the Association, and with being an investor in the undertaking. The  Tasmanian and Review  of May 27th, 1836, defends the character of His Excellency, saying:—

       "Lieutenant-Governor Arthur has been accused of a want of policy in neglecting to adopt the measure which Governor Bourke has thus taken upon himself. This, as have been all other accusations against Colonel Arthur, is wholly and altogether unjust. He had neither the authority nor the power to do this. Had he even possessed the latter, he had not the slightest pretence for exercising it. The extent of his jurisdiction is clearly confined in his commission to this island and its dependencies. What a monstrous stretch would it not have been on his part to have ventured upon the continent of New Holland! And can it be supposed that Governor Bourke, the Govemor-in-Chief of both colonies, would have permitted it for a moment ? "

       After a reference to the pleasing intelligence that the Phil-lipian has received authority for a sort of Permissive Occupation, the editor takes up another slander:—

       "We have here to contradict, in the most positive terms which language can express, the rumours which have been industriously circulated here, and (like the three Black Crows of the  Spectator),  rendered into positive assertions by the Sydney

       ^'oumals, that Colonel Arthur has some interest in the Port Phillip speculation. His Excellency has not the very slightest, of any sort or description, direct or indirect, in any way, shape, or form whatever. For the correctness of this we appeal to the real Governor-in-Chief, Mr. Gellibrand."

       The English paper.  Spectator,  must have had some slanderous intelligence upon which to found the following article :—

       " Though the Government of New South Wales was unable to prevent this invasion of its territory, the Government of Van Diemen's Land might easily have prevented the departure of the invading expedition. It is unaerstood, however, that this attack upon the laws and Government of New South Wales was positively sanctioned by the Governor of Van Diemen's Land, whose own nephew is one of the persons acting in defiance of

       the law of New South Wales and of Sir RichaFd Bourke's Proclamation. Will Colonel Arthur be taken to task by the Colonial OflBce for his conduct in this matter ? Or will he be rewarded for it by being appointed Governor of the usurped territory ? Was not the illegal expedition planned with a view of making a Governorship for Colonel Arthur, who is about to lose the government of Van Diemen's Land ?"

       The Port Phillip Association, then called the " Geelong and Dutigalla Association," from the district incorporated in their supposed grants from the natives, determined to fight the question at home. They placed the matter in the hands of one of their number, Major Mercer, after whom a street is named in modern Gteelong. Right loyally and courageously did that gentleman contend  {or  the position assumed.

       In 1835 he began the campaign in Great Britain. It was thought best to have counsers opinion, and the following  aise was prepared for legal consideration:—

       Case for Opinion.

       "  The  accompanying Report, No. 1, gives a detailed account of the occupation by Mr. Batman of certain tracts of land situated at the south-western extremity of New Holland, and in the vicinity of a port marked upon the EngUsh charts as Port Philip.

       " The documents, Nos. 2 and 3, are copies of Deeds of Feoflf-ment in favour of Mr. Batman, executea by the Chiefs of the native tribe, living at and contiguous to Port Philip.

       " The document. No. 4, is copy of a letter addressed by the Members of the Association for forming a settlement upon the tracts of land in question to the Secretary of State for the Colonies, soliciting a confirmation on the part of the Crown of the tracts of land granted by the deeds, Nos. 2 and 3. This letter has not yet been delivered to the Colonial Secretary.

       '* The tracts of country in question are within the limits of Australia, as defined in the maps, of which the line extends from the Australian Bight to the Gulf of Carpentaria, but they are situated some hundred miles from New South Wales> which is only a part of Australia.

       " Port Philip was named after Governor Philip, the first Governor of New South Wales, who formed a temporary settlement there, which was immediately abandoned, and no act of ownership has since been exercised by the Crown.

       " The natives are, as appears by the Report, an intelligent set of men, and the grants were obtained upon equitable principles,

       of which the reservation of the tribute is strong evidence, and the purport of the deeds was fully comprehended by them.

       "The gentlemen composing the Association have possessed themselves of the tracts of country in question, and have flocks and other property there of the value of at least 30,000/.

       ** The following documents are added as tending to illustrate the present situation of the colonists, as well as their views and intentions.

       *'No. 5. Copy answer returned through the office of the Colonial Secretsur of Van Diemen's Land to Mr. Batman's Keport, addressed to the Lieutenant-Governor.

       '* No. 6.  Map of the ceded territory.

       " No. 7. Copy Indenture made by John Batman, Charles Swanston, and others, for defining the objects of the parties who propose to establish a settlement on the ceded territories.

       " No. 8. Copy Conveyance of the ceded territories made by Mr. Batman, and relative declaration of trust.

       " Your Opinion is requested.

       '*!. Whether the grants obtained by the Association are vaUd?

       "2. Whether the right of soil is or is not vested in the Crown?

       " 3. Whether the Crown can legally oust the Association from their possessions ?

       "4. What line of conduct or stipulations would you advise the Association to pursue and make with the British Government ; in particular, ought they to oflfer Government any specific terms, and ought the whole of the documents now laid before you to be at once communicated to Government, or ought such communication to embrace only part of them, and if so what part ?"

       Opinion.

       " 1 and 2. I am of opinion, that, as against the Crown, the grants obtained by the Association are not valid, and that, as between Great Britain and her own subjects, as well as tbe subjects of foreign states, the right to the soil is vested in the Crown. It has been a principle adopted by Great Britain as well as by the other European states, in relation to their settlements on the .continent of America, that the title which discovery conferred on the Government, by whose authority or by whose subjects the discovery was made, was that of the ultimate dominion in and sovereignty over the soil, even whilst it continued in the possession of the aborigines. Vattel, B. 2. c. 18. This principle was reconciled with humanity and justice towards the aborigines, because the dominion was qualified by allowing them to retain, not only the rights of occupancy,  but also a

       restricted power of alienating those parts of the territory which they occupied. It was essential that the power of alienation should be restricted. To have allowed them to sell their lands to the subjects of a foreign state would have been inconsistent with the right of the state, by the title of discovery to exclude all other states from the discovered country. To have allowed them to sell to her own subjects would have been inconsistent with their relation  of subjects.

       " The restriction imposed on their power of alienation consisted in the right of pre-emption of these lands by that state, and in not permitting its own subjects or foreigners to acquire a title by purchase from them without its consent Therein consists the sovereignty of a dominion or right to the soil asserted and exercised by the European Government against the aborigines, even whilst it continued in their possession. The Commission granted by England to Cabot, the charter to Sir Humphrey Gilbert in 1578, and which was afterwards renewed to Sir Walter Raleigh, the charter to Sir Thomas Gates and others in 1606, and to the Duke of Lennox and others in 1620, the grants to Lord Clarendon in 1663, and to the Duke of York in 1664, recognize the right to take possession on the part of the Crown, and to hold in absolute property, notwithstanding the occupancy of the natives.

       " The cession of ' aU Nova Scotia or Arcadia, with its ancient boundaries,* made by France to Great Britain by the 12th Article of the Treaty of Utrecht in 1703, and the cession of other lands in America, made at the peace of 1763, comprised a great extent of territory which was in the actual occupation of the Indians. Great Britain on the latter occasion surrendered to France all her pretensions to the country west of the Mississippi, although she was not in possession of a foot of land in the district thus ceded. But that which Great Britain really surrendered was her sovereignty, or the exclusive right of acquiring and of controlling the acquisition by others of lands in the occupation of the Indians.

       " On the cession by Spain to France of Florida, and by France to Spain of Louisiana, and on the subsequent retrocession of Louisiana by Spain to France, and the subsequent purchase of it by the United States from France, these powers were transferring and receiving territories, the principal parts of which were occupied by the Indians.

       " The history of American colonization furnishes instances of purchases of laiid from the native Indians by individuals. The most memorable is the purchase made by William Penn. It has, however, been observed by Chief Justice Marshall, in the case of Johnson  v,  M'Intosh, 8 Wheaton's Rep. 570, that this purchase was not deemed to have added to the strength of his

       title. Previously to this purchase the lands called Pennsylvania, and which comprised those subsequently purchased by him, had been granted by the Crown to him and his heirs in absolute

       Sroperty, by a charter in 1681, and he held a title derived &om ames 11. when Duke of York. He was, in fact, as a proprietary governor, invested with all the rights of the Crown, except those which were specially reserved. Another instance is the purchase from the Narraghansetts Indians of the lands which formed the colonies of Rhode Island and Providence. They were made by persons whose religious dissensions bad driven them from Massachusetts. The state of England at this period might account for this transaction having escaped the attention of the Government. It is evident, however, that the settlers were not satisfied with the title acquired by this purchase, for on the restoration of Charles II. they solicited and obtained from the Crown a charter, by which Providence was incorporated with Rhode Island. The grant is made to them ' of our Island called Rhode Island,' and of the soil as well as the powers of Government. The judgment of Lord Hardwicke in the case of Penn  v.  Lord Poltimore, 1 Ves. 454, is not inconsistent with, but in many respects, supports, this view of the rights of the Crown and its grantees.

       " In all the colonies which now constitute the United States, the Crown either granted to individuals the right in the soil, although occupied by the Indians, as was the case in most of the proprietary governments, or the right was retained by the Crown, or vested in the Colonial Government. The United States at the termination of the Revolution acquired the right to the soil which had been previously vested in the Crown, for Great Britain by treaty relinquished all claim ' to the proprietary and territorial rights of the United States.' The validity of titles acquired by purchases from the Indians has been on several occasions the subject of decision in the courts of the Uoited States. The judgment of Chief-Justice Marshall in the case of Johnson  v.  M'Intosh, contains the elaborate opinion of the Supreme Court, that the Indian title was subordinate to the absolute ultimate title of the Government, and that the purchase made otherwise than with the authority of the Government was not valid. A similar decision was given by the same court in the case of Worcester  v,  the State of Georgia, in January 1832. 3 Kent's Com. 382, and the case referred to in the note, p. 385.

       " 3. I am of opinion that the Crown can legally oust the Association from their possession.

       " The enterprise manifested by the expedition,—the respectability of the parties engaged in it,—and the equitable and judicious manner in which they conducted the intercourse with

       the native tribes, and made their purchase, afford a strong ground for anticipating that the Crown would, in conformity with its practice on other occasions, on a proper application, give its sanction to, and confirm the purchase winch the Association has made. Lord Hardwicke, in the case which has been referred to expressed a very strong opinion, that the possession of persons making these settlements ought to receive the fullest protectioli.

       " There is no ground for considering that the lands comprised in this purchase are affected by the act erecting South Australia into a rrovince, 4 and 5 W. IV., c. 96. They are clearly not within the boundaries assigned to the territory which is the subject of the act, and therefore the Crown is not precluded from confirming the purchase.

       "4. I am of opinion that the Association should make an application to the Goverment for a confirmation of the above purchase, and accompany it with a full communication, not only of all the documents now laid before me, but of every other circumstance connected with the acquision.

       (Signed)        "Willla.m Burge.

       **Une. Inn, IQthJan.  1886."

       " We have perused the extremely able and elaborate opinion of Mr. Burge, and entirely concur in the conclusions at which he has arrived upon each of the queries submitted to us.

       (Signed)   "  Tho. Pemberton.

       W.   W.  FOLLETT.

       **JaH,  21, 1886."

       Between the dates of these two opinions—16th and 21st— we have the declaration of the learned Dr. Lushington. A curious issue arose, as is seen in the paper entitled " Memorandum in addition to Case in regard to the Geelong and Dutigalla Association."    It runs thus:—

       ** Since the Case relative to the settlement made in AustraUa by the Geelong and Dutigalla Association was laid before Counsel, inquiry has been made of Mr. Mercer, one of the Members of that Association, whether the settlement in question fell within the limits of  South Australia,  which His Majesty was empowered to erect into a British Province by the Act 4 and 5 Wm. IV. c. 95 (passed 15th August, 1834).

       " It will be seen from that act that the Province of  Bouth Aiistralia  is described as lying * between the meridians of the 132nd and 141st degrees of east longitude, and between the

       Southern Ocean and  26 degrees of south latitude, together with the islands adjacent thereto/

       "The settlement in question is not included in any other British province theretofore erected in Australia.

       " Mr. Mercer has answered this inquiry as follows :— "' Port Philip, where we have settled, lies 300 miles from Lake Alexandrina, into which the river Murray flows, and between 3r 30' and 38^ 15' south latitude, 144^ 20' and 145° 20' east longitude, quite clear of the South Australian new colony recognised by the late Act of Parliament: This act I will show you if able to go in on Friday next. The papers will show that it had once been taken possession of and afterwards abandoned; also that it is within the imaginary line drawn from the Gulf of Carpentaria to the Australian Bight. Any map of New Holland will show its position. A question might even be raised, whether the Crown or Parliament had a right to colonize South Australia, without a treaty with the Native Chiefs : This, however, is not our business just now.'"

       Opinion by Dr. Lushington.

       '* 1. I am of opinion that the grants obtained by the Association are not valid without the consent of the Crown.

       " 2 and 3. I do not think that the right to this territory is at present vested in the Crown; but I am of opinion that the Crown might oust the Association: for I deem it competent to the Crown to prevent such settlements being made by British subjects if it should think fit.

       " 4. I think the most advisable course the Association can pursue is to give the Crown the fullest information on all pointa I think it unwise and unsafe to hold back any document or information whatever. Indeed, the so doing, if in an important particular, might invalidate the security the Association might derive from the grants or acts of the Crown.

       " I further think that it would not be expedient, in the first instance, to propose specific terms. The best course would be, after giving full information, to request the countenance, sanction, and aid of the Crown; of course afterwards the security of the lands by confirmation or grant firom the Crown must be obtained; under what conditions or restrictions must be matter for subsequent negotiation with Government.

       " This present plan is, truly speaking, the planting of a new colony, and nothing can be safely or effectually done but by the authority of the Crown.

       (Signed)   "  Stephen Lushington.

       "GiiEAT  Gkoi:or Street, Jan.  18, 1836."

       TcfOiCe-p $SC   Worri^ona Ji. and Burrdbull.

       On the 26th of January, 1836, Mr. Mercer addressed this letter to Lord Glenelg, then Secretary for the Colonies:—

       "  To the Right ffonourdble  Lobd Glenelg,

       Principal Secretary of State,   "  Dbtdbn House, by Edinbuagh,

       CoUmicU Department.   26th Janttary,  1836.

       "  My Lord, —In the capacity of Shareholder, and as Agent for the Geelong and Dutigalla Association, I have the honour to lay before your Lordship, for the favourable consideration of His Majesty's Ministers, the accompanying documents as per margin (elsewhere given in this work).

       " The object of the Association is to obtain, in the exercise of the Royal Prerogative, a recognition and confirmation by the Crown of the treaties executed by the Aboriginal Chiefs, occupants of the soil; or should ms Majesty's Ministers see any legal objection to this recognition and confirmation, of which I am not at present aware, a Royal Qrant of the Territories, as feudatories of the British Crown.

       " In addressing your Lordship on a subject not less important, I conceive, to the British Empire than to the associated body, I would beg permission to oflfer to the consideration of His Majesty's advisers, the many and great advantages proximately spnnging firom the relief afforded by the emigration of settlers without charge to the State, and prospectively in the formation of a nucleus for a free and useful colony, founded upon principles of conciliation and civilization, of philanthropy, morality, and temperance, without danger of its ever becoming onerous to the mother country, and calculated to insure the well-being and comfort of the native occupants, the proposed system instructing and protecting, not exterminating them.

       " Should His Majesty's Ministers see legal objections to the recognition and confirmation of the native treaties, I would presume to suggest that a Crown grant of this territory be issued in the names of John Batman and Charles Swanston, Esqrs.,—these gentlemen having executed regular deeds, binding themselves to act generally for the Members of the Association.

       " I may state for your Lordship's information that a Catechist is, I have reason to believe, even now exercising his functions there, and, I trust, instructing the benighted Aborigines through the medium of Mr. Batman's native servants as interpreters, and that a medical man is ere this giving his aid on the spot.

       " In conclusion, I may be allowed to observe, that no person save Mr. Batman could have accomplished this great object, and that the Association feel satisfied, if disturbed in the enjoyment of the land, ceded by the tribes under treaties Tabooed with the sacred symbols of their chiefs, which cannot, and will not ever

       on their parts be broken, that if such obstruction, involving a failure on the part of the white man, occur, reliance on him will be at an end; and the country, if ever, occupied hereafter by the extermination of the aboriginal proprietors alone!

       " Under such circumstances I trust I may, without presumption, flatter myself that His Majesty's Ministers will be glad to find it consistent with their duty to the Crown and the country to sanction and foster a colony, founded upon principles of humanity and civilization, and opening a new field for emigration and British industry.

       "A notice of this letter, at as early a period as may be compatible with your Lordship's other important avocations, would be highly acceptable, as I am instructed eventually to forward Settlers to Port Philip.

       " 1 have the honour to be, &c.

       (Signed)   "George Mercer."

       A reply came from Lord Glenelg. He alludes to the request that "If His Majesty's Government should see any legal objection to this recognition and confirmation  (trecUy with the natives),  a royal grant of the territories may be made to the Association as feudatories of the Crown."

       To this he simply replied, February 15th:—

       " The territory on which it is proposed to form the settlement in question, is a part of the colony of New South Wales, being comprised within the limits laid down in the commission of Governor Sir Richard Bourke, and consequently that it is mpossible for His Majesty's Government to acknowledge any "title to lands acquired there, except upon the terms prescribed in that commission and the accompanying instructions."

       This seemed a death-blow to the expectations of the Association. Lord Glenelg professed his helplessness in the matter, and left the memorialists entirely in the hands of the Gtovemor of New South Wales.

       But the gallant Major neither lost his courage nor seemed at the end of his resources. Lord Glenelg was a Christian philanthropist, and must surely sympathise with the eflforts of the Geelong and Dutigalla Association to shield and bless the aborigines. He must be shown the real feeling of the parties. New South Wales was then a convict colony; and Port Phillip, under the Association, would be a free one, established upon humanitarian principles. Mr. Mercer instanced the case of other associations in the Australian settlements, and would be satis-

       »

       fied if treated as favourably as some of them. But the letter is too important to be omitted. Dated from Edinburgh, March 16th, 1836, it is as follows :—

       "  My Lord, —I have had the honour to receive your Lordship's letter of 15th February, in reply to my address under date 26th January 1836, intimating that His Majesty's Government cannot acknowledge any title to lands acquired by the Port Philip Association, except upon the terms prescribed in the commission and accompanying instructions issued to Governor Sir Richard Bourke, the lands in question constituting a part of the colony of New South Wales.

       " Sir R. Bourke's commission and instructions have reference, I presume, alone to a penal colony, and, moreover, it may not be imjpossible that the said commission and instructions were drawn at a time when the British Government deemed it expedient to meet and counteract a disposition, evinced by the Government of France, to form a colony on that part of Australia; consequently the territory of New South Wales might have been extended far beyond the limits adapted to a penal colony.

       " Port Philip is about 600 miles from Sydney, and 400 from the nearest lands of that colony yet occupied by British subjects with the sanction of Government, and will not, therefore, under the slow and regular march of population, be located as a penal colony until some very distant period.

       " I have been given to understand that it is not the intention of His Majesty's Government to extend or increase penal colonies, and the same power that joined Port Philip to, can, I conclude, with equal mcility and propriety, dissever it from, New South Wales, greatly, I conceive, to the advantage of the mother country.

       " These lands, unless formed into a free colony, must, I am humbly of opinion, lie dormant or be grazed by Squatters only for a century to come; whereas, if now granted by the Crown to the Geelong and Dutigalla Association upon equitable terms, they will be speedily rendered a valuable acquisition to the State.

       " I may be permitted to observe, that the purchase of the tract of laiid ceded by the native Chiefs to the Association, uppn the terms prescribed in the commission and instructions to Governor Sir Richard Bourke, is out of all question, unless the advantages of a full portion of convict labour were accorded, as well to the body purchasing as for public purposes of general improvement,—making roads, bridges, &c., thus involving the necessity of an expensive Government establishment, civil and military, for the improvement of the colony,—for the control of

       the prisoners,—and for the protection of the settlers,—in fact, planting another penal colony with all its concomitant charges to the parent state.

       " The Association profess their wish to be a free colony, without pecuniary sacrifice to the mother country; at the same time every member of it is aware of the absolute necessity of the presence of British local authorities, to see that due protection be extended to all, and that justice be done to the aborigines, whose welfare and general improvement the Association tsJ^es a pride in declaring to be one of its great objects, as evinced by the tribute paid to, and arrangements made with, the natives.

       " It is unnecessary for me to call your Lordship's attention to the fatal consequences at Hunter's river (about 100 miles only from the capital) of the absence of such amicable arrangements and the presence of runaway convicts; these combined causes operating destruction and murders in every direction: Yet I may take the liberty,  as  pertinent to the subject, and not, perhaps, so well known to your Lordship, to advert to the many acta of aggression committed by the Whalers and others at Portland Bay, where a tract of country haa lately been granted by the Home Government, formerly refused to an application made by memorial through Colonel Arthur, (please see ultimate par£^;raph of Mr. Colonial Secretary Montagu's reply of 3d July 1835, to Mr. Batman:) This tract having been occupied without previous friendly intercourse with the natives, and being beyond the operation of any present law, consequently without local government or authorities.

       " Assuming it, as I humbly do, to be the bounden duty of both Government and the soliciting grantees to extend to these benighted people a full measure of kindness and protection, and if possible the blessings of Christianity, in lieu of advantages to be derived from the possession of the soil by the British Empire and the Association,—I would presume to suggest to your Lordship, that a Crown grant be given at a moderate quit rent, sufficient for the support of a small, but for the present adequate, establishment, appointed by the Crown to superintend and protect all parties in and connected with a new free colony. This acceded to by Government, the matter would resolve into a question of amount.

       "Although, as occupants in a free colony, the Association would labour under many and great pecuniary and other disadvantages comparatively with those located in a penal settlement, yet the body for whom I act would not, I have reason to believe, object to the Van Diemen's Land Company bein^ taken as an archetype to found upon. And this being acceded to by your Lordship, the following statement would be the result: I may be   permitted   to  premise,   that that Company selected

       250,000 acres of available land in six different and distaiit localities, being allowed 110,000 acres more, supposed, useless Itods, and not valued to them, and that they do or may have the fdll amount of their quit rent, or even much more returned to them, through the means of convict labour unknown in a firee colony.

       "The Van Diemen's Land Company have 360,000 acres, 250,000 of land fit for tillage and pasturage at 2^.  Qd.  equal to £31,250; quit rent 1^ per cent, equal to £468 15«. redeemable at twenty years' purchase, or £9,375 sterling, quit rent not payable until the expiration of five years from the date of the grant or charter. This latter stipulation, the Association deeming an immediate superintendency by a Government commissioner and officers, for the due protection of all parties, of the utmost importance, would dispense with, and willingly commence payment at the expiration of six months from the arrival of such commissioners and authorities on the spot, always looking for a local expenditure of the quit rent for the benefit of tho colony. Based on this principle, and reckoning 500,000 acres in the tract ceded io June last by the chiefs to the Association, the quit rent would amount to £937 10^.; but as this might not be deemed a sufficient sum for the proposed establishment, were the tract to the east of the ceded territories to be included in the grant or charter, as delineated on the accompanying map by lines from C. 35 miles due south to £. and from £. 32 miles about S.W. to D. at good water creek on Port Philip, the whole estimated to contain on a liberal scalQ 750,000 acres of land fit for tillage and pasturage, which can scarcely be expected; the territory lying in one continuous tract, the Association would thus be placed on such grounds as to justify a payment of £1,406 5^. per annum quit rent, equal to the support of adequate public authorities, until the colony become, by population and trade, of importance sufficient to require a larger establishment, to be supported by a regular system of light duties on all imports, except those of British manufacture. Taking this view of the matter, the Association would .become liable for an annual payment as follows :

       Tribute for present tract ceded  •  jf 200   0   0

       Do. propoised extended tract, say         120   0   0

       Total tribute to native Chiefs     820   0   0

       Quit rent to ^e British Qovemment     1,406   5   0

       Salary to Dr.  Thomvon, now acting in  the combined

       capacities of catechist and surgeon, on an aUowance of.   180   0   0

       £1,906   5   0

       " The associated body would naturally expect to be relieved from the burden of Dr. Thomson's salary, who would become

       c c

       a Government officer on the establishment when payment of quit rent commenced.

       " Your Lordship will not fail to have observed the result of a late expedition sent to follow up Captain Sturt's discoveries, behind Lake Alexandrina, which had returned, having suffered loss in a skirmish with the natives—^a circumstance that could not have occurred had an amicable intercourse with these unhappy beings been previously, as in our case, established; but instances of this description are too numerous to trouble your Lordship with. • " In conclusion, I may be permitted to observe, that, independently of British interests, on the score of humanity alone, I humbly conceive it to behove His Majesty's Ministers to take this subject into their most serious consideration, and, with as little delay as possible, to plant British authorities at Port Philip for the prevention of exterminating conflicts, which wiU, I fear, inevitably ensue, as some Squatters have possessed them-selves of lands in the neighbourhood, without any previous, arrangement with the natives; and also to give legitimate protection to flocks of great value (£20,000 to £30,000) belonging to the Association, now grazing on the ceded trsict.

       ** I leave this on the 19th instant for London, and will be prepared to wait upon your Lordship whenever it may suit you to honour me with an audience. Any commands, which may be transmitted under cover to Messi's. Spottiswoode and Robertson, will reach me and be promptly attended to.

       " I have the hij^nour to be. My Lord, " Your Lordship's most obedient humble Servant,

       (Signed)       **  Geo. Mercer.*'

       The Downing Street reply is dated March 30th. Sir George. Grey wrote:—

       " Lord Glenelg directs me to acquaint you, in reply, that it iff his intention to mstruct the Governor of New South Wales toe appoint magistrates and other indispensable officers for thei government of the settlement which has been formed in the: quarter referred to, and to put up the lands for sale there at such a reduced upset price as^ upon full consideration of the state of the infant settlement, he may think reasonable. But his Lordship directs me to add^ that the plan of disposing of public lands at a quit-rent has been generally abandoned, on the most ample experience of the many and insuperable difficulties with" which it is*fttt6nded."

       This practically closed the door to the application for a grant of land, and led Mr. Mercer to take a fresh position.    He is

       now the humble suitor for some compensation for outlay of cash and benevolence. He is prepared to take something less, even 3,000 square miles at £20 a square mile. But, with no belief in the Sydney handling of the money, he would stipulate that the expenditure bo devoted to Port Phillip alone. He domes forward with an apology for making such a mistake (!) as to fancy the new country was not withiu the domain of New South Wales, and notes that the good offices of Lieutenant-Governor Arthur were being exerted on behalf of the Association with the Governor-General

       In acknowledging, April 6th, the curt letter from Sir George Grey, the Major goes on to say:—

       " I have no reason to doubt that by this time the settlement, under the exertions of the Association, has attained a degree of importance which, from its admirable situation, holds out every fair prospect of advantage to the mother country, and to all its colonies in those distant regions, as well as to the original projectors of the plan.

       '' I may admit that the plan of selling lands in the colonies already settled in Australia, by public auction, is in general a beneficial one. This rule especially applies to a penal settlement, or one making progress by degrees, and where the settlers are extending themselves gradually from the seat of the local Government. But I humbly submit that it is expedient to adopt other rules, in the present case, on behalf of the Association whom I have the honour to represent; and that it would be inequitable to admit other parties to enter into competition with them at public auction for a property the whole value of which has been created by their exertions and with their capital.

       " They themselves have made, formed, and founded the settlement at a heavy charge and great labour, upon principles of equity and humanity, and, I may fearlessly add, of philanthropy the most liberal and extensive; binding themselves to protect and sustain the quondam native proprietors of the territory, as formerly explained to your Lordship. Thev have proceeded, upon the whole, on principles of justice and hberality heretofore unknown in the history of the British colonies, and such as they humbly conceive entitle them to the special favour of Government.

       " Under such circumstances I am persuaded that your Lordship will permit me to advance a peculiar claim for the Association to exemption from the operation of the general rule prescribing sale by public auction under local authorities, and to
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       negotiate directly with Hid Majesty's Ministers for the freehold occupancy of the lands, which, unless brought forward by that body, might have remained comparatively valueless for centuries.

       ''As your Lordship has declined the auit-rent plan, it behoves me to have recourse to a system of purchase in fee* simple, though requested by my constituents to avoid this if possible, but if driven to it to stipulate that a certain part of the price bo laid out in benefiting, by emigration and otherwise improving, the colony.

       " Adopting this view of the case, I would suggest to your Lordship the purchase of the tract ceded by the native chiefe to Mr. Batman, and that delineated on the map now with your Lordship to the eastward of this tract, and about an equal parcel of land to the westward, formed by producing the northern boundary line, thirty miles due west from B. and a perpendicular of about sixty-nve miles dropped from the point thus obtained to or near to A. on the margin of the sea; the whole comprising a figure approaching to a parallelogram, containing about 3,000 square miles. For this I should propose a price of £20 per square mile over head of surface, consisting of good, bad, and indifferent land, hills, lakes, rivers, marshes, &c., one-half the amount to be paid by equal instalments in ten years into the colonial treasury at Port rhilip, for the purposes of emigration from Britain or otherwise, as the .Government may deem proper, the other moiety to be expended in making roads, bridges, erecting public buildings, &c., for the improvement of the colony, under the superintendence and control of a board, consisting of four members, two appointed by Government, and two named by the Associated body (the superior Government officer to have a casting voice) in the course of ten years, or extended over a greater period if deemed necessary by the suggested board.

       " I include the two lateral tracts, under a belief that these will ere this have been obtained by the Association under treaties with the aboriginal chiefs; that to the eastward, I believe, is certainly ceded to the Society before this time. The first payment of £3,000, more or less, to be made one year after the date of the grant or charter; the improvement fiind to be brought into operation as soon as possible after the Government officers shall have reached their destination. In making this proposition I have exhausted my discretionary powers.

       " I deem it right at present to transmit to your Lordship the copy of the Case which I laid before Dr. Lushington some little time ago, with his opinion thereon. Your Lordship will see from this, that, in his opinion, the right to the soil in question does not vest in  the Crown.    The Association entertains no

       doubt of the power of the Crown to oust them from the ceded territory, if Government shall so see fit. But I am persuaded that, under the very peculiar circumstances of this case, the meritorious services of this Association will be fiilly appreciated by the Colonial Department, and that all questions that could be raised upon this subject may be superseded by an equitable arrangement that would be beneficial to all.

       "  I am obliged to return to Scotland immediately. Messrs. Spottiswoode and Robertson will receive and transmit to me any reply your Lordship may think proper to honour me with.

       " I leave the case not with indifference as to the result, but with complacency, under a conviction that, in paving the way for a new colony upon principles embracing equity, conciliation, and civilization, I have performed an acceptable duty to my country, and as far aa lay in my power, to those who deputed me.

       The next communication firom Downing Street, by Sir George Grey, April 14th, 1836, is of great interest, involving, as it did, the consideration of an independent colony at Port Phillip, an event which happened fourteen years after. He was under a misapprehension, therefore, in supposing that " a very considerable time must elapse before the establishment of such a new colony." . In Australia events follow quickly, and the unexpected is frequently coining to pass. But he gives no hope to the Association of any arrangement, as they had suggested, since they had no corporate existence. And yet he would afford them ** a priority in the purchase," while affirming that they must be subject to the land regulations of the colony. The whole letter reads thus:—

       " I>owNiNO  Strskt,  14th JprU,  1886.

       "  Sir, —I am directed by Lord Glenelg to acknowledge the receipt of your letter of the 6th instant.

       " In answer to one of the questions proposed by you to Dr. Lushington, that gentleman has stated that he does not think that the right to the territory adjacent to Port Phillip is at present vested in the Crown. Loid Glenelg is sensible of the great weight which is due to the deliberate judgment of Dr. Lushingten on a question of this nature. As, however, the grounds on which Dr. Lushington denies the title of the Crown to the territory in question are not explained, and as Lord Glenelg is not aware of any fact or principle which can be alleged in support of such conclusion, which would not apply with equal force to all the waste lands in every other Mrt of the colony of New South Wales, his Lordship must decline to

       acquiesce in this doctrine, and cannot but believe that it was advanced by Dr. Lushington under a misapprehension of some of the most material parts of the case.

       " Port Phillip and all the neighbouring territory, fonning a portion of the colony of New South Wales, the lands in that vicinity cannot be disposed of, except according to the rules by which General Bourke is required by the King's Commission, and by His Majesty's instructions, under the sign-manual, to alienate such property. Interests of very great and constantly increasing importance are involved in the steadfast adherence to those rules, and any departure from them at the present moment would involve a breach of faith to the numerous persons who have engaged their property in effecting settlements in other parts of the colony of New South Wales, and in the new colony of Southern Australia.

       " The suggestion that a new colony should be formed in the southern portion of New South Wales, of which the infant settlement at Port Phillip should be the future capital, raises a question of great importance and difficulty, on which it would be impossible that His Majesty's Government should form a decision without much previous inquiry. They would probably think it right to postpone any such measure until after it should have been maturely considered by the respective Governors of the existing Australian settlements. It is fit, however, that you should be distinctly apprised that a very considerable time must elapse before the establishment of such a new colony, even should it ultimately be thought right so to abridge the limits of the colony of New South Wales.

       " The proposal which, on behalf of the gentlemen with whom you are associated, you have made for effecting the purchase at Port Phillip of a territory of 3,000 square miles, at a sum of £60,000 sterling, of which one-half will be paid by annual instalments, in the next ten years, and the remainder would be invested in local improvements, has received Lord Glenelg's careful attention. His Lordship directs me to state that the objections to the adoption of that proposal appear to him insuperable.

       "He conceives that His Majesty's Government could not enter into such an arrangement with a society of gentlemen possessing no corporate character, however undoubted may be their claims to respect and confidence as individuals. In the modem history of colonization no incorporated body has ever received a grant, or has been permitted to make a purchase at all approaching in magnitude to that which it is the desire of yourself and your associates to effect. To place a territory so extensive under any other management than that of the r^ponsible officers of the Crown would, in Lord Glenelg's opixuon, be to create an unconstitutional power, which, if not

       subversive of the authority of the local Government, would unavoidably fetter its movements, and impair its influence even when most essential to the public welfare. Further, his Lordship has no grounds on which he could be justified in entering into a contract of such magnitude. He has not before him any evidence of the value of the land which it is proposed to purchase, and thinks it indispensable not to act on such a subject except with the advantage of the previous advice of the Governor of the colony.

       *'  For these reasons Lord Glenelg must adhere to the decision announced to you in my letter of 30th ultimo, of directing General Bourke to put up the land at Port Phillip for sale, at such a reduced upset price as, upon a full consideration of the state of the infant settlement, he may think reasonable. His Lordship, however, will instruct the Governor to have a careful and just regard to the various circumstances stated in your letter, and to make every arrangement which may appear to him to be reasonable for protecting the fair claims of the persons who have already resorted to Port Phillip, to a priority m the purchase, on moderate and easy terms, of any lands which they may have already occupied, or on which they may have actually effected any improvement.

       «I am. Sir,

       " Your most obedient Servant, (Signed)       "  Geo. Grey."

       Once again does Major Mercer return to the charge. He will not take "no" for an answer, being too persuaded of the justice of his claim. He gently withdraws Dr. Lushington's opinion. He pleads for corporate powers to be conferred upon the Association to enable them to receive the required favours, and disclaims the idea that the Association sought to rule Port Phillip rather than the recognised ofl&cers of the Crown. He makes a fresh proposition, namely, the grant of 2,560 acres to each member, " either free or at any very reduced price," and beseeches help to keep off all such trespassers as Messrs. Fawkner and Co. It is amusing, however, to hear him speaking of the " sacred symbols " of the natives.

       This is dated from Dryden House, April 23rd, and is addressed to Lord Glenelg:—

       '* Tothe RigTU Hon,  Lord  GiJunELO,

       Priwipal Secretary of State   "Drtdbn Housb, bt Edikbuboh,

       for the CoUmits.   2Zrd Aprils  1S86.

       "  My Lord, —I am honoured by Sir George Grey's reply under your Lordship's instructions, dated 14tb, to my address of 6tb

       April, and beg to tender my thanks for the kindly manner and feeling apparent in that repy.

       "  It was foreign to. my wish to build upon Dr. Lushington's leeal opinion, forwarded to your Lordship with my letter of 6th April, nor can I now presume to coml^t the view taken of that opinioQ and expressed by your Lordship, that 'such a conclusion would apply with equal force to all the waste lands, &C.'

       *'  This I fully admit; and if such be the present state of the law, it will perhaps be considered expedient by your Lordship to take some step, by act of Parliament, Royal Proclamation, or otherwise, to establish the converse principle ; but I trust without retrospective operation affecting any ri^ht that may now or hereafter be found to vest in the Port Phihp Association under the treaties with the Aborigines. This is a subject, however, upon which I feel much delicacy in touching, and which I would willingly avoid.

       " I may be permitted to observe with all due deference, that your Lordship s objections to the Association, as not possessing a corporate character, may be removed by extending that character to the associated body, which it would be happy to have conferred upon it,—and that, with reference to the extent of territory, this may, at your Lordship's pleasure, be limited to the lands ceded by the chiefs of the tribes up to the present period, or even up to that of June last, being less than half the extent specified in the tender conveyed in my address of 6th April current, or, if deemed preferable by your Lordship, by grants to individual members of the Association. Further, your Lordship will have observed, that it has been the anxious wish of the Association to have the territory and its occupants speedily placed under the immediate supervision of the responsible officers of the Crown, and this, I have reason to conclude, is even now the case.

       " The Eing^s Commission and His Majesty's instructions, under the sign-manual, unless I am much misinformed, at one time included Swan River, and generally New Holland; but these are matters upon which I do not deem myself entitled or competent to enter with your Lordship.

       " In the meantime, I have most earnestly to solicit that your Lordship will, in justice to the members composing the Association, comply with the following requests, for the reasons here-aft;er assigned,—Ist, That immediate instructions be given to locate a maximum grant of four square miles, or 2560 acres, in Oeelong and Duti^Jla (Anglici Port Philip) to each Member of the Association (17), selects by himself or agent, either free, or at any very reduced price your Lordship may determine upon, that permanent buildings may be forthwith erected and

       the plough hrought to hear upon lands, held by a tenure more secure in your Lordship's judgment than that under which they are now occupied. These selections would, I presume, be dispersed over the ceded territory, with a view to form nuclei for enlarged farms and holdings, by purchase or otherwise, when the Qovemment arrangements shall have been completed.

       '' 2nd, That orders be issued from the Home Department to prevent squatters from intruding and grazing upon the lands ceded to, at present held and paid for by, the Association.

       '' Some reckless people, are, I understand, disposed to attempt this, and as the natives, whose sacred symbols are attached to the treaties, may fancy themselves in honour bound forcibly to expel such, the consequences may bo unpleasant, if not fatal.

       " And 3rd, That your Lordship would Ibe pleased to favour me with a copy, or substance of instructions so transmitted, that I may advise the Association thereof, for the guidance of themselves and employes, to prevent any unintentional contravention of said instructions on their part.

       "I confidently trust to your Lordship's equity and kindly feeling towards (T would designate them) a deserving and meritorious body, for an early compliance with the foregoing requests; and shall now only beg to say, that if Port Philip be constituted a subordinate colony, and the capital established there (perhaps Western Port might be considered a better location), the proximity of either position to Van Diemen's Land might be taken to render Hobart Town a more eligible station for control than Sydney, and further, that the principal Members of the Qeelong and Dutigalla Association, residing in, or already having agents in Tasmania, intercourse with the chief authorities would be greatly facilitated by decreased distance.

       " I have the honour to be, " My Lord,

       '* Your Lordship's most obedient humble Servant,

       (Signed)       "  Geo. Mercer."

       The rejoinder by Sir George Grey was on May 10th :—

       "Sir, —I am directed by Lord Glenelg to acknowledge the receipt of your letter of the 23d ultimo, relative to the terms on which the Association, on whose behalf you write, are desirous of obtaining land on the south coast of New Holland. By my letter of the 30th March last, you were apprised of the principles on which it was Lord Glenelg's intention to act in this case, and in my letter of the 14th ultimo, I communicated to you his Lordship's determination, after a further consideration of the whole question, to adhere to those principles.   Lord Glenelg

       has actually despatched to the Qovernor of New Soath Wales the necessary instructions for carrying them into effect; and he can now only refer you to my former letters, and express his hope that they will be found to embrace every provision which is required by a due regard to the interests and reasonable expectations of the parties by whom the settlement at Port Phillip has been made."

       It was not until the 29th of June that the repulsed Mr. Mercer ventured again to ask for a copy of the instructions sent out to Sydney. But he takes the opportunity of a final plea for consideration on account of what the Association were then doing, observing:—

       "My late letters state, that the Association, confident of obtaining ultimate possession of the lands upon a secure and permanent tenure, with the sanction, and unaer the protection, of the British Government, are proceeding with cultivation and other improvements; and finding the Aborigines more numerous than they had expected, tractable, but clamorous for bodily sustenance, were supplying them, though extra to the treaties; and had it in contemplation to furnish them with mental food, by the introduction of regular eand efticient Missionaries, besides Dr. Thomson, Catechist and Surgeon.—Under these circumstances, involving heavy present and prospective outlay, your Lordship will, I trust, cousider me justly entitled to a full knowledge of the bases upon which we may, under your Lordship's instructions, hereafter move in connection with the British Government, and at an early period have the goodness to grant my request, by ordering me Copy of Instructions to General Bourke on the subject of the New Colony at Port Philip."

       A fresh effort was made by the pertinacious Major, December 14th, 1836. He volunteers to Lord Glenelg some interesting statements of the progress of the colony, and the humane efforts of the Association, "in conformity with the principles of philanthropy professed by that body." He fails to recognise what benevolent service had been rendered them by Ministers in any orders to Sydney. He learns that the assumed boundaries, as determined by the Treaty, are still respected by settlers near. He is now ready with another offer of purchase, viz., a thousand square miles at thirty pounds each. He pictures the sad consequences of an infringement of the rights of the Treaty, in a

       collision with the natives. He concludes by a statement of his own individual venture in the undertaking. The whole letter is worth preserving in the colonial records :—

       **2,  AiNSLic  Place, Edinburgh, 14^  Deceiriber,  1836.

       "  My Lord, —The report of, and evidence taken before, the Committee of the House of Commons, and ordered to be printed on the 1st of August last, together with late information of the further progress made in the new colony at Port Philip, induce me again to address your Lordship.

       '' I have the honour to transmit herewith a certificate signed by the Inspector of Stock at George Town, Tasmania, showing that, from that port alone, 19,246 breeding ewes, thirty-six (36) horses, forty-one (41) head of homed cattle, had been shipped for Port Philip between 1st November 1835 and 7th May 1836. Subsequently during the month of May about 1,100 ewes had followed. In all, in the course of seven months, above twenty thousand sheep, which, with an expenditure of above £50,000 already incurred, and the quiet and contented state of the native population, will evince the great and growing importance of the new colony under the paternal care and benign influence of the Association, by and for which I have been deputed to act in this country: and further, a print of the  Hohart Town Gazette  of 1st April 1836, containing Government notice No. 75, of 31st March, following upon a letter from Port Philip 15th March, addressed by Mr. Wedge, a Member of the associated body, to Mr. Colonial Secretary Montagu. Upon these documents, your Lordship will not expect from me any further remark than that the wounded natives from Western Port received the kindest care and medical aid from the members and servants of the Association at Port Philip, in conformity with the principles of philanthropy possessed by that body, and humanely followed out in this as in all other instances that have come to my knowledge.

       " In your Lordship's reply of 13th April 1836, to Sir Richard Bourke's despatch of 10th October 1835, you have been pleased to take a favourable view of the settlement formed at Port Philip by the Geelong and Dutigalla Association. I may be per-mitt^ to observe, that yoiu: Lordship's instructions to His Excellency General Bourke, up to that period, scarcely appear to me to convey such specific orders to grant special inununities to the discoverers and founders of that colony, as, from the ultimate paragraph of Sir George Grey's letter of 14th, in reply to my address of 6th April, I had flattered myself with the hope of finding, and thankfully acknowledged in my rejoinder, under date 23d April 1836, and which are again adverted to in Sir George Grey s letter of 10th May.   I still, however, indulge the

       hope, that your Lordship's subsequent instructions to His Excellency General Bourke will have been more £Eivourable to  the views of the associated body,—^the founders of this already flourishing settlement, so rapidly becoming an important adjunct to the British Empire.

       '*  My late accounts from the colony state, that, in consequence of the occupancy of the lateral tracts of land proposed for purchase in my letter to your Lordship of 6th April, by several European settlers, the Association had relinquished the intention of extending its territories by further treaties with the native chiefs, lest such extension might have created inimical feelings, 80 much to be deprecated in an infant colony.

       "  I learn at the same time with ^at satisfaction, that our boundaries, marked out by the treaties of 6th June 1835, are respected by British subjects settled in the immediate vicinity, and fully recognised by the other native tribes surrounding the ceded territory, so that the Association do not apprehend any local interference, and have now few or no desiderata but the administration of justice by British authorities, and the protection of the British Government against a foreign enemy.

       " For these boons, I deem myself now authorized to oflFer through your Lordship the sum of thirty pounds per square mile of territorial surface for the ceded tract, in extent more or less one thousand square miles, exclusive of the fifty square miles set apart as a reserve for the Government settlement and public purposes. The amount, payable by ten equal annual instalments, to be employed under the directions, and at the discretion of Government, for the benefit of that portion of the colony comprised in the ceded tract,—a rough sketch of which is already in your Lordship's possession.

       " This oflFer I now beg to make to the British Government. I abstain from adverting to the right of the Crown in the soil; and your Lordship is aware of the diflferent view which has been taken of this right, when it has been considered with reference to the aboriginal proprietors, and when considered only with reference to the subjects of Great Britain and the subjects of a foreign state.

       " Without presuming to suggest a remedy calculated to meet such a contingency, your Lordship will perhaps permit me to oflTer for your consideration a possible, not, I trust, a probable case.

       "His Excellency the Governor in Chief may, at no very distant period, acting under your Lordship's instructions, publish part of the lands in the ceded district for sale. The native chiefs would in all likelihood, I humbly conceive, not unsupported by imprescriptible right and natiiral justice,—principles to which they are fully alive—governed by their already pledged

       faith under treaties bearing their sacred symbols—object to what they would consider an arbitrary disposal of their property, and might possibly deem themselves justified or even bound in honour to dispossess and eject,  vi et armis,  any settler or occupant, not being one of the Association, to which they had previously disposed of the tract by convention for a stipulated payment, and which contract has been fedthfully observed and fulfilled.

       " The Colonial Government would, I conclude, support its act of assumption by an armed force.

       " The inevitable result your Lordship's humanity will not fail to pourtray better than I can presume to depict.

       " Be this as it may, my Lord, I trust that your Lordship will consider it a pleasine duty to recommend the acceptance of the foregoing oflFer to His Majesty's Ministers, by which all so much to be deprecated consequences would be averted.

       " If legislative enactment should be deemed requisite for the

       furpose of carrying into effect the application of the Association, would respectfully submit to your Lordship that their case, and the reasonableness of their application, might be made a subject of inquiry before a Committee of the House of Commons, and that with this view the Committee of the last Session, on the disposal of the Crown Lands in the Colonies, might be renewed.

       "Such has been the impulse given by the discovery and exertions of the Association to British industry and enterprise, that stations have already been occupied, and the erection of storehouses commenced, on the reserved territory at Port Philip, by various individuals unconnected with the Association, and orders for goods received in Edinburgh, to furnish these stores for the supply of the yet scanty, but daily increasing population ; and I may sc^ely add, that, in a very few years, duly fostered by the British Qovemment, and under the philanthropic, conciliatory, and civilizing system adopted by the body now located there, this settlement will prove to be the most flourishing free colony in that hemisphere.

       " How unimportant soever in the aggregate the operations of an individual may be considered, I assume the liberty of stating to your Lordship,—with the view of giving additional proof that we are not trifling with Government, not gi*asping at territory without the intention or means to improve it, nor mere visionary theorists proceeding upon crude principles of political economy, —that I some time since sent out to Tasmania an overseer, ploughmen, &c., with their families, and have vested already in those colonies, in agricultural and pastoral pursuits, a sum exceeding twenty thousand pounds—five thousand of this forwarded in gold at a great sacrifice to myself, but of much

       benefit to the colony; and that I am now preparing to make a similar dispatch of emigrants, especially for Port Philip, by the first good and sufficient vessel that may sail from Leith, and have sanctioned such further supplies of money as may be found necessary and adequate for the stocking and improvement of my portion of the ceded tract, the subject of the present address.

       ** I am not aware of the exact sums vested by my associates, but may presume that these are in due ratio to those employed by myself, perhaps exceeding, in consequence of local residence, but certainly to an amount which, combined with other circumstances, will, I trust, be deemed to merit your Lordship's best consideration, and a grant of special immunities to be enjoyed under the fostering care, justice, and protection of the British Government

       "  I have the honour to remain,

       " Mv Lord, " Your Lordship's most obedient humble Servant,

       (Signed)   "  Geo. Mercer."

       In his acknowledgment of this epistle. Sir George Grey, December 31st, merely writes:—

       " I am directed by Lord Glenelg to acknowledge the receipt of your letter of the 14th instant, relative to the terms on which the Association on whose behalf you write are desirous of obtaining land at Port Phillip, and to state in reply, that after the instructions which his Lordship has already addressed to the Governor of New South Wales, he could not, without producing extreme and irreparable confusion, take out of the hands of that officer the duty of superintending the formation of the settlements which are in progress at Port Phillip; nor could his Lordship, without neglecting the just claims of the settlers in South Australia, accede to the proposals which you have made."

       Counsel's opinion, previously referred to, is signed William Burge, Lincoln's Inn, December 11th, 1836. He had given his views about a year before upon the rights of the Association, and now reviews the situation as determined by subsequent events. His counsel is, " Go to the Governor of New South Wales." Upon that official everything is seen now to rest. Should the Committee on Crown Lands be renewed, something might be expected; but it is useless to oppose the Ministry. This is the  Opinion: —

       ** I have perused the accompanying documents, and particularly  the  Con-espondence between  the Governor of Van

       DiemeD's Land, Governor Bourke, and Lord Glenelg, in the Appendix to the Report of the Committee of the House of Commons, on the disposal of Lands in the British Colonies.

       " Referring to Lord Glenelg's letter of the 13th of April, and to that of Sir George Grey of the 30th March, it may be fairly inferred that the undertaking of Mr. Batman is favourably regarded by the Colonial OflSce; and although that favourable disposition has not been evinced in the manner and to the extent which would have been desirable, yet it ought to prevent the Association from acting in any way as if the Government was opposed to them. The object therefore should be to improve that favourable disposition and to resort to its aid in the ulterior measures which are to be taken. I confess it appears to me that neither the present nor any preceding Government has applied itself to the colonization and settlement of those immense territories to which Great Britain claims a right of sovereignty with the attention, and upon the principles, which this great and interesting subject demands. The principle upon which, in the earlier history of this country, colonization proceeded, and was encouraged by the Government, is abandoned, and no new principle substituted in which a just consideration is had for the enterprising exertions of individuals in making those settlements which the Government itself will not make. There is in Sir George Grey's letter of the 14fth April, in some measure, an admission of the fair claim which the Association have in the. allotment of these lands, but at the same time it is not commensurate with the indemnity or encouragement to which they are reasonably entitled; for it seems to confine the preference to those lands which were actually occupied. Still, however, the prudent course will be to make the most of that admission, and endeavour to obtain the best terms from the Governor, ta whom the Association ought to address themselves, at the same time that they are endeavouring to prevail on the Government to take a more enlarged and favourable view of their claim.

       " I cannot help tlainking that the interest of the Association, no less than the great objects of colonization, might be essentially promoted if the Committee on the disposal of Crown Lands could be renewed in the next Session of Parliament. The Association might prevail on some member to take up this subject in all its bearings with a view of establishing, upon sound and practical principles, the disposal and settlement of these lands, at the same time not overlooking the fair claims of this Association to be considered in such settlement, and with these views obtain the reappointment of the Committee.

       *' I would lay before the Committee the whole conduct of the Association from their first treaty with the aborigines down to the present time.   It is not only most honourable to themselves.

       but it presents for the sanction of the Committee those principles upon >vhich colonization should proceed.

       "The Association should endeavour to procure the concurrence of the Government in the appointment of this Committee. It would be in vain to attempt the renewal of the Committee if it were opposed by the Qovemment. But I really cannot anticipate any opposition from the Qovemment. I think if this Committee were taken up in a proper spirit, and the case of the Association brought before it, the settlement by this Association upon those mir terms to which they are entitled might be effed;ed, at the same time important practical results connected with colonization in general might be obtained.

       " I do not mean that, by having recourse to this Committee, the Association should neglect resorting to and availing themselves of such co-operation as they can obtain from the Government and the Governor. On the contrary, they should at the same time use their best influence with both for the purpose of obtaining more adequate terms than the Government has hitherto expressed its intention to grant.

       ** It would be advisable, either by personal conference with, or by letter to. Lord Glenelg, to propose to his Lordship the particular terms which the Ajssociation ask, and also to solicit the support of the Government in the proposed renewal of the Committee. With this view I should recommend a personal interview with Sir George Grey and Mr. Stephen."

       The next phase in the correspondence is a letter from Mr. David Robertson, London, to Major Mercer, on January 14th, 1837, detailing particulars of his interview with the Secretary for the Colonies; in which he says :-^

       **  London,  lith January,  1887.

       "  Dear Sir,— I saw Lord Glenelg this afternoon by appointment at three o'clock; (in the morning it was altered from two.)

       "I mentioned that since I had solicited the honour of an interview, I found that you had received a letter from Sir George Grey, which might be considered as an answer to some of t^e inquiries that I had been requested to make ; but it did not touch upon others of them.

       " I said he would have perceived that this was a settlement which had already attained very considerable importance; that it was growing fast; and that it had at the head of it practical persons of great energy, and perfectly conversant with matters of this nature. I particularly mentioned Mr. Batman. I said they had advanced too far to recede; and that they were in a

       T"
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       different situation from persons prosecuting objects of this kind at home; and that it might be of considerable injury to the colonisation of Australia if their plans were thwarted.

       " I said that I saw from his letter to Sir Richard Bourke, that he was disposed to regard their efforts with a fevourable eye, and I mentioned some of his own words, that it was a doubt whether you had not in fact' given birth to undertakings which deliberate reflection would have. recommended, rather than discouraged.'

       " He admitted that he entertained these sentiments; but he said he could not break through, or interfere with, those rules which the Government, after mature deUberation, had laid down for the disposal of lands in the colonies. He also read an extract of his letter to Sir Richard Bourke, and of Sir George Grey's letter to you of the 30th of March last, mentioning that it was his intention to instruct the Governor of New South Wales to appoint magistrates, &c., * and to put up the lands for sale at such a reduced upset price, as, upon full consideration of the state of the infant settlement, he may think reasonable.' He said, 'I have done this, and I don't see that I can do more.*

       " I mentioned, that the first of the inquiries which I have been directed to make was, whether a price would be accepted for confirmation of the treaties with the native chiefs; or for a royal grant of the land. I said I understood that the recent letter from Sir George Grey negatived this. He said, it clearly did; they could not alter the rules which had been established by the office.

       " I said the other questions had not been answered : the 1st was. Whether his Lordship would get the recent Committee on the Sale of Lands in the Colonies revived ?

       "2nd. If not revived at the instance of his Department, whether he would assent to the Association applying for the revival of this Committee, with a promise of his support, or that he would not oppose ?

       " 3rd. If his Lordship did not consent to either, whether he would be pleased to state his views, as to the degree of favour to be shown to the Association in a  Tnore definite Scape,  to found their future proceedings upon in the colony.

       " He stated in answer, that the Committee did not originate with Government, but he believed with Mr. Ward, the Chairman. He did not then wish to say whether he should, or should not, oppose the formation of a new Committee. At the moment it did not appear to him that he could give any more definite views  upon this subject. He said, I must have seen that Sir Richard Bourke also regarded the Association favourably.
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       "  I requested permission to send in these three Queries in writing to his Lordship for his further consideration : to this he assented, and I, thereupon, took my leave. This was very much what passed. I propose to send a copy of this to Mr. Buige, and see him before I send in my (queries: he also promised to see Lord Qlenelg, after I had seen hmi.

       " I remain, Dear Sir,

       " Faithfully and respectfully yours, (Signed)     "  David Robertson.

       "Georob Mercsb, Esq.*'

       The reply of Mr. Mercer to Mr. Robertson, January 30th, 1837, was not without hope that something more might be conceded if an intimation were given that the affair would be brought before Parliament. His Lordship then "mighty if he were made aware of our resolution to bring the matter to this test, feel disposed to concede a little more, perhaps enough to satisfy me." He properly resented the supposed boon of "a reduced upset price," as that placed others in competition with the Association for the ground.

       On the margin of this letter Mr. Surveyor Wedge has written in pencil these words: " No, not a  reditced  upset price. Five shillings is the minimum price in the colonies of New South Wales and Van Diemen's Land. So much for the liberality of the GJovemment towards the in£ant colony of P. P.—tiie same upset price being fixed for that place."

       Mr. Mercer calculated upon a "change in the Administration," the hope of the injured in all ages aijd clijnes, and would prepare an address " to meet the eye of the Legislature." Any how, he would take care that no act of his should " abscind, or in any way deteriorate, the value of any claim or supposed claim we may hereafter be found to possess, in virtue of our treaties with the chiefs of the Dutigalla tribe, the former undoubted and rightful owners of the ceded lands." He believed as much in the rights of Port Phillip blacks as Penn did in those of Indians.

       But Mr. David Robertson followed up the subject in the following address to Lord Glenelg, January 19th, 1837:—

       "My Lord, —Referring to the conversation which I had the honour to have with your Lordship some days ago, on the part of the Association who have formed a settlement at Port

       Philip in Southern Australia, I now beg to lay before your Lordship the Queries which you permitted me to send in.

       " I understand that your Lordship has intimated to the parties, that the price offered for a confirmation of the treaties with the native chiefs, or a rojral grant of the land specified in these treaties, could not be accepted.

       " The other Queries were,—

       " 1. Whether the Colonial Department would move for the revival of the Committee of the House of Commons for the Sale of Lands in the Colonies ?

       " 2. Or, whether they would assent to any motion made, on the part of the Association, for the revival of the Committee ? (their object would be to bring before such Committee the special circumstances under which this settlement has been formed.)

       " 3. If neither could be acceded to, they would most respectfully inquire, if your Lordship would state more definitely the ai^aatoges Which should be given to these parties treating with the local Government for the purchase of the lands in question ?

       " It is not unknown to your Lordship that this settlement has been formed under very peculiar circumstances. Practical men of great knowledge in matters of this kind, well known for their enterprise and responsibility, have laid the foundation of this infant colony in a most convenient situation. They did this at their own risk and expense; very considerable property has already been vested in this colony; a valuable class of emigrants has already been despatched to it; and the latest accounts indicate that the settlement is in a very prosperous state.

       " The conduct of the settlers towards the aborigines appears to have attracted the favourable attention of your Lordship.

       " Under all these circumstances, they respectfully hope that some of the queries now stated for your Loroship's consideration may receive a fiavourable answer.

       (Signed)        "David Robertson."

       The answer came January 25th. It merely remarked that it was not the intention of the Ministry to move for the renewal of the Committee on Crown Lands, and that Lord Qlenelg begged to refer his correspondent to the letters already passed between Downing Street and the Association.

       In May, 1838, Mr. Mercer published a pamphlet entitled. Case of the Association formed in 1835 for Colonizing Port Phillip on the Southern Coast of Atcstralia.

       Herein is the story told of the struggle and grief of the Association.   When the various propositions of Mr. Mercer had
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       been successively rejected, that gentleman was informed that the necessary instructions had been sent out to Sydney. "Accordingly," says the pamphlet, "it appears that such instructions were sent out by the Colonial Secretary to the Governor of New South Wales, who, through the Secretary at Van Diemen's Land, requested that two members of the Association should proceed to Sydney, and there, in a personal interview, settle all matters  8a;tisfactorily and speedily.  In consequence of this intimation three members of the Association, Messrs. Swanston, Gellibrand, and Simpson, repaired to Sydney, and personally communicated with the members of the Government."

       After mentioning the negotiations in England, it follows:— " It appears, however, that the Governor of New South Wales did not adopt the liberal views entertained by the Secretary of State for the Colonies at home. A Minute of the Executive Council of 21st October, 1836, bears that the Grovemor and Executive Council, having given their best attention to the directions received from the Colonial Secretary, and having had personal communication with a deputation, it appeared to them impossible to comply literally with Lord Glenelg's instructions, which were impracticable and contradictory, viz., to put the land at Port Phillip up to sale by auction, and at the same time to allow a priority of purchase to the members of the Association."

       After due deliberation the Council " came to the resolution that, limiting the claims of the Association to the steps taken, and expenses incurred by them, under an erroneous opinion that their purchase from the aborigines would be sustained, it was next to be inquired what claims of such a nature subsisted at the date of the receipt in Van Diemen's Land of the Proclamation of the Governor of 26th August, 1835." Such expenses, up to that date, the Sydney Council would allow off the purchase of land.

       These were hard terms. As Mr. Wedge has pointed out, " The expenses embraced by the engagements entered into by the members of the Association up to this date ought, even on the principle laid down by Sir Bichard Bourke, to have been taken into account." It was a singular mode of settling the claims satisfactorily and speedily.    The deputation tried hard

       to induce the Sydney Government to grant more agreeable terms; as, for instance, the right of each member of the Association to purchase a certain area at the five shillings upset. But, as the pamphlet relates, " The only concession the deputation could obtain fix)m the Colonial Government was an allowance of £7,000 for expenses incurred previous to the Govemor-General's Proclamation of 26th August, 1835." It is thus clear that " the Colonial Government in New South Wales have, however, completely counteracted the clearly expressed intention of his Lordship " who had told Mr. Mercer that the instructions sent to the Governor " embraced every provision required by due regard to the interests and reasonable expectations of the parties  hy whom  the settlement at Port Phillip had been made."

       "In conclusion," the pamphlet says, "a lively hope is still entertained that, on a reconsideration of all the bearings of this, as a substantive case, a Royal Charter, comprising the whole of the ceded territory, excepting that portion set apart for the City of Melbourne, and other Government purposes, will be granted to the Association on terms such as that body may justly deem a full compensation for labours, losses, and expenses, and a remuneration for the zealous and exemplary conduct manifested in the formation of that settlement."

       At this time. May 24,1838, Mr. Mercer made a last despairing appeal to Lord Glenelg. He quotes the oflBcial promise to make *' every arrangement that might appear reasonable for protecting the fair claims of the persons who had resorted to Port Phillip to a priority in the purchase at a reduced upset price, or on moderate and easy terms, of any lands which they might have already occupied, or on which they might have effected any improvements." The Major then felt himself justified in exclaiming to the Secretary for the Colonies, " From the Minutes of the Colonial Council of the 21st of October, 1836, it appears that they have  refused  to give effect to your Lordship's instructions, or to make any distinction between the Association, or any other third person, purchasing at public auction, except by an allowance of £7,000 in the sliape of remission in the purchase price of any lands they might axxjuire at auction."

       Sir George Grey, replying June 18th, said : " I am directed to acquaint you that those claims appear to his Lordship to

       have met with a fiiU and fair consideration from the Local Government of New South Wales. The reasons assigned by Sir Richard Bourke, and in the report of the Council, for an adherence to the principle of sale by auction in this case, appeared to Lord Glenelg to be conclusive; and his Lordship feels that the utmost indulgence which could be reasonably claimed by the Association was conceded to it by the allowance of the sum of £7,000 for the expenses which they had incurred."

       The door was now effectually closed. The last word had been spoken.   The Association had but to submit.

       The author received from Mr. Surveyor Wedge the following notes of his own upon this correspondence:—

       " The first occupation of Port Phillip by the Association, the members of which were residents in Van Diemen's Land, was looked upon with jealousy by the stockholders in New South Wales. They thought that a field was thereby opened by which, notwithstanding their present advantageous position, their insular neighbours might eventually rival themselves in the produce of fine wool Had the enterprise originated with themselves, a different construction of Lord Glenelg's liberal instructions would doubtless have been arrived at."

       Having given the correspondence between the British Ministry and the Association, let us now return to Sydney, where the real battle of the Association had to be fought, since to the Executive Council of New South Wales had the case been referred by the worthy but puzzled Secretary, Lord Glenelg.

       The Governor requested the Association to depute persons to represent them at this Conference. Messrs. Gellibrand, Swans-ton, and Simpson departed for Sydney. The day of conflict was to be October 19th, 1836; but the three, to prepare their case, sent forward, September 26th, the favourable letters of Sir George Grey to Mr. Mercer, with some pleadings of their own. They declared the objects of the Association to be " Pastoral pursuits and the civilisation of the native tribes."

       They had one serious charge to meet—the setting-up of an independent government. To this they say, " It has never been even in contemplation of the members of the Association the possession of power, or of any authority which might be subversive of that to be exercised by the Crown." They assert that they had  "boon most solicitous to obtain protection  at the

       Settlement.** Again, alluding to the Secretary for the Colonies, they write : " His Lordship may have been impressed with the opinion that it w^ in contemplation to establish a Proprietary Government at Port Phillip, and thereby give birth to the evils which were felt in America; but a careftd perusal of the several communications made by the Association to the Government will most conclusively prove a studious avoidance of executive power or control.**

       When confronted with the Executive Council, they say:

       " The grounds of our claim we conceive to be our treaty with the native tribes; our engagements to use our best endeavours to effect their civilisation; the large expenditure we have incurred in forming the settlement; and the considerable quantity of stock we have exported thither. We do not pretend to any legal title, b^t to an equitable consideration of our claim to the whole or any part of the tracts of land in question.*'

       No sooner was it known that the Sydney Council had the power of decision in such claims, or the opportunity of favouring certain early settlers of the new territory, than a host of others, besides the members of the Geelong and Dutigalla Association, rushed forward with memorials setting forth their services. The Association was represented in person by Messrs. Swanston, Gellibrand, and Simpson, with their letters and memorials. They pleaded that had they not taken the initiative in colonizing the country it " would have been exclusively occupied by the native tribes." Some 20,000 sheep had been carried over there by them; Batman having 2,000; Swanston, 2,500 ; and Gellibrand, 2,500. They had supported hundreds of natives. They had disposed of properties or positions in Van Diemen*s Land, at some sacrifice, to carry out this enterprise. They grounded their claim on their treaty, their efforts to civilise the aborigines, and their expenditure on stock and formation of the settlement. Yet they are mindful to add, *' We do not pretend to any legal title."

       But another party, represented by Mr. John Dobson, appeared on the scene. The agent for these forty-four individuals, having 14,000 sheep, admitted that they sent stock over after the Governor had in Proclamation prohibited such trespass, and, therefore, threw themselves on the clemency of Government. Still, if there were any special favours to be bestowed, theywere

       ready to receive them. As they say in their memorial, " We have suffered all the privations, and gone to all the expenses necessarily attendant upon the formation of a new and distant colony, as much as the other parties have done." They are careful to say, " We had the same opportunity as the Company for purchasing lands from the natives, but we abstained from doing so." This was declared to be " from the impression that it would have been interfering with the just prerogative of the Crown, and an infringement upon the rights and privileges of your Excellency's Government." On the whole, they rely upon the Qovemor's perception that "there is no real difference between our case and that of the Company." They did not add that they only followed the leader, in going after the others had shown the practicabiUty of the route.

       Among the forty-four memorialists, we notice those who became veritable " Lords of the Wastes," earning for themselves a good reputation as useful colonists, while gaining a princely fortune. These were among those fathers of Port Phillip:—John Aitkin, John Franks, G. Mackillop, W. Mortimer, Michael Steel, George Armytage, James Smith, George Sinclair Brodie, James F. Strachan, Alexander Thomson, Peter Harrison, Charles McLachlan, J. Allport, &c.

       Another group of applicants made their appearance by memorial on that occasion, though not represented personally at the Council. Seven persons sign the document. Of these the most distinguished were R. and J. Sutherland, R. Lewis, and W. J. T. Clarke, afterwards the celebrated Australian millionaire.

       These, however, had not despatched their flocks, though ready to do so, being prevented by the winter season and the difficulty of procuring ships. They had made all their arrangements, they say, " long previous to receiving your Excellency's intimation that your Excellency would favour those  only  who had up to that period actually established themselves there." If anything were to be had in any generous mood of the Sydney Council, the seven were prepared to open their hands. As the Sydney magnates were in no mood to be generous, especially to anybody from Van Diemen's Land, the seven were left to their own devices on the fair and cheap pastures. One of the seven, Mr. Clarke, was able to accumulate three or four millions sterling in Australia.

       Dr. Lang's Sydney paper, the  Colonist,  was rather hard upon the parties.    On October 20, 1836, it had this article:—

       " Messrs. Swanston, Gellibrand, and Dobson have arrived here for the purpose, it is said, of laying before Government the •claims of the various squatters at Port Phillip. We are of opinion that the hardv pioneers of otir antipodean wilderness deserve  some  reward for their enterprises, although not the extravagant one they look forward to; for, if the preposterous claims of the gentlemen were acceded to by the Government, Sydney would not contain the multitudes of squatters and cattle dealers who would immediately prefer their modest claims to compensation, and the fair and fertile territories beyond the Morumbidgee would be overwhelmed by a locust-like swarm without the shadow of a right to so enviable a preference. The argument of the  Oazeite  [an opposition paper] on the subject, their comparison of this case with a supposed one on the coast of Ireland, and their attempt to prove the establishment of so splendid a settlement as Port Phillip an unnecessary expense, is, as most of their arguments are, too absurd to need any comment."

       The deliberations upon the several claims yielded the result of very small returns for great expectations* The Executive Council were required by the British Ministry to consider and report upon the work of the early settlers, with the idea of granting some priority of purchase in the event of land sales. Was the case of the Associationists so very different from that of other unauthorised squatters upon public domains ? How could priority of purchase be sanctioned when the law submitted lands to equal competition at public auction ?

       As to the special circumstances pleaded for by the Batman party, the Sydney authorities reported :—

       " After mature deliberation the Council are unable to perceive such distinction, unless it be in the belief entertained by the Association that their title to the lands under the purchase from the natives could be sustained by law, or would be recognised by the Government, and that under this impression they incurred considerable expense in providing for the occupation of the land so obtained. As discovery and transfer of capital may probably be advanced as additional grounds of property, it may be proper to state why the Council find it impossible to admit their validity. The former is wholly unsubstantiated. The existence of the tract of country resorted to by the Association was not unknown; and even if it could be shown that they

       have been the first to bring to light its peculiar advantages, this is no more than can be alleged by the remote stockholders on every side of the colonial boundary with respect to the various portions of land which they severally explored and occupied."

       The logic is remorseless. But, though the land was not absolutely unknown, its exploration and occupancy by Batman, and others, from the opposite shores of Bass's Straits, could not be compared to the advance of parties from settled areas to the untenanted wastes just contiguous to their former dwellings. Instead of being merely outside located country, the Association opened up a region several hundreds of miles from the nearest station of New South Wales.

       As, after the Proclamation of August 26,1835, warning oflF trespassers, they who went to Port Phillip were simply interlopers and disturbing lawless squatters, it remained for the Council to consider what claim lay in the acts of the Association when they were in ignorance of the rights of the Sydney Government in that quarter. No claim could possibly be considered for anything done after the promulgation of that Proclamation, or else the (lovemor would be powerless to prevent a similar invasion of Crown lands. Something may be said for "expense incurred by the Association prior to the date referred to." Even then "the Council do not consider any positive right to be established, but that whatever advantage or compensation may be awarded will be wholly gratuitous."

       It is sad to see how solicitous these gentlemen—^most of them illegal squatters themselves—seemed to deny anything but the shadow of consideration to fellow squatters from a neighbouring colony.    However,

       "With respect to the engagement entered into with the natives, by which certain articles are to be delivered to them by the Association annually, the Council are of opinion that in consideration of the land being now ofiFered for sale, the engagement should be upheld by, and at the expense of, the local government, and that all actual expenditure of the Association on this account should be allowed to them."

       They are willing, after examination of accounts, to allow expenses incurred before the knowledge of the Proclamation in the little island, together with the amount for the use of the natives.  I  As such compensation would be sure to be regarded

       as much less than Mr. Mercer was led to expect from Sir George Grey's promises, the Council are careful to state that the Colonial Secretary left the matter in their hands to decide; and they have come to their conclusion from ** their local experience, their knowledge of the situation of other unauthorised occupiers of Crown lands, and of facts connected with the occupation of the Association which do not appear to have been known to the Secretary of State."

       It was in vain that the representatives of the Association indicated the evident intention of the Secretary to allow them ** priority of purchase at a moderate upset price." That must mean the right to buy lands they selected at the then upset rate of five shillings an acre, without being subjected to competition. In vain, too, they showed that expenses were incurred after  the Proclamation, in consequence of engagements entered into  htfore  its issue, and that much sacrifice had been made by several of the members. The Council could only allow £7,000 compensation. The sum of £2,390 was put down on account of the natives; £2,600 for the vessel engaged; and £2,010 for the expenses of Mr. Batman in his treaty with the natives, and of Mr. Wedge in his survey. No priority of purchase of land could be allowed.

       The despatch of Governor Bourke, November 12th, 1836, details the decision of the Council:—

       " That in refusing to allow to the Association the acquisition of land at Port Phillip, unless by the process of sale under the existing regulations, the Council were influenced by a consideration of the actual state of a large portion of the colony in which land is occupied in the same unauthorised manner as at Port Phillip;" adding, that some millions of acres " would be required to satisfy the claims of those who have driven their sheep and cattle into remote and fertile districts, of which they may boast to be the first discoverers.'* He believes that the Council had treated the Association "with great consideration." It is natural, therefore, that he should tell his chief in London, ** I would strongly recommend that the decision of the Council be fully confirmed." He is pleased to declare," Upon the whole, I think the decision of the Executive Council has not created any very bitter disappointment to the Company, and has been generally satisfactory to the rest of the community."

       Lord Glenelg, July 10,1837, approved of this decision. He had feared the eflfect of any departure from the orthodox sale of

       land by the process of public auction. Then, again, he was jealous of any interference with the newly established private colony of South Australia. To be prodigal of land at five shillings an acre in New South Wales would serve to attract settlers to Port Phillip from Adelaide, where the rate was fixed at twelve shillings ; to which price the upset was speedily raised in Eastern Australia.

       As was expected, the Association struggled hard to obtain better terms, but without avail. While Mr. Mercer, in Edinburgh, was in correspondence with the Home Government, Capt. Swanston, another member of the Association, but resident in Hobart Town, continued the firing at the Colonial authorities, and his letters were afterwards forwarded to London. He ventured to claim compensation for the loss of 1,500 sheep, strayed or killed by the blacks. In the end, those who remained of the Association, most having sold out, purchased 9,416 acres to the westward of Qeelong, and on the sale £7,000 was allowed.

       The  Sydney Australian,  October 28th, 1836, thus commented on the decision of the Sydney Council:—

       "The deputations from Port Phillip—Capt. Swanston and Mr. Gellibrand on the part of * The Company,' and Mr. Dobson as the representative of the other squatters—have received their answers. The former are informed that they will be allowed a remission in the purchase-money of any land which may be put up to public auction, and knocked down to them, to the amount of the expenses incurred by them previous to August, 1835. Up to that time no other expense was, we believe, incurred by them than the amount of their passages to the new settlement, and the sums paid by them to the aborigines for the grant of their province, so that the remission in question will, compared with what we understood of their demands, be scarcely worth having — particularly when it is considered that they are to have no priority of choice, but that they are subject to competition equally with any other pwties.

       "Mr. Dobson has not even so partiallv succeeded in the object of his mission; he is informed that nis clients will have no remission, and no favour of any description. We confess that we cannot see any reason for the distinction thus made by Government between the two parties; they are equal y squatters —^unauthorised occupiers of the territory. If a line is drawn between them on this ground, namely, that * The Company' have purchased their lands of the aborigines, we can only say it

       is untenable, unless the sums they paid were commensurate in some degree with the value received. If it were not, and if, on the contrary, it actually were a mere trifle, what is the purchase in question but a pretence and an imposition—calculated to benefit themselves directly by smoothing their way with the natives, or to throw dust in the eyes of those upon whose fiat they depended for the ultimate legal possession of their land.

       "For our own parts we regret the decision to which the Council have come in this matter—we are sorry that no more encouragement has been given to adventure of this character, and which will in any case be productive of great benefit -to this and the sister colony, though the progress of the new settlement will be less rapid in consequence. Land to a moderate extent—to the extent namely of the expense incurred by the emigrants previous to occupation—ought to be granted. This would do more for the encouragement of emigration than all the measures of its promoters that have as yet been promulgated. It is hard, indeed, to place in the way of the settler, in the first steps of his course, so weighty an obstacle as is oflFered by the present necessity of purchase."

       The  Launceston Advertiser  of December 8th, 1836, remarked : "We fear Sir Richard looks upon the original Port Phillip speculators with a suspicion and prejudice which would induce His Excellency to act a more niggardly part than the Ministry." How true this was history aflSrms something. The editor may well say, " We cannot but regret that General Bourke's Government should be chargeable with anything like illiberality and meaimess. We had much rather the error were on the other side."

       The  Hdbart Town Tasmanian  of December 2nd had this criticism:—

       " These gentlemen (Messrs. Swanston,Gellibrand, and Simpson) understood Lord Glenelg's reference to a * reduced upset price,' at which the Association was to have * priority of purchase,' to mean clearly that they should be permitted to purchase at a reduction of the minimum price, five shillings an acre. Surely, if this was not Lord Glenelg's meaning, his reference to a * reduced upset price' and * priority of purchase,' was worse than nothing. That he did so mean seems not to admit of a doubt; yet General Bourke hesitated thereon. He ofifered to permit the Association to purchase a specified quantity of land (much less than that occupied) by auction, deducting firom whatever was the purchase-money the minimum price of  bs.  per acra    The deputation, not considering this to be Lord Glenelg's

       intention, because such a proposal threw overboard altogether the * reduced upset price' and the right to * priority of purchase/ declined to accept of it/' The editor observes, "We have cautiously forborne from oflfering any opinion on the important subject now occupying so earnestly so much of the public attention. The relative interests of  the Crown,  as it is call^, and the numerous individuals who have pressed forward at all risks to invest, perhaps, their whole estates in the colonisation of a desert land, are alone at issue."

       Mr. Mackillop wrote in the name of Hobart Town shippers of stock, detailing sorrows of the early days of Port Phillip, and demanding for himself and other independent shippers and settlers the same consideration as that awarded to the Associa-tionists. Having equally as many sheep, and on the same footing as unauthorised squatters, the outsiders felt themselves entitled to similar favours. "No one," said Mr. Mackillop, ** who has not actually experienced the difficulties attending the formation of a new and totally distinct colony, where everything has to be imported by sea, can be fully aware of the trouble and expense attending such an undertaking." In reply, January 2, 1837, we are informed that the special consideration of the claims of the Association was in consequence of orders from home.

       In that early day, when there was no rental of land on the so-called squatting system, and purchase only gave tenure, a party early in 1836 made application, through Mr. Robert Lathorpe Murray, long well known on the Tasmanian press, for the purchase of 50,000 acres at Western Port. After this a Van Diemen's Land Company sought permission to mine the coal of that district.

       It is a singular fact that Port Phillip, though reputed and treated as a part of New South Wales, was never indebted to that parent colony for its pioneers of settlement. The Association—the forty-four represented by Mr. Dobson,—the seven, including the Messrs. Sutherland and Mr. W. J. T. Clarke,—the company of W. R. L. Murray and Co.,—the Messrs. Henty, the Portland Bay settlers, and many others, all hailed from Van Diemen's Land. The modem Victoria is a child of the colony now known as Tasmania.
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       CHAPTER XVI.

       OFFICIAL  RECOGNITION OF TRESPASSERS.

       The  first public meeting held in Port Phillip was on the 1st of June, 1836, within twelve months of the earliest settlement. A law-abiding people could not rest satisfied without some organisation for the preservation of order and the redress of grievances. Disputes would continually arise, requiring the decision of authority. In all previous colonizations, there had been always some referee, or person invested with power, for the settlement of such difficulties. Greek colonies of ancient times were but ready-formed commonwealths, thrown oflf from the parent state, and taking root at once. In America, a Lord Baltimore, a William Penn, or other leader of a party, carried with him the means for the establishment of law. In other causes, as with the Puritans, theocracies were formed by transplanted pastors and churches. In Australia, governors and their appliances were present at the foundation of a settlement, whether by the Crown or by an incorporated Company.

       But Port Phillip arose in the first place by the action of a seK-appointed Association, whose members were speedily followed by bands as unauthorised as themselves, or by individuals having no connection with others. Some had a sense of what was due to the natives, and strove to do them justice. But the majority were restrained by no law, human or divine, being governed by the one impulse of making a fortune. With such varied and conflicting interests, a number of persons and their servants found themselves, as they supposed, outside the sphere of any colonial jurisdiction, and, therefore, unprovided with the means of preventing social disorders. British subjects, as they were, they resolved to have an Arbitrator, appointed among

       themselves, till some Colonial Governor should take them under his official wing. It is to their honour recorded that they bound themselves to render obedience to his decisions.

       The author has heard the tale of this singular meeting from the lips of the Arbitrator himself. The gathering comprehended all the leading parties. There were Associationists and Independents, Batmanites and Fawknerites, mercantile men and pastoral ones. They all joined in this good work. Having been favoured with a manuscript account of the assembly, the writer will content himself with the story it tells.

       "Proceedings at a Public Meeting at Yarrow Yarrow,

       Port Phillip, 1st June,  1836.

       " At a meeting of the residents at Port Phillip, held on the first day of June, 1836 (present — John Batman, Jn**- H. Wedge, Jn<»- P. Fawkner, Ja"- C. Darke, Jn« Wood, Fred"^ Taylor, David R. Pitcaim, W"- Diprose, Tho*- Roadknight, W. G. G. James, Jn<>- Aitkin, Alex'- Thomson, Jo^- Sutherland, W™- Eoadknight, Ja*- Simpson, G. Mackillop).

       "1st.  It was  proposed by Alex'- Thomson, seconded by G.

       Mackillop, and carried unanimously, that Ja*-  Simpson  shall

       take the chair,

       " 2nd. It was proposed by Jn**- Fawkner, seconded by Jn®-

       Wood, and carried unanimously, that Mr.  Ja"-   Simpson be

       appointed to arbitrate between   individuals disputing   on  all

       questions, excepting those relative to land, with power to him

       to name two assistants when he may deem fit.

       " 3rd. It was proposed by Ja»- C. Darke, seconded by Jn**- H. Wedge, and carried unanimously, that the arbitrator or arbitrators be empowered to impose any fine that he or they may think just and proportional to the injury complained of.

       "4th. Proposed by Jn<*- P. Fawkner, seconded by Alex'-Thomson, and carried unanimously, that all subscribing parties to these resolutions bind themselves not to cause any action at law or equity against the arbitrator or arbitrators for any act he or they may perform in the execution of the duties hereinbefore imposed upon him or them.

       " 5th. Proposed by Jn**- H. Wedge, seconded by Jn**- Aitkin, and carried unanimously, that the residents not present at this meeting be invited to become parties to these resolutions.

       "6th. Proposed by David R. Pitcaim, seconded by Alex'-Thomson, and carried unanimously, that all parties do bind themselves to communicate to the Arbitrator any aggression committed upon or by the aborigines that may come to their knowledge, by the earliest opportunity, and that he be empowered to proceed in the matter as he may think expedient. . "7th. Proposed by Jn**- H. Wedge, seconded by Jn**- P« Fawkner, and carried unanimously, that all subscribing parties pledge themselves to aflford protection to the aborigines to the utmost of their power; and, further, that they will not teach them the use of fire-arms, or allow their servants to do so, nor on any account to allow the aborigines to be in possession of any fire-arms.

       " 8th. Proposed by Alex'- Thomson, seconded by Jn®- Batman, and carried unanimously, that the Arbitrators collect all fines and hold them until the next general meeting of the settlers on the first day of September next.

       " 9th. Proposed by Tho*- Roadknight, seconded by Jn®- Aitkin, and carried unanimously, that the destruction of wild dogs being of great importance to the colony, a reward of five shillings be given for every head of the same, and that a fund be raised by subscription for that purpose, the master's certificate being suflBcient proof of the destruction.

       "10th. Proposed by Jn**- P. Fawkner, seconded by Jn**- H. Wedge, and carried unanimously, that a petition be prepared to Governor Bourke, praying him to appoint a Resident Magistrate at Port Phillip, and that he will be further pleased to appoint from among the Residents here other gentlemen to assist him when required."

       It is very gratifying to see that the earliest settlers of Port Phillip were heedful of the poor aborigines, and as desirous to protect them from insult and wrong, as to shield themselves from attack. They had all come from Van Diemen's Land, where such unfortunate and murderous results followed an opposite policy. Cruel wrong to the blacks there provoked hostilities; and, in so extensive a domain on the continent of New Holland, the settlers were naturally anxious to ward off a similar catastrophe. There were neither soldiers nor constables to protect them there.    But the guiding spirits of the new
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       settlement were those Association gentlemen^ whose real concern for the rights and interests of the natives had been truly displayed in that well-meant though illegal Treaty.

       Ready now to acknowledge themselves citizens of the colony of New South Wales, though so far removed from any settled part thereof, they properly enough demanded protection from the authority that claimed their allegiance. A Resident Magis« trate was not immediately appointed; but an inspection of affairs at Port Phillip being ordered by Sir Richard Bourke, the official visitor was present at this meeting.

       The first exercise of Government was of a voluntary kind, and followed the agreement of mutual protection. A dispute between Mr. Fawkner and Mr. John Batman's brother Heniy, was pleasantly settled by arbitration. The award is thus given in Mr. Rusden's pamphlet:—

       " We award, in the disputes between Mr. Henry Batman and Mr. John  Pascal FawkeT^r—on  the first claim, Thirty shillings; on the Becond claim, nothing; altho' a strong presumption is in our minds that some hasty expressions of Mr. Batman may have led Bullet  {Sydney native)  to destroy the rabbits; on the third claim, damage Five shillings, and a fine of Twenty shillings, in consideration of its being an act of unauthorized aggression ; and in the fourth claim, nothing, as it does not appear that Mr. Batman set the dogs on the calf. We cannot omit remarking that there has been a degree of forbearance on the part of Mr. Fawkener highly gratifying to us, and, if generally practised, very conducive to the general good.

       (Signed)       "A.  Thomson.

       "John Aitken. "James Simpson.

       ''May 2nd,  1886."

       '*Mem. — The fines to be appropriated to some general purpose."

       A magistrate, Mr. George Stewart, of Goulbum, was sent to look at the band of trespassers, who were not to be awed by a Proclamation from Government House. They were, after all, something better than ordinary squatters, though squatting unlawfully upon Crown lands. Men who could meet and organise a temporary form of government were, at least, worthy of oflScial notice, if not of favoiur. It was necessary that, as head   of a penal  colony,   the   Governor   should   know   what
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       runaways were being attracted to the new port, what the rough sealers were doing in the Straits, and what work was proceeding between blacks and whites. His report, June 18, 1836, is here given:—

       "  Sydnet,  10^  June,  1886.

       "  Sir. —In obedience to the commands of His Excellency the Governor conveyed to me in your letter of the 4th ultimo, I embarked on board the Revenue Cutter  (Prince George)  on the 6th of that month for the purpose of proceeding to Port Philip; and when ofif the Heads of Port Jackson I delivered to Captain Roach his sealed instructions.

       " 2. Our arrival at Port Philip was delayed by contrary winds, but we reached it on the 25 th of May, and on the 27th I had the pleasure of seeing Mr. John Wedge, who resides about thirty (30) miles west of what is called the Settlement. To this gentleman, and the other residents, I am indebted for all the information which they readily aflforded me.

       " 3. I have, in the first place, to report, that the parties who are believed to have committed the two outrages at Western Port, one upwards of 18 months ago, and the other in March last, have long since left the colony.

       " The principal, accused of perpetrating the first, commanded a sealing vessel, and was killed by the natives in the neighbourhood of Spencer s Qulph. One of the females he carried from Western Port is reported to have been with him at the time he was killed. The perpetrator of the latter, is, I have every reason to believe, a half-caste named Tomlins, at present employed in a whaling establishment at Portland Bay. In the spring of tho year, when the whaling season is over, it is the custom of the men belonging to this establishment to employ themselves in collecting Mimosa bark, during which employment an attack was made upon a native family, in which two women were wounded. It is expected that next season they will again return to Western Port, when, should the Government not deem it necessary to make any Police Establishment, I have every reason to hope that the delinquent and his accomplices, if any, will be apprehended by the residents of Port Philip.

       " 4. The only aggression known to have been attempted by an European at Port Philip upon any of the blacks was committed by a stockman, who some time ago attempted forcibly to violate the person of one of their females, and who, on that account, was sent back to Van Diemen's Land by Messrs. Wedge and Batman, with which punishment the friends of the female were quite satisfied.

       "5. The Port Philip residents appear to be treating the blacks with great kindness, and are endeavouring to instil habits
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       of industry into them. But, like all savages, they will ste^ when they can find any opportunity; and three of them are reported to have speared two white men near * Indented Head/ that they might possess themselves of some flour these two were carrying. The tribe they belonged to, however, offered to give them up to the Europeans for punishment, which offer, under existing circumstances, was declined.

       " 6. The only convicts that are known to have escaped to Port Philip are two from Van Diemen's Land, who secreted themselves in the  Caledonia  trader, on her last trip from Laun-ceston. They are supposed to be lurking within ten miles of the Settlement, and during my stay of eight days, I used every exertion for their apprehension; but having completed every other object of His Excellency's instructions, I did not feel myself at liberty to detain the cutter longer, and accordingly I embarked on the 3rd instant on my return to Sydney. I had less inducement to delay my departure, knowing that the residents are keeping a strict watch on these men, and there is little chance of their long escaping detection. Such is the feeling, indeed, among the persons now forming the establishment at Port Philip, that they expressed to me their determination to use their best endeavours to apprehend any convict who may escape thither, and to forward him by the first opportunity to the police of either New South Wales or Van Diemen's Land.

       " 7. On the 1st of June, I held a conference with the aboriginal natives, and I distributed to them some of the blankets which were placed at my disposal for that purpose. So far as my information extends, I am of opinion the number frequenting the country occupied by Europeans is about eight hundred (800), of which four hundred (400) have assembled on the Settlement at one time. Their movements are, however, very uncertain; and though I was somewhat surprised that, from the means I adopted of sending notice that blankets would be distributed, a larger number did not meet, the residents accounted for the circumstance in various ways, and my impression is, that either the shortness of the notice, or some feast at which they were supposed to be present, occasioned the small assemblage. Messrs. Wedge and Batman having undertaken the charge of the remainder of the blankets, and promised to distribute them to the natives, I have no doubt His Excellency will approve my having left them with these gentlemen for that purpose, as I was informed by Buckley that even if I remained another fortnight I might not see more of them.

       " 8. The use of tobacco is yet unknown to them, and it would not be appreciated had any been distributed.

       " The respectable  residents   are  anxious   to   prevent   their
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       acquiring a taste for either it or spirits; and by their advice I have brought it back to Sydney. The articles most prized by the blacks are blankets^ tomahawks, knives, and brass ornaments.

       " 9. The blacks above alluded to are divided into seven (7) principal tribes, and the following, as far as I have been able to ascertain, is the name of each, its chief, and the country it inhabits, viz.—

       Tribes.   Chiefs.

       Yow Whamget^,   Marradonnanuke,

       Wodewawow,   Coralcurke,

       GeraJtimi^,   Bodedoneuneuke,

       Bemgalit^,   NoUamboine,

       OdelK>iigitcorong,   Engait,

       DutagaUa,   Jagajaga,

       Boatnairo.   Wodelanenuke.

       " I am inclined to think it has not been sufficiently ascertained what distinguishing title the chief prizes most, but have been led to believe that they designate themselves as the chief of such a tribe, and not the king of such a country.

       " 10. On the same day of my holding the conference with the natives, there was a meeting of the Europeans at the Settlement, and I embraced that opportunity of promulgating the Proclamations of His Excellency Sir Richard Bourke, and circulated copies of each, for the purpose of their being posted up at the various stations of Europeans.,

       "11. I further, agreeably to my instructions, embraced the opportunity of my stay at rort Philip, to collect all the information I could relative to that Settlement and neighbouring country, and the following is the result of my inquiries.

       " The Bay of Port Philip is about 100 miles in circumference, and, owing to the numerous shoals, is of rather difficult access. All the vessels, with the exception of one, which always chooses the western passage, go by the eastern channel, although the western is the more direct way to the Settlement, owing to the former not being so well known. The town, * Bearbrass,' is on the left hand of the Yarro Yarro, about seven miles from its mouth, which at present consists of thirteen buildings, viz. three weather boarded, two slab, and eight turf huts.

       " The whole amount of European population consists of 142 males and 35 females; of these, nine are proprietors claiming under Mr. Batman's treaty with the natives in June 1835 ; four of whom reside on their lands, and some of the others are soon expected to follow their example.

       " Twenty-four others are individuals who have settled in the vicinity without any regard to the above treaty, and the remainder are composed of   and servants of

       the above.
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       " The number of sheep grazing at Port Philip when I left wa« computed at 26,500, the number of horses at 57, and of horned cattle 100. The estimated value of the whole stock, together with farming implements, &c., was computed at £80,000. There was last year under cultivation 60 acres, and the settlers have now brought the means to cultivate to any extent which, under the tenure of their circumstances, they may deem expedient. I could not find, however, that their object was .so much agriculture as to secure pasture for their stock. The wheat which had been gi'own, Mr. Batman assiired me, was of excellent quality.

       ** 12. The Europeans occupy an extent of about 100 miles of country, but no person is known to have penetrated more than 70 miles within land, and the most distant station is i^ot, that I could learn, more than 35 miles from the township.

       " The soil is generally available for all agricultural purposes, and, for the most part, open grassy plains or downs. A very considerable tract of fine country is represented as extending to the westward of Port Philip. The land in other directions, beyond the limits claimed by the proprietors who acquired under Mr. Batman's treaty with the natives, is not known to any extent, but it is supposed there is an available country extending to the north and north-west, as well as to the eastward, as far as the western extremity of the Australian alps.

       " 13. The country about Port Philip did not suffer last season from the severe drought that was experienced in New South Wales and Van Diemen's Land; and Buckley states that during his long experience of upwards of thirty years, he has never seen the pastures materially affected by the want of rain, nor the country during all that period flooded. In a ride which I took across the country between the two branches of the Yarro, I observed on some plains considerable cracks in the ground, which I thought must have been caused by dry weather, but, on my remarking the circumstance, I was told that the pasture did not suffer in the least.

       "14. Little appears to be known by the residents of Port Philip relative to the country about Western Port; but the impression seems to be, that there is at the latter place but a small extent of available country compared with the former. On our way to Port Philip, being caught in the Straits by a gale of wind, which injured the sails of the cutter so materially as to compel us to put into Western Port to repair, I took the opportunity of visiting the country where the settlement formerly was (about eight miles from where we anchored), and walked for some miles through as rich a country as I have seen. It was thickly clothed with kangaroo grass, upwards of three feet in height, and c»n mentioning this at Port Philip, I was informed
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       that, in that direction, there are excellent  cattle  stations, but the ground is considered too wet for sheep.

       "I beg to annex a long and interesting communication, addressed to me by Mr. George M*Killop, an intelligent gentleman lately from India, who has embarked a large capital in the Port Philip speculation.

       " It is perhaps unnecessary for me to draw the attention of His Excellency to any separate portion of that letter, except it be to the important subject mentioned in the postscript, viz. the smuggling of tobacco, which, together -with spirits, I found were, by means of the vessels trading thither, constantly imported without paying duty either at Sydney or Van Diemen's Land.

       *' For His Excellency's information, the following list of the vessels now employed in bringing stock from Van Diemen's Land is given.

       Enterprise     55   Tons,

       Adelaide      100   „

       Norval     800   „

       Caledonia     800   „

       Champion     110   „

       VanaiUart     110   „

       Oein  ...     80   ,,

       UeUy     100   „

       Chili     200   „

       He-ary         160

       Edward         60

       )»

       »>

       Total Tons     1,565       No.  of Trips...  48

       " Indeed, if I may venture to give an opinion, the establishment of a branch of the Customs appears necessary to regulate the introduction of those articles of trade.

       " 15. In conclusion, I beg to assure His Excellency, that the residents generally expressed great satisfaction at the Government of New South Wales naving made inquiry into their state, and would, I am persuaded, feel much gratified if this Government would extend to them its protection.

       " I have the honour to be, "Sir, " Your most obedient Servant,

       (Signed)      "George Stewart.

       "  To the Honourable 'he  Colonial Secrbtart, &c/'

       t

       CHAPTER XVII.

       '    FIRST  GOVERNMENT  OF  PORT  PHILLIP.

       The  prayers of the Yaxra settlers prevailed, and the Sydney Governor, who had warned them oflf as trespassers, now condescended to take them under his wing, and provide them with a ruler.

       Captain Lonsdale, of the 4th Regiment, received command to go down  to Bearbrass, Bearburp, Bareburp, Olenelg, Yarrow Yarrow, Batmania,  the  Settlement,  the  Township,  or by whatever name the collection of sod-huts was known. He arrived, in H.M.S.  Battlemake,  October 1, 1836. The commander, Captain Hobson, gave name to the bay at the mouth of the Yarra. Captain Lonsdale brought with him Messrs. Russel, Darke, and D'Arcy, as surveyors of the totn[iship to be laid out; Mr. Howson, as constable; Mr. Webb, as the officer of Customs; and . Lieutenant King, with thirty soldiers. The author can endorse the warm encomium of Mr. G. W. Rusden, who declares the Captain " a straightforward, upright, dutiful servant of the Queen, and kind-hearted Englishman." The house he occupied till his departure still stands behind the Gymnasium, below the upper end of Flinders Street.

       A public dinner was given to him and Captain Hobson. We are told that " the married ladies of the settlement also graced the table." The dinner took place November 30th. The company assembled at four, and separated at six. **The viands," says one, "consisted of a splendid leg of mutton, a very fine shoulder of mutton, stewed mutton-chops, real Irish pork, pig's cheek, and a variety of other delicacies. The dessert  was  in keeping with the   dinner."    Some   fun  was

       occasioned by one of the guests proposing a toast for the man who had sold the Cape wine for 4«. 6rf. per gallon.

       Before starting from Sydney, he had instructions from the Gtovemor, September 14th, 1836. He was to be diligent and true as police magistrate, he must make a census of the ■people as soon as possible, and do his utmost to conciliate the natives. As the Proclamation a few months before had warned off people from going to Port Phillip, it was necessary in these instructions to say something about the influx of trespassers, who could not be kept outside of the Heads, though liable to all sorts of pains and penalties. The Governor, therefore, guardedly wrote:—

       " You will draw the attention of any person who may desire to occupy land in the district to that part of the notice which treats of this subject. It is not intended that you should actually prevent  free persons, either with or without stock, from passing into the district, nor that you should disturb the occu-

       Eation of those already there, so long as they conduct themselves onestly and peaceably; but you should discourage any person from occupying land before he acquires a title, and particularly caution him from etfecting improvements which will serve to augment competition when the land is put up for sale. It is the desire of this Government to expedite as much as possible the regular location of settlers in those parti^, as a preliminary step to which a survey and measurement of the lands are ordered. The premature occupation by individuals will give them no advantage at the time of sale. If you should at any time desire to remove any person from the lands of the Crown, whose conduct is such as to render his presence there injurious to the public service, you will not scruple to use all legal means to effect this object. If payment of the fine imposed on unauthorised occupation by the Act be not made, the offenders must be committed to Sydney Gaol for the period specified," &c.

       He resided for a time with Mr. Batman, who was, above all persons, pleased to see established authority in his domains. After a while, a sod-hut was erected for the representative of order; this was just below Mr. Batman's, on the west side of the present Market Square. In relation to this edifice, and the general state of the place, we have this account in the Sydney Gazette  of December, 1836 :—

       "A house has been erected for the Commandant. Three public-house licenses have been granted ;  one is kept in a log-

       hut  {Mr, FawkneT*8),  the others are of turf. There is only one shoemaker at the settlement, but no tailor, carpenter, or wheelwright, who are much wanted. There are neither butcher nor baker, and the settlers luxuriate upon salt beef and damper, which they wash down with copious libations of rum and water, which are very plentiful there. The population consists of 210 settlers, 6 only of whom are women, 15 are the children (?) The stock there at present consists of 42,621 sheep, 121 head of cattle, and 14 horses."

       The  newly-appointed Commandant, Captain Lonsdale,  did not manage to please all parties.    Those who had hitherto done what seemed good in their own eyes were put into *' a state of mind" by the interference of authority.    It was not agreeable to be brought up suddenly when pursuing a very independent course, and made to feel that the rights of others were to be regarded  as well as  their own.    The  Cornwall Chronicle,  of Launceston, has a version of the aflfair at the close of 1836 :—

    

  
    
       " We have statements before us of the extreme dissatisfaction caused to the Port Philiipians generally by the troublesome interference of Captain Lonsdale in matters in which, as Commandant, he considers himself justified, but in which the Philiipians think he is not. We have it represented to us, that this gentleman will not permit a house to be erected in the allotted township the plan of which does not accord with his ideas of propriety, and that his general behaviour is so annoying to the settlers as to have induced them to petition the supreme authority to remove him. We think we cannot give better advice to the emigrants from Van Diemen's Land than to abandon their plans of settling at Port Phillip,  to forget their golden dreams, and to be wise before it is too late. That place is not the El Dorado it is pictured to be. We have it on the best authority that the land in this island, if properly cleared and cultivated, is capable of producing much greater profits, and is, in every sense of the word, much better than the land they have squatted upon without title or license."

       The  SydTiey Gazette  of January 26th, 1837, gives another illustration of Port Phillip disquietude, saying:—

       " By the  Martha,  from Port Phillip, we learn that Captain Lonsdale, the Commandant of that newly-formed settlement, has made a seizure of from ten to twenty thousand feet of cedar and building materials, which had been cut by Mr. Batman, the first settler at that place. Mr. B. has sent up a remonstrance to the Colonial Government upon the subject,

       alleging it to be a great hardship, on the ground that the timber was cut before the Government took possession of the place, and when they considered they were doing no wrong. Had it been cut after proclamation made Mr. B. acknowledges the transaction would have assumed a different complexion ; bat, under the circumstances, he trusts that the timber will be restored to him.*'

       The  Sydney Gazette  has some sympathy for the Sydney-sent official, and indulges in a little Sydney spleen against the Tasmanian settlers located at Port Phillip; observing—

       " The greater part of the settlers who have emigrated thither are said to be a drunken, worthless set, and a complete pest to the place. Captain Lonsdale has, no doubt, his hands full of business."

       The next change in the Government was proposed by Governor Bourke in his despatch, June 14th, 1837. In this he recommends more than a Commandant for Port Phillip, and suggests that Colonel Snodgrass, who had been a while Acting Governor in Van Diemen's Land, would admirably suit for the position at Melbourne. The sum of 800Z. a year might suffice *' for lodging, money, fuel, light, and rations"; but two horses would require 73/. a year for forage, and a clerk would be needed at 150/. A puisne judge, with a clerk at 150/., and a clerk of the crown at 400/^ would serve for the law. Attorney-General Plunkett reported June 13th, 1837, that it was absurd to send Port Phillip prisoners to be tried in Sydney; where, said he, witnesses in a murder case arrived there the day after the trial, through a long voyage. He declared the place " at present almost without the pale of the law," and that " courts of criminal and civil jurisdiction should be established there." He thinks that, at present, '* Port Phillip is not sufficiently populous  {having only  500  souls)  to admit of the introduction of grand juries, though it is for petty juries."

       The Governor's visit to Port Phillip in March, 1837, led him to acknowledge the growing greatness of the Batman settlement, and the necessity for a more stable form of local authority. His proposal as to the appointment of Colonel Snodgrass was not accepted, but his recommendation that a superior officer be sent thither had the Ministry's attention. It was ultimately resolved that a  Superintendent  should be sent there. Mr. Joseph Latrobe,

       a Moravian missionary's son, came to Sydney for the office: Gazetted July 30th, he was solemnly set apart for his duties September 10th, and arrived in Melbourne October 1st, 1839, with the appellation of Superintendent, but the actual powers of a Lieutenant-Governor under the Govemor-in-Chief at Sydney. With a full staflf of officials, the business of government was properly conducted.

       The scope of this work permits nothing more to be said on this head; but the reply to the Address of the Port Phillipians gave His Honour—afterwards His Excellency the Governor— the opportunity of publicly professing his dependence on God for knowing and doing his duty. He then told the deputation •^•" It will not be by individual aggrandisement, by the possession of numerous flocks and herds, or of costly acres, that we shall secure for the country enduring prosperity and happiness, but by the acquisition and maintenance of sound religious and moral institutions, without which no country can become truly great." May the rulers of Australian colonies ever cling to the principles enunciated by the first Superintendent of Port Phillip, the first Governor of Victoria I
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       Near Geelcng.

       Stu^Osy FaUff.

       CHAPTER XVIII.

       MB.   GELLIBRAND  LOST  IN  THE  BUSH,

       Among  the romantic iDcidents attending the settlement of Port Phillip must be included the fate of the leading member of the Association, Mr. Gellibrand, and that of his companion, Mr. Hesse.

       Mr. Qellibrand was the prime mover of Batman's expedition. He was the leading spirit of his times and colony. He was recognised as the first lawyer in the island, and the most honest among men. Defender of the oppressed, champion of freedom, denouncer of wrong, he was not less esteemed as a private citizen, honoured for his integrity, admired for his benevolence, and beloved for his domestic virtues. Such a man brought dignity and character to the enterprise, while aiding it by the wisdom of his counsels and the energy of his efforts. The loss of so useful and influential a leader was a serious blow to the promoters in the infancy of their undertaking,' and deprived the unhappy natives of their best and most powerful friend.

       Anxious about the success of the little colony, and desirous of conference with Governor Bourke who was coming to Port Phillip, Mr. Gellibrand paid another visit to the new land. In this trip he was accompanied by Mr. Hesse, a legal neighbour of Hobart Town. He was at this time in the vigour of life, about fifty years of age. In  physique,  he was of moderate height, fairly developed in frame, with broad base of brain, a bare head, but a particularly intellectual looking forehead. Mr. Hesse, on the contrary, was tall and thin, with a less impulsive nature.

       Procuring horses and a guide near Gcelong harbour, the two

       gentlemen resolved to occupy the time intervening before the arrival of His Excellency by an inspection of the country between Gleelong and the Yarra Yarra; but on a route more to the westward than the course taken either by Mr. Batman or Mr. Wedge. This led them toward the Cape Otway country, in the forest ranges of which it appears they wandered till they died.

       The author, on his arrival in Hobart Town, 1841, found that four years had but slightly abated the interest felt in their fate, and by no means settled the minds of the colonists as to the cause of their death, or convinced many that they were even then dead.     Not a year before the   writer's arrival had the Insurance Office consented, with manifest reluctance, to pay a claim of £11,000, the amount of Mr. Qellibrand's life policy. A report had just then come in that a shepherd had found skeletons of horses, with the ironwork of bridles and saddles near Mount Rouse.    There were, however, no human remains. As it would have been impossible for the gentlemen to have made their way on horseback, when   once entangled in the dense scrub and hilly fastnesses of Cape Otway district, the animals may have  worked their way out and gained the open plain near Mount Rouse before dying.

       It was on the border of that very intricate region, and in one of its rocky dells with carboniferous bands, that the author heard some of the traditions about this sad disappearance.

       The persistence of Mr. Gellibrand in taking a course objected to by the guide Akers, led the latter to leave the party. One was blamed for obstinacy, the other for cowardice, or want of duty. But some ventured to doubt the whole yam of the returning man, though unable to charge him with the committal of any crime. Exploring parties found tracks of the horses, but none of the travellers. A well-organised party, it was remarked, might have thoroughly explored the country. But it should be remembered that the settlers of Port Phillip were from Van Diemen's Land, where a bloody war between whites and blacks had for many years terrified the colony and produced a wholesome fear of native attacks. Guns were of little avail in a thicket, especially where a sort of wild vine or hop bound the bushes and trees into a very wall of defence to hidden but observing natives, who could throw a spear and not receive a shot.     The very   belief that   their friends had

       been murdered by the supposed concealed tribe would quicken the apprehensions of trackers.

       The only partially civilised aborigines, those about the Geelong neighbourhood, were interested in getting up a story that the Otway blacks had murdered the two. Tribal revenge could be cheaply gratified by the help of the Europeans' thunder and lightning. In the momentary fear or excitement, the settlers fell into the snare, and a bloody massacre of, perhaps, a wholly inoffensive people took place. The search turned into a hunting expedition of a doubtful character.

       It is not a little curious that, though fragments of clothing were reported, none could be really identified. Upon the assertion of the Barrabool tribe that they had pieces of garment  said  to have been got from the tribe at Cape Otway, the assault had taken place, the evidence of an old lubra being accepted. Several skeletons that were at various times discovered in the Bush have been taken for those of the unhappy gentlemen. A skull, having a tooth set in gold, like that worn by Mr. Gellibrand, attracted much attention. As a large reward was ofl'ered for information or relics, suggestive narratives and reputed facts were not wanting, though not convincing to the directors of the Hobart Town Life Assurance Company.

       The author has heard from the lips of Mr. Allen, of Warmam-bool, a remarkable series of stories concerning the lost ones. The station of Messrs. Allen was on the Cape Otway side of the Hopkins river. In 1844 a body was found by the natives of that quarter, and metal buttons were lying beside the bones. The tale was told that a murder had been committed, by a tribe of seven men in the Otway forest, upon an old white man seen walking through the sciiib. Being asked when this occurred, the informant pointed to a lad six or seven years old, and replied, "when him piccaninny." The skull had a front tooth out, similar to that known in the case of Mr. Gellibrand. A letter containing these particulars was sent off to Hobart Town. But no notice seems to have been taken of the circumstance. After keeping the skull hung up in his kitchen for three years, Mr. Allen forwarded it to friends in Van Diemen's Land.

       Rumours were heard of an aged white man, of evident infirm mind, being with the blacks in the Otway forest. It was not a country to explore for the verification of such a tale.    One

       report was that kindness afforded the stranger by one person had provoked the anger of another, who came behind the visitor aad killed him with a blow from his waddy. Another tale was a later one, and spoke of a quiet old man, much beloved by the children of the tribe, and well treated by the children of the forest, who gently passed away, being buried with native rites.

       The first public announcement of the loss came from the Sydney Gazette  of March 28th, 1837, saying:—

       "We should not be surprised if Mr. Gellibrand has been murdered. When the native blacks can be tied to trees and deliberately shot to death by the convicts, and when those convicts on being tried are acquitted, we cannot wonder, though we should deeply regret, retaliation of the natives."

       Full particulars of the loss of Messrs. Qellibrand and Hesse are given in the Hobart Town  True Colonist,  of May 19th, 1837 :—

       " It appeared that they reached Point Henry, in Port Phillip, by the brig  Hen/ry,  on the 21st of February, and at once made arrangements for their intended excursion by land to the Settlement. Some diflBculty arose about obtaining horses for the whole party, and it was subsequently arraDged that Mr. Gellibrand's son should proceed with the vessel to Melbourne, and there await the arrival of his father. Messrs. Gellibrand and Hesse started on the 22nd, .and were accompanied a short distance by Mr. Sinclair; but, in consequence of an injury he sustained from his horse, he was reluctantly compelled to return. Their intended route was, after leaving Mr. Thomson's station on the river Burwan, to visit Mr. Roadknight's, and then, from Captain Pollock's to proceed to the runs of Captain Swanston, upon the river Leigh. After inspecting these, Messrs. Gellibrand and Hesse intended to pass the back of Mount Villuminata (the Station Peak of Flinders) and thence calling at such stations as they might find in their way, hasten to the settlement in the expectation of finding that Sir Eichard Bourke had by that time arrived from Sydney. Mr. Gellibrand, during his late visit to Sydney, had evidently formed a high opinion of the character of Sir B. Bourke, and had anticipated that much benefit would result from his visit to the infant colony. On this account he was very anxious to meet him there ; his desire, unhappily, was never gratified.

       " At Dr. Thomson's he obtained the services of a guide named Akers, who had on other occasions been to the river Leigh. These three reached Captain Pollock's station, about 18 miles

       from Point Henry, on the evenincr of the 22nd, and there slept. At this place they crossed the Burwan, intending afterwards to pass it below the point where the Leigh falls into it. In this case they would have been on the upper side of the Leigh, and near the stations they were seeking; but, instead of this, mistaking the places of junction, they crossed above it, and so only passed to the other side of the Burwan. Supposing themselves, however, to be on the Leigh, they advanced in search of the stations. In this manner they spent the day, and at night were obliged to keep near the stream. In the morning they were still unable to find any hut; but continued to follow up the river, and were entering a much more thickly wooded country than they had yet seen, when Akers states that he became alarmed, and begged them to return, assuring them that they were out of the way, and if they persisted in advancing, must inevitably be lost. It since appears that Akers at this time suspected the nature of the error he had committed, although he did not communicate his opinions to them. When it is considered that they were without provisions, Mr. Gellibrand's determination still to advance affords the strongest assurance that he expected momentarily to reach the stations. Akers now refused to go any further, and they told him he might, if he wished it, return. He did so, and—^here all trace of their proceedings was lost.

       *' Akers returned to Dr. Thomson's station the same evening, and expressed great apprehensions about the persons he had unfortunately misguided. From Mr. Gellibrand's general knowledge of the country, however, no fears were entertained about them, until it was ascertained that they had not on the 6th of March reached the settlement. Intelligence was then forwarded to Mr. Cotter, who acted as Mr. Gellibrand's acent. A mrty was at once formed at the westward, consisting of Captain Pollock and other gentlemen in the neighbourhood. After tracing the horses for a considerable distance up the river to the forest, they returned for reinforcements. A party was again despatched, accompanied by Buckley and Mr. Gellibrand's son, as well as another consisting of three prisoners of the crown, constables, and one native, headed by Mr. Cotter. They discovered the horse tracks several miles further in the forest, but were unable to obtain any decisive information as to the facts of the persons lost. Thus the matter stood, until the arrival of the Kev. Mr. Naylor, and C. O. Parsons, Esq., at Port Phillip. These gentlemen were deputed by the family and friends of  Mj. Gellibrand to employ every available means for the purpose of obtaining decisive intelligence about himself and his companion. Landing at Geelong, they found it would be impossible there to fit out an expedition of the kind necessary lor securing their
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       object. They consequently sailed for the settlement, and, aft» considerable difficulty, succeeded in forming a party, ocxisistiiig of, in addition to themselves. Captain Whiting, of the brig Henry,  Mr. Cotter, young Geliibrand, two persons who volunteered to join the expedition, four men well accustomed to the Bush, and two of the most intelligent natives they could find. Application was also made to the Commandant for assistance, and it was arranged that a separate party, headed by Batman, the chief constable, should also set out in search, accompanied by Buckley, who had instruction to leave this party when he thought necessary; and, by living for a short time with the natives, endeavour to obtain from them any information he could. In addition, a Notice offering three hundred pounds for accurate information was posted in the Township, provisions for one month were forwarded by water to Geelong. The arrangements, with reference to Batman and Buckley, were not, however, carried into eflfect. The first party reached Geelong on the 18th of April, where they found that a native had the day previous come from the westward, bringing full particulars of the massacre of two white men by a tribe frequenting extensive lakes in that direction. From him, the names of the murderers, the manner of their attack, and the precise spot where it was made, were accurately given. The whole of the Baraboul hill natives were in the highest state of excitement. All the Blacks in the Settled Districts had heard of Mr. Geliibrand, and conceived that through him they were in some way to be greatly benefited.

       " With the information thus obtained, the expedition set out for the lake, the scene of the massacre. Near the spot where Messrs. Geliibrand and Hesse had slept a depot of provisions were made, and six of the party left in charge of it. Parting the next morning, the party were suddenly overtaken by a body of natives, fully armed, and prepared for war. By means of the Blacks who accompanied the expedition, it was ascertained that those men were proceeding, according to a custom common to many savages, to retaliate upon the hostile tribe, by taking two lives for the life of the murdered white men. The desire of the persons forming the party to reach the scene of murder, and there to obtain the bodies of their friends, or some portion of their dress, was fully communicated to the aborigines; and three of the party at once undertook to accomplish their object. . In this success, both parties advanced through the forest to the lake, and here they suddenly fell upon the tracks of horses, which, upon examination, were clearly known to be the small foot of the grey horse which Mr. Geliibrand rode, and the larger one of a mare, the property of Mr. Hesse. It was now essential to ascertain whether their tracks would lead to the place before

       described as the scene of murder. They were followed until dark, and the following morning again anxiously pursued, after crossing a large lagoon formed by the lake, they had evidently struck upon a native path, and followed this in all its winding, until it led directly to the place previously pointed out by the natives. Near the spot, however, the Baraboul blacks formed, with the intention of stealing down upon the hostile ones, in order to seize some of them. Notwithstanding the extreme silence of their approach, the others had been alarmed, and when the rush was made upon the neck of land, where their fires were all burning, they had all disappeared. The lake, upon the borders of which they were encamped, is surrounded by a thick belt of reeds, ten or fifteen feet high, and from twenty to thirty yards deep; into this shelter the tribes had retreated, and were most effectually concealed. From this place returning marks of the same horses were found, and the party commenced an active search of every spot in the neighbourhood for the bodies. Disappointed in this scheme, the friendly natives dispersed in the reeds, but very shortly afterwards brought intelligence of the capture of a native, named Tanapia, who was known to be one of the murderers. Threatening him with instant death, they obtained from him a full corroboration of the previous statements, with the additional facts, that the bodies had been partly stripped, and thrown into the lake, and that the horses had galloped off, both struck with spears, and one of them with the spears still adhering to his side. At this moment several of the other natives were attacking those in the reeds, and killed a woman. These coming up to those who held Tanapia, dashed five or six spears into his body, and then exultingly shouted out their cry of victory.

       " From this moment no inducement could prevail with them to stay; not even the natives who accompanied the expedition would remain one instant; and there remained no alternative to the party but to retreat with them, or alone to enter the reeds in prosecution of the search. Upon attempting this, it was discovered that so many of the hostile natives were concealed in them, that the party were within reach of their spears -before they were seen, and it would have been madness to throw away their lives to have attempted that which, after all, presented so little prospect of success. Every individual of the party, after a snort deliberation, felt that the utmost endeavours in their power had been made—the fact of the murder was placed beyond a doubt, and it would only remain for subsequent events to close the melancholy narrative by announcing the recovery of the bodies or clothes of the unfortunate sufferers. It is known that several articles of dress, &c., are in possession of this tribe—but from its numbers and its
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       distailce from the settled district, it is uncertain how  long a time may elapse until the corroboration is attained."

       The Earakoi tribe had the credit of the murder. A letter inserted in the Sydney paper of 1837 has this account of affairs at the new settlement:—"The next murder was near Port Phillip, and in a state of ferocious exasperation caused by the shooting of their chief. A tribe of more friendly natives, residing between the Karakoi hunting-grounds on the Barabul Hills and the settlement, have very recently reported that Messrs. Oellibrand and Hesse have been tomahawked by the Earakoi tribe, and their horses speared, at no great distance from the place to which the horses had been traced by Messrs. Cowie and Stead."

       But, as elsewhere stated, suflScient confirmation of the murder was not made to satisfy the scruples of the insurabce company. The expectation of the  True Colonist  of May, 1837, that the mystery would soon be cleared up, was not realized.

       Mr. Henry Melville, of Hobart Town, who was well acquainted with Messrs. Gellibrand and Hesse, has conveyed, in his work on  Atcstralasia,  the views of not a few colonists of the island at the time he wrote, in 1850:—

       "Both gentlemen were barristers of Van Diemen's Land, and in 1836 they together visited the forming settlement. Being desirous of proceeding by land from Geelong to Melbourne, they left the former township (?) with a stock-keeper (an emancipist), to conduct them through the Bush. The man made his appearance at Melbourne, and reported that a difference of opinion had existed between Mr. Gellibrand and himself as to the track they should take, and that he, persisting he was right, had left the gentlemen to pursue their own course; since then they have never been heard of. Whatever their fate may have been remains clouded in mystery, nothing like satisfactory proof having ever been adduced as to the manner in which they came by their death—^  they are dead.  Their horses were never afterwards seen, nor were their weapons of defence, or any part of their clothing, ever found; nothing, in fact, has been heard respecting them, excepting idle tales of stock-keepers and natives, who have occasionally invented stories to suit their own interests.

       " Over and over again has the writer of these pages listened to these various satisfactory proofs, as they were said to be, but none are deserving credence.    It is possible, though not

       probable that some of the roving tribes may have fallen in with them, and carried them away, as was the case with Buckley, far into the country. Some of the tribes of the interior at times migrate from place to place, forming extensive circuits, occupying many years in accompli^ng (?). Mr. Gellibrand was accustomed to the Bush, and had on a former occasion for some days almost lived on the nutritious root, ' Memong,' or native parsnip, of which there is great plenty in most parts of Port Phillip. As to Mr. Hesse, he was assuredly about as ill-adapted for Bush travelling as any one could possibly be. Several parties left Van Diemen's Land for the purpose of scouring the country, in order, if possible, to find traces of these unfortunate individuals, but all exertions were unsuccessfuL"

       Elsewhere, under the head  of "Old Gosling's Narrative," further allusion is made to this sad and mysterious loss.

       CHAPTER XIX.

       THE   governor's   VISIT  TO THE YARRA.

       For  a long time Sydney found matter of considerable merriment in the aflfairs of Port Phillip. The  rush  thither from Van Diemen's Land did seem very absurd to the folks of the old and more aristocratic settlement on Port Jackson, who found great satisfaction in styling those invaders of wild pastures by the pleasant name of  Philistines,  But the pertinacious Tasmanians over the Straits would not be ignored. They gave such sufficient evidence of their vitality, that the language of scorn softened to expressions of astonishment, if not of respect.

       The gradations of official recognition are obvious. At first, they were warned oflF, under threats of pains and penalties. Then a magisterial spy was directed to look at the trespassers, and report upon their doings. After this, they were not only permitted to remain, but a representative of the Sydney ruler was sent down to establish the first form of civilized government.    Last of all, the Governor himself went to Port Phillip.

       General Sir Richard Bourke was a thorough soldier. If quick in his displeasure, and somewhat stem in his proclamation against the Batmanites, he was ready to acknowledge a public service, and was gracious to those who, though disobeying his orders, had founded a flourishing settlement. Ireland claimed him at birth in 1777, and gave him a grave in 1855. While serving with the Foot Guards in Holland, he was wounded in both jaws by a shot in 1798. After serving under the Iron Duke in Spain, he was sent as Lieutenant-Governor to the Cape Colony. From that place he came to New South Wales as Governor in 1831, leaving in 1837. In his letters home he did full justice to the work of Port Phillipians.

       He arrived at the unnamed settlement on the Yarra banks in March, 1837. H.WLS.  Rattlesnake,  Captain Hobson, brought the distinguished visitor, who was most warmly welcomed by as many as could gather in time. It was while on the way to receive General Bourke that Mr. Gellibrand, the head of the Port Phillip Association, was lost and murdered. Batman, Fawkner, and others, were prepared with the usual written form of congratulation.

       The address of the Port Phillip settlers to Sir Richard Bourke was the following:—

       " We, the undersigned inhabitants of Port Phillip, beg to approach your Excellency, and offer congratulations upon your safe arrival in this portion of your government.

       " The pleasure we experience in thus addressing your Excellency is enhanced by the consideration that your arrival, dissipates the reports which had reached us of your Excellency's resignation, and bids us hope that the colony may continue to derive advantage from the exercise of those talents which have always been exerted for, and have tended materially to advance, its prosperity.

       " We cannot suflSciently thank your Excellency for having at so early a period visited this newly-settled district. It is very important that the sites of towns, and other preliminary arrangements, should be speedily and efficiently determined, and we congratulate ourselves that these will be eflFected under your Excellency's personal superintendence.

       " We may, perhaps, be allowed to express our regret that so few are present to meet your Excellency on this occasion, but the absence of several from the district, and the distant position of the residences of others, have prevented many from manifesting their respect and attachment to your Excellency, and joining us in welcoming you to this interesting and important part of New South Wades/'

       His Excellency thus replied:—

       "  Gentlemen, —I thank you for the kind manner in which you have welcomed my arrival in this promising settlement. In the belief that its future progress will realize the sanguine expectations entertained regarding it, I have felt very strongly the necessity of fixing at once those points of occupation which are obviously of the greatest importance, in order to prevent the waste of capital, and to give to the industry of the settlers a permanent direction.

       " In coming among you for this purpose, I see no reason, notwithstanding the temporary effects of a dry summer, to doubt

       the eminent adaptation of the vast tract of country by which YOU are surrounded, to those lucrative pastoral objects which have been so successfully pursued in other parts of this colony. The fostering care of His Majesty's (Sovemment will, I am assured, be never wanting to promote and protect to the utmost those useful pursuits.

       " The diflScuIty of introducing all the advantages  of  order  and society into new and remote settlements is well known, but I trust that in the present instance the praiseworthy disposition evinced by the inhabitants will continue to characterize the district, and to aid the eflforts of Government in securing its peace and prosperity."

       Business followed. His Excellency, ever observant  and energetic, saw much in a short time. He even travelled as far as Mount Macedon, having Buckley as the guide, and was loud in his praises of the new country. But the bundle of huts, known as  Barehitrp, Barebrass,  the  Yarra Yarra, Olenelg,  or I'he Settlement,  engaged most of his attention. The surveyors, who had been sent from Sydney to lay out a township at Port Phillip, were by no means ready for the Governor, in spite of the earnest cries of waiting settlers, who had placed their mud habitations or tents anywhere. Mr. Hoddle, who became the first Surveyor General there, tells the following story :—

       " In March, 1837, I was directed to accompany Sir Richard Bourke and staflf onboard H.M.S.  Rattlesnake,  Captain Hobson, to inquire into the state and progress of the survey, and, as nothing satisfactory could be shown, I was ordered to take charge of the department. It was truly amusing to hear of the panic caused amongst the assistant surveyors by the unexpected appearance of the Governor, as these gentlemen had principally been amusing themselves kangarooing, and one produced some excellent caricatures of their flight into the Bush, seemingly employed at their duty."

       His Excellency's despatch of June 13th, upon his return to Sydney, gave the Ministry his views of the place.

       Describing the great distance from Sydney, 550 miles, and the difficulties attending sailing vessels in those rough seas, he notes that *' a passage by water may be eflfected in steam-vessels in about/(W6r days." It has since been done in about thirty hours. Land-travelling across was not to be thought of, and steamers fit for such stormy regions would be expensive.   " To

       keep up, therefore, a regular and frequent intercourse between the districts of Port Phillip and Sydney,*' said he, " appears for the present impracticable ; but a sure, though limited, communication might be established by means of a government steam vessel. To diminish the necessity of more frequent intercourse, I would suggest the appointment of a military officer as Lieutenant-Governor or Commandant."

       He records the fact that " the expenditure on account of the settlement, from the occupation of this Government in October last to the close of the year, amounted to about 3,000/.; and has been defrayed from the revenues of Crown lands." The map of the country to which he alludes, prepared by Captain King, R.N., of the country northward to Mount Macedon, would be interesting to us now, but appears to have been mislaid in the  Record  office, or not sent at all. But he does full justice to Batman as the founder of Melbourne ; saying—

       " I have now to acquaint your Lordship that I found, on my arrival on the SPOT SELECTED FOR A  settlement by Mr. Batman, on the banks of the Yarra river,  at the head of the inland sea called Port Phillip, an assembled population, consisting of from sixty to seventy families. The situation appearing to be well chosen, I directed a town to be immediately laid out, which your Lordship will perceive by the map has received the name of  Melbourne,  Conceiving it to be an object of some importance to enable the families I have mentioned to place themselves with as little delay as possible on property of their own, I directed one hundred allotments to be measured and offered for sale at Melbourne, on the first of this month."

       Further information is afforded in this letter:—

       " The country which I traversed, by the routes marked blue on the sketch, is of a varied description; but generally the pasture may be described as superior m quality to the average of the districts of New South Wales, which have been earlier settled. It is not, for the most part, well watered, but the general character of the country is such as to render it a very desirable position for settlers, whether graziers or agriculturists, and there is, I think, little doubt of its soon becoming the resort of emigrants from Europe, as it is now of those inhabitants of Van Diemen's Land who find it difficult to extend their possessions, or establish their families to their liking on the land remaining for selection in that colony." He also says, " I found at the beginning of March last, that the population in

       the whole district exceeded 500 souls, and before I left Melbourne at the end of that month the flocks, which had been sent from Van Diemen's Land, numbered more than 100,000 sheep."

       Very naturally he is concerned about the future, observing to his Lordship: " As there is thus but little doubt that this Settlement will increase rapidly in numbers and wealth, it becomes of great importance to consider in what way its government can be best administered, and the inhabitants obtain the benefit of the essential institutions of civil society."

       Upon his return to Sydney, the local papers had something to say. The  Gazette,  of March 28th, remarked : " We learn that he was anything but satisfied with the locality of the place, and the country generally." And yet, on April 11th, it said: "We learn that this interesting settlement is progressing rapidly ; the country is laid out in three counties, namely, William, Melbourne, and Bourke. The site of two townships had been chosen, and the streets marked out." Five days later we read: " His Excellency the Governor has directed the name of ' Port Phillip' to be altered to that of ' Hobson's Bay' (we don't see the wit of this), and he has further ordered that the site of two towns be laid, one on the western shore of the Bay to be called 'William's Town,' the other on the right bank of the Yarra river, which discharges itself into the Bay, to be named ' Melbourne.' " The  Monitor  has a word about the town : " We have been informed that the Governor occupied himself upon his arrival at Port Phillip with superintending the laying out the Township, the streets of which, from the favourable position of its site, will intersect each other at right angles, with uninterrupted regularity."

       CHAPTER XX.

       MELBOURNE  AND  ITS  LAND  SALE.

       What  should the new settlement be called ?

       At first, it was only the  Settlement,  or the  Toitmship.  Then it wa3 the  Tarra Yarra,  or  Yarrow Yarrow.  In Mr. Stewart's report to the Governor, it is styled  Bearbrass.  Garry Owen, in his chronicles of Melbourne, may well exclaim, " Whatever in the world put such an absurd and inappropriate term iuto his head is more than I could, or I suppose ever shall, comprehend." But the word was a con-uption of  Bearpurt,  seen to be employed by Mr. Surveyor Wedge, as it was the native name of the locality. But  Bearbrass  was easier to say than  Btarpurt,  and supplanted the original name. The  Chronicle  of Launceston evidently hoped it would be called after the founder; saying, June 13th, 1835, " The site of a township has been marked ofiF, to be called  Batinania,  at the head of Port Phillip, well supplied with a running stream of fresh water." This, by the way, is a conclusive testimony in Mr. Fawkner's town of Launceston, and three months before he left for Port Phillip, that Batman was  then  regarded as the founder of the township that grew into Melbourne. Mr. Fawkner and some others, with Boss's Hobart Town Almanack for 1837, called the place  Olenelg,  from a belief that it would be called after that Secretary for the Colonies. Governor Bourke decided the question by naming it after Lord Melbourne.

       Although Messrs. Lancey, Jackson, and Evans established themselves first on the banks of the Yarra, greatly to the surprise of the Surveyor to the Port Phillip Association, Mr. Wedge, and they may be justly called the earliest settlers of the site of Melbourne, yet it is admitted that Captain Lancey was

       \
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       told of the advantages of the place by Captain Robson, who took over Batman. What it was in the primitive state may be seen from Mr. Wedge's sketch, and what it was in its infancy may be recognised in the other illustrations of the locality. One is a water-colour drawing, a second is the copy of a photographed drawing taken from the top of Collins, while the third is from a sketch of Mr. Montefiore's, appearing afterwards in the Melbourne illustrated paper.

       Mr. Westgarth, the historian of Australia Felix, not less than of Victoria, has the following eloquent description of the site:—

       "The kangaroo, skipping about in undisturbed happiness, would emerge in troops upon the flat from the denser woods on the southern bank of the Yarra. The branches of the old gum-trees were filled with black and white cockatoos, and innumerable paroquets, whose gaudy plumage sparkled in the bright sunshine, while their incessant chattering imparted life to a scene otherwise hushed in the rare presence of man, and the total absence hitherto of his noisy but enlivening commerce."

       Mr. Fawkner, speaking of the arrival of his friends Lancey, Jackson, &c., thus noticed in 1853 the place as it was in August in 1835 :—

       " The next day they took water as well as food, and pushed up the Yarra Yarra, having noticed the opening thereto on their return from the Saltwater stream; and, after about an hour and quarter's pull, they reached with great joy the basin at Melbourne, and were delighted—in fact, half wild with exultation—at the beauty of the country. The velvet-like grass carpet, decked with flowers of most lively hues, most liberally spread over the land, the fresh water, the fine lowlands, and lovely knolls around the lagoons on the flat or swamp, the flocks, almost innumerable, of teal, ducks, geese, and swans, and minor fowls, filled them with joy."

       In May, 1836, he gave this description in a letter:—

       " The river which runs easterly, lying at the northern end of the bay, at about six miles from the said bay, by following the river, but by crossing the neck of land, at or about three miles east of the river's mouth, the walk is about two miles to the site above referred to, and called the  Township,  The river becomes fresh at this spot, and is most excellent water, with a fall, at low tide, of 2| to 3 feet. The land for miles round the town is of most excellent quality, and the grass very good, the

       land very thickly covered with it. A great part of the land in the vicinity of the Township is very rich alluvial soil The river has this peculiarity, that it is as deep at the very bank as in the middle of the stream for three miles downwards, and is from eighty to a hundred yards wide, with a basin at the Township capable of containing a hundred small vessels, such as would come safely over the bar/'

       One who visited it on the day of the first land sale, June 1st, 1837, coming overland from Sydney, wrote thus of the Yarra in his diary:—

       " Until its junction with the Saltwater river, the banks were densely covered with tea-trees, &c., which precludes all view of the country on each side, excepting at one place on the left, where I perceived an extensive clear open space, probably a dried swamp. Below the junction, the banks are more openly wooded, so that we were enabled to observe some fine spots of open forest country, well grassed. The Yarra is a most valuable river, fresh above the falls of the  Settlement.  The banks are generally high on both sides, and in some places very high, but in most places the water might easily be made accessible to cattle, &c. On the immediate banks the land is generally of very fine quality, undulating ridges. The right bank seems of a richer soil than the left; it is of teal or whinstone formation, while the left is sandstone. It is rather over-thickly wooded, and with a great deal of underwood, which gives a scrubby appearance, but it might be cleared at no great expense, and would form very capital homesteads, and aflFord many beautiful sites for building residences. Yesterday we spent in Melbourne in calling to take leave of the acquaintances we had made there, and in again going over the Township allotments; in the evening I dined with Captain and Mrs. Lonsdale."

       He had great confidence in the future of the place; saying, " I am convinced that it must rise with unprecedented rapidity, and that well-chosen portions of land, early selected, will soon increase in value."

       In some notes of " Garry Owen '* on a pen-and-ink sketch of the day, by Mr. Surveyor Russell, we learn that only some half-dozen huts were to be seen, and the  Enterprise  lay at anchor in the stream; "while yonder," observes the narrator, '* is a bushman tramping to the * Settlement,' staggering under a clumsily-made-up swag, and probably on his way to Fawk-ner's grog shanty further down, there  to enjoy a little life.

       and dissolve the ' order' for his three or six months' wages in the throat-scorching rum or execrable beer of the period. A huge gum-tree stands posted like a towering sentinel, with an immense head-gear of foliage, at irregular intervals of every dozen yards, on the track eastward now of the  Block, and Emerald Hill over the Yarra looks looming with verdure." The  Cornwall Chronicle  of Van Diemen's Land gave, April Ist, 1837, three months before the first sale, the following report:—

       " The Township is marked out by the Surveyors, who have left only one house (a Public House) to stand. Every other house is to come down. It is laid down in squares of ten acres, each of which is to be divided into twenty allotments of half an acre each, which will be sold (it is generally supposed) at Sydney."

       No one but Mr. Fawkner had taken the trouble to put up anything but the rudest dwelling. He, having to give accommodation to strangers in his hotel, was obliged to spend more labour on his house, though not a little fearful that some one at the auction might bid against him. Arden records an earlier date when writing :—

       " The Settlement was composed of two weather-boarded huts, with brick chimneys, and eight or ten sod erections, occupied by Dr. Cotter, the Superintendent, and others, the servants of the Association ; the sum total of the population could not have exceeded fifty. The number of live stock in the place had been pretty accurately estimated at 100 head of cattle and 1,400 sheep, 6 horses, and a small proportion of dogs, rabbits, and poultry. Three stations had been formed within a distance of ten miles, which were known by the names of their respective owners—Connelly's, Swanston's and Solomon's. The number of shipping entered inwards was eight—one barque, two brigs, four schooners, and one cutter. Finally the country had been explored northward to an extent of twenty miles by a party of gentlemen."

       From Mr. RusselFs sketch we perceive the survey tents by the Yarra Falls, and about the site of the present St. Paul's Church. On the south-east of Batman's Hill appears the tenement of John Batman. Captain Lonsdale's was near him, and at the west end of what is now Little Collins Street. The rude building which served as the church was not far from the position occupied by

       St. James's Church. Near Market Square were huts belonging to Messrs. D*Arcy, Wells, Robson, Craig, Diprose, Carr, James Smith, Henry Batman, and Fawkner. The Commissariat Stores were on the Yarra side of the Commandant's. Messrs. Adams and Armstrong fenced in a bit on the river side of St. Pauls Parsonage, and Mr. Halfpenny dwelt in the solitary forest, nearly opposite the present site of the Bank of Victoria. Dr. Thomson lived even higher up to the eastward. The burial hill was depicted where we find the Old Burial Ground. At the time of the sale there were three dozen houses. Messrs. Russell, D'Arcy, and Darke were the surveyors, and Mr. Webb was the Custom House officer.

       Mr. Fawkner's was the first  Public  (the  Shakespeare),  but others came before the survey. Smith's  Lamb  inn was nearly opposite. Harper's  British Hotel  was in the Square. Michael Carr's  Governor Bourke  was by the junction of Flinders' Lane and Queen Street. The line coming through his place, he had to buy two allotments. Michael Pender's  PMic  was not far from it. Connel's  Royal Highlander  is one of the ancient landmaiks. Among the Stores were those of James Smith, Batman, Powell, Diprose, Nodin, Robson, Welsh, Hodgson, Eyre, and Skene Craig. While Dr. Thomson was the surgeon of the Association, Dr. Barry Cotter was the first general practitioner. The first butcher was Mr. McNall, whose stall was near where the new Bank of Victoria was erected. No bank existed till Mr. Rucker opened a branch of the Derwent Bank, though- Mr. McArthur formed a branch of the Australasia a few months after the sale. The Custom House was a dirty shed. The Police Office, of wattle and dab, was near the Square ; though, of its two rooms, one was used as the hospital.

       It was high time that a sale should take place, if only to afford persons the opportunity of putting up decent houses. A very natural fear existed that the sale, being in Sydney, would bring in a lot of strangers as competitors, giving less chance to the inhabitants for purchasing the lots on which they had made erections. A very strong appeal was therefore made that the first sale should take place in Melbourne. The Governor kindly permitted that, and another afterwards, to be held there. But every buyer was bound to erect on the allotment he secured, within two years, a tenement worth at least twenty pounds.
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       Port Phillip Settlement.

       The particulars of the first sale are given from the author's Discovery and Settlement of Fort Phillip.  The prices realised at recent sales—between 500/. and 600/. afoot frontage—differ from those here detailed. In addition to lot and price, the puxchafer and his place of residence are also mentioned:—
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       '* Melbourne Lots, June Ist^  1837.

       J. P. Fawkner  

       jjij   •••    ••    •••

       John Moss         

       Arthur Willis  

       Josh. Sutherland       

       Lachlan McAlister     

       Ml. Connolly, by J. Simpson

       John Batman  

       William Harper        

       J. F. Strachan  

       John Batman  

       James Smith     

       jj\j   •*•    .••    *••

       David Fisher  

       Skene Craig      

       Wilson and Eyre       

       AJ\J   •••   ...        «••

       J. H. Wedge      

       Thomas Browne        

       J. H. Wedge   ...     

       G. Cooper         

       Michael Carr  

       John Mills         

       Thomas Grove  

       Thomas Field  

       Lach. McAlister        

       xJ\j   •*•   ...   •••

       Alex. Thomson         

       L. McAlister      

       George Coulstock      

       Do    

       Joseph Howson         

       Thomas Hood  

       Thomas N apier         

       WiUiam Sharp          

       Mich. Pender     

       John Batman  

       A. Willis, for J. J. Mclntyre Wm. Ryrie, for Stewart R.
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       ML Carr    ... Jas. Ross ... Henry Batman Gilbt. Marshall Wm. Synnott G. Scarborough Henry Howey

       Do

       Do

       Do Chas. Swanston Barry Cotter Henry Allen James Hill Jas. McDonnell Thos. Walker J. P. Fawkner Joseph Moore Joseph Rooch

       Do John Gardiner E. W. Umpleby Thos. Coombes John Wood Hugh McLean J. J. Peers Rt. Fleming Thos. Browne

       Do John Highett Et. Hoodie

       Do John Hughes Hor. Cooper Wm. Evans Dd. Guillam Jas. Smith

       Do Thos. Browne

       Do J. H. Vaughan Wilson and Eyre Geo. Smith G. Robson Geo. Lilly ... C. H. Ebden
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       C. H. Ebden      

       Forfeited.

       Jas. Connell       

       Thos. Davis Weatherly Geo. Mercer Henry Smith    ... W. Button Smith J. P. Fawkner ... Thos. Walker   ...
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       Do Chas. Wedge    ... J. F. Strachan... Geo. Reid
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       Melbourne    £50

       Do Do Do Do Do Do Do Do Do Do Do Do

       "  Williamstmvn Lots, June Isf,  1837.

       3  Henry McLean

       4 R S. Webb     ..

       5 J. McNamara ..

       6  William Hutton

       7  James Simpson

       8  J. F. Strachan

       9  Wm. Leard

       ... Sydney ...  Melbourne
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       Do

       Do

       Do

       Do
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       Melbourne Lots, November 1st,  1837.

       5  F. Rt. D'Arcy  

       6  Do    

       7  Robeii; Saunders Webb

       8  Do

       9  Do

       10   John Sutherland

       11  John Hodgson...    .

       12  Wm. Powell    ...    .

       13  W. F. A. Rucker    .

       14  J. P. Fawkner ...    .

       1  Daniel McArthur    .

       2 J. SteithHill   ...    .

       3  A. Lingham (J. Smith)

       4  D. Thompson, for Jh. V. T..

       5  J. J. Brown

       6  W. Roadknight

       7 John Hodgson...    .

       8 John Batman ...    .

       9  Thomas Winter

       10   John Batman   ...     «

       11   Do   ...     .

       Melbourne

       Do
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       Do
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       " Tho average'price per Melbourne half acre at first sale was 35/.; at the second 42/. The average for Williamstowa lots was 46/. On the first of June 106 lots were sold; in November 83.

       " A description of these sections, and some identification of those old allotments with their present territory may be interesting to our more recent colonists. Block 2 is between Flinders, Collins, William, and King Streets; 4, between Flinders, Collins, Queen, and Elizabeth Streets; 12, between Collins, Bourke, Elizabeth, and Swanston Streets; 13, between Collins, Bourke, Elizabeth, and Queen Streets; 14, between Collins, Bourke, Queen, and William Streets; 3, between Flinders, Collins, Queen, and William Streets; 5, between Flinders, Collins, Elizabeth, and Swanston Streets; 19, between Bourke, Lonsdale, William, and Queen Streets; 20, between Bourke, Lonsdale, Queen, and Elizabeth Streets; 21, between Bourke, Lonsdale, Elizabeth, and Swanston Streets. The comer lots of each block are 1, 8, 11, and 18 ; and the corners of the lanes are 9, 10, 19, 20.

       " Lot number 1, bought by Mr. Fawkner, was the eastern comer of Flinders and King Streets. Mr. Batman had the two corners of Collins, Flinders, and William Streets. The comer of Flinders and Elizabeth Streets cost Dr. Thomson 46/.; and that of Flinders and Queen Streets cost Alderman Hodgson 90/. Dr. Cotter bought the south-west corner of Bourke and Swanston Streets for 30/. The half acre on which the Union Bank, &c., stood was purchased for 42/.; that of the  Ci*itcrion  allotment 19/.; the  Duke of Clarence  lot, 50/.; another comer of Collins Street, 45/.; and that opposite the Post Office, 28/.; comer of Collins and William Streets, 95/.; the north-western corner of Elizabeth and Bourke Streets, 50/.; and that opposite the "Bull and Mouth," Bourke Street, 40/.; the corner of Walter Powell's, Collins and Swanston Streets, 60/.    Batman bought the half

       acre opposite the old site of the Victoria Bank for 59/.; and the Rev. J. Clow got the two south-western acres of Swanston and Lonsdale Streets for 162/. Mr. Hodgson forfeited the lot on which the old Council Chamber was built as being too dear at 54/.; and relinquished his deposit of 2/.  2s,  upon the half acre in Collins Street, next Elizabeth Street corner, rather than pay the enormous balance of 19/.  ISs,  upon this hopeless speculation.

       "The first sale of Suburban land was held at Sydney, February 13th, 1838, and the purchasers were almost wholly Sydney people. The blocks were about 25 acres each in the parish of Jika Jika, including that portion of it known now as Collingwood, and averaged  71.  an acre. The first lot, 48, of 25 acres, is that at the comer of Carlton Gardens and Victoria Parade; it was bought by a Sydney firm at 6/. 10^. an acre, though now worth thousands per acre. The river frontage lot only realised then 18/. per acre."

       Particulars of other sales in Melbourne, Geelong, Williams-town, &c., to be seen in the author's  Discovert/ and Settlement of Port Phillip.

       Geelong had no sale till February 14th, 1839. Then, out of 53 lots, 32 were bought by Sydney men at from 27/. to 155/. each. The Melbourne purchasers were Messrs. Thomas Wills, P. W. Welsh, Porter, Sproat, and D. G. Campbell. The Geelong buyers were Alex. Thomson, Mathew, C Nicholson, W. Kerr, Foster Fyans, and Addis. The lowest price they paid was 30/., and the highest 53/. The blocks were 3 and 6 of South Geelong, and 10 of North. Only one Geelong man bought in North Geelong.

       Geelong, once Corio or Corayo, had but few houses before the survey. Mr. Champion had the first store, but Mr. Fisher the first house, and Mack's Hotel was the earliest  Public.  Capt. Foster Fyans came as magistrate, in consequence of the memorial for protection sent to Sydney. For a time, Geelong ran Melbourne so closely that the  Pivot  at Corio Bay was once thought likely to supplant the Yarra township, and become the capital of the colony. No one, as Mr. Westgarth once declai*ed, could doubt the superior advantages which Geelong presented. It was predicted that nothing could surpass it as a wool mart.

       Williamstown and Portland exhibited at their early land sales a vitality which they could not maintain. Suburban Melbourne lots, including Fitzroy and Collingwood, averaging 25 acres in a block, fetching from 4/. upwards an acre.    The very comer of

       Richmond and Punt Roads fetched 24/. an acre in 1839, while some other Richmond blocks came to as little as 1*3/. Country land at that time brought about seven or ten shillings an acre, though Mr. Sparke gave eighteen shillings near Pentridge, and Mr. Fawkner paid fifty for his Pascoevale farm. By the end of 1839, Jika Jika, Keelbundora, Willwillrook, with parts of Wollert, Moring, and Kalkallo were sold on the Melbourne side, and Barrabool with part of Gheringhap toward Geelong. Mr. O. Arden, of the  Australia Felix Gazette,  spoke of Batman, known as  King John,  being "settled upon the beautiful green hill, since called by his name, at the western extremity of the town where his original wooden mansion still remains, and was afterwards occupied for some period as the oflSces of the local government. Here Batman opened a general store, to supply the demands of a prosperous and increasing population, while Fawkner administered to the still more urgent customers of the public-house." His description of Melbourne, six months after the first sale, is as follows :—

       " When he first saw this settlement, in January, 1838, a few months after its authorised establishment, it presented more the appearance of the villages he had seen in the interior of India, a nucleus of huts embowered in the forest foliage, and peering at itself in the river stream that laved the thresholds of its tenements, than any collection of buildings formed by European hands. It was at that time possessed by two wooden houses, serving the purposes of hotels or inns to the settlers who firequented the little town upon the occasion of their bringing their wool produce to the port, or new arrivals, before they committed themselves to the trials and privations of the Bush. A small square wooden building, with an old ship's beU suspended fi:t>m a most defamatory looking, gallows-like structure, fulfilled the duty of church or chapel to the various religious denominations, whence, however, the solemn voice of prayer and praise, sounding over the yet wild country, had an efifect the most interesting and impressive. The ground which had been discovered on the river side of a nature fitted to the manufacture of bricks, had been applied in one or two instances with full success; the earth also, it was found in many parts, appeared capable of yielding much fine and rough stone, useful to the mason and the builder. Of fresh meat, mutton was still scarce, and beef seldom or never seen; the flesh of the kansfaroo, with all the natural variety of wild fowl, was in abundant use.    Two or three shops, forming general

      

       emporiums for every description of immediately useful articles, although exceedingly inferior, opened their stores to the public, while a branch establishment of a Van Diemen*s Land Bank flourished on its monetary exchanges, discounts, and circulation. A manuscript newspaper, conducted by one of the early colonists, enlightens the inhabitants as to their rights and necessities."

       The first public worship beside the Yarra Yarra was conducted by the Rev. Joseph Orton, Wesleyan Minister from Hobart Town, who held it on Batman's Hill in April, 1836. One who was present upon that occasion described to us the interesting sight of Batman's beautiful family, and the gaily dressed Sydney blacks. Buckley afterwards accompanied Mr. Orton on a tour, when a site on the Barwon, not far from Buckley's Falls, was selected for the Buntingdale Mission to the Aborigines.

       The Church of England services were conducted a while by Mr. James Smith, merchant, who succeeded Mr. Langhome in those duties, though Capt. Lonsdale himself often read prayers in the Police Court. The first church edifice was very rough, and held less than a hundred persons. Towards its erection Batman gave fifty pounds. Mr. Langhome, before leaving for Sydney, established a Minion to the Blacks. The first clergjrman, the Rev. John C. Grylls, from Sydney, arrived in October, 1838. The earliest resident minister was the Rev. W. Waterfield, who came to establish an Independent cause, May 22, 1838» His helpers in this movement were Messrs. Gardiner and Fawkner. Dr. Thomson conducted religious worship in Geelong. The Rev. James Clow, retired from India, had a Presbyterian service in 1838, using in the afternoon the room occupied by the Episcopalians in the morning. The first resident Presbyterian clergyman, Mr. Forbes, arrived January 28th, 1839, and soon erected a church in Collins Street, a plain brick room near the present Scots church. Mr. Peter Virtue opened a Baptist cause on Mr. Napier's land, where now the  Argus  ofiices are situated. The Roman Catholics met in a wooden room adjoining Mr. Bodecin's house; but their first priest, the Rev. P. B. Geoghan, came down from Sydney, May 15, 1839. The Quakers, represented by Messrs. Backhouse and Walker, held a meeting as early as November, 1837.

      

       CHAPTER XXL

       TBE   STOCK   QUESTION.

       The  introduction of stock into Port Phillip is a special object of interest    The settlement was avowedly pastoral, its early settlers were chiefly squatters, and the colony up to the period of the gold discovery was pre-eminently in the hands of the Lords of the Wastes.    Any story, therefore, connected with the first arrival of sheep and  cattle  is  worthy of preservation. Among the narratives may be placed the simple tale told by Captain Coltish, who commanded the  Norval,  which was the first vessel to bring over stock from Van Diemen's Land.    The account was given in a letter to the writer, through the good offices of Mr. Weire, Town Clerk, Geelong.   The references to Messrs. Batman,  Fawkner,   Connolly, Qellibrand, Robertson, &c., have now quite an historical interest!   The letter is given entire:—

       '*  Mr.  J. BoNWiCK.   ** RoxBY,  Gnarwarre,  July 2ith,  1868.

       "  Deak Sir, —Respecting the information you require relating to the late Mr. J. Batman and my trip in the  Norval, I think I should best meet your wish by giving a narrative account from the first, especially as I have no data to go by, but write merely from memory. I can, however, recollect every circumstance perfectly well, as I was very young at that time, being only twenty-four years of age. Towards the latter end of the year 1835, being then in command of the barque  Norval,  of* 300 tons register, belonging to Mr. H. Reed, of Launceston, and having discharged a cargo from London, we then took a cargo of wheat to Sydney. When there I received a letter from Mr. Michael Connolly, of Launceston, stating that the  Norval  had been chartered by the Port Phillip Association to carry over stock to Port Phillip for the sum of 300/. per month, and that I was to get to Launceston as quick as possible.    Having got
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       there, after a very quick passage, I first met with Mr. J. Batman, who planned and superintended the fittings of the ship for carrying sheep and cattle, which was carried on with great expedition, Mr. Batman being on board the greater part of every day.

       " As soon as all were completed, and the ship being supplied with an extra boat and six extra hands, we went to Qeorge Town to take in stock, the cargo having been put on board at Launceston, the boat and extra men being supplied to facilitate the landing and shipping of stock. After taking on board 500 sheep, and about 50 head of cattle, we sailed for P. Phillip (I cannot recollect the day or month). We had a quick passage across the Straits, about 30 hours. We entered P. Phillip heads about 8 or 9 in the morning, and anchored at the mouth of the eastern channel, Mr. Batman wishing to go ashore at Indented Heads to see some men he had left there on his last trip. While waiting for Mr. Batman we got the long-boat out, and had her rigged as a cutter to go ahead of the ship to sound. As soon as Mr. Batman returned (who brought with him a quantity of fresh vegetables his men had grown), we proceeded up the eastern channel under easy sail, the long-boat going ahead and sounding. We got safely through the channel about dusk, and then shaped a course by Flinders's chart for Hobson's Bay, and anchored there about two o'clock in the morning. At sunrise we got the boats out, four in number, and loaded them with stores, tents, &c., and started for the Yarra, Mr. Batman, all the passengers, and myself going.

       " Mr. Batman had then a perfect knowledge both of the Salt-w ater river and the Yarra. He pointed out the junction to me, and appeared to have a perfect knowledge of it. We landed a little below the Falls in the afternoon, and immediately commenced unloading the boats, and putting up tents, &c.; two boats were sent to the ship, the others stayed tJl night "The night was spent in jollification. The blacks, about 200 in number, corrobberying all night. It being about full moon, all the passengers, Mr. Batman, and myself, stayed on shore all night. The next day we hauled the ship close in to the beach on the east side of Hobson's Bay, and landed all the sheep and stock without any accident.

       " After sending up the whole of the cargo to the tents, we left at dayliglit the following morning on our return to Launceston, Mr. batman going l^k with us. We had a quick passage back, about 24 hours from land to land (went back by the eastern channel). At this time Mr. Batman was rather in delicate health, but not so as to prevent him actively looking after everything. We neither saw nor heard anything of Fawkner or his party; at this time no one ever thought of any

       one else than Mr. Batman being the founder of the colony ; it is perfectly absurd for any one to think otherwise. I cannot recollect the names of the passengers, except a Dr. Cotter, and Mr. Ferguson; I think there were 3 or 4 others. There were also 4 Sydney blacks, and several men in charge of the stock. It must have been in the spring of the year, as I perfectly recollect when pulling up the Yarra the tea-tree was in blossom and on landing the ground was full of beautiful flowers, the grass partly green.

       " I made 6 or 7 or more tnps across, always taking in the stock at George Town, the ship being always full of passengers; the berths were always bespoke.    I think Mr. Batman  made another trip with me; Mr. Gellibrand and son went one trip and back.    We made one trip from George Town to George Town in 4 days and 6 hours, having this time landed 1,200 at Indented Heads; but usually we made two trips a month. The last one was unfortunate.    We had to go to Western Port after  landing our sheep and  passengers and  cargo at Port Phillip.    After leaving George Town the wind continued right ahead very strong for several days and all our hay being spent, we bore up for Western Port, intending to land the sheep for a day or two, and cut some hay, take them on board again, and proceed on to Port Phillip.    But through the carelessness of the men in charge of the sheep, they were all scattered and lost the first night after landing.

       " The passengers, among whom were Mr. Gellibrand, Messrs. James and Daniel Eobertson, Mr. Ferguson, and some others, took it into their heads to walk overland to Port Phillip. We landed them at the nearest point, a small schooner, the  Enter-prise,  who like ourselves had put in windbound, taking their luggage and what little cargo we had for Port Phillip, so that we had no occasion to go any farther, but commenced taking in the bark as part of our cargo for London; which, when completed, we took all the men that had been employed getting the bark and sailed for Launceston, there completing our cargo with wool, and sailed for London.

       " I did not again visit Port Phillip till nine years afterwards, being then in command of the  Heroine,  from Liverpool, being employed in the interval chiefly in the Australian and East India trade. In 1847 I settled on the same place I am now residing, 14 miles from Geelong, which I bought from Sir Charles Nicholson. I can only say that I only heard of Fawkner and his party after I had made several trips from V. D. Land to P. Phillip, and then they were always spoken of as a second and encroaching party on the rights of Batman's association party, as it was then called. There cannot be the slightest doubt  that Batman  was   the   first  founder of Port

       l^hillip. You have my full sanction to publish the whole or any part of the foregoing narrative, which I can vouch to be the truth. If I have omitted anything you would like to know I shall be most happy to communicate it to you by post if you write to me, but I think I have given you a pretty full and correct account of all that came to my knowledge of the early part of the settlement of P. Phillip.

       " The only other vessel employed by the Association was a schooner, the  Adelaide,  of Hobart Town, Capt. McLellan; but as he was quite an old man then, he must have been dead long since. My recollection fails me most in the names of the passengers, but as we were always crowded it is not to be wondered at, nor do I think it of much importance.

       "The whole of the time the  Norval  was employed by the Association Mr. Batman was at the head of everything. I used to see him every time T came to V. D. Land; he seemed the head, tail, and factotum of the party; nothing done without him. He was most indefatigable in his duties, although often sufifering from ill health. I firmly believe if it had not been for his individual exertions Port Phillip would have been many years longer in possession of the aborigines, and to him only is the honour due of founding this colony, a fact well known to every person who came here at the time I am writing of. I should be most happy to receive a copy of your book when published.

       " I remain, yours respectfully,

       "RoBsoN  Coltish."

       The  Norval  landed some sheep on Indented Head, and others at Geliibrand Point, or Williamstown, October 26th, 1835. The shepherds who drove some of them became alarmed at the presence of blacks, and made oflF in haste; consequently, about 500 young ewes fell into the hands of native cooks. The story goes that the owner of the sheep, Captain Swanston, sent oflf the next month 1,048 ewes and 84 Saxon rams. A storm arising, the vessel took shelter in Western Port, and there landed the bleaters, which were to be driven overland toward the Yarra. Here, too, the men took fright at some aborigines, and only seventy-eight of the flock were finally secured. The loss was 3,034Z.

       Although the Association were forward with stock, yet one person managed to get before them. Mr. John Aitkin, after whom  Aitkin's Gap  is called, left Launceston in the  Endeavour, Captain Bellin,  July  20th, 1835.    His companions were H.

       Thompson, Morris, J. B. Harwood, Jas. Young, and J. Brawl.

       The animals were conduct^ from the foot of Arthur's Seat on to the Yarra, receiving aid in the passage of that stream

       from the so-called Fawkner party, before Fawkner's arrival. Mr. Aitkin was rapidly followed by a number, who quite ignored the pretensions of the Association.

       Messrs. Jackson and Evans of the Fawkner party took up a sheep station near Sunbury, on what is now Jackson's Creek. Mr. Cowie arrived  in October, the month in which Fawkner came, and soon after camped at Cowie's Creek ; while Mr. Aitkin went to Deep Creek, Mr. Joseph Sutherland was near Geelong, Mr. Roadknight was on the Barrabool Hills, Mr. Brock was at Williamstown, but afterwards toward Sunbury, Mr. Hawdon was about Dandenong, Mr. Glass was in Boroondara, and Mr. Howie was east of Mount Macedon.    Mr. Bolden and Captain Mills went as far as Port Fairy; Captain Hepburn, to the Loddon; Mr. Yaldwyn, to near Kyneton ; Mr. Ebden, to Cailsruhe; Mr. Mclntyre, toward Western Port;   Mr. Gogg, to Prahran;  Mr. Franks, to the Werribee Plains;  acd Messrs. Austin, Stead, Steiglitz, Armytage, «!kc., to the west of Geelong.  Mr. McKillop's Company was managed by Mr. James Smith, the Clyde Company by Mr. Russell, the Derwent Company by Mr. Fisher at the Barwon, the flock of Mr. Secretary Montague by Mr. Thomeloe, that of Mr.  Gellibrand by Dr.  Clarke, and of Mr. John  Sinclair by Mr. Malcolm.    The first to go westward of Geelong any great distance were Messrs. Hugh Murray, Morris, Carter, and Lloyd. Captain Lonsdale ran sheep over Emerald Hill, South  Melbourne ; and Mr. Fawkner, beyond Moonie Ponds.    The first overlander from Sydney, Mr. John Gardiner, took up a cattle station between the  Yarra and  Gardiner's Creek.     He was followed by Mr. Ebden and others.

       The Association had flocks and herds in no associated ownership. Messrs. Batman and others had Indented Head, and parts between Geelong and Melbourne. Mr. James Thomson, the first physician and catechist, in service to the Association, became a flockmaster at Geelong; he sent over fifty cows in October, 1835. Mr. Michael Connolly chose a spot some twenty miles north-west of the Yarra huts, and Mr. Cotterell's sheep were on the Saltwater river. Messrs. Simpson and Wedge were satisfied with the pick of the Werribee Plains.    Mr. Sams

       had sheep on Jackson Creek, and the Messrs. Robertson were early establishing a post at Lake Colac.  Bent's News  of February 19th, 1836, reported: "Mr. Gellibrand has just arrived from Port Phillip, where 10,000 sheep have been landed by his company from this colony." One says that Mr. Sam3 had 500 sheep; Messrs. Arthur and Connolly, 1,000; Messrs. Solomon, Sinclair, and Cotterell, 1,200 each; Mr. Batman, 2,000; and Messrs. Swanston and Gellibrand, 2,500 each.

       Mr. McKillop was an enterprising squatter. He sent ofiF a flock of 600 early in 1836. The Great Lake Company forwarded some about the same time in the  Hcnry^  under the charge of Mr. Kenneth Clarke. These first grazed over what is now the Melbourne Racecourse, though afterwards going to Bacchus Marsh and Pentland Hills. Captain Bacchus followed them at the Marsh. Among the proprietors of the Great Lake Company were Messrs. Dobson, McLachlan, and James Clarke. It is sad to read in the paper of December, 1836 : " Scarcely one vessel (we understand not one) that has left Hobart Town for Port Phillip with sheep has landed her cargo without very considerable loss."

       When Melbourne got magisterial protection, the squatters around Geelong petitioned, in June, 1837, for the like favour from Governor Bourke. Among the signatures may be recognised many well-known names; as, Manifold, Clarke, Dobson, Hopkins, Rucker, Roadknight, Sutherland, Learmonth, Swans-ton, Fisher, Hugh Murray, Co^vie, &c. The following brave advertisement appeared some few years after:—" The squatters of Australia Felix will meet on horseback upon Batman's Hill on the 1st of June, for the purpose of forming a Mutual Protection Society. From the Murray to the sea-beach, from the Snowy Mountains to the Glenelg, let no squatter be absent."

       CHAPTER XXII.

       MR.   MACKILLOP'S  NARRATIVE.

       The  letters of Mr. George Mackillop to the  Neucspaper Fress in June and July of 1836 furnish some interesting notes of the country in those infant days. Some extracts from these letters sent from Port Phillip and Hobart Town we here give :—

       "New Settlement, Yarro-Yabko Riybb,

       June  20, 1836.

       " As the Sydney Government lately brought this new Settlement to the notice of your colony, by sending Mr. Stewart amongst us to reconnoitre, I think the following details will be interesting to many of your readers. I do not, however^ trouble you with any account of the land here, as if you read the Hobart Town newspapers you must be satisfied, that within a hundred square miles to the northward and westward of this Bay (Lake, I would call it,) there are two or three times as much good land for either com, cattle, or sheep, as is to be found in all Van Diemen*s Land. I may remark, however, that unless fresh water can be retained in tanks during the summer in various parts of the country I fear a very considerable proportion of it will be rendered useless by the want of that indispensable article.

       " There are now about 200 Europeans and 3,000 sheep here, besides a considerable number of horses, draught bullocks, and cattle generally. More too are arriving every week, as will be seen on reference to the annexed list of shipping now employed in the trade between this and George Town.

       " As it is quite uncertain how long we may be allowed to retain the land we now occupy as  Squatters,^  I do not think that much grain will be sown during the ensuing spring, and as none of the settlers have imported wethers from Van Diemen's Land for the use of their establishments, I suspect that for the next twelve months at least we will be almost entirely dependent

       ^ A colonial term for an occupier of Goyemment land who has no permission to be one.

       on your colony and Van Diemen's liand for provisions of every description. Under these circumstances, it appears to me somewhat surprising that we have not yet heard of any efforts having been made by the stockholders in *  Yapl  and on the Morum-bidgee,to supply us with draught bullocks, milch cows, and a mixed herd for all purposes. By the route Messrs. Hume and Hovell came to this place in 1825, the River Hume is the greatest obstacle in the way, but even it is not by any means an insurmountable difficulty; and as you have among you so many good bushmen, with stock-drivers and pack-bullocks at command, I did expect that long ere now we should have had visitors from the N. E.

       " We cannot now purchase good bullocks in Van Diemen's Land for less than 36/. to 40/. per pair; and as these are better adapted than horses to the wants of a young colony, 20 to 40 pairs would be sure to meet a ready sale here at remunerating

       I)rices. But what would pay best here is a herd of young and ean cattle generally. We are now paying at the rate of 7/. 10s. per barrel of 200 lbs. for Irish pork for the use of our establishments; and it would therefore well answer our purpose to purchase herds of the above description. The steers would by and by be useful for breeding, and the lean oxen would either be accustomed to the yoke, or fattened for the knife upon our excellent pastures. In this way we would put a stop to our present enormous expense for pork.

       " If we should have a Government here before the spring, a supply of apple, pear, peach, apricot, nectarine, mulberry, cherry, plum, and other fruit trees would be very acceptable, also vine cuttings and everything else connected with the garden, as such are dear and scarce in Van Diemen's Land.

       *' Nearly all the sheep that have yet been sent to Port Phillip have been landed at the mouth of the Yarro-Yarro, but as most of them are destined for the westward, I think that next year many of the vessels in the trade will go up the Western arm, which has just been found by Capt. Whiting of the brig  Henry to be navigable up to the bar across the mouth of Geelong Harbour, at the west end of the arm.^

       1 The following is a copy of the list referred to in the above letter, of yessels then employed in carrying sheep, Ac, from George Town to Port Phillip ;—

       CAi7i (brig)    carried 1,400 sheep.

       Heiiry  (ditto)  

       Adelaide  (brigatine schooner)  

       Champion         (ditto)    

       O&m  (schooner)   

       Enterprige   

       VantiUart (cvXXet)     

       4,100

       >i

       '* Port Phillip is by Act of Parliament part of the N. S. Wales colony, but General Bourke, thinking perhaps that it is at too great a distance from him, is understood to have written to the English Government in August last, to ascertain whether they wish it to continue under his charge, or to be put under a chief to be appointed from home. The Mr. Stewart, therefore, who was lately at Port Phillip was only sent there to report on the progress the colony is making, that General Bourke may be prepared to act should he receive instructions from the Colonial Secretary to do so.

       '* I do not expect the colonists at Port Phillip will experience much trouble from the natives when there is a Governor there. Since I wrote the preceding part of this communication I have heard from thence that ample vengeance has been visited on the tribe who murdered Mr. Franks; his clothes, blankets, gims, flour, &c. were found in their possession, and no mercy was shown them by the tribe which was sent from the new Settlement to do the needful. Such, Mr. Editor, are the effects, and I fear must always be the effects, of colonization. First the British Parliament solemnly declares a country (which they know has been the property of its poor natives since the world began) to belong to the Crown of England ! Next British subjects resort to that country; and then follow, inevitably, ills which I have no wish to describe. The result, however, may be known from what has taken place in this island.  Not one of the numerous natives who were in it twenty years ago now remains. There are certainly still a few of them in Barren Island in Bass's Straits, but they are dropping off by degrees, and the whole race will soon, very soon, be extinct!

       The shepherds at Port Phillip are generally emancipists (men who were formerly convicts, but have obtained their freedom), and not of course the best characters in the world.    The usual wages are 35/. per annum, with  hi.  extra to such as manage to rear a good flock of lambs and give satisfaction to their masters. I suspect these w.^ges will not tempt many shepherds to come to the new colony from Scotland   or   England, yet they are ample.    The clothes cost very little, and their rations are as much as they can possibly require—7 lbs. Irish pork and 12 lbs. good flour per week, with abundance of tea, sugar, &c.    In short, in my opinion, few labouring men at home fare so well, or have less to do.    Men well acquainted with the management of sheep, and who are not above taking charge of a flock, or making themselves generally useful in washing, shearing, dressing, &c., would probably find employment at 30/. or 40/. per annum; but more than 30/. should not be calculated upon, though no doubt a few men of sufficient character and discretion to command respect from the other servants would find employment as general

       superintendents at  401,  or 60Z. If too they brought a little capital with them, they would be sure soon to turn it to good account

       *'In my communication of February last, I mentioned that carpenters, stone masons, bricklayers, &c., usually earn here 85.

       gar day, and as, when a Government may be appointed to Port hillip there will be many houses, &c., to be built, such hands would be sure to find constant employment. Ii^ short, as the land is so good, there will certainly be a very considerable influx of capital as soon as there may be stfiy power to protect the settler; and hence I may say all descriptions of labouring classes, willing and able to make themselves useful, will be sure to meet with employment on advantageous terms.

       " The Sydney Government will, I believe, immediately send a resident to Port Phillip with sufficient force to keep the natives in awe; they are the same race of people as those inhabiting the other part of New South Wales, and I do not think that any trouble whatever is now to be apprehended from them.

       " Portland Bay is about 180 miles to the westward of the heads of Port Phillip. A whaling establishment has been carried on there for some years past by parties residing chiefly in Launceston. I have seen gentlemen who have been there lately who say the land is the same as at Port Phillip. In short, m)m all I can learn, the land for 200 or 300 miles to the westward of the Lake of Port Phillip is excellent for all agricultural purposes. Sheep and cattle are not likely to be sent from George Town to Portland Bay, as the expense and risk of landing them there would be almost three times as great as in crossing to Port Phillip. During the present season, the commanders of vessels employed in the transport of sheep have been obliged on their arnval at George Town every trip to go to Launceston for a port clearance. The Van Diemen's Land Government have now, however, consented to allow ships to be cleared at George Town. The expense, detention (generally four days), and annoyance of going to Launceston was severely felt by owners of vessels and shippers of stock, and now that that difficulty is got over, I expect the freight of sheep will next year be considerably less than it has hitherto been; the whole trip backwards and forwards, including the time the vessel remains in port, will not henceforth exceed eight or nine days, whereas, till now, it generally averaged twelve or thirteen days, owing to the detention at Geerge Town for a port clearance as explained above."

       In a letter addressed from Hobart Town, July 26th, there is an interesting and pretty correct geographical description of Port Phillip. The part selected by Colonel Collins for his settlement of 1803 is thus named in 1836:    " The peninsula between

       H H

       Western Port and Port Phillip, and on which is the hill called Arthur's Seat, contains some sheep runs, hut water is seldom to he met with, and the soil generally is indifferent, and not much fitted for sheep or agricultural purposes." The same is said of the other side—Indented Head: " There is almost no water, however, except what can he procured hy digging." He ohserved, the banks of the Leigh and Barrahull hills are '* reckoned excellent sheep runs." In passing through the fine land between the Saltwater river and the Wearlily (Werribee) he remarked, " I did not see a rivulet or any place in which it is at all likely water remains all the year round." But of the north he wrote:—

       "The land about the new settlement on the Yarro-Yarro, extending to the Saltwater river, is exceUent sheep runs, being only lightly timbered, and the herbage and grass not surpassed anywhere in the colonies. The whole, too, of the nothern part of the land (claimed by a company of gentlemen, chiefly residing in Van Diemen's Land, as a purchase made by them irom the chiefs of the native tribes at Port Phillip) is represented  U> be of the very best description for either sheep or cattle."

       He quotes Buckley for an authority as to the good country between Port Phillip and a great western lake, and that the mouth of the Burwan was often fordable at low water. " Buckley tells me," said he, " there is not at present any good water near Point Henry, but that a constant supply is to be got in wells at Corayio at the head of Geelong harbour."

       CHAPTER XXIII.

       PROOKESS  OF THE  SETTLEMENT.

       As elsewhere described, Port Phillip progressed with great difficulty at first. They who went across from Van Diemen's Land were but very few. The more cautious hesitated taking property where there was no law, and where direct official opposition to settlement existed. They who went, did so at considerable risk of being forcibly expelled from the country. The very fact that, for the first year, scarcely any one arrived in the Bay from Sydney, the mother colony, sufficiently shows tbat, at head-quarters, prudence forbade emigration. It was, with many, a painful season of uncertainty.

       The circumstances were like those of another part occupying a similar debateable position. Twofold Bay ofiered, like Port Phillip, temptations to settlers, and applications for land there were similarly rejected. But, as Batman cut the knot at the one, so Boyd, Imlay and others, forcibly opened the door at the other. The demand for a grant by Mr. Pottinger is noticed by the Sydney  Colonist  in January, 1835.

       Mr. Atkinson's application to Governor Bourke, May 16th, 1834, was in the interest of Colonel Vemer and others, who proposed planting at Twofold Bay " a number of families of the better class of peasantry of the North of Ireland." The promoters asked for 100,000 acres ** to the southward of the present southern bouudary of the colony of New South Wales,*' in about six portions, on the payment of Zs. 6d.  an acre, as the purchasers would send out " one male or female adult for every one hundred acres," or a thousand in the five years.

       The  reply from  London,  December   16th,   1834,  was  the

       H H 2

       endorsement, " Brought forward by General Bourke: no encouragement can be given with respect to the scheme."

       The Governor had told the Minister that "if to these emigrants, proceeding from Ireland, permission be granted to settle beyond the limits now marked for location, it will be impossible to deny a similar advantage to persons coming out at their own charge, or to the ancient settlers and their families who may desire to purchase land in the same direction." He admits that flocks are hurrying to vacant Crown lands there, and that it is not politic to prevent an occupation producing fine wool. But such irregular settlements would require protection, churches, schools, &c., involving State charges. He objects, however, to extending the settlement so far as Twofold Bay^ and says that "these imauthorized occupations must not be permitted to continue so long as to create any title to the land in the occupier. On October 10, 1835, he advised that Townships be formed at both places.

       The  South Australlaj^  Settlement, though a little later than the one at Port PhiUip, was discussed long before. It was first projected in 1831. The draft of the proposed charter for this private colony was submitted to Lord Goderich, as Secretary of State, January 9th, 1832. The modified plan was sent by Mr. Whitmore, M.P., to Lord Stanley, July 6th, 1833. The Fro-visional Committee of the "South Australian Association forwarded their draft of a charter February 2l8t, 1834. The Parliamentary sanction to the Settlement was given August 15tb, 1834; and the appointment of Commissioners took place April 27th, 1835. But the first emigrants left London, April 20fch, 1836. By the Act, the King could empower persons in ^^^e colony to make laws for the same. The Colonization Commissioners could sell lands, and devote the proceeds to send out suitable emigrants of good character, with families. Mr. Fisher was the first Resident Commissioner. The others were Messrs. Torrens, Mackinnon, Palmer, Montefiore, Hutt, Wright, Angus, and Mills. Mr. G. F. Angus was Chairman of the South Australian Companyr The Commissioners could borrow money; they did so to such an extent as to involve the private colony i"^ hopeless embarrassment, firom which relief was only to be obtained by the British Government constituting South Australia a Crown Colony, and saddling the inhabitants with the payment

       ^^
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       of the Commissioners' debts. No convicts were to be sent to Adelaide, and a Constitution was promised  as  soon as 50,000 people were in the country. If, however, less than 20,000 persons were not there at the end of ten years, the lands were to revert to* the British Crown, and be sold by the Home Government. The first land sale was March 27,1837. The first lot was bought by Mr. T. B. Hack for five guineas. The Commissioners were dismissed by Lord Russell^ December 23rd, 1839.

       New Zealand,  in the great year of colonization activity, 1835, was being prepared for legal settlement. The Governor of New South Wales had then received a strongly-worded memorial from certain English people who had settled among the Maories at the Bay of Islands, praying for Government aid against an expected attack upon their property by the natives; in other words, asking for their recognition as colonists by the British Government.

       But the day was passed for granting land to organisations; as that, in 1825, of a million acres to the Australian Agricultural Company in New South Wales, and a quarter of a million to the Van Diemen's Land Company, on their respective agreements to send out free emigrants.

       The views of the colonial press upon the squatting at Port Phillip are too important to overlook.

       Mr. Jorgenson wrote thus, August, 1835, in the Hobart Town  Courier:—

       " I do not even despair of convincing Mr. Batman and his co-speculators that the whole scheme is as impracticable as it would be to the best interests of the British people and colonists—a depot, exempt from the control of Government, as a receptacle for runaway convicts, and all other desperate characters, who would flock to Port Phillip, endangering the peace and prosperity of the colonists, becoming buccaneers, &c. All such lands are the property of the firitish nation. Would the British Government, without its sanction, permit a British subject   to  become   tributary  to   a foreign  prince ?

       A Port Phillip Chief   would shelter a number of desperate

       characters, who would, with the greatest ease, effect their escape from here and the Settlements of New South Wales."

       The  Cornwall Chronicle  of February 20th, 1836, approved of the movement,  since it gave a promise of cheaper meat to

       Laiinceston. The  Advertiser  of March 10,1836, boldly declared: " We look upon * squatting,' notwithstanding the ridicule attached to the term, to be the only good method of colonizar tion." But they fear Government converting " the present unauthorized occupation of Port Phillip into a breach of decorum," and that General Bourke " will be looking with a jealous eye at this portion of his proconsulate," although Colonel Arthur views " the locality as forming an enviable addition to his proper government of Van Diemen's Land. The  Tasjnanian and Review  of March 18th thinks that "the ceded territory, now forming Mr. Gellibrand*s colony, is held by an infinitely more rightful tenure than Britain holds these colonies." Wishing a good voyage " to the Port Phillip Argonaut with his golden fleece," the editor hopes the " occupation is able to withstand the piratical power of the great British Buccaneer!"

       One writes, May 10th, in the  Chronicle —"Bearhurp exceeds in beauty anything I have ever seen in its natural state." He finds 18,000 sheep, sixty men and twenty women and children in Dutigalla, and the Settlement *' called  Barehurp  by the natives." Another, June 18th, mentions Mr. Gellibrand's offer of 400'. for Mr. Robertson's share ; " and that, when the Blacks found out what made the seller look so blue, they consoled him with the gift of 100,000 acres on the banks of the  Barwin*'  He suggests that Governor Arthur should form a new colony between New South Wales and the land of the South Australian Company. The  Tdsmanian  affirmed that " squatters are the advanced guard of the settled-settler."

       Mr. Lang's Sydney  Colonist  of August 4th, 1836, ridicules the purchase at Port Phillip, which he values at 750,000/., for which the natives got " a ha'p'orth o' tay and a farthing's worth o' tobacco." He condemns the policy of deferring the extension of the colony to Port Phillip. In the issue of September 22nd, 1836, it was stated that the newcomers firom the island were " the very people who first took up their abode (1803) at Port Phillip," being " the first to discover and to correct their own error."

       The  True Colonist  had a letter in which the writer says: " I was offered a large tract of country for half a bag of biscuit An authority of some sort is very much wanted there, as persons' servants are leaving  them,  and  declaring  themselves   inde  '

       i

       pendent of their masters. No less than eight had left their employers, and had formed themselves into a sort of body, and were actually marking off ground for themselves at the Settlement'* The Sydney  Gazette  has Notes by a Traveller, April 16th, 1836: '' The natives are said to dislike ardent spirits, and to be unacquainted with that cursed weed, tobacco." It is added, " Let the principle be once admitted that the roaming savage can convey a title to land, and we shall soon have enough of it; for a pair of scissors or a knife, all the country between the Morumbidgee and the sea could be procured."

       The  Colonial Times  of May observed: '* Had Colonel Arthur sent half a dozen soldiers and a magistrate to Port Phillip, to protect the whites, that beautiful country would have belonged to Van Diemen's Land."  Beriit^s News  of January 18th, 1836, reports: " The  Norma  had arrived at George Town on the 4th from Port Phillip, bringing the distressing intelligence that the natives had risen on the whites, and murdered and devoured five women." On February 19th, that paper stated, "Mn Gellibrand has just arrived from Port Phillip, where 10,000 sheep have been landed by his company. He says that so luxuriant and beautiful is the feed for stock, that a stranger may perceive the sheep fattening while they are grazing." Another correspondent wrote from Dutigalla: *' Before the next voyage of the  Caledonian  I shall have a letter for you as long as the 119th Psalm." Mr. Gellibrand returned again in August, when one paper said: " In consequence of communications from Mr. Gellibrand's colony at Port Phillip, two ships, the  Dvke of York and the  Lady Pelham,  had cleared out from London for that colony, fiilly laden with cargoes particularly assorted for new settlers."

       The Sydney  Herald,  for December, states: "The town at present consists of an inn, a store, some wooden houses, a blacks smith's shop, and a few mud huts; a wooden church is also building." It predicts that " the river, now the abode of wild fowl, will be busy with human life; and in that Bay, on which three ships are now gazed upon as an uncommon and prosperous sight, numerous vessels will ride loaded with the riches of the world." "The Sydney blacks in the service of Mr. Batman live in a hut, dress cleanly, row well, fish, take care of the pigs, work in the garden, and plough his land."    Mutton was then

       9d.,  kangaroo 4i., milk  Is,,  butter 3«., a dinner  28. 6d.,  a bed 2$, 6d,,  and washing  Qd.  a piece.

       The  Courier  of November says: "By the last arrival at Launceston from that interesting Settlement, we learn that Captain Lonsdale has selected the original Settlement formed by Mr. Batman on the Yarra-Yarra as the site of the infant metropolis. The town has been called  Glendffy  after the Right Hon. the Secretary of State." The  News  of December 10th, approvingly asserted: " We have authority in stating that the Sydney Government has some intention of removing about 600 prisoners from the penal settlement at Norfolk Island to Port Phillip." The  Monitor  was of opinion " that before the rich graziers now occupying whole dominions, rent free, at Port Phillip, get free grants, every free woman coming to the colony would be entitled to 30 or 50 acres." The  Chronicle  of December exhorts the settlers " to forget their golden dreams," as Van Diemen's Land is "much better than the land they have squatted upon without title or licence."

       The  Tnte Colonist  of March 10th, 1837, says: "The chief district constable, Mr. Henry Batman, portions out-to each a spot to build upon, under the authority of the commandant," it is added, " sawyers are much wanted, as are brickmakers." The Launceston  Chronicle,  April 1, 1837, has this story: *' Our information from the new Settlement this week is far from being satisfactory. Rumour, with its hundred tongues, draws a frightful picture of the situation of the settlers. We dare not state more at present than that every probability exists of open hostility between them Q,nd the natives."

       On the whole,^ however, the searcher of Colonial files is struck with the few and short notices of the Yarra settlement. The progress there was slow and rather fitful, until Melbourne was authorized, and emigration had set in from Britain.

       mw^'-^^rm

       CHAPTER XXIV.

       THE  EARLY  MELBOURNE  PRESS.

       Americans,  as we are told, must have a newspaper as soon as the settlement has ten families. If not so craving for news as that, or so anxious to ventilate their opinions, Englishmen everywhere, but especially in the colonies, are eager for the establishment of a local Press.

       As to Port Phillip, the advent of such intelligence preceded the very naming of the city of Melbourne. The first record that we find of what was likely to happen over there occurs in

       the Hobart Town  Bent^s News,  of July 23rd, 1836, when referring to the Yarra:—

       "We understand that Mr. Fawkner intends to commence a newspaper at this settlement."

       Mr. Fawkner established the Launceston  Advertiser  in 1829: and, if no literary gentleman himself, was always interested in newspaper correspondence, as well as properly alive to the commercial advantages of the Press in any new settlement. The great interest in the Port Phillip paper is in the fact that some of its few issues were manuscript ones. Each paper had four pages foolscap. The first number appeared on New Year's Day, 1838. Captain Lonsdale, in possession of the only surviving copy, permitted Mr. William Archer to notice it in his Melbourne  Notes and Queries.  The following account of it, in 1856, appeared in the author's  Discovery and Settlement of l\rt rhillip.

       Port Phillip Settlement.

       THE MELBOUBNE   ADVERTISER

       PORT PHILLIP AUSTRALIA

       No 1 Written for and published by John P. Fawkner January The 1st Monday 1838 Melbourne

       Vol 1st

       "We do opine that Melbourne cannot reasonably remain longer marked on the Chart of advancing civilization without its Advertiser

       Such being  <mr  imperial Fiat We do intend therefore by means of this  our  Advertizer to throw the resplendent light of PubUcity upon all the affairs of this New Colony, Whether of Commerce, of Agriculture, or of the arts and Mysteries of the Grazier, All these patent roads to wealth are thrown open to the adventurous Port Phillipians All those sources of riches are about to (or already are) become accessible to each adventurous Colonist of NOUS The future fortunes of the rising Melburnians will be much accelerated by the dessemination of intelligence consequent   upon   the   Press

       being thrown open here But until the arrival of the printing Materials  we  will by means of the Humble pen diffuse such intelligence as may be found expedient or as may arise . . The energies of the present population of this rapidly rising district have never been exceeded in any of the Colonies of Britain

       Its giant like strides have filled with astonishment the minds of all the neighbouring states, The Sons of Britam languish when debarred the use of that mighty Engine the Press, A very small degree of Support timely afford^ will establish a Newspaper here, but until some further arrangements are made it will be merely an advertising sheet and will be given away to Householders "

       The majority of advertisements have, of course, reference to the proprietor of the  Advertiser.  The patriarchal Blacksmith has this significant addition to his notice :—

       "-4.  Extra charge for credit J*

       Mr. Bucker has a long catalogue of articles on sala Mr. Fawkner's celebrated notice of a library is the following:—

       «

       " Launceston Prices for Cash ^  The first Established Hotel in Melbourne Fawkner's Hotel being in possession of a large and Well

       Selected Library of English & Colonial papers to a late date Offers at once Mentel and Bodily refreshment unrivalled in this quarter of the globe Lodgers allowed the use of the Library Gratis, There are 7 English & 5 Colonial weekly papers & 7 monthly & 3 Quarterly Keviews from Britain."

       On the second page we read—

       ** Wanted by the Commercial World at Williams Town and Melbourne about 40 beacons, good Tea Tree st^es would answer, to mark the channel for the outer anchorage to this Town whoever will perform this service shall be entitled to public thanks."

       The only  local  is as follows:—

       " Report has reached Melbourne that Cammerfield the Murderer who was sent from Sydney to point out where seven men were said to be murdered has killed the Two Constables and one of the Soldiers who had him in charge & is now at large in the Bush well mounted and armed. A party of Volunteers we learn are gone in pursuit."

       The third and fourth pages are only advertisements.

       The eighth number of the manuscript newspaper we are able to present to the public, as Mr. Whitehead, of Melbourne, brought out some years ago a lithographic  facsimile  of the interesting copy.

       After nine issues in manuscript, Mr. Fawkner was able to collect a quantity of type, with which he produced his tenth number on March 5th, 1838. Though not able to give  Sk facsimile of this first printed  Port Phillip News,  an entire copy of it is now reproduced in modem type (see p. 477). The length was about twelve inches, and each of the four pages had two columns. The construction of the paper was thoroughly orthodox, and proved Mr. Fawkner well acquainted with the details of publication. But the course of a colonial newspaper at that epoch^ no more ran smoothly than the proverbial course of true love. The Press Laws were then very stringent; two sureties of 300/. must guarantee respectability and proper conduct of the paper. Then the publisher, editor, and printer were respectively bound

       periionally to a very considerable amount. The Government could object to an individual, even though all pecuniary difficulties were removed In short, Mr. Fawkner was unable to comply with these and other conditions, and the light of Hel-boume intelligence was suddenly extinguished.

       An orthodox printer next came upon the scene, Sydney furnishing materials and the man. Mr. Thomas Strode was the professor of the Black Art, and Mr. George Arden became his attendant Spirit of Literature. Concerning the latter it is sufficient to say that, though he had not attained his majority in years, he was not only facile in the use of his pen, but possessed decided ability as a member of the Press. As editor of the  Port Phillip Gazette,  and publisher of the early annals of the infant colony, he displayed good taste and some scholarship.

       Mr. Strode, whom we had the pleasure of knowing well in Adelaide thirty-three years ago, and afterwards in Melbourne, to which he had returned, was a thoroughly practical printer. As overseer of the principal publishing department in Australia —the  Sydney Morning Herald —he fitted himself for the work in Port PhiUip. The pair of new-comers arrived, fully armed, October 19th, 1838, after six months' silence of Mr. Fawkner's Advertiser.

       Not overburdened with cash, and not believing Melbourne in want of any special new type, Mr. Strode went economically to work in the purchase of some old and disused type, that had been lying in a state of  pye  for several years. This neglected lot was obtained for the modest piice of twopence a pound. A particularly shaky wooden press was next hunted out, the table of which, where the type was to lie, was so uneven, from previous ill-usage and neglect, that it would be very hard work to bring the forme to a level surface for the press.

       On arrival at the unwharfed banks of the Tarra, and in view of a town that boasted a hundred gigantic trees for one hovel, hut, or hutch, the Sydney worthy was in despair. As he afterwards told us himself, he could not see what kangaroos and blackfellows wanted with a paper, for there was no show of whitefellows to support it. Would-be advertisers came to his rescue. So, somewhere about the eastern end of Chancery Lane, in Queen Street, premises were secured.

       The Early Melboukjte Press.

       477

       THE MELBOURNE      ADVERTISER.

       Port Phillip^ Attstralia.

       Volume L

       MONDAY, MARCH 5, 1838.

       NUHBEB 10.

       For Freight or Passage.

       The strong built cutter  Rebecca,  now laid on as a regular Trader between Melbourne and Launceston, and is one of the fastest sailing craft in this trade, will prove to shippers of goods or to passengers the most eligible conveyance between Melbourne and Launceston.

       Apply to  Captain Bell. Melbourne,  January 24th,  1838.

       For Sydney.

       The schooner  Sarah,  Capt.  William Mukworth,  will be ready to leave for the above port on Thursday, the 8th of March. For freight or passage apply to the Master on Board, or to W. F. A.  Ruckbr.

       January 24th,  1838.

       On Sale. At the Stores of Mr. J. Batman, at low prices, for cash.

       Taylor's Brown Stont in hhds.

       Dunbar and Sons' Bottled Ale in three-dozen cases.

       Marsella Wine   in hhds.,   quarter casks, and half aums.

       Superior Cognac Brandy.

       Geneva.

       Jamaica Rum.

       Mauritius Sugar.

       Hyson Skin Tea.

       Flour.

       Paint Oil.

       Turpentine.

       White Lead.

       Black and Qreen Paint.

       Canister Gunpowder  fpp.

       Shot of Sizes.

       Flat, Square, and Round Iron, assorted.

       Yacht Shirts.

       Scotch Caps.

       Melbourne,  February  16M, 1838.

       Moleskin Trowsers.

       Cord and Olive Velveteen do.

       Superior Blue Cloth do.

       Swansdown and Plush WaistcoaU.

       Striped Shirts.

       Duck Frocks.

       Velveteen Shooting Jackets.

       Fustian do.

       Superior   Whitney   Blankets,   8-4,

       4-4, 10-4, 11-4. Pocket Knives. Wool-bagging. Window Glass. Superior Cavendish Tobacco. Colonial do»

       Also,

       Fat Beef,  Mutton, and Lamb, at

       5 pence per lb. Potatoes, &c., &c.
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       Thk  undersigned begs to inform the public that he has a boat and two men in readiness for Uie purpose of crossing and recroasing passengers between William's Town and tne opposite beacn.

       Parties from Melbourne are requested to raise a smoke, and the boat will be at their service as soon as practicable ; the least chai^ is five shillings, and two shillings each when the number exceeds two.

       H.  ICLean. William's Town,  February 9th,  1838.

       T. D.   Weatherly

       Tak£8  this earl^ opportunity to inform his friends and the public that he supplies families with the best Wheaten Bread at the lowest price, and to those who wish it he allows one month's ci'edit.

       February  27<^ 1838.

       FAWKNER'S     HOTEL,

       Melbourne, Port Phillip,

       Supplies  to the Traveller and Sojourner all the usual requisites of a Boarding House and Hotel, and of the very best quality, being mostly laid in from the first Mercantile House in Cornwall, V. D. Land ; in addition to which there wiU be found mental recreation of a high onler.   There are

       Srovided seven English and five Colonial weekly newspapers, seven British [onthly Magazines, three British Quarterly Reviews, up to October, 1837 ; a very choice selection of Books, including Novels, Poetry, Theology, History, &c.

       N.B. A late  Encyclopedieu    Any of those works will be free to the

       Lodgers at the above HoteL

       Melbourne,  February  27M, 1838.

       That Strong-Bttilt Schooner,  "  Unterprize,*'

       Will  continue to trade between the ports of Melbourne and Lannceston at the  Reduced  freight of Two Pounds per Ton. Wool sent over per ErUerprize  will be stored and shipped at Melbourne free of expense to the grower, and goods from Launceston will be carefully housed at a low rate. This vessel has been two years and a half constantly employed in this trade, and has never damaged any part of her cargo.

       Apply at Melbourne of J. P.  Fawknbr. „       Launceston of J. C.  Underwood.

       For Sale.

       Ten young fine-wooled Rams, price five guineas each.

       Enquire of Mr.  Fawkner.

       On Sale.

       On Sale, a few bushels of good Stone Lime.

       Enquire of Mr.  Fawkner.

       Ship News.

       Arrived. Feb. 27tli: The  InduOry,  from George Town, having landed her sheep at Geelong.   March the Ist: The  JTenry,  sheep from George Town.   March the 4th : Tasmanian Lass,  from Hobart Town.

       Departures. Feb. 7th : Sailed the  Stcan Liner Packet,  for Lannceston ; cargo, wool.   March the 2nd:  The  iTidttstry,  in ballast, for George Town.    March the 3rd:  The Henry,  in ballast, for George Town.

       HOBART TOWN SHIP NEWS. Arrivals. Jan. 81st: The French corvette,  VHeroine,  82 guns.    C*Alle,   Commander from King George's Sound.   July Ist, 1837.    Crew, 227.

       Feb. 2nd:  Lowesttft,  schooner, from New Zealand; pine. 5th : The  Aboena, schooner, from the Mauritius, with sugar. The French ship  Cachelot,  582 tons. Lanolois,  from Havre de Grace; 500 barrels of oil.

       Departures. Feb. 2nd:   The  Marian Waison,  for Sydney;  sundries.    8rd :  The barque Cheviot,  for Englind;  wool.    The barque  Tropic,  for Sydney ; sundries.    4th : The  Navarino,  for Yalpaoraisa; in ballast.

       SYDNEY SHIP NEWS.

       Jan. 28rd : Arrived—The barque  Straifieldsay,  from Limerick, with 200 emigrants, 19th Si^pteniber. The barque  Sportsman,  from London, 5th of October; passecgers and merchandise. Feb. 2nd: The ship  Siam,from  London, ISth October; passengers and merchandise. Ship  Patriot,  from Madras, August 20th : Mauritius, November 25th ; cargo, sundries and 14 Crown prisoners, and sundry cabin passengers. 2nd: The brig  Vidris,  from London, September 21st; mer* chandise. Tlie barque  Addingham,  from the Mauritius, December 19th ; cargo, sugar; passengers, Mr. and Mrs. Delarbie. 9th : The schooner  Marian Watson, from Hobart Town, with sundries and passengers. Feb. the 8th: The barque Perseverance,  from London; merchandise. The ship  Waterloo,  from London, October 7th; 224 male prisoners. Surgeon S. James Ellis, Esq., R.N., Lieut. Hare, of the 5l8t Regiment, and 29 soldiers and 11 women and children of this renment.

       The departures for the same period are all coloninl vessels coastwise and to New Zealand.

       MELBOURNE   ADVERTISER.

       We Aim to Leady not Drive.

       It  is not our intention to make many professions—but it is now, and shall continue to be, our constant study to advance the interests of the Port Phillipians, to advocate their cause at all times with the povers that be. But not in the  Mood Imperative  ; we will point out our wants, and as far as possible describe the easiest and best manner of satisiVing them. We will carefully cater for English, Colonial, and Foreign intelligence, and will add as much light and amusing reading as our limited space will allow.

       Melbourne was a wild, and, as far as Europeans are concerned, uninhabited, when the establishment of the proprietor of this journal arrived here in August, 1835 ; but his taste led him to select Indented Head in June, 1836. The few settlers then arrived, subscribed and built a small place of worship, which still serves both for the Established Church, prayers and sermon beinjg read therein by a Layman, and by the Presbyterian, each having two services on the Sunday. A Sunday school is also kept in the same, in which is also kept a day school. Large subscriptions are now in progress to erect two separate churches, one for each estaolishmcnt, and the present place of worship is to be reserved for a school.

       Ws earaestl^ beg the public to exouBe this our first appearance in the absence of the compositor, who was engaged. We were under the necessity of trustin}; our first number (in print) to a van Demonian youth of eighteen, and* this la<l only worked at this business about a year, from his tenth to his elerenth, 1S30 to 1831. Kezt, the  honest  printer from whom the type was bought has swept up all his old waste letter and called it  type,  and we at present labour^ under many wants; we even have not as much as pearl ash to clean the dirty type.

       The Weather.— February 27th to March the 6th. The Barometer has ranged from 29 to 77 on the 27th, to 80, 31, on Saturday the Srd. Thermometer was also highest on Saturday, viz., 70, and lowest on Wednesday, 54 ; prevuling wind southerly ; rain fell rather heavy on Tuesday, Wednesday, and Thursday last.

       We  regret to learn that Mr. Gardiner, in crossing 400 head of cattle over the Yarro Tarro on Saturday last had twenty six of them drowned, these cattle were weak after their journey from Yass. A punt is now building by Mr. Watt, which will prevent recurrence of such accidents.

       Tragical Event. —Becent letters from Sanlinia speak of a tragical event of which that island has lately been the theatre. The descendant of the ancient soverei^s of the island, a young man about twenty years of age, the last scion of the illustrious house of Villa Hermosa, had, it appears, conceived a passion for a ^ung girl of plebeian extraction. He had for some time continued his assiduities to her, ana rumour began to ascribe to him better chances of success than he really possessed, when one morning his servants brought him tiie cloak of a fisherman, which had been found fixed m the pannel of the door by the blade of a poinard. The young nobleman understood the signal; it waA a  vendetta,  of which fair warning was thus given him, and his grandfather, with whom he resided, prevailed on him for some days not to leave the house unattended. The young Count Villa Hermosa, however, was too brave and proud long to submit to these fatiguing precautions. He declared his determination to go out in the same unrestrained mauner as formerly, and he did so. At night he met the rival who had planted the poinard and mantle at the door of his hotel. What passed between them is not known, but it has been ascertained that the body of the fisherman was carried by the Count to the beach, and there concealed under a heap of stones. The Count now paid his addresses to the young girl as freely as before, to the astonishment of those who knew the history of the poignard, and who fully expected to see some signal act of vengeance. Meanwhile the family of the fisherman who had disappeared, creating some suspicions of the truth, b^n to search for the bodv. It was found, and among the stones under which it was concealed was also found a seal-ring, on which was engraved the arms of the Count. The ring had probably'slipped from his finger while he was engaged in his deed of darkness. The body was immediately conveyed to the house of a magistrate, and the ring which had been found was produced. An investigation commenced, and the proofs against the Count were so Rtrong that he was found guilty of murder, and condemned to death. The sentence was submitted to the King for confirmation.

       Charles Albert was anxious if possible to save the last scion of a royal race, and accordingly caused a communication to be made to the grand&ther, that if he applied K>r mercy it would probably not be withheld. The answer of the old man was, that haviog to choose between justice and his own blood, he could not hesitate to declare in favour of the former. The young Count de Villa Hermosa has since been beheaded.

       At  Sydney, the 50th Anniversary of the Colony was kept up very splendidly on the 26th of last month. The Public were treated with a very tasteful music^ festival at St Mary's Church, Sydney.

       FArriary  28M, 1838.
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       Miku-

       itr-i-'.   ^ ^^ ^ ^^  Melb&ume Store.

       J^/j^^     Superior Black Cloth Dress Coats. , ' *       Do.   do.        . Surtont do.

       //"/-       Do.     Green and Olive Shooting do. /^, ^        Do.     Buckskin, Cloth, and other Fancy Trowsers. Do.     Black and Blue Cloth do. Black aoth Waistcoats.

       Gambroon and Persian Cloth Riding and Shooting Coats. ,^^■^^1    Superfine Blue Cloth Jackets.

       •i>4iwlL    ^'O^*'®^ Silk Waistcoats.

       y\.    Swansdown and Toilanet do. HCic/u    Holeskin, Corduroy, and Duck Trowsers. Do.       Shooting Coats. Do.       Jackets and Duck Frocks. Fancy Regatta and white Shirts. Superfine Beaver Hats. Black and Drab Gossamer do. '(/^fiA>    Manilla Caps. )jZj.  f^     Blankets and Ru^ ■^"^ *     Gentlemen's Boots and Shoes. Stockmen's    do.   do.

       /  /     Ladies' Prunella Shoes.

       ^         '     Children's Feather Boots and Shoes. , .   /-        Do.       Printed Frocks and Trowsers. A       Black and other Silk Handkerchiefs. ^'    "White Cotton Socks. ^  /.     Braces, Pins, Needles; Black, White, and Drab Thread. Clothes, Hat, Hair, Tooth, Shoe, aud Furniture Brushes. Rack, Braid, and Side Combs. Pocket and Dandriff      do. Rosewood Tea Caddies and Workboxes. Gentlemen's Portable Dressing Cases and Snuff-boxes. Night Lights and Lucifer Matches. Stock Locks, Butt Hinges, and Sash Pullies. jZ-j     A General Assortment of Stationery, comprising—Paper. Pens and Quills, Red ^^*^   and Black Ink, Playmg Cards, Bills of Lading, &c., Ac

       ^/-/-^     Elegant Cut-Glass Decanters, Tumblers, Sugar Banns, Cruets, ftc., ftc.

       Kangaroo Leather, Musket Flints, Tin and Earthenware, Milk Di^es, Curry Combs and Horse Brushes, an assortment of Nails, French Pickles, consisting ^   of Anchovies, Olives, and Capers, &c., &c.,  kc.

       ^Jl L   Melbourne,  March the 2nd,  1838.

       ^   Melbourne Baces.

       At  a meeting of subscribers, held this day at Fawkner's Hotel, Melbourne, Port Philip, the following arrangements were made:—

       FIRST DAY.

       Ths Town Plate  of 25 sovereigns. 8 years Sold, 8 stone 6 lbs.; 4 years old, 9 stone ; 6 years old, 9 stone 6 lbs.   Entrance one pound; two-mile heats.

       Ladies' Puuse,  20 sovereigns. Gentleman riders. 8 years old, 9 stone 12 lbs.; A  years old, 10 stone 5 lbs.; 5 years old, 11 stone 10 Itis.; 6 and aged, 12 stone. Entrance one pound ; heats, one mile and a distance.

       SECOND DAY.

       Hui^TRRs'  Stake  of 15 sovs.    Gentlemen Riders.   One mile and a distance, j      with 5 leaps 4 feet high.    Catch weights.

       1   Beaten Horses Stake  of 10 sovs.   Weight same as Town Plate.   Post entry

       rrv  .      ten shillings.    Heats one mile and a distance.

       I   No horse will be allowed to start unless the bonafide properbr of a subscriber

       f   of two pounds.    All horses to be entered at Fawkner's Hotel for the three first

       ^   races on the 5th of March, ^m seven to ten o'clock  p.m.    Beaten horses past

       entry.    Winning horses to pav one pound to the clerk of the course for the use and porterage ofthe scales and weights.   Disputes, if any, will be settled by the

       I 1

      

       <e/rtA\

       SteTrards on the couree.   The Melbourne lUce Clnb will dine on last day of the races at Fawkner's Hetel.

       SUward$—W,  D. G.  Wood  and H.  Arthur,  Eequirea.

       Tretuurer—Mr,  F. NoDiN.

       Clerk qf the Cfaurte—lir.  Moblif.

       Fehrmry thelUh,  1838.

       One Pound Reward.

       An  Hydrometer having been nuslaid, any person bringing it to the office of this paper will receive the above reward. March the 5th,  1838.

       Hdbart Town Quarter Sessions, January  29<A, 1838.

       Owrge Allen,  charged with stealing a watch. Not guilty.—P«t<r  WaUaa, stealing a cask of crockery. Guilty, 8 years to Port Arthur.—/awi«J  Fra^^ stealing 8 shillings and 5 pence halfpenny from his master. Twelve months hard labour.— Ann Saunders,  stealing one ring, value 1 shilling, and 7 half dollsn. 12 months in the factory.—JbAn  Orant  and  Mary Dunahoo,  stealing a £1 note. Grant, not guiltr; Dunahoo, sentence extended 8 vears.— Thos. Yeoman  and Jno, Hawkins, tar  stealing 2 Bhinkets, value 15 shillinffs. Not guilty, Init ordered to Public Barracks.—Jam«9  Gregson,  accused of stei^g 2 sheep, valae £2. Remanded to this day fortnight.—ifr.  Mezger's  conviction of £5 for selling wine on a Sunday confirmed ; the Magistrates, for good reasons, remitted half of the penalty, viz., the Queen's share.

       LiEUTBiTANTs  Smith  and MuKDAT arrived last week overland from Sydney; Lieutenant Smith relieves Lieutenant Hawkins. Major Smith arrived by the ffenry  to view this land of promise; he is a landholder^ having purchase land on the 1st of June, 1837.

       BB.TJBSELs,-^Attempt to Shoot an Officer, —An individual, named Jamotte, haa been arrested on the race^^^urse just as he was taking from his pocket a pistoli which it was thought he intended to fire at General Hnrel when ne was passing, surrounded by his staff.   Half-an-hour before the arrival of the King at the plains of Monplasir Colonel Bodenbach was conversing near His Maiesty s gallery with the Chief of the General Staff of the Army, when he perceived pretty near him a man in a blouse, whom he recognized as a person named Jamotte, who has already been several times before uie police of Brussels for acts of extravagance, and was more recently arrested at Saecken for expressions which indicated unsoundness of mind.   This man, making a motion which seemed to denote that he was armed, Colonel Rodenbach rushed upon him and seized him by the collar and arms.   Several police-officers came up; Jamotte was searched, and a loaded pistol beiuff found on him, he was delivered to the Gendarmes, and conveyed to a place of suety.    By order of the Attorney-General he has been removed to the ward for lunatics in the hospital of St. John, to be examined by the physicians of that establishment.    He is destitute of all means of subsistence, and has long been in a state of vagrancy.

       Spain. — Defeat of the English Legion at  ^n^ioain.—Bayonne,  Sepleinber  H. Ten A.M. On the 14th the Carlists, who had placed their artillery during the night, attacked and carried Andoain at noon, and pursued the Chnstinos to the gates of HemanL The English Legion has lost twenty-five officers; the artillery has been saved. On the same day O'Donnell recaptured Urnieta, which he voluntarily evacuated at night, and retired to Enginy."

       Enoltsh News,  October  9^.—Australian fine wool, 2».  lOd,  to 3«. 4(i., and Is. 6d.  to 28. 6(2.; Y. D. Land,  Is. M,  to  2s. 6d.;  Cape wool.  Is. id.  to  2s. lOd. ; this is veij cheering news to our industrious graziers, and will urge them to farther efforts.— October the Idth, London Shipping Gazette—There  are seven vessels laid on for Sydney, four for Launceston, and two for Hobart Town.—Port Phillip has not yet reached this honour, but her day is rapidly coming forward. Enterprize, industry, and talent, will effect wonders.

       Poetry,

       \  saw a youthful mother—and she held Enfolded in her arms a beauteous child,

       And with immeasurable love she piz'd Upon its face, most innocent and mild ;

       Yet oft, the tear of agony would steal Dimming the azure beauty of her eye,

       While from her breast, at intervals was breathed. But ill repressed a low and mournful sigh ;

       For that sweet child, her lov'd, her earliest bom, By cold decline, was withering away :

       And yet so lovely—that it seemed like one Of spring's bright flowers earliest in decay.

       "Oh, must we part," the hopeless mother cried, " So patient too I the grass will scarcely wave
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       Spread o'er her cheek the same illusive glow

       That deck'd her child's,—she staid not long behind, But shares the pillow of her offspring now.

       Tt  is one of the melancholy pleasures of an old man to recollect the kindness of friends whose kindness he will experience no more.

       United States. —The American packet  Orpheus,  which sailed from New York August the 1st, has arrived at Liverpool. She left New York in company with the  Shakespear,  not yet arrived. We understand that the  Orphetis  has brought over 860,000 dollars, principally on account of merchants in London. The Shakespear  has also a Urge amount of specie on board. Trade continues to improve in America, and mone^ was daily becoming more plentiful. Credit has improved so much that the United States bank paper was in some parts of the Union considered equal to specie.

       Russia.— JVarrow  Escape of the Emperor Nicholas, —The Emperor was present lately at some practices of the artillery in exploding mines from a great distance, the ignition bemg produced by means of galvanism. Two bridges were blown up, but in acting upon the second the charge was either too powerful or a false calcu-tion of the distance was made. The force of the explosion was so great that an immense beam and several other lai^ fragments fell several yards bemnd the spot where His Majesty was stationed. His Majesty ordered the officer to be put under arrest, but the next morning he was set at liberty.

       The  Swiss Association for the Promotion of Public Welfare held their meeting this year at Geneva. The society proposes to itself more particularly the investigation of three points of equal importance : popular education, natiuul industry, and the best plan of relief for the poor. On the subject of education the society came to a unanimous resolution that no education was of any value if it did not propose moral cultivation and improvement as the primary object of its endeavours. Zeltueger, from St. Gallen, had sent a treatise to condemn any interference on the part of Government in matters connected with the com laws; but, at the same time, he admitted that the peculiar position of Switzerland made it desirable to form magazines of flour as a provision against times of scarcity.

       France. —The tone of tiie last advices (of the 17th instant) from Bona is

       extremely warlike, and it appears that all thoughts of a treaty or peace with the

       Bey of Constantina are at an end.    The Duke de Nemours was to quit Bona for

       the army on the 18th, but the campaign was not expected to open before the first

       ten days in October.    According to letters to the 12th from Guemela, almost the

       whole of the French forces had assembled at Merjez-el-Hammer,  where thQ

       Governor has been established since the 9th of August.    Achmet Bey's effective

       J f   force in the field is estimated at 12,000 men, but it is impossible to calculate the

       • J'^   number of his reserve troops amongst the Arabs, and it is thou^t that the first

       ^   success of the army may have great influence upon that point.    The ordinance for

       the dissolution of the Chambers has not yet appeared in the  MonUeur,  but most of

       the journals concur in announcing that the measure will not be officially promul-

       ^ted till the 2rd of October,   This is attributed to the King's journey to

       Compeigne.

       I I 2

       Architecture of the Heavens.

       fiT  Dr.   19ICHOL8.

       Thk  work is in the form of letters to a lady. Having, in the first letter, giren a ffeneral idea of the structure and dimensions of what is comprehended in that which is at once so little and so vast, our glorious firmanent, and shown how astronomers have arrived at the exhibited results, the second letter is devoted to the power and reach of telescopes; and the third, to the sublime objects of those wonderful instruments.

       One of the singular discoveries brought to light by the power of the telescope, and far the most interesting to human feelings, is the  aoubU-gauffer,  the  faC' 8IMILS of our Solar system, which is, indee<^ to us, the "strangest, the most unexpected'* discovery of modem astronomy. It is thus alluded to ; and, even without the {dates, our readers may be able to form a tolerable clear notion of what is at once so novel and so remarkable.

       Although the telescope has not yet enabled us to lay out the plan of our cluster, from  interior  surveys, it exhibits what seems its very  pielure,  hung up in external space. Scientific men are enabled by the poweiiul instrument now used to develop an object resting near the outermost range of telescopic observation, not resolv^ but doubtless a scheme of stars, which is the  fae-^mile  of that to which we belong. It has its surrounding ring of the precise form we have been inclined to attribute to our zone ; and its section figure m the same plate, or the aspect it would take on to a spectator at a great distance, looking from the direction of the white line in the margin, has the closest resemblance of Herschers sketch. Singular affinity of forms I What link, what far-reaching sympathy can connect these twin masses—that unfiithomed finnament and ours ? Wnat virtue is there in a shape so fantastic that it should thus be repeated ? Or what is the aiu;ust law, energising at the opposite extremities of space, which has caused those corresponding shapes to come into being? Prompted by reverential curiosity, we eagerly put such questions, but to resolve them baffles our lofUest philosophers.

       It adds to the interest of this singular discovery, that our brothers inhabiting the stars, planets, and satellites of our counterpart system see us in precisely the same aspect as we do them; and that their firmament is reflected in ours. We feel great curiosity about the nature and pursuits of the beings inhabiting our twin-planet—in particular, that other earth.

       {To be continued.)

       We  glean from the  Colonial Tims$  of February 6th the followin^j:—^The leading article is a paltry attempt at wit upon the Lieut.-Govemor's visit to Flinders. We ask what purpose can such balderdash effect ? Whv, it will disffust all sensible Pfople. liext,  slander  is deprecated, and this too by me  Col, Times,  The editor rejoices over the pecunia likely to circulate from the five French whalers and a corvette now lying there, and advocates the advantage of a direct trade with France.  Vert good.  Then long extracts from English journals,  Pickwick Papers,  &c.   A long article about the eternal Dr. Lftog-

       New Norfolk road making is next introduced, to have a hit at Captain Cheyne. Then Obrien's Bridge for the same reason.

       The funeral of Miss F. M. M. Rowlands, the daughter of T. W. Rowlands, Attorney.

       Chief Justice Dowling has decided that Puffers are illegal.

       Some other trifling matters, and there is a long police report of two columns ; the remainder are a^ertisements and shipping intelligence.

       Printed and Published by  J. P.  Fawkner,

       At his Office qf the ** Melbourne Advertiser,**

       Melbourne,

       1

       Now came the tug of war. That heap of dirty, battered type lay in glorious disorder on the floor. Who was to put it in correct case ? There was no printer to help. Not a  devil  was to be secured. The "Van  Bemonian  youth of eighteen/' the supposed relative of some Printer's Devil, who performed the office of Faustus to Mr. Fawkner, was not at hand, or was too loyal to the memory of the old  'Tizer  to be bought. His aid would have been little worth. One who had worked in an ofiBce in Van Diemen's Land between the ages of ten and eleven, and then went timber felling and ploughing, would hardly be accepted by any  chapel  in his more advanced years. But a helpmeet was found in a loving partner. Mrs. Strode under* took to assist her husband in sorting letter. As she has smilingly assured us, she found it no joke kneeling on the floor hunting up the alphabet from that chaos of lead.

       The cleaning had to be done in the first place, and no  lye was at hand, except soda at eighteen pence a pound. A decoction of  sheoak  was ascertained, after sundry trials of native woods, to be of excellent strength. The rollers had to be manufactured, as the cheap ones brought down from Sydney were quite impracticable to knife or axe. After lengthened experiments, indiarubber was pronounced the very thing. But here came the practical difficulty,—a sufficient supply could not be bought in the country. Besides, with, no tinsmith, what should he do for a cylinder ? He had to cut out a quantity of large type from New Zealand pinewood. Like impediments beset his progress in other directions. Still, if " faint heart never won fair lady," it was not likely to bring out a paper in Melbourne of 1838. Ingenuity, patience, and perseverance, mastered mechanical difficulties. Mr. Arden, meanwhile, was busy beating up for subscribers and advertisers, securing 300 of the first and a promising show of the last.

       The eventful day of publication came—Saturday, October 27th, 1838. As 9 A.M. was announced as the hour, a crowd assembled; and, as the printer was not quite ready, the impatient would-be purchasers began a battering attack, so that the doors and windows had to be secured. At noon the work was done, and the poor printer, exhausted with a fortnight's toil, retired to rest.

       The  Gazette  was duly legalised and authorised in Sydney, the aipital.    It had four little pages, with four thin columns in each,

       ■«ta^

       486   Port Phillip Settlement.

       For ten shillings a quarter the weekly issue could be secured. There were advertisements of a varied character, from babv-linen to walking stallions. There was news from home and the several colonies. In intimatuig the arrival of the clergyman, with surrogate powers, the desponding editor, with nothing but whiskered colonists in view, remarked : " There seems to us to be a desperate want, though, of mamageable ladies." The motto assumed for the paper was,  *'To assist the inquiring, animate the struggling, and sympathise with all**  From the address to the reader we copy as follows:—

       "Politics, elsewhere the great theme of contention, particularly wherever the Press has room to exert its influence, will, in this instance, be held in abeyance; the yet comparatively infant state of our Settlement affords us fair reason to withhold our direct interference or comment upon a subject so rife ^vith disquietude; while those of other and distant territories, what have we, in our industrious, painstaking, money-making town, to do?"... "We look upon this mixture of agriculturalists and stockbreeders as one of the most fortunate circumstances that could have taken place. Everything ought to be done, every inducement held out, every facility afiforded, to the class of small farmers who can and will turn every foot of land to account."

       But Mr. Fawkner surmounted his difficulties. He got his sureties and his type to start the  Port Phillip Patriot  on Wednesday, February 16th, 1839, though he retained only a year control of the paper. As the remote ancestor of the justly celebrated Melbourne  Argus,  the  Patriot  cannot be forgotten, nor the persevering efforts of its originator ignored. Unhappily, the appearance of this rival to the  Gazette  forced Mr. Arden into controversy, for he could no longer maintain silence upon politics. A party spirit was begotten, and party language assumed a bitterness unknown before the rivalry of the Press. While the  Patriot  took the side of the Van Diemen's Land settlers and expirees, the  Gazette  aspired to the more respectable position of organ of the official and moneyed class. Mr. Strode's struggles in that day of conflict were intensified by the strike of his  hands, and he was compelled to bring out, for six weeks in succession, a bi-weekly issue of the  Gazette  with no printer's assistance. He allowed himself but two hours' sleep each night, and his firstfinger, as he informed us, became so severely affected by the incessant picking-up process that he had to use another finger for the work.

       M?  ANGUS    MCMILLAN.

       CHAPTER XXV.

       DISCOVERY   OF   GIPPS   LAND.

       Among  the Important explorations of the Port Phillip territory, the opening up of Gipps Land cannot be forgotten.

       As the discovery of Western Port preceded that of Port Phillip, so did that of the south-eastern coast line come long before the great announcement of the glorious pastures inland. The shore between Cape Howe and Wilson's Promontory was well known to sealers in the Straits, as it furnished not a few female slaves for their wild island haunts. A colonist, whose name is not given in the Tasmanian paper which records his adventure, penetrated the fastnesses of Maneroo in 1838, discovered the noble Snowy Kiver, and marched from its mouth along the sandy Ninety Mile beach until he found his country* men at Western Port. But, hindered by the dense scrub in one part, and the extensive sea-lakes in another, he gained no information as to the interior.

       Gipps Land is generally believed to have been revealed by the enterprising scholar. Count Strzelecki. This scientific Polish gentleman managed to thread the Australian Alps, and reach the floor of a magnificent region, which he named after Governor Gipps. Messrs. Riley and James MacArthur accompanied him from the Sydney side. There were with them two white servants, and black Charlie of Goulbum, On February 12th, 1841, the party were on Mount Kosciusko, on the New South Wales side of the border. Crossing the Dividing range, they were entangled in fearful country. A biscuit and a slice of bacon became the daily allowance. The exhaustion of supplies compelled them for eighteen days to live upon the marsupial native bear, whose flesh had sometimes to  }>e  eaten raw, as the constant

       rain prevented the kindling of a fire. Their horses, packs, and valuable instruments had to be left in the mountain forest by the Latrobe river, about seventy miles from Western Port. Altogether, it was a most trying and even perilous journey.

       But, about the same time, and even before, adventurers had penetrated the new country from the Western Port side. Mr. John Orr reported, February 6th, 1841, his discovery of the Albert and Tarra rivers; the latter being named after his native guide. The Port Phillip  Herald  of March gives the story of a trip into southern Gipps Land, by Messrs. Kinghome, Brodribb, Kirsopp, and McLeod. Butler and McAlister had the first cattle stations there. Thomson river was called after the Colonial Secretary; Perry river after the Surveyor-General; Dunlop, from the astronomer of Paramatta; Barney, from a colonel of that name; and Latrobe, from the superintendent of Port PhilUp.

       . But as early as 1834 the first attempt was made to get over the Alps into what is now known as Gipps Land. Mr. McKillop organised a party with Mr. Livingstone and Mr. McFarlane, having a desire to go across to Western Port. Mr. Livingstone afterwards formed a station upon the river called after him. But all that courage and perseverance could do failed to overcome the difficulties of that land of the mountain and the flood. The country was utterly impervious. Mr. McFarlane, however, succeeded in reaching and stocking a district now recognised as Omeo. His overseer at the neighbouring station of Corrawang, Mr. McMillan, was fired with the like spirit of discovery, and claims to be the one who first made known Gipps Land.

       The first account given of the discovery is from a letter dated from Corrawang, February 18th, 1841. This is copied in Lang s Phillipsland.  But as the author had received from Mr. McMillan himself the particulars of that journey, he presents the same to the reader,

       •'BxrsHT  Pare, Gipps Land, February  8^ 1856.

       "  Mt dear Sib,— Your letter of the 20th ult., wishing me to give you particulars of my discovery of Gipps Land, came to hand by last mail. I am sorry time will not admit of my entering into details as much as I could wish.     However, I feel pleasure
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       in being able to put you in possession of a few circumstances, which may be interesting to you.

       " In 1839 I was residing in Maneroo district, on a station called Corrawang, the property of James MacFarlane, Esq., where I was made to understand from the native blacks that there was a fine country to the south-west of that district. On the 28th day of May in that year I started with the intention of exploring this country, if possible, accompanied by a black native, Jemmy Gibber, chief of the Maneroo tribe, as my only companion and guide. I kept a south-west direction for five successive days, and came to a mountain which I ascended, from the summit of which I obtained an extensive view of the sea and the low-lying lands in the direction of Comer Inlet, as shown by Flinders. This mountain I named Mount McLeod, after the highland chief of that clan (it has been since named Hay Stack). By this time I found that my companion, Jemmy Gibber, was getting fearfully alarmed of meeting with a wild tribe of Blacks, called Warrigals, inhabiting that part of the country, and conse^ quently refused to proceed any further with me, making an attempt to get away from me. I was then in wild mountainous country, covered principally with scrub, and my companion gave me to understand that he was ignorant of our whereabouts, and that I must trust to tinder box (a name he gave to my pocket compass). I got him to go on with me until the evening, when we camped and lighted our fire, and after taking refireshment laid down to rest. I nearly paid dearly this night for my confidence in my companion. After being some time asleep, I awoke suddenly, and, to my consternation, found Jemmy Gibber standing over me with his upraised waddy or club, one blow of which would have settled me. I at once presented my pistol at him, \Yhen he at once cried out, begging not to shoot him, that he had been dreaming that another black fellow had been taking away his wife, and that he did not want to kill me; but it was evident to me his intention was to take my life that he might then return home. I kept strict watch on him during the remainder of the night, and considering it imprudent to proceed any further in my expedition with him, I made for Omio next morning, then the most southern station in New South Wales, and occupied by Mr. James MacFarlane, where 1 arrived in four days from Mount McLeod, and ten days after starting from Corrawang. On my way to Omio I found the country to consist of very scrubby rugged ranges.

       **0n the 16th of September following I formed a cattle station on the River Tambo, about forty miles south of Omio, for L. McAlister, Esquire, J.P. Mr. E. Buckley Had a station then on the River Tambo, ten miles higher up past Numtlamungu. On the 26th Pecember I formed a party in the newly settled

       station, consisting of Mr. M. McAJister, Mr. Cameron, Edward Batb, a stock-keeper, and myself, with the intention of exploring the country I had seen from Mount McLeod. After travelling for three days over a very rugged and hilly country, clearing our way step by step over the coast ranges, unfortunately on the fourth day our pack-horse met with an accident firom his foot having slipped on the side of a hill. He rolled  down  to the bottom, and got staked in several places. This was the first day on which I met any of the Black tribes (or wild Blacks). In meeting us they approached close up to us, and stood looking at us, until I dismounted, when they commenced yelling, and instantly took to their heels. It is my belief they took the horse and rider to be one until I dismounted, having never seen a white man or a horse before.

       From the accident to the pack-horse rendering him unable to proceed ftirther, I had to return to the station much disappointed. On the 11th January, 1840, I started again with an addition of two blacks (Gabon Johnny and a boy I named * Friday') to the former party; fully determined to pursue a course that would take me to the unexplored country to the north-east of Comer Inlet and the Promontory. After a most harassing journey of four days over the very worst country I had yet seen, I succeeded in crossing the coast ranges leading towards the low country. On this day our little party encamped in the lowlands, on the banks of Kiver Tambo, and on the 16th followed the course of the river downward, until we came to a beautiful sheet of water, which I named Lake Victoria, after Her Most Gracious Majesty.

       " On the 17th I took my departure from Lake Victoria, and came to a river, which I called the Nicholson, after Dr. Nicholson, now Sir Charles Nicholson. I crossed the river in the ranges on the 18th, and got on another river, which I named the Mitchell, after the Surveyor-General of New South Wales. From the banks of this fine river I had a most imposing view of the low-lying country, still in advance of me, bounded on the north-west and north by a lofty range of mountains, and by Lake Victoria on the south-east. The prospect before me was beautifully grand, bringing kindly to my recollection my native home in the land of the mountain and the flood, when it struck me that the most appropriate name for it was  Caledonia Australis,  which I beg you would not overlook in your statistics. On the 19th I crossed the River Mitchel, in fond expectations of getting to the Inlet, and on the 20th camped at a place which I named Providence Ponds. On the 21st I came in sight of a fine sheet of water, which I took at first to be a continuation of Lake Victoria, but on finding my mistake I called it Lake Wellington.     On the nutrgin of the

       lake I fell in with large hordes of blacks, who immediately on seeing us made for the scrub and disappeared.

       " On the 22nd I discovered the River Avon, and found that I had been at the place where it enters Lake Wellington the day previous. I followed the River Avon upwards all day, and crossed it in the evening about two miles from the mountains. The country where we crossed the Avon consists of beautiful rich open plains, and seemed, as far as I could judge at the time, to extend to the foot of the mountains. I encamped on these plains for the night. From our encampment we had a splendid view of the ranges, the loftiest of which I named Mount Wellington. I named several others, which are now marked in the Government maps of Gipps Land.

       " 22nd.—Left the encampment in the plains near the Avon, and proceeded on our usual course south-west. Travelled over a beautiful country, consisting of fine open plains, intersected by occasional belts of open forest, stretching as far as the lakes on one side to the eastward, and away to the foot of the mountains towards west and north. After travelling all day, we encamped on the banks of a stream which I called the MacAlister. This river appeared deep and rapid, and about forty yards wide. Here we saw an immense number of signs of the natives in every direction.

    

  
    
       " 23rd.—Started early in the morning, and attempted to cross the MacAlister, but did not succeed: followed the river down to its junction with another river, now called the La Trobe, which river is bordered on both sides by an immense morass. In and about these morasses to the north-east of the river we saw some hundreds of the natives, who, on our approach, burnt their camps, and betook themselves to the scrub. We, however, managed to overtake an old man that could not walk fast. To him I gave a knife and a pair of trousers, and endeavoured by all means in my power to open a communication with the blacks through him, but they would not come near us. It was amusing to see the old man, after shaking hands with all the party, walking up to the horses and shaking each of them by the bridle, thinking the same form necessary to be gone through with them as with us. The only ornaments he had about him were three human hands, either men's or women's, beautifully preserved, suspended from his neck. We were busy all the evening trying to strip a bark canoe to cross the river in, but we were disappointed, as the bark would not strip without breaking.

       " On the morning of the 28th, our provisions having come to a very low ebb, we held a consultation, and as some of the party did not appear willing to prosecute our journey further on short allowance, I determined on returning to the station at Numtla-mungu, and bringing down stock to the district.    We returned

       to the station, which we made in seven days from the day we left the La Trobe River. When I started from Numtlamungu on my expedition I had no guide, neither had any white man preceded me, and the only instrument I had to guide me was a pocket compass. We had nothing but pack-horses to carry our provisions, and did not enjoy even the luxury of a common tent, making rough gunyahs wherever we encamped.

       " On the 27th March, 1840, Count Streleskie and his party left our station at Numtlamungu for  Caledonia Australis.    We   j

       supplied him with some provisions and a camp-kettle.  Matthew   "*

       McAlister, who had been with me in my expedition in January, went one day's journey with him (the Count) and his party, and explained to them the nature of the country at the various fordable places on the rivers he had crossed during our expedition, and left them on the following day on my tracks on the coast range leading to Gipps Land, and which tracks Charley, the Sydney black, who accompanied Count Streleskie, said he could easily follow.

       *' On my return to Numtlamungu, after having discovered Oipps Land as far as the La Trobe River, on 31st January, I proceeded immediately to Maneroo, and reported my discovery to Mr. T. McAlister, who did not make my report to him public. I wrote a letter to a friend at Sydney at the time I made my report to Mr. McAlister, giving him an account of the excursion, and every circumstance connected with it, but it appeared that my letter miscarried.

       " In August, 1839, after a long and tedious journey, I crossed the Australian Alps with a dray from Sydney. During this excursion there was a fearftil snow-storm in the mountains, which I got through with much difficulty, the dray traiUng on the snow for three days. However, we arrived at Omio without any accident, but from having no tent we suffered severely whilst on the ranges. After settling a station on the Tambo River, I started again with the dray and seven men to clear a road for it to the new country, having formerly marked out what I considered to be the best route to take. We had been clearing our way for three weeks, when I received instructions from Mr. L. MacAlister that I was to form no more stations until I found my way to Comer Inlet. I then received instructions from Lieutenant Ross, R.N., with whom I was to form a party, to prosecute our way to the Inlet.

       " On Tuesday, the 14th July, I made one of a party consisting of Lieutenant Ross, Mr. M. McAlister, Edward Bath, John MacLaren, and Jack the black boy, and in twelve days we succeeded in getting to the Glengarry or La Trobe River, higher up than where I made on my former trip. We made several attempts to get our horses across this beautiful stream, but did

       not succeed. We considered it dangerous to proceed further, it being the winter season, and the rivers very much swollen. We began retracing our steps on the 30th July. I at once made up my mind to disobey orders, and take possession of the country to which I had already cleared a road at a fearful expense and labour. In October, 1840, I arrived in this new country with the first draft of cattle, and formed a station on the River Avon. I again tried to find my way to the Inlet, but was disappointed. After crossing the La Trobe high up, and getting within sixteen miles of Corner Inlet, we came to a dense scrub, which we found impossible to cut our way through, having lost one of our tomahawks and broken another; we were then on the vast end of the ranges, called Tom's Cap. I got back to the station on the Avon after an absence of fourteen days, but still determined to have another trial at Comer Inlet, for the oftener I was disappointed the more anxious I became to obtain the object I had in view, as by evQry failure I gained experience. Immediately after my return to the station, I started for Maneroo to get protection from the Commissioner of Crown Lands, but he would not or could not grant my request, but remarked that I must protect myself. On my way back to the station I was informed that my party had been driven out of the new country by the wild blacks, which I found to be too true. Mr. M. MacAlister, whom I had left in charge of the party, had a very narrow escape; six of the blacks attacked him at once, and deprived him of his gun. They were obliged to give way to the blacks, who pursued them for twenty-five miles. Thus I found the cattle were left at the mercy of the blacks. I started at once for the station, accompanied by Dr. Harbuckle, John McDonald, old Bath, Cohn MacLaren, and three others, seven in all; had a desperate skirmish with the natives.

       " On the 9th Feb^, 1841,1 started again for Corner Inlet, accompanied by T. McAiister, four stockmen, and my black boy. I had become by this time an expert bushman. My little party being all volunteers, who took great delight in being with me on my exploring excursions, and having told them that I had instructions from my employer to abandon the new country unless I discovered a harbour, they all declared they would follow me through thick and thin, and do or die this time. I knew they were to be depended upon, as they had fought by my side in defending our Uves and property most faithfully on former occasions.

       "On the 11th February we crossed the Glengarry or La Trobe River; it took us a day to cut our path through the scrub to Tom's Cap (a hill named after Mr. T. MacAlister's headdress).     I obtained a splendid view of  Wilson s Promontory

       and the Inlet. On the 12th camped at Bruden Creek, on the 13th camped on the banks of the Tarra, and on the 14th crossed the Tarra and got to the Inlet at the old port. This was a happy day, having accomplished my object. I had great cause to be thankful to Him who guided me and shielded me from many a danger.

       " I arrived back on the station on the 20th, and in May, 1841, I succeeded in getting my dray to Port Albert, after three weeks' hard work clearing the way to there. My bullock driver, James Lawrence, was the lion of the party, having driven the same dray from Sydney.

       " Mr. Townsend, the Government Surveyor that explored this district after me, followed my road from Port Albert to Maneroo. Mr. Townsend had instructions from Sir Thomas Mitchell, the Surveyor-Cleneral, to establish all the names I had given to the most remarkable places in the country I travelled over. As a foreign importer, the Count had no claim on the discoveries of another. A few of the mountains were named by Mr. Townsend, viz.. Mount Useful (Mount Batta is a native name). The most conspicuous mountain he named after me— Mount McMillan—afterwards changed by Mr. Tyers, one of the commissioners, to Castle Hill, which I consider piracy.

       " The Port Albert Company landed at Port Albert on the 16th March, 1841, and named the port. A party of them followed my tree-marked road from the port to the plains. They named the Tarra after a black that was with them, who first discovered my marked trees on its banks which led them to the creek. This company consisted of some squatters and merchants from Melbourne; one of them, Mr. Orr of Melbourne, has a special survey between the Albert and the Yarra, and claims that he was the discoverer of that port; whereas Mr. Flinders had the entrance to that port marked on his chart. There was a station formed by Mr. K. Wilkinson at Buchan in April, 1839. Buchan was first discovered by Mr. Baylop in the beginning of the year 1839. There are three other stations on the Snowy River, not far from the coast. I am not familiar with the nature of the country there. Dr. Mueller, I consider, gives a true report of it.

       ** I was not at home when the Count called at our station at the time he came to this district, but I have every reason to believe that he or Mr. MacArthur, who accompanied him, were aware of my discoveries before they arrived at my place. Pray excuse this hurried but true scrawl. I will be always happy to furnish you with any information that you may require witn regard to  Caledonia Atistralis,  and trust you will establish that name.   «v   x   i

       " - BoNwicK. Es,.»     Y°""  "^'y  ^"'^y'     " A.  McMillan."

       Soon after this story was sent, Mr. McMillan and his expedition got reported on in the  Argus  newspaper. Mr. James MitcArthur was induced to send a communication to the Melbourne paper, explanatory of the part he, in conjunction with the Polish count, took in the discovery. The letter was as follows:—

       "Sir, —I observe in your valuable journal of yesterday an account of the entertainment lately given to Mr. M'Millan as the discoverer of Gipps Land. Without wishing in the slightest degree to detract from or diminish the credit due to that gentleman for his exertions as one of the first explorers, I feel that I have also some right to claim a share at least in the explorations which led to the successful occupation of that fine district.

       "In the winter of the year 1839 I accompanied my friend Captain Harding, then in command of H.M.S.  Felorus,  to Van Diemen's Land. Returning from Hobart Town to Sydney, our party on board was increased by the addition of mv friend the late John Blaxland, jun., Esq., of Newington, New South Wales. Passing the eastern end of Bass's Straits we encountered a very heavy N.E. gale, which lasted several days. The bright beautiful weather that succeeded the gale found us driven far to the west of Cape Howe.

       "When running along the coast Mr. Blaxland and I both observed that the mountains receded considerably inland towards Wilson's Promontory, and we both agreed that it was likely that a valuable grazing country existed between the mountains and the coast

       " I then determined to form an expedition from Sydney to explore the country between Omeo and Port Phillip.

       " On arriving in Sydney I met Count Strezlecki, a scientific explorer of considerable experience in other parts of the world (and whose name has since been so honourably associated in the gratuitous distribution of the Irish relief fund). I mentioned my intention to him, and he promised to join me whenever I was prepared.

       " I mentioned also my intention to my old friend Mr. Lachlan M'Alister, and from his withholding all information from me, I have hitherto assumed that at that time he was really ignorant of the fine grazing country that his friend Mr. McMillan subsequently occupied with his (Mr. M'Alister's) stock.

       "Mr. M*Millan's actual dates, as published in your journal, and which I now learn for the first time, will leave our respective steps in the discovery of Gipps Land recorded beyond any further dispute.

       " My party consisted of Couat Strezlecki, James Kiley, Esq., now of Geelong, and myself, accompanied by two servants, and ray aboriginal black fellow named Charles Tarra, from Taralga, near Groulbum Plains.

       " The entire outfit of the expedition was borne principally by me, and cost me upwards of  5001.

       " Mr. Biley and I left Paramatta on the 17th January, 1840. Count Strezlecki and his servant, with one pack-horse, joined us at Gunong, near Goulbum Plains, on the 5th February. We reached my stations near the Tumat on the 11th February; from thence I despatched a party overland to meet me in Melbourne, under the charge of Mr. Hector M'Kay, now residing at Bacchus Marsh.

       **We started from Ellerslie on the afternoon of the 2nd March, 1840, and on the 26th March passed Mr. M'Alister s station beyond Omeo Plains. Here we found Mr. M'Millan absent, but received much kind attention and aid from young Mr. M'Alister. From him we learned that Mr. M'Millan had penetrated to a fine grazing country about a week previously (in the direction we intended travelling), but the party had been obliged to return for want of provisions.

       " Thus far Mr. M'Millan had ascertained the existence of a grazing country: we occasionally saw his tracks up to our fording of the river Riley, on the 6th of April, beyond this point we saw no further trace of any party having preceded us.

       " On the 12th April we entered the beautiful plains called by Count Strezlecki after our mutual friend Colonel Barney. On the 15 th April we left the open and entered the densely-wooded country, and struggled on till the 27th, when we were compelled to abandon our horses. We then proceeded on our way, without provisions, except the Cholahs^ we shot, till the 12th May; on that day we reached the old settlement at Western Port. We were there kindly entertained by a resident named Berry, Mr. Boss, now of Heidelberg, and Messrs. Massie and Anderson, then occupying that country. We remained some days at Western Port, regaining our exhausted strength, and then travelled on foot to Melbourne. The result of our journey was immediately published, and a party started from Melbourne by sea to connect our exploration with Corner Inlet. I allowed Charles Tarra to accompany this expedition, and he subse-' quently returned through Gipps Land with Mr. Surveyor Townsend.

       " Mr. M'Millan's dates are:—

       "First exploration reaching Mount McLeod, now the Haystack, on the  30th   of  May, 1839.    After many subsequent

       > Cholah, or native bear, a species of sloth.

       unsuccessful attempts, he started on the 9th February, 1841, and reached the old port on the 14th February. In the May following he succeeded in taking down a dray: a reference to the files of the  Port Phillip Patriot  will afford you any further information.

       " I furnish you with these particulars without the slightest wish to detract from the energy and perseverance displayed by Mr. M'Millan. At the same time I feel that I have the right of at least participating in the honour of exploration, and of having been the first, by publication of our discoveries, to open the immediate occupation of the important district of Gipps Land to the enterprise of the then infant colony of Victoria.

       " I remain. Sir, yours faithfully,

       "James M'Arthur."

       Here we have the attempt to reconcile some apparent differences. Strzelecki's party were at Mr. McMillan's place at the end of March, 1840, reaching Western Port on the 12th of May, a twelvemonth  after  Mr. McMillan's discovery of the first part of Gipps Land, but some months  before  he got through the district to the Port. The question of priority of discovery is one of region. It was the misfortune of the Scot that he did not get his discovery made public so soon as the Pole did. Not unnaturally, it was reported that the negligence in writing was due to the desire of occupying the fine country before the news got too far. Delay or miscarriage of letters caused the country to be called  Gipps Land  rather than  Caledonia Australis.  Of the splendid ardour and perseverance in Mr. McMillan too much cannot be said. It is to such pioneers as he that Australia has been indebted for the grandest revelations of its magnificent resources.

       Gipps Land, according to another correspondent of the author's, owes more to Mr. McMillan than to the Count. According to his authority, it was in May, 1839, that he succeeded " in reaching the Gipps Land Mount Pisgah, and with joy beheld the rich plains displayed in all their teeming splendour at his feet."

       " On his return," writes our informant,  ['  to the station, Mr. McMillan wrote to his patron, Mr. McAlister, of Sydney, an account of his discovery, requesting that the means of occupying and further realising his valuable discovery might be afforded him.    Furnished with the necessary appliances, our discoverer
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       set out in September of the same year (1839), and formed a station on the Tambo River. The further investigation of the plains was prosecuted in a journey commenced in December, which terminated by the interference of very serious obstacles, and the destruction of his pack-horses. Not, however, to be deterred by ordinary obstructions, our heroic adventurer, having recruited his forces, provisions, and stores, renewed the attempt in January, 1840; and, having surveyed the Lakes, now called Victoria, together with the Plains, reached the River Latrobe, giving the name of McArthur to the extensive plains, then for the first time traversed. Strongly reminded of" the land of brown heath and shaggy woods, land of mountain and the flood," Mr. McMillan named the country  Caledonia Australis, and, turning at the River Latrobe or Qlengary, made his home on the Tambo again for a little respite from his labours.

       "Mr. McAlister, under an impression that he required assistance to stock the magnificent country discovered, imparted information to Mr. McArthur, of Camden (N. S. W.), which induced Count Strzelecki, to whom he communicated his secret, to undertake the journey on which that traveller founds his claims as the discoverer of Qipps Land. Accompanied by Mr. James McArthur, the Count reached Western Port in May, 1840, having followed the marks left by his predecessor, Mx. McMillan, over many parts of his route. Mr. Matthew McAlister, who received Count Strzelecki at the Tambo station, accompanied the Count a day's journey, led by the already marked trees, and left him, confident that he could follow the traces of Mr. McMillan s discoveries. Meantime Mr. McMillan was on the road with the stock intended for the occupation of the country, which stock naturally occupied the country less than a month after the Count's party had passed through it. Having placed his stock in comfort and safety, and still under the impression that Strzelecki had failed to complete what he (Mr. McMillan) considered his own undertaking, Mr. McMillan after several persevering, energetic attempts, succeeded in discovering the Old Port, on the 14th of February, 1841, marked a road thence to the plains of Qipps Land, crossing River Latrobe above Rose-dale, which road was immediately traced and followed by a party from Melbourne, who came prepared to take advantage of the country laid open by their energetic predecessor. This party landed on the spot already marked by Mr. McMillan."

       The.official report concerning the discovery of Gipps Land was forwarded to England by Governor Gipps, and is called "Report by Count Streleski."  This version of the traveller s name is better known in the colonies, being more readily  pronounced _than the  more  correct one of  StrzelecJd.

       -- ^

       The third division of that report deals with Port Pliillip, and is as follows:—

       " At 17 miles from Omeo, to the S.S.E., and at the crossing of the dividing range, begins the third division, which the meridian 148° limits from the N.E.; the sea coast and the dividing range from E and W.; Corner Inlet and Western Port from the S. and S.W.—^a division which, on account of its extensive riches as a pastoral country, its open forests, its inland navigation, rivers, timber, climate, proximity to the sea coast, probable outlets, and more than probable boat and small craft harbours, its easy land communication, the neighbourhood of Corner Inlet and Western Port, the gradual elevation, more hilly than mountainous, and, finally, on account of the cheering prospects to future settlers which this country holds out, and which it was my lot to discover, I took the liberty of naming, in honour of His Excellency the Governor,  Gipps Land,

       " Few of the parts explored presented^ me with more gratifying prospects than this division, A beautiful stream, Uie first of the eastern waters, winding through a fine valley, soon assuming the features of a river, seems to be at the entrance of this division from Lake Omeo as a guide into that country hitherto untrodden by white man. Its source is already marked by Mr. Buckler s and Mr. McAlister s cattle stations, the first two pioneers into Gipps Land : its farther course by a fine hilly country which shuts up the valley, narrows the flanks of the river, and brings the explorer across the tops of its ridges to a culminant one, which opens a fine view of the sea in a distant horizon to S.E., a fine undulating country to the S. and E., mountains and ridged country to the N.E. Progressing further, approaching or receding from the river, according to the windings of its bordering hills, the descent into a fine forest country is ultimately effected. The river, after a course of 70 miles from Buckler s station, empties itself into a large oblong lagoon, 100 feet broad, which in its turn joins a fine lake bordering on the sea coast.

       " Following the course of that lagoon, I came on a second ot the same width and form, with a flowing creek at its head, and from thence to a third longer than either, of about 300 yards in width, spreading its waters in a majestic river-like shape. For about 22 miles I went along its windings till its head terminated in a clear river 20 yards broad, running from the high westerly protuberances of the dividing range, having a gravelly bottom and steep hills for its banks. Its crossing place, N. not chosen, but taken, was not, perhaps, in the most advisable spot; we were obliged, for the safety of the horses, to carry all the parcels on our own shoulders up the opposite bank; but it opened at
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       once an entrance to a richly-clothed hilly country, which, sloping to S., brought to view an extensive valley, and a third and finely supplied river. The three days and a haLF halt afiforded a survey of the surrounding country,

       " The banks of the lagoons were accessible, and their waters, except the middle one, fresh; all deep, and clear of timber; they seemed stationary; proving, however, on a closer and attentive examination, to be slightly afTected by the action of the tide, and of the streams they receive.

       " The lake for fifteen miles exhibited a fine sheet of water; but, from the want of boats, I was^not successful in ascertaining its junction with the sea; from the high tops of mountains a winding and broad sea channel only could be seen, the telescope not detecting any bank or bar across it.

       " I took upon myself to name this lake. Lake King, in com-

       ?liment to Capt. P. P. Kiug, R.N.; the first river. River 'homson, in compliment to Mr. Deas Thomson, Colonial Secretary ; and the two last tributaries to the lake by the names of my companions. Rivers Riley and McArthur.

       " From the dividing range onwards the trigonometrical survey ceased on account of local difficulties; and the observations of latitude and longitude, with such bearings as might more accurately determine all the most important points, took place. Accordingly, the course of the River Thomson, the position of Lake King, that of River Riley and River McArthur were thus determined, as were all the subsequent points of the country I passed through.

       " On leaving River McArthur and its beautiful valley, spreading deep and wide its luxuriant pasture, the country assumed in the direction of S.W. by W. a slope of fine forest, gradually, almost insensibly, descending to the sea coast; it enabled me to maintain for days a crow-fly direction. At 35 miles from it I came to a fourth river; at 12 miles further to a fifth; at 4 more to a sixth river, the largest of the three, which, receiving the two former, followed the declivity or fall of the country to the S.E. sea coast. In compliment to Capt. Perry, of the surveying department; to Capt. Dunlop, of Paramatta Observatory ; and Major Barney, of the Royal Engineers, I designated the last three rivers by the names of the River Perry, River Dunlop, and River Barney; the plains contiguous to the River Barney, one of about 30 square miles, the second about 50, received the name of Barney Plains.

       ** These rivers, rising in the dividing range, plentifully supplied with water, having a gravelly bottom, accessible banks, and in the shallowest place an average of about three feet water, when taken with the view of the mountains, Qisbome Mount and the other tops bordering the distant horizon to the N.W., the fine

       undulating and pastoral hilly country on the foreground of the two level plains, the coast range of open forest, which to the S.E. of these plains begins to emerge, oifer perhaps the most picturesque and the richest spot of Qipps Land.

       " From these plains my S.W. course brought me through 20 miles of a fine forest country, exceeding, in point of pasture, any I met on my route, to the foreground of the dividing range, which, with the coast range, narrows the expanse of level and forest country, and lessens it into a fine and vast valley. Soon the hills, richly clothed, began to intercept my direct course; the willow scrub, with which the seventh river at that point is firinged, finally rendered it impracticable. I sought, and aft^r two days effected, a crossing place, where the adjacent hills head the scrub. I crossed a fine body of running water, and in 14 miles more, resuming the direction of Corner Inlet, came to the eighth river, the largest of all. I took the liberty to call the latter, in compliment to His Honour C. J. Latrobe, River Latrobe, naming the other after Capt. Maconochie, R.N., River Maconochie.

       " Both rivers change the aspect of Gipps Land; the River Maconochie is almost a boundary between the valleys and hilly grounds of the S.W., and the flat or undulating forest extending to the N.E. On the River Latrobe these rich plains are no more to be seen ; wide and deep valleys to the N.W. and W., hilly ranges to the S. and S.W., innumerable creeks, and the exuberant vegetation of a moist and untouched soil, take their place. In the vicinity of River Latrobe, and before proceeding farther, all possible means were put in requisition to get an insight into the physical structure of the country. The characteristic features of the panoramic view are the dividing range as running from N.W. to S JI. on Wilson's Promontory, which a culminant point of the neighbourhood showed; a spur, detached from its main body, which, from S.W. heading to E. and M.E., crowns all this quarter with summits of moderate elevation, bordering the sea coast from one side to the other, embracing with the main range these extensive valleys to N.E. and W. The observation of latitude, longitude, variation and bearings, determined the course of the last two rivers, their junction, and the passage forced through the coast range into the sea.

       " From the River Latrobe, the course to Comer Inlet was resumed; the utter exhaustion, however, of the horses began to impede our progress; in a few days, after crossing the river, it was necessary to abandon them. The men, too, who for five weeks had been already on half allowance (one biscuit and a slice of bacon per day), manifested symptoms of wear and tear, which, coupled with the loss of the six horses and packs, and the remainder of our provisions being only sufiScient for four

       days, forced me with regret to relinquish our intended course, and to take the nearest one to Western Port, where new supplies might have enabled me to prosecute my researches into the geognostic nature of the coast range, and also that of inlets, outlets, or harbours.

       " The direct course which necessity obliged us to pursue led us, during 22 days of almost complete starvation, through a scrubby and, for exhausted men, a trying country, which, however, for its valuable timber of Bluegum and Blackbutt has no parallel in the colony. The ascent of the dividing range was gradual, the descent towards Western Port easy; all the great protuberances which characterise that range elsewhere, either in elevation or windings, or bold features among the spurs and ramifications, began to cease. Some minor spurs on the western side of that range formed an extensive valley to the N. W. of my route, almost opposite to that watered by the River Latrobe on the eastern side of the range. Some others, which, on ulterior examination, proved to be divisions of creeks running in the direction of Cape Liptrap and Western Port, were the sole elevations composing the rest of the fine undulating country through which I passed.

       " The result of a barometrical survey gave to Gipps Land, on the line drawn between the dividing range and the sea coast from the N.E. to the latitude 38° 8', 210 feet average elevation above the level of the sea; and to the highest protuberance of the hilly country on that, from the latitude 38 8', and longitude across the dividing range in the direction of Western Port, 2,150 feet.

       "The magnetic needle presented here the same unaccountable variation as that observed and noted in the second geognostic division. From latitude 36° 54' to 37° 48', almost along the meridian 148, the variation from 3° east increased to 30° east; from 37° 48' S.W. by S. across 2° of longitude to 38° 22' descended to 12°. Everywhere the examination of the locality has been attend ad to; and, as the variation could only have been ascertained by an azimuth observation, the A.M. and P.BC on the same day as a check has been frequently resorted to.

       "The meteorological table kept dunng the journey bears the most satisfactory testimony to the climate of Oipps Land. It shows that at 9 o'clock in the morning the temperature of 68° of Fahrenheit of the ambient air was nearly the same as the mean of the two months' observation; that the breezes alternately blowing to and from the land are the prevailing winds ; that by the primitive condition of its undisturbed vegetation, sufficient moisture is contained in the soil and external air, the evaporation is checked, or, in comparison to the other parts of the colony, is very trifling.

       "The geognostic observation showed some interesting facts relative to the mineralogical character of the country. After the primitive formation of gneiss and sienitic rocks, bordering it from the N.W., follows alluvial deposit, consisting of those beds of clay, sand, gravel, pebbles, fragments of diflferent rocks, various organic remains, which the banks of rivers, the bottoms of valleys and sea coast range exhibit, and which constitute the largest formation of this division/'

       CHAPTER XXVI.

       THE   BLACK   QUESTION.

       Batman  and the Association rested their claims mainly upon the fact of their just and henevolent treatment of the aborigines of Port Phillip. Their conduct not only gained the goodwill of the dark race, but the approval of honourable men in England and the colonies, official or not. The Government, however, could not sanction a treaty with those whose rights in the soil had been systematically ignored elsewhere. What might have been the effect had the Port Phillip Association, like the South, Australian and New ifealand Companies, been secured in possession of territory, we cannot say; but, as they were thrown overboard by the State, the natives saw them powerless to protect. On the other hand, outsiders came on, indifferent to Batman's claims or treaty, and brought their flocks to any spot that pleased them, without reference to the tribes near, and often in undisguised hostility to the wild hunters.

       The consequences of such reckless appropriation of pastures were foreseen and described by Batman, Wedge, and Gelli-brand. So long as the spirit of Batman's dealings remained, confidence was maintained, and scarcely an instance of outrage occurred near the Yarra. But, at a distance, where less prudence and fairness were practised by the whites, and where the blacks were more ignorant and resentful, conflicts early commenced. It has long been accepted as a principle that  new countries cannot be possessed without bloodshed.

       Visitors to the Yarra were generally pleased with the natives. One, writing thence to the  Zaunceston Chronicle,  May 10th, 1836, says:—
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       " Nothing can interest a stranger more tlian the appearance, manners, and language of the natives. The settlement is seldom without a few of them, and often 150 and 200 have been here together for several days. They are formed into tribes of greater or smaller numbers, and it is seldom that the whole tribe come here together. The Jaga Jaga tribe are said to be the most powerful of any. The men are generally fine, tall, well-made fellows, and the physiognomy and general appearance by no means disagreeable. The tribe is said to muster 450. They are very fond of flour, bread in any shape, and will use most of the victuals that the whites do. Milk, spirits, wine, or malt liquors they will not taste; a few have learned to smoke." A  Traveller  wrote the next month thus to the paper: "The natives at present are of a harmless disposition. How long they may remain so, from the barbarities inflicted on them, is another question. They are perfectly naked, with the exception of a kangaroo or opossum rug, which hangs over their shoulders. Happily for them, they dislike ardent spirits, and have no relish for any animal food except the kangaroo. As yet they are unacquainted with that cursed weed, tobacco. They roam at large from place to place, have no huts, but at night light a fire, around which they sleep with their feet turned towards it. They have no idea of numbers, being able to count no further than their fingers and toes."

       Such primitive simplicity could not last long. The taste for mutton came when a fellow tempted a lubra thereby; and for rum, when sinister designs were contemplated on her, or rights purchased from the husband. The virtues of smoke were appreciated with the other tokens of civilisation. Some got to prefer sheep to kangaroo, failing to recognise any special ownership. This weakness, or stupidity, brought bullets and spears into action. Forcible appropriation of women by rough shepherds led, also, to the use of arms.

       In the author's  Discovery arid Settlement of Port Phillip the earliest atrocities are mentioned. The murder of Mr. Franks excited the most attention, and aroused the strongest feeling. The plunder of sheep was often followed by indiscriminate massacre, especially in one notorious instance westward of Lake Colac, where hundreds were shot or brained. Had the tribute system been generally adopted, security might have been gained, as with the payment of  black mail  to hill-men elsewhere. At any rate, whatever there was of a sense   of  right   in   the   aboriginal   mind,   or  any  force   of

       public opinion, would have then operated in the restraint of violence. The servants of the Association were under special contract to treat the wild people well, but those belonging to other squatters acted as if free of such obligations. Had not terrible punishment promptly visited the much weaker party, the war between the races would have been more prolong^ and deadly. Port Phillip was so long neglected by the authorities, while official correspondence wearily went on, that the marvel is that so few disorders appeared in those lawless days. The native difficulty was brought under the official notice of the Colonial Secretary of Van Diemen's Land in a letter by Mr. Wedge. It was dated March 15th, 1836, and was addressed from " B^arpurt, Port Phillip," the name by which the settlement ^"ft" ^Tw>wn in pre-Melbuurne times.

       " Since my late arrival at this place, I have learned that a flagrant outrage has been committed upon the natives of Western Port by a party of men employed in collecting bark—the details of which I feel myself called upon, as one of the parties associated for their protection, to communicate to you, for the information of the Lieut.-Qovernor, in the hope that His Excellency will recommend to the Oovemor in Chief to take such steps as he may deem necessary to prevent a repetition of such acts of aggression on a harmless and unoffending race of men, who have evinced the most earnest desire since our intercourse with them (iipwards of nine months) to maintain the friendly understanding that has been established.

       " A few weeks since, William Buckley heard that the men employed in collecting bark had attacked the natives, and wounded several of them; but doubts being entertained by some of the correctness of the report, Buckley despatched messengers to request that the wounded 'natives might be brought to this place, and on the 11th instant the families arrived, emd on visiting their huts I found that four individuals had received gunshot wounds. It appears that the natives were fired upon soon after sunrise, whilst lying in their huts, and one young girl, about thirteen years of age, was wovmded in both her thighs, the ball passing through one into the other, grazing the bone in its passage, which has so far disabled her at the present moment that her parents were obliged to carry her on their backs from Western Port to this place, a distance of about thirty miles, and it is apprehended that she will not recover the use of her legs. To rescue this poor girl, the mother took her in her arms, and in carrying her away was fired at and wounded in her arm and shoulder with buckshot.    Notwithstanding this inhuman attack,

       the natives persisted in removing the girl, and two more of them, a girl and a boy, also received wounds. About a year and a half ago a similar attack was made upon the natives, and four of their women were taken from them; and it is to be lamented that the like outrages have been committed upon the aborigines at Portland Bay and other whaling stations; and, unless some measures be adopted to protect the natives, a spirit of hostility will be created against the whites which in all probability vrill lead to a state of warfare between them and the aborigines, which will only terminate when the Black Man shall cease to exist. Trusting that the necessary measures will be adopted to prevent a recurrence of such scenes,

       " I have the honour to be, &c.,

       " J. H.  Wedge."

       Mr. Wedge was more than an exploring surveyor. He was one of the few enthusiasts in favour of the dark race. Sincerely interested in their fate, he battled well for the assertion of their rights, and constantly laboured to shield them from harm, and to make them happy. And yet he was no vehement controversialist, no violent politician. Too gentle for debate, too kindly for conflict, he left the contest with government to others, and sadly retired from an association he knew established on sound principles, when he found it inoperative from the antagonism it aroused. But he continued through life faithful to the memory of John Batman, a quiet protestor against attacks upon his friend's good name, and devotedly true, like him, to the dark sons of the forest.

       When on his visit to England, in 1840, he held correspondence with some well-known anti-slavery advocates, and those interested in coloured races, from his intense desire to save the New Hollanders of Port Phillip from the sorrows and horrors he had seen resting upon the poor Tasmanians. Lord Oranmore and Sir Fowell Buxton aided his efforts to gain the ear of Lord Bussell. In his first letter to Sir Fowell, the philanthropist, addressed from Six Mile Bottom, Newmarket, July 24th, 1840, he said:—

       " At the recommendation of Lord Oranmore, and presuming on the interest you take in behalf of the suffering aborigines, I take the liberty of sending an extract of a letter from my nephew who has charge of my flocks at Port Phillip, and my reply thereto, relative to the ho?tilir.y growing up between the

       settlers and the native tribes in Australia, as well as a copy of a letter I propose sending to the Right Hon. the Secretary of State for the Colonies. The circumstances alluded to, unless prompt and efficient measures are established by the Government, will, I fear, lead to a war of extermination. I have felt it, therefore, my duty to communicate accurate information, and without reserve, as one interested, not only as a colonist, but also in behalf of the much injured natives, imagining it would be alike acceptable to the Government, and to those who are taking an active and leading part in support of the claims of the aborigines for Protection."

       It was through that medium he sought the attention of Lord John RusselL But in his letter to Lord Oranmore, on December 7th, 1839, he unfolds his scheme for the service of Port Phillip natives. As his appeal was undoubtedly the direct means by which such protection was secured, and so had such important bearings upon the early history of Port Phillip, the reference to it in this letter is interesting:—

       "  My Lord, —In the early part of this year I took the liberty of addressing a letter to Lord Glenelg, then Secretary of State for the Colonies, drawing his lordship's attention to the great danger to be apprehended, that a feeling of hostility would spring up between the colonists of New Holland and the aborigines of that country, and* the disastrous consequences likely to result from it. I also took the liberty of suggesting that the Grovemment had it in its power to prevent in New Holland the perpetration of the same appalling events which took place in Van Diemen's Land previous to tne removal of the natives to Flinders Island, notwithstanding the efforts of the Colonial Government to prevent it, I was induced to forward the letter to a private friend of his lordship's for delivery; but, from some cause or other, the letter did not arrive at its destination. I subsequently addressed a letter to the same purport, and through the same channel, to the Marquis of Normanby. Whether the pressing and important business which claimed his lordship's attention, whilst at the head of the colonial department, prevented his lordship's noticing the communication, or whether it met the same fate as my first letter, I have had no means of ascertaining.

       " It is a subject deeply interesting, embracing as it does the fate of so many fellow-creatures, whether they are to be shot and exterminated, like wild dogs (for such I fear will be the result should the hostility which I anticipate arise between the natives and the settlers, and opposed as their interests are to

       each other it is but too likely to occur), or brought into the pale of civilised society. I therefore venture to inquire of your lordship whether the letter has been received at the Colonial Office. I am the more encouraged to trouble your lordship on this subject, as the appointment of individuals as 'Protectors of the Aborigines' is an evidence of the wish of Government to avert the evils to which I have alluded, and from which I infer that the Qovemment is anxious to obtain information on the subject

       " I respectfully submit, necessary as such appointments were, that any measure that does not embrace the making it to the interest of the settlers to render assistance to the Government in bringing the natives to civilised and industrious habits, thereby preparing their minds for the reception of religious instruction, will fail to accomplish the philanthropic intentions of the Government. I therefore earnestly appeal to your lordship, entreating that the subject of my communication may be taken into consideration, being not only necessary for the welfare of the natives, but also for the peace and prosperity of the colonists."

       Sir T. Fowell Buxton, on August 26th, 1840, apologised for the apparent neglect of Mr. Wedge's letter to Lord Russell, on the ground of his own long and severe indisposition, and the heavy engagements of the Colonial Secretary towards the end of the session. He delayed the presentation of the letter till his lordship's return to London. In conclusion he wrote:—" Begging to thank you for allowing me to see your papers, and approving generally of your views with regard to the aborigines, I am, &c."

       The introduction of the Protectorate system, under Mr. Robinson, the pacificator of the Tasraanians, followed the protests of such men as Mr. Wedge, and tardily came in the interests of justice and peace. The Protector cites one instance among many of the effect of kind treatment, saying:—

       " I was glad to find the natives favourable on the Norton. They had been troublesome, and large numbers of sheep, despite the vigilance of the shepherds, stolen. Subsequently the manager conciliated the tribes of the locality, and encouraged them; and, at the time of my visit, they were friendly and well disposed.    Some were usefully employed."

       Whichever side of the shield we survey, wrong-doing is apparent.    With the rude notions of the savage respecting

       neighbours, it was not surprising that the supposed invasion of their districts should have been resented, especially after a taste of mutton. They who first took up a new country had to conciliate or terrify the tribes. In driving sheep through a region only tenanted by wild men, and those who had been neither conciliated nor terrified, danger might be expected. They who suffered from such attacks had a natural cause for anger and an incitement to revenge. When an apparently inoffensive man, as a solitary shepherd, was assaulted, a great indignation arose. The natives, however, were accustomed to avenge a wrong upon any one belonging to the tribe of the offender. The Christians were not behind the savages in retaliating upon those who had no part in the outrage, but who owned the dark colour of some marauder. Drink and disease, more than bullets and police, have diminished outrages. The tribesmen are rapidly dying off, and no children take their places. The many thousands have dwindled to a few score, and the Yarra banks echo only to the  coo-ee  of white fellows.

       The change to the natives by this occupation of Port Phillip is thus described in Hewitt's  Native Woman*8 Lamtnt,  written in 1841 :—

       ** When he was weak and we were strong,

       The white man's sonl was warmth and light; With friendly smiles and gentle tongue, He talked of reason and of right.

       " He asked of us, in language meek,

       Where flocks and herds might well abide ; We led to river and to creek,

       Fair streams, and pastures green and wide.

       ** He heard the river-bird content

       Peal its sweet bells along the wave ; He by the Yarra pitched his tent, And to us wondrous food he gave.

       ** But now they rise on every hand,

       As clouds o'er heaven that move and spread ; They thrust our living from the land, Aiid build their domes upon our dead*

       ** Now they are many—we are few,

       Still brightly shine the sun and moon ; The white man bears an altered hue— His soul and face arc dark at noon.

       *'  The white man tells us where to go, He tells us where to turn and stand*; Where our own creeks and rivers flow. In their old freedom, through the land.

       "His flocks and herds our forests fill; A thousand woods we wander through. And hunger—yet we may not kill The white man's woolly kangaroo.

       *' O sorrow ! weary little one! O helpless and ill-fated child I The food, the life, the land is gone-^ And we roust perish in the wild !"

       CHAPTER XXVII.

       NARRATIVES   OF   OLD   HANDS.

       The  author has not only had the advantage of personal knowledge of,'and correspondence with, most of the leading movers in the Settlement of 1835, but has gaiaed much of his information frbm humbler instruments. He was acquainted with one of Batman's men on the occasion of the first expedition. He knew Buckley, the " Wild White Man." He was a near neighbour to Mr. Fawkner's father in Hobart Town. From convicts and expirees, officials and tradesmen, shepherds and sailors, he has drawn some information of that romantic past. Not only in Victoria, but among the mountains and vales of lovely Tasmania, in the hills and townships of New South Wales, on the plains of South Australia, and even in tropical Queensland, he has gathered his colonial lore. The old warriors of that peaceful Waterloo era, in that daring but bloodless conque^st of Port Phillip, have nearly all passed from the scene. The recent departure of Mr. Edward Henty, of Mr. Samuel Jackson, of Mr. Hoddle, of Mr. Thomas Napier, and others, will leave but few living memorials of that eventful time.

       It haa been no small privilege for the author to have conversed with the oldest living Au^ralian bom, to have known men and women who landed at Port Phillip in 1803, and to have heard tales from eye-witnesses of events since that date. One of his most curious experiences was in a back court off Little Lonsdale Street, Melbourne. Directed for news to a little and very disreputable-looking public-house, where he met with a most forbidding-looking personage, but from whom he extracted some valuable intelligence, he was advised by this worthy to hunt out a certain man, who could tell  everything.
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       After much difficulty an old fellow was unearthed, who was induced, after a little manoeuvring, to tell something of his everything. Warming up in his tale of reminiscences, and encouraged by the sympathy and attention of his auditor, he poured out such a string of anecdotes concerning men of the ancient times of Hobart Town and Melbourne as would have charmed the lover of scandal. He got so confidential at last as to relate, with much gusto, his own part in some bushranging exploits thirty or forty years before. When in the thick of a wonderful yarn he suddenly stopped, hearing some one approach the open window of the little room in which he sat. Observing and nodding at a woman, he raised his voice, and said, " Yes, the Lord is very good to man." On our looking much astonished at this unexpected speech, he turned and slyly remarked, "You know I'm preacher now, and that woman is one of my supporters."

       William Keep told us sundry tales of the expedition to Port Phillip in 1803. He described Lieutenant Tuckey as a genteel, kind, good-looking man. He spoke warmly of Mrs. Hopley, the fair and cheerful, who always upheld the character of the deserted Port Phillip; she was sister to Mr. Hobbs. According to him, Buckley was induced to go ofif with Green, who knew of some Dutch settlement on the coast. Mr. Collins, who was of such service to Governor Collins, was lost in the WyTidham,  from Hobart Town. Keep was servant to Colonel Collins in 1803. He saw David Gibson on his return to the camp, when taken to the hospital a mere skeleton from privations in the bush, and so altered that he could scarcely recognise him.

       Another pre-Batman visitor to Port Phillip Bay was Charles Watt. Mr. Brown, of the  Daylesford Express,  in a letter to us, in 1866, gave these particulars of the Daylesford resident, then seventy-eight years old, who came out to Hobart Town in 1816, sailing thence many years as a whaler:—

       " He formed one of two boats' crews that belonged to a whaler, and chased a fish into Port Phillip. The whale was killed, and stranded on or near the St. Kilda beach. The seamen then endeavoured to discover fresh water, one of the boats entering the Yarra Yarra, and the other the Saltwater river. The crew of the latter, finding the stream brackish, joined their companions in the Yarra."

       Having given journals and letters of educated persons, it may not be out of place to quote from the autobiogri^y of a Tvorking man, who landed in Port Phillip the same month as Mr. Fawkner.

       Nathaniel Qosling was known to the author when visiting the Benevolent Asylum of Melbourne. Sedting out original inhabitants, he was directed to this old man, glad of the refuge of such an institution when over fourscore years of age. He informed the writer that as a young fellow he had " helped Wellington to conquer the world." He readily and clearly answered a number of questions about the olden times. Then he produced a book, in which he had, as he said, put down a few things to save him forgetting everything. As he was graciously pleased to allow me to copy what I pleased, the reader may be willing to take the ancient warrior and shepherd in his own plamway.

       He made a number of trips to Port Phillip with stock from Launceston, and was on the  Norvcd  upon her first visit This is his story about Buckley, discovered, he says, between the Heads and Point Henry:—

       '' Mr. Batemans men looked at him and thought he Resembled a white man. One of them whent up to him to examine him, found two letters on his arm, and saying W for William and B for Burges, but never hit on Wm. Buckly. He never spoke till at last, hearing the English tonge Pronounced so offten, he burst out and said, W for William and B for Buckly. Then they new that he was an Englishman. Then Mr. Bateman had him taken from them, and clothed him and had him shaved and cleaned. He could scarse walk in shoes for a while. He was asked what became of the other two, but woud never tell, but said they whent away and suposed they got killed. He was asked how he had lived with the blacks so many years, but woud scaree say anything. If any one would aske him any Qouestions concirning himself and the blacks, you must have Qouestion and answir boath. One time he did say that he was for ten years that he did not know one day from another that they would not kill him ; some was for killing him and some not for killing him, but he said the oldist blacks saved him. Then Mr. Bateman had a Place made for him at the end of a small store, that he might keep the blanks from robing it. Then what few settlers there was in the country the blacks whent About robing and killing the white People, if they could come at them

       Priviately, witch they did. They killed two of Captain Swan-stons Men, the first two that was killed; then what few settlers thiere was subscribed and bought A horse, sadle, and bridle, cost 60 Quianes, and going to give him 60 Pounds a year for to ride amongst the balacks and tell them what the white People woud do for them if thay woud be quiet. He said no that he woud sooner go back to them he said it was the white Peoples fault. This latter part 1 heard Mr. Qillibrand say myself. They thought he might go back to them, then what mischeefe he woud do; so some time after they sent him to Vandimansland from the blacks. When Buckly when he was first taken from the blacks he was a monster of a man, stood 6 foot three inches in hight [?] and stout in Proportion. Wm. Buckly if living his not far of my age.

       The  story of the murder by the Port Phillip Blacks is thus told:—

       " Mr. Batemans men and Mr. Falkners men being at home when landed, and Mr. Sollomons men for awhile, but Capt. Swanstons party thiere destination being for the river Ax; we stoped thiere about a week, and then left for the river Ax [  Werribee],  where we arrived in a few days, but has yet had no sheep come, nothing but six cows and a teame of bullocks and two horses. The latter end of November had five hundred sheep come and landed where WiUiams Town his now, but having no name then; them brought to us by two men that came with them from Vandimansland. Then in a short time after thiere was a thousand more landed at the heads for us, and two men to bring them; but before those sheep came Mr. Sollomons son of Lanceston had landed A thousand sheep at the heads, and had brought them round by Point henery, so on by the river ax, and so on to the saltwatter river near Milboum."'

       He then speaks of " A certain Jemmy Ducks " having walked off towards the " Yowangs " with Mr. Solomon's double-barrelled gun.   Having fallen asleep, he was killed by the Blacks.

       " Thay did not know how to loade it, but in looedng it they put the shot in first, then thay put the powdir in, then thay could not get it of, so thay broke' (it).

       He remarks: " The blacks being so tretchrous, it took us to be watshful to ourselves, for no one durst steer out without a loaded gun in his hand." The Blacks, he said, stole 600 of 1,000 sheep while the two men, employed to bring them round,
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       were fast asleep.   Another Black story is connected with two men sent with a bullock to fetch some of Batman's things :—

       " The morning that thay was comming away from this station thiere came a lot of blacks to this statin of Mr Batemans, and seeing them put things on the bullock thay waited till thay started; then thay whent with them in a friendley manner for about six miles, the two men having guns, but oue of them would never carry it, but if theire was a dray or any other thing that he could put it on he would never carry it. So when thay got this distance from the station the blacks seperated; part of them, going up a rising ground, pretended they saw a cangarow, calling to this man that had his gun in his hand to come and shute it. So he whent, lieving the other man with the bullock that had his gun fast on the bullocks side. When thay got them seperated, thay got behind the man that had his gun in his hand and laid his head open; then the other man saw this, he had nothing to defend himself with but his hands, the blacks, with thiere tomeyhowaks and spears, they killed him. Thay was boath killed. Then the bullock woud not let them come near him; he kicked, and nocked about with his head and feet, till he had shaked all the things of him, so that was all thay wanted. Some short time the blacks came and told us that those two men was killed, our overseer, with Mr. Cowie, Mr. Steid, and Steidlet, whent in search of them, and found them under a tree, covered with branches of trees, but all the flesh eate of the boans. Our overseer, after coming back, took a man with him and two Spades, and covred the remains of them."

       Of the pursuit after the murderers of Mr. Franks he wrote :—

       " They let fly at them, killed a grate many, and what was not killed or wounded ran away, leaving all behind them. A dray was loaded with what they had carried away, and their spears and wddss and tomev hawkes."

       '* That was five thay had killed of white People. Then they stoped at that, thinking that our guns woud kill nothing but birds, has non of them had ever been molested by our guns. After that People began coming down from Yandimansland look at the country. Buckly being in Mellburn, he went with them for a guide to show them the country, and Mr. Falkner fur? nished them with horses to go into the country, allways comming by our station, there being no other in the country at that time. Then they went back to Yandimansland, and brought sheep and cattle down. Mr. Bateman at first comming down had been Purshassing land from the blacks. It was known to the govenor at Sidney, major genaral burk being then govenor, and that the Inhabatance of Port philip had been killing
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       the blacks, which thiere had been none till thay had killed five white men without any cause whatever [?]. Then genaral Burk, then Govnor of new south wails, sent a Cutter from Sidney with two Procklimations. The first Spesified that he had been Informd that the Inhabatance of port philip and western Port had been commitine severe depredations on the Aboriginals; all People so ofifending would be posecuted has the law directs. The other was, All reople that had put themselves in Possin of land in port Philip must consider themselves has nothing but trespttsing on Goverment land. This was before any goverment came to port Philip, Port Philip not having any goverment for 6 months or more ; thiere came Capt. Lonsdale with the ratle snake  [RcUtiesnaJce]  slop of war, and two store ships, and soldiers, constabls, custom house officers, and servents. Then land began selling, buielding commenced, then Millburn began to build, then Settlers began comming down from Yandimansland and sidney, then the Country began to floursh, and still doing so, thiere not being a house where Mellbum his now A large Cyty. All this done since i came to it in October, 1835, and his still getting larger. Gelong not a house in it for nearley three years after the first commencement of port Philip, now his showing very fast, thiere not being a house in mellbum when first I cam to it. I am one the oldist inhabatance in Port Philip with the Exepence of Mr. Flkner.

       " N. G."

       The next story introduces us to the sad loss and murder of Messrs. Gellibrand and Hesse :—

       " A Smal Scetch conciming the lat^r part of Mr. Gellibrand's life in Port Philip. Mr. Glellibrand and Mr. Essia came to our station on the river Ax and stoped thiere that night The next mominff thay whent away but never came back ; on thiere way thay fell in with Doctor Thompsons bullock driver who accompaned them has far has Austans ford, thiere being no other station theire at that time then; then this man, along with a black man, left them, would not go aney farther with them; the mans name was acors ; then thay went in direction of mount Gellibrand, so called since on the account of them passing thiere. Then thay proceeded on thiere Jomey till thay came to the top of the laake Colack, betwixt the lake and the hills, being then lost, taking the colack lake to be a lake at the back of the Yowyang hills, mistakin them hills at the Colack for the Aunikayoyang hills, which they are called the mistaken Aunikayoyangs to this day, and that was the place thay was killed, about a year and half after. The riter was living at the Colack when it was first inhibited; during my time thiere was

       two (Jrays and number of men with them from Yandimansland to go in sarch of them; they came to the Colack and camped one night, and the next morning whent away in direction for the wamamboole lake, but did not go far before the Colack blacks fell in with them. Thay had a skermish with them, and one of the white men got a blow on the side of his head, another got a blow on the «faw, so frightened them that they turned back; and them all having guns and plenty of powder and shot. About two years after that I went to the Grampians, staying thiere two months; came back Along with eight more comming from the frenchman Publick house, 23 miles from the Leigh. Has we was comming past the wamamboole lake, we saw a great many blacks thiere; two sawers was going to Yandimansland, thought to get some inteligence from them about Mr. Gellibrand, weather he had been killed thiere, so almost all of us whent with our guns amongst them to inquire weather they new anything about them. Two of the blacks whent into thier tents and brought two Sculls to us for to look at; the two sawers brought the sculls with them and tooke them to Yandimansland, one of the sculls wanting a tooth in front, the same has Mr. Gellibrand did; but when they got to Yandimansland thay was not wanted, the Bank had given up his property/*

       Nathaniel Gosling was known to the author in 1856. The old bushman had been bom November 14th, 1774. The autobiography intimates at the end that it was ''written at different times when shepherding."

       CHAPTER XXVIII.

       CAUSES  OF EMIGRATION  IN   1835.

       Why  was it that Port Phillip was settled by colonists from Van Diemen's Land ?

       It seems more natural to suppose that overlanders from the Sydney side, rather than emigrants by sea from Launceston, would take up new country there. The stations of New South Wales had spread far abroad westward and south-westward, when once the rocky fastnesses of the Dividing range had been forced. It was easy to fancy the flocks and herds roaming to the Murray, and, after the expedition of 1824, crossing over that stream to the famous Iramoo Plains.

       Contiguity had something to do with the movement from the island. The Straitsmen often spoke of the  other side  when they brought their oil and feathers to the Launceston market. The free settlers of Van Diemen's Land were a pushing and enterprising race. But the peculiar social and political condition of the island had the most to do with the migration. It was in seasons of political or social difficulty that the great swarmings have ever taken place, originating the Qreek colonies in Asia, Italy, and Africa. It was so in the less romantic period of our colonial history.

       So long as there were only convicts and their keepers, quiet could be maintained. Not that violence could cease in a community of rough men, under any circumstances. But dissatisfaction with government, apart from the restraint which the evil-disposed might regret, was unknown. It was otherwise when gentlemen of England, attracted by the reports of the beautiful, healthful, and fertile Tasmania, were permitted

       to invest their capital there. These could not possibly yield obedience to a genuine, if necessary, despotism. They resented interference with their personal liberty. They demanded more freedom for the press, and the removal of many social disabilities. They were British people, loving British emancipation from those tyrannical laws under which other European people writhed and groaned.

       Their first struggle was for escape from the Sydney yoke. This victory was secured in 1825. They then contended for a lightening of the pressure on the pen of writers. The heroes of this movement ought not to be forgotten. Gilbert Robertson and Henry Melville received many blows in the fray. The latter, especially, was a sufferer. For months he lay in gaol, for daring to slander officialdom; or, as he would say, for exposure of public wrong-doing. A man of means, the owner and editor of the leading paper of Hobart Town, he lost thousands of pounds in this contention. Others have reaped where he sowed. In his celebrated pamphlet,  A Voice from the Antipodes^ he sought sympathy from lovers of freedom in Britain. " There is no colony in the world," wrote he, "British or otherwise, suffering oppression and misrule more severely than in this unfortunate settlement." He complains of military juries being allowed to sit in all criminal cases; of military officers on fiill pay acting as police magistrates; of the sanctioning of usury; of hanging for mere cattle stealing; of the quit-rent wrong; of the land jobbing, by which favourites got grants denied to the more independent with means; of the gagging of the press, &c. &c.

       We will not dwell upon these political troubles, though they rendered the country distasteful to free settlers, who longed to leave it for other and better quarters. Mr. Gellibrand, at one time Attorney-General of the colony, had that honesty of purpose, integrity of character, and independence of bearing which led him from the official ranks into the opposition ones. In the advocacy of the jury system, and an elective legislature, none was so courageous and persevering as he. But the " Impounding Act" of 1834 was so terrible in its pecuniary consequences to many of these free settlers, as to become the last ounce which broke the camel's back, forcing men to look outside the island for deliverance. Mr. Fawkner was not far wrong when he ascribed to

       this Act the main cause of the migration of people from Van Diemen's Land to Port Phillip. Before that, there was no impediment in the way of the poorer class keeping a cow in the open pastures around the townships. The establishment of seventy pound-keepers, said he, lowered the price of cows from ten pounds to ten shillings.

       Squatting  was the evil the Government sought to prevent, though the Act pressed heavily upon a better class than the ordinary squatter. This  squatter  was a perfect nuisance in that day, and the term was truly then one of reproach. To be a squcUter  was, in the eyes of oflScials, and even of decent people, to be a Bedouin of the bush; a fellow who, on the pretence of running a few sheep or cattle, was ready to steal the stock of others, and was looked on as the accomplice of bushrangers. To stop, the marauding propensities of squatters, it was necessary to arrest their free use of grass, and that would be done by the  Impounding Act,  The honest settler, whose flock or herd suffered so from the proximity of some wandering squatter, who squatted upon the waste lands near him till popular prejudice compelled him to move, might rejoice at an act which disturbed the nefarious brotherhood. But when the law touched himself he cried aloud at the hardship. His land, purchased or granted, was in most cases but very partially inclosed, and his stock took advantage of the Crown land in the vicinity. But the pound-keeper, as the representative of the Government, pounced down upon the animals of the orthodox settler not less than on those of the unauthorised squatter, and the interior of Van Diemen's Land was in a great state of alarm.

       By the old law of the Australian colonies, no land could be occupied but that belonging to the individual by purchase or grant. A varying  Quit-Bent  was paid annually as an acknowledgment of the rights of the Crown, the land not being supposed to pass absolutely from it, and was ever subject to resumption. After a while  Tickets of Occupation  were granted for an area beyond the limit of ordinary settlement. These Tickets  were given to persons approved of by the magistrates. They could not graze beyond two miles from their own stockyard, and were liable to removal at six months' notice, since any one might get a grant of the locality. So many disorders, however, arose even from this sort of licensed squatting, that

       the dispersion was arrested by the following  Order  of August 29th, 1826 :—

       ^  The King's instructions for the disposal of land having been submitt^ by the Gk>vemor to the Executive Council, His Excellency is hereby pleased to notify that all Tickets of Occupation now in force shall cease and determine on March 1st, 1827; and that persons desirous of obtaining the temporary occupation of land, for the purpose of grazing, will be required in future to  pay a rent,  at the rate of twenty shillings per annum for every hundred acres; and, further, to quit the same on receiving six months' notice to that effect."

       Though this was a real  unlocking  of the land, the door was opened very cautiously, and kept a very small space ajar. The lordly squatter of Queensland, who now rents his two hundred square miles for about 150/., would at the old rate be charged 1,280/. a year; and, instead of a twenty-one years' lease, be liable to expulsion any half year. The old-fashioned squatters, therefore, who had been accustomed to roam at large, without payment, had now to get evidence of reputable character before taking up pastures on such inconvenient and expensive terms.

       But even the holder of land, in those good old times, had not a good time of it. If he got a grant of a hundred acres, he was compelled to clear twenty, and maintain five convict servants off Qovemment hands; if five hundred acres, he should clear fifty, and keep all the year a dozen convicts. He who held two thousand acres, which would be a stock-keeping &rm, must still be bound to clear one hundred and twenty of them, and have his thirty convicts to feed and clothe all the year, whatever little use he could make of them. At last, they who had not sufficient room for their sheep or cattle were graciously permitted to purchase more land near them, at five shillings an acre. On September 5tb, 1826, came the welcome news that parties might select land away from their own grants. But such acreage was to be submitted to tender, the highest gaining the selection.

       The next movement was a novel one. The land was to be submitted to public auction, yet previous permission to be a bidder must be obtained from the Colonial Secretary. This peculiai-ly safe rule was made August 21st, 1828.     As  the

       public tailed to appreciate the invidious restriction, the Government, in disgust, withdrew all lands from sale August 17th, 1829. But the  Orders  of October 16th, 1828, aflfected the squatter, and gave a new departure for the disposal of land; saying,

       ** And whereas, with a view of further restraining unauthorised individuals  (sqtcatters)  from driving and depasturing their cattle in all parts of the colony, to the great injury of the settled inhabitants, His Excellency the Governor has judged it expedient to permit  settlers  to occupy, during pleasure, the unlocated lands immediately adjoining their respective grants at a low rent. Notice is hereby given, that settlers in authorised possession of lands, whether by grant or by purchase, will be allowed to occupy the unlocated Crown lands immediately adjoining their respective possessions, at a rent after the rate of two shillings and sixpence per annum for every hundred acres; but it is clearly to be understood that Government reserves to itself the right of disposing of all lands which shall be occupied under this tenure, and to give possession of them to any other party, upon giving  one month's Tiotice  to the occupant : Notice is hereby given, that persons desirous of occupying land under this regulation, are required to apply accordingly, by letter, addressed to the Colonial Secretary, describing as distinctly as possible the boundaries and extent of the land applied for, and the extent of their adjoining possessions, distinguishing whether the same be held by grant or purchase."

       The next year, certain approved persons were allowed to select and occupy, subject to the approval of the king. No compensation was given if the party had to leave at a month's notice.

       At last, after much labour, anxiety, and waiting, the pastoral man got additional security, but only by  purchase.  Large lots, of a square mile each, were put up, at the upset of five shillings an acre. Should the purchaser relieve the Government from the rations of a convict, estimated at 16f. a year, such amount would go toward a return of his money. But he must keep ten convict servants on for ten years to get a return upon his purchase of a square mile. This favourable Act was passed in the colony, August 1st, 1831.

       Commissioners of Crown Lands were appointed August 28th, 1833,—"to prevent the unauthorised occupation thereof being considered as giving a legal title thereto." It was found that the Government had now to contend with a worse class than the

       once despised and disreputable  squaiiers,  as persons of respectability of character, possessed of cash, copied the manners of the squatters, and began to take up pastures at a distance fix>ni settlements. The land question passed into a new phase, giving no small concern to our colonial rulers, who had to do with a more dangerous and difficult set of persons than the old squatters. Of the latter, Governor King had thus written to the Home Ministry:—

       "I cannot express myself too strongly on the subject of SquaUers,  The mischief they do is almost incalculable. They harbour the settlers' runaway servants; they steal his cattle and sheep; they receive stolen goods; they sell spirits on the sly; they entice shepherds from the care of their sheep; and they shelter and feed bushrangers, and afford them information."

       Even in the very year when Batman went over to Port Phillip, a police magistrate of New South Wales (Mr. Rankin) reported: " One of the greatest annoyances we suffer in the remote parts of the district is from the squatters, who are very numerous, composed of expirees and ticket-of-leave men." But it was very different when moneyed men turned squatters. In a memorial against squatters, got up in 1835 by persons resident in Sydney, &c., the difficulty is made apparent in these words: " It is true, indeed, that under the existing system a great many of the respectable settlers and stockholders have, also, taken temporary possession of portions of the unlocated Crown lands as pasturage for their flocks and herds; but it is at the same time equally true that this temporary occupation will ultimately enhance the value of the Crown lands in question." That is, the Sydney gentlemen dealing in the purchase of  hboA  would thereby have to pay more for the same.

       It might be easy to drive off petty squatters; but what was to be done with those able and willing to pay a rental for land, but prevented by law from doing so ? If the evil were great on the mainland, how much mcH'e severe must the pressure of land-hunger have been felt in the litUe island! Was tiiere not reason for the Tasmanian flockmasters to seek other pastures ?

       Sir Richard Bourke was much perplexed. Earl Aberdeen and other Ministers of State had protested against the dispersion of the settlers.    Governors, who were, after all, hekl to be but

       gaolers, were aware of the police ai^ument against squatters and other bush vagrants. But they were sensible of the peculiar adaptation of Australian pastures to the growth of fine wool, so much wanted by English manufacturers, and the necessity for the expansion of the pastoral interest. Mr. McLeay honestly reflected the views of Governor Bourke when writing, "His Excellency is desirous of avoiding any unnecessary limitation of pasturage." And Sir Richard wrote thus to Lord Glenelg, October 10th, 1835 :—

       " Admitting that a certain degree of concentration is necessary for the advancement of wealth and civilisation, and that it enables government to become at once efficient and economical, I cannot avoid perceiving the peculiarities which in this colony render it impolitic, and even impossible, to restrain dispersion within limits that would be expedient elsewhere. The wool of New South Wales forms at present, and is likely long to continue, its chief wealth. It is only by a free range over the wide expanse of native herbage which the colony affords, that the production of this article can be upheld at its present rate of increase in quantity, or standard of value in quality. The proprietors of thousands of acres already find it necessary, equally with the poorer settlers, to send large flocks beyond the boundary of location, to preserve them in health throughout the year. The colonists must otherwise restrain the increase, or endeavour to raise artificial food for their stock. Whilst nature presents all around an unlimited supply of the most wholesome nutriment, either course would seem a perverse rejection of the bounty of Providence."

       It was to limit dispersion that grants were made only to persons of property, and not to these beyond a certain amount. When, by Lord Ripon's regulations, in 1831, the grant system was superseded by land sales, the supply was very restricted. The rise of land upset from five shillings to twelve was very unfavourable to flockmasters, though grateful enough to the older settlers who had secured grants and found their estates improved in value.    The Governor, in 1837, observed on this:—

       " Many a one would prefer wandering without authority or restraint with his flocks and herds over the vast tracts of the interior. A facility in acquiring the actual property in land at a low price is the safest check to this practice; and it may have been observed that the unauthorised occupiers of remote Crown

       lands do not wholly consist of small flockowners of slender means, but of the agents and shepherds of the wealthiest colonists residing within the limits of location, who are continually balancing between the opposite motives presented by the cheapness of unauthorised occupation, on the one hand, and the desire of adding to their permanent property in  land  on the other."

       It was the South Australian colony that made the rise of land necessary elsewhere in Now Holland. The work of a private company, getting the land on favourable terms from the Government, the higher rate of twelve shillings tended to concentrate the population, the dream of home politicians, and fill the pockets of the speculative founders. When these afterwards advanced the acre to a pound, Sydney and Hobart Town had in self-defence to do the same. Colonel Wakefield, so interested in projects of colonization, held to the same idea of high price of land. When asked by the House of Commons Committee, in 1836, " Do you attribute any evil consequences to this greater facility of obtaining land in New South Wales at present ?" this gentleman was so polite and charitable as to reply, " Not in New South Wales, because New South Wales is sufficiently supplied with slaves—with a class of labourers who are unable to obtain land, whether it be cheap or dear."

       Radical sentiments as to land were not unknown there, even in primitive days. There have not been wanting those with socialistic notions, holding that the land belonged to the nation, and should be retained by the nation, though temporarily used by individuals. These would have no freeholds. Others considered land not absolutely required for farming purposes should be open to all. The Sydney  Monitor  of September 8th, 1826, indulged in the following language, though in the colonial days of old-world despotism:—

       " We are extremely sorry to observe that Government has directed a rent to be exacted for the use of the grass of the native pastures of the colony, as well as for the cedar that grows thereon. Going upon abstract right, the aborigines are the rightful proprietors of the soil of Australia. Going upon primitive rights, he who possesses and makes use of the land, and puts his labour into it, has the next best right to it. The king is not the owner of our colony in the same sense as a man who has put his labour upon it: he is merely the trustee of the

       land for the use of the colonists. The right of the king and his representatives, therefore, so to appropriate and take ownership of the soil as to sell and let it, without looking to the welfare of the people, is an unconstitutional position, because it leads to unconstitutional results, namely,  tcuccUion without representation.  If the king has this absolute proprietorship of the land, he has by the same right (the right of irresistible power) to let out to rent the Pacific ocean which washes our shores."

       The opposition to easy terms of rental in the occupation of pastoral land continued for years after the occupation of Port Phillip, and vexatious regulations were annexed to a license when granted. The licensee must not only report upon the stock on his  run,  stating to whom stock of any kind—to be described in fall—absolutely belonged, but he had to give notice in writing, not only of a change of servants, but of visitors he may receive at his house. In 1839, even, all unbranded stock over a year old were impounded, and the neglect of payment of rent or assessment one week after date brought an addition of twenty per cent to the demand. Governor Gipps, though esteemed a bitter foe to the squatter class, desired some relief, as we see in his address in May, 1838 :—

       **I am fully impressed with the importance, in this pastoral country, of giving every facility to the occupation, under proper restrictions, of the vacant lands of the Crown, and I shall readily give my assent to any measure which, while it recognises the rights of the Crown, may permit to the honest settlers the occupation of these lands on easy terms, and at the same time exclude, as far as possible, men of dissipated character, who now only seek to become occupiers of them for dishonest practices."

       The  Impounding Act  of Van Diemen's Land furnished the Rev. Dr. Lang, of the  Colonist  paper, February 25, 1836, an opportunity of comparing the land conditions of the two colonies:—

       '*  The absolute prohibition of squatting is one of. the first articles of Colonel Arthur s political code;  and  the violator of this article, whatever be his rank in society, has his sheep or cattle immediately seized by the constables, and carried off to the nearest pound."   He admits the advantage of the Act for

       ticket-of-leave men and emancipists, ^ by preyenting individuals of the classes we hare jnst mentioned from living a life of indolence, and thieving in the unlocated portions of the territixy, undw the pretext of rearing sheep and cattle."

       Turning, then, to New South Wales, the editor says :—

       ** In this colony, however, the Government have gone to the very opposite extreme ; and the cdonists of New South Wales, whether free emigrants, emancipists, or ticket-of-leave men, have enjoyed the liberty of unlicensed squatting;;" which he esteems "almost tantamount to offering a premium for sheep lifting and cattle stealing." He thinks ''the rational and necessary result of this system is now equally apparent and alarming in all parts of the interior;" and that  *"  a process of demoraUzation is thus going on in all parts of the interior, and, under its pernicious influence, the youth of this colony are becoming extensively implicated in the crime of cattle steaJing." He suggests a  system  of licenses to occupy, to arrest the march of that ''numerous army of squatters with which the whole interior is at present infested."

       The Van Diemen's Land  Fencing Act,  October 19th, 1835, completed the misery of stockowners; though Governor Arthur declared it was passed " with a view to the prevention of the intermingling of adjoining flocks, of trespassers generally, and of the crimes of sheep and cattle stealing, which are not difficult of perpetrating where the country is not intersected by dividing fences." But, however proper and convenient, the Act was restrictive of pastoral pursuits.

       Altogether, the season was ripe for something to be done by the flockmasters of Van Diemen's Land, as ruin stared them in the face there. At such a time, the hearts of the people turned to the shores of Port Phillip, and only a Columbus, like Batman, was required to show the way to the new and better land

       CHAPTER XXIX.

       AN OYERLAKD  JOURNEY.

       An  interesting pamphlet of fifty pages was printed in London during 1838. It is entitled,  A MorUh in the Bush of Australia: Journal of one of a Party of Gentlemen who recently travelled from Sydney to Port Phillip.

       Copies are exceedingly rare. By favour of Mr. E. W. Petherick, the indefatigable collector of publications relative to the colonies, we had copied the book, with the view of insertion in the present volume. The expansion of our pages compels lis to be content with extracts.

       The author of the journal is not given. As, however, he says that, accompanied by Mr. McAlister, he attended the first Melbourne Land Sale, June 1st, 1837, and as we find Mr. McAlister and Mr. Arthur Willis were the only Sydney purchasers, it may be presumed that the latter was the writer of the letters. With Messrs. McAlister, Button, and Brown, he left Sydney April 13th, 1837. They spent some time at the fine station belonging to Dr. Qibson, at Goulburn; whose cottage is described as * built in the Flemish style, and covered with roses, honeysuckle, ivy, vines, &c." They entered Port Phillip, over the Hume or Murray, on May 13th.

       The journal, as he tells us, was mostly " written while I sat on the ground, with the paper on my knees, and all of it has been written at night after a day of fatigue." The references to Mr. Ebden, once Colonial Treasurer, will interest old settlers:—

       " In the country between these two streams, and fronted by the Hume, Ebden has his cattle run, and I shall endeavour to see some part of it to-morrow. , We are now on the run where

       M M

       Ebden first brought his sheep, about fifteen or eighteen months ago, which he has since removed beyond the Gk)ulbum to within sixty miles of Port Phillip. He was the first to come so far out as this, and has evinced a great spirit of enterprise. We are now at least 360 miles inland from Sydney. I dare say there will be more stations here ere long, if parties are not more attracted by the Port Phillip country. Whilst we were absent, McAlister and Brown proceeded six or seven miles down the Mullingindra to this place. On their way they met with two young gentlemen, who have just returned firom Port Phillip, which they left eleven days ago. They went down by the road we are now following, on a tour of discovery, and are highly pleased with the country they have seen, and intend to settle m it."

       After this we have a sketch of the man:—

       "Mr. Ebden shortly after made his appearance in a most strange costume, with a fur-skin jacket and cap, his beard long, exactly a  facsimile  of the pictures we see of Robinson Crusoe, very different from the Mr. Ebden in his tandem in George Street, Sydney."  ..."  We find him in the midst of one of his grand movements. He is leaving a station he took up on a creek falling into the Omio (Goulbum), about twenty miles south from this, though only four miles from another part of the river, and was going to the westward of Mount Macedon. He has at present on the road about nine thousand sheep, thirty horses, and nine drays."

       It was on the summit of a high hill he caught sight of Major Mitchell's charming country, saying:—

       " We ascended a high hill in a range near us, from which our view was again very extensive, particularly from south to west, which part we especially wished to see. In that direction the country nearest us seemed to consist of barren ridges for four or five miles; but beyond that it looked beautiful, and we all exclaimed, "  This is Australia Felix !  "

       He was much struck with the vast downs or plains of the interior, and thus moralized upon the wide expanse:—

       " On the whole, I cannot say that this extensive view gave rise to any cheerful or gratifying reflection. There were no objects to make a pleasing landscape, no relief or variety— interminable forests! It was a dreary sight, and then the reflection that it was  uninhabited  made it still more dreary— it  made one feel painfully isolated, lonely, and  melancholy.

       The cultivated fields, the numerous farm-houses, the imiumer-ahle cottages, the peasantiy, the smiling villages, the busy towns, that ought to have filled up the landscape—that in so extensive a prospect in Europe would have done so—no such cheering sights here met the eye, nor even could the mind's eye catch a glimpse of them in futurity! The hope of them would even have gratified and satisfied the mind, and imagination in that case would readily have filled up the picture, so that cheerful and pleasing ideas would have arisen—but no such thing could be permitted. I felt that no such scenery was  ever likely  to replace the present one, that no such change was likely to be effected, at least within any calculable period of time."

       The natives were found to be very shy, but harmless. Lubras, or women, fled at the approach of the horsemen, and often took refuge in the trees. One party, he says, " examined and toucihed our clothes and skins with wonder and admiration." The facility of extracting fire by lucifer-matches very much astonished the "simple people," who were "particularly cheerful and friendly, and apparently without distrust of us.'* He has, however, a capital story of a black fellow :—

       " The Hume natives who were with us could only make out a few words of the language of the strangers. A very laughable scene occurred with one of our native young men. His great inducement for coming with us is, it seems, the hope of getting a wife from amongst the wild tribes, which he thinks he may realise by our influence and assistance, and he is continually talking on the subject. He was told to make his wishes known to the visitors then present, and he endeavoured to do so, and was promised a fulfilment of them. Meantime, a good-looking young person arrived, and our candidate for connubial bliss immediately began to make love as well as he could, without the aid of a language mutually understood. His courtship having, however, lasted for some time, to the great amusement of the bystanders, without seeming to elicit any corresponding feelings or sympathy of the other party, some doubts seemed to cross his mind, which he at length made a bold effort to remove, by displacing the .robe or cloak of the object of his attentions, when, to his astonishment and dismay, he discovered but too unequivocally that he had been all the while lavishing his civilities on one of his own sex. To witness the expression of his vexation and disappointment, whilst at the same time he could scarcely forbear laughter at the comicality and ridiculousness of his situation, was, I am told, rich in the extreme. Some time afterwards a real young woman was brought to him, who

       came accompanied by an elderly female; but whether it was that his first attempt had been so ridiculously unsuccessful as to cool his ardour for the present, or whether he did not admire the parties intended for him, or  vice versd,  I know not, only certain it is that no union took place, and that she returned to her tribe a spinster, whilst he still remained a bachelor."

       His remarks upon the novel life are curious: —

       " I know not," wrote he, " exactly in what consists the charm, but we all seem to like the life. There is great freedom in it, an almost total relief from the restraint of civilised life. We live in the open air, have plenty of delightful exercise, are in excellent health, and enjoy our food. . . . What a changed life I have led these two months back! How different from all that I have spent these fifteen years ! I appear to myself unlike myself. I can scarcely believe I am the same person." Again he says, " We have also books with us, which, whilst we are waiting for the teams to come up, I generally peruse, lying on the grass in the shade."

       Thus pleasantly passing the time, he is, on May 29th, awakened to a conviction that he must hurry on; observing,—

       " Owing to the slow progress we have lately made, we shall not be able to get to the settlement so soon as we wish, and had calculated on. There is to be a public sale by Grovem-ment, of township allotments, on the 1st of June, at which we wish to be present; and since it appears that we cannot all accomplish this, it has been determined that McAJister and I proceed by forced marches on horseback to-morrow, and leave Hutton and Brown to follow with the team as soon as they can. We shall get to the settlement early on Wednesday."

       **  Tuesday night, iQth May^ at a staiion within eight or nine miles of the *'Settlement'* at Fort Phillip. —When we awoke this morning we found the ground quite white with hoar frost. Before I went to bed last night, between twelve and one, there was ice on the pot of water outside our tent, and this morning it was a quarter of an inch thick. As soon as we had breakfasted, McAlister and I set out on horseback on our journey towards the Settlement of Port Phillip. We steered by compass S.E., and kept a very straight direction. The first seven or eight miles of the way lay through open forest ranges, of very good sheep land, with a few clear plains, but not quite so good or so beautiful as we had seen the day before. Had we been looking out for choice spots, perhaps we might have found them equaUy good.    We then  descended   into open  downs almost

       entirely clear of timber, which extended right and left, and before us, almost as far as we could see. Before descending, we could distinguish the sea-line and the waters of Port Phillip right before us to the south-east and south, and on the left hand; and on the right we could perceive distant ranges, but within view was an immense tract of such downs as I have • mentioned, apparently a splendid piece of country."

       Journeying onward, and so near the Settlement, he was astonished not to meet with a single flock of sheep, though the grass was evidently fed down. Neither did he meet a single human being, and saw only one hut, until the evening before entering the township.

       "You are aware," he wrote, "that all the folks here are mere squatters, no Ijmd having yet been alienated by Government; but there is already here, comparatively speaking, a very numerous population, and an immense quantity of sheep. We arrived here about half-past three, and being informed that we should meet with no convenient halting place between this and the Settlement, distant eight or nine miles, whilst we were very politely requested to stay all night, we willingly embraced the offer as there was nothing to induce us, or desire, to be at the Settlement till to-morrow. I doubt not all the occupiers of the choice stations are very anxious to have an opportunity of purchasing their respective selections; but the country must first be surveyed, before thrown open for selection, and some time will elapse ere these can take place. At present, the dearth of labourers seems their greatest trouble. Agricultural labourers are getting 40Z. and  50L  per annum, with immense rations, &c., and are very scarce and ill-conducted. In coming again amongst the habitations of men, I experienced a degree of the sensation one has in getting on shore after a long voyage."

       "  Port Phillip, Thursday night, Ist June, —Yesterday morning, after breakfast, we proceeded on our route to the Settlement. The night had been very frosty, and, until the sun was well above the horizon, ice lay on the ground, which was also covered with hoar frost. As the sun ascended, the day, however, became warm and very fine. The country we passed through was, if anything, finer than any we had seen the day before; even up to the township it was beautiful and good ^plains and downs almost clear of timber, and open forest Here are beautiful sites for suburban villas, if (as most likely it will) this should ever become a town of importance. The site of the town is very pretty and well chosen ; it is on the Yarra Yarra river just where its waters flow over a 'fall,' and mingle with the salt- water from the bar of Port Phillip.

       "  It is only about six or seven months since Qovemment has had any establishments or authority here, and within this period its growth has been most rapid. It appears by the records kept since the arrival of a commandant, comptroller of the customs, &c., that 30,353 sheep, 500 head of homed cattle, and 80 horses, have been imported from Van Diemen's Land. During the last three months, the customs' duties have amounted to 500/. (no duty is levied on live stock), and it is calculated that there are now here a population of 800 souls. The-town  {in future) seems comparatively crowded with inhabitants, but without habitations. They come so fast that it is impossible to provide themselves with houses, and they are living in tents and huts of all manner of shapes. Indeed no one liked to erect habitations onf ground not their own, and which might so soon be brought to public sale by Government, so that the place had a most rude and motley appearance. It was high time that the lines of the town and streets were fixed, and allotments sold; and this has been done, and 100 half-acre allotments were this day disposed of by auction. You would scarcely credit the competition there has been to secure these allotments, nor sup-

       r^se that so many persons could have congregated at a sale here, am sure there were 200 persons present, and the half-acre allotments fetched from 18/. to 95/., averaging 38/. each. Now I suppose the buyers will immediately commence to build, and m a very short time we shall see a neat many houses erected. I have not the least doubt that this Settlement will rise more rapidly than any in this colony was ever known to do, and that it will soon become one of the most important and flourishing districts of the colony. With so much good land in the neighbourhood of a seaport, and with so fine a country for sheep all around it, whilst toe elder colonies, within any reasonable distance of the coast, are already overstocked, there is nothing can prevent its becoming populated and prosperous. 1 had no idea of the value of this part of New Holland until I saw it, but now I am convinced it must become the most important portion of it. It is, too, far more centrical than the elder colony to the northward,

       " On our arrival here, we learnt that the revenue cutter,  Prince George,  had the day before arrived from Sydney,^ bringing Mr. Hoddle to take charge of the Survey Department here; and Mr. Cooper, Comptroller of Customs, Sydney, and Mr. Brown, merchant, there, on a visit to the place; the former, in his official capacity. We have letters and recent news from head quarters, which, after a long absence, is very gratifying. Mr. Brown told me that this place has excited considerable attention lately in Sydney, especially since the return of the Governor from his visit here.   We were all this day engaged at the sale, and
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       purchased a few allotmeDts, so have been unable to see anything of the surrounding country or people. We find the Government officers here, with many of whom we were well acquainted, very polite and attentive. Having called yesterday on the com-maudant, Captain Lonsdale, McAlister and I were invited to dine with him, and we spent a very pleasant evening with him and his lady; and were to-day invited to dinner by Mr, and Mrs. Craig (he is the commissariat officer here), but Dutton and Brown having arrived, I preferred spending the first evening with them in our tent^. As you may suppose, there is in the houses of the better classes here, a strcmge mixture of refinement and rudeness. There is not the least style or finish about the buildings, most of them unceiled and unplastered, &c., whilst they contain many elegant and tasteful articles of furniture."

       ** Melbourne, Monday night, hth June,  1837.—Since last I addressed you, we have spent four days at Poi*t Phillip, which have been occupied in visiting the township of Melbourne and surrounding country, and in obtaining information respecting the district firom the most important sources. After having spent the forenoon in the township, we proceeded on Friday afternoon on an excursion up the Yarra Yarra. We were accompanied by Mr. Edward Willis (son of Mr. A. Willis, of Wanstead, Van Diemen's Land,) to whom I was introduced by Mr. Mclntyre, of Willis, Mclntyre, & Co., Sydney. It came on to rain shortly after we left, and night also closing in, we did not get so far as we intended, but had to stop for the night at a settler's, Mr. Mollison's, where we slept on the floor before the fire, but with cloaks and blankets enough to keep us warm, so that I never slept more soundly. I think no class of people live in a rougher way than many of the settlers do here at present. Mr. MolBson is erecting a hut, which will be well enough when finished, but in the meantime it is open and comfortless; no furniture has he, except a bench or stool, a broken cup or two, tin pannicans, a couple of knives and forks, and a plate or two. All he has to eat is Irish salted pork, damper and tea, and sugar; and the light we had was produced by burning rags in pieces of the fat pork. Upon the whole, I never met with people living in a style more rude and rough, or with less attention to comfort, but to which they seem perfectly indifferent, aware it is only a temporary inconvenience. We there met a brother settler of Mollison's and Willis's, named Wood (son of Captain Wood of Snake Bank, Van Diemen's Land), and they made us heartily welcome, and afforded us a specimen of a certain class of Port Phillip squatters. The class I mean is numerous, and consists of offshoots (sons) of Van Diemen's Land settlers, who are sent over here with a few sheep to do for themselves, there being no room for them in Van Diemen's Land.   In addition to

       these, there are a good many squatters who are mere agents for capitalists in Van Diemens Land; and there are also a few families. They all live in a very rough way; having no heart to make improvements'on land not their own, and what may so soon be bought away from them. The first person to establish himself here was a Mr. Bateman, a native of Paramatta, who was employed by a company of gentlemen, in which he also had a share, to come over here with stock. He arrived here in November, 1835, and was gradually followed by others. The original shareholders in the company have petitioned the Government for some preference in land, but their demands have not been acceded to. I believe, however, some remission of purchase money, in the event of their buying lands, has been oflfered to them, to the extent of 7,000/. in the whole, with which they are not satisfied, and have again appealed to the Home Government on the subject. Mr. GelQbrand was the principal promoter and manager of this company. The melancholy fete which has befellen this gentleman, you will learn by a perusal of the narrative in the  Trtie Colonist  of the 19th May, which I send to you. But I digress from my journal. On Saturday, after breakfest, we left Mr. Mollison's, and proceeded to Mr. Willis's, passing through Mr. Wood's station. Willis is still living in his tent, but with as much comfort as under such circumstances can be looked for. He has got a nice situation in the fork formed by the junction of the creek ' Plenty' with the Yarra Yarra. We dined with him and then returned home, seeing as much of the country as time and a rainy day would permit. On Sunday morning Mr. Brown and I started on foot before breakfast on a visit to a Mr. Gardiner, who has located himself on the other (or left) side of the river, at a distance of seven or eight miles by water. We found him, with his wife and daughter, very snugly placed, and with a comfortable and well-furnished little cottage, quite a contrast to the other places we had visited. They seem a most industrious and managing party, and are supplying the Settlement with fresh beef at sevenpence per pound, fresh butter at three shillings, &c.   He brought cattle with him from Sydney."

       "  Tuesday night, &th Jv/ne, —Brown and I have just returned from a visit to Q^llibrand's Point, on which the future William's Town is to be built At about twelve o'clock we took our passage in a small craft, proceeding to Geelong, the skipper of which engaged to land us at Point Gellibrand, and shortly after we set sail down the river. The master and mate, being the whole crew, were, however, not well acquainted with the navigation of the river; we got on very slowly, and more than once stuck fast in the rushes on the banks of the river, so that it was near sundown ere we reached the intended William's

       Town, a distance of eight or nine miles. After spending an hour there, we got a custom-house galley to put us across the estuary of the Yarra Yarra, there about four miles in width, and called, I believe, Hobson's Bay, and we landed on a part of the beach of Port Phillip, the nearest to this, distant about two miles, which we walked over, and after crossing the Yarra Yarra again we got here."

       In concluding, he remarked upon the diffei*ences he found in the stations at which he had stayed on his way across from Sydney, while in the settled parts of New South Wales, saying:—

       " What a contrast we ever find between the dwellings of the bachelors, and those who had wives and families about them. In the one case we found a comfortless, naked hut, devoid of almost the necessaries of life ; in the other, abundance and cheerfulness generally prevailed. The settler's seemed to me a life of almost idleness; his time seemed, at aU events, just sufficiently occupied to prevent  ennui,  and his occupations are of the most healthful description."

       In this story of 1837, we note the difference between the Melbourne of that date and the city of 1882. The silence of the gum-forest has given place to the hum of busy commerce, and the rudeness of huts to the magnificence of mansions belonging to the families of the squatting founders of Port Phillip. The intellectual and moral advance has been correspondingly great. The Victoria of to-day is as much beyond the Port Phillip of 1835, as the England of our Queen exceeds the Britain of Boadicea. All honour to those who have laboured to make it what it is— the Home of the Happy and Free  !

       THE  end.
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       REVIEWS OF FORMER WORKS.

       GEOGRAPHY FOR AUSTRALIAN YOUTH.    1845.

       *' Plan formed Jodicionsly, and carried Into effect with  BkiW—Bithop of Ta$wumia,

       **  The work of a talented and energetic schoolmaster in Hobart tTown—admirable production."—5ydn«tf  Morning Herald. GEOGRAPHY OF AUSTRALIA AND NEW ZEALAND.    1850.

       *' Calculated to give scholars a correct knowledge of that part near which theiT lot is cast." —Captain 8turt.

       •• The Author deserves encouragement in every respect."—-irput.

       *' An honourable place amongst the works which may hereafter be reverted to as the pioneers of the national literature of Australia."—fiydtMy  Empire.

       *' An instructive and agreeable  wAieT.—Qeelong Advertieer,

       " The person best adapted to prepare such a work."— Sidney Freeman** JovmaL

       •* Packed with facts relating to every feature in the geography."—JfeJbowne  Age.

       ** It is what a book for schools should be—compact and simple."—Xxmdon  Aiheiumtm. GRAMMAR FOR AUSTRALIAN YOUTH.    1851.   Adelaide.

       " Highly creditable to its Author, and likely to be of very considerable utility."- Dr.  WfoUf Jnmeetor of Sehoolty Adelaide. READER FOR AUSTRALIAN YOUTH.    Adelaide.

       " strictly Australian in character and design."—iSydtMy  Empire,  1852. GOLD DIGGER'S MAGAZINE.    1852.   Melbourne.

       " Calculated to aid the cause of order and sound morals."-FtotoHa  Standard. MAP OF VICTORIA.

       ** Placing against the name of a place its geological character."—JMelftouriM  Leader. THE BUSHRANGERS.

       ** By no means a mere Newgate Calendar, but something infinitely better."—Hoborf  Town Colonial Timet,  1856.

       WILLIAM BUCKLEY,  THE WILD WHITE MAN.    Melbourne.

       " A mass of information relative to the aborigines."—romumian.

       " Australian scenery is painted with the pencil of an enthusiast"—il^. BIBLE STORIES FOR YOUNG AUSTRALIANS.

       *- Fitted to be a fSuvourite with teachers and scholars."-Amifttfrn  Spectator. ASTRONOMY FOR YOUNG AUSTRALIANS.

       ** It makes the story of our brllliaut southern skies almost as interesting as a fUry tale."— Weekiy lUview.

       " Lucidly written."—afrfftouriMf  Herald:

       BOTANY FOR YOUNG AUSTRALIANS.

       THE SPIRIT OF  A TRUE TEACHER.

       *' Mr. Bonwick is a downright Australian, and his work is full of healthy Christian feeling." — Southern Speetator. DISCOVERY AND SETTLEMENT OF PORT PHILLIP.

       " Future historians wiU turn to it as a repertory of valuable (kets, lucidly, systematieally, and chronologically stated."— Melboume Argue,  1856.

       **  Peculiarly nervous and racy style."—Jf{»er*t  Bight. A SKETCH OF BOROONDARA

       «• Everything Australian is tinted with the colours of Paradise by the brush of this patriotic painter."— Speetator. WESTERN VICTORIA: AN EDUCATIONAL TOUR.

       '* Oraoefhl. purpose-like style that is charming to us.   A man who knows his work, and does  It.*'-Ohrittian Timee. JOHN  BATMAN, THE FOUNDER OF VICTORIA.

       *' The value of this publication will be considerable to fkiture historians of Victoria."-Auetralaiian.

       " True history of the firs^ settlement"—Ffctorton  Economitt.

       LAST OF THE TASMANIANS.    16*.   Sami^on Low and Co.

       " A fUthfnl historical account."—Hobart  Town Mercury.

       *' Will be read with Interest in every colony."—Burop^an  MaiL

       "  Will add to liis well-deserved character for carofiu research and strict fidelity."-Hoiim Neufc.

       *' Sympathetic feeling and kindliness of tone  "—Athenceuwi.

       " very attractive reading."—fiatwdotf  Review.

       **  He tells his story plainly and forcibly."—fitondord.

       " Impossible to conceive of a more moumftil story."'I>atly  Newt.

       DAILY LIFE OF THE TASMANIANS.   12«.   Sampson Low and Co.

       *' More interesting work than even his former  hook.**—Athenoeuw^.

       **  Facts—methodically arranged and agreeably represented."— Auttralatian.

       *' Standard authority upon the  sdiAeci.**—Melbourne Argut.

       **  The style is f^esh. clear, and forcible."-Datty  TelegrapK

       " Careful to state both  Bides.'*-Standard.

       **  He evinces great local knowledge of his subject, and the necessaiy literary and scientific resource and philosophical acumen."— Olatgow Herald.

       CURIOUS FACTS OF OLD COLONIAL DAYS.   2*. 6d. Sampson Low and Co. *• Will not fell to interest old  eolonisbi.**—Literary World. " Eminently readable, full of information."—Jlfa}itfh««(«r  Courier. " Of considerable value to the ftiture historian."—Glof^^ow  Herald, *• He does full Justice to every religious  hody.**—Athenceum.

       MORMONS AND SILVER MINES.     Is. 6d.    Hodderand Stoughton. *' The proper spirit and the proper method are  diap^Ayed.**—Illuttratcd London Newt. ** (Geological chaptt>rs remsrsably well  wriiien.*'—Spectator. " The book is Interesting and trustworthy."—BHM«A  Quarterly Review.
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